# ARCHAEOLINGUA

Edited by ERZSÉBET JEREM and WOLFGANG MEID

Volume 30

# TRANSITIONS TO THE BRONZE AGE

Interregional Interaction and Socio-Cultural Change in the Third Millennium BC Carpathian Basin and Neighbouring Regions

Edited by Volker Heyd, Gabriella Kulcsár and Vajk Szeverényi



The publication of this volume was generously supported by National Cultural Fund of Hungary



This book was supported by the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Front Cover

M.C. Escher's "Day and Night" © 2013 The M.C. Escher Company-The Netherlands. All rights reserved. www.mcescher.com

Back Cover

Interior decorated bowl fragments from Somogyvár-Kupavárhegy, Hungary (photo by Fanni Fazekas)

> ISBN 978-963-9911-48-2 HU-ISSN 1215-9239

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  The Authors and Archaeolingua Foundation

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording or any other information storage and retrieval system, without requesting prior permission in writing from the publisher.

2013

ARCHAEOLINGUA ALAPÍTVÁNY H-1250 Budapest, Úri u. 49 Desktop editing and layout by Gergely Hős Printed by Prime Rate Kft.

# Contents

Editorial	. 7
VOLKER HEYD Europe at the Dawn of the Bronze Age	9
GABRIELLA KULCSÁR – VAJK SZEVERÉNYI	
Transition to the Bronze Age: Issues of Continuity and Discontinuity in the First Half of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin	67
MARZENA SZMYT	
View from the Northwest: Interactions Network in the Dnieper– Carpathian Area and People of the Globular Amphora Culture in the Third Millenium BC	93
YURI RASSAMAKIN	
From the Late Eneolithic Period to the Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea Steppe: What is the Pit Grave Culture (Late Fourth to Mid-Third Millennium BC)?	113
ELKE KAISER	
Import, Imitation and Interaction A Critical Review of the Chronology and Significance of Cross Footed Bowls of the Third Millennium BC in Southeastern and Eastern Europe	139
TÜNDE HORVÁTH – JÁNOS DANI – ÁKOS PETŐ – ŁUKASZ POSPIESZNY – ÉVA SVINGO	R
Multidisciplinary Contributions to the Study of Pit Grave Culture Kurgans of the Great Hungarian Plain	
CLAUDIA GERLING – HORIA CIUGUDEAN	
Insights into the Transylvanian Early Bronze Age Using Strontium and Oxygen Isotope Analyses: A Pilot Study	181
JÁNOS DANI	
The Significance of the Metallurgy at the Beginning of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin	203
MANFRED WOIDICH – ALEXANDRU SZENTMIKLÓSI	
Uivar and Its Significance for the Beginning of the Early Bronze Age in the Romanian Banat	233
JAROSLAV PEŠKA – MIROSLAV KRÁLÍK	
"Nagyrév Jugs" and Their Archaeological Context	245

RÓBERT PATAY	207
Bell Beaker Cemetery and Settlement at Szigetszentmiklós First Results	287
PÉTER CSIPPÁN	
Cultural Change and Animal Keeping Case Study of a Neolithic, Copper Age and	
Bronze Age Site near Budapest, Hungary	319
NECULAI BOLOHAN – ANDREI ASĂNDULESEI	
Middle Bronze Age Beyond the Eastern Fringe of the Carpathian Basin	339
initiale Bronze rige Beyond die Eustern Pringe of the Carpannan Basin	557

# List of contributors

# Editorial

TRANSITIONS: They can be smoothly and gradual or sudden and revolutionary.

- In prehistory it is normally difficult to see the sudden events;
- many keyword come to one's mind when thinking about transitions in prehistory
- What are transitions? What makes the BA distinct from a Neolithic, or Copper Age; shift of paradigm: no one has really looked into the arrival of tin-bronze; would this book have been published some 20–30 years ago, half of the contributions would have dealt with the tin question;
- also, several contributions deal with the movement of people; wouldn't have been the same some 20–30 years ago;
- discontinuity, historical event ; catastrophy;
- interregional; interaction of regions; econmic change subsistence
- to the Bronze Age; Carpathian basin and neighbouring regions; long story; absolute dates; problems of nomenclature-terminology;

The annual meetings of the most significant archaeological association in Europe, the European Association of Archaeologists (EAA), provide each year an outstanding opportunity for dialogues between scholars of various countries and backgrounds. At the 16<sup>th</sup> meeting, held in September 2010 in The Hague, The Netherlands, Volker Heyd (University of Bristol), Gabriella Kulcsár (Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest) and Vajk Szeverényi (Móra Ferenc Múzem, Szeged) organized a full-day conference session focusing on interregional contacts and social, economic and cultural change in the third millennium BC in and around the Carpathian Basin. The session turned out to be a great success with many interested and renowned specialists in attendance who could hardly fit into the rather medium-sized lecture room already inhabited by a grand piano. Encouraged by this success and understanding the long-standing need of tackling the question of the emergence of Bronze Age in this European region, we prepared this volume based on the papers given at the session. The 13 articles of this volume, all written in English, discuss problems of transition and change from the Late Copper to the Early Bronze Age, that is more than a whole millennium from the later 4<sup>th</sup> to the end of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, investigating among others terminological and chronological issues, mobility, burial rites, metallurgy, special ceramics, animal husbandry and regional and interregional systems of connections.

The volume highlights various aspects of the structure and temporal and spatial dynamics of interregional interactions of the communities of the Carpathian Basin in the third millennium BC. Traditional typo-chronological issues are accompanied by the results of absolute dating, anthropological and biochemical investigations, statistical analyses, and contribute a great deal to our knowledge of the long-distance interaction zones and communication networks of the period. The publication of the volume will certainly promote communication between the archaeological schools of western and east central Europe, providing new aspects for future research as well.

Volker Heyd sets the over-arching theme and gives a wide-ranging review of the beginnings of the Bronze Age in central and southern Europe identifying important social processes that define this period. Gabriella Kulcsár and Vajk Szeverényi focus more narrowly on the Carpathian Basin and examine the terminological and chronological framework, investigate the issue of (dis)continuity and also identify various social changes during this crucial transition. Marzena Szmyt, Yuri Rassamakin and Elke Kaiser investigate various parts of and aspects in the north-Pontic steppe and forest-steppe region: while Szmyt focuses on interactions between steppe and forest-steppe communities characterized by eastern Globular Amphora and Yamnaya type materials, Rassamakin gives a review of the current knowledge

8

about the emergence of the Yamnaya and various pre-Yamnaya societies in the Ukraine emphasizing changes in burial rites and material cultures; Kaiser finally examines the famous kurilnitsy of the steppe and the Caucasus foreland, and their relationship with the interior decorated pedestalled bowls of the Carpathian Basin. Back in the Carpathian Basin, Tünde Horváth and her colleagues, as well as Claudia Gerling and Horia Ciugudean, concentrate on kurgan/mound burials in eastern Hungary and western Transylvania and their possible interpretations, the latter two with reliance on stable isotope analyses. János Dani then highlights metallurgical production throughout the transition from the Late Copper to the Early Bronze Age with special attention to early copper shaft-hole axes. Manfred Woidich and Alexandru Szentmiklósi follow by publishing new evidence on the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age from the Romanian Banat area, while Jaroslav Peška and Miroslav Králík provide a sophisticated statistical analysis of the wide-spread "Nagyrév jugs" - characteristic one-handled jugs in Moravia and Hungary from 2600 to 2200 BC. Staying roughly in the same period, Róbert Patay presents a first overview of the important new Bell Beaker burial site of Szigetszentmiklós-xxx in central Hungary. This is complemented by Péter Csippán who studies economic change through the transition by comparing Late Copper and Early Bronze Age patterns of animal husbandry at a central Hungarian settlement. Finally, Neculai Bolohan and Andrei Asăndulesei investigate the Early to Middle Bronze Age transition directly east of the Carpathians through the study of Costişa type material and their settlements.

We are grateful to all these colleagues, working in seven European countries, not only for their efforts in bringing their ideas down to paper but also for their patience with us and their help und support during the editing process.

The publishing of the book was, as always, in the good hands of the Archaeolingua Foundation and Dr Elisabeth Jerem. We wish to thank her and Gergely Hős, our desktop editor, for their patience and perseverance with text, figures and our many requests over the last months.

This book would not have been possible without the financial support of the Hungarian National Cultural Fund. It was also supported by a János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences for, and by a research leave for Volker Heyd granted by the School of Arts at Bristol University. We all are grateful for this support.

We think nothing describes better the theme of TRANSITIONS, which already stood in the foreground of then session in The Hague and which now centres in this book, than the wonderful woodcuts and lithographs of the Dutch painter and artist Maurits Cornelis Escher. Also as a reminescence for Den Haag, where we could visit the Escher Museum, we chose his famous picture "Day and Night", created in 1938 at the twilight of a terrible time when such kind of scholarly cooperation would not have been possible, to perhaps serve as an inspiration, or at least to consider the various aspects of perspectives, perception and geometry of transitions. We are thus also very grateful to *The M.C. Escher Company – The Netherlands* for allowing us to reproduce this masterpiece.

Bristol & Budapest, in November 2013

The Editors Volker Heyd, Gabriella Kulcsár, Vajk Szeverényi

# Europe at the Dawn of the Bronze Age

## VOLKER HEYD

## Abstract

What is the Early Bronze Age after all? When we are looking at the various European countries and address this question at regional level, we are certainly able to find scholarly publications that give us more or less useful definitions and interpretations, name the initial archaeological culture(s), graves, hoards and settlements, and accurately date their beginnings, apogee and end. But as soon as one tries to approach this question at the international level, or even attempts to oversee the wider European picture, then this becomes a complex task. It leaves us in a situation in which we need to offer criteria that help us understanding the mechanisms that make the Early Bronze Age different from the preceding Copper Age. In doing so, we may certainly not leave aside the different regional traditions, peculiarities and methodological approaches; it always is a Europe of the regions. Drawing from these, one gets aware of other important factors than the still widely used tin-bronze presence/absence. Such are, for example, arguments of cultural complexity, of levels of social and/or economic organisation, settlement choices and continuities, of trade and long-range exchange networks, of prestigious and exotic artefacts, of precious metals, the objects made of it and of their sheer weight, and of new ways of accumulating, thesauring and depositing them. Dismissing any attempt of establishing such defined Early Bronze Age structures in the 4<sup>th</sup> and at the beginnings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, and even confining those from the second quarter of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC to an emerging centre in the Aegean and the southern Adriatic, the focus of the article inevitably lies on the period of c. 2500–2200 BC. Here, three peripheries could be observed that firstly display these new ideas, values and achievements: the eastern and western Balkans and the southern Central Mediterranean; a fourth periphery might eventually be seen in southeastern Spain. For the first two centuries there seems only punctual transmission beyond these peripheries. Consequently, the Carpathian Basin is only displaying comparable Early Bronze Age structures in the phase IIb of the Hungarian chronological system when novel regionalized centres emerge around c. 2300 BC not only along the Middle Danube corridor (Reinecke A0) but also in northern Italy (Polada) and in southeastern Spain (El Argar). From now the gradual process accelerates and intensifies all over, and soon the trajectory includes regions further northeast, north and northwest.

While Yamnaya, Corded Ware and Katacombnaya are not playing any significant role in this interplay between c. 2500–2200 BC, it is the meeting with the predominantly western and Central European Bell Beaker network – in the 25<sup>th</sup> century BC at the peak of its expanding drive – which forecasts future pattern. Here, the question of identities, of multiple identities and changing identities over time is a key factor in the understanding of this transition from 'communal beaker' to 'personalised cup' users, from tanged dagger wearers and archers to those presenting the panoply of triangular riveted dagger, axe and halberd, from emblematic dress codes to the full set of metal-rich and exotic dress fittings and jewellery, or simply from ideology to elites. In such, the Early Bronze Age is, if one wants, a kind of capitalist world in embryo state and it is this re-orientation towards the southeast of then people in a new multi-polar world that determines Europe at the Dawn of the Bronze Age.

## Introduction

What is the Early Bronze Age? When we are looking at the various European countries and address this question at the regional level, we are certainly able to find a lot of scholarly publications that give us more or less useful definitions and interpretations, name us the archaeological culture(s) that represent

it, and accurately date, both relative and absolute, their beginning, apogee and end. But as soon as one tries to approach this question at the multi-regional and international level, or even attempts the wider European picture, then the situation becomes much more complex.

To date there is no clear-cut definition at European level of what the Early Bronze Age is about. For a long-time it was all about tin-bronze, its introduction and the artefacts manufactured out of it. But since metal composition and lead isotope analyses, and their results, have made it into everyone's mind, it is clear that the pathways of the archaeological cultures, traditionally seen as the earliest representatives of an Early Bronze Age, and the introduction of tin-bronzes are not leading in the same direction (e.g., PERNICKA 1998; KRAUSE 2003; RAHMSTORF 2010).

This leaves us in a situation in which we need other criteria that help us understanding the mechanisms that make the Bronze Age different from the preceding Copper Age. In doing so, we may certainly not leave aside the different regional traditions, peculiarities and methodological approaches; it still is a Europe of regions. Drawing from these, and using scholarly work particularly of the last two decades, one becomes aware of important factors such as cultural complexity, or levels of social and/or economic organisation, of trade and long-range exchange networks, of exotic and prestigious artefacts, and of precious metals, the objects made of it and their weight. Another important point is seen in consistency and continuity, as the Copper Age often seemed to lack such (HEYD 2012). It is only from the Early Bronze Age that we have long and continuous occupations, no matter if one focuses on Thebes in Boeotia (Greece), probably the oldest town in Europe, the tell settlements in the Carpathian Basin, hillforts like Fuente Alamo in southern Spain, or the cemetery of Franzhausen in Austria, all in use for at least 500 years during the Early Bronze Age.

But this here shall not become a tick-box approach. Rather it is about discussing the various regions, their special situations, finds and features, and compare region by region in the search for super-regional



Fig. 1. Approximate absolute dates for the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age in the various European countries according to their respective terminological systems (drawing by author)

patterns of a structurally based Early Bronze Age. In such, it is useful first to take a look at the current state of research in the major European countries.

#### Linking geography, terminology and chronology

If one maps the time when the major European countries see the beginnings of the Bronze Age in absolute dates according to their various research traditions (*Fig. 1*), a rather unexpected super-regional picture unveils. There is only partly a clear-cut, straight south – north, or southeast – northwest gradient over the European Continent as one would expect from the fact that most prehistoric innovations, since the Neolithisation of the European Continent, take this southeast to northwest pathway (SHERRATT 1997). Instead one observes a strange pattern of some countries unexpectedly advancing, while others rather moderately "delaying" their beginnings of the Bronze Age. Nevertheless overall three cores are clearly visible: Firstly, there is the *Helladic* system of southeastern Europe with an earlier, *c.* 3000 BC, beginning of the Bronze Age. Secondly, the Central European, or *Reinecke* system, of *c.* 2200–2100 BC holds its position in the heart of the continent. And thirdly, the Scandinavian countries of northern Europe follow their own *Montelius* system, in which the beginning of the Bronze Age succeeds a Late Neolithic and is termed as the "Older Bronze Age" starting at around 1800/1700 BC.

However within and in-between these three blocks, countries do not follow stringent rules. This accounts in the first place for the southeast European countries of Bulgaria and Romania.

In Bulgaria, the definition which archaeological culture already is Early Bronze Age has been consistently put backwards in time, so that a so-called *proto* Bronze Age (VAJSOV 2002) now dates to around 3600 BC, several centuries earlier than the beginning in Turkey and Greece. Logically, graves of this proto Bronze Age, such as from Durankulak (Fig. 2), have nothing to do with a European Early Bronze Age. A similar situation accounts for Romania, where however - to be fair - three differing concepts of when an Early Bronze Age begins are in circulation: the one with the earliest beginnings (VULPE 2001) is modelled against Bulgaria and sees the start with Cotofeni, around 3300 BC (if not with Cernavodă III at c. 3600 BC); the second (ROMAN 1986; CIUGUDEAN 1996) follows the Hungarian approach, itself having chosen a way in-between the Helladic and Central European systems and setting up the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age at around 2800 BC; a third terminological system, more restricted to western Romania, goes beyond that and only regards the mid of the millennium as a turn towards the Bronze Age (GOGÂLTAN 2005). A sort of an independent way was realized in the countries of the former Soviet Union. Here, the terminological beginning of an Early Bronze Age is widely recognized with the Yamnaya, thus dating to shortly before 3000 BC.<sup>1</sup> This system is therefore close to the Aegean, even if there are of course no direct connections at this early date. As already mentioned, Hungary as a country in the Central Carpathian Basin is not only located geographically, but also terminochronologically between the Aegean and the Central European systems with their own beginning of the Early Bronze Age at around 2800 BC. Whether this is also useful in terms of a structural/content-based definition will be explained in detail below. However, it needs to be said that Hungary – and partly so Romania - is thus the only country with such an early start in the Carpathian Basin. Further on, towards Central and northern and northwestern Europe, the beginnings of an Early Bronze Age are more levelled and homogenious with no country producing a significant earlier or later outlier. However, some larger European countries, such as Italy, France and Germany, are divided along an imaginary south-north axis so that the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age appears to be delayed by one/two centuries in the respective northern parts. This probably indeed reflects past realities. Interestingly, the only early

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The only exception, to my knowledge, is in the south of Russia, in the Caucasus foreland, where the Maykop culture of the mid-fourth millennium BC is also regarded as being Early Bronze Age.



– M. 2:3.



Fig. 2. Durankulak, Grave 982 as an example of the so-called proto Bronze Age in Bulgaria (c. mid-fourth millennium BC; after VAJSOV 2002)

"outlier" in northwestern Europe, Great Britain and Ireland, also appears realistic: Here exist indeed early tin-bronzes, extensive metalwork, some hoards and well furnished graves already before 2000 BC (e.g., NEEDHAM 2004). However, a few isolated tin-bronzes alone a Bronze Age do not make a Bronze Age; and exotic metals, heavy copper hoards and lavishly equipped graves already existed in the (classical) southeast European Copper Age (HEYD 2012). In this respect, a mid-fourth millennium BC *proto* Bronze Age does not exist, as does Yamnaya of around 3000 BC certainly not show Bronze Age features at all in southern Russia, the Ukraine and Moldova; and even the Early Helladic (EH) I of the Aegean is not demonstrating much societal and economic complexity one would expect for a true Early Bronze Age. All in all, and taking all country-based approaches together, the Bronze Age almost needs 2000 years to cross the Continent from one side to the other in order to establish itself: a very unlikely scenario, if not ridiculous!

So, if there is at all a period when one can speak about an Early Bronze Age which really deserves this term in the sense of a new level of social and economic complexity, of special artefacts and materials, of enhanced structures, consistency and continuity, then this can only be the period between around (2600–) 2500–2200 (–2000) BC. Let us therefore firstly have a brief overview about the cultural situation in Europe at around 2500 BC.

#### Europe at around 2500 BC

Europe at around 2500 BC can best be described as a chess board of archaeological entities in different cultural traditions. These traditions can easily be categorized into two blocks: on the one hand there are regionally dispersed archaeological cultures and groups, mostly defined by their respective pottery. These stretch geographically like a belt from the Balkans in the east, over the Carpathian Basin, Italy and France, including probably also parts of Spain and Portugal in the west. On the other hand there are the super-regional, expansionistic cultural phenomena, covering wide parts of the continent and connecting, through their respective social, economic, ideological and material packages, regions and landscapes that were previously culturally separated. During the first half of the third millennium BC, the most prominent of these phenomena is the Corded Ware complex. This seems to start at around 2850 BC (WŁODARCZAK 2009). With all its different regional groupings Corded Ware reaches from the Middle Volga in the east to the Rhine in the west, covering also much of Scandinavia. Its southern border follows a line from the western Alps, along the forelands of the eastern Carpathians, to the steppe/forest-steppe borderline deep in Russia. Just before 2500 BC, Corded Ware, Single Grave and Battle Axe, Rzucewo, Middle Dnieper and Fatyanovo-Balanovo cultures arrive at their peak of landscape occupation, domination and coherence. With the earlier (c. 3000 BC) but structurally related Yamnaya (Pit Grave culture) of the North Pontic steppe belt, also including regions west of the Black Sea (Lower Danube, Thrace and the eastern Carpathian Basin) in their distribution area for a few centuries, much of the Continent is covered. But by 2500 BC, the Yamnaya is already on the decline and is gradually transforming into the Katacombnaya (Catacomb Grave culture) while retreating to its North Pontic core zone (see below for more detail). Also, the regionally dispersed picture of different archaeological cultures and groups in the Balkans and the Carpathian Basin is due to the same process of incorporation into super-regional cultural phenomena, but a millennium before in form of the Cernavodă III-Boleráz and, from c. 3350 BC, the consecutive Baden-Cotofeni complex.<sup>2</sup> In the first half of the third millennium BC this system has already disintegrated, as was it transformed through interactions following the Yamnaya infiltration, and more regional aspects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A contemporary process occurs north of the Carpathians and in Central Europe, from the Ukraine and northeastern Romania to the Rhine, in the form of the expansion of the Globular Amphora culture. This culture is rightly regarded as one of the genetic and cultural bases of the following Corded Ware in the earlier third millennium BC.

prevail, particularly in pottery, so that by 2500 BC we see the currently up-do-date research situation of many cultures, groups and cultural aspects, such as Ezero B and Yunatsite IX-VIII in Bulgaria, Sitagroi Va/Dikili Tash IIIb in northern Greece, Glina III and Năeni-Schneckenberg in Romania, as well as the later Vučedol-Ljubljana complex in the southern Carpathian Basin and western Balkans, and Makó/ Kosihý-Čaka and Somogyvár in Hungary and Slovakia.

But Europe at 2500 BC would not be complete without two other cultural developments that are at that time on the brink of dominating the record in Europe for the next centuries: expanding from the west, the Iberian peninsula, it is the Bell Beaker phenomenon as the climax of these ideologically driven cultural phenomena; and from the southeast, namely the circum-Aegean region, the Early Bronze Age.

## The period of the 'International Spirit' in the Aegean

Starting-point for all discussions of the Early Bronze Age is Mesopotamia. From the first centuries of the third millennium BC we see the development of new networks of exchange and trade, reaching its peak in the Sumerian Early Dynastic III and Akkadian periods. Its centre was in southern Mesopotamia, already urbanised since the fourth millennium BC und by then the most developed region world-wide. The political organisation behind at first consisted of more-or-less independent, rival city-states, out of which grew the hegemonial "empire foundation" of the Akkadian period at the close of the 24<sup>th</sup> century BC. Exchange and trade went far beyond its political and demographic centre and, inducing a network structure with regional nuclei, reach as far as Turkmenistan and Afghanistan in Central Asia, and also along the Arabian Peninsula and the Indian Ocean as far as the Harappa Culture of the Indus Valley and northwestern India. A new "Early Dynastic World-System", so to speak, develops (e.g., MATTHEWS 2003). On its other, northwestern side, the Levantine-eastern Mediterranean and Anatolian regions, considered previously as being on the fringe of civilization ("gateway communities"), were now also integrated into this highly complex system of exchange and trade (PRIMAS 2007, 6f.). Here early urban nuclei develop as well, subsequently forming further independent networks and developing their own peripheries. Last to be absorbed was the area around the Aegean of today's western Turkey and Greece, which was gradually incorporated into this system from c. 2750 BC, with fully developing a western nucleus of exchange and trade then in the third quarter of the millennium (Fig. 3).

Four decades have passed since the discovery of the social, economic and technical achievements, and the results of wide-ranging communication, exchange and trade which appear as patterns in the archaeological record of these few centuries in which the Aegean (and particularly the Cyclades and south and Central Greece) was completely incorporated into this system. Colin Renfrew has described the situation very aptly with the term "International Sprit". Rightly, he sees in this concept the origin of a first European "civilisation" (RENFREW 1972). Since then many new discoveries have been made and insights gained, so that this very period of time – the Early Helladic-Cycladic-Minoan II and particularly its sub-period IIb – may be considered among the best investigated in European prehistory (e.g., MARAN 1998; WIENCKE 2000; ALRAM-STERN [Hrsg.] 2004 and many more). Without going into too great a detail, we may list as perhaps the most important advances: indications of a stratified society with many prestige and status objects of the elite, of urbanisation, a three-fold structured settlement system and population growth; quasi-monumental architecture and organised communal works; complex administration and standardised systems of measuring and weighting; economic specialisation and mass production such as wheel-made pottery; and of fair quantities of copper, gold and silver, among those the first tin-bronzes.

This period between *c*. 2500 and 2200 BC seems also to have been a period whose climate favoured agricultural production. Graeme Barker has given an overview of the situation on the basis of many specialised studies (2005, 57f.) and sees the presence of an incipient traditional Mediterranean type



Fig. 3. The most important sites of the Early Bronze Age in the Aegean (drawing by author)

of landuse. This included Mediterranean *polyculture*, based on grain, wine and olive oil, the latter via connections with the Levant. A further form of "tree fruits" is represented by figs, with their high sugar content. The system is based, however, in mixed agriculture which was small-scale and intensive rather than large-scale and extensive. Together with the cultivation of a wide variety of grain crops, pulses and vegetables, there is an increase in domestic animals and a change in their death patterns, indicating the increased use of secondary animal products like wool, milk and cheese from the beginning of the third millennium BC. These products are certainly also the stimulus for the development of transhumance over short distances and of local summer pastures in the more mountainous regions. In addition, cattle or oxen were available as draught and ploughing animals for the cultivation of heavier soils, as well as donkeys for riding and as beasts of burden.<sup>3</sup> We still lack clearly dated finds to prove whether on the mainland the agro-technical innovation of terracing and thus alteration of the topography of the terrain was introduced. Heavy erosion and accumulation of sediment, securely dated to the second half of the third millennium BC, show the extent of soil cultivation at this time, but actually constitute evidence against the use of terracing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The domesticated horse was, however, not yet available until the second millennium BC.

This favourable situation leads almost inevitably to a constant growth in population, which we are now able to trace archaeologically through many systematic surveys (e.g., WRIGHT 2004). The overall population and population density probably reached levels in the third quarter of the third millennium BC which recur only in the Late Bronze Age. In southern and Central Greece we see this in the building and enlargement of new urban centres like Manika (*c*. 45 hectares), Thebes (*c*. 20 hectares), and many smaller, *c*. 1–4-hectare centres close to the coast. But at the same time this has the effect that large parts of the population, previously working in agriculture, abandon primary food production and move to crafts, manufacturing, trade and the service sector in the new centres. Subsistence and, to an increasing extent, some of peoples' wider basic needs. and everyday consumption are now covered by barter and trade. Autarchies are therefore lost and dependencies are created.

The determining factors in this trans-regional network are thus barter and trade; not only as external, "down-the-line" or long-distance trade, but also in the form of more small-scale domestic trade, for instance within communities sharing identical pottery traditions (MARAN 1998; BROODBANK 2000; KILIAN-DIRLMEIER 2005). This boom in trade becomes visible in the records firstly through exotic objects imported from distant worlds, such as a carnelian bead decorated with etched-in motifs in the recently discovered jewellery hoard at Kolonna on Aegina. This object, according to current knowledge, was possibly decorated in the Indus area (Pakistan), and could thus be one of the objects traded over the longest distance (REINHOLDT 2008). Other key finds included the beams of jewellers' scales and standardized, partly marked stone weights, now known to be in use in the whole Aegean-Anatolian area and copying ultimately a Mesopotamian metronic system (RAHMSTORF 2006). They attest to the particular significance of trade at this time, as do the manufactured goods made of metal (such as daggers, slotted spearheads, and gold/silver vessels), of other materials (such as the decorated bone tubes), and not the least the new international wheel-made pottery of the Lefkandi I-Kastri repertoire.

Even if it is difficult to prove this by archaeological means, grain and olive oil from surpluses, and preserved foodstuffs such as marine resources from the Aegean, almost certainly also had an important part to play in this short- and long-distance exchange. Consequently, maritime trade gains increased significance with these products which are profitable only in quantity, as compared with single high-value prestige items. This significance is supported by the proximity of the many newly emerging settlement sites to the coast, often located on sheltered bays, not only on both sides of the Aegean but also in the coastal zone of the northern Aegean, where the hinterland is in other respects very strongly tied to Balkan traditions. These sea-side settlements, particularly in southern Greece and the Aegean islands, soon become fortified centres in the Early Helladic IIb-period. Though they are not clearly distinguished from other, more inland settlements, we surely may assume that there are trading settlements used exclusively for the coastal navigation that was preferred at the time, and for international "down-the-line" trade. It remains to be seen whether this trade really only took place in the longships depicted on the Cycladic frying-pans (BROODBANK 2000), or whether sailing boats were used, as known on the Nile probably from the fourth millennium BC onwards.

All these achievements and innovations, as well as the inclusion of this area as a further nucleus in the international network of exchange and trade with extensive contacts, naturally increased social complexity to an extent that had never before occurred in Europe, and was not to occur for a long time afterwards. Social hierarchies develop, a society with division of labour is established, systems of redistribution, social storage and for the exchange of prestige goods appear, and daily supplies are obtained through trade. The notion of territory, political control and even perhaps regional hegemony is born. Although this is not a check-list, it is clear that all these things are also signs of a "chiefdom" level of culture establishing itself over a wide area. Thus one may accept the assessment by Joseph Maran, who sees culture at this time as being "on the threshold of the birth of state structures" (MARAN 1998, 443). Perhaps one can go so far as to accept that for a few hundred years this southeastern part of Europe

took on the features of a developed culture, even if writing had not yet appeared, as far as we know. Even if one does not wish to go that far, there may be a consensus that between *c*. 2500 and 2200 BC around the Aegean, i.e. partly on European soil, we have a highly complex and dynamic system of communication and exchange which includes everything that we would imagine by the term "Early Bronze Age".

But this special system, and the world it was representing, was not a stable one. In the course of the 23<sup>rd</sup> century BC first Mesopotamia, then the Levant and Anatolia, and finally the Aegean region were experiencing some sort of progressing crisis (MARAN 1998; 2007; BROODBANK 2000). Finally, from around 2200 BC, most connections were broken and trade was cut off. Technologies such as wheel-made pottery and innovations such as measurement systems widely disappear. The times become unstable, settlements shrink in size and get eventually abandoned, demographic levels fall and there is a renewed concentration on primary agricultural production. People of foreign origin also take the opportunity of a serious weakening of the whole system to move in these disaster-struck regions. In the western Aegean this occurs in the Early Helladic III period, which lasts about two centuries, before the low point is reached after 2000 BC in the Middle Helladic.

## New peripheries in the Balkans and southern Italy

At the time the Aegean was being incorporated as another core area in the international system of exchange and trade, neighbouring regions were also reacting, and peripheries advance further north and west, and entirely new ones come into being (*Fig. 4*). In this process we recognize not only peripheries in the economic sense, as a hinterland with sources of raw materials and a market for finished goods, but also as regions in which an elite controlling the available resources participated in these developments, using them as a means to emblazon itself and trying to imitate them culturally and materially. At the same time new social and economic values, information and innovation, and also probably direct personal contact with people (mainly traders) from the core area, now reach regions which had never had access to such resources before. Thus new structures evolve and the level of social complexity rises generally, though it did not reach the level attained in the core. Thus the core area was not the only active place, and the peripheries were not the passive recipients, but rather the peripheries developed a dynamic and a life of their own. In such, however, each region reacted differently.

Three regions, now entirely within Europe, thus come into much closer contact and direct exchange with this Early Bronze Age Aegean network:

- 1. The eastern Balkans, with the hinterland of the northern Aegean, the European part of Turkey (Turkish Thrace) and Bulgaria, mainly south of the Balkan mountains;
- 2. The western Balkans, meaning large areas of former Yugoslavia and Albania, particularly the east Adriatic coastal area but also parts of the mountainous hinterland northwards as far as Slavonia and Syrmia (roughly the Sava valley); and finally also:
- 3. The southern Central Mediterranean area, particularly Sicily and Malta, but also Apulia.

It also seems that southern Spain and Portugal were reached, perhaps already as early as the second quarter of the third millennium BC, as a kind of fourth cultural periphery. This view has been suggested for a long time (BLANCE 1961), but has also provoked much critique over the decades (e.g., CHAPMAN 1991) when scholars were generally more in favour of autochthonous developments. But the advance of complex fortified settlement sites, such as Los Millares (Almeria) and Zambujal (Torres Vedras, Portugal), and of a handful of even larger, so-called mega-villages like Valencina de la Conception and Marroquíes Bajos in southern Spain und Portugal are not easy to explain solely out of local evolution. Later publications (e.g., GONZÁLEZ PRATS *et al.* 1994; BRANDHERM 1996; MEDEROS MARTÍN 2000),





Volker Heyd

and the evidence presented therein, as well as an innovative research project on the exchange and use of ivory are now perhaps shedding new light on an early connection between the east and the very Mediterranean west (e.g., SCHUHMACHER – CARDOSO – BANERJEE 2009; SCHUHMACHER 2011). However, it is intriguingly not the Aegean that seems to be the starting point for these contacts, but tentatively rather the eastern Mediterranean Levantine region of modern-day Syria, Lebanon and Israel. The Iberian situation shall therefore not be discussed here in this context of the Aegean connections. It is nevertheless fair to mention that southern Iberia indeed displays some traits as discussed below for the Balkans and Italy that very well fit in this context of an emerging Early Bronze Age.

#### 1. The eastern Balkans

The greatest progress in terms of new sites, artefacts and a better understanding about third millennium BC prehistoric archaeology has been made in this region (Fig. 5). The Yamnaya groups in the steppes west of the Black Sea were still the dominant cultural element in the first half of the third millennium BC, but after the middle of the millennium there is a clear cultural shift towards the southeast and south. In this, the Helladic element is only weakly present, while many finds of northeastern Aegean and Anatolian provenance show the origin of this cultural current. One key site is Kanlıgeçit (Kırklareli province) in inland Turkish Thrace (ÖZDOĞAN -PARZINGER 2012); another key site will surely become the Selimpaşa Höyük (Istanbul), a coastal site 50 km west of the Bosporus entry at Istanbul's city centre (HEYD -AYDINGÜN – GÜLDOĞAN 2010).

Considerable parts of the Kanlıgeçit citadel have been excavated since the 1990s. The results are spectacular: Not only is there a fortified citadel with an impressive stratigraphy, encircled by a dry-stone glacis and mud-brick wall, a kind of tower or gatehouse with ashlar masonry and, inside, several large megaron houses with



Fig. 5. Chronological correlation of archaeological cultures, groups and key site stratigraphic layers for the Balkans in the third millennium BC (drawing by author)



Fig. 6. Comparing Kanligeçit, phase 2b (1) with Troy IIc1–c3 (2). Note that both graphs are north up and show the same scale (after ÖZDOĞAN – PARZINGER 2012, Abb. 37 and ÜNLÜSOY 2011)

encircling temenoi walls and buttresses in the manner of Troy II–III (*Fig. 6*), and to a lesser degree of Küllüoba (Eskişehir province: e.g., EFE 2007), but in addition an external settlement of several hectares surrounds this centre. A high proportion of so-called Anatolian red slip-ware, wheel-made pottery and elements of the international Lefkandi I-Kastri ceramic repertoire, along with typically Anatolian clay idols (KARUL 2005) and signs of a specialised economy (evidence for domesticated horses; many spindle whorls; potential exploitation of copper deposits in the nearby Strandža mountains) provide more evidence of an Anatolian trading colony in this part of Europe than of a local elite trying to copy the achievements of the south.

Kanlıgeçit is so far the only excavated example of this Anatolian ideal in Europe. Under suspicion as being a second site is the settlement of Mikhalich-Baa Dere (oblast Haskovo) at the southern foreland of the Sakar Mountains only a stone's throw away from the modern Bulgarian-Turkish border. From here features are published that look very similar to the basic design of Kanlıgeçit, like the presence of both a citadel and an extended outer settlement, as well as stone foundation and mudbrick architecture for the fortress rampart (STEFANOVA 2000; 2004a). However, we have evidence for more of such Anatolian red slip-ware and/or wheel-made imported pottery, not only from Mikhalich-Baa Dere, but also from the local, partly fortified late Ezero culture settlements of Assara (Haskov; LESHTAKOV 2003), Gălăbovo (Stara Zagora; which seems to continue till the next chronological watershed of 2200 to *c*. 2000 BC: LESHTAKOV 2002) and from Tell Ezero (Stara Zagora) itself. To top this, we also know of local imitations



Fig. 7. Turkish Thrace and Bulgaria: Elements of the Lefkandi I-Kastri pottery repertoire, other later third millennium BC pottery imports, and potential imitations – A: depas cups and their imitations from Mikhalich-Baa Dere, Assara and Gŭlŭbovo (after STEFANOVA 2004b; LESHTAKOV 2006); B: other wheel-made pottery from Gălăbovo (after LESHTAKOV 2006); C: examples of "international" Early Bronze Age pottery from Kanlıgeçit (after ÖZDOĞAN – PARZINGER 2012)

of the Lefkandi I-Kastri ceramic repertoire (STEFANOVA 2004b; RAHMSTORF 2006) (Fig. 7). Additional pottery evidence, as yet unpublished, from Altan Tepe, Cherna Gora and Mudrets (LESHTAKOV 2002) demonstrates that we must be dealing with extensive networks of exchange in the upper Thracian plain of Bulgaria (LESHTAKOV 2006) in this local so-called Early Bronze Age 3 period. From adjacent Turkish Thrace, the already mentioned coastal Marmara Sea site of Selimpasa Höyük has also delivered wheel-made Trojan plates and pithoi fragments, and red-slip sherds are known as stray finds from the Kınalı Köprü site west of Silivri (Istanbul), not far away from Selimpasa. Finally, depata and other international fabrics are also attested from earlier excavations at the Karaagaçtepe (DEMANGEL 1926) site near the European side of the Dardanelles, showing its importance, besides the Bosporus, in transmitting these novelties.

The presence of settlers, and potential traders, from Anatolia and the persistent cultural current



Fig. 8. Bulgaria – the fenestrated copper/bronze axe from the so-called Haskovo treasure (after AVRAMOVA – TODORIEVA 2005)

from the southeast clearly cause a dramatic increase in the social complexity of this zone. We see this in the graves of local leaders and elites, their ritual sites and buried hoards; they adorn themselves with jewellery of gold and silver, new metal fittings for clothing, and equip themselves with weapons of a foreign type, such as the exotic fenestrated bronze(?) axe from Haskovo (Fig. 8), the only of its kind in Europe, new alloys and vessels made of precious metals. The evidences from a looted tumulus at Rupite (Blagoevgrad; Fig. 9) in the southwest Bulgarian Struma valley (LESHTAKOV 2011), from tumuli and attached ritual features at Dăbene (Plovdiv; HRISTOV 2005; 2007; 2011), c. 20,000 (!) golden artefacts, most of them small rings but also a golden (ritual) dagger (Fig. 10A), in the northwest and looted grave(s) or hoard(s) near Haskovo in the southeast of the Thracian Plain (AVRAMOVA - TODORIEVA 2005), and also from another tumulus at Izvorovo (Haskovo; BORISLAVOV 2010) in the southern Sakar mountains (Fig. 11) show this dramatically. But it is certainly only the tip of the iceberg. For with the recently discovered gold and/or silver hoards<sup>4</sup> from Provadiya (Varna), Yankovo Shumensko (Shumen), Panayot Hitovo (Tărgovishte; FOL – LICHARDUS – NIKOLOV [Hrsg.] 2004), plus the previously excavated treasures from the cave sites of Emenska Peshtera (Lovech; NIKOLOVA – ANGELOVA 1961) and Tabashka Peshtera (Lovech; HRISTOV 2000), we have indications that this trend succeeded in spreading to the regions north and northeast of the Balkan mountains, if only delayed by one or two centuries.

Intriguing are the four further aspects which highlight the close links:

1) Silver: Modern-day Bulgaria is rich in gold, but has only a few silver sources and it seems none of these has been exploited in the Copper and Bronze Ages. However, many of the lavish graves, ritual and treasure finds mentioned above yielded artefacts made of silver. Among them are some magnificent objects, each weighting more than 100 grams, such as the lunula-like (neck?) jewellery from Panayot Hitovo and the Emenska and Tabahska caves, or the bracelets from Rupite. This situation makes it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Krassimir Leshtakov, Sofia, made me aware of some of these new finds, and also explained the circumstances of their discovery and further backgrounds to me. I am grateful for his support.



Fig. 9. Bulgaria – the (remaining?) inventory of the lavishly furnished grave of Rupite (after LESHTAKOV 2011)



(after PRIMAS 1996)

obvious that all silver was imported, in all likeliness from Anatolia, or the Aegean, where silver was continuously in use from the fourth millennium BC.

2) Early tin-bronzes: Only a tiny fraction of copper/bronze artefacts are analysed. However even so, some have come out as being true, intentionally alloyed, tin-bronzes (*Fig. 12A*). These comprise various objects, from pins (such as from Golyamata Mogila, grave 19; and from Mudrets), a bracelet (Mikhalich), a bowed band of unknown function from Kanlıgeçit, a miniature cup from Ovcharitsa 2 (3.56% of tin), to chisels and axes (LESHTAKOV 2006). The daggers from Rupite and Haskovo are also suspected, as it is not unlikely that the fenestrated axe from Haskovo also consists of tin-bronze. All these objects without doubt demonstrate the close exchange connections between Anatolia and the Aegean on the one side and southeastern Europe on the other.

3) Dress pins: Mentioned already as objects frequently made of tin-bronze, dress pin are a group of artefacts that suddenly appear in Bulgarian sites from *c*. 2500 BC. Good examples come from the category of sites which are anyway in suspicion to be Anatolian colonies or emporia, or those showing the closest affinities: Kanlıgeçit, Mikhalich-Baa Dere, Assara, Gălăbovo, Mudrets and the burial context of Rupite *(Fig. 12B)*. Most of these pins are clear copies of those found in Anatolia, such as in Troy or Küllüoba (e.g., EFE – FIDAN 2006), or to put it in another way, both represent the same typological family. Beyond this common background, one must also assume that along these pins probably came a new dress code, new dressing customs and, not unlikely as shown by the many spindle-whorls from Kanlıgeçit, a dressing material not completely new but now of better quality and wider availability: wool.



Fig. 11. Bulgaria – burial features and parts of the inventory of the lavishly furnished grave of Izvorovo (after BORISLAVOV 2010)



Fig. 12. Turkish Thrace and Bulgaria – A: early tin-bronzes (after AVRAMOVA – TODORIEVA 2005; FOL – LICHARDUS – NIKOLOV [Hrsg.] 2004; LESHTAKOV 2006; 2011; ÖZDOĞAN – PARZINGER 2012; the daggers have to be seen with a question mark due to missing detailed analyses) and B: metal dress pins (after ÖZDOĞAN – PARZINGER 2012; STEFANOVA 2000; LESHTAKOV 2003; 2006; 2011; note that most, if not all, pins do also consist of tin-bronze)

4) Torcs: Stefan Alexandrov has recently (2011) published several newly surfaced golden torcs. These come form the sites of Novae-Svishkov (Veliko Tărnovo), Veliko Tărnovo, Shumen-Eldaz Tabiya, Bogdanovo near Dobrich, Anchialo/Pomorie near Burgas, as well as one of an unknown provenance. To add is firstly another torc of unknown provenance in Bulgaria, included in the Sofian ARES collection (FOL – LICHARDUS – NIKOLOV [Hrsg.] 2004), and secondly the fantastic Svishkov treasure, discovered last year (2012). It yielded, in a pottery vessel, at least six golden torcs and other golden and bronze objects. Its likely date is around 2000 BC and probably many of the other torcs in this list are also dating to the time slot of *c*. 2200–1900 BC, a date when most torcs become widespread and indeed iconic in Early Bronze Age continental Europe. However, it is the material that matters here, and gold and silver torcs are an absolute rarity in wider Europe. It is only at the Levantine coast, and in Anatolia and Greece where they are widely known, such as the examples from Ikiztepe, Eskiyapar, Troy, Poliochni, Antiparos, etc.

Thus we have more than a local effect; rather, it is the widespread realisation of a "chiefdom" system based on prestige goods. Nevertheless local terminology speaks nonsensically of the second half of the fourth and the first half of the third millennium BC as an "Early Bronze Age" – however, one should recognise a structurally defined "Early Bronze Age" only in relation to this local Early Bronze Age 3, i.e. roughly the second half of the third millennium BC. This is justified through the application of the "chiefdom" system concept, but also by the advanced economic matters, the segmented system of settlement behind it and the many innovations of the time. Anything else makes no sense in a transregional context, and particularly in comparison with the circum-Aegean regions and Anatolia.

#### 2. The western Balkans

As with the eastern Balkans, in the third millennium we see in wide areas of the western Balkans the appearance of larger and more varied gold and silver objects, more prestige goods and exotic finds. We also see elites, the way they represented themselves in graves, hoards and hierarchically structured settlement sites and settlement systems. However, there are clear differences in the structures themselves and particularly in their dating. For if this increase in complexity in Bulgaria and Turkish Thrace occurred there suddenly with the local Early Bronze Age 3, and therefore after *c*. 2500 BC, then we are here dealing with a development of this kind at a period as early as 2750 BC or even earlier (MARAN 1998; HARRISON – HEYD 2007; PRIMAS 2007, 9f.). This is shown by the well-known graves of Mala and Velika Gruda (PRIMAS 1996), of Danilo-Tumul Ivankovaca (GOVEDARICA 1989) in Croatia and of Podgorica-Tološi, Gruda Boljevića (BAKOVIĆ – GOVEDARICA 2009) in Montenegro<sup>5</sup> (*Fig. 13*), a Bosnian axe hoard of unknown provenance with axes of an exotic silver/copper alloy (BORN – HANSEN 2001), as well as the hierarchically structured settlement of Vučedol (*Fig. 14*) und similar sites along the Danube and Sava rivers in Croatia and Serbia.

The Vučedol site is of particular interest: It is estimated to have housed a living population of 1100–1500 inhabitants (FORENBAHER 1994), thus making it with certain a regional centre and generally one of the largest third millennium BC settlements outside the Aegean, even if the calculation by Stašo Forenbaher seems set somewhat too high for a site of *c*. 3 hectares. The site also shows a clear stratification, not only in form of the ordinary settlement versus the acropolis-like elevation called Gradac, and the metallurgical evidences from there, but also due to the discovered houses. Normal houses at Vučedol are rectangular and 5.6–6.3 m wide and 7.3–8.3 m long. The main building on the Gradac measures  $15.5 \times 9.5$  m and is perhaps double-storied, or has a roof-floor, thus showing at least the triple surface size of all ordinary houses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> These are already regarded as being Early Bronze Age by BAKOVIĆ – GOVEDARICA (2009, passim).



Fig. 13. Former Yugoslavia: lavishly furnished graves belonging to the first half of the third millennium BC – A: Velika Gruda; B: Mala Gruda; C: Podgorica-Tološi ("Boljevića Gruda"); D: Danilo-Tumul Ivankovaca (after HARRISON – HEYD 2007, Fig. 48)



Fig. 14. Former Yugoslavia: the site of Vučedol as an example of a hierarchically structured settlement of around 2750 BC (after SCHMIDT 1945; FORENBAHER 1994)

Further on, the gold dagger weighing 108.8 g from Mala Gruda (cf. Fig. 10B), axes made from supposedly exotic silver/copper alloys, a knife of tin bronze with 7.3% tin content from Velika Gruda, and a polished rectangular-shaped object with intriguingly almost exactly the same weight as an Aegean/Near Eastern Mina standard<sup>6</sup> are all evidence of very early exchange connections in the eastern Mediterranean area. In this one cannot overlook the coastal location of many important sites and their direct access to the Adriatic. This makes them an ideal hub for links further up the Adriatic coast and its many islands, as well as over to southeastern Italy only some 80 kilometers away at its nearest spot. Clearly in this early exchange and trade connection the roughly contemporary Early Helladic cemetery of Steno on the Ionian island of Levkas is of great importance (KILIAN-DIRLMEIER 2005; MARAN 2007; PRIMAS 2007, 9).

This connection between the Aegean/east Mediterranean and local elites who took part in this system and possibly also controlled it, remains in place during the second half of the third millennium BC, even if the cultural background of the western Balkan area changes markedly. The previously dominant Vučedol complex, using mainly incrustation as pottery ornamentation, falls apart, as do its





several variants, shortly after the middle of the millennium, and more regional groups appear – like Vinkovci in Slavonia and Syrmia, Bubanj Hum III and Armenochóri in eastern Serbia and Macedonia, Belotić-Bela Crkva in Central Serbia and Cetina along the Adriatic coast (MARAN 1998). The factor connecting them is now largely undecorated pottery, and the dominance of cups and jugs, plates and bowls. The same development may be observed at this time in Bulgaria. However, rich finds of silver and gold from probable and attested graves and hoards clearly demonstrate continuity (*Fig. 15*):

 the inventory of gold jewellery from a probable burial mound in Nin-Privlaka in Dalmatia (GLOGOVIĆ 2003);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> I thank Lorenz Rahmstorf, Mainz, for this information which is also published in the meanwhile: RAHMSTORF 2010, 685, footnote 13.



Fig. 16. A: Gold compound necklace from Velika Vrbica (Serbia), now in the Serbian National Museum Belgrade (after ČOVIĆ [ed.] 1983); B: Silver dagger of unknown provenance, now in the Hungarian National Museum Budapest (after FOULON [dir.] 2001)

– the two axes of cupellated silver (c. 300 g), probably of Aegean origin, found along with rich gold jewellery which got lost, at Stari Jankovci (BALEN – MIHELIĆ 2003; 2007);

 the gold jewellery from the mound of Bare near Rekovac with its obvious Aegean links (SREJOVIĆ 1976);

the treasure of Orolik (MAJNARIĆ-PANDZIĆ 1975;
75.56 g of gold in total);

 a grave with gold diadem (39.95 g) from Zemun-Šljunkara (VRANIĆ 1991); and

- the tumulus site of Cemenci from where a gold bracelet is named (DELLA CASA 1996); however, in the context of the numerous golden torcs mentioned above from Bulgaria it is rather to be regarded as a fragment of another torc.

Also worth mentioning in this context is an unprovenanced riveted silver dagger with prominent midrib (FOULON [dir.] 2001) in the National Museum, Budapest *(Fig. 16B)*. This old 19<sup>th</sup> century find could very well be from a region of the former Austro-Hungarian Empire. Croatia and Serbia would be

prime candidates on the basis of the connection described above. This long list might even be expanded to include a second early find, the famous gold necklace from Velika Vrbica (Kladovo; Bor) in eastern Serbia (*Fig. 16A*). This compound necklace, in the inventory of the National Museum in Belgrade since at least 1855, comprises almost one thousand golden beads and has so far unanimously been dated to the later Early Bronze Age and/or transition to the Middle Bronze Age, thus well after 2000 BC (ČOVIĆ [ed.] 1983, 522, 527, t. 76. 9, 13). However the best comparisons for the golden chain spacers and the central bi-conical beads are indeed from the Troy treasures, from Poliochni and now from the Dăbene site. Moreover, golden beads of the common form in the necklace are also well attested from Anatolia, the Aegean and now Bulgaria. This seriously questions the conventional dating, particularly when taking into account the unsecure circumstances, whether hoard or destroyed grave, and the missing contextual information of this find. Thus, the additional golden lunular pendants, supposed to belong to the find and instrumental in dating it, are more than unclear to really belong to the same context.



Fig. 17. Potential imitations of depas cups from (B) Niš-Bubanj/Novo Selo (Serbia) and (C) Santa Croce Camarina (Castelluccio culture, Sicily) compared with (A) a silver depas of unknown provenance but likely of Anatolian/Aegean origin, now in the British Museum (after STOJIĆ – JOCIĆ 2006; TUSA 1983; http://www.britishmuseum.org)

Chronologically rather doubtful, still, are the finds of Popinci (gold jewellery), Split-Gripe (the gold jewellery of the treasure, which may not belong to the Early Copper Age hammer axes) and the uncertain find of Čepin (BALEN – MIHELIĆ 2007). The same applies to some hoards with golden hair/ temple or ear rings from the south of the Carpathian Basin, summarized by Bernhard Hänsel and Petra Weihermann in two publications (HÄNSEL – WEIHERMANN 2000; WEIHERMANN 2001) and attributed to the Early and Middle Bronze Age. At least some might also belong to this time slot of 2500 to 2200 BC, particularly for its later half when developments towards complexity all over accelerate (see also below in the section concerning the connection with the Carpathian Basin).

As far as we know, settlements from this time no longer demonstrate the strict hierarchical divisions found at Vučedol. But this might be a lack of proper field investigation. Nevertheless, alongside regionalisation there seem to be the beginnings of local centralisation processes, as the large Tržnica tell settlement in the town centre of Vinkovci shows (DIMITRIJEVIĆ 1982; GOGÂLTAN 2005; KALAFATIĆ 2006). To top this, the important gold/silver finds of Stari Jankovci and Orolik are only a few kilometres away, as is the earlier site of Vučedol. Thus local "concentration" is a keyword to be applied here. In addition, a second connecting axis to the Aegean area, via the river systems of the Serbian Morava and

Vardar-Axios also seems to become significant at this time, though this does not emerge clearly from the record. But a vessel from Niš-Bubanj/Novo Selo (STOJIĆ – JOCIĆ 2006) shows that it is of importance, however; the form of this vessel (*Fig. 17B*) can only be understood if one is familiar with Aegean wheel-made drinking vessels, and their silver imitations (or are these the original?), of the *depas* form.

Overall, we note a development between the Adriatic, Sava/Danube and Vardar-Axios similar to the one in the eastern Balkans, in which a "chiefdom" system based on prestige goods came into being. Exchange and down-the-line trade, particularly along the Ionian and Adriatic coast, are of prime importance, and it is obvious that the recently discovered Early Bronze Age shipwreck of Kefalonia (CEVOLI 2006) gives us the clue as to the main means of transport for this connection. Local terminology rightly sees in the cultural changes of the second half of the third millennium BC the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age in this region. This can also be proven structurally; as is the case later in many other regions of Europe (see below), cultural regionalisation, the rather small areas in which cultural identity was established, and the abandoning of decoration on pottery, must be among the fundamental criteria of such a definition. The fact that this occurred in the Vinkovci area together with aspects of centralisation, elite graves and hoards of precious metal, proves the argument is watertight. A second important role in this is played by the Cetina group of Dalmatia (DELLA CASA 1995): Budding off from the dissolving Adriatic variant of the Vučedol complex, and at the same time incorporating elements the Bell Beaker phenomenon (also see below), early Cetina apparently had a quite different social agenda, as shown on the one hand by the conspicuous absence of prestige goods and, on the other, its drive to expand. For not only do we come across Cetina finds on the other side of the Adriatic in Italy, probably from the 24<sup>th</sup> century onwards, but also to the south in Albania and then in the Peloponnese, where Cetina finds have a particular role in the transition from Early Helladic II to III (around c. 2200 BC) (MARAN 1998; NICOLIS 2005).

#### 3. The southern Central Mediterranean area

The third European region having direct exchange links with this Early Bronze Age Aegean network is southern mainland Italy and Sicily, along with Malta. Here, too, knowledge about Early Bronze Age connections with the Aegean is nothing radically new. In fact, there is a long tradition in Italian prehistory highlighting these earliest Italo-Aegean contacts (e.g., CAZZELLA 2003; PALIO 2004; LA Rosa 2005; Maran 2007; Cazzella – Pace – Recchia 2007; Cazzella – Cultraro – Recchia 2010; INGRAVALLO – TIBERI – LONOCE 2010; RECCHIA 2010). But unlike the situation in the Balkans described above, the social background seems predominantly different: We find far less prestige goods made of precious metal, nor do we have such a direct evidence of local elites, in contrast to those in the Balkans who left a distinct portrait of themselves through their graves, hoards and settlements. This is partly because of local traditions, particularly burial ritual: In the centre and south of Italy there are mostly collective graves in natural and artificial grottos and caves, and therefore the individual, and its previous social and economic position, is certainly not displayed in the same ostentatious way. There are, nevertheless, a handful of outstanding burials dated to already the first half of the third millennium BC and belonging to the various regional Copper Age contexts of Gaudo, Rinaldone and Remedello. These comprise burials from Mirabella Eclano (tomba del capo tribù; Campania), Ponte San Pietro (tomba della Vedova; Lazio), San Biagio della Valle (Umbria) and Villafranca Veronese (Veneto).<sup>7</sup> There are, however, no similar exceptional graves and burials belonging to the 2<sup>nd</sup> half of the millennium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> SALZANI 2007; I do not regard the Villafranca Veronese grave as a Bell Beaker burial, would however date it to the last one/two centuries before the introduction of the first beakers in northern Italy.



Fig. 18. Italy: third millennium BC key finds of Aegean origin, or probably with Aegean connection – A: Camaro; B: Casone San Severo; C: Grotta Cappuccini; D: Monte Venere; E: Bingia `e Monti; F: Villafranca Veronese; G: San Biagio della Valle; H: Palagonia (after BACCI 1997; CAZZELLA 2003; INGRAVALLO 2002; LEIGHTON 1999; ATZENI 1998; SALZANI 2007; DE ANGELIS 1996; ALBANESE PROCELLI 2003)

In addition there is the problem of relative and absolute chronology, also affecting the accurate dating of these graves, still causing difficulty today (MARAN 1998, 364f.; 2007). This is also true of the settlement sites. Although the beginnings of fortified settlements near the coast, like Coppa Nevigata in Apulia, seem to reach back into the final third millennium BC, as shown by the Cetina sherds found in it (RECCHIA 2010), we have no other reliable comparison between sites. Thus in the case of many of the relevant small finds made of metal, bone, stone and clay, described below, the exact chronological point cannot always be fixed beyond doubt, especially as some of the most important artefacts have no evident context (*Fig. 18*).

If we nevertheless try to proceed chronologically, then amongst the earliest finds showing Aegean connections are two stone "violin figurines" found in 1991 and 1996/7 at a Piano Conte site in Camaro outside Messina in Sicily. It is in no way accidental that there are burials at the same site, which interestingly include an adult burial covered with the sherds of a large pithos (BACCI 1997). This may confirm a funeral context for the figurines. There are no others of this kind in Sicily or the entire Central Mediterranean area, and indeed the best parallels are found in the Aegean area, where one would place them roughly in the first half of the third millennium BC.<sup>8</sup>

A second watershed from 2500 till about 2200 BC, i.e. the peak Early Helladic IIb period, gives probably the chronological background of more finds. To here belong:

- the small decorated bone tube which was found as a single find in Casone San Severo in northern Apulia (CAZZELLA 2003), with excellent parallels in the necropolis of Steno in Levkas (grave R4), mentioned above;
- the small anchor-shaped amulet made of shell, possibly *Spondylus*, found in the Grotta Cappuccini in southern Apulia (INGRAVALLO 2002), with clear connections to the Aegeo-Balkanic clay anchors; specimens of such clay anchors are also known from Corfu, Albania and Malta;
- the find of an Aegeo-Anatolian slotted spearhead with haft tongue from Monte Venere near Taormina in Sicily (LEIGHTON 1999); again an isolated find, for which reason a date to the Early Helladic III-period, i.e. after *c*. 2200 BC, is also possible;
- a few copper sheet objects, with a shape varying between elongated rectangular and oval, with two rivets next to each other on one of the short sides (SKEATES 2005), of a kind known from several Italian graves of this period (e.g., from the "Cavità dei Sassi Neri", Grosseto; Laterza, grave 3, Taranto; Grotta Cappuccini, Lecce), and corresponding best with the "spatulae/scrapers" of Steno and several Cycladic graves, particularly in Chalandriani (HEKMAN 2003; KILIAN-DIRLMEIER 2005);
- furthermore, a neck-ring made of single round-sectioned gold wire from a Bell Beaker context from Bingia 'e Monti in Sardinia (ATZENI 1998, fig. 8); the best (roughly) contemporary parallels for such neck-rings, or torcs, made of precious metal come from Anatolian, Greek (compare in particular again the graveyard of Steno and the graves R4 and R15b with their silver torc-like artefacts), now Bulgarian and probably Dalmatian (Cemenci, see above) sites; and finally,
- various silver finds, among them the two most important graves with silver grave-goods (*Fig. 19*) from the middle and second half of the third millennium BC from Villafranca Veronese in the Veneto (a lunula, 28 cm wide, reportedly with 99% silver content; SALZANI 2007) and San Biagio della Valle in Umbria (a riveted dagger of the Guardistallo type with a strange copper-silver alloy of 33.1% silver; DE ANGELIS 1996; next comparisons for this exotic metal are found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There are however similarities with violin-shaped clay idols which are probably from the last quarter of the third millennium BC, and are known to come from the Peloponnese, Montenegro and Albania: MARAN 2007, 17, Pl. IV.



*Fig. 19. Italy: the inventories of the lavishly furnished graves of (A) Villafranca Veronese (after SALZANI 2007) and (B) San Biagio della Valle (after DE ANGELIS 1996)* 

in Bosnia, Dalmatia and, intriguingly Anatolia<sup>9</sup>). As these, and some more specimens, have not been analysed, it remains uncertain whether they are of cupellated, perhaps Aegean, silver or of local ores, from Sardinia and the Toscana for instance. The geographical distribution would perhaps tend support to the latter (ANZIDEI – AURISICCHIO – CARBONI 2007).

In many of the finds mentioned, the connection with the cemetery of Steno on the Ionian island of Levkas is significant (KILIAN-DIRLMEIER 2005). Looking at the Steno finds themselves, one is also struck by the typical long and narrow obsidian blades made using a highly specialised pressure-flaking technique, such as are also known from the Grotta Cappuccini, from Laterza itself and other south Italian sites. However, further studies are needed to determine whether the technique and material were imported from the Aegean, or rather a local obsidian from Lipari was in use.

The third watershed in the connections between the Aegean and southern Italy may be placed after *c*. 2200 BC (MARAN 2007). From this chronological horizon come the famous bossed bone plaques *(ossi a globuli)*, such as those from the Casal Sabini (Bari) and the Grotta del Pipistrello Solitario (Taranto), not to forget those found in considerable numbers from Sicily (LEIGHTON 1999; DISTEFANO 2006). To this horizon also belong graves and artefacts from the Castelluccio necropolis (ORSI 1892; LEIGHTON 1999; PALIO 2004), eponymous for the Early Bronze Age Castelluccio culture in Sicily. Graves here contain, along with the bossed bone plaques, such outstanding items as what appears to be a scale-beam (grave 22), bronze tweezers (grave 23), and fragments of a bronze vessel, probably a cup (grave 31). There are interesting indications of other imported weapons, like a Sicilian riveted dagger from Palagonia, grave North 5, where the rivets are arranged in a trapeze shape, a feature that otherwise occurs only on Aegean examples (ALBANESE PROCELLI 2003). This might also apply for some Castelluccio two-handled jugs, such as those from Santa Croce Camarina (TUSA 1983, fig. 50), when compared with the "depas cups" in the Aegean (cf. *Fig. 17C*). The similarity is indeed striking.

The same is true for the trans-Adriatic Balkan connections, again nothing nearly new throughout the third millennium BC (e.g., INGRAVALLO – TIBERI – LONOCE 2010), shown by of asymmetrical handles on other Castelluccio jugs, as well as cups with elbow-formed handles, butted handles and/or handle-protomes which came into vogue in a relatively narrow time-window of the Early Bronze Age along the Italian Adriatic coast, but also in Central and northern Italy. However, their trans-Adriatic connections, and the contemporaneity with east Thracian and Bulgarian Early Bronze Age 3 cups and their handle protomes (dating to around the transition third/fourth quarter of the third millennium BC) are so striking *(Fig. 20)* that there must have been a kind of trajectory linking these regions. This is in particular evident because no other Early Bronze Age region uses this kind of handles for their cups.

Finally we must mention Malta, where eastern Mediterranean connections with the Tarxien Cremation Cemetery are evident (the description of the latter site seems almost like that of a tumulus) when looking at small finds (e.g., clay anchors), metal artefacts (e.g., silver beads) and pottery links (EVANS 1971; CAZZELLA – PACE – RECCHIA 2007).

Overall it seems that the finds and sites listed above are only the proverbial tip of the iceberg of Aegeo-Italian connections (*Fig. 21*). The wide spectrum of finds is revealing, from traded goods to prestige objects to imitations. The significance of the Steno site on the Ionian island of Levkas is also noteworthy in its function as a cultural intermediary, for forms originating in the southern Greek mainland and on the Cyclades, then going into the Adriatic and over to Apulia and Sicily. It also seems clear that these Ionian-Apulian-Sicilian as well as trans-Adriatic connections – and probably also the presence of people from the Aegean and Balkans – have a central significance in the origins of the Early Bronze

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> I am grateful to Barbara Horejs, Vienna, for pointing me to the contemporary wider, and more eastern, background of these copper/silver alloys.


Fig. 20. Examples of cups and jugs with elbow-formed and butted handles from the second half of the third millennium BC in Turkish Thrace, Bulgaria, Dalmatia and Italy – A: Kanlıgeçit, Turkish Thrace;
B: Drama, Bulgaria; C–D: Guvnine and Preocani, Dalmatia; E–F: Tursi and Grotta Cappuccini, Apulia; G: Fosso Conicchio, Lazio; H–I: Aosta and Lavagnone, Northern Italy (after various authors)



Fig. 21. Italy and Greece: later third millennium BC Italian finds of Aegean, or probable Aegean origin and their comparisons in Greece (and Troy) (after various authors)

Age on the Italian peninsula. Italian scholars also consider that this chronology is not coincidental. The favoured conclusion today sees a progressive development from south to north and from east to west, with a culturally regionalised background and a definition that is still to be standardised: Castelluccio in Sicily would then already be affected in the 25<sup>th</sup> century BC (LEIGHTON 1999), Apulia, the Marches and Caput Adriae (Cetina) in the 24<sup>th</sup> (NICOLIS 2005), and northern Italy (Polada) in the 23<sup>rd</sup> (DE MARINIS 1999); the western half of Italy, however, seems to be included only from the 22<sup>nd</sup> century (SARTI – LEONINI 2007).

Even if each region is different and shows its own characteristics, these peripheral areas in the Balkans and in southern Italy are very important in the transmission of Early Bronze Age cultural structures in Europe as will be explained in the next section. However, hitherto they have seldom been considered as such.

### Beyond the peripheries: the gradual transmission of new ideas, values and achievements

There seems only limited transmission of valuable goods to regions beyond these peripheries between 2500 and 2200 BC. This coincides with an absence of outstanding settlements or houses, hoards containing precious metals,<sup>10</sup> of rich graves distinguished by their lavish provision of grave-goods, of objects made of precious metal and other rare and exotic material, and/or of superior ways of constructing the graves. The few exceptions of over-average individual Bell Beaker graves like those of the Amesbury Archer in Wiltshire, Fuente Olmedo in Castile, Markt in Bavaria and now Hulín-Pravčice 2 in Moravia (e.g., PEŠKA – KALÁBEK 2008) cannot much alter this picture. This is particularly striking if one takes into the account that all Bell Beaker metal, discovered so far in graves, settlements and hoards in all of Europe, merely amounts to 100 kg of copper and perhaps one kilogramm of gold. To put it into the right order: a single Reinecke A2-period Early Bronze Age hoard can yield nearly the same!

And yet, we observe distinct changes in the pattern of sites and artefacts, first in a wide arc stretching from the Lower Danube (Romania) via the Carpathian Basin and its immediate adjacent regions, as far as northern Italy. These range from innovations in material culture and changes in pottery to shifts in the organisation of settlement sites and in regional settlement pattern. Thus the group of objects gradually appear, at first as single artefacts in more isolated findspots that were later to characterise the inventory of the Central European Early Bronze Age after 2300 BC (the Reinecke A0, A1 and A2 periods). These include new elements in weaponry like triangular riveted daggers, halberds and flanged axes. In ornaments and clothing, the composite necklaces,<sup>11</sup> lunulae, torcs and other neck ornaments are important, as are metal diadems, bracelets and *Noppenringe*, as well as other ring and metal sheet, and bone and shell jewellery. In burials of the 23<sup>rd</sup> century BC, the first dress pins made of copper or bone are noteworthy. In general, more metal gradually appears in graves and settlements, with different kinds of copper increasingly present, in terms of both alloy and isotopic origin; in addition, we find the first tim bronzes (BERTEMES – HEYD 2002).

A key region for the transmission from the Aegean peripheries discussed above to the regions further north and west is indeed the Carpathian Basin in the heart of the European continent, covered by modernday countries of Romania, Hungary, Serbia and Croatia, Austria, Czech Republic (Moravia), Slovakia and Ukraine (Transcarpathia).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The well-known metal hoard of Perşinari (Romania) which might be included by some observers in a list of this kind, is of a later date, more likely the beginning of the second millennium BC: VULPE 1995. Also the new hoard of Svishkov in northern Bulgaria, with its lavish golden torcs, likely dates to around 2000 BC or slightly thereafter. I am grateful to Stefan Alexandrov, Sofia, for letting me know photos of the objects found in this important hoard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See the list of bone spacers for such composite necklaces coming from Initial Bronze Age graves in Slovakia, Poland, Hungary and Romania at: POPESCU 2001.



Fig. 22. Attribution of Makó/Kosihý-Čaka and Somogyvár-Vinkovci according to the terminological systems in the countries of its distribution (background map after KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1997)

## The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Central Carpathian Basin: regional tradition or wider European picture

Terminologically, the beginnings of the Bronze Age are not uniform in the Carpathian. The reality is in fact a kind of micro-cosmos of what is going on in Europe as a whole: each country uses its own scheme (*Fig. 22*), and depending on the country and its tradition, or even current vogue, one time the Early Bronze Age starts at *c.* 3300 BC (Cotofeni, Romania), *c.* 2800 BC (Makó/Kosihý-Čaka, early Somogyvár, Hungary), *c.* 2500–2400 BC (Vinkovci, Serbia and Croatia), *c.* 2300–2200 BC (Oggau-Wipfing/Proto-Únětice, Austria and Moravia), *c.* 2300–2200 BC (Veselé-Chłopice/Nitra, Slovakia) and *c.* 3000 BC (Yamnaya, Ukraine). This obviously somehow more reflects a historical east–west divide, or gradient, than as one would expect, and is advocated here, a south to north/northwest European development.

Leaving aside the nonsense idea of Cotofeni being Bronze Age, or a transitional period towards the Bronze Age, the horizon of Makó/Kosihý-Čaka and (early) Somogyvár, as the representatives of the Early Bronze Age I in the Hungarian terminology, to which also Livezile of western Transylvania and some northern aspects of (a Transdanubian) Vučedol can be added, is an interesting one for the discussion of when a true, structurally defined Bronze Age should begin. This Early Bronze Age I indeed brings many changes in settlement systems, burial customs and material culture, in particular the now mostly plain pottery (KULCSÁR 2009). Likewise are the regional differences in the Carpathian Basin not that huge as they appear at first glance through the regionally diverse cultural terminologies. The settlement organisation, as far as we possess an overview, is quite similar despite some settlements infortified positions in southern Transdanubia; inhumations and cremations do indeed have different centres of gravity, are however equally distributed in the Carpathian Basin and are also very similar in terms of their grave, burial and equipment customs; and pottery categories and forms are mostly interchangeable between Makó, Kosihý-Čaka, Somogyvár and Livezile, if one only considers contemporary materials, which is however quite tricky to realize due to the lack of a proper phasing and not always available <sup>14</sup>C dates. Therefore the original Zók concept, or a Vučedol-Zók, is still very interesting and describes probably much better the situation in the Central Carpathian Basin at the time lot of c. 2800 to 2500 BC than the actual, rather fragmented cultural scenario. But is this Zók already Early Bronze Age in a wider European sense? Realistically, not that much!

In terms of complexity there is not much one can put into the balance:

- the settlements are rather moderate in size and composition; not a single larger one stretching over several hectares is known; there are, however, some in southern Transdanubia which are in defensive positions, but this is not uncommon in wider Europe in this and prior periods, and in no way is there anything comparable to the hierarchically structured site of Vučedol;
- there are no known lavishly equipped graves such as those described above from Montenegro and Dalmatia; if at all, then the graves of Sárrétudvari stand out, however recent research has shed light on their special relationship with the Apuseni mountains and speculated on the reasons why these people migrated to the plain which might also explain their equipment (GERLING *et al.* 2012);
- shafthole axe hoards do exist as are known many single shafthole axes which should belong to this period; however, there is not a single true shafthole axe accompanying a burial; there are also metalworker hoards, including simple and bivalve casting forms and other tools; these do also occur as founder's deposits in refuse pits; some of the hoards can be quite lavish, such as the Vâlcele/Bányabükk treasure with at least 55 shafthole axes, weighting several tens of kg of copper; however this hoard dates to around 3000 BC, thus predating the beginnings of the Hungarian Early Bronze Age I;
- we have no record of tin-bronzes, of gold and silver objects, of exotic foreign objects, or of real
  prestige goods such as axes and daggers in the graves (except of Sárrétudvari) of the Hungarian
  Early Bronze Age I period.

Equally, among the many gold artefacts, assembled in the exhibition catalogue "Trésors préhistoriques de Hongrie" (FOULON [dir.] 2001), there is not a single one that can securely be dated to this period of 2800–2500 BC. This situation continues well into the subsequent period, the Early Bronze Age IIa of the Hungarian system, *c*. 2500–2250 BC, and indeed the inventories of later Makó and Somogyvár do not alter that much. We have now, however, the first smaller gold and silver artefacts in our records, mostly hair rings and sheet jewellery weighing only a few grams from Bell Beaker graves of the Budapest-Csepel group (ENDRŐDI 2012). This corresponds well with the rest of the Bell Beaker *East Group* and one can easily assume the same level of social and economic achievements (HEYD 2007a).

There is thus a great difference here in the Carpathian Basin when compared with the situation in the Balkans. Obviously, we are not having the same level of societal and/or economic complexity. And yet, very interesting and far-reaching are the significant changes in the pottery inventory, manifested after 2500 BC. In parts of Romania, as in the entire Carpathian Basin and in Italy, there is a general decrease in decoration on pottery. Vessels are no longer messengers, or symbols indicating affiliation to an identity group or differentiation from other groups. Instead, specific functional aspects of vessels are put in the foreground. At the same time the repertoire of forms shifts towards a preference for cups and jugs, plates and bowls, that is to say more personalised drinking vessels with handles and open shapes for eating. This is of course not a complete novelty in these regions and we are well aware of archaeological groups or cultures in the preceding centuries whose characteristics included a general lack of decoration on pottery, or where jugs, cups, and bowls, both low and deep, are common. Now, however, the innovation consists in the fact that both, loss of decoration and cups/jugs and plates/bowls, progressively cover the entire zone. In addition they now appear widely in burial ritual. As such, these cups and plates become even a diagnostic criterion for an advanced phase of the Central European branch of the Bell Beaker phenomenon (and beyond in parts of western Europe), where they are well-known as the *Begleitkeramik* ("accompanying pottery") (cf. NICOLIS [ed.] 2001).

In looking at the underlying factors in abandoning decoration and altering the range of forms, one first notices these changes in the new peripheries described above. However, we would not be wrong to trace the primary cause back to the Aegean core. Here the first impulses seem to be given by the appearance of the first wheel-made pottery of the completely undecorated Lefkandi I-Kastri repertoire, with its *depas* cups, tankards and saucers (BROODBANK 2000; RAHMSTORF 2006). Not only does mass production of pottery begin, and pots become goods for trans-regional trade, but there is an increase in the prestige and value of these often high-quality drinking and eating vessels, as shown by specimens of these same vessel-shapes made of gold and silver, for instance from the Troy hoards. In the final analysis it may be the institution of the "symposium" originating in the Near East, with its associations of elite image-cultivation, hospitality and dependency relationships (HELWING 2003), that appears in the record as far away as Central Europe, though in very attenuated form.

While this development is gradually progressing throughout the third quarter of the third millennium

BC in a wide arc stretching from the mouth of the river Danube, along the bow of the Carpathian Mountains, down to the Alps also include the Italian to peninsula, we recognize shifts in the organisation of settlement particularly in the Carpathian Basin. Here we note a gradual return to tell settlements (GOGÂLTAN 2005), obviously as a development from south to north with the site of Vinkovci-Tržnica being the first in Florin Gogâltan's list, followed by Dunaföldvár-Kálvária along the Danube (SZABÓ 1994), and then a suit of other early Nagyrév culture sites, such as



Fig. 23. Re-occupying the tell settlement sites of the Carpathian Basin in the Early Bronze Age IIa (after GOGALTAN 2005)



Fig. 24. Scheme of the various cultural groups at the beginnings of the Hungarian Early Bronze Age IIa (drawing by author; background map after GOGÂLTAN 2005)

Bölcske-Vörösgyűrű, Sióagárd-Gencs puszta (Várdomb), Gerjen-Váradpuszta, Tószeg-Laposhalom and Nagyrév-Zsidóhalom, dating from the last quarter of the third millennium BC (*Fig. 23*). Just as settlements are now often preferred in protected locations, this development comes at the beginning of the rise of central places and thus probably also the rise of "segmentary" systems of settlement. Likewise important is the factor of continuity. In this case of the named tell settlements, and many more which get re-settled a century or two later, they are continuously occupied for the next five-six centuries or even longer.

This is closely compatible with the changes in regional organisation in the Carpathian Basin and its surroundings. While in the second quarter and the middle of the third millennium BC we still had trans-regional cultural phenomena like Vučedol and Makó/Kosihý-Čaka, we soon, from about 2400 BC onwards, see a more fragmented archaeological cultural pattern with half a dozen new regional cultural units (*Fig. 24*), such as – besides the still continuing (late) Makó/Kosihý-Čaka and (late) Somogyvár – Nagyrév, Nyírség, Gyula-Roşia, Maros (Pitvaros), Ada, Gornea-Orleşti, rightly distinguished from each other in burial ritual as well as pottery (MARAN 1998; BERTEMES – HEYD 2002; VOLLMANN 2005). This process is obviously part of identity creation in smaller areas, possibly a sign of the genesis of tribal organisations. Considered together with the changes in the organisation of settlements mentioned above, it could also be a sign of the birth of chiefdoms.

We do not see these chiefs in their graves or, as a kind of a communal effort, in their hoards. What we observe, however, are again gradual changes, like the appearance of various find objects,



Fig. 25. The copper/bronze halberd from a Bell Beaker Csepel grave of the Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő cemetery near Budapest (after PATAY 2008, 34)

eventually making up the inventory of the Early Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin, now as individual isolated artefacts in contexts of the period between 2500 and 2250 BC. The copper/bronze halberd of a Bell Beaker grave of the recently excavated Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő cemetery is such a find (*Fig. 25*). Incidentally, we have halberds in that period otherwise only in hoards and some tombs on the Italian peninsula, which in turn helps in understanding the axis of cultural currents at the beginning of the Early Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. Another find are early roll-headed pins and *Noppenringe* likewise from Bell Beaker graves of the Budapest region, such as from the also recently excavated giant cemetery of Budakalász-Csajerszke

(CZENE 2008). From the site of Budapest-Albertfalva come a further roll-headed pin and an awl made of intentionally alloyed tin-bronze (ENDRŐDI *et al.* 2003). This list could be easily extended to include yet further innovations and "exotic" objects such as early triangular riveted daggers, bone pins and sheet jewellery. But again, these are only isolated finds that can be found in these early contexts. Never do they appear in combinations.

The fact that they occur just in the graves of the Bell Beaker-Csepel group no doubt depends on the broad absence of cemeteries and graves of the period from 2500 to 2250 BC in other parts of Hungary. From the moment when we have graves before us in the south of Hungary, we also see the manifestation of these innovations in their equipment customs and, even more, in a fully developed form. Key examples for this are the two smaller necropoles of Kiskundorozsma-Hosszúhát-halom (BENDE – LŐRINCZY 2002) and Sándorfalva-Eperjes (TROGMAYER 2001) in Csongrád County. Culturally rather belonging to the Maros/Pitvaros group than the neighbouring Ada, they are dated to the very beginnings of the Hungarian Early Bronze Age IIb (P. FISCHL – KULCSÁR 2011) and are very well comparable with Reinecke A0/A1a graves from the northwestern limits of the Carpathian Basin (BERTEMES – HEYD 2002). Towards the same direction refers interestingly also a good proportion of the pottery, as well as the grave and burial customs; but this is another question.

The <sup>14</sup>C dates of some of the graves fit to this chronological classification, which, in the case of the grave 56 of Kiskundorozsma, begin from the mid-23<sup>rd</sup> century BC. But this is in my opinion only a rough classification, since both cemeteries appear chronologically consistent and uniform while the <sup>14</sup>C dates in the 2-sigma range cover a wide span of 300 years. Because of these inconsistencies, and the plateau in the calibration curve in this period, it cannot be ruled out that the onset of both cemeteries already belongs the early/mid 23<sup>rd</sup> century BC.

Anyway, these graves represent for the first time in the Carpathian Basin an equipment of dress fittings (bone pins), jewellery (torc, bracelets, hair/temple rings) and weapons (dagger) that, as a combination, will become iconic in the next centuries for the Central European Early Bronze Age (*Fig. 26*). So this also sets the beginning of a long continuity even if the full implementation in terms of a structurally defined Early Bronze Age seems to have only been manifested in the course of  $21^{st}/20^{th}$  century BC. This might also be the right period when the big (metal) hoards start to appear in our records (HANSEN 2005; KISS 2012, 89ff.).

Altogether, and summarising the above said, one can perhaps assume three consecutive phases of a *Bronze Age-isation* in the Central Carpathian Basin:

1. incorporated innovations from c. 2400 BC: first (exotic) objects that later become iconic for Early Bronze Age burials are now found as single objects in graves; cultural fragmentation



Fig. 26. Reinecke A0/A1a graves from southern Hungary: the metal and bone inventory of Sándorfalva-Eperjes and Kiskundorozsma-Hosszúháthalom (Ada/Maros group) – A: Kiskundorozsma, Grave 56; B: Kiskundorozsma, Grave 55; C: Sándorfalva, Grave 9; D: Sándorfalva, Grave 169 (after BENDE – LŐRINCZY 2002; TROGMAYER 2001)

begins; at the same time re-settling of some tells in south-Central Hungary;

- 2. emancipation from traditions from *c*. 2300 BC: graves and graveyards with the complete Early Bronze Age equipment custom emerge; cultural fragmentation gradually continues; tell resettling expands;
- 3. continuity and consistency in occupying the cemeteries and tells; cultural fragmentation manifest from *c*. 2200 BC; tell formation further expands; other innovations gradually incorporated; increasing level of complexity.

### Central Europe and northern Italy

The same three phases towards an initial Early Bronze Age can also be seen when moving further to the north and northwest, in those parts of Central Europe at the western edge of the Carpathian Basin and also in parts of northern Italy. Here too, after the first incorporation of novelties in the *Begleitkeramik* phase of the Beaker period, significant changes occur in the course of the 23<sup>rd</sup> century BC (Reinecke A0) when with Oggau-Wipfing in eastern Austria, Proto-Únětice in Moravia and Chłopice-Veselé in Lesser Poland and western Slovakia the first cultural units and their graves appear that emancipate from previous traditions and start to display the new Early Bronze Age equipment and burial custom. This is then gradually followed by the further regions west and north along the upper Danube, Elbe, Oder and Rhine during the 22<sup>nd</sup> century BC (Reinecke A1). Earlier Bell Beaker cemeteries are now abandoned everywhere, and new Early Bronze Age ones established, and these were to be in part maintained for several centuries without interruption, as for instance in Franzhausen in Lower Austria (NEUGEBAUER – NEUGEBAUER 1997). Alongside continuing regional fragmentation, we also find centralisation in the form of the first fortifications on hills, particularly in more southerly areas. At the same time the characteristic longhouses come to predominate both as living places and as the foci of a new form of settlement planning (BERTEMES – HEYD 2002).

Northern Italy probably goes the same pathway. Earliest graves displaying the new equipment and burial rules are probably to date to about the same time than the Reinecke A0/A1a phase of Central Europe. This is shown by graves such as from Romagnano Loc and particularly La Vela di Valbusa in the Trentino, but probably also in Aosta-St.Martin-de-Corléans (MARZATICO – TECCHIATI 2001; DE MARINIS 2003), and represented by their globular cups and bone, shell and metal jewellery (Fig. 27). Interestingly, some of the graves here are the first to be realized as proper individual graves after at least two centuries during the middle and late Beaker periods for which no Bell Beaker graves and burials are merely recorded in northern Italy. Another novelty is the pithos grave of children, such as from Mezzocorona Borgonuovo, Nogarole di Mezzolombardo, Volano San Rocco (NICOLIS 2005) and La Vela (ENDRIZZI et al. 2011), again in the Trentino. Franco Nicolis rightfully sees the Adriatic as the link over which these kinds of innovations and new ideas are spread to northern Italy. For him, particularly the bone Montgomery toggles testify to this link, concentrated in northern Italy around Lake Garda and in the Trentino, testify to this link. They are also known from the western Aegean, however in Early Helladic III contexts, therefore dating to 2200 BC. The same specimens are well attested in Bell Beaker graves in Central and northwestern Europe too, certainly with absolute dates much earlier than 2200 BC. In the same direction might point some Cetina finds in northeastern Italy (BOARO 2005). Particularly the site of Montesei di Serso and its visible Ljubljana and Cetina connections show, although chronologically not uniformly, that this link reaches deep into the Alps, into the region where the first burials appear. Another argument are the elbow handles, typical for the north Italian Early Bronze Age, and knobs on top of the handles of cups and jars, as mentioned above, such as from Aosta, Lavagnone and other sites. These no doubt, also link across the Adriatic to the western Balkans. So, there clearly is a "formative or archaic moment" (MARZATICO - TECCHIATI 2001, 28) of the north Italian Early



Fig. 27. The material culture of the earliest Bronze Age in northern Italy (reproduction of MARZATICO – TECCHIATI 2001, fig. 1)

Bronze Age, probably not much delayed when compared with south-Central Hungary in the heart of the Carpathian Basin and contemporary to the Reinecke A0/A1a phase of Central Europe northwest of the Carpathian Basin, as demonstrated by similar cup forms and other funerary equipment. Instrumental for this new development can be in both cases only the proximity to the western Balkans, on the one hand via Syrmia and on the other along the Adriatic, and its role as a kind of Aegean periphery. In Italy this is anyway supplemented by its own Aegean finds in the south and southeast.

The next stage of the north Italian Early Bronze Age is then reached when the first wetland settlement sites are established. This can be seen as the beginning of the classical Polada and the Lavagnone 2 layer (near Desenzano del Garda, Brescia) and its dendrodates testify that this is realized at latest from *c*.  $2077 \pm 10$  BC (DE MARINIS 1999). Further important wetland and lakeside sites, like Molina di Ledro and Fiavé, demonstrate that this is a widespread, roughly contemporary phenomenon here. Their rich metal inventory with the typical flanged axes, triangular daggers and various forms of jewellery, mostly belonging to after 2000 BC, proves the fully establishment of an Early Bronze Age society by that time (DE MARINIS 2005).

Similar changes occur at the same time, that is in the  $23^{rd}/22^{nd}$  century BC, in southeastern Spain, where, for instance, the El Argar culture likewise brings a more regionalised system of influence, with hillforts functioning as a focus (cf. LULL *et al.* 2009). These hillforts, such as Fuente Álamo, Gatas and El Oficio in the Almería province, are then occupied and expanded for the next 500 years at least, thus showing the same constants of continuity like in Central Europe. We also see changes on the British Isles, where there is increased circulation of copper in the  $22^{nd}$  and  $21^{st}$  centuries BC, topped by artefacts made of tin-bronzes in significant numbers. Following this, the accumulation of wealth and practice of hoarding begins; exotic materials for jewellery like amber, jet, faience and shells are found in increasing quantities, and are now distributed over an ever-expanding area. This is an accelerating trend that stretches right across Europe, a gradual and continuous process involving the intensification of all the cultural subsystems from *c*. 2200 BC and then massively in the  $21^{st}$  century BC.

The next stage is then reached from *c*. 2000 BC when in wide parts of temperate Europe a system of intensified exchange and trade becomes established in the frame of the so-called Early Bronze Age Reinecke A2-period. Based now on a hierarchically organised society, with many prestige and status objects belonging to the then elites, and culminating in their lavishly equipped graves (such as Leubingen and Helmsdorf in Germany, Łęki Małe in Poland, Thun-Renzenbühl in Switzerland, Kernonen en Plouvorn and Saint Adrien in Brittany, and Bush and Clandon barrows in Wessex) and the large metal hoards, we also see precious metal vessels, economic specialisation, specialised craft production and widely available tin bronze. No doubt, these are components of a cultural package of the kind that had arrived around the Aegean some 500 years earlier.<sup>12</sup> A true Bronze Age is now established over much of Europe.

### Meeting the Bell Beaker network

The Bell Beaker phenomenon also pertains, over most of its distribution area, to the period between c. 2500 and 2200 BC (cf. NICOLIS [ed.] 2001). In a few regions we see Beaker traditions continuing until the 21<sup>st</sup> century BC, but by 2000 BC even the very latest beakers, only rudimentarily displaying the original form and decoration idea, had ceased to be made. As for its beginnings, it is only on the Iberian Peninsula that we have secure radiocarbon evidence for an earlier Bell Beaker formation. This reaches perhaps back as early as c. 2700 BC, bringing it thus into the chronological range of a Europe-wide transformational horizon that so altered the appearance of societies in both east and west (HARRISON – HEYD 2007).

There is still much speculation in our efforts to understand the origins of the iconic pottery form that the Bell Beakers represent, and of the groups of people producing and using them as their communal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Two facts are of particular interest here. Firstly, this (i.e. after 2000 BC) is the very period when a low point in social complexity is observed in the western Aegean (except of Crete) in the early Middle Helladic period: e.g., HIELTE 2004. Secondly, the only Aegean-linked object outside of the here defined peripheries is the famous slotted spearhead of the Kyhna hoard in eastern Germany. Is it pure accident that the only precious metal torc outside the Aegean and its peripheries is that from the Dieskau hoard/grave, not that far away from Kyhna?



Fig. 28. Schematic Bell Beaker distribution in Europe (map by author)

symbol in the European west. Much safer ground is reached, however, when describing the outlook of this formative phase: characteristic early Bell Beakers are the tall-narrow monotone comb-stamp decorated, so-called *Maritime* beakers, including their cord-zoned and inner-rim decorated variety (CZM-Beakers). Additionally, the all-over-corded Beakers (AOC-Beakers) also seem to have had an early start, perhaps even as early as the *Maritime* beakers.

This early Iberian Bell Beaker tradition is apparently confined to parts of the peninsula for over a century. At this early stage, the Bell Beaker package is not yet fully developed, lacking for example two of its most prominent components, the tanged copper daggers and the wristguards. It was perhaps around 2600 BC when the phenomenon seemingly altered its ideas, imaginations, values and worldview (i.e. its ideology), and an expansionistic drive – almost missionary in its appearance – became the dominant element. This is the moment when the first Bell Beaker vessels, and the people regarding them as their common symbol, were bypassing the Pyrenees along the Atlantic and Mediterranean coastline, reaching for example the mouth of the Rhône or Brittany, perhaps in the later the 26<sup>th</sup> century BC. From now on, the phenomenon accelerates dramatically, with more people being involved, and seizing the opportunity to promote themselves by adopting the by now well-defined package of novelties, and with the community of Beaker users growing. At the same time, around 2500 BC, Bell Beakers expand geographically to encompass more distant regions (*Fig. 28*). By integrating an increasing number of local populations, with their various traditions, the phenomenon was itself being transformed, from

being the driver of change to being a part of more established regional cultures with their own distinct flavour. This, in turn, shaped the course of developments over the succeeding centuries.

The Bell Beaker phenomenon thus became pan-European in nature (e.g., NICOLIS [ed.] 2001; CZEBRESZUK [ed.] 2003), with its centre of gravity located firmly in the western half of the continent. If we take an overview of its distribution, four larger geographical entities can be discerned (HEYD 2007a): an Atlantic domain, a Mediterranean domain, the Central European or *East Group*, and a Beaker tradition in the western part of the northern European plain, also including southern Scandinavia. Within these entities, regional Beaker networks, such as the Rhenish Beaker or Upper Italian Beaker group, can be distinguished. Even within these networks differences can be demonstrated, sometimes going down to county level.

This distribution is the result of an expansion that clearly follows the Atlantic and Mediterranean coasts and the main river systems, such as the Rhône, Rhine and Danube, and their tributaries. However, distinct regional traditions incorporated by the respective new Beaker users are also responsible, and a geographically staggered west–east impulse, resulting in weaker and stronger centres, and secondary and tertiary regions of Beaker expansion. This is particularly evident in Italy where the cultural geography of the underlying Copper Age cultures is decisive for the Beaker distribution from 2500 BC on (VANDER LINDEN 2005; MARAN 2007). So Remedello societies of the north and Rinaldone in the west were more receptive to Beaker novelties than Conelle and Laterza in the Adriatic basin, resulting in an uneven distribution of Beaker pots. The same is visible as far south as Sicily, where Bell Beakers users only set foot and established a Beaker core in the previous Conca d'Oro area, in the west of the island. Therefore burial and settlement customs, material culture such as domestic pottery, and economic resources and subsistence economies vary greatly across Europe and in the regions, while the overarching iconic Beaker vessel and the Beaker package act like a glue for the diversity, creating the image of "similar but different" (CZEBRESZUK [ed.] 2003).

Beside these four domains, and their regional networks and distinct cultures, a kind of eastern Bell Beaker periphery has recently come to prominence (HEYD 2007b). This is manifested in the form of syncretistic cultures, "...adopting different components of the Bell Beaker ideology and the package in its repertoire ... transforming it together with parts of their own traditional inventory to build a new identity" (HEYD 2007b, 102) and located in a zone following a virtual line from Central Poland in the north to the heel of the Italian peninsular in the south (roughly between the 15<sup>th</sup> to the 20<sup>th</sup> degree of eastern longitude). These syncretistic Beaker/local cultures start about 100–200 years after the more western regional Beaker cores but are, seen from a different angle, the dominant regional players in the slightly later formation of the Early Bronze Age. Representatives from north to south are the archaeological cultures of Iwno (and partly Trzciniec) in the western Baltic region; Chłopice-Veselé in Lesser Poland, western Slovakia and eastern Moravia; Pitvaros/Maros in the southeastern Carpathian basin; as well early Cetina in the Adriatic basin; and the Grotta Cappuccini aspect of the Laterza-Cellino San Marco culture in southeastern Italy. It is important to note that the last two concern regions that are among the Early Bronze Age apperipheries described above.

Beyond these ideological peripheries there is even a marginal eastern zone of more remote Bell Beaker traces (CZEBRESZUK – SZMYT [eds] 2003; HEYD 2007b). These Bell Beaker margins include parts of eastern Poland, Moldova and Romania, as well as Malta in the south. Major diagnostic elements are the wristguards, or their imitations in bone and clay. If one includes some early flint dagger types, and there is good reason to think that the dagger idea is propagated in the context of the Beaker phenomenon in the north, these influences even reached the Baltic States, Finland and Belarus.<sup>13</sup> Surprisingly perhaps, one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> A similar situation is described as far north as Norway when assessing the distribution of tanged arrowheads and their Beaker connection: ØSTMO 2009, fig. 2.



Fig. 29. The distribution of Bell Beaker elements, along some examples, in Greece and the Aegean (map by author) – A: Olympia (after ALRAM-STERN [Hrsg.] 2004 [Beitrag Rambach]);
B: Kolonna (after RAHMSTORF 2008), C: Montgomery toggles from various Greek sites (after MARAN 1998)

can argue that these Beaker margins also reached as far as the Early Bronze Age core, namely to Greece, Crete and the Aegean *(Fig. 29)*. This European southeast has only recently come into the focus of the Beaker research (HEYD 2007b; MARAN 2007; RAHMSTORF 2008). Beside conspicuous pottery evidence from Olympia, it is again the wristguards that form the majority of the diagnostic Beaker elements.<sup>14</sup>

As a result of this recent interest, more wristguards, both the broader four-holed and the oblongnarrow two-holed, are now known from the Aegean than from the whole of Italy, for example. Whilst the Cretan and Trojan specimens cannot be attributed to a specific period within the wider Early and Middle Bronze Age, the five wristguards from Lerna in the Argolid and the three plates from Kolonna on Aegina come from secure contexts (RAHMSTORF 2008). They almost all date to Early Helladic III levels (as does the pottery evidence from Olympia), thus after 2200 BC in absolute terms. This makes them late Beaker, as compared to the Central and western European examples. The best explanation for the relatively late appearance of these Aegean wristguards, and other Bell Beaker related finds, lies with further Adriatic pottery of the Dalmatian Cetina that also reached the Peloponnese in the later third millennium BC. Joseph Maran has described their background and context in detail (e.g., 1998), and he is surely right in seeing at work a migratory event, bringing Early Bronze Age Adriatic people incrementally to southern Greece for some decades from the transition of early Helladic II to III. And since early Cetina is one of those syncretistic Bell Beaker cultures of its southeastern periphery as shown above, this best explains the manifestation of these Bell Beaker package elements deep in southeastern Europe.

Bell Beaker ideological peripheries and initial Bronze Age cultural, social and economic peripheries therefore meet from the 25<sup>th</sup> century BC in the Central Mediterranean, on both sides of the Adriatic basin including much of the western Balkans as well as southern Italy and Sicily. Here, people from the two directions, and the very different value systems and world-views, may have greeted each other. There are even marginal Beaker elements that reached the Early Bronze Age core in the Aegean, if only from 2200 BC. But more decisive for the further course of development are the new cultural, social and economic ideas and values, ultimately originating in the Aegean, and their materialization and reception, that reached beyond this contact zone, deep into continental Europe – by then regions with Beaker occupation, soon to become the new Early Bronze Age focal points.

### On the retreat: Late Yamnaya, Katacombnaya and Corded Ware groups around 2500 BC

Another aspect should briefly be highlighted here when discussing this interplay of the time around 2500 BC between progressing "Early Bronze Age-*isation*" from the southeast and expanding "Bell Beaker-*isation*" from the west: groups of the Later Yamnaya, the Katacombnaya and the European Corded Ware complex (*Fig. 30*). However, as touched upon in the introduction, the importance that lies in the steppe cultures for the further course of developments has already widely diminished by the time of the mid of the millennium. Those graves of the Yamnaya – in the first quarter of the third millennium BC the dominating and innovative factor in the southeast and east-Central European lowlands (HARRISON – HEYD 2007) – that one would put "late" judged on the base of their <sup>14</sup>C-dates and associated finds, are now significantly reduced in their numbers; there is even a total lack of them in the Carpathian Basin. Beside, the transformation from Yamnaya to Katacombnaya in the core area of the steppe cultures north and northeast of the Black Sea also falls approximately in this period of between 2600–2400 BC. No doubt, this must have affected the basic societal systems deeper than the visible changes in sepulchral and burial customs let us assume on first glance. One can perfectly imagine that also subsistence economy,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The Montgomery bone toggles, as analysed by MARAN 1998; NICOLIS 2005 and RAHMSTORF 2008, should be added. Their Europe-wide distribution and chronology shows that they probably took the same pathway as the wristguards.



Fig. 30. Schematic Yamnaya and Corded Ware distribution in Europe (background map and Corded Ware distribution based on MÜLLER et al. 2009, modified; Yamnaya distribution based on MERPERT 1974 and HEYD 2011). Note that the Yamnaya west expansion is now dated to c. 3050 BC while the Corded Ware complexs in Europe seems not to start prior to 2850 BC

communication and mobility, and exchange patterns are altered for major parts of the population. One effect, important for our concern here, is that Katacombnaya is mostly retreating to the regions beyond the Danube delta: in Bulgaria south of the Balkan Mountains, graves attributed to the Katacombnaya in the literature and dated by associated finds to the period of around 2500 BC, are not completely unknown, such as grave 12 from Golyama Detelina, barrow 2, or perhaps graves 1–2 from Mednikarnovo-Iskritza, barrow 2. But real lateral catacomb constructions are not among those (LESHTAKOV 2006). The same is true for Romania, from where some more late graves are published, but only a few sites have delivered evidence for catacombs, such as from Smeeni-Movila Mare, graves 1, 23, 27 and 28 (Muntenia). Only Moldova still knows them in significant numbers. Whatever happened in detail, one gets the impression that it was this loosening grip of Yamnaya-Katacombnaya populations on the landscapes south of the Balkan Mountains at this time that have facilitated the cultural reorientation described above, and thus the advance of the Anatolian/Aegean Early Bronze Age ideas. To add, speculatively, the reason why our eastern Balkans network periphery remains restricted to the European part of Turkey and southeastern Bulgaria, and only haltingly transgresses the Balkan Mountains, may lie in the continuing presence of these steppe populations who were still settling, albeit in reduced numbers, along the Lower Danube, in the Dobrudža and in parts of eastern Romania.

It remains to discuss the evidence for the Corded Ware and Single Grave groups. Indeed, both do reach super-regionally in Central, northern and eastern Europe in the period around 2500 BC, and interact with the expanding Bell Beaker phenomenon in the regions along the Rhine, Elbe, Oder and Danube rivers, as well as in the north European lowlands and in southern Scandinavia (e.g., NICOLIS [ed.] 2001; CZEBRESZUK [ed.] 2003). However, this interaction works out in a regionally quite diverse pattern: While in some regions the respective Bell Beaker groups increase rapidly and soon dominate the records, as for example in large parts of the Bell Beaker *East Group* (HEYD 2007a), in others an

equilibrium is more or less established between the two, such as perhaps in Jutland; and in a group of more remote regions (such as in southern German Franconia and the Tauber river valley) Bell Beaker users cannot get a proper foot on the soil, and Corded Ware groups still dominate the records for the centuries between 2500 and 2200 BC. As a general message, it can be sent out that pure Corded Ware units gradually decrease in numbers during these centuries, more in the south and the west than in the north and east. Their ideology seems to have faded and no longer has the strong grip to keep people in their rows. Nevertheless, the users of Corded Ware beakers, or those still living in this tradition – now transformed to utilize no more cord for the beaker decorations but incised, impressed and stamped techniques instead; or *pot beaker* and *Riesenbecher*; and strongly varying in their burial customs – are reaching the period of around 2200–2000 BC in wide parts of Central Europe; a period when the previous contradistinction "Bell Beaker–Corded Ware" is finally overcome with the formative Early Bronze Age (BERTEMES – HEYD 2002). But altogether neither Yamnaya, nor Katacombnaya, nor Corded Ware and other related groups do play anymore a significant role in much of Europe after 2500 BC.

## Exploring the antagonism between 2500 and 2200 BC: a brief discussion

As briefly described in the introduction, the Bell Beaker phenomenon represents the climax of these ideologically driven cultural phenomena, having dominated the course of events on the European Continent for almost one-and-a-half millennia. With Bell Beakers, the western half of the Continent is incorporated in these expansionistic phenomena for the first time. The whole became a truly European phenomenon, by virtue of the distribution of influences to the eastern peripheries and adjacent margins, representing more distant parts of the Bell Beaker idea. However, Bell Beakers are not only the climax, but also represent the end-point of this true epoch, for which more an idea, a message and a particular world-view are the centre of gravity. This fits the expansive and aggressive, almost missionary, outlook well. One also gets the impression that there was an attempt to convert, not always peacefully, as many people as possible for this newly emerging community. The emblematically decorated Bell Beaker, the symbol, and before that to some extent the Corded Ware beaker, are the ideal communal drinking vessel for this: on average enough content so that several persons can consume a special drink out of it; a form that forces one to use both hands for drinking; and then to hand it over, again with both hands, in an almost ritual manner, to one's neighbour.<sup>15</sup> However, it was not so much the Bell Beaker itself, but two other elements of the Beaker idea and package that reached the peripheries and margins more often, and must therefore have been more interesting as innovations for newcomers of any cultural background. These are the dagger idea, no matter if made of metal or, in the north in southern Scandinavia and along the Baltic Sea, of flint (SARAUW 2008); and the archery idea, materialised in the arrowheads and wristguards (FOKKENS – ACHTERKAMP – KUIJPERS 2008). Both were obviously very attractive for distant peoples, so that they did not hesitate to acquire these elements in their own repertoire, even if they, in the distance, may not have completely understood the message lying behind them. But within the wider framework of individualisation und internationalisation, such daggers were prestigious enough to become highly regarded all over in Europe; likewise, the societal acceptance of archery, with the wristguard as its symbol of adherence, brought advantages in hunting and more in warfare.

The Early Bronze Age, expanding from the southeast at the same time, is fundamentally different. It is a gradual process; more a cultural re-orientation than a different ideology. It also has a clear trajectory, ultimately originating in the Aegean, the eastern Mediterranean and beyond, and then crossing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This communal way of drinking makes the true difference to the more personalised drinking vessels of the beginning of the Early Bronze Age. In such, it qualifies other considerations of potential internal connections between the Bell Beaker idea and southeastern European Early Bronze Age (cf. MARAN 2007; RAHMSTORF 2008).

Continent from the southeast to the northwest. Thus the first regions in Europe displaying new Early Bronze Age structures are no wonder bordering the Aegean, western Anatolia and Greece as in the cases of the eastern and western Balkans, the Adriatic and the southeast Italian peninsula. A next stage then sees this trajectory continuing further to the north and west, and bringing new lifeways for the people to the Central Carpathian Basin, including its northwestern border already part of Central Europe, and to northern Italy. It probably also includes southeastern and southern Romania, not much discussed here.<sup>16</sup> With some certainty, this also comprises southern Spain and the forming El Argar culture, although its links are, if proved to be true, different in displaying rather an eastern Mediterranean and northern African trajectory. Much of Central Europe then follows suit within a relatively short time span. But by now this system is already becoming a rapidly accelerating, multi-polar world and many new centres are radiating more independently, such as when looking at southern France and its links with both northern Italy and western Central Europe (VITAL – CONVERTINI – LEMERCIER [eds] 2012). This makes the whole picture a more complex one.

Economic and social aspects were at the top of its agenda: production, the exchange of surplus and the first *real* trade, as well as the systematic accumulation of possession and wealth; this includes in particular an enhanced role of metals, their exploitation as ores, alloying, manufacturing as finished products, marketing and hoarding. As such, it also stands for a Europe of new values and new symbols of wealth and power; a kind of capitalist world in embryo, if one wants, for the then European people. These see new categories of weapons, prestigious objects of personal adornment, new dress codes, golden/silver drinking cups, exotica etc., in sum a package of ultimately southeastern innovations. All this makes the Early Bronze Age a Europe of emerging complexity and the rise of local elites. Because for most of continental Europe they had previously been Beaker users, in the same way the privileged people of the Beaker period became the new elites of the Early Bronze Age (HEYD 2007a, 370). But geographical position and timeline are crucial in this. The centre of gravity around 2500/2400 BC still lay on the Bell Beaker side for much of Europe, while around 2300/2200 BC it shifted towards the new Early Bronze Age agenda. And soon, after 2000 BC, these elites were fully established and became archeologically visible in their princely graves, hoarding practices, abundance of weapon and jewellery, and monumental burial places (tumuli), settlements (hillforts) and longhouses.

This antagonism therefore also refers to the question of identities, multiple identities and the change of identities over time. Particularly apparent is this development in the Central Mediterranean region, and particularly in the Adriatic basin, where, as shown above, both "worlds" do meet in an early stage of their respective expansions, in the course of the 25/24<sup>th</sup> century BC. Here, it is the Cetina of the Adriatic basin that best represents this occurrence of multiple and changing identities: not only is one and the same archaeological culture a Bell Beaker ideological periphery, but at the same time an Aegean periphery of the emerging Early Bronze Age. In such, Cetina is perhaps an early forerunner of subsequent, full-flange Bronze Age developments. More important is, however, the fact that it is in no way an accident that the Central Mediterranean region becomes from the Early Bronze Age onwards an important international player at the crossroad of streams of exchange, trade and people.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See in particular the so-called Pre-Verbicioara finds, and the distinct plain cups and tankards, discussed by NICA 1998.

## References

## ALBANESE PROCELLI, R. A. 2003

La métallurgie du Bronze en Sicile (Italie). In: Giumlia-Mair, A. – Lo Schiavo, F. (eds): *Le problème de l'étain à l'origine de la métallurgie*. BAR International Series 1199, Oxford 2003, 139–145.

### ALEXANDROV, S. 2011

Bronze Age gold torques from Bulgaria. Arheologija 2011/2, 7–15.

### ALRAM-STERN, E. (Hrsg.) 2004

Die Frühbronzezeit in Griechenland mit Ausnahme von Kreta. Die Ägäische Frühzeit. 2. Serie. Forschungsbericht 1975–2002. Wien.

## ANZIDEI, A. P. – AURISICCHIO, C. – CARBONI, G. 2007

Manufatti in argento dalle tombe a grotticella della facies di Rinaldone del territorio di Roma. In: *Atti della XL Riunione Scientifica IIPP, Strategie di insediamento fra Lazio meridionale e alla Campania centro-settentrionale in età preistorica e protostorica, vol. II.* Firenze 2007, 7–13.

### ATZENI, E. 1998

La tomba ipogeico-megalitica di Bingia 'e Monti. In: Nicolis, F. – Mottes, E. (a cura di): *Simbolo ed enigma: il bicchiere campaniforme e l'Itzalia nella preistoria europea del III millennio a.c.* Trento 1998, 254–260.

## AVRAMOVA, M. – TODORIEVA, B. 2005

A Bronze Age metalwork hoard from southeastern Bulgaria. In: Laffineur, R. – Driessen, J. – Warmenbol, E. (eds): Section 11, L'âge du Bronze en Europe et en Méditerranée: Sessions Générales et Posters – The Bronze Age in Europe and the Mediterranean: General Sessions and Posters. BAR International Series 1337, Oxford 2005, 69–73.

## BACCI, G. M. 1997

Due idoletti di tipo egeo-cicladico da Camaro Sant'Anna presso Messina. In: Tusa, S. (a cura di): *Prima Sicilia alle origini della società siciliana*. Palermo 1997, 295–297.

#### BAKOVIĆ, M. – GOVEDARICA, B. 2009

Nalazi iz kneževskog tumula Gruda Boljevića u Podgorici, Crna Gora – Findings from the Princely Tomb of Gruda Boljevica in Podgorica, Montenegro. *Godišnjak* (Sarajevo) 36 (2009) 5–21.

### BALEN, J. – MIHELIĆ, S. 2003

Par srebrnih sjekira iz Starih Jankovaca. Opuscula Archaeologica 27 (2003) 85–96.

### BALEN, J. – MIHELIĆ, S. 2007

Silver axes from Stari Jankovci and the problem of finds of precious metals during the Early Bronze Age in Continental Croatia. In: Galanaki, I. – Galanakis, Y. – Tomas, H. – Laffineur, R. (eds): Between the Aegean and Baltic Seas: Prehistory across Borders. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Bronze and Early Iron Age Interconnections and Contemporary Developments between the Aegean and the Region of the Balkan Peninsula, Central and Northern Europe', University of Zagreb/Croatia, 10–14 April 2005. Aegaeum 27, Liège 2007, 105–113.

## BARKER, G. 2005

Agriculture, Pastoralism, and Mediterranean Landscapes in Prehistory. In: Blake, E. – Knapp, A. B. (eds): *The Archaeology of Mediterranean Prehistory*. Blackwell Studies in Global Archaeology, Malden, Oxford and Carlton 2005, 46–76.

## BENDE, L. – LŐRINCZY, G. 2002

Kora bronzkori temető és település a kiskundorozsmai Hosszúhát-halmon – Ein Gräberfeld und eine Siedlung aus der Frühbronzezeit auf dem Hosszúhát-Hügel in Kiskundorozsma. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 8 (2002) 77–107.

## BERTEMES, F. – HEYD, V. 2002

Der Übergang Kupferzeit/Frühbronzezeit am Nordwestrand des Karpatenbeckens – kulturgeschichtliche und paläometallurgische Betrachtungen. In: Bartelheim, M. – Krause, R.

– Pernicka, E. (Hrsg.): *Die Anfänge der Metallurgie in der Alten Welt*. Freiberger Forschung zur Archäometrie und Kulturgeschichte 1, Rahden/Westfalen 2002, 185–228.

### BLANCE, B. 1961

Early Bronze Age Colonists in Iberia. Antiquity 35/139 (1961) 192–202.

BOARO, S. 2005

Nuovi dati su regionalizzazione ed elementi formativi della 'Cultura di Polada' a partire dall'analisi della 'Facies Berico-Euganea'. In: Attema, P. – Nijboer, A. J. – Zifferero, A. (eds): *Papers in Italian Archaeology VI, vol. 2.* BAR International Series 1452 (II), Oxford 2005, 596–607.

### BORISLAVOV, B. 2010

The Izvorovo Gold. A Bronze Age Tumulus from Harmanli District, Southeastern Bulgaria (preliminary report). *Archaeologia Bulgaria* 14/1 (2010) 1–33.

### BORN, H. - HANSEN, S. 2001

Helme und Waffen in Alteuropa. Mainz: Von Zabern.

#### BRANDHERM, D. 1996

Eine frühbronzezeitliche Schlitzblattlanzenspitze ägäisch-anatolischen Typs aus Südostspanien? *Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt* 26 (1996) 263–267.

## BROODBANK, C. 2000

An Island Archaeology of Early Cyclades. Cambridge: University Press.

### CAZZELLA, A. 2003

Conelle di Arcevia nel panorama culturale della preistoria del Mediterraneo centro-orientale e della penisola balcanica tra quarto e terzo millennio. In: Cazzella, A. – Moscoloni, M. – Recchia, G. (a cura di): *Conelle di Arcevia, tomo II.* Roma 2003, 541–568.

## CAZZELLA, A. - PACE, A. - RECCHIA, G. 2007

Cultural contacts and mobility between the south central Mediterranean and the Aegean during the second half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. In: Antoniadou, S. – Pace, A. (eds): *Mediterranean Crossroads*. Athens 2007, 243–260.

## CAZZELLA, A. - CULTRARO, M. - RECCHIA, G. 2010

Relazioni tra l'Italia centro-meridionale, la Sicilia e l'area egeo-balcanica durante l'Eneolitico. In: *Atti della XLIII Riunione Scientifica IIPP, L'età del rame in Italia.* Firenze 2010, 157–164.

#### CEVOLI, T. 2006

Da Atene: Nei mari di Ulisse. Archeo 254, aprile (2006) 30-31.

### CHAPMAN, R. 1991

La formación de las sociedades complejas. El sureste de la península ibérica en el marco del mediterráneo occidental. Barcelona: Crítica.

### CIUGUDEAN, H. 1996

*Epoca timpurie a bronzului în centrul și sud-vestul Transilvaniei.* Bibliotheca Thracologica 13, București: Institutul Român de Thracologie.

### ČOVIĆ, B. (ed.) 1983

Praistorija Jugoslavenskih zemalja IV: Bronzoba Doba. Sarajevo.

#### CZEBRESZUK, J. (ed.) 2003

Similar but different. Bell Beakers in Europe. Poznań: Adam Mickiewicz University.

## CZEBRESZUK – SZMYT (eds) 2003

The Northeast Frontier the Bell Beakers. BAR International Series 1155, Oxford: Archaeopress.

#### CZENE, A. 2008

Bell Beakers at Budakalász. In: Ottományi, K. (ed.): *Perspectives on the past: major excavations in County Pest*. Szentendre 2008, 32–33.

### DE ANGELIS, M. C. 1996

La struttura tombale di Casanuova di S. Biagio della Valle (Marsciano, Perugia). *Rivista di Scienze Preistoriche* 47 (1995–96 [1996]) 397–410.

## DELLA CASA, P. 1995

The Cetina Group and the Transition from Copper to Bronze Age in Dalmatia. *Antiquity* 69/264 (1995) 565–576.

## Della Casa, P. 1996

Velika Gruda II. Die bronzezeitliche Nekropole Velika Gruda (Ops. Kotor, Montenegro). Fundgruppen der mittleren und späten Bronzezeit zwischen Adria und Donau. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 33, Bonn: Habelt.

## DEMANGEL, R. 1926

Le tumulus dit de Protésilas (Fouilles de Constantinople). Paris: Boccard.

### DE MARINIS, R. C. 1999

Towards a Relative and Absolute Chronology of the Bronze Age in Northern Italy. *Notizie* Archeologiche Bergomensi 7 (1999) 1–78.

## DE MARINIS, R. C. 2003

Riti funerari e problemi di paleo-demografia dell'antica età del Bronzo nell'Italia settentrionale. *Notizie Archeologiche Bergomensi* 11 (2003) 5–78.

## DE MARINIS, R. C. 2005

Évolution et variation de la composition chimique des objets en métal pendant les âges du Cuivre et du Bronze Ancien dans l'Italie septentrionale. In: Ambert, P. – Vaquer, J. (eds): *La première métallurgie en France et dans les pays limitrophes*. Mémoire de la Société Préhistorique Française 37, Paris 2005, 249–264.

### DIMITRIJEVIĆ, ST. 1982

Die frühe Vinkovci-Kultur und ihre Beziehungen zum Vučedoler Substrat im Lichte der Ausgrabungen in Vinkovci (1977–78). *Opuscula Archaeologica* 7 (1982) 7–36.

### DISTEFANO, G. 2006

Ossi a globuli dell'antico bronzo siciliano. Il caso di Baravitalla (Modica). In: *Atti della XXXIX Riunione Scientifica IIPP, Materie prime e scambi nella preistoria Italiana*. Firenze 2006, 917–924.

## Efe, T. 2007

The theories of the 'Great Caravan Route' between Cilicia and Troy: the Early Bronze Age III period in inland western Anatolia. *Anatolian Studies* 57 (2007) 47–64.

### EFE, T. – FIDAN, E. 2006

Pre-Middle Bronze Age metal objects from inland western Anatolia: A typological and chronological evaluation. *Anatolia Antiqua* 14 (2006) 15–43.

## ENDRIZZI, L. – MOTTES, E. – NICOLIS, F. – DEGASPERI, N. 2011

New evidence of ancestral landscape in Trentino in the Copper and Bronze Ages. The ritual sites of Cles-Campi Neri and La Vela di Trento. In: Müller-Celka, S. – Borgna, E. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes: Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages*. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 61, Lyon 2011, 511–522.

## ENDRŐDI, A. 2012

Early Bronze Age headdress; markers of the social status in the Bell Beaker-Csepel group. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 137 (2012) 7–26.

ENDRŐDI, A. – REMÉNYI, L. – BARADÁCS, E. – UZONYI, I. – KISS, A. Z. – MONTERO, I. – ROVIRA, S. 2003

Technological study of Beaker Metallurgy in Hungary. In: *Archaeometallurgy in Europe. Proceedings Vol. 2.* Milan 2003, 29–38.

### EVANS, J. D. 1971

The Prehistoric Antiquities of the Maltese Islands. London: Athlone.

## P. FISCHL, K. – KULCSÁR, G. 2011

Tiszán innen, Dunán túl. A kora bronzkor kérdései a kiskundorozsmai temető kapcsán – Diesseits der Theiss, jenseits der Donau. Fragen der Frühbronzezeit hinsichtlich des Gräberfeldes von Kiskundorozsma. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 12 (2011) 59–90.

Fol, A. – Lichardus, J. – Nikolov, V. (Hrsg.) 2004

Die Thraker. Das Goldene Reich des Orpheus. Ausstellung in der Bundeskunsthalle Bonn 2004. Mainz: Von Zabern.

FORENBAHER, S. 1994

The Late Copper Age Architecture at Vučedol, Croatia. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 21/3 (1994) 307–323.

FOKKENS, H. – ACHTERKAMP, Y. – KUIJPERS, M. 2008

Bracers or Bracelets? About the Functionality and Meaning of Bell Beaker Wrist-guards. *Proceedings* of the Prehistoric Society 74 (2008) 109–140.

### FOULON, B. (dir.) 2001

Trésors préhistoriques de Hongrie. Collection du Musée national hongrois. Catalogue d'exposition au Musée des Antiquités nationales Saint-Germain-en-Laye. Paris: Musée des Antiquités nationales.

GERLING, C. – BÁNFFY, E. – DANI, J. – KÖHLER, K. – KULCSÁR, G. – PIKE, A. W. G. – SZEVERÉNYI, V. –

### HEYD, V. 2012

Immigration and transhumance in the Early Bronze Age Carpathian Basin: the occupants of a kurgan. *Antiquity* 86/334 (2012) 1097–1111.

### GLOGOVIĆ, D. 2003

Nalazi prapovijesnoga zlata iz Dalmacije I Hrvatskog primorja. *Prilozi Instituta arheologiju u Zagrebu* 20 (2003) 27–32.

## GOGÂLTAN, FL. 2005

Der Beginn der bronzezeitlichen Tellsiedlungen im Karpatenbecken: Chronologische Probleme. In: Horejs, B. – Jung, R. – Kaiser, E. – Teržan, B. (Hrsg.): *Interpretationsraum Bronzezeit. Bernhard Hänsel von seinen Schülern gewidmet.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 121, Bonn 2005, 161–181.

GONZÁLEZ PRATS, A. – RUIZ SEGURA, E. – GIL FUENSANTA, J. – SEVA ROMÁN, R. 1994 Cerámica roja monocroma anatólica en el poblado calcolítico de Les Moreres (Crevillente, Alicante, España). *Lucentum* 11–13 (1992–94 [1994]) 7–38.

### GOVEDARICA, B. 1989

Rano bronzano doba na području istočnog Jadrana. Centar Balkanološka Ispitivanja 7, Sarajevo.

### HÄNSEL, B. – WEIHERMANN, P. 2000

Ein neu erworbener Goldhort aus dem Karpatenbecken im Berliner Museum für Vor- und Frühgeschichte. *Acta Praehistorica et Archaeologica* 32 (2000) 7–29.

## HANSEN, S. 2005

Über bronzezeitliche Horte in Ungarn – Horte als soziale Praxis. In: Horejs, B. – Jung, R. – Kaiser, E. – Teržan, B. (Hrsg.): *Interpretationsraum Bronzezeit. Bernhard Hänsel von seinen Schülern gewidmet.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 121, Bonn 2005, 211–230.

### HARRISON, R. J. – HEYD, V. 2007

The Transformation of Europe in the Third Millennium BC: The Example of 'Le Petit Chasseur I+III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 82/2 (2007) 129–214.

### HEKMAN, J. J. 2003

*The Early Bronze Age cemetery at Chalandriani on Syros (Cyclades, Greece).* PhD Thesis University of Groningen, Netherlands.

### HELWING, B. 2003

Feasts as a social dynamic in Prehistoric Western Asia – three case studies from Syria and Anatolia. *Paléorient* 29/2 (2003) 63–85.

HEYD, V. 2007a

Families, Prestige Goods, Warriors and Complex Societies: Beaker Groups and the Third Millennium cal BC along the Upper and Middle Danube. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 73 (2007) 321–370.

HEYD, V. 2007b

When the West meets the East: The Eastern Periphery of the Bell Beaker Phenomenon and its Relation with the Aegean Early Bronze Age. In: Galanaki, I. – Galanakis, Y. – Tomas, H. – Laffineur, R. (eds): Between the Aegean and Baltic Seas: Prehistory across Borders. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Bronze and Early Iron Age Interconnections and Contemporary Developments between the Aegean and the Region of the Balkan Peninsula, Central and Northern Europe', University of Zagreb/Croatia, 10–14 April 2005. Aegaeum 27, Liège 2007, 91–107.

### HEYD, V. 2011

Yamnaya Groups and Tumuli west of the Black Sea. In: Müller-Celka, S. – Borgna, E. (eds): Ancestral Landscapes: Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages (Central and Eastern Europe–Balkans– Adriatic–Aegean, 4<sup>th</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> millennium BC). International Conference, Udine/Italy, May 15<sup>th</sup>–18<sup>th</sup> 2008. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 61, Lyon 2011, 536–555.

### HEYD, V. 2012

Growth and expansion: social, economic, and ideological structures in the European Chalcolithic. In: Allen, M. J. – Gardiner, J. – Sheridan, A. (eds): *Is there a British Chalcolithic? People, place and polity in the later 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium*. Prehistoric Society Research Paper 4, London and Oxford 2012, 98–114.

## Heyd, V. – Aydingün, Ş. – Güldoğan, E. 2010

Geophysical applications for ITA 2008: the example of the Selimpaşa Höyük. In: 25. Arkeometri Sonuçları Toplantısı. Ankara 2010, 553–569.

## HIELTE, M. 2004

Sedentary versus Nomadic Life-Styles. The 'Middle Helladic People' in southern Balkan (late 3<sup>rd</sup> & first Half of the 2<sup>nd</sup> Millennium BC). *Acta Archaeologica* 75 (2004) 27–94.

### HRISTOV, M. 2000

Bronze Age Gold and Electron Adornments from Tabashka Cave in the Osum River Drainage. In: Nikolova, L. (ed.): *Technology, Style and Society*. BAR International Series 854, Oxford 2000, 277–279.

## HRISTOV, M. 2005

Mogilen nekropol ot rannata bronzova epocha krai Dŭbene, Karlovsko (predvaritelno svobzenie) – Necropolis from the Early Bronze Age at Dŭbene, Karlovo District (preliminary report). *Arheologija* 46/1–4 (2005) 127–137.

### HRISTOV, M. 2007

*Necropolis and Ritual Structures from the Early Bronze Age near the Village of Dubene, Karlovo Region. 10 Apr. 2007.* http://www.aegeobalkanprehistory.net/article.php?id\_art=3 (24 March 2013)

### HRISTOV, M. 2011

The early Bronze Age ritual structures and necropolis from near the village of Dubene, Karlovo region. In: Müller-Celka, S. – Borgna, E. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes: Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages (Central and Eastern Europe–Balkans–Adriatic–Aegean, 4<sup>th</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> millennium BC). International Conference, Udine/Italy, May 15<sup>th</sup>–18<sup>th</sup> 2008. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 61, Lyon 2011, 355–365.* 

### INGRAVALLO, E. 2002

Grotta Cappuccini (Galatone) tra eneolitico e primo bronzo. Lecce: Congedo.

## INGRAVALLO, E. – TIBERI, I. – LONOCE, L. 2010

L'orizzonte culturale del III millennio A.C.: Il tumulo 7 di Salve (Lecce). *Origini* 32, N.S. IV (2010) 203–258.

## KALAFATIĆ, H. 2006

Žarni grob vinkovačke kulture s lokaliteta Vinkovci-Duga ulica 40 – A Vinkovci Culture Urn Grave from the site at 40 Duga Ulica in Vinkovci. *Prilozi Instituta arheologiju u Zagrebu* 23 (2006) 17–28.

## KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. – KALICZ, N. 1997

Die Somogyvár-Vinkovci-Kultur und die Glockenbecher in Ungarn. In: Fritsch, B. – Maute, M. – Matuschik, I. – Müller, J. – Wolf, C. (Hrsg.): *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm.* Internationale Achäologie–Studia honoraria 3, Espelkamp 1997, 325–347.

## KARUL, N. 2005

Anatolische Idole in Ostthrakien: Kirklareli-Kanligecit. In: Horejs, B. – Jung, R. – Kaiser, E. – Teržan, B. (Hrsg.): *Interpretationsraum Bronzezeit. Bernhard Hänsel von seinen Schülern gewidmet.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 121, Bonn 2005, 117–121.

## KILIAN-DIRLMEIER, I. 2005

*Die bronzezeitlichen Gräber bei Nidri auf Leukas: Ausgrabungen von W. Dörpfeld 1903–13.* RGZM Monographien 62, Bonn: Habelt.

## KISS, V. 2012

*Middle Bronze Age Encrusted Pottery in Western Hungary.* Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 27, Budapest: Archaeolingua.

## KRAUSE, R. 2003

*Studien zur kupfer- und frühbronzezeitlichen Metallurgie zwischen Karpatenbecken und Ostsee.* Vorgeschichtliche Forschungen 24, Rahden/Westfalen: Leidorf.

## KULCSÁR, G. 2009

*The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. The Makó-Kosihý-Čaka and Somogyvár-Vinkovci Cultures in Hungary.* Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest: Archaeolingua.

## LA ROSA, V. 2005

Pour une réflexion sur le problème de la première présence égéenne en Sicile. In: Laffineur, R. – Greco, E. (eds): *Emporia – Aegeans in Central and Eastern Mediterranean*. Aegaeum 25, Liège and Austin 2005, 571–587.

## LEIGHTON, R. 1999

Sicily before History. An Archaeological Survey from the Palaeolithic to the Iron Age. London: Duckworth.

## LESHTAKOV, K. 2002

Galabovo pottery and a new synchronisation for the Bronze Age in upper Thrace with Anatolia. *Anatolica* 28 (2002) 171–211.

## LESHTAKOV, K. 2003

The Thracian Settlement at Assara (Constantia) near Simeonovgrad. *Isvestija na IM Haskovo* 2 (2003) 33-86.

## LESHTAKOV, K. 2006

Bronzovata epocha v gornotrakiiskata nisina. Godishnik na Sofiiskija Universitet "Sv. Kliment Ochridski" istorijeski fakultet spezialnost arheologija 3 (2002) 141–212.

## LESHTAKOV, K. 2011

Bronze Age mortuary practices in Thrace: A prelude to studying the long-term tradition. In: Müller-Celka, S. – Borgna, E. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes: Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages (Central and Eastern Europe–Balkans–Adriatic–Aegean, 4<sup>th</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> millennium BC). International Conference, Udine/Italy, May 15<sup>th</sup>–18<sup>th</sup> 2008. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 61, Lyon 2011, 561–571.* 

## Lull, V. – Micó, R. – Risch, R. – Rihuete Herrada, C. 2009

El Argar: la formación de una sociedad de clases. In: Hernández Pérez, M. S. – Soler Díaz, J. A. – Padilla, J. A. L. (eds): *En los confines del Argar*. Alicante 2009, 224–245.

## MAJNARIĆ-PANDZIĆ, N. 1975

Der Goldfund aus Orolik bei Vinkovci. Archaeologia Iugoslavica 15 (1975) 21-26.

### MARAN, J. 1998

Kulturwandel auf dem griechischen Festland und den Kykladen im späten 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Studien zu den kulturellen Verhältnissen in Südosteuropa und dem zentralen sowie östlichen Mittelmeerraum in der späten Kupfer- und frühen Bronzezeit. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 53, Bonn: Habelt.

### MARAN, J. 2007

Seaborne Contacts between the Aegean, the Balkans and the Central Mediterranean in the 3<sup>rd</sup> Millennium BC – The Unfolding of the Mediterranean World. In: Galanaki, I. – Galanakis, Y. – Tomas, H. – Laffineur, R. (eds): *Between the Aegean and Baltic Seas: Prehistory across Borders. Proceedings of the International Conference 'Bronze and Early Iron Age Interconnections and Contemporary Developments between the Aegean and the Region of the Balkan Peninsula, Central and Northern Europe', University of Zagreb/Croatia, 10–14 April 2005.* Aegaeum 27, Liège 2007, 3–21.

#### MARZATICO, F. - TECCHIATI, U. 2001

The Bronze Age in Trentino and Alto Adige/SüdTirol. Preistoria Alpina 34 (1998) 27-60.

#### MATTHEWS, R. 2003

The Archaeology of Mesopotamia. Theories and Approaches. London: Routledge.

### MEDEROS MARTÍN, A. 2000

Puntas de jabalina de Valencina de la Concepción (Sevilla) y del área palestino-israelita. *Madrider Mitteilungen* 41 (2000) 83–111.

## MERPERT, N. YA. 1974

Drevneishie skotovody Volzhsko-Ural'skogo mezhdurech'ya. Moskva.

MÜLLER, J. – SEREGÉLY, T. – BECKER, C. – CHRISTENSEN, A. M. – FUCHS, M. – KROLL, H. – MISCHKA, D.

– Schüssler, U. 2009

A Revision of Corded Ware Settlement Pattern – New Results from the Central European Low Mountain Range. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 75 (2009) 125–142.

## NEEDHAM, S. 2004

Midgale-Marnoch: sunburst of Scottish metallurgy. In: Shepherd, I. A. G. – Barclay, G. J. (eds): *Scotland in Ancient Europe: The Neolithic and Early Bronze Age of Scotland in their European Context*. Edinburgh 2004, 217–245.

## NEUGEBAUER, CH. – NEUGEBAUER, J.-W. 1997

*Franzhausen. Das frühbronzezeitliche Gräberfeld.* Fundberichte aus Österreich, Materialheft A 5,1, Horn.

### NICA, M. 1998

La genèse, l'évolution et les relations chronologiques et culturelles des cultures Verbicioara et Gârla Mare dans le contexte des civilisations de l'âge du bronze de l'Europe centrale et du Sud-Est. In: Roman, P. *et al.* (eds): *The Thracian World at the Crossroads of Civilisations*. Bucarest 1998, 151–165.

### NICOLIS, F. (ed.) 2001

Bell Beakers today. Pottery, people, culture and symbols in prehistoric Europe. International Colloquium Riva del Garda (Trento, Italy), 11–16 May 1998. Trento: Ufficio Beni Culturali.

## NICOLIS, F. 2005

Long Distance Cultural Links between Northern Italy, the Ionian Islands and the Peloponnese in the Last Centuries of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Millennium BC. In: Laffineur, R. – Greco, E. (eds): *Emporia – Aegeans in Central and Eastern Mediterranean*. Aegaeum 25, Liège and Austin: Université de Liège and University of Texas 2005, 527–539.

## NIKOLOVA, JA. – ANGELOVA, N. 1961

Razkopki na Emenskata peschera. Iswestija na archeologischeskija institut 24 (1961) 297-316.

#### Orsi, P. 1892

La necropoli sicula di Castelluccio (Siracusa). *Bulletino di Paletnologia Italiana* 18/1–4 (1892) 1–34.

## ØSTMO, E. 2009

The northern connection: Bell Beaker Culture influences north of Skagerak, in: Comments on M. Pilar Prieto Martínez: 'Bell Beaker Communities in Thy: The First Bronze Age Society in Denmark' (Norwegian Archaeological Review 41/2, 2008). *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 42/1 (2009) 86–89.

## Özdoğan, M. – Parzinger, H. 2012

Die frühbronzezeitliche Siedlung von Kanlıgeçit bei Kırklareli: Ostthrakien während des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Spannungsfeld von anatolischer und balkanischer Kulturentwicklung. Studien im Thrakien-Marmara-Raum 3. Archäologie in Eurasien 27, Berlin: DAI and Von Zabern.

### PALIO, O. 2004

Proiezioni esterne e dinamiche interne nell'area siracusana fra il bronzo antico e medio. In: La Rosa, V. (a cura di): *Le presenze micenee nel territorio siracusano*. Padova 2004, 73–98.

### PATAY, R. 2008

An Early Bronze Age cemetery at Szigetszentmiklós. In: Ottományi, K. (ed.): *Perspectives on the Past. Major Excavations in County Pest.* Szentendre 2008, 34–35.

### PERNICKA, E. 1998

Die Ausbreitung der Zinnbronze im 3. Jahrtausend. In: Hänsel, B. (Hrsg.): Mensch und Umwelt in der Bronzezeit Europas. Kiel 1998, 135–147.

#### Peška, J. – Kalábek, M. 2008

Pohřebiště kultury zvoncovitých pohárů z Hulína-Pravčic 2. In: Bém, M. – Peška, J. (eds): *Ročenka 2008*. Olomouc 2008, 108–124.

### POPESCU, A. 2001

Bone accessory of a Bronze Age necklace. Dacia N.S. 43-45 (1999-2001 [2001]) 17-30.

#### PRIMAS, M. 1996

*Velika Gruda I. Hügelgräber des frühen 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Adriagebiet – Velika Gruda, Mala Gruda und ihr Kontext.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 32, Bonn: Habelt.

#### PRIMAS, M. 2007

Innovationstransfer vor 5000 Jahren. Knotenpunkte an Land- und Wasserwegen zwischen Vorderasien und Europa. *Eurasia Antiqua* 13 (2007) 1–19.

### RAHMSTORF, L. 2006

Zur Ausbreitung vorderasiatischer Innovationen in die frühbronzezeitliche Ägäis. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 81/1 (2006) 49–96.

### RAHMSTORF, L. 2008

The Bell Beaker Phenomenon and the interaction spheres of the Early Bronze Age East Mediterranean: similarities and differences. In: Lehoërff, A. (dir.): *Construire le temps. Histoire et méthodes des chronologies et calendriers des derniers millénaires avant notre ère en Europe occidentale.* Bibracte 16, Glux-en-Glenne 2008, 149–170.

#### RAHMSTORF, L. 2010

Die Nutzung von Booten und Schiffen in der bronzezeitlichen Ägäis und die Fernkontakte der Frühbronzezeit. In: Meller, H. – Bertemes, F. (Hrsg.): *Der Griff nach den Sternen. Wie Europas Eliten zu Macht und Reichtum kamen – Reaching for the stars. How European elites attained power and wealth.* Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 5, Halle 2010, 675–697.

### RECCHIA, G. 2010

Interrelazioni culturali e scambi con l'area egeo-balcanica durante l'età del Bronzo. In: Todisco, L. (a cura di): *La Puglia centrale dall'età del Bronzo all'alto Medioevo. Archeologia e storia.* Roma 2010, 103–115.

## REINHOLDT, C. 2008

Der frühbronzezeitliche Schmuckhortfund von Kap Kolonna. Ägina und die Ägäis im Goldzeitalter des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. Wien: Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften.

### RENFREW, C. 1972

*The Emergence of Civilisation: the Cyclades and the Aegean in the third millennium BC.* London: Methuen.

## Roman, P. 1986

Perioada timpurie a epoci bronzului pe teritoriul României. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 37 (1986) 29–55.

### SALZANI, L. 2007

Sepolture dell'età del Rame nel Veronese. *Bollettino del Museo civico di Storia Naturale di Verona, Geologia Paleontologia Preistoria* 31 (2007) 69–98.

## SARAUW, T. 2008

Danish Bell Beaker pottery and flint daggers – the display of social identities? *European Journal of Archaeology* 11/1 (2008) 23–47.

## SARTI, L. – LEONINI, V. 2007

Après le Campaniforme: évolution stylistique et structurale des productions céramiques, lithiques et de la faune de la région florentine dans le premier Age du Bronze. In: Évin, J. (dir.): *Actes du centenaire de la Société Préhistorique Française, vol. 3.* Paris 2007, 427–439.

## SCHMIDT, R. R. 1945

Die Burg Vučedol. Zagreb: Kroatisches Archäologisches Staatsmuseum.

### Schuhmacher, Th. X. – Cardoso, J. L. – Banerjee, A. 2009

Sourcing African ivory in Chalcolithic Portugal. Antiquity 83/332 (2009) 983–997.

## SCHUHMACHER, TH. X. 2011

Long and middle range contacts in the Early Bronze Age of the Western Mediterranean. In: Hansen, S. – Müller, J. (Hrsg.): *Sozialarchäologische Perspektiven: Gesellschaftlicher Wandel 5000–1500 v. Chr. zwischen Atlantik und Kaukasus*. Archäologie in Eurasien 24, Berlin 2011, 415–428.

## SHERRATT, A. 1997

Economy and Society in Prehistoric Europe: changing perspectives. Edinburgh: University Press.

### SKEATES, R. 2005

Visual culture and archaeology. Art and Social Life in Prehistoric South-East Italy. London: Duckworth.

### SREJOVIĆ, D. 1976

Humke stepskih odlika na teritoriji Srbije. Godišnjak 13, knjiga 11 (1976) 117-130.

### STEFANOVA, M. 2000

Control Excavations at Mihalich in 1998–1999 (preliminary communication). In: Nikolova, L. (ed.): *Analyzing the Bronze Age. Contributions to the prehistoric cultural pattern in the Balkans*. Reports of Prehistoric Research Projects 4, Sofia 2000, 21–31.

### STEFANOVA, M. 2004a

Fortified settlement Mihalich; monumental construction and natural landscape (archaeological investigations in 2002). *Godishnik na Departament Archeologija NBU (Annuary of Department of Archaeology NBU)* 6, 5-15 (2004) 175–180.

## STEFANOVA, M. 2004b

Kontextuelle Probleme der Becher *depas amphikepellon* in Thrakien. In: Nikolov, V. – Bačvarov, K. (Hrsg.): *Von Domica bis Drama. Gedenkschrift für Jan Lichardus*. Sofia 2004, 197–201.

### Stojić, M. – Jocić, M. 2006

*Niš – kulturna stratigrafija praistorijskih lokaliteta u niškoj regiji.* Niš, Beograd: Narodni muzej and Arheološki institut.

## SZABÓ, G. 1994

Die Probleme der Entstehung der Nagyrév-Kultur entlang der Donau. Zalai Múzeum 5 (1994) 61-71.

#### TROGMAYER, O. 2001

Kora bronzkori sírok Sándorfalva határában – Frühbronzezeitliche Gräber in der Gemarkung von Sándorfalva. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 7 (2001) 177–192.

### TUSA, S. 1983

La Sicilia nella preistoria. Palermo: Sellerio.

### ÜNLÜSOY, S. 2011

Die Stratigraphie der Burg von Troia II. Archäologisches Nachrichtenblatt 16/1 (2011) 65-74.

### VAJSOV, I. 2002

Das Grab 982 und die Protobronzezeit in Bulgarien. In: Todorova, H. (Hrsg.): Durankulak, Band II. Die Prähistorischen Gräberfelder, Teil 1 (Textteil). Berlin 2002, 159–176.

### VANDER LINDEN, M. 2005

Identity and change: the inception of the Bell Beaker phenomenon in the central Mediterranean area. In: Cochrane, A. – Hoffmann, D. – Mills, J. *et al.* (eds): *Elements of Being: Mentalities, Identities and Movements.* BAR International Series 1437, Oxford 2005, 85–95.

### VITAL, J. – CONVERTINI, F. – LEMERCIER, O. (eds) 2012

Composantes culturelles et premières productions céramiques du Bronze ancien dans le Sud-Est de la France. Résultats du Projet Collectif de Recherche 1999–2009. BAR International Series 2446, Oxford: Archaeopress.

#### VOLLMANN, D. 2005

Studien zum Übergang von der Kupferzeit zur frühen Bronzezeit im östlichen Mitteleuropa. Saarbrücker Beiträge zur Altertumskunde 77, Bonn: Habelt.

### VRANIĆ, SV. 1991

A Grave from the Early Bronze Age found at Šljunkara near Zemun. Starinar 42 (1991) 19-26.

#### VULPE, A. 1995

Der Schatz von Perşinari in S. Rumänien. In: Jockenhövel, A. (Hrsg.): *Festschrift für Hermann Müller-Karpe zum 70. Geburtstag.* Bonn 1995, 43–62.

### VULPE, A. 2001

Considerations upon the Beginning and the Evolution of the Early Bronze Age in Romania. In: Boehmer, R. M. – Maran, J. (Hrsg.): *Lux Orientis. Archäologie zwischen Asien und Europa. Festschrift für Harald Hauptmann zum 65. Geburtstag.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 12, Rahden/Westfalen 2001, 419–426.

#### WEIHERMANN, P. 2001

Die goldenen Lockenringe der Bronzezeit. Einblicke in das frühe Goldschmiedehandwerk im Karpatenbecken. *Mitteilungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte* 22 (2001) 167–181.

### WIENCKE, M. H. 2000

*The Architecture, Stratification, and Pottery of Lerna III.* Lerna, Vol. IV. Princeton and Athens: University Press and American School of Classical Studies.

#### WŁODARCZAK, P. 2009

Radiocarbon and dendrochronological dates of the Corded Ware culture. *Radiocarbon* 51/2 (2009) 737–749.

## WRIGHT, J. C. 2004

Comparative Settlement Patterns during the Bronze Age in the Northeastern Peloponnesos, Greece. In: Alcock, S. E. – Cherry, J. F. (eds): *Side-by-Side Survey. Comparative Regional Studies in the Mediterranean World.* Oxford 2004, 114–131.

# Transition to the Bronze Age: Issues of Continuity and Discontinuity in the First Half of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin

GABRIELLA KULCSÁR – VAJK SZEVERÉNYI

## Abstract

The aim of the article is to investigate the issue of continuity and discontinuity during the Late Copper Age-Early Bronze Age transition in the Carpathian Basin. A previous generation of scholars reconstructed a sharp break in material culture between these two periods, A new chronological model is sketched based on the currently available radiocarbon dates for this crucial transition and the immediately following period, and considerable overlap is suggested between assemblages previously dated to the Final Copper Age and the beginning of the Early Bronze Age, verifying the existence of a transitional period ca. 2800–2600 BC. A cursory review of material culture and other phenomena also indicate some continuity. The fundamental importance of interregional interaction in this transition is emphasized and demonstrated through a few examples.

## Introduction

The issue of continuity and discontinuity at the transition from the Late Copper Age to the Early Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin received fairly little attention for a long time, and has regained the interest of scholars only in the past decade. The aim of this volume is to remedy this problem, and our paper is an attempt to summarize various aspects of this transition in a number of regions of the Carpathian Basin and to provide a framework for more detailed discussions that will follow. Our paper will briefly review the terminology of the period under study in various research traditions – although with a focus on Hungary – and discuss issues of chronology, the question of the beginning of the Bronze Age and its possible overlap with some assemblages stylistically dated to the Late Copper Age (and vice versa). We will also examine a few well-known case studies that exemplify the importance of interregional interaction at the beginning of the Early Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin and the immediately surrounding regions.

While many of the issues reviewed here are only the basic tools of archaeological research, they are often not based on factual data alone, but are burdened with preconceptions that distort the ways in which we conceptualize the observable changes that took place in the period, which have wide-ranging implications for the study of social, economic and ideological transformations around and immediately after 3000 BC. One of these is an outdated insistence on the use of a rigid concept of "archaeological cultures" (comp. FURHOLT 2008). At the end of the article we will point out a few directions we think should be followed when studying this crucial transition in the prehistory of the Carpathian Basin.

### A traditional cultural-historical framework

During the history of research the chronological frameworks used to organize Bronze Age materials in the Carpathian Basin have gone through tremendous change and development. To complicate the matter further, there are a number of different systems that are used simultaneously, usually by scholars working in different national traditions, although in some cases there are variations even within a single country (for a comparative chronological chart of all the major systems see GOGÂLTAN 1998; 1999).

The first systematic chronological framework for the Bronze Age in Hungary was based on early excavations at tell settlements in the eastern part of the country. The most important among these was

the site Tószeg-Laposhalom, excavated in many campaigns and by many scholars between the late 19<sup>th</sup> century and the 1970s (for a review see BANNER – BÓNA – MÁRTON 1957; BÓNA 1981; 1992b). The chronology created by Ferenc Tompa based on his excavations (TOMPA 1937, 61–64) was taken over by V. Gordon Childe, and became the basis of the chronology of the Bronze Age in the area (CHILDE 1929, 246–391). That system was continued and modified mostly in Amália Mozsolics's work, who also excavated at Tószeg (MOZSOLICS 1952), and developed her own system mostly based on metal objects (MOZSOLICS 1967; 1968; 1973; 1985; MOZSOLICS – SCHALK 2000).

The system currently used in Hungary was developed by the early 1980s by a number of Hungarian scholars and concerned mostly the Copper Age and the Early and Middle Bronze Ages (BÁNDI 1982; KALICZ 1982; KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1982; KOVÁCS 1982; PATAY 1982). According to this system the Bronze Age was divided into three main phases: Early, Middle and Late. All these phases are in turn divided into three sub-phases (1–3), which in certain areas and at certain times can be divided into even smaller units (a–b). This system has since been elaborated and refined in certain aspects (for the Carpathian Basin e.g., KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1989, Fig. 7; and ECSEDY 1979b; BÓNA 1992a; BONDÁR 1995; 2001; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1997; DANI 2005; KULCSÁR 2009a; REMÉNYI 2009; for a wider region e.g., MARAN 1998; BERTEMES – HEYD 2002; HARRISON – HEYD 2007), but has remained unchanged in its fundamental aspects.

Traditionally, the Late Copper Age of the Carpathian Basin (Fig. 1) is characterized by the emergence of the so-called "Baden phenomenon" with its characteristic pottery style, biritual burial rites, cattle burials, etc. (see e.g., BANNER 1956; KALICZ 1963; BONDÁR 2001; 2002; HORVÁTH 2008; 2012; FURHOLT - SZMYT - ZASTAWNY [eds] 2008; FURHOLT 2009). The distribution area of the "phenomenon" and stylistically related material culture covers a huge, spatially non-contiguous area centred on the Carpathian Basin with smaller "patches" in southern Germany, Austria, Moravia, southern Poland, northeastern Croatia, northern Serbia, western and southern Romania and Bulgaria (for recent distribution maps see HORVÁTH - S. SVINGOR - MOLNÁR 2008, Fig. 5; HORVÁTH 2011a). In its late phase the so-called Kostolac type material makes its appearance, also in a non-contiguous area throughout the basin, whose assessment as either a separate "culture" or a special style of pottery decoration remains controversial (see e.g., ROMAN 1980; BONDÁR 1984; see also HORVÁTH 2011a; 2012 for a different chronological assessment). The same period to the east, in northwestern Romania (the areas Maramureş, Transylvania, Crişana, Oltenia, western Muntenia), northeastern Serbia and northwestern Bulgaria is characterized by the closely related Cotofeni type material (e.g., ROMAN 1977; CIUGUDEAN 2000). In the eastern part of the Carpathian Basin in eastern Hungary east of the Tisza River, and in a large, non-contiguous area in Romania, northern Bulgaria and Serbia large numbers of burial mounds, so-called kurgans, appear at the end of the Copper Age with Pre-Yamnaya or Yamnaya (Pit Grave) type material that is usually considered to be of eastern, steppe origin (for Hungary see ECSEDY 1979a; KALICZ 1989; 1998; most recently: DANI 2011; HEYD 2011; HORVÁTH 2011b; DANI-HORVÁTH 2012). The last important group of Late Copper Age material – which provides already a transition to the Early Bronze Age – is labelled after its type site at Vučedol near Vukovar and has a distribution area mostly in northeastern Croatia - Syrmia and eastern Slavonia - in its early phase (e.g., DIMITRIJEVIĆ 1956; 1977–78; 1979; DURMAN [ed.] 1988).

The northwestern part of the Carpathian Basin – western Slovakia and eastern Moravia – is characterized by Bošáca and Kostolac type materials in the Final Copper Age. According to the most recent data, to the south we encounter sites with Jevišovice type material (ŠUTEKOVÁ 2008; 2010). Similar assemblages are known in large parts of Moravia (MEDUNOVÁ-BENEŠOVÁ 1977) and from Lower Austria as well, labelled Mödling-Zöbing (RUTTKAY 1995).

The beginning of the Bronze Age in the central part of the Carpathian Basin can be sketched along two lines (*Fig. 1*). If we simplify a rather complicated situation we may say that in southern Transdanubia, Slavonia and Syrmia late Vučedol and then Somogyvár-Vinkovci type materials can be found. Most of



*Fig. 1. Cultural geography of the Carpathian Basin in the earlier* 3<sup>rd</sup> *millennium BC (the archaeological groups dating to roughly the first quarter are marked in black, the ones dating to the second quarter in blue)* 

the Great Hungarian Plain, northern Transdanubia and southwest Slovakia are characterized by Makó-Kosihy-Čaka type finds (comp. e.g., BÓNA 1992a, 15; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1997, Abb. 1; REMÉNYI 2009, maps 1–2).

With regard the issue of the transition from one major chronological phase to the other, the case of sites with Vučedol style material has been usually seen unproblematic, since there is an obviously continuous development between the early and later phases in terms of material culture and settlement structure as well. The distribution of Somogyvár-Vinkovci style material appears to overlap to some extent with that of Vučedol style material, and seems to be later in most cases, although most sites that yielded both material groups remain unpublished. Here stylistic continuity is less apparent, although it does exist to some extent. In Transylvania, Late Copper Age Cotofeni style material develops smoothly into EBA Livezile. In the other areas of the Carpathian Basin no stylistic continuity has been observed between Late Baden and Kostolac on the one hand and Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and Somogyvár-Vinkovci on the other. It has to be emphasized, however, that due to the traditional culture concept, no-one has actually looked for such stylistic and typological connections, since the beginning of the Bronze Age was accepted to be marked by large population movements, mostly from the Balkans (for an exception see Horváth – Kulcsár 2012). This view, however, has to be questioned in the light of new chronological data.

#### A new chronology

In the past decade a series of new data from the Late Copper and Early Bronze Age have made us rethink the process of this transition (see esp. HORVÁTH 2011a; 2011c; 2012b; HORVÁTH – KULCSÁR 2012; KULCSÁR 2012a; 2013). New finds and new radiocarbon data<sup>1</sup> from both periods made us realize that the process of transition is much more complex both in terms of chronology and the issue of (dis)continuity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All radiocarbon dates were (re)calibrated using OxCal v4.2.3 (Bronk Ramsey 2013), using the IntCal13 atmospheric curve (REIMER *et al.* 2013). All dates are calibrated BC dates with  $1\sigma$  (68.2%) probability, unless otherwise stated.

With regard to chronology, two lines of evidence must be emphasized: absolute dates for the end of Baden style material and absolute dates for the beginning of Early Bronze Age type materials. With regard to the former, previous views placed it between *ca.* 3000 BC and 2700 BC (FORENBAHER 1993; KORFMANN – KROMER 1993; RACZKY 1995; STADLER *et al.* 2001). Today, however, a new series of radiocarbon dates are available for the classic and late phases of Baden type material, some of which are somewhat contradictory, but seem to push the end of this type of material somewhat later. A series of dates were published by Eva Maria Wild and colleagues in 2001 (WILD *et al.* 2001). This series contained five dates from the final Baden phase (Baden IVa, Ossarn II), which placed the end of this group of finds to *ca.* 3160–2870 BC.

A new series of dates associated with Late Copper Age Baden material are known from the famous cemetery of Budakalász-Luppa csárda (BONDÁR – RACZKY [eds] 2009). Here two dates from Graves 174 and 158 can be placed to the end of the sequence, already between 2900–2680 BC. Zsuzsanna Siklósi's suggestion that the younger date of these two graves may be the result of reservoir effect (SIKLÓSI 2009, 458) is unacceptable, since that would in fact make the dates older, not younger. Nevertheless, both dates already fall partly into the flat section of the calibration curve between *ca*. 2870 and 2580 BC, thus it is possible that they come from samples dated between 2900 and 2800 BC. This would also be more in line with the typological analysis of the grave goods (SIKLÓSI 2009, 458), although it has to be pointed out that the usability and correctness of the ceramic typology worked out by Viera Němejcová-Pavúková in a number of works (NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ 1974; 1981; 1991) has been questioned on numerous occasions (e.g., BONDÁR 2002; HORVÁTH – S. SVINGOR – MOLNÁR 2006; 2008), and has actually been shown to contradict radiocarbon dates (HORVÁTH – S. SVINGOR – MOLNÁR 2006; esp. 2008; although see now HORVÁTH 2011c, 54–55). It is, however, also quite possible that these graves can actually be dated to the period between 2800 and 2600 BC.

A series of 20 dates from the large, long-lived settlement of Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő (HORVÁTH – S. SVINGOR – MOLNÁR 2006; 2008; HORVÁTH 2011c; [ed.] 2012a, 689–716) provided a significant contribution to the absolute chronology of the Late Copper Age. Among the dates three seem to be quite late within the Boleráz/Baden sequence: 2910–2700, 2890–2700 and 2860–2580 BC. Two dates were even later – 2460–2290 BC and 1960–1770 BC – although there is an admitted possibility that they came from EBA samples and were mixed up subsequently (HORVÁTH 2011c, 48, note 66).

A radiocarbon dated site with final Baden type material (Baden III/IV) from Hungary is known from Nagykanizsa-Billa. Here four dates scatter between 3300–2900 BC, but one is dated to 2840–2500 BC (STADLER *et al.* 2001). Baden dates from the site of Tiszavasvári-Wienerberger Téglagyár have also been cited as evidence for a late end, an Early Bronze Age survival, of Baden style material (HORVÁTH 2011c, 56, note 69; DANI – HORVÁTH 2012, 97). The dates place the site to 3140–2400/2200 BC (DANI – HORVÁTH 2012, 97: 3860 ± 50 BP, 2457–2235 (1 $\sigma$ ) cal BC; see HORVÁTH *et al.*, this volume).

At the moment more than a dozen radiocarbon dates are available from northern Vučedol contexts (DURMAN – OBELIĆ 1989; FORENBAHER 1993) and three dates from the primary grave of Velika Gruda in Montenegro that is stylistically identical or very closely related to Vučedol style material (PRIMAS 1996). The north Balkan dates place this material to *ca*. 3090–2300 BC, where most of the dates fall before 2600 BC, although many of the old dates have an unacceptably high standard deviation. The dates from Velika Gruda fall between 3080 and 2625 BC, where the excavator's estimate for the "true date" of the burial was 2800–2700 BC (PRIMAS 1996, 52). Two measurements from Zók-Várhegy in Hungary are also similar: 2880–2670 BC and 2860–2580 BC (DELLA CASA 1995, 572). Consequently, we can probably date Vučedol style material in the Carpathian Basin and the northern Balkan to *ca*. 3000–2600 BC, thus bridging the Final Copper Age and the Early Bronze Age through the transitional period.

If we have a look at the dates of the earliest Early Bronze Age assemblages, some overlap with these Late Copper Age sites becomes probable. There are two sites that have to be highlighted in this respect. The

first is the burial mound on the Kalvarienberg at Neusiedl am See in Burgenland, Austria (RUTTKAY 2002; 2003). The material of the grave seems to belong to the Somogyvár-Vinkovci style from the beginning of the EBA (although Elisabeth Ruttkay would prefer to term it Late Vučedol: RUTTKAY 2002), but the radiocarbon dates of the samples taken from the skeleton place it to *ca*. 2860–2620 BC (STADLER 2002). The other similar date comes from another burial mound at Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom in eastern Hungary (DANI – M. NEPPER 2006). Here the primary, Late Copper Age interment at the bottom centre of the mound was followed by a number of rich Early Bronze Age secondary burials with Makó and Livezile style ceramic grave goods. Grave 4 was radiocarbon dated to *ca*. 2870–2620 BC, Grave 9 to *ca*. 2840–2490 BC (SZÁNTÓ *et al.* 2006).

These two assemblages are dated to the same 200 year period to which some of the latest Copper Age finds are placed by radiocarbon dates as well. There are two possible interpretations of this situation. The first is, that since all these dates fall into the flat section of the calibration curve between *ca*. 2870 and 2580 BC, it is possible that the Late Copper Age assemblages date to the first half of this section, while the Early Bronze Age ones to its second half, we just simply cannot differentiate between then due to the shape of the curve. This way there would be no overlap between the finds assigned to these two phases. The other possible scenario – gaining increasing acceptance – is that there is an overlap between these assemblages within this 200-year timespan, indicating that object types that are traditionally kept separate chronologically were in fact used at the same time in different regions of the Carpathian Basin. Accordingly, the transition between the Copper and the Bronze Age was not that abrupt and clear-cut as previously believed, and the process has to be rethought.

If we move forward to the Early Bronze Age, the traditional distinction between EBA 1 and 2a (e.g., Makó 1 and 2 phases, Somogyvár-Vinkovci 1 and 2) seems again problematic, since the calibrated radiocarbon dates are not always in agreement with the results of the typological analysis.

Altogether fifteen <sup>14</sup>C dates are known from sites with Makó-Kosihy-Čaka style assemblages. Six of these dates – from four sites: Domony (KALICZ 1968; DANI 2005; DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013), Nyíregyháza-Császárszállás (DANI 2005; DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013), Kismarja (DANI 2005; DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013) and Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom (DANI – M. NEPPER 2006) – are assigned to the first phase (EBA 1) on typological grounds. Four sites – Szeghalom-Környe (G. SZÉNÁSZKY 1987–1988), Üllő, Site 5 (KŐVÁRI – PATAY 2005), Battonya-Georgievics tanya (BONDÁR – D. MATUZ – SZABÓ 1998) and Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs-dűlő (DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013) – are assigned to the second phase (EBA 2a) – although in the last case the authors recognized the contradiction between the radiocarbon dates and the traditional interpretation of the typological repertoire of the site.

The earliest dates come from the graves of the above-mentioned Sárrétudvari kurgan. If we carry out a Bayesian analysis of the dates of the stratified graves from the tumulus, assigning them to three phases, of which the first two (Grave 12 and Grave 10) belong to the Late Copper Age and the third (Graves 4 and 9) to the Early Bronze Age, the date of Grave 4 will not be any more precise (2870–2600 BC), while the span of the date from Grave 9 will shorten a bit to 2860–2580 BC (*Fig. 2*).

The second earliest date comes from Nyíregyháza-Császárszállás, Feature 72, dated to 2840–2460 BC. This site had only two features with Makó style material, both of which are dated with radiocarbon. Feature 140 has a date 2470–2300 BC, which is later than the other date, with practically no overlap between the two at a  $1\sigma$  range. Interestingly, Feature 72 with the earlier date contained a ceramic fragment with characteristic Nyírség style decoration, which is supposed to start only in EBA 2. Some 20 features with Nyírség style material were also found at the site, with two radiocarbon dates, which are, however, later. If we accept the premise that these two features are contemporary, combining the two dates may provide a more exact time-span for the occupation. The combined date of the two radiocarbon measurements from EBA 1 features is 2550–2340 BC.

Two samples from two features were dated from Kismarja, Site 1. A sample from Feature 12 is dated to 2550–2300 BC, while Feature 13 seems to be somewhat later, 2430–2200 BC. This second date is more in the range expected for Makó phase 2 assemblages. The combined date for the site is 2450–2290 BC.

Although Szeghalom-Környe has been assigned to Makó phase 2 on typological grounds (G. SZÉNÁSZKY 1987–1988), its radiocarbon date is identical to that from Kismarja, Feature 12: 2550–2300 BC (RACZKY – HERTELENDI – HORVÁTH 1992, 43, Nr. 18). The case of Battonya-Georgievics tanya is similar: it is assigned to phase 2 on typological grounds, but the radiocarbon date is closer to the ones listed above: 2460–2290 BC.



Fig. 2. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates of the burial mound Sárrétudvari-Orhalom



Fig. 3. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates from Makó assemblages with dates poorly fitting the model (below)
Üllő, Site 5 yielded two radiocarbon dates from two features. The date from Pit 5605 is 2470–2300 BC, while the date from Pit 3627 is 2340–2130 BC. As we can see, their 1σ ranges hardly overlap. It has been suggested on typological grounds that the site belongs to the Makó 2 phase (EBA 2a). Based on these radiocarbon dates, however, we can also assume that the site was in use for a longer period, and Makó phases 1 and 2 cannot be distinguished that easily on typological grounds. If we assume, however, that the settlement features are contemporary, the combination of the two dates gives the rage 2450–2210 BC. Domony is assigned to phase 2 on typological grounds and has a later absolute date: 2340–2050 BC (FORENBAHER 1993, 241, Fig. 3).

Most recently four dates have been published from the site of Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs-dűlő (DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013), two from cremation graves and two from settlement features: 2570–2470 BC, 2570–2350 BC, 2570–2460 BC and 2550–2340 BC. Their combined date is 2550–2460 BC or 2560–2460 BC (2σ).

There are clear contradictions between the stylistic assessment and radiocarbon dates of some of these sites. If we carry out a Bayesian analysis on them, creating a sequence of three phases with Sárrétudvari representing the first, Makó 1 style assemblages the second, and Makó 2 style assemblages the third phase, this becomes even more apparent (*Fig. 3*). In the case of at least two dates (Kismarja, Feature 13 and Üllő 5, Pit 3627) the "agreement value" is below 60%, which is considered poor. In two other cases (Sárrétudvari, Grave 4 and Domony) the "agreement value" is just above 60% (*Fig. 3*). This indicates that these dates do not fit the "prior probability model", which has to be re-evaluated.

If we consider only the dates without the stylistic assessment of the sites, these fifteen dates seem to represent three phases that do not entirely confirm the expectations based on the typological analyses. Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom can be placed at the very beginning of the Early Bronze Age (*ca.* 2750–2600 BC), probably overlapping with the latest Final Copper Age assemblages. An earlier Makó phase – with assemblages including elements as well that previously had been assigned to phase 2 (see also DANI – KISJUHÁSZ 2013) – can be dated to *ca.* 2550–2300 BC. The later phase can be placed to *ca.* 2300–2150 BC. Üllő 5 seems to lie on the border of these phases.

When we turn to Transdanubia, nine radiocarbon dates are known from seven sites with Somogyvár-Vinkovci style material (cp. RACZKY – HERTELENDI – HORVÁTH 1992; KULCSÁR 2013). The burial in the tumulus grave of Neusiedl am See has been assigned to Vučedol style material (RUTTKAY 2002; 2003), although typologically it does not seem to be much different from other Somogyvár-Vinkovci assemblages. The assignment to an early phase is based mostly on the rather early radiocarbon date from the burial. Human bone from the grave was dated in two AMS laboratories, in Vienna and Zürich; the combined date is 2870-2620 BC ( $2\sigma$ ). With the exception of Győrszemere-Tóth-tag, all the other sites are usually dated to the first Somogyvár-Vinkovci phase (EBA 1). It has been suggested that Győrszemere might be later (EBA 2a), although its material is typologically identical to the others. The argument is indirect: since EBA 1 in the northwestern part of the Carpathian Basin is "occupied" by the "Makó culture", Somogyvár-Vinkovci assemblages can be only later (FIGLER 1994, 23).

Szava and Győrszemere are dated to 2580–2470 BC and 2620–2460 BC, respectively (RACZKY – HERTELENDI – HORVÁTH 1992, 43; FIGLER 1996). The grave from Šurany has a similar date: 2570–2340 BC, while all the others can be placed after 2500 BC (NOVOTNÁ – PAULÍK 1989). The combination of the two dates from Pécs-Nagyárpád provides a date of 2460–2340 BC (RACZKY – HERTELENDI – HORVÁTH 1992, 43; FORENBAHER 1993, 241). While the two dates from Vinkovci-Hotel have a rather large standard deviation (DURMAN – OBELIĆ 1989, 1003–1004), if we assume that the site is contemporary with the radiocarbon dated urn grave nearby, dated to 2450–2309 BC (KALAFATIĆ 2006, 23–24, Tab. A), and use Bayesian statistics, the ranges become significantly shorter, *ca.* 2450–2300/2250 BC. A similar result is provided by the combination of all three dates from Vinkovci.

As a result we may establish that there seems to have been a short, *ca*. 200-year-long phase between 2800 and 2600 BC in the Carpathian Basin, when "Late Copper Age" material culture (late Baden, perhaps Kostolac?) was used contemporaneously with "Early Bronze Age" type material culture (earliest Makó and late Vučedol/earliest Somogyvár-Vinkovci). Currently, however, this phase is very difficult to fill with known archaeological material. In the next phase, the previously accepted twofold division of EBA pottery styles does not seem to hold against radiocarbon evidence. While these assemblages do belong to the EBA 1 and 2a phases, their typological differentiation seems impossible at the moment. In the light of this new chronological framework, our interpretations of the period have to be changed as well.

#### Continuities and discontinuities, interaction and transformation

The new chronological outline sketched above – even with its uncertainties – compels us to rethink the processes of transition from the Late Copper to the Early Bronze Age. Previously held opinions about a clean-cut division of the two periods and their material culture do not seem to hold up against new evidence. Here, first we would like to briefly review a few archaeological phenomena that show at least some continuity across this chronological border, and then we would like to demonstrate through a few examples the significant role of increased interregional interaction in the emergence of Early Bronze Age societies. These two aspects of the transition often go hand in hand.

In some areas of the Carpathian Basin, a degree of continuity can be observed in terms of settlement structure and location. In most of the Carpathian Basin, the settlements of the Late Copper Age were small and dispersed, probably with low population density (e.g., HORVÁTH 2008, 164–168). There are two areas where larger fortified hilltop settlements emerged in the final phase, around 3000 BC: in the northeastern part of the Carpathian Basin, in present-day northeast Hungary and eastern Slovakia, along the Ipoly/Ipel' and Sajó/Slaná rivers, where hilltop settlements with Late Baden and Kostolac style material have been discovered, surrounded by smaller settlements and cemeteries (most recently PATAY 1999); and in southern Transdanubia, south of Lake Balaton, and especially in the south-Central part of the basin, along the Danube between Dunaszekcső in Hungary in the north and Belgrade in the south, a series of fortified hilltop sites are known with Vučedol style material (TASIĆ 1995), clearly controlling the route of the Danube from these strategic locations. Recent excavations at Vučedol itself have revealed a large number of well-preserved timber-framed houses with wattle-and-daub construction, measuring ca. 5.6–6.3  $\times$  7.3–8.3 m (FORENBAHER 1994; 1995). It remains to be seen, whether these formed part of a more hierarchical settlement network, since systematic settlement research in both regions remains sparse. Nevertheless, both are significant from our point of view as well, since in both areas, some of these settlements were continued in the Early Bronze Age as well.

Settlements dated to EBA 1 in the Carpathian Basin mostly continue the Late Copper Age pattern of fairly homogeneous, dispersed settlements throughout the area east of the Danube and in northern Transdanubia (for a review of settlements see TÓTH 2001; KULCSÁR 2009a, 58–70; DANI 2005, 63–72). In fact, most of the material of the phase is known from small settlements usually indicated only by pits dug into the subsoil. Remains of rectangular, above-ground, timber-structure houses of various sizes have rarely been found, e.g., at Csongrád-Vidre-sziget (7×37 m), Abda-Hármasok (5×15 m), Tatabánya-Dózsakert, and Hosszúpályi; other settlement features include hearths, ovens, wells and, rarely, ditches. We may distinguish between smaller farmsteads with a single cluster of pits, and larger hamlets with numerous discrete pit clusters perhaps indicating separate households, in a few cases reaching 50–70 features (e.g., Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs-dűlő, Csengele-Fecskés). However, even in the latter case archaeological features are scattered throughout fairly large areas, indicating low population density.

The pattern, however, is different in the above-mentioned two areas. In the northeast apparently at least some of the fortified hilltop sites were inhabited continuously into the Early Bronze Age, e.g., at Salgótarján-Pécskő (KOREK 1968; BÓNA 1992a, 11, 21; PATAY 1999), where remains of a large, 13×19 m timber-framed house were discovered as well, although without proper stratigraphic observations (GALL – TANKÓ 2007). In southern Transdanubia, larger hilltop settlements were found as well, in many cases continuing the Late Copper Age occupation, but often in new locations as well (e.g., Somogyvár-Kupavárhegy, Zók-Várhegy, Dunaszekcső-Várhegy, Pécs-Nagyárpád, Batrovci-Gradac, etc.; KULCSÁR 2009a, 263-266). Some of these were fortified as well: control excavations at Nagygörbő-Várhegy demonstrated the Early Bronze Age date of the rampart (NOVÁKI 1965), while the recently excavated settlement at Kaposújlak-Várdomb-dűlő was apparently surrounded by a triple ditch (SOMOGYI 2002; KULCSÁR 2012a). However, even in this area most of the settlements were smaller, open settlements, usually indicated only by a couple of pits, although some of these settlements can be larger as well, with 20-30 archaeological features (e.g., Börzönce-Temetői-dűlő: BONDÁR 1995; Szava: ECSEDY 1979b). Proper above-ground, timber-framed houses have not been identified yet. At a few sites (Pécs-Nagyárpád: BÁNDI 1981; 1984; Nagykanizsa-Inkey-kápolna: BONDÁR 2003; Csepreg-Kavicsbánya: KÁROLYI 1971–1972) larger, rectangular, semi-subterranean structures may have served as dwellings. In the case of Pécs-Nagyárpád these were apparently aligned along a street, and at least two size groups could be distinguished  $(10-15 \text{ m}^2 \text{ and } 30-40 \text{ m}^2)$  (although no final report has been published from the site) (BÁNDI 1981; 1984; BONDÁR 1995, 232–233; KULCSÁR 2009a, 266). It is possible that these settlements were already part of a two-tiered hierarchy with fortified central sites and smaller satellite settlements or temporarily used camp sites (BONDÁR 1995, 230–235; 2001). The latter range from a single excavated feature (pit) to ca. 30 features (KULCSÁR 2009a, 266–268), indicating at least some differentiation in terms of settlement character or function.

Recent aerial reconnaissance and field survey in a smaller area south the city of Pécs and the Mecsek Mountains in southern Transdanubia revealed an interesting network of settlements, whose exact date, however, remains uncertain: both Final Copper Age and Early Bronze Age seem to be possible based on the surface finds. Apparently, in this microregion fortified hilltop sites can be found at the corners of triangles whose sides are about 4–6 km long. The use of the model was able to predict the existence of a few settlements that could be groundtruthed (BERTÓK – GÁTI 2009). This shows a much greater density of such sites in a small region than previously expected and indicates that we have to expect more complex settlements networks at the beginning of the Early Bronze Age at least in some areas of the Carpathian Basin.

The above data indicate that beside the obvious differences the settlements of the Late Copper and the Early Bronze Ages do share some characteristics: a loosely scattered pattern of smaller, not too intensive settlements in most areas, but a more differentiated, two-tiered settlement hierarchy centred on fortified sites in the same two regions in both periods.

If we turn to material culture, a few ceramic forms also seem to be used continuously through the Copper Age-Bronze Age transition indicating some form of continuity. The most important of these are the interior decorated pedestalled or cross-footed bowls (*Fig. 4*). These have been in the focus of research for a long time (see recently e.g., BURGER 1980; KULCSÁR 1998–1999; 2009a), but many uncertainties still remain regarding their origin and relationships with eastern analogies. It seems that the earliest exemplars appear in Vučedol contexts, around 3000–2800 BC (DIMITRIJEVIĆ 1977–1978, 14–16; KULCSÁR 1998–1999, 117–118; 2009a, 308–310). A similarly early date can be assigned to cross-footed and pedestalled bowls with concentric cord-impressed decoration, e.g., Iža from Kostolac context (NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ 1968, Abb. 22), Branč (VLADÁR 1966, Abb. 33. 7) and Nagyhalász-Királyhalom, probably from a Late Copper Age kurgan in eastern Hungary (DANI 2011, 34, Fig. 13. 9). While the cross-footed stray bowl from Salgótarján-Zagyvapálfalva decorated both inside and outside



Fig. 4. Interior decorated pedestalled and cross-footed bowls - general chronology

(KULCSÁR 2009b, 187, 1. kép; 2013, 644–645, Fig. 2. 2) has no context, its exact analogue from Vysočany in southeast Moravia belongs to Jevišovice type material (MEDUNOVÁ-BENEŠOVÁ 1977, Tab. VIII; KULCSÁR 2013, Fig. 2. 1) (*Fig. 5. 1–2*). A similar bowl has recently been published from Ordacsehi-Kécsimező on Lake Balaton (KULCSÁR 2013, 649, Fig. 4c) (*Fig. 5. 3–5*). This assemblage is rather difficult to date, but can be probably placed to the transitional period 2800–2600 BC. This is supported by the fact that the small globular amphora with perforated horizontal lug handles has a good analogue in form, proportions and handle form – although not in size – in the amphora from Grave 7 of the Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom mound (DANI – M. NEPPER 2006, 34, Fig. 5. 2). The use and production of such interior decorated pedestalled bowls continued into the first phase of the Early Bronze Age in both the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and Somogyvár-Vinkovci styles (KULCSÁR 1998–1999; 2009a, 121–141, 308–319), and even further into the Bell Beaker period of the EBA 2a phase (*Fig. 4*). This indicates a continuous development from *ca*. 2900 BC until after 2500 BC. The importance of these bowls is also shown by their probable connection with cross-footed bowls of the East European steppe and the North Caucasus in the mid-third millennium BC (e.g., PANASYUK 2009; 2010; KAISER 2005; this volume). In the light of current evidence an origin in the Carpathian Basin and Central Europe

A few other vessel forms also indicate continuity between Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age ceramic styles. Mugs (KULCSÁR 2009a, 93–94, Fig. 18. I/6), flat bowls (KULCSÁR 2009a, 111–112, Fig. 22. VII/7b), vessels with asymmetrical handles (KULCSÁR 2009a, 98–101, Fig. 20. II/1, II/6), small conical bowls (KULCSÁR 2009a, 119–121, Fig. 25. VIII) are attested in both the Vučedol and Makó pottery styles. Ovoid two-handled amphorae are general forms appearing both in Vučedol and the EBA 1 styles (Makó Type XIV/1 and Somogyvár Type XV/1–3; KULCSÁR 2009a, 155–157, Fig. 35, 334–336, Fig. 67). Clay hooks also connect the Vučedol and Makó styles (KULCSÁR 2009a, 164, 173, Fig. 38;



Fig. 5. Interior decorated cross-footed bowls – 1: Salgótarján-Zagyvapálfalva, 2: Vysočany, 3–5: Ordacsehi-Kécsimező

cp. SCHMIDT 1945, 102, Taf. 48, Abb. 14–15). Connections and continuities between the Vučedol and Somogyvár-Vinkovci styles are even more apparent. Pedestalled and small conical bowls and ovoid amphorae have already been mentioned. We may add wide-mouthed one-handled jugs, cooking pots and some of the small mugs as well (DIMITRIJEVIĆ 1982a; 1982b; KULCSÁR 2009a, 347).

Some continuity can be discovered in the area of metal production as well. For a long time, the late fourth millennium BC was seen as a period of diminished metallurgical activity due to various reasons (e.g., political upheavals due to migrations or the lack of easily accessible native copper). It was often juxtaposed with the developments of metallurgy in the early third millennium BC, characterized by innovations such as the bivalve mould. Recently, however, it has been suggested that some products of metallurgy, especially Bányabükk, Fajsz and Kozarac type shaft-hole axes can be dated to a period preceding the Early Bronze Age as traditionally defined (e.g., BÁTORA 2003; HANSEN 2009; SZEVERÉNYI 2013; DANI, this volume). The manufacture of these and related axes continues uninterrupted in the Early Bronze Age, indicating continuity in metallurgical production. The consumption of such axes in hoards – often as depositions of single items – is a pattern that will be a major characteristic of the European Bronze Age.

In terms of interregional interaction, the example of copper shaft-hole axes is evidence not only for the spread of a new type of metal weapon or tool, but also of a technological innovation. These objects were already cast in bivalve moulds, providing much greater control over the shape of the finished product and the process of casting. The first representatives of such shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin are the Bányabükk type axes. These simple, single-edged, rectangular axes belong to a type that first appears in the Caucasus in the mid-fourth millennium BC, mostly in richly furnished burial mounds with Maikop style material. They can be found in somewhat later contexts on the south Russian steppes, also in rich male graves. The westernmost part of their distribution area is in the eastern part of the Carpathian Basin with outliers in Croatia on the Adriatic shore and in Albania (SZEVERÉNYI 2013). The date of the exemplars from the Caucasus and southern Russia indicate an earlier, pre-Bronze Age timespan in the second half of the fourth millennium BC and around 3000 BC. This date should be accepted for the exemplars in the Carpathian Basin as well, until new data suggests otherwise. This also means that in this case we are dealing with a Late Copper Age weapon – and Late Copper Age contacts that form the starting point of the long-lasting tradition of the use of copper and bronze shaft-hole axes as weapons, tools and prestige items throughout the Early and Middle Bronze Age.



When examining the context of these axes in the various parts of the distribution area, a number of differences can be observed. While in the Caucasus and southern Russia they are usually found in burial contexts, mostly furnishing the graves of rich males, in the Carpathian Basin they are mostly "stray finds" – probably "hoards" or deliberate depositions containing a single item – or, in the case of Bányabükk itself, parts of larger hoards that contain a single type of object. While the social and symbolic meanings attached to these axes may not have differed greatly in these areas, the differences in deposition and consumption do indicate a reinterpretation of the object type according to local cultural logic. It seems that in this phase, these axes were not yet used for the symbolic elaboration of various identities during burial practices, but were deposited in other ritual contexts (SZEVERÉNYI 2013).

The further development of this object class in the third millennium BC deserves a quick look, since these are the most significant metallurgical products of eastern and Central Europe in the Early Bronze Age. After the initial introduction of the form a large variety of axes began to be produced in the



*Fig. 7. Distribution of (a) Eschollbrücken type axes (square: classic, triangle: closely related) and (b) Manych type daggers (Sárrétudvari shown by enlarged sign)* 

Carpathian Basin and the northern Balkans. Local production is evidenced by the presence of moulds in larger settlements (see e.g. DANI, this volume).

Some of these axes now appear in rich male graves, often associated with a dagger and gold hairrings. One such grave was excavated at the already mentioned Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom. Grave 4 contained only a vessel and two gold hair-rings, but Grave 7 yielded a special type of copper axe, a rare form of dagger and two hair-rings (*Fig. 6*). Both weapons are foreign types: the axe is a variant of the so-called Eschollbrücken type, whose main distribution area is in Central and western Europe, and the exemplar from Sárrétudvari is one of the most easterly pieces (DANI – M. NEPPER 2006; MARAN 2008; DANI 2011) (*Fig. 7. 1*). The dagger, on the other hand, belongs to the so-called Manych type and is known mostly from the Russian steppes, and the Sárrétudvari exemplar is one of the westernmost ones (ZIMMERMAN 2003; DANI 2011) (*Fig. 7. 2*). The gold hair-rings represent a simple type, which has a huge distribution



area from the Caucasus through the Russian steppes into the Carpathian Basin (see recently MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU – OLTEANU 2001).

Another such rich grave is known south of the Carpathian Basin, in the Balkans, in the large and richly furnished burial mound of Mala Gruda. Here a silver axe is associated with a gold dagger and a number of gold hair-rings (PRIMAS 1996) (*Fig. 8. 1*). These axes are the earliest ones that have already been cast in closed bivalve moulds, again an important technological development, which was probably invented in the north Balkans or the southern part of the Carpathian Basin (e.g., PRIMAS 1996; 2007; DANI, this volume). Similar axes are known only from hoards, usually made of copper, but one such hoard from Bosnia yielded four silver exemplars as well (HANSEN 2001). The axe of Mala Gruda is the southernmost exemplar of the Kozarac type, distributed in the southern Carpathian Basin and the northwestern Balkans (*Fig. 8. 2*). The dagger seems to represent a type that was in use in Anatolia, and is most probably an imported object here (MARAN 1998). A similar dagger made of arsenic copper is known from the Carpathian Basin as well, from Érpatak (KALICZ 1968 [mistakenly as "Balkány"]; DANI 2005; this volume) (*Fig. 8. 3*). The hair-rings of the grave represent a local variant (Mala Gruda

type) of a special type (Leukas type), which is known mostly from the eastern Carpathian Basin and the northern Balkans, although the southernmost exemplars were found already in the Aegean, on the island of Levkas (KILIAN-DIRLMEIER 2005).

Based on the above it seems that in the beginning of the third millennium BC, the distinguished status of a few individuals, mostly men, was emphasized by the deposition of rare, foreign weapon types, mostly axes and daggers, sometimes made of precious metals, in their graves. It seems that competition for leadership involved the demonstration of access to foreign objects and perhaps exotic knowledge, exchange and perhaps alliance with the leaders of distant communities.

The combination of these items, especially of axes and hair-rings, seems to have played a crucial role in the construction of new forms of masculinity in a narrow, powerful faction of Early Bronze Age society. The deposition of weapons in graves was important in the symbolic elaboration of a warrior status during burial rites, while the use of decorative hair-rings made of precious metals attest to the symbolic importance of hair, and generally grooming, in the creation of such identities. This tradition seems to continue well into the Middle Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin, where gold hair-rings are often included in richly furnished warrior graves (in pairs or triples). This is the point in time when the notion of the "warrior's beauty" (TREHERNE 1995), which will be a very important aspect of social life throughout the European Bronze Age, seems to first manifest itself in the archaeological record.

The above examples show clearly that the transition to the Early Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin had a dual character. A certain degree of continuity can be observed in a number of aspects, like settlement structures, pottery styles and forms and metal production and consumption. On the other hand, apparently some major transformations did take place that probably started during the crucial transitional period between 2800 and 2600 BC. Interregional interaction seems to have expanded considerably during this period and new networks were built in new directions that contributed significantly to the later developments of the Bronze Age in Hungary.

With regard to future research, this last concept – networks – should provide a new focus for our efforts. Research on complex networks has become a significant field of research on its own, and various methods of network analysis have already been very successfully implemented in archaeological research and interpretation (KNAPPETT – EVANS – RIVERS 2008; KNAPPETT 2011; [ed.] 2013; cp. KULCSÁR 2012b). The existence, extent and orientation of prehistoric networks can be detected based on the analysis of various classes of archaeological remains from simple pottery forms to complex ideological structures. The background of these connections, an invisible world of concepts, ideas and innovations can, however, be revealed through thorough analyses, in which network analysis should play a key role in the future.

#### Acknowledgements

The illustrations were prepared by László Gucsi, Zsolt Réti, Margit Szabados. This paper was supported by Grant OTKA F 68548 and the János Bolyai Research Scholarships of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

#### References

ASPES, A. (red.) 1982

Il passaggio dal Neolitico all'età del Bronzo nell'Europa Centrale e nella regione Alpina. Problemi cronologici e terminologici. Atti del X Simposio Internazionale sulla fine del Neolitico e gli inizi dell'età del Bronzo in Europa. Lazise-Verona 8-12 aprile 1980. Verona.

BÁNDI, G. 1981

Über die Entstehung der frühbronzezeitlichen Zivilisation. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (Hrsg.): Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales

*Symposium 1977, Budapest–Velem.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Instituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 21–27.

#### Bándi, G. 1982

Die terminologischen und relativchronologischen Probleme der frühen und mittleren Bronzezeit in Westungarn. In: ASPES (red.) 1982, 165–181.

## Bándi, G. 1984

Die Somogyvár Kultur. In: Tasić, N. (Hrsg.): *Kulturen der Frühbronzezeit des Karpatenbeckens und Nordbalkans*. Beograd 1984, 125–128.

#### BANNER, J. 1956

Die Péceler Kultur. Archaeologia Hungarica 35, Budapest.

#### BANNER, J. – BÓNA, I. – MÁRTON, L. 1957

Die Ausgrabungen von L. Márton in Tószeg. Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 10 (1957) 1–140.

#### BÁTORA, J. 2003

Kupferne Schaftlochäxte in Mittel-, Ost- und Südosteuropa (Zu Kulturkontakten und Datierung – Äneolithikum/Frühbronzezeit). *Slovenská Archeológia* 51 (2003) 1–38.

#### BERTEMES, F. – HEYD, V. 2002

Der Übergang Kupferzeit/Frühbronzezeit am Nordwestrand des Karpatenbeckens – Kulturgeschichtliche und paläometallurgische Betrachtungen. In: Bartelheim, M. – Pernicka, E. – Krause, R. (Hrsg.): *Die Anfänge der Metallurgie in der alten Welt/The Beginnings of Metallurgy in the Old World*. Forschungen zur Archäometrie und Altertumswissenschaft 1, Rahden/Westfalen 2002, 185–228.

## BERTÓK, G. – GÁTI, CS. 2009

Adalékok Baranya megye kora bronzkori településszerkezetéhez – New Data on the Early Bronze Age Settlement Structure in Baranya County, Hungary. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 50–52 (2005–2007 [2009]) 24–38.

#### Bóna, I. 1981

Tószeg-Laposhalom 1876–1976. Szolnok Megyei Múzeumok Évkönyve 1979–80 [1981], 83–107.

#### BÓNA, I. 1992a

Bronzezeitliche Tell-Kulturen in Ungarn. In: Meier-Arendt, W. (Hrsg.): *Bronzezeit in Ungarn. Forschungen in Tell-Siedlungen an Donau und Theiss*. Frankfurt am Main 1992, 9–39.

## Bóna, I. 1992b

Tószeg-Laposhalom. In: Meier-Arendt, W. (Hrsg.): Bronzezeit in Ungarn. Forschungen in Tell-Siedlungen an Donau und Theiss. Frankfurt am Main 1992, 101–114.

#### BONDÁR, M. 1984

Neuere Funde der Kostolac- und der Spätbadener Kultur in Ungarn. *Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae* 36 (1984) 59–83.

#### BONDÁR, M. 1995

Early Bronze Age settlement patterns in South-West Transdanubia. Antaeus 22 (1995) 197-268.

#### BONDÁR, M. 2001

Adatok a Délnyugat-Dunántúl kora bronzkori kutatási problémáihoz – Contribution to the research problems of the Early Bronze Age in Southwest-Transdanubia. *Zalai Múzeum* 10 (2001) 67–79.

#### BONDÁR, M. 2002

A badeni kultúra kutatási helyzete Magyarországon (vázlat) – Der Forschungsstand der Badener Kultur in Ungarn (Abriss). *MFMÉ–Studia Archaeologica* 8 (2002) 7–30.

#### BONDÁR, M. 2003

Kora bronzkori telep Nagykanizsa-Inkey kápolnán – Frühbronzezeitliche Siedlung von Nagykanizsa-Inkey Kapelle. *Zalai Múzeum* 12 (2003) 49–77.

## Bondár, M. – D. Matuz, E. – Szabó, J. J. 1998

Rézkori és bronzkori településnyomok Battonya határában – Kupfer- und bronzezeitliche Siedlungsspuren in der Gemarkung von Battonya. *MFMÉ–Studia Archaeologica* 4 (1998) 7–31.

## BONDÁR, M. – RACZKY, P. (eds) 2009

The Copper Age cemetery of Budakalász. Budapest.

## BURGER, I. 1980

Die chronologische Stellung der Fussschalen in den endneolithischen Kulturgruppen Mittel- und Südosteuropas. In: Spindler, K. (Hrsg.): *Vorzeit zwischen Main und Donau*. Erlanger Forschungen, Reihe A 26, Erlangen 1980, 11–45.

## CHILDE, V. G. 1929

The Danube in Prehistory. Oxford.

## CIUGUDEAN, H. 2000

*Eneoliticul final în Transilvania și Banat: cultura Coțofeni.* Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 26, Timișoara.

## DANI, J. 2005

A Felső-Tisza-vidék kora bronzkora a tell-kultúrákat megelőző időszakban [The Early Bronze Age of the Upper Tisza region before the emergence tell cultures]. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Budapest.

## Dani, J. 2011

Research of Pit-Grave culture kurgans in Hungary in the last three decades. In: Pető, Á. – Barczi, A. (eds): *Kurgan Studies. An environmental and archaeological multiproxy study of burial mounds in the Eurasian steppe zone.* BAR International Series 2238, Oxford 2011, 25–69.

## Dani, J. – Horváth, T. 2012

Őskori kurgánok a magyar Alföldön. A Gödörsíros (Jamnaja) entitás magyarországi kutatása az elmúlt 30 év során. Áttekintés és revízió. Budapest: Archaeolingua.

## DANI, J. – KISJUHÁSZ, V. 2013

Bestattungen der Makó-Kultur in Berettyóújfalu, Nagy-Bócs-dűlő. In: Anders, A. – Kulcsár, G. with Kalla, G. – Kiss, V. – V. Szabó, G. (eds): *Moments in Time. Papers Presented to Pál Raczky on His* 60<sup>th</sup> Birthday. Ősrégészeti Tanulmányok / Prehistoric Studies I, Budapest 2013, 671–692.

## DANI, J. – M. NEPPER, I. 2006

Sárrétudvari-Örhalom. Tumulus grave from the beginning of the EBA in Eastern Hungary. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 29–63.

## DELLA CASA, Ph. 1995

The Cetina group and the transition from Copper to Bronze Age in Dalmatia. *Antiquity* 69 (1995) 565–576.

## DIMITRIJEVIĆ, S. 1956

Prilog daljem upoznavanju vučedolske kulture – Ein Beitrag zur weiteren Kenntnis der Vučedoler kultur. *Opuscula Archaeologica* 1 (1956) 79–85.

## DIMITRIJEVIĆ, S. 1977–1978

Zur Frage der Genese und der Gliederung der Vučedoler Kultur in dem Zwischenstromlande Donau-Drau-Sawe. *Vjesnik Arheološkog Muzeja u Zagrebu* 10–11 (1977–1978) 1–84.

## DIMITRIJEVIĆ, S. 1979

Arheološka topografi ja i izbor arheoloških nalaza s Vinkovačkog tla – Archäologische Topographie und Auswahl archäologischer Funde vom Vinkovcer Boden). In: *Corolla memoriae Iosepho Brunšmid dicata*. Veröffentlichungen der Kroatischen Archäologischen Gesellschaft 4, Vinkovci 1979, 201–268.

## DIMITRIJEVIĆ, S. 1982a

Die frühe Vinkovci-Kultur und ihre Beziehungen zu Vučedoler Substrat im Lichte der Ausgrabungen in Vinkovci (1977/78). *Opuscula Archaeologica* 7 (1982) 7–36.

## DIMITRIJEVIĆ, S. 1982b

Zu einigen chronologischen Fragen des pannonischen Äneolithikums. Germania 60 (1982) 425-458.

#### DURMAN, A. (ed.) 1988

*Vučedol – treće tisućljeće p.n.e. – Vučedol – three thousand years b.c.* Zagreb.

#### DURMAN, A. – OBELIĆ, B. 1989

Radiocarbon dating of the Vučedol Cultural Complex. Radiocarbon 31 (1989) 1003–1009.

## ECSEDY, I. 1979a

The People of the Pit-Grave Kurgans in Eastern Hungary. Fontes Archaeologici Hungariae, Budapest.

#### ECSEDY, I. 1979b

Die Siedlung der Somogyvár-Vinkovci Kultur bei Szava und einige Fragen der Frühbronzezeit in Südpannonien – A Somogyvár–Vinkovci kultúra szavai települése és a déldunántúli korabronzkor néhány kérdése. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 23 (1978 [1979]) 97–136.

#### FIGLER, A. 1994

Die Fragen der Frühbronzezeit in Nordwest-Transdanubien. Zalai Múzeum 5 (1994) 21-38.

#### FIGLER, A. 1996

Adatok Győr környékének bronzkorához. Bronzkori kultúrák Győr környékén – Angaben zur Bronzezeit in der Umgebung von Győr. Bronzezeitliche Kulturen in der Umgebung von Győr. *Pápai Múzeumi Értesítő* 6 (1996) 7–29.

#### FORENBAHER, S. 1993

Radiocarbon dates and absolute chronology of the central European Early Bronze Age. *Antiquity* 67 (1993) 218–220, 235–256.

## FORENBAHER, S. 1994

The Late Copper Age Architecture at Vučedol. Journal of Field Archaeology 21 (1995) 307-323.

#### FORENBAHER, S. 1995

Vučedol: graditeljstvo i veličina vučedolske faze naselja – Vučedol: architecture and magnitude of the latest Copper Age settlement phase. *Opuscula Archaeologica* 19 (1995) 17–25.

## FURHOLT, M. 2008

Pottery, cultures, people? The European Baden material re-examined. Antiquity 82 (2008) 617-628.

#### FURHOLT, M. 2009

Die nördlichen Badener Keramikstile im Kontext des mitteleuropäischen Spätneolithikums (3650–2900 v. Chr.). Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 3, Bonn.

## FURHOLT, M. – SZMYT, M. – ZASTAWNY, A. (eds) 2008

The Baden Complex and the Outside World. Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 4, Bonn.

## Gall, S. – Tankó, K. 2007

Oszlopszerkezetes épület Salgótarján-Pécskőről – A post-framed building at Salgótarján-Pécskő. *Ősrégészeti Levelek/Prehistoric Newsletter* 8–9 (2007) 110–116. GERLING, C. – BÁNFFY, E. – DANI, J. – KÖHLER, K. – KULCSÁR, G. – PIKE, A. W. G. – SZEVERÉNYI, V. – HEYD, V. 2012

Immigration and transhumance in the Early Bronze Age Carpathian Basin: the occupants of a kurgan. *Antiquity* 86/334 (2012) 1097–1111.

#### GOGÂLTAN, F. 1998

Early and Middle Bronze Age Chronology in Southwest Romania. General Aspects. In: Ciugudean, H. – Gogâltan, Fl. (eds): *The Early and Middle Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. Proceedings of the International Symposium in Alba Iulia, 24-28 September 1997.* Bibliotheca Musei Apulensis 8, Alba Iulia 1998, 191–212.

## GOGÂLTAN, F. 1999

Bronzul timpuriu și mijlociu în Banatul romanesc și pe cursul inferior al Mureșului. Cronologia și descoperirile de metal – Die frühe und mittlere Bronzezeit in rumänischen Banat und am Unterlauf der Marosch. Die Chronologie und die Metallfunde). Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 23, Timișoara.

#### HANSEN, S. 2001

Waffen aus Gold und Silber während des 3. und frühen 2. Jahrtausends v. Chr. in Europa und Vorderasien. In: Born, H. (Hrsg.): *Helme und Waffen Alteuropas*. Sammlung Axel Guttmann 9, Mainz 2001, 11–59.

## HANSEN, S. 2009

Kupferzeitliche Äxte zwischen dem 5. und 3. Jahrtausend in Südosteuropa. *Analele Banatului* 17 (2009) 139–158.

## HARRISON, R. – HEYD, V. 2007

The Transformation of Europe in the Third Millenium BC: the example of 'Le Petit-Chasseur I + III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 82 (2007) 129–214.

## HEYD, V. 2011

Yamnaya Groups and Tumuli West of the Black Sea. In: Borgna, E. – Müller Celka, S. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes. Burial Mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages. (Central and Eastern Europe* – *Balkans – Adriatic – Aegean, 4*<sup>th</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> *millennium B.C.).* Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Mediterranée 58, Lyon 2011, 536–555.

#### Horváth, T. 2008

Sozialmorphologische Studie der spätkupferzeitlichen Baden-(Pécel)-Kultur. *Mitteilungen der Anthropologischen Gesellschaft Wien* 138 (2008) 159–203.

## HORVÁTH, T. 2011a

A Boleráz, Baden és Kostolac kultúrák térbeli és időbeli helyzete, és interkulturális kapcsolatai – The Boleráz, Baden and Kostolac Cultures in the Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age: their chronological and spatial distribution, and intercultural connections. *Specimina Electronica Antiquitatis* 12 (2011) 1–105.

## Horváth, T. 2011b

Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukas-halom – An interdisciplinary survey of a typical kurgan from the Great Hungarian Plain region: a case study (The revision of the kurgans from the territory of Hungary). In: Pető, Á. – Barczi, A. (eds): *Kurgan Studies. An environmental and archaeological multiproxy study of burial mounds in the Eurasian steppe zone.* BAR International Series 2238, Oxford 2011, 71–131.

## HORVÁTH, T. 2011c

A késő rézkor időszaka más szemszögből: tipo-kronológiai megfigyelések a Balatonőszöd – Temetői dűlői késő rézkori Boleráz/Baden település leletanyagán – New perspectives for the Late Copper

Age: typo-chronological relationships on the Boleráz/Baden finds of Balatonőszöd–Temetői dűlő. *Gesta* 10 (2011) 3–135.

#### HORVÁTH, T. (ed.) 2012a

Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő őskori településrészei. Budapest.

#### Horváth, T. 2012b

Networks and Netwars: New perspectives on the Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age. Typochronological relationships of the Boleraz/Baden/Kostolac finds at the site of Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő, Hungary. BAR International Series 2427, Oxford.

#### Horváth, T. – Kulcsár, G. 2012

A kora bronzkori településrész. In: Horváth, T. (ed.): *Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő őskori településrészei*. Budapest 2012, 737–767.

#### HORVÁTH, T. – S. SVINGOR, É. – MOLNÁR, M. 2006

Újabb adatok a baden-péceli kultúra keltezéséhez. Archeometriai Műhely 2006(3), 19-30.

#### HORVÁTH, T. – S. SVINGOR, É. – MOLNÁR, M. 2008

New Radiocarbon Dates for the Baden Culture. Radiocarbon 50/3 (2008) 447-458.

#### KAISER, E. 2005

Kuril'nitsy katakombnoi kul'tury i chashi na podstavkakh Severnogo Prichernomor'ya – k voprosu o novoi tipologii. *Materialy i issledovaniya po arkheologii Kubani* 5 (2005) 121–138.

#### KALAFATIĆ, H. 2006

Žarni grob vinkovačke kulture s lokaliteta Vinkovci-Duga ulica 40 – A Vinkovci Culture Urn Grave from the site at 40 Duga Ulica in Vinkovci. *Prilozi Instituta za arheologiju u Zagrebu* 23 (2006) 17–28.

#### KALICZ, N. 1963

Die Péceler (Badener) Kultur und Anatolien. Budapest.

#### KALICZ, N. 1968

Die Frühbronzezeit in Nordost-Ungarn. Abriss der Geschichte des 19.–16. Jahrhunderts v. u. Z. Archaeologia Hungarica 45, Budapest.

#### KALICZ, N. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Probleme der Kupfer- und Bronzezeit in Ungarn. In: ASPES (red.) 1982, 117–137.

#### KALICZ, N. 1989

Die chronologische Verhältnisse zwischen der Badener Kultur und den Kurgangräbern in Ostungarn. In: Buchvaldek, M. – Pleslová-Štiková, E. (Hrsg.): Das Äneolithikum und die früheste Bronzezeit (C<sup>14</sup> 3000–2000 b.c.) in Mitteleuropa: kulturelle und chronologische Beziehungen. Acta des XIV. Internationalen Symposiums Prag – Liblice 20.-24. 10. 1986. Praehistorica 15, Praha 1989, 121–132.

#### KALICZ, N. 1998

Östliche Beziehungen während der Kupferzeit in Ungarn. In: Hänsel, B. – Machnik, J. (Hrsg.): *Das Karpatenbecken und die osteuropäische Steppe*. Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 12, München 1998, 163–177.

## KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Probleme der Frühbronzezeit in Mittelungarn. In: ASPES (red.) 1982, 139–152.

KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1989

Die älteste Bronzezeit in Nordwestungarn und ihre Beziehungen. In: Buchvaldek, M. – Pleslová-Štiková, E. (Hrsg.): Das Äneolithikum und die früheste Bronzezeit (C<sup>14</sup> 3000–2000 b.c.) in Mitteleuropa: kulturelle und chronologische Beziehungen. Acta des XIV. Internationalen Symposiums Prag – Liblice 20.-24. 10. 1986. Praehistorica 15, Praha 1989, 249–259.

KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. - KALICZ, N. 1997

Die Somogyvár–Vinkovci-Kultur und die Glockenbecher in Ungarn. In: Fritsch, B. – Maute, I. – Matuschik, M. – Müller, J. – Wolf, C. (Hrsg.): *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm.* Internationale Achäologie–Studia Honoraria 3, Espelkamp 1997, 325–347.

KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. - KALICZ, N. 1998-2000

A harangedények szerepe a Budapest környéki kora bronzkor társadalmi viszonyainak megjelenítésében – The role of Bell Beakers in reflecting social relations in the Early Bronze Age of Budapest. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 125 (1998–2000) 45–78.

#### KILIAN-DIRLMEIER, I. 2005

Die bronzezeitlichen Gräber bei Nidri auf Leukas. Ausgrabungen von W. Dörpfeld 1903–1913. Monographien des Römisch-Germanischen Zentralmuseums 62, Bonn.

#### KNAPPETT, C. 2011

An Archaeology of Interaction: Network Perspectives on Material Culture and Society. Oxford.

#### KNAPPETT, C. (ed.) 2013

Network Analysis in Archaeology. New Approaches to Regional Interaction. Oxford.

#### KNAPPETT, C. – EVANS, T. – RIVERS, R. 2008

Modelling maritime interaction in the Aegean Bronze Age. Antiquity 82 (2008) 1009–1024.

#### KOREK, J. 1968

Eine Siedlung der Spätbadener Kultur in Salgótarján-Pécskő. *Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae* 20 (1968) 37–58.

#### KORFMANN, M. - KROMER, B. 1993

Zur Chronologie von Demircihüyük, Besik-Tepe und Troia – eine Zwischenbilanz zur Chronologie dreier Orte in Westanatolien. *Studia Troica* 3 (1993) 135–171.

#### Kovács, T. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Probleme der frühen und mittleren Bronzezeit in Ostungarn. In: In: ASPES (red.) 1982, 153–164.

#### KŐVÁRI, K. – PATAY, R. 2005

A Settlement of the Makó Culture at Üllő. New Evidence for Early Bronze Age Metalworking. *Communicationes Archraeologicae Hungariae* 2005, 83–137.

## Kulcsár, G. 1998–1999

Kora bronzkori belső díszes talpas tálak a Dunántúlon – The Early Bronze Age internally decorated bowls from Transdanubia. *Savaria* 24 (1998–1999) 115–139.

#### KULCSÁR, G. 2009a

The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. The Makó–Kosihy–Čaka and the Somogyvár–Vinkovci Culture in Hungary. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest.

#### KULCSÁR, G. 2009b

A Makó–Kosihy–Čaka kultúra északi területei (...avagy amiről a nógrádi dombok hallgatnak...) – Das nördliche Siedlungsgebiet der Makó–Kosihy–Čaka-Kultur. *Tisicum* 19 (2009) 187–197.

## KULCSÁR, G. 2012a

Siedlungen entlang des Kapos-Tals (Süd-Transdanubien) zu Beginn der Bronzezeit. In: Anreiter, P. – Bánffy, E. – Bartosiewicz, L. – Meid, W. – Metzner-Nebelsick, C. (eds): *Archaeological, Cultural and Linguistic Heritage. Festschrift for Erzsébet Jerem in Honour of her 70*<sup>th</sup> *Birthday.* Budapest: Archaeolingua 2012, 349–362.

## KULCSÁR, G. 2012b

Constant, variable and random networks: a Bronze Age beginning. *http://www.academia.* edu/4975314/constant\_variable\_and\_random\_networks\_a\_bronze\_age\_beginning.

#### Kulcsár, G. 2013

Glimpses of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin. In: Anders, A. – Kulcsár, G. – Kalla, G. – Kiss, V. – V. Szabó, G. (eds): *Moments in Time. Papers Presented to Pál Raczky on His 60*<sup>th</sup> *Birthday*. Ősrégészeti Tanulmányok / Prehistoric Studies I, Budapest 2013, 643–659.

## MARAN, J. 1998

Kulturwandel auf dem griechischen Festland und den Kykladen im späten 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 53, Bonn.

#### MARAN, J. 2008

Zur Zeitstellung und Deutung der Kupferäxte vom Typ Eschollbrücken. In: Falkenstein, F. – Schade-Lindig, S. – Zeeb-Lanz, A. (Hrsg.): *Kumpf, Kalotte, Pfeilschaftglätter. Zwei Leben für dir Archäologie. Gedenkschrift für Annemarie Häusser und Helmut Spatz.* Internationale Archäologie– Studia honoraria 27, Rahden/Westf. 2008, 173–187.

#### MEDUNOVÁ-BENEŠOVÁ, A. 1977

*Jevišovická kultura nad jihozápadní Moravě – Jevišovice-Kultur in Südwestmähren*. Studie Archeologického Ústavu Československé Akadémie Věd v Brně V/3, Praha.

## Motzoi-Chicideanu, I. – Olteanu, Gh. 2001

A slab-cist grave discovered at Văleni-Dâmbovița. *European Archaeology – Online* March 2001; www.archaeology.ro/imc\_valeni\_eng.htm

#### MOZSOLICS, A. 1952

Die Ausgrabungen in Tószeg im Jahre 1948. Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 2 (1952) 35–69.

## MOZSOLICS, A. 1967

Die Bronzefunde des Karpatenbeckens. Depotfundhorizonte von Hajdúsámson und Koszider. Budapest.

#### MOZSOLICS, A. 1968

Goldfunde des Depotfundhorizontes von Hajdúsámson. Bericht des Römisch-Germanischen Kommission 46–47 (1965–66 [1968]) 1–62.

#### MOZSOLICS, A. 1973

Bronze- und Goldfunde des Karpatenbeckens. Deptfundhorizonte von Forró und Ópályi. Budapest.

#### MOZSOLICS, A. 1985

Bronzefunde aus Ungarn. Depotfundhorizonte von Aranyos, Kurd und Gyermely. Budapest.

## MOZSOLICS, A. - SCHALK, E. 2000

Bronzefunde aus Ungarn. Depotfundhorizonte Hajdúböszörmény, Románd und Bükkszentlászló. Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 17, Rahden/Westfalen.

## NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ, V. 1968

Äneolithische Siedlung und Stratigraphie in Iža. Slovenská Archaeológia 16 (1968) 353–433.

#### NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ, V. 1974

Beitrag zum Kennen der Postboleráz-Entwicklung der Badener Kultur. *Slovenská Archaeológia* 22/2 (1974) 237–360.

#### NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ, V. 1981

Năcrt periodizácie badenskej kultúry a jej chronologických vztanov k juhovýchodnej Európe – An outline of the periodical system of Baden Culture and its chronological relations to Southeast Europe. *Slovenská Archeológia* 29 (1981) 261–296.

#### NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ, V. 1991

Typologische Fragen der relativen und absoluten Chronologie der Badener Kultur. *Slovenská Archeológia* 39/1 (1991) 59-89.

#### NOVÁKI, GY. 1965

A nagygörbő-várhegyi korabronzkori erődített telep – Die befestigte frühbronzezeitliche Siedlung von Nagygörbő-Várhegy. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 92 (1965) 168–175.

#### Novotná, M. – Paulík, J. 1989

Neskoroeneolitická mohyla v Šuranoch, okr. Nové Zámky – Spätäneolithisches Hügelgrab in Šurany, Bez. Nové Zámky. *Archeologické Rozhledy* 41 (1989) 368–378.

#### PANASYUK, N. V. 2009

Katakombnye kuril'nitsy Prikuban'ya. In: *Pyataya kubanskaya arkheologicheskaya konferentsiya*. Krasnodar 2009, 291–295.

#### PANASYUK, N. V. 2010

Rannekatakombnye kuril'nitsy stepnogo Predkavkaz'ya. Rossiiskaya Arkheologiya 2010, 25-38.

#### PATAY, P. 1982

Angaben zur relativen Chronologie der Kupferzeit im Karpatenbecken östlich der Donau. In: ASPES (red.) 1982, 107–115.

#### PATAY, P. 1999

A badeni kultúra ózd-pilinyi csoportjának magaslati telepei – Höhensiedlungen der spätbadener Ózd-Piliny Gruppe. *A Herman Ottó Múzeum Évkönyve* 38 (1999) 45–56.

#### PRIMAS, M. 1996

Velika Gruda I. Hügelgräber des frühen 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Adriagebiet. Velika Gruda, Mala Gruda und ihr Kontext. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 32, Bonn.

#### PRIMAS, M. 2007

Innovationstransfer vor 5000 Jahren. Knotenpunkte an Land- und Wasserwegen zwischen Vorderasien und Europa. *Eurasia Antiqua* 13 (2007) 1–19.

## RACZKY, P. 1995

New Data on the Absolute Chronology of the Copper Age in the Carpathian Basin. In: Kovács, T. (Hrsg.): *Neuere Daten zur Siedlungsgeschichte und Chronologie der Kupferzeit des Karpatenbeckens.* Inventaria Praehistorica Hungariae 7, Budapest 1995, 51–60.

#### RACZKY, P. – HERTELENDI, E. – HORVÁTH, F. 1992

Zur absoluten Datierung der bronzezeitlichen Tell-Kulturen in Ungarn. In: Meier-Arendt, W. (Hrsg.): *Bronzezeit in Ungarn. Forschungen in Tell-Siedlungen an Donau und Theiss.* Frankfurt am Main 1992, 42–47.

REIMER, P. J. – BARD, E. – BAYLISS, A. – WARREN BECK, J. – BLACKWELL, P. G. – BRONK RAMSEY, CH. – GROOTES, P. M. – GUILDERSON, T. P. – HAFLIDASON, H. – HAJDAS, I. – HATTÉ, CHR. – HEATON, T. J.

– HOFFMANN, D. L. – HOGG, A. G. – HUGHEN, K. A. – KAISER, K. F. – KROMER, B. – MANNING, S. W. –

NIU, M. – REIMER, R. W. – RICHARDS, D. A. – SCOTT, E. M. – SOUTHON, J. R. – STAFF, R. A. – TURNEY, CHR. S. M. – VAN DER PLICHT, J. 2013

IntCal13 and Marine 13 radiocarbon age calibration curves 0 – 50,000 years cal BP. *Radiocarbon* 55 (2013) 1869–1887.

#### REMÉNYI, L. 2009

A nagyrévi kultúra kulturális és kronológiai kérdései – Cultural and chronological questions of Nagyrév culture. *Tisicum* 19 (2009) 229–254.

#### Roman, P. 1977

The Late Copper Age Cotofeni Culture of South-East Europe. BAR Supplementary Series 32, Oxford.

#### Roman, P. 1980

Der "Kostolacer-Kultur"-Begriff nach 35 Jahren. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 55 (1980) 220-227.

#### **RUTTKAY, E. 1995**

Endneolithikum. In: Neugebauer, J.-W. (Hrsg.): *Jungsteinzeit in Osten Österreichs*. Wissenschaftliche Schriftenreihe Niederösterreich 102–105, St. Pölten – Wien 1995, 178–209.

#### **RUTTKAY, E. 2002**

Das endneolitische Hügelgrab von Neusiedl am See, Burgenland. Zweite Vorlage – Teil I – Die Fazies Neusiedl. *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002) 145–170.

## RUTTKAY, E. 2003

Das endneolitische Hügelgrab von Neusiedl am See, Burgenland. Zweite Vorlage – II. Kulturgeschichtliche Aspekte des Zentralgrabes. In: Jerem, E. – Raczky, P. (Hrsg.): Morgenrot der Kulturen. Frühe Etappen der Menschheitsgeschichte in Mittel- und Südosteuropa. Festschrift für Nándor Kalicz zum 75. Geburtstag. Archaeolingua 15, Budapest 2003, 445–470.

#### SCHMIDT, R. R. 1945

Die Burg Vučedol. Zagreb.

#### SIKLÓSI, ZS. 2009

Absolute and internal chronology of the Late Copper Age cemetery at Budakalász. In: BONDÁR – RACZKY (eds) 2009, 457–474.

#### Somogyi, K. 2002

A Somogyvár-Vinkovci-kultúra temetkezései Kaposújlakról – Burials of the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture from Kaposújlak. *Ősrégészeti Levelek/Prehistoric Newsletter* 4 (2002) 45–53.

## STADLER, P. 2002

<sup>14</sup>C-Datierung der beiden Bestattungen aus dem Hügelgrab von Neusiedl am See, Bgld. *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002) 171–173.

STADLER, P. – DRAXLER, S. – FRIESINGER, H. – KUTSCHERA, W. – PRILLER, A. – ROM, W. – STEIRER, P. – WILD, E. M. 2001

Absolute Chronology for Early Civilisations in Austria and Central Europe using <sup>14</sup>C with Accelerator Mass Spectrometry with special Results for the Absolute Chronology of the Baden Culture. In: Diamandi, S. – Roman, P. (Hrsg.): *Symposium Cernavodă III–Boleráz. Ein vorgeschichtliches Phänomen zwischen dem Oberrhein und der unteren Donau*. Studia Danubiana, Series Symposia II, București 2001, 541–563.

#### ŠUTEKOVÁ, J. 2008

Jevišovice Culture in Slovakia. In: Furholt, M. – Szmyt, M. – Zastawny, A. (eds): *The Baden complex and the Outside World*. Studien zum Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 4, Bonn 2008, 131–138.

## ŠUTEKOVÁ, J. 2010

Ein Einblick in die post-Badener Epoche in der Westslowakei. In: Kalábková, P. – Kovár, B. – Pavúk, P. – Šuteková, J. (eds): *PANTA RHEI. Studies in Chronology and Cultural Development of the South-Eastern and Central Europe in Earlier Prehistory Presented to Juraj Pavúk on the Occasion of his 75<sup>th</sup> Birthday.* Studia Archaeologica et Mediaevalia 11, Bratislava 2010, 469–489.

# SZÁNTÓ, A. ZS. – MOLNÁR, M. – S. SVINGOR, É. – MOGYORÓSI, S. M. 2006

Radiocarbon analysis of the Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom's graves. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 48–49.

## G. Szénászky, J. 1987–1988

Korai bronzkori leletek Békés megyéből – Frühbronzezeitliche Funde aus dem Komitat Békés. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 114–115 (1988) 141–155.

#### SZEVERÉNYI, V. 2013

The Earliest Copper Shaft-Hole Axes in the Carpathian Basin: Interaction, Chronology and Transformations of Meaning. In: Anders, A. – Kulcsár, G. with Kalla, G. – Kiss, V. – V. Szabó, G. (eds): *Moments in Time. Papers Presented to Pál Raczky on His 60<sup>th</sup> Birthday.* Ősrégészeti Tanulmányok / Prehistoric Studies I, Budapest 2013, 661–669.

#### TASIĆ, N. 1995

Das Modell befestigter Siedlungen der Vučedol-Kultur im jugoslawischen Donaugebiet (Vučedol, Belegiş). In: Aspes, A. (ed.): *Settlement patterns between the Alps and the Black Sea, 5<sup>th</sup> to 2<sup>nd</sup> millennium B.C.* Memorie del Museo civico di storia naturale di Verona IIa, 4, Verona–Milano 1995, 111–118.

#### TOMPA, F. 1937

25 Jahre Urgeschichtsforschung in Ungarn, 1912–1936. Bericht des Römisch-Germanischen Kommission 24–25 (1934–35 [1937]) 27–127.

#### То́тн, К. 2001

Előzetes jelentés a Csongrád-Sertéstelepen feltárt kora bronzkori településrészletről – Preliminary report on the Bronze Age settlement fragment at Csongrád-Sertéstelep. *Régészeti Kutatások Magyarországon 1998 – Archaeological Investigations in Hungary* 1998, Budapest 2001, 25–36.

#### TREHERNE, P. 1995

The warrior's beauty: the masculine body and self-identity in Bronze-Age Europe. *Journal of European Archaeology* 3 (1995) 105–144.

#### VLADÁR, J. 1966

Zur Problematik der Kosihy-Čaka Gruppe in der Slowakei. *Slovenská Archeológia* 14 (1966) 245–336.

WILD, E. M. – STADLER, P. – BONDÁR, M. – DRAXLER, S. – FRIESINGER, H. – KUTSCHERA, W. – PRILLER, A. – ROM, W. – RUTTKAY, E. – STEIER, P. 2001

New Chronological Frame for the Young Eneolithic Baden Culture in Central Europe (4<sup>th</sup> Millennium BC). *Radiocarbon* 43 (2001) 1057–1064.

#### ZIMMERMANN, T. 2003

Zwischen Karpaten und Kaukasus – Anmerkungen zu einer ungewöhnlichen Kupferklinge aus Wien-Essling. *Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt* 33 (2003) 469–477.

# View from the Northwest: Interactions Network in the Dnieper–Carpathian Area and People of the Globular Amphora Culture in the Third Millenium BC

#### MARZENA SZMYT

#### Abstract

This paper intends to discuss particular questions arising from the prehistory of regions situated between the Dnieper and the Carpathian Mountains, i.e. the western part of the East European forest-steppe and steppe zones. It shall focus on traces of interaction that could be dated to the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> and the first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. At that time, despite many essential differences, the territories in question were covered by a network of multi-directional circulation of people and ideas. The cultural backdrop between the Dnieper and Carpathians has been most often raised in terms of the interaction along an east-west axis, less frequently north-south. In particular, this applies to the issue of steppe peoples and their interaction with the communities from the Balkans, the Carpathian Basin and the Caucasus, which is drawing attention from an increasing number of scholars. In this context archaeological traces pointing to the presence of a tradition related to the Globular Amphora culture between the Dnieper and Carpathians that have been raised, allow for identifying other axes of contacts (NW-SE) that linked north-Central European societies with the communities of the forest-steppe and the steppe. The relatively easy identification of Globular Amphora culture traits allows for detailed studies in a variety of contexts in which such traits appear as well as the tempo and course of changes that took place as a result of this interaction network. This, it is hoped, provides the opportunity to sketch a more informed picture of the complexity of these territories at the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> and first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC against the backdrop of cultural transformation and its effects, which had considerable importance for all of the continent at this period of prehistory.

#### Introduction

This paper discusses particular questions arising from the prehistory of regions situated between the Dnieper and the Carpathian Mountains, i.e. the western part of the East European forest-steppe and steppe zones. It shall focus on traces of interaction that could be dated to the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> and the first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. At that time, despite many essential differences, the territories in question were covered by a network of multi-directional circulation of people and ideas. Unfortunately, at present we are only able to reconstruct some fragments of this network because of the relative lack of interest shown in this issue to date, as far as archaeological research and related studies are concerned. Accordingly, this study shall outline the presence of Central European patterns connected to the Globular Amphora culture (GAC) between the Dnieper and Carpathians. Furthermore, on account of the relative ease with which such patterns can be identified, it is possible to subject these traces to a particular contextual analysis, whose results bear out the complexity of culture in a given region.

# 1. The Dnieper-Carpathian area: a brief history of Globular Amphora culture traits identification

In what follows, a brief historical outline is given of research into the GAC in respect to the above mentioned area. Two issues will be discussed: (1.1) identification of "pure" GAC remains and (1.2) identification in other groups or cultures of such traits, which may have their origin in the GAC milieu.

In both cases the main aspect of enquiry lies in the relevant stages at which the main questions arise in respect to the role of the GAC in this context in a given region.

#### 1.1. Identification of Globular Amphora culture between the Dnieper and Carpathians

The relics of the GAC in the area between the Dnieper River and the Carpathians (*Fig. 1*) have been documented since the 19<sup>th</sup> century (SVESHNIKOV 1983, 6; BURTĂNESCU 2002, 119), but their precise cultural identification was established only at the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. The first outline of the southeastern (to be precise, Podolian) GAC concentration defined at the time as the "Megalithic Grave culture", was published in 1921 (KOZŁOWSKI 1921, 39; see also 1924). Several years later, materials of the eastern part of Volhynia were established as belonging to the "Megalithic culture" (LEVITSKIY 1929). Gradually more information concerning further discoveries appeared (e.g., JANUSZ 1918; GERINOVICH 1926; LEVITSKIY 1930).

The issue of the southeastern branch of the GAC also had a place in broader works (e.g., ANTONIEWICZ 1938; KOZŁOWSKI 1939; KOSTRZEWSKI 1948, 155–158; BRYUSOV 1952, 220–227; GIMBUTAS 1956, 140–152; SULIMIRSKI 1959, 271–282) and on the margins of studies of other cultures (ÄYRÄPÄA 1933, 120–123; PASSEK 1949, 219–223). However, it was only with the monographic publication of Igor Kirillovich Sveshnikov (1957), and later with the studies of Marin Dinu (1959; 1960; 1961a) and Constantin Matasă (1959) concerning GAC funerary complexes in the Moldavian Upland that relatively precise identification was introduced. In particular, Sveshnikov's study, despite its misleading title, together with the later works of Alexander Häusler (1966) and Tadeusz Wiślański (1966, 83–90), finally put an end to the tradition of dual-naming for the materials in question: "Globular Amphora culture" and "Megalithic culture", the latter had been used to emphasise the distinct origins of Volhynian–Podolian finds.

The following years saw publications presenting new source assemblages (e.g., SPINEI – NISTOR 1968; MALEYEV 1971; 1986; BEREZANSKAYA – PYASETSKIY 1979; FOIT 1983; CUCOŞ 1985 and many others). Further works of I. K. Sveshnikov (1971; 1974; and especially 1983) specified – in accordance with the standards then applied – the following questions: distribution area, spatial diversity and the relative chronology of Volhynian–Podolian materials of the GAC. A different perspective was presented by Tadeusz Sulimirski (1968; 1970, 162–170), whereas subsequent monographic publications reiterated older theses (CHERNYSH 1982; SVESHNIKOV 1983; 1990; DUMITROAIA 2000).

Finally, in the 1990s a special project was undertaken into a new formulation of the distribution, chronology, periodisation and cultural significance of the GAC in eastern Europe (SZMYT 1996; 1998; 1999; 2000; 2001; 2002; 2003; 2004; 2009; MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA – SZMYT 2003; KOŚKO – SZMYT 2009; ŁYSENKO – SZMYT 2011). As a result of subsequent research, the absolute chronology of the eastern GAC group and its sub-groups could now be based on radiocarbon dating (KADROW – SZMYT 1996; SZMYT 1998; 1999; 2009; MIHĂILESCU - BÎRLIBA – SZMYT 2003). The data available so far in the professional literature was then subjected to systematic analysis and a large cross-section of find assemblages was investigated (SZMYT 1999; 2009; MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA – SZMYT 2003; KOŚKO – SZMYT 2009; ŁYSENKO – SZMYT 2011).

A review of available finds (SZMYT 1999; 2009) revealed a significantly broader reach of GAC presence in the forest-steppe and a decidedly greater number of forest-steppe and steppe culture groups with the occasional element originating from the GAC than envisaged earlier. The first proposal of dating the Volhynian and Podolian sub-groups was undertaken, based on the changeability of vessel decorative traits (SZMYT 1999, 53–62). The eastern GAC branch was placed in the context of its two remaining territorial groups (SZMYT 1999, 42–85) as well as in relation to other cultural communities in eastern Europe, with a particular emphasis on the issue of inter-cultural contacts (SZMYT 1999, 86–188; cf. also SZMYT 2000; 2002; 2003; 2004; 2009).



Fig. 1. The eastern group of the Globular Amphora culture, distribution of sites – 1: grave of the Globular Amphora culture, 2: possibly grave of the Globular Amphora culture, 3: other sites with pottery of the Globular Amphora culture, 4: flint artefacts (mainly axes or chisels) possibly linked to the Globular Amphora culture, V: Volhynian subgroup, P: Podolian subgroup, S: Siret (Moldavian) subgroup

The results of the above mentioned research programme were presented in several volumes of "Baltic-Pontic Studies" (KOŚKO [ed.] 1996; 1999; SZMYT 1999; KOŚKO – KLOCHKO [eds] 2003; 2009). This data is also taken into account in the more recent professional literature and summaries of research to date (e.g., MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA 2001; 2005; BURTĂNESCU 2002) and in studies outlining cultural transformation in more wide-ranging areas (e.g., WŁODARCZAK 2008; 2010). Gradually, further articles are appearing, presenting newly discovered assemblages, most often that of graves (MALEJEV – MAZURIK – PANISZKO 2004; ROZDOBUDKO – YURCHENKO 2005; POZIKHOVSKIY – SAMOLYUK 2007; ŁYSENKO – SZMYT 2011), including those regions where these have not been recorded before, for example in Transylvania (SZÉKELY 2002).

#### 1.2. Identification of Globular Amphora culture traits in other cultural contexts

The presence of traits originating in the GAC as an issue shall be limited in this place to steppe cultures, to be precise, groups at the end of the steppe Eneolithic (pre-Yamnaya groups) and the Yamnaya culture. The discovery of grave assemblages that fused steppe and GAC traits started at the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (OSSOWSKI 1889, 12–15), though their cultural qualification has created a great deal of discussion. One example of this is the difference of views in respect to the grave from Łosiatyn (ukr. Losyatyn) in the Middle Dnieper area (cf. OSSOWSKI 1889, 15; SULIMIRSKI 1968, 183; HÄUSLER 1976, 92; SVESHNIKOV 1983, 36; 1985, 285; ARTEMENKO 1987, 8; SZMYT 2000, 443–445).

Further studies of assemblages featuring similar traits had to wait for another 90 years. They concerned in the main relics from Moldavia, in the basin of the upper reaches of the Seret and Prut rivers. In this context research was conducted at the following sites: Corpaci, kurgan 2/grave 7 (DERGACHEV 1982, 129; YAROVOY 1984, Fig. 4. 3), Ocniţa, kurgan 3/grave 14 (MANZURA – KLOCHKO – SAVVA 1992, Fig. 12. 6), Efimovka, kurgan 2/grave 14 (DERGACHEV 1986, Fig. 10. 4; ALEKSEEVA 1992, Fig. 19. 4), Novoselitsa, kurgan 19/grave 13 (SUBBOTIN – OSTROVERKHOV – DZIGOVSKIY 1995, Fig. 27. 12), Camenca, kurgan 445/grave 7 (KACHALOVA 1974, Fig. 7. 2) and others (cf. SZMYT 2000).

Further assemblages are gradually being added to the above list (e.g., Mocra; KASHUBA – KURCHATOV – SHCHERBAKOVA 2002, 214–215 and 221). On account of analogies in the construction of stone grave cists, some graves from the steppes between the lower Dniester and the Danube have also been linked to the GAC (e.g., Tatarbunary, grave 2; SUBBOTIN 1988).<sup>1</sup> In recent years the presence of similar assemblages has also been revealed between the Southern Bug and Sinyukha rivers (Kochubeivka; BIDZILYA – BUNYATYAN – NIKOLOVA 2005).

In turn, the issue of GAC traits in the context of materials of the "Pre-Yamnaya" stage representing the end of the steppe Eneolithic was raised by Yuri Ya. Rassamakin (1996), though earlier this was not taken into consideration (e.g., DERGACHEV – MANZURA 1991, 57–58). However, the record that may serve the basis of investigating the above question is still very limited (SZMYT 1999, 148–152) and even broader publications (e.g., a rich set of Eneolithic assemblages published by RASSAMAKIN 2004) have not supplied any new data in this respect. Our knowledge still relies basically on two grave assemblages from the Lower Dnieper region: Boguslav, Dnipropetrovsk region, kurgan group I, kurgan 23/grave 12 (ANDROSOV – MARINA – ZAVGORODNIY 1991; RASSAMAKIN 2004, 150–151) and Baratovka, Mykolaiv region, kurgan 1/grave 6 (RASSAMAKIN 1996, 120–128; 2004, 152–153). Both graves have been included in the so-called fourth burial tradition in the steppes represented by the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group (RASSAMAKIN 2004, 208–209). In both cases only single elements of funerary rituals were recorded, the origins of which may be linked to the GAC. One was a vessel form (a small amphora with two handles) in Boguslav and the collective nature of the grave (six burials in a stone slab cist) in Baratovka. One enormous difficulty in this context is the lack of data pertaining to the absolute chronology of both graves, whose position is based solely on typological analysis.

The question of GAC participation in the history of steppe cultures has become the subject of a broadranging discussion during which completely opposing views were presented. The bone of contention would appear to lie in the proposed concept of the GAC having a strong influence on the Dolmen culture from the northwest Caucasus (NIKOLAEVA – SAFRONOV 1974), which was met with strong criticism (MALEYEV 1980; SVESHNIKOV 1983, 20; MARKOVIN 1990; HÄUSLER 1994, 195; MUNCHAEV 1994, 163).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However in my opinion, some graves have been incorrectly associated with the GAC (e.g., Baldovineshty, Bolgrad, Bursucheni, Gura Galbena, etc.; SUBBOTIN – SHMAGLIY 1970, 122; YAROVOY 1979; CHERNYAKOV – TOSHCHEV 1985); for more details see SZMYT 2000, 449.

An entirely different view in this context was put forward by Marija Gimbutas (1977; 1979; 1980), according to which the origins of the GAC (as one of "kurganized" cultures according to her) were linked to the influences of steppe groups. This view was also met with strong reservations (HÄUSLER 1981, 127–130; 1998) and at present is not being upheld.

GAC contacts with steppe and forest-steppe societies can also be viewed in a broader sense as one of the factors leading to the formation of a specific cultural structure known as the Corded Ware culture (WŁODARCZAK 2008, 561–569; cf. KOŚKO 2000 for an earlier concept regarding the possible role of Pre-Yamnaya impulses for Corded Ware culture origins).

# 2. The Dnieper–Carpathian area against the background of the general distribution of the Globular Amphora culture

Sources of the GAC culture have been identified across a wide area of central and eastern Europe, from the Elbe basin in the west to the upper and middle course of the Dnieper in the east, from the Baltic coast in the north to the Vltava basin, the Upper Vistula catchment, the middle courses of the Dniester and Southern Bug, Seret and Prut basins. Three territorial GAC groups are distinguished in this area: western, central (or Polish) and eastern (WIŚLAŃSKI 1966, 86–91; 1970, 183–221). For the purposes of this article and the discussion the last of these is the most important.

Taxonomic, chorological and chronological data advocate a Central European origin of the GAC peoples that moved to eastern Europe from the Vistula catchment area. It was not the first time that cultural patterns and people reached eastern Europe from the west. The movements of GAC populations to the east copied initially (in Volhynia and Podolia) earlier shifts by Funnel Beaker culture communities and, to a lesser degree, those by Linear Pottery culture populations (KOŚKO – SZMYT 2009). In addition, however, directions of new activity brought about a considerable widening of areas settled by GAC populations (including the Moldavian Upland and lands at the Middle Dnieper), and a broad dispersal of some of its cultural patterns across territories not covered by GAC settlement, partially in forest-steppe and steppe zones (KOŚKO – SZMYT 2009; SZMYT 2009; ŁYSENKO – SZMYT 2011).

The eastern group of the GAC was located south of the Pripets river, between the Western Bug and the Dnieper (Fig. 1). Its southern borderline ran from the Middle Dnieper, through the middle section of the Southern Bug, to the Middle Dniester and upper section of the Western Bug, with an extreme southerly branch in the area between the Seret and the Prut rivers. In other words, the eastern group covered the territory of Volhynia, Podolia, the Moldavian Uplands and – in part – the Middle Dnieper basin. Three main concentrations of sites are located in this huge area and three separate sub-groups of the eastern GAC can be distinguished: Volhynian, Podolian and Moldavian (or Siret). Apart from these there are single, isolated sites known in an area between the Western Bug and the middle course of the Dnieper (SZMYT 1999; 2000; LYSENKO – SZMYT 2011) that reaches even the left bank of this river (Fig. 2): Kiev-Nikolskaya Slobodka III and Bile Ozero 1 (SVESHNIKOV 1983, 36; SZMYT 1999, Cat. IC/26; 2009, 238; ROZDOBUDKO – YURCHENKO 2005). The presence of these scattered sites could indicate a form of control by the GAC over wider areas around territories permanently settled by these peoples. To the west of the area occupied by the Moldavian (Siret) sub-group, only an isolated GAC tomb has been indentified to date in Transylvania: in Sânmartin-Ciuc (Fig. 3; SZÉKELY 2002). This could be the sign of the cross-Carpathian movement of a small group, in the direction of the Carpathian Basin.

At present, with some caution, the eastern frontier of the area settled by GAC populations can be marked along a line drawn from the Teterev River to the upper drainage area of the Southern Bug since it is more or less there that the last concentrations of GAC sites end *(Fig. 1)*. Further east (as far as the middle course of the Dnieper) only dispersed finds are recorded (LYSENKO – SZMYT 2011). Likewise,



Fig. 2. Pottery of the Globular Amphora culture on the Middle Dnieper – 1–4: Bile Ozero 1, Kiev region, 5–6: Kiev-Nikolskaya Slobodka III, Kiev region (after SVESHNIKOV 1983; ROZDOBUDKO – YURCHENKO 2005)

the northern frontier can be delineated along the Uzh River and further west across the middle courses of Pripets tributaries (Sluch, Horyn and Styr rivers). The southern frontier is far more complex because it covers the interfluvial area between the middle sections of the Seret and Prut rivers. In turn in the west, the range of influence can be bounded by the Carpathians and a line drawn across the drainage of the Upper Dniester (between the Gnila Lipa and Zolota Lipa rivers; see MACHNIK 1998) as far as the upper course of the Western Bug river. Thus, the area from the Western Bug to the Southern Bug was settled by GAC communities, whereas lands lying immediately north, east and south of the indicated frontiers may have been occasionally penetrated by GAC societies on their own (the area between the upper part of the Southern Bug and middle section of the Dnieper) or in co-operation (of various kinds) with other cultural groups. The varied forms of co-operation are perceived today as evidence of GAC community participation, from the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> to the middle of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, in both neighbouring and wide-ranging networks of cultural contacts.





Fig. 3. Bone artefacts from graves of the Globular Amphora culture (buckles and a tube) – 1–2: Kanev, Cherkassy region (Ukraine), 3–4: Sânmartin-Ciuc, Harghita county (Romania) (after SVESHNIKOV 1983; SZÉKELY 2002)

The chronology of the eastern group is known at a general level (Fig. 4), although many details are still subject to controversy (KADROW - Szmyt 1996; Szmyt 1999; Mihăilescu-BÎRLIBA - SZMYT 2003). Towards the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> millennium BC (in its final century?), GAC settlers must have arrived in Volhynia, moving from the Lublin Upland (SZMYT 1999; 2001). Their movement towards Podolia and the Moldavian Upland was rather quick as shown by the dates attributed to grave assemblages in Romania (MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA - SZMYT 2003). In the west-east direction GAC populations entered the area lying further east, however, in the drainages of the Horyn, Sluch and Teterev rivers, such interaction could have differed greatly in dynamics, i.e. the eastern movement continued longer than that towards the south (SZMYT 2009, 245–246).<sup>2</sup> The first known grave of the GAC from Transylvania (Sânmartin-Ciuc; Fig. 3. 3–4) could be a sign of a small cross-Carpathian movement in the direction of the Carpathian Basin.



Fig. 4. Radiocarbon dates of the eastern Globular Amphora group – V: Volhynian subgroup,
P: Podolian subgroup; S: Siret (Moldavian) subgroup (after SZMYT 1999; MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA – SZMYT 2003)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In this case – due to insufficient radiocarbon data – arguments for a hypothesis are based on typochronological analyses (SZMYT 2009, 245–246).

In summary, the area between the Dnieper and Carpathians embracing the East European foreststeppe and steppe zone, is considered as the boundary of GAC expansion. In the northern and extreme western part it was settled by the eastern group. In the remaining part of the forest-steppe zone and in the steppe itself there were no GAC settlements, though occasional cultural elements are found, whose origins can be tied to this particular culture.

# 3. The Dnieper-Carpathian area: role of the Globular Amphora culture in the network of cultural contacts

On the basis of the available data from finds it is possible to maintain that the peoples of the eastern GAC sub-groups became an important participant in the network of cultural contacts that formed a link with the communities of the northern Black Sea area. Proof of this are the occasional traits recorded beyond the regions of settlement or those controlled by the GAC. Depending on the context, it is possible do define two structures of such contacts: (3.1) the Pre-Yamnaya culture stage (3.2) and that dominated by the Yamnaya culture.

#### 3.1. The Pre-Yamnaya network of contacts and the Globular Amphora culture

As mentioned above (see part 1.2), the proposal that GAC peoples took part in the wide ranging geographic network of contacts linking the steppe communities relies basically on two grave assemblages from the Lower Dnieper region (Boguslav, Baratovka; *Fig. 5*) that have been included in the so-called fourth burial tradition on the steppes represented by the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group (RASSAMAKIN 2004, 208–209). Depending on the syncretic nature of this phenomenon where the adaptation of Late Tripolye patterns played an important role, mainly from the Kasperivtsy/Gordineşti (Horodiştea) group (RASSAMAKIN 2004, 126, 170), widespread throughout the steppe zone (MOVSHA 1984; 1993; MANZURA 1990), the hypothesis was developed that cultural elements of the GAC reached the steppe as a result of their interaction.

It is most plausible to discuss this against the background of a broader network of contacts between the societies of the forest-steppe and steppe zones. In this context, GAC traits can be viewed as an element in a set of heterogeneous cultural patterns characteristic of small mobile groups of varied ethnocultural identification from the final stage of the steppe Eneolithic. "In general terms, forest-steppe patterns were probably disseminated in the form of a syncretic 'package', dominated by Tripolye culture elements" (SZMYT 1999, 185).

The issue of chronology is still an open one, in both hitherto mentioned graves as in the entire Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group (or the so-called fourth burial tradition, after RASSAMAKIN 2004). In general terms, based on comparative chronology of Tripolye traits, the latter is placed in the period 3500–2900 BC (RASSAMAKIN 2004, 179, 184–185). Taking into account, however, the chronology of GAC beginnings in the forest-steppe (SZMYT 2009, 245), groups from Baratovka and Boguslav ought to be placed at the later part of the above mentioned period.

#### 3.2. The Yamnaya network of contacts and the Globular Amphora culture

There is a great deal more information on the role of GAC communities in the structure of contacts in the forest-steppe and steppe zone between the Dnieper and Carpathians controlled by the peoples of the Yamnaya culture. The latter, west of the Dnieper, appeared most likely *ca.* 3000–2900 BC, which is indicated by the latest radiocarbon dating of kurgans located between the Southern Bug and Sinyukha rivers (Kochubeivka; BIDZILYA – BUNYATYAN – NIKOLOVA 2005, Table 1) and on the Ingul river



Fig. 5. Late Eneolithic (Pre-Yamnaya) graves with traits of the Globular Amphora culture in the steppe region – A: Boguslav, Dnipropetrovsk region, B: Baratovka, Mykolaiv region (after ANDROSOV – MARINA – ZAVGORODNIY 1991; RASSAMAKIN 1996)



Fig. 6. Yamnaya culture graves with GAC vessels – A: Losyatyn, Kiev region (Ukraine), B: Mocra, Rîbniţa region (Moldavia) (after OSSOWSKI 1889; KASHUBA – KURCHATOV – SHCHERBAKOVA 2002)

(Sugokleya; NIKOLOVA – KAISER 2009, 233).<sup>3</sup> In the Dniester–Danube region its traces are dated and verified also to 3000–2900 BC (RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008, 65).<sup>4</sup>

In this context, of prime importance were relations between the respective GAC groups and that of the Yamnaya culture in the forest-steppe zone where geographically their relation could be said to be direct and synchronous. Evidence of such a direct contact are a series of graves typical for the Yamnaya culture but containing "alien" (i.e. atypical) objects: mostly these are clay vessels more or less corresponding to GAC style; much less frequently these are flint axes.

So far, such graves have been recorded in three areas of the forest-steppe (*Fig. 6*), namely between the Prut and Dniester rivers (*Fig. 7. B*; SZMYT 2000, 459–460), on the right-bank section of the Middle Dnieper basin- between the confluences with the Desna and Ros rivers (*Fig. 7. A*; see SZMYT 2000, 457–459) and between the middle part of the Southern Bug and Sinyukha rivers (Kochubeivka kurgan 1, grave 9; BIDZILYA – BUNYATYAN – NIKOLOVA 2005; see SZMYT 2009, 238–240). These are the areas where the two societies must have come into direct contact with one another, taking even the form of migrations of individual people (e.g., in the form of matrimonial exchange).

On the Prut (*Fig. 7. B*) it is even possible to draw a line separating the distribution of synchronous settlements, with the GAC occupying territories west of the river, between the Prut and Seret rivers, while the Yamnaya culture settled its eastern bank, between the Prut and Dniester rivers (SZMYT 2003, 412–415). It would appear that between the Dniester, Prut and Seret we can observe traits of two phenomena: a quite clear cultural border and markers of cross-cultural (maybe cross-border?) contacts. Thus to the north of the Dniester the Podolian subgroup of the GAC can be found, to the west of the Prut the Moldavian subgroup and to the east of the Dniester the Yamnaya culture area. Moreover, between the Dniester and Prut rivers lies a territory occupied by the Yamnaya culture communities that incorporated some patterns (or customs) of the GAC, or even some peoples of the GAC.

Unfortunately, no similar records are in place in respect to mutual contacts in the steppe zone. Artefacts (vessels and axes), representing hypothetical GAC traits, have undergone more transformations here, i.e. they are less clear cut (SZMYT 2000, 460). They were identified in several graves of the Yamnaya culture on the lower Dniester and Dnieper (SZMYT 1999, Fig. 27). In turn, the origins of graves taking the form of stone cists, sporadically encountered in the steppe zone, are not known but do not necessarily have to refer to a single source (SZMYT 2009, 248). Due to the ambiguities in this context, the interpretation of "steppe" locations of hypothetical GAC patterns should refer to the situation in the forest-steppe zone as it must have been there that their reception took place.

It is most likely therefore that in respect to the above mentioned network of cultural contacts one ought to consider the issue of GAC relations with the so-called megalithic groups of the Black Sea area, which has long been a source of controversy<sup>5</sup> (see part 1.2). In the monograph devoted to the history of GAC societies in eastern Europe, I attempted to present the relevant concepts raised by the literature, and concluded that in order to resolve the as yet many unclear aspects in this context, new data is required (SZMYT 1999, 167–174). Since its publication, many articles on this issue have appeared and in part, added to our common store of knowledge in respect to GAC cultural networks.

Of particular note here are studies of materials of the so-called Kemi Oba culture that were published with considerable delay (SHCHEPINSKIY – TOSHCHEV 2001; SHCHEPINSKIY 2002). The study of hitherto proposed concepts relating to the above-mentioned group and the basis of their research has lead to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On account of the controversy surrounding the radiocarbon dating for Yamnaya culture assemblages (KLOCHKO - KOŚKO - SZMYT 2003, 403–404; RASSAMAKIN - NIKOLOVA 2008, 60–67) I use here the newest data that were subjected to the critical analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One ought to consider, however, older (up to 3300–3100 BC) dates from steppe graves beyond the Carpathians (Bulgaria, Hungary, Serbia). See e.g., DANI – M. NEPPER 2006, 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This also applies to the question of the dolmens from the Caucasus (SZMYT 1999, 167–174).



the proposition of incorporating the Kemi Oba to the Yamnaya culture (TOSHCHEV 2007, 59–93). New empirical data are still lacking, however, that would allow for a precise contextualisation of this Crimean cultural phenomenon in the prehistoric timeline. This observation also applies to stone cist graves from other Black Sea areas that are associated with the Yamnaya culture (e.g., SHAPOSHNIKOVA – FOMENKO – DOVZHENKO 1977).

## 4. Conclusion

The cultural backdrop between the Dnieper and Carpathians has been most often raised in terms of the interaction along an E–W axis, less frequently N–S. In particular, this applies to the issue of steppe peoples and their interaction with the communities from the Balkans, the Carpathian Basin and the Caucasus, which is drawing attention from an increasing number of scholars. In this context archaeological traces pointing to the presence of a tradition related to the GAC between the Dnieper and Carpathians that have been raised, allow for identifying other axes of contacts (NW–SE) that linked north-Central European societies with the communities of the forest-steppe and the steppe.

Moreover, the relatively easy identification of GAC traits allows for detailed studies in a variety of contexts in which such traits appear as well as, potentially, the dynamic and course of changes that took place as a result of this network of interaction. This, it is hoped, provides the opportunity for a more informed picture of the complexities taking place on these territories at the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> and first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC against the backdrop of cultural transformation and its effects, which had considerable importance for all of the continent at this period of prehistory (cf. HARRISON – HEYD 2007).

#### References

ALEKSEEVA, I. L. 1992

Kurgany epokhi paleometalla v severo-zapadnom Prichernomorye. Kiev.

ANDROSOV, A. V. – MARINA, Z. P. – ZAVGORODNIY, D. I. 1991

Eneoliticheskiy kurgan u sela Boguslav v Prisamare. In: Kovaleva, I. F. (red.): *Problemy arkheologii Podneprovya*. Dnepropetrovsk 1991, 4–19.

ANTONIEWICZ, W. 1938

Z dziedziny archeologii ziem Polski. Światowit 17 (1938) 341-422.

ARTEMENKO, I. I. 1987

Svyazi plemen srednedneprovskoy kultury. In: Artemenko, I. I. (red.): *Mezhplemennye svyazi epokhi bronzy na territorii Ukrainy*. Kiev 1987, 6–16.

#### Äyräpää, A. 1933

Über die Streitaxtkulturen in Russland. Eurasia Septentrionalis Antiqua 8, Helsinki.

#### BEREZANSKAYA, S. – PYASETSKIY, V. 1979

Pershe poselennya kultury kulyastykh amfor na Ukraini. Arkheologiya 30 (1979) 75-82.

#### BIDZILYA, V. I. – BUNYATYAN, K. P. – NIKOLOVA, A. V. 2005

Kurgan dobi bronzi bila s. Kochubeivka na Umanshchini. In: *Na poshanu Sofii Stanislavivni Berezanskoy (zbirka naukovikh prac)*. Kyiv 2005, 118–131.

#### BRYUSOV, A. 1952

Ocherki po istorii plemen evropeyskoy chasti SSSR v neoliticheskuyu epokhu. Moskva.

## BURTĂNESCU, F. 2002

Globular Amphora culture in Moldavia between the Carpathians and Prut. Current state of evidence. *Thraco-Dacica* 23/1–2 (2002) 119–152.

## CHERNYAKOV, I. T. – TOSHCHEV, G. N. 1985

Kulturno-khronologicheskye osobennosti kurgannykh pogrebeniy epokhi bronzy nizhnego Dunaya. In: *Novye materialy po arkheologii Severo-Zapadnogo Prichernomorya*. Kiev 1985, 5–31.

## CHERNYSH, E. K. 1982

Pamyatniki sinkhronnykh Tripolyu kultur Yugo-Zapada SSSR. In: *Eneolit SSSR*. Moskva 1982, 253–263.

## CUCOŞ, S. 1985

Cultura amforelor sferice din depresiunea subcarpatica a Moldavei. *Memoria Antiquitatis* 9–11 (1985) 141–161.

## DANI, J. – M. NEPPER, I. 2006

Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom. Tumulus grave from the beginning of the EBA in eastern Hungary. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 29–63.

## DERGACHEV, V. A. 1982

Materialy raskopok arkheologicheskoy ekspeditsii na Srednem Prute (1975–1976 gg.). Kishinev.

## DERGACHEV, V. A. 1986

Moldavia i sosednye territorrii v epokhu bronzy. Kishinev.

## Dergachev, V. A. – Manzura, I. V. 1991

Evropeyskiy komponent maykopskoy kultury v kontekste vzaimosvyazey tsentralno- i vostochnoevropeyskikh obshchnostey. In: *Maykopskiy fenomen v drevney istorii Kavkaza i Vostochnoy Evropy (tezisy dokladov)*. Leningrad 1991, 55–58.

## DINU, M. 1959

Sondajul arheologic de la Dolheștii Mari. Materiale și Cercetări Arheologice 6 (1960) 213-220.

## DINU, M. 1960

K voprosu o kulture sharovidnykh amfor na territorii Moldovii. Dacia 6 (1960) 89-106.

## DINU, M. 1961a

Contribuții la problema culturii amforelor sferice pe teritoriul Moldovei. *Arheologia Moldovei* 1 (1961) 43–64.

## DINU, M. 1961b

Şantierul Dolheştii Mari (r. Fălticeni, reg. Suceava). Materiale și Cercetări Arheologice 7 (1961) 121–129.

## DUMITROAIA, G. 2000

*Comunităti preistorice din nord-estul României. De la cultura Cucuteni pânã în bronzul mijlociu.* Piatra-Neamț.

## Foit, G. 1983

Doua morminte ale culturii amferelor sferice descoperite la Suceava. *Studii și materiale. Istorie* 3 (1983) 217–226.

## GERINOVICH, V. O. 1926

Stoyanka neolitichnoy ludini bilya s. Velikoy Mukshi Kataygorodskogo rayona Kamyanets-Podilskoy okrugi. In: *Zapiski Kamyanets-Podilskogo Institutu Narodnoy Osviti*. Kamyanets Podilskiy.

## GIMBUTAS, M. 1956

The Prehistory of Eastern Europe, vol. 1. Cambridge.

## GIMBUTAS, M. 1977

The First Wave of Eurasian Steppe Pastoralists into Copper Age Europe. *The Journal of Indo-European Studies* 5/4 (1977) 277–338.

## GIMBUTAS, M. 1979

The Three Waves of Kurgan People into Old Europe, 4500–2500 B.C. Archives Suisse d'anthropologie genérale 43/2 (1979) 113–137.

## GIMBUTAS, M. 1980

The Kurgan Wave 2. The Journal of Indo-European Studies 8/3-4 (1980) 273-316.

## HARRISON, R. – HEYD, V. 2007

The transformation of Europe in the Third Millennium BC: the example of 'Le Petit-Chasseur I + III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 82 (2007) 129–214.

## HÄUSLER, A. 1966

Die Gräber der Kugelamphorenkultur in Wolhynien und Podolien und die Frage ihres Ursprungs. *Jahresschrift für mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 50 (1966) 115–140.

## HÄUSLER, A. 1976

Die Gräber der älteren Ockergrabkultur zwischen Dneper und Karpaten. Berlin.

## HÄUSLER, A. 1981

Zu den Beziehungen zwischen dem nordpontischen Gebiet, Südost- und Mitteleuropa im Neolithikum und in der frühen Bronzezeit und ihre Bedeutung für das indoeuropäische Problem. *Przegląd Archeologiczny* 29 (1981) 101–149.

## HÄUSLER, A. 1994

Die Majkop-Kultur und Mitteleuropa. Zeitschrift für Archäologie 28 (1994) 191-246.

## HÄUSLER, A. 1998

Struktur und Evolution der Bestattungssitten zwischen Wolga und Karpatenbecken vom Äneolithikum bis zur frühen Bronzezeit. Ein diachroner Vergleich. In: Hänsel, B. – Machnik, J. (Hrsg.): Das Karpatenbecken und die Osteuropäische Steppe. Nomadenbewegungen und Kulturaustausch in den vorchristlichen Metallzeiten. Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 12, München–Rahden/Westf. 1998, 135–161.

## JANUSZ, B. 1918

Zabytki prehistoryczne Galicji wschodniej. Lwów.

## KACHALOVA, N. K. 1974

*Ermitazhnaya kolekcya N. E. Brandenburga. Epokha bronzy.* Svod arkheologicheskikh istochnikov 4–12. Leningrad.

## KADROW, S. – SZMYT, M. 1996

Absolute Chronology of the Eastern Group of Globular Amphora Culture. In: Коśко (ed.) 1996 103–111.

KASHUBA, M. T. – KURCHATOV, S. I. – SHCHERBAKOVA, T. A. 2002

Kochevniki na zapadnoy granitse stepi (po materialam kurganov u s. Mokra). *Stratum plus* 4 (2001–2002 [2002]) 180–252.

## КLOCHKO, V. I. – Коśко, А. – Szmyt, M. 2003

A Comparative Chronology of the Prehistory of the Area between the Vistula and Dnieper: 4000–1000 BC. In: Kośko, A. (ed.): *The Foundations of Radiocarbon Chronology of Cultures between the Vistula and Dnieper*. Baltic-Pontic Studies 12 (2003) 396–414.

## KOSTRZEWSKI, J. 1948

Od mezolitu do wędrówek ludów. In: Prehistoria ziem polskich. Kraków 1948, 118-359.

## Коśко, А. (ed.) 1996

Eastern Exodus of the Globular Amphora People: 2950–2350 BC. Baltic-Pontic Studies 4, Poznań.

## Коśко, А. (ed.) 1999

The Foundations of Radiocarbon Chronology of Cultures between the Vistula and Dnieper: 3150–1850 BC. Baltic-Pontic Studies 7, Poznań.

## Коśко, А. 2000

From research into the issue of the developmental dependencies of the Corded Ware Culture and Yamnaya Culture. In: Kadrow, S. (ed.): *A Turning of Ages/Im Wandel der Zeiten. Jubilee Book Dedicated to Professor Jan Machnik on His 70<sup>th</sup> Anniversary.* Kraków 2000, 337–346.

## KOŚKO, A. – KLOCHKO, V. I. (eds) 2003

The Foundations of Radiocarbon Chronology of Cultures between the Vistula and Dnieper: 4000–1000 BC. Baltic-Pontic Studies 12, Poznań.

## Коśко, А. – КLOCHKO, V. I. (eds) 2009

*Routes between the seas: Baltic-Bug-Boh-Pont from the* 3<sup>rd</sup> *to the middle of the* 1<sup>st</sup> *millennium BC.* Baltic-Pontic Studies 14, Poznań.

## Kośko, A. – Szmyt, M. 2009

Central European Lowland Societies and the Pontic Area in the 4<sup>th</sup>-4<sup>th</sup>/3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. In: KOŚKO – KLOCHKO (eds) 2009, 189–211.

## KOZŁOWSKI, L. 1921

*Groby megalityczne na wschód od Odry.* Prace i Materiały Antropologiczno-Archeologiczne i Etnograficzne 2, Kraków.

## KOZŁOWSKI, L. 1924

Młodsza epoka kamienna w Polsce. Lwów.

## KOZŁOWSKI, L. 1939

Zarys pradziejów Polski południowo-wschodniej. Lwów.

## LEVITSKIY, I. F. 1929

Pamyatki megalitichnoy kultury na Volini. Antropologiya 2 (1929) 192-222.

## LEVITSKIY, I. F. 1930

Domovina kintsa neolitichnoy dobi na poberezhu serednoy techi r. Sluchi (s. Kolodyazhnoye na Volini). *Zapiski vseukrainskogo arkheologichnogo komitetu* 1 (1930) 157–178.

## Łysenko, S. D. – Szmyt, M. 2011

Środkowe Naddnieprze jako graniczny areał osadnictwa ludności kultury amfor kulistych. In: Ignaczak, M. – Kośko, A. – Szmyt, M. (eds): *Między Bałtykiem a Morzem Czarnym: szlaki Międzymorza w IV–I tys. przed Chr.* Archaeologia Bimaris-Dyskusje 4, Poznań 2011, 239–246.

## MACHNIK, J. 1998

Stan i perspektywy badań kultury ceramiki sznurowej w międzyrzeczu górnej Wisły, Bugu i Dniestru. *Sprawozdania Archeologiczne* 50 (1998) 13–29.

## MALEJEV, J. – MAZURIK, J. – PANISZKO, S. 2004

Grób ludności kultury amfor kulistych z III tysiąclecia p.n.e. z miejscowości Ozdiv w okolicy Łucka na Ukrainie. *Sprawy Wschodnie* 1/5 (2004) 97–101.

# MALEYEV, Y. M. 1971

Megalitichni grobnitsy na Ternopilshchini. Arkheologiya 2 (1971) 53-67.

## MALEYEV, Y. M. 1980

Vostochnye rubiezhy rasprostraneniya kultury sharovidnykh amfor. In: *Problemy eneolita stepnoy i lesostepnoy polosy Vostochnoy Evropy. Tezisy dokladov*. Orenburg 1980, 30–31.

# MALEYEV, Y. M. 1986

Pokhovannya kultury kulastykh amfor na Khmielnicchini. *Visnik Kiivskogo Universitetu. Istorichni Nauki* 28 (1986) 98–103.

## MANZURA, I. V. 1990

O rasprostranenii gordineshtskikh kulturnykh elementov v Severnom Prichernomore. In: *Arkheologicheske issledovaniya molodykh uchenykh Moldavii*. Kishinev 1990, 25–39.

## MANZURA, I. V. – KLOCHKO, E. O. – SAVVA, E. N. 1992 Kamenskye kurgany. Kishinev.

## MARKOVIN, V. I. 1990

Spornye voprosy v etnogeneticheskom izuchenii drevnostey severnogo Kavkaza (maikopskaya kultura). *Sovetskaya Arkheologiya* 4 (1990) 106–122.

## MATASĂ, C. 1959

Descoperiri arheologice în raionul Piatra Neamţ. Materiale și cercetări arheologice 5 (1959) 723-734.

## MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA, V. 2001

Mormântul unei tinere căpetenii de la începutul Epocii Bronzului (Mastacăn, jud. Neamţ-,,Cultura Amforelor Sferice"). Memoria Antiquitatis. *Acta Musei Petrodavensis* 22 (2001) 157–217.

## MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA, V. 2005

Die Grabstätte eines jungen Häuptlings vom Beginn der Bronzezeit (Mastacan, Kreis Neamt, "Kugelamphorenkultur"). *Arheologia Moldovei* 28 (2005) 75–124.

## MIHĂILESCU-BÎRLIBA, V. – SZMYT, M. 2003

Radiocarbon Chronology of the Moldavian (Siret) Subgroup of the Globular Amphora Culture. In: KOŚKO – KLOCHKO (eds) 2003, 82–123.

## MOVSHA, T. G. 1984

Khronologiya Tripolya-Cucuteni i stepnye kultury rannego metalla v eyo sisteme. In: *Problemy arkheologii Srednego Podneprovya III–I tys. do n.e.* Dnepropetrovsk 1984, 60–83.

# Movsha, T. G. 1993

Vzaemovidnosyny stepovykh i zemlerobskikh kultur v epokhu eneolita-rannogo bronzovogo viku. *Arkheologiya* 3 (1993) 35–51.

## MUNCHAEV, R. M. 1994

Maikopskaya kultura. In: Epokha bronzy Severnogo Kavkaza. Moskva 1994, 158–225.

```
NIKOLAEVA, N. – SAFRONOV, V. 1974
```

Proiskhozhdenye dolmennoy kultury Severo-Zapadnogo Kavkaza. In: *Voprosy okhrany, klassifikatsii i ispolzovaniya arkheologicheskich pamyatnikov*. Moskva 1974, 174–198.

NIKOLOVA, A. V. – KAISER, E. 2009

Die absolute Chronologie der Jamnaja-Kultur im nördlichen Schwarzmeergebiet auf der Grundlage erster dendrochronologischer Daten. *Eurasia Antiqua* 15 (2009) 209–240.

OSSOWSKI, G. 1889

Materiały do paleoetnologii kurhanów ukraińskich. *Zbiór wiadomości do antropologii krajowej* 13 (1889) 1–19.

PASSEK, T. S. 1949

Periodizatsiya tripolskikh poseleniy. Materialy i issledovaniya po arkheologii 10, Moskva.

Pozikhovskiy, O. – Samolyuk, V. 2007

Doslidzhennya gruntovogo mogilnika dobi eneolitu–rannoy bronzy v m. Ostrog. In: *Arkheologichni doslidzhennya v Ukraini 2005–2007 rr*. Kiev–Zaporizhya 2007, 310–313.

# RASSAMAKIN, Y. Y. 1996

On Early Elements of the Globular Amphora Culture and Other European Cultures in the Late Eneolithic of the Northern Black Sea region. In: Kośko (ed.) 1996, 112–132.

# RASSAMAKIN, J. J. 2004

Die nordpontische Steppe in der Kupferzeit. Gräber aus der Mitte des 5. Jts. bis Ende des 4. Jts. v. Chr. Archäologie in Eurasien 17, Mainz am Rhein.

RASSAMAKIN, Y. Ya. – NIKOLOVA, A. 2008

Carpathian Imports and Imitations in Context of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea Area. In: Biehl, P. F. – Rassamakin, Y. Ya. (eds): *Import and Imitations in Archaeology*. Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraumes 11, Langenweißbach 2008, 51–87.

Rozdobudko, M. V. – Yurchenko, O. V. 2005

Znakhidki kulyastykh amfor na livoberezhzhi Serednogo Dnipra. In: *Arkheologichni doslidzhennya na Ukraini 2003–2004 rr*. Zaporizhzhja 2005, 276–279.

- SHAPOSHNIKOVA, O. G. FOMENKO, V. N.–DOVZHENKO, N. D. 1986 Yamnaya kulturno-istoricheskaya oblast. Svod arkheologicheskikh istochnikov 1–3, Kiev.
- SHCHEPINSKIY, A. A. 2002

Pamyatniki kemi-obinskoy kultury. Svod arkheologicheskikh istochnikov. Zaporozhe.

SHCHEPINSKIY, A. A. – TOSHCHEV, G. N. 2001

Kurgan «Kemi-Oba». Starozhitnosti stepnogo Prichornomorya i Krymu 9 (2001) 50-86.

SPINEI, V. – NISTOR, M. 1968

Un mormînt din lespezi de piatră în nordul Moldovei. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 19/4 (1968) 621–628.

# SUBBOTIN, L. V. 1988

Megaliticheskoe pogrebenye u s. Tatarbunary. In: *Novye pamyatniki yamnoy kultury stepnoy zony Ukrainy*. Kiev 1988,124–130.

SUBBOTIN, L. V. – OSTROVEKHOV, A. S. – DZIGOVSKIY, A. N. 1995 Arkheologicheskye drevnosti Budzhaka. Odessa.
### SUBBOTIN, L. V. – SHMAGLIY, N. M. 1970

Bolgradskiy kulturniy mogilnik. *Materialy po arkheologii severnogo Prichernomorya* 6 (1970) 116–129.

Sulimirski, T. 1959

Polska przedhistoryczna, vol. 2. Londyn.

#### SULIMIRSKI, T. 1968

Corded Ware and Globular Amphorae North-East of the Carpathians. London.

# Sulimirski, T. 1970

Prehistoric Russia. London.

SVESHNIKOV, I. K. 1957

Megalitychni pokhovannya na Zakhidnomu Podilli. Lviv.

SVESHNIKOV, I. K. 1971

Kultura kulyastykh amfor. Arkheologiya Ukrainskoy RSR 1 (1971) 240–250.

#### SVESHNIKOV, I. K. 1974

Istoriya naselennya Peredkarpattya, Podilla i Volini v kintsi III-na pochatku II tis.do n.e. Kyiv.

#### SVESHNIKOV, I. K. 1983

Kultura sharovidnykh amfor. Svod arkheologicheskikh istochnikov 1-27, Moskva.

#### SVESHNIKOV, I. K. 1990

Kultura sharovidnykh amfor. In: *Arkheologiya Prikarpatya, Volini i Zakarpatya (eneolit, bronza i ranneye zhelezo)*. Kiev 1990, 43–49.

#### SZÉKELY, Z. 2002

A gömbamforás műveltség emléke Délkelet-Erdélyben. Ősrégészeti Levelek/Prehistoric Newsletter 4 (2002) 40–44.

### SZMYT, M. 1996

Społeczności kultury amfor kulistych na Kujawach. Poznań.

#### SZMYT, M. 1998

Die Kugelamphorenkultur und die Gemeinschaften der Steppenwald- und Steppenzone Osteuropas. Der Forschungsstand und die Forschungsperspektiven im Grundriß. In: Hänsel, B. – Machnik, J. (Hrsg.): *Das Karpatenbecken und die osteuropäische Steppe*. Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 12, München–Rahden/Westfalen 1998, 221–232.

#### SZMYT, M. 1999

Between West and East. People of the Globular Amphora Culture in Eastern Europe. Baltic-Pontic Studies 8, Poznań.

## SZMYT, M. 2000

In the Far Reaches of Two Worlds. On the study of contacts between the societies of the Globular Amphora and Yamnaya cultures. In: Kadrow, S. (ed.): *A Turning of Ages/Im Wandel der Zeiten*. *Jubilee book dedicated to Professor Jan Machnik on his 70<sup>th</sup> Anniversary*. Kraków 2000, 443–466.

#### SZMYT, M. 2001

The Absolute (Radiocarbon) Chronology of the Central and Eastern Groups of the Globular Amphora Culture. In: Czebreszuk, J. – Müller J. (Hrsg./eds): *Die absolute Chronologie in Mitteleuropa 3000–2000 v. Chr./The Absolute Chronology of Central Europe 3000–2000 BC*. Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa/Studia nad Pradziejami Europy Środkowej 1, Poznań–Bamberg–Rahden/Westfalen 2001, 25–80.

## SZMYT, M. 2002

Ze studiów nad kontaktami społeczeństw środkowoeuropejskich i stepowych. Relacje ludności kultury amfor kulistych i kultury jamowej. In: *Drevneyshe obshchnosti zemledelcev i skotovodov Severnogo Prichernomorya (IV tys. do n.e.–IV v. n.e.).* Tiraspol 2002, 111–114.

# SZMYT, M. 2003

Ein Blick auf die polykulturellen Peripherien. Bemerkungen zur Verbreitung der Kugelamphorenkultur. *Germania* 81 (2003) 399–440.

# SZMYT, M. 2004

Iz issledovaniy kontaktov mezhdu kulturami sharovidnykh amfor i pozdnego Tripolya. *Stratum plus* 2 (2001–2002 [2004]) 246–259.

## SZMYT, M. 2009

Eastern Destinations of Central European Cultural Patterns. The case of Globular Amphora Culture (end of the 4<sup>th</sup>–middle of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC). In: KOŚKO – KLOCHKO (eds) 2009, 231–250.

## TOSHCHEV, G. N. 2007

Krym v epokhu bronzy. Zaporozhe.

# WIŚLAŃSKI, T. 1966

Kultura amfor kulistych w Polsce północno-zachodniej. Wrocław-Warszawa-Kraków.

# WIŚLAŃSKI, T. 1970

The Globular Amphora Culture. In: Wiślański, T. (ed.): *The Neolithic in Poland*. Wrocław-Warszawa-Kraków 1970, 178-231.

## WŁODARCZAK, P. 2008

Kultura złocka i problem genezy kultury ceramiki sznurowej w Małopolsce. In: Bednarczyk, J. – Czebreszuk, J. – Makarowicz, P. – Szmyt, M. (eds): *Na pograniczu światów. Studia z pradziejów międzymorza bałtycko-pontyjskiego ofiarowane Profesorowi Aleksandrowi Kośko w 60. rocznicę urodzin.* Poznań 2008, 555–576.

## Włodarczak, P. 2010

Uwagi o kontaktach transkarpackich w perspektywie genezy kultury ceramiki sznurowej. In: Gancarski, J. (ed.): *Transkarpackie kontakty kulturowe w epoce kamienia, brązu i wczesnej epoce żelaza*. Krosno 2010, 205–224.

# YAROVOY, E. V. 1979

Nakhodki sharovidnykh amfor v Moldavii. In: *Problemy epokhi bronzy yuga vostochnoy Evropy*. Donetsk 1979, 35.

## YAROVOY, E. V. 1984

Pogrebalniy obriad nekotorykh skotovodcheskikh plemen srednego Pruta. In: *Kurgany v zonakh novostroyek Moldavii*. Kishinev 1984, 37–75.

# From the Late Eneolithic Period to the Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea Steppe: What is the Pit Grave Culture (Late Fourth to Mid-Third Millennium BC)?

#### YURI RASSAMAKIN

#### Abstract

This article includes the conceptual view of the author on the problems of transition between the Late Eneolithic and the Early Bronze Age, without a detailed comparative analysis of the archaeological sources. The stratigraphy of the kurgans and changes in the material culture between the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea steppe demonstrate that the transition process was rather "leaping" and not of evolutionary character. Absolute dates for the transition period (so called "leap") between the Late Eneolithic and the beginning of the Early Bronze Age (Pit Grave culture) are inconsistent in comparison with the archaeological data.

The regional and general periodization of the Pit Grave culture was developed on the basis of the stratigraphical positions of graves in kurgans. But the author does not see the evidence for the development of a reliable periodization of the Pit Grave culture and, accordingly, a clear chronological division of the graves of both traditions into separated stages during the Early Bronze Age. In other words, unlike the Eneolithic, the Pit Grave cultural-historical region of the Early Bronze Age appears as a cultural horizon that organically united the graves of the two burial traditions. Herewith, during the existence of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region that lasted approximately 500 years a certain evolution of burial rite and material assemblage took place. This evolution ended in the Black Sea steppe with the appearance of the graves of the so-called Early Catacomb culture.

### Introduction

During the last years, the transition period from the Eneolithic to the Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea Steppe area has been a topic of active debates. The transformation of the Late Eneolithic cultural system and the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region, defined by Nikolai Yakovlevich Merpert (MERPERT 1968, 6–8) as a new system of the Early Bronze Age (3000/2900–2500/2400 BC) is not clear yet. According to N. Ya. Merpert, the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region was influenced by three main factors (MERPERT 1974, 128–133):

- 1. territory: the steppe zone appeared as a complex factor during the development of mobile cattlebreeding;
- 2. economic factor: new forms of mobile cattle-breeding formed the basis for the economic system;
- 3. social factor: the development of patriarchal relationships, symbolized by the kurgan burial rite took the major place in the new environment.

N. Ya. Merpert defined nine different variants of the Pit Grave region between the Urals and the Danube river (MERPERT 1968, 14–15; 1974, 14–15) (*Figs 1–2*). After intensive excavations of kurgans in the different steppe and forest steppe areas during the last three decades of the twentieth century, this picture seems more complicated and includes an interpretation of cultural-historical and economic system, and structures of old and new local variants or groups. In this case, the main problem is the nature of the Pit Grave culture in the Pit Grave cultural-historical region itself.



Fig. 1. Map of nine local variants of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region (after MERPERT 1974)



Fig. 2. Nine local variants of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region (after MERPERT 1968, 14–39)

In the last decades, Ukrainian archaeologists have suggested different approaches to the solution of this issue. Some scholars do not accept the existence of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region at all. For example, Svitlana Volodimirivna Ivanova believes that only ideological factors influenced the formation of similar rituals practiced by territorially different groups of the Early Bronze Age (IVANOVA 2004; 2005; 2006a; 2006b). However, she does not explain clearly enough which factors underlay the formation of this common ideology in different regions of the vast steppe area. Dmitro Leonidovich Teslenko supports the idea of the existence of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region, although the essence of this definition has changed significantly recently (TESLENKO 2006, 30).<sup>1</sup>

In his works, the author already suggested to view the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region as a "leap" in cultural development that occurred at the time of transition from the Eneolithic period to the Early Bronze Age. This change was stimulated by a number of factors, for example by ecological changes and degradation of the Eneolithic farming cultures. It resulted in the development of more mobile forms of cattle-breeding, as compared with the previous Eneolithic period, and in the change of the material complexes of archaeological cultures (RASSAMAKIN 1995). The author also analyzed this issue emphasizing economic questions (RASSAMAKIN 1999, 125–127, 129–132, 151–154; 2006a, 448–458).

In general, it is possible to assume the following changes happened as a result such a transformation (the economic aspect):

- the Late and Final Eneolithic: various forms of a complex or mixed economy between a settled and semi-settled life; development of the initial forms of local pastoral systems. Crisis and disintegration of agricultural societies (Cucuteni-Trypillia and Maikop-Novosvobodnaia) are among the main aspects of the formation of more unified pastoral economy in the Early Bronze Age;
- 2. the Pit Grave Culture (Early Bronze Age): pastoral economy on the basis of cattle- and sheep-breeding; development of systems of short- and long-distance movement based upon seasonal changes within different local ecological zones, and connections between different local societies. Wheeled transport became very significant in the structure of society and in funeral rite. But can we define different steppe societies of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region as semi-nomads or even as earliest nomads? This problem remains rather disputable.

From the archaeological point of view, the author regards the transition from the Eneolithic to the Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea steppe zone as a system transformation of local cultures or groups of the Late Eneolithic period to the formation of more or less unified and steady phenomenon termed the "Pit Grave cultural-historical region" (*Fig. 3*).

Can we trace this transformation in the archaeological evidence? In this context, the following basic changes can be considered as the results of this transformation process:

- transition from the Eneolithic mounds with complex constructions (combinations of black earth and yellow clay with different additional elements, such as cairns, stone circles, ditches, and separate sacred places) to the simple mounds of the Pit Grave culture constructed of black earth blocks;
- 2. existence of the highly differentiated burial groups in the Eneolithic, and much more unified funeral rite in the Pit Grave culture;
- continuation of the main, long-term steppe tradition in the making of round-bottom pottery, but:

   a) the use of more "primitive" technology;
   b) the appearance of new additional details, such as different handles on vessels;
   c) the existence of a new spectrum of pottery, atypical for the Eneolithic period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> D. L. Teslenko provides a detailed historiographical overview of the present meaning of the term "Pit Grave cultural-historical region" (TESLENKO 2006).



Fig. 3. Connections between the Late Eneolithic local groups (after RASSAMAKIN 1999, Fig. 3. 39)

### **Burial rite – The Eneolithic period**

Four main burial rite traditions existed in the steppe Black Sea region during the Eneolithic period: 1. in extended supine position (*Figs 4–5*); 2. supine, with flexed legs (*Figs 6–7*); 3. flexed position on the side, with one arm bent and the other extended or with both arms extended to the knees (*Figs 8–9*); 4. side flexed position with bent arms and hands in front of the face (*Fig. 10*). These traditions were defined on the basis of the analysis of four groups of the Eneolithic burials and grave goods (RASSAMAKIN 1999, 73, Fig. 3. 4–5; 2004, Teil I, 12–15, 141–142, Abb. 111). Each of these four groups had its own specific spatial distribution and chronological development (RASSAMAKIN 2004, 16–141).

The first burial tradition had a clearly marked center of concentration during the mid- and late Eneolithic (RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, 16–17, 143–151, Abb. 4). But this tradition disappears in the Early Bronze Age. The fourth burial tradition appears only in the late Eneolithic, but also vanishes in the Early Bronze Age.

The earliest and long-lived tradition is the second one *(Fig. 11)*. We can trace its development through the Early, Middle, and Late Eneolithic. Gradual evolution of burial practices falls in this period. Moreover, it is possible to detect local characteristics in the development of the tradition and the change of the material assemblage in different regions, particularly in the Dnieper and the Lower Don regions (RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, 151–168).

The author defined two vast distributional areas in the Black Sea steppe region, conventionally termed western and eastern as seen from the Dnieper river, where burials of the second traditions existed during the Middle and Late Eneolithic (RASSAMAKIN – EVDOKIMOV 2001, 84–85, Fig. 8) (*Figs 12–13*).

The graves of the western area were combined into the so-called "post-Stog" group (RASSAMAKIN

- EVDOKIMOV 2001, 84–85; RASSAMAKIN 2004, 207–208). This term underlines the succession of burial rite with the earlier period of existence of the Sredny Stog II type sites.

Burials with pottery of the Repin type has already been known in the eastern area of distribution. Some scholars treated them as an independent Eneolithic Repin culture, whereas others considered them as an early phase of the Pit Grave culture (SINYUK 1981, 15; MARINA 1992; 2001; TRIFONOV 1996; RASSAMAKIN 1999, 125; BARYNKIN 2000; NIKOLOVA 2002).<sup>2</sup>

Although the positions of skeletons are identical in both groups, burials with Repin type pottery are characterized by rectangular pits, whereas in graves of the "post-Stog" group oval pits prevail (*Fig. 13*). The pottery assemblage in the burials of the "post-Stog" group is more manifold than the uniform ceramics of the Repin type in the eastern area of distribution (*Fig. 13*).

On one hand, the "local" pottery is specific for the "post-Stog" group, and therefore is compared by some scholars regarding its

Fig. 4. Middle/Late Eneolithic graves of the first burial tradition covered by mound – Dnieper right bank, Sadovoe village, mound 101, gr. 12 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)





Fig. 5. Middle/Late Eneolithic graves of the first burial tradition covered by mound – Molochnaia river, Zhovtneve village, mound 11, gr. 25 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Alla V. Nikolova provided overview of the latest detailed historiographical the term "Repin Culture" (NIKOLOVA 2002).



Fig. 6. Early/Middle Eneolithic grave of the second burial tradition covered by mound – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 3, gr. 15 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 7. Late Eneolithic grave of the second burial tradition accompanied by a painted vessel of the Tripolye culture – Ingulets river, former Dubovoe village, mound "Dubova Mogyla", gr. 10 (after KOVALEVA et al. 2003, 87, Fig. 30) (photo from the field report, Archive of Institute of Archaeology of NASU)



Fig. 8. Middle Eneolithic grave of the third burial tradition covered by mound – Dnieper left bank, Balki village, mound "Vysoka Mogyla", gr. 7 (photo from the field report, Archive of Institute of Archaeology of NASU)





Fig. 9. Middle Eneolithic grave of the third burial tradition covered by mound – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 30 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)

Fig. 10. Late Eneolithic grave of the fourth burial tradition covered by mound — Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 27 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 11. Development of the second burial tradition from the Early to the Late Eneolithic

technological characteristics and forms with the pottery from the lower stratum of the Mikhailovka settlement at the Lower Dnieper. On the other hand "post-Stog" burials sometimes contain vessels of the Tripolye culture of the periods C/1 and C/2 (*Figs 14–18*). Consequently, the Tripolye vessels form the basis for the relative chronology of the graves of the "post-Stog" group, and enable us to define two periods of the existence of this group in accordance with the periodization of the Tripolye culture.

Some scholars explain the appearance of graves with Repin type pottery by the migration processes during the Late Eneolithic. However, the question concerning the formation of this group remains open.

Arsen Tigranovich Sinyuk regarded the Neolithic Lower Don culture and the early phase of the Sredny Stog culture (after Dmitriy Ya. Telegin) to form the basis for the emergence of the Repin culture



*Fig. 12. Distribution of the graves of the "post-Stog group" (A) and graves with Repin type ceramics (B) – 1: Volonterovka; 2: Kremenevka* 



Fig. 13. Burial forms and ceramics of the "post-Stog" group and the Repin culture

and its typical pottery assemblage in the Middle Don region (SINYUK 1981, 14). Moreover, Sinyuk suggested that the extended supine position of the dead in burials without mounds were typical for the Repin culture (SINYUK 1981, 15).

D. Ya. Telegin considered the vessels of the Repin type as one of the three pottery types of the early stage of the Pit Grave culture. He suggested that the type A1 vessels originated from the traditions of the Sredny Stog culture (TELEGIN 1998; 2001), but he did not specify what was meant by the term "pottery traditions of the Srednij Stog culture". In his publication he illustrated vessels types as Srednij Stog 2 dated to the early phase of the Srednij Stog culture. On the bases of newly obtained materials some scholars consider that the Repin culture with its typical ceramic spectrum emerged from the pottery of the Dereivka type (late phase of the Sredny Stog culture after D. Ya. Telegin) as well as from the Pit-Comb Ware culture (SANZHAROV *et al.* 2000, 92–97).



Fig. 14. Mound construction and vessels of the Tripolye culture – Southern Bug Region, Pribuzhany village, mound 4, gr. 19 (excavation by O. G. Shaposhnikova in 1982)



Fig. 15. Painted vessel from the a grave in Pribuzhany (photos by Yu. Rassamakin)





Fig. 17. Late Eneolithic grave of the second burial tradition and the painted vessel of the Tripolye culture from this grave – Ingulets river, former Dubovoe village, mound "Dubova Mogyla", gr. 10 (after KOVALEVA et al. 2003, 87, Fig. 30) (photo from the field report, Archive of Institute of Archaeology of NASU)

In general, the concept of the formation of Repin type pottery within the forest-steppe area is currently prevailing. After its emergence it started to spread into the steppe zone of the Dnieper, Lower Don, and Volga rivers. In these regions, Repin type pottery is scarcely known from settlement layers with generally a low concentration of artifacts. The settlement of Repin Khutor in the Middle Don region is an exception (SINYUK 1981).



Fig. 18. Drawings of the Late Eneolithic grave of the second burial tradition and painted vessel of the Tripolye culture from this grave – Ingulets river, former Dubovoe village, mound "Dubova Mogyla", gr. 10 (after KOVALEVA et al. 2003, 87, Fig. 30)

Therefore two important issues remain under discussion:

- 1. Why do Repin type ceramics occur in burials of the second tradition?
- 2. How can we correlate this group of burials with the synchronous late "post-Stog" burials in the context of the emergence of the Early Bronze Age Pit Grave culture?



Fig. 19. The early and late periods of the development of the third burial tradition (after RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, Abb. 124)



Fig. 20. Middle Eneolithic grave of the third burial tradition, accompanied by a clay female statuette (1), painted (2–3) and kitchen (4) ceramics of the Tripolye culture, flint (5) and bone (6) artefacts – Southern Bug region, Vinogradny Sad village, mound 2, gr. 7 (after FOMENKO 2007, 445–446, Fig. 3)

Previously, the author of this article considered the so-called Repin culture as a component in the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region, being the compositional element of its "local" variants only (RASSAMAKIN 1999, 125). As a matter of fact, and regarding burials with Repin type pottery as a separate Repin culture of the Late Eneolithic, this type of ceramics is missing in the graves of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region of the Early Bronze Age.

As for the "post-Stog" group, it possibly played the same role in the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region, but only in the western distribution area.

The third burial tradition during the Eneolithic, where the deceased lay in a flexed position on his/ her side (groups III-A and III-B), should be regarded as a new phenomenon as compared to the second burial tradition in the steppe zone (RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, 168–170).

Earlier, such flexed position of the dead was not typical for this territory. Their relative chronology and periodization were also determined based on the Tripolye ware from the graves, dated to the C/1 and C/2 periods (RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, 168–170, Abb. 124) (*Figs 19–20*). The author of this article suggested that the farming component played an important role in the formation of this tradition and treated it in the context of the development of the Lower Mikhailovka culture (RASSAMAKIN 1999, 91–92; 2004, Teil I, 168–170, 183–185). Igor V. Manzura considers the graves of this burial rite tradition from the region between the Danube and Dniester rivers as the Basarabian variant of the Chernavoda I culture (MANZURA 1993, 26–30). V. G. Petrenko defines burials of this tradition in the Khadzhider type, named after an excavated kurgan with a Tripolye vessel of the C/1 period as a grave good (PETRENKO 1993). It should be noted that the majority of the burials of the third tradition (group III-A and III-B) has been distributed in kurgans of the steppe zone between the Dnieper and Dniester rivers. They are also known to the east of the Dnieper river in the Molochnaya river region (RASSAMAKIN 2004, Teil I, 20–22, Abb. 9–10).

#### **Burial rite – The Early Bronze Age**

Judging from their formal criteria, the burial rite of the Pit Grave culture includes only two funeral traditions of the Eneolithic of the Black Sea steppe: the second one (group II-A and II-C) (*Figs 21–23*) and the third one (III-A and rarely III-B) (*Figs 24–27*). The quantitative ratio of graves of both traditions differs in different territories of the distribution of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region. Scholars use this index to allocate various local variants of the Pit Grave culture.

The regional and general periodization of the Pit Grave culture was developed on the basis of the stratigraphical positions of graves in kurgans. But the author does not see the evidence for the development of a reliable periodization of the Pit Grave culture and, accordingly, a clear chronological division of the graves of both traditions into separated stages during the Early Bronze Age. In other words and unlike the Eneolithic, the Pit Grave cultural-historical region of the Early Bronze Age appears as a single cultural horizon that organically united the graves of the two burial traditions. Herewith, during the existence of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region that lasted approximately 500 years (RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008, 60–67), a certain evolution of burial rite and material assemblage took place. This evolution ended in the Black Sea steppe with the appearance of graves of the so-called Early Catacomb culture.

To a certain degree, the appearance of different local steppe groups with mixed cultural traditions in the Late Eneolithic can be regarded as the beginning of a transformation process resulting in the formation of the unified burial rite in the Early Bronze Age (RASSAMAKIN 1999, 122–125, Fig. 3. 49; 2004, Teil I, 184–185, 208–209; RASSAMAKIN – EVDOKIMOV 2009–2010, 23–28) (*Fig. 3*). However, it is not clear why the first and the forth burial traditions of the Late Eneolithic are not reflected in the Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea steppes. If the graves of the fourth burial tradition (so-called Zhivotilovka-



Fig. 21. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the second burial tradition – Gnyly Tikich river, Kolodyste village, mound 1, gr. 10 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 22. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the second burial tradition – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 24 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 23. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the second burial tradition – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 20 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 24. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the third burial tradition – Gnyly Tikich river, Kolodyste village, mound 1, gr. 9 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 25. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the third burial tradition – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 8 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)



Fig. 26. Early Bronze Age grave of the Pit Grave culture of the third burial tradition – Molochnaia river, Vinogradnoe village, mound 24, gr. 31 (photo by Yu. Rassamakin)





Volchansk group) were associated with migrants in the Late Eneolithic, and hence atypical for the steppe region (RASSAMAKIN 1996; 1999, 122–125; 2004, Teil I, 55–59, 126–134, 184–185, 208–209), the destiny of the population attached to the first burial tradition, its numerous graves known on the waste territory, remains a puzzle.

In general, the burial rite of the Pit Grave culture seems more simplified then the one practiced during the Eneolithic period. In particular, we do not see complex constructions over the graves, while the Eneolithic burials, especially of the second and third burial traditions, typically had the complex cultic architecture. Eneolithic graves were covered with constructions made out of black humus and yellow clay, often circled by ditches and slab cromlechs (*Fig. 14, Fig. 20*) (RASSAMAKIN 1999, Fig. 3. 27; 2002, 63–66; 2004, Teil I, 59–61). Also typical were the remains of funeral feasts left on the level of the ancient surface or in ditches (bonfire places, ceramics, animal bones and cult beam constructions beyond the territory of the mounds).

Graves of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region were covered, in most cases, with constructions built of blocks of black humus. Perhaps these constructions were formed as a truncated cone, but in a short time they lost their original forms.

#### Material culture – The Eneolithic period

The Eneolithic period in the Black Sea steppe differs from the Early Bronze Age by the presence of pottery that is clearly differentiated by its shape and ornamentation. Based on data from the settlements, scholars define Skelia, Stog, Dereivka, Kvitiana, and Repin types of clay ware (RASSAMAKIN 2003, 68–69). Each type of pottery outlines the characteristics of separate Eneolithic cultures or groups. The wider spectrum of finds, with bowls and flat-bottom vessels as, for example, from the Dereivka settlement, can be explained by external influences. In such, the ceramic complex at the Dereivka settlement was influenced by the Tripolye culture. The main problem is the correlation of separate types of pottery from the Eneolithic settlements with the burial complexes.

In this regard the pottery used at funeral feasts found close to the burials is of great importance. Vessels from the graves often bear characteristic features. This pottery spectrum is represented by imported vessels as, for example, by painted vessels of the Tripolye culture or by imitations, especially of Maikop-Novosvobodnaia pottery of the Northern Caucasus. It is especially apparent in the Late Eneolithic *(Fig. 28)*. A new set of pottery (cups, small "amphorae", beakers) for the steppe region is known in the graves of the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group (RASSAMAKIN 1996; 1999, 92–97; 2004, Teil I, 126–130). Against this background, the burials of the Repin culture with vessels analogous to the vessels from the settlements are viewed as exceptions.



Fig. 28. Typical vessels from Late Eneolithic graves representing two different ceramic traditions (after RASSAMAKIN 2002, Fig. 4. 4)

#### Material culture - The Early Bronze Age

In contrast to the Eneolithic, the ceramic assemblage of the Early Bronze Age becomes more variable in shapes; their technology changed, and shells as an ingredient of the clay mass disappear. Ukrainian scholars define 25 clusters or groups of pottery (NIKOLOVA – MANCHICH 1997, 104). It reflects the process of the formation of the Pit Grave cultural-historical region as a transformation of different traditions of the Late Eneolithic local cultural groups, and the appearance of completely new types of pottery. In this connection, a question arises: is it possible to single out a group of pottery from different clusters, which we can see as a reflection of the long-term "local" development of ceramic traditions, and conventionally define it as the "classic" pottery of the Pit Grave culture?

Such group of pottery from the graves of the Pit Grave culture can be represented by only a special group of vessels with rounded base and egg-shaped bodies. But at the same time, these vessels bear new elements – handles, small relief handles and a flat bottom (*Fig. 29*). The majority of such vessels, for example, in the region between the Dnieper and the Don rivers could be considered as the "core" of the culture.

D. Ya. Telegin suggested one variant of the formation of the "classic" pottery of the Pit Grave culture in the Black Sea steppe region. But this scholar defined the pottery of the Repin type as dated to the early stage of the Pit Grave culture (TELEGIN 1998; 2001). This contradicts the hypothesis of the local formation of Repin pottery in the forest-steppe region (see above). Generally, ceramics of the Repin type are, indeed, homogeneous in terms of its formal characteristics, but, as mentioned above, are not represented in the graves of the Pit Grave culture.

The author of this article does not reject traditions of the Late Eneolithic in the formation of the "classic" pottery type of the Pit Grave culture (*Fig. 28*). Precisely the Late Eneolithic period was the period when such additional characteristics as handles, small relief handles and the flat base appeared. The groove at the bottom of the vessels' neck is also an interesting feature. It is typical for a series of Late Eneolithic pottery and is also present on the "classic" vessel types of the Pit Grave. However, although the succession of traditions conceived in the transformation of forms is clearly visible, we cannot draw a straight line of evolution for the pottery.

#### Chronology

The chronological division of the Late Eneolithic and the Early Bronze Age is very well traceable due to the stratigraphy of burial mounds. Moreover, during the study of the stratigraphical sequence of layers of Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age periods, scholars often notice a formation of a soil layer (about 2–3 cm thick) prior to the time when the first Pit Grave culture graves were inserted into Eneolithic mounds.

On the basis of the available radiocarbon dates, we can talk about the existence of a certain gap on the uncalibrated scale between the burials with Repin type pottery and those of the Pit Grave culture, as shown by dates from graves with Repin type vessels from the kurgans of Volonterovka (kurgan 1, burials 3, 4, 5) and Kremenevka (kurgan 6, burials 8, 9, 7) in the Azov Sea steppe (KONSTANTINESKU 1984; KOVALYUKH – NAZAROV 1999, 17, Table 1; TELEGIN – PUSTOVALOV – KOVALYUKH 2003, 143–144). Moreover, radiocarbon dates were also obtained from the graves of the Pit Grave culture (Volonterovka, kurgan 1, burials 11, 6, 9; Kremenevka, kurgan 6, burials 6, 4) inserted in the same two kurgans after burials with Repin ceramics (KONSTANTINESKU 1988, 99–103; TELEGIN – PUSTOVALOV – KOVALYUKH 2003, 143–144) (*Figs 30–31*).

The radiocarbon dates for the Late Eneolithic graves of the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group in the Dniestr-Prut region (5 dates) correlate with the dates from graves with Repin type pottery in the Azov



Fig. 29. "Classical" ceramics from graves of the Pit Grave culture

Sea region. They are placed between  $4548 \pm 28$  BP and  $4434 \pm 23$  BP (PETRENKO – KOVALIUKH 2003, 109, Table 7; RASSAMAKIN 2011, 92, Abb. 12a–b).

Three close dates are also known for the middle layer of the Mikhailovka settlement at the Dnieper river (KOTOVA–SPITSYNA 2003, 126, Table 1). However, the radiocarbon dating is not clear for the solution of the issue about the chronological division of these periods.

Generally, radiocarbon dates allow us to date the Pit Grave culture between 3000/2900–2500/2400 BC (TELEGIN – PUSTOVALOV – KOVALYUKH 2003, 142–148; GÖRSDORF – RASSAMAKIN – HÄUSLER 2004; GOVEDARICA *et al.* 2006, 96–107; RASSAMAKIN 2006b, 131–153; RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008, 60–67, Table 1; NIKOLOVA – KAISER 2009, 231–237). At the same time, Late Eneolithic burials, including the ones with Repin type pottery, suggest an earlier date approximately from the middle to the last century of the 4<sup>th</sup> millennium BC. This span is confirmed by the stratigraphy of the kurgans in Volonterovka and Kremenevka.

#### Conclusion

This article includes the conceptual view of the author on the problems of transition between the Late Eneolithic and the Early Bronze Age, without a detailed comparative analysis of the archaeological sources. At present we do not have sufficient data for an absolute chronology. The stratigraphy of the kurgans and changes in the material culture between the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age in the Black Sea steppe demonstrate that the transition process was rather gradual and not of evolutionary character.



Atmospheric data from Reimer et al (2004);OxCal v3.10 BronkRamsey (2005); cub r:5 sd:12 probusp[chron]

*Fig. 30. Radiocarbon dates from the graves in mound 1 near Volonterovka village – gr. 3, 4 and 5 with Repin type ceramics; the later gr. 11, 9 and 6 of the Pit Grave culture according to mound stratigraphy* 



*Fig. 31. Radiocarbon dates from the graves in mound 6 near Kremenevka village – gr. 9, 8 and 7 (?) with Repin type ceramics; the later gr. 6 and 4 of the Pit Grave culture according to mound stratigraphy* 

## Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the organizers of the session at the EAA Meeting in Hague for the invitation. I am grateful to Elena Izbitser and Vladimir Ioseliani for the help with the translation into English and the correction of this paper.

### References

BARYNKIN, P. P. 2000

K probleme opredeleniya znacheniya kompleksa Repin khutor (zametki k diskussii) [To Problem of the Determination of the Repin Khutor Complex (Notes to Discussion)]. In: *Vzaimodeĭstvie i razvitie drevnikh kul'tur yuzhnogo pogranich'ya Evropy i Azii. Tezisy dokladov konferentsii*. Saratov–Engel's 2000, 38–45.

FOMENKO, V. N. 2007

Kurgan epokhi medi-bronzy bliz ust'ia reki Bakshaly [A Mound of the Eneolithic–Bronze Age near the Mouth of the Bakshala River]. In: Gavriliuk, N. A. (ed.): *Archaeological Research in Ukraine* 9 (2005–2007 [2007]) 442–450.

Görsdorf, J. – Rassamakin, Yu. – Häusler, A. 2004

14C-Datings of Mound 24 of the Kurgan Group near Vinogradnoe Village, Ukraine. In: Higham, T. – Bronk, C. – Owen, C. (eds): *Radiocarbon and Archaeology: Fourth International Symposium, St. Catherine's College, Oxford (9–14<sup>th</sup> April, 2002)*. Oxford: Oxford University School of Archaeology 2004, Monograph 62, 127–134.

GOVEDARICA, B. - KAISER, E. - RASSAMAKIN, JU. JA. - SAMAR, V. A. 2006

Der Grabhügel "Tarasova Mogila" bei der Stadt Orechov. Eurasia Antiqua 12 (2006) 63-112.

IVANOVA, S. V. 2004

Yamna kul'turno-istorichna oblast': sutnist' fenomenu [The Phenomenon of Pit Grave Cultural and Historical Region]. *Arkheologiya* 3 (2004) 82–94.

IVANOVA, S. V. 2005

Paradoks kul'tury: yamnaya kul'turno-istoricheskaya obshchnost' [Yamna Cultural-Historical Community as a Paradox of Culture]. *Materialy ta doslidzheniya z arkheologiyi Skhidnoĭ Evropi* 4 (2005) 114–126.

IVANOVA, S. V. 2006a

Yamnaya kul'turno-istoricheskaya obshchnost': problemy formirovaniya v svete radiouglerodnogo datirovaniya [Pit-Grave Cultural and Historical Community: Problems of Formation in the Light of Radiocarbon Dating]. *Rossiĭskaya Arkheologiya* 2 (2006) 113–120.

IVANOVA, S. V. 2006b

O kontseptsii vostochnogo proiskhozhdeniya yamnoĭ kul'turno-istoricheskoĭ obshchnosti [Concerning a Conception of the Eastern Origin of the Pit Grave Cultural and Historical Community]. *Voprosy arkheologii Povolzh'ya* 4 (2006) 203–208.

Konstantinesku, L. F. 1984

Rann'oyamni pokhovannya pivnichno-skhidnogo Podonnya [Early Burials of the Pit Grave Culture in the North-Eastern Don Region]. *Arkheologiya* 45 (1984) 61–68.

KONSTANTINESKU, L. F. 1988

Novye materialy pozdneyamnogo vremeni Severo-Vostochnogo Priazov'ya [New Materials of the Late Pit Grave Period in the North-Eastern Azov Area]. In: Shaposhnikova, O. G. (red.): *Novye pamyatniki yamnoĭ kul'tury stepnoĭ zony Ukrainy*. Kiev 1988, 92–107.

### KOTOVA, N. S. – SPITSYNA L. A. 2003

Radiocarbon Chronology of the "Middle Layer" of the Mikhailivka Settlement. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 12 (2003) 121–131.

Kovaleva, I. F. – Marina, Z. P. – Romashko, V. A. – Teslenko, D. L. – Shalobudov, V. N. –

### VEKLENKO, V. A. 2003

Kurgany eneolita-bronzy v Krivorozhskom techenii Ingultsa [The Mounds of the Eneolithic–Bronze Age in the Krivoi Rog Area of Ingulets River]. DGU: Dnepropetrovsk.

### Kovalyukh, N. N. – Nazarov, S. V. 1999

Radiocarbon Dating Calibration in Archaeological Studies. Baltic-Pontic Studies 7 (1999) 12-26.

### MANZURA, I. V. 1993

The East–West Interaction in the Mirror of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age Cultures in the Northwest Pontic. *Revista Arheologică* 1 (1993) 23–53.

## MARINA, Z. P. 1992

O rannem gorizonte yamnykh pamyatnikov Ukrainy [On the Early Period of the Pit Grave Culture Monuments in the Ukraine]. *Problemy arkheologii Podneprov'ya* 5 (1992) 76–83.

## MARINA, Z. P. 2001

Eshchë raz o rannem gorizonte yamnykh pamyatnikov Ukrainy [One Remark about the Early Horizon of the Pit Grave Culture in the Ukraine]. In: *XII ural'skoe arkheologicheskoe soveshchanie: tezisy dokladov.* Orenburg 2001, 95–96.

## MERPERT, N. YA. 1968

Drevneĭshaya istoriya naseleniya stepnoĭ polosy Vostochnoĭ Evropy (III–nachalo II tys. do n.e.) [Earliest History of the population of the Eastern European Steppe Zone (III–beginning II Mill. BC.)]. Avtoreferat dissertatsii na soiskanie uchenoĭ stepeni doktora istoricheskikh nauk. Moskva.

## MERPERT, N. YA. 1974

Drevneĭshie skotovody Volzhsko-Ural'skogo mezhdurech'ya [Earliest cattle-breeder in the Volga-Ural Region]. Moskva.

## NIKOLOVA, A. V. 2002

O meste "repinskikh" pamyatnikov v yamnoĭ kul'turno-istoricheskaya obshchnosti: nekotorye voprosy istoriografii [About Place of the "Repin" Monuments in the Pit Grave Cultural-Historical Unity. Some Questions of Historiography]. In: Kovaleva, I. F. (red.): *Problemy arkheologii Podneprov'ya*. Dnipropetrovs'k 2002, 37–59.

## NIKOLOVA, A. V. – KAISER, E. 2009

Die absolute Chronologie der Jamnaja-Kultur im nördlichen Schwarzmeergebiet auf der Grundlage erster dendrochronologischer Daten. *Eurasia Antiqua* 15 (2009) 209–240.

## NIKOLOVA, A. V. – MAMCHICH, T. I. 1997

Do metodiki klassifikatsii posudu yamnoĭ kul'turi [The Procedure of Classification of the Pit Culture Pottery]. *Arkheologiya* 3 (1997) 101–114.

## Petrenko, V. G. 1993

Otnositel'no mesta v stepnom eneolite pamyatnikov Dnestro–Dunaĭskogo regiona [According to the Determination of the Some Monuments in the Eneolithic of the Dniester–Danube Steppe Region]. In: *Drevnee Prichernomor'e. Kratkie soobshcheniya Odesskogo arkheologicheskogo obshchestva.* Odessa 1993, 16–19.

### Petrenko, V. G. – Kovaliukh, N. N. 2003

Novye dannye po radiouglerodnoĭ khronologii eneolita Severo-Zapadnogo Prichernomo'ya [New Dates for Radiocarbon Chronology of the North-Western Black Sea Region]. In: Korvin-

Piotrovs'kiy, O. G. (red.): *Tripol's'ki poselennya-giganty. Materialy mizhnarodnoĭ konferentsiyi.* Kyiv 2003, 102–110.

#### RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. 1995

Pozdniĭ eneolit–ranniĭ bronzoviĭ vek stepnogo Prichernomor'ya: problema "skachka" v razvitii drevnikh skotovodov [The Late Eneolithic and the Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea Steppe: the Problem of "the Leap" in the Development of Prehistoric Pastoralists]. In: Bochkarev, V. S. (red.): *Konvergentsiya i divergentsiya v razvitii kul'tur epokhi eneolita–bronzy Sredneĭ i Vostochnoĭ Evropy. Materialy konferentsii i diskussiya*. Sankt-Peterburg 1995, 46–49.

### RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. 1996

On the Early Elements of the Globular Amphora Culture and Other Central European Cultures in the Late Eneolithic of Northern Black Sea Region. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 4 (1996) 112–132.

#### RASSAMAKIN, YU. 1999

The Eneolithic of the Black Sea Steppe: Dynamics of Cultural and Economic Development 4500–2300 BC. In: Levine, M. – Rassamakin, Yu. – Kislenko, A. – Tatarintseva, N.: *Late Prehistoric Exploitation of the Eurasian Steppe*. McDonald Institute Monographs, Cambridge 1999, 59–182.

### RASSAMAKIN, YU. 2002

Aspects of Pontic Steppe Development (4550–3000 BC) in the Light of the New Cultural-Chronological Model. In: Boyle, K. – Renfrew, C. – Levine, M. (eds): *Ancient interactions: east and west in Eurasia*. McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, University of Cambridge: Cambridge 2002, 49–73.

#### RASSAMAKIN, YU. 2003

The Chalcolithic and Early Bronze Age Hydrostrategy in the Black Sea Steppe Area. In: Georghiu, D. (ed.): *Chalcolithic and Early Bronze Age Hydrostrategies*. BAR International Series 1123, Oxford 2003, 57–77.

### RASSAMAKIN, JU. JA. 2004

Die nordpontische Steppe in der Kupferzeit (Gräber aus der Mitte des 5. Jts. bis Ende des 4. Jts. v. Chr.). Archäologie in Eurasien 17, Mainz am Rhein: Verlag Philipp von Zabern.

#### RASSAMAKIN, YU. 2006a

Cultural Transformation in the Black Sea Steppe between the Eneolithic and Bronze Age: Migrations or Economic Changes ? In: Peterson, D. L. – Popova, L. M. – Smith, A. T. (eds): *Beyond the Steppe and the Sown*. Colloquia Pontica 13, Brill 2006, 448–458.

#### RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. 2006b

Kurgan bilya sela Starobogdanivka ta deyaki problemy absolyutnoĭ khronologii doby rann'oĭ bronzy baseĭnu r. Molochnoĭ [Kurgan near Village Starobogdanivka and Some Problems of the Absolute Chronology of the Early Bronze Age in the Molochnaya River Region]. *Materialy ta doslidzhennya z arkheologiyi Skhidnoĭ Ukrainy* 5 (2006) 126–156.

#### RASSAMAKIN, JU. J. 2011

Zur absoluten Chronologie des Äneolithikums in den Steppen des Schwarzmeergebietes anhand neuer C14-Daten. In: Sava, E. – Govedarica, B. – Hänsel, B. (Hrsg.): *Der Schwarzmeerraum vom Äneolithikum bis in die Früheisenzeit (5000–500 v. Chr.), Band 2: Globale Entwicklung versus Lokalgeschehen*. Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 27, Rahden/Westfalen 2011, 80–100.

### RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. – EVDOKIMOV, G. L. 2001

Novyĭ eneoliticheskiĭ mogil'nik na r. Ingulets i problema vydelenniya "poststogovskikh" pogrebeniĭ [A New Eneolithic Cemetery on the Ingulets River and Problem of the "Post-Stog" Burials Determination]. *Arkheologicheskiĭ al'manakh* 10 (2001) 71–86. RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. – EVDOKIMOV G. L. 2009–2010

Novyĭ pozdneeneoliticheskiĭ mogil'nik na yuge Khersonshchiny v svete regional'nykh issledovaniĭ stepnogo eneolita [A New Late Eneolithic Cemetery in the Southern Part of the Kherson Region in the Light of the Local Investigations of the Late Eneolithic]. *Donetskiĭ arkheologicheskiĭ sbornik* 13–14 (2009–2010) 7–29.

## RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. - NIKOLOVA, A. V. 2008

Carpathian Imports and Imitations in Context of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea Steppe Area. In: Biehl, P. – Rassamakin, Yu. (eds): *Import and Imitation in Archaeology*. Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraumes 11, Langenweißbach 2008, 51–87.

SANZHAROV, S. N. – BRITYUK A. A. – KOTOVA N. S. – CHERNYKH, E. A. 2000

Poseleniya neolita-rannei bronzy Severskogo Dontsa. Izdatelstvo VNU. Lugansk.

## SINYUK, A. T. 1981

Repinskaya kul'tura epokhi eneolita-bronzy v basseĭne Dona [The Eneolithic–Bronze Age Repino Culture in the Don Basin]. *Sovetskaya arkheologiya* 4 (1981) 8–20.

## TELEGIN, D. YA. 1998

O slozhenii yamnoy kul'tury po dannym analiza keramiki [On the Origin of the Pit Grave Culture according to analysis of ceramics]. In: *Problemy arkheologii Yugo-Vostochnoĭ Evropy. Tezisy dokladov VII Donskoĭ arkheologicheskoĭ konferentsii.* Rostov-na-Donu 1998, 73–74.

## TELEGIN, D. YA. 2001

K voprosu o slozhenii yamnoĭ kul'tury po dannym analiza keramiki [Concerning a Problem of Formation of the Pit Grave Culture on Base of the Ceramics Analysis]. *Donetskiĭ arkheologicheskiĭ sbornik* 9 (2001) 3–14.

## Telegin, D. Y. – Pustovalov, S. Zh. – Kovalyukh, N. N. 2003

Relative and Absolute Chronology of Yamnaya and Catacomb Monuments. The Issue of Co-Existence. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 12 (2003) 132–184.

TESLENKO, D. L. 2006

Drevneyamnaya kul'turno-istoricheskaya oblast' (k voprosu o soderzhanii ponyatiya) [Yamnaya Cultural-Historical Province (to Problem of Contents of Concept)]. *Starozhytnosti stepovogo Prichornomor* 'ya i Krimu 13 (2006) 18–34.

TRIFONOV, V. A. 1996

Repinskaya kul'tura i protsess slozheniya yamnoĭ kul'turno-istoricheskoĭ obshchnosti [Repin Culture and Process of the Formation of the Pit Grave Cultural-Historical Unity]. In: *Drevnosti Volgo-Donskikh stepeĭ v sisteme vostochno-evropeĭskogo bronzovogo veka. Materialy mezhdunarodnoĭ nauchnoĭ konferentsii.* Volgograd 1996, 3–9.

# Import, Imitation and Interaction A Critical Review of the Chronology and Significance of Cross Footed Bowls of the Third Millennium BC in Southeastern and Eastern Europe

#### ELKE KAISER

#### Abstract

Bowls standing on a cross-shaped foot have frequently been seen by researchers as an indicator of interaction between the archaeological cultures in southeastern Europe and in the eastern European steppe region during the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. The type of vessel called the cross footed bowl, also known as the interior decorated bowl, comprises a Leitform in the Vučedol culture of southeastern Europe. In the burials of various regional groups of the Catacomb culture, and particularly in those distributed across eastern Ukraine and southern Russia, researchers have found bowls, called censers, which are also often characterized by a cross-shaped foot.

This article offers a critical assessment of both the interior decorated bowls of southeastern Europe and the censers of the Catacomb culture. It also presents the somewhat lesser-known censers of the Yamnaya culture, found principally in the Dnieper region. The article discusses whether the latter can be considered to represent a missing link between the interior decorated bowls of southeastern Europe and the censers of the Catacomb culture. The new absolute dating of the culture groups relevant in this context is of great significance for this discussion.

The evidence compiled here suggest that the interior decorated bowls of the Vučedol culture and synchronous cultures of southeastern Europe served as a model in the construction of the censers of the Yamnaya culture in the Dnieper region. Thus far, however, only locally made imitations of the vessel type interior decorated bowl have been found in the monuments of the Yamnaya culture. The focus in the transfer to the steppe may have been on the symbolic meaning of the bowl rather than its actual function. It should be emphasized that the transfer of interior decorated bowls from southeastern Europe to the Yamnaya culture represents an important indicator of a west-to-east vector of exchange, while the research literature highlights primarily exchange in the opposite direction (east-to-west transfer). It is not, at present, possible to ascertain the extent to which the production of censers in the Catacomb culture in east Ukraine and south Russia can be traced to an influence from the southeastern European cultures, in which the cross footed, or interior decorated bowls comprised a Leitform.

#### Introduction

Migration in the sense of the movement of entire populations (demic diffusion) has had a renaissance in the last decade and has been used to explain changes in material culture. In several recent publications the beginning of the Early Bronze Age in southeastern Europe has been connected to migration movements from the North Pontic steppe region (ANTHONY 2007; HARRISON – HEYD 2007). The infiltration and impact of so-called steppe tribes, in particular the Yamnaya (or Pit Grave) culture, on the cultural situation in the Balkans and the Carpathian Basin during the first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC is once again a focal point in research.

One of the significant material culture elements used to describe this infiltration and impact are cross footed bowls. These are ceramic bowls standing on a cross-shaped foot, and are a characteristic element of certain archaeological cultures in the Carpathian Basin and in the steppe region of eastern Europe (*Fig. 1, Fig. 3*). From the 1960s the relative and absolute chronology of these cultures led them



Fig. 1. Censer of the Eastern Catacomb culture from grave 1, tumulus 9, Zunda-Tolga, Kalmykia, southern Russia (after SHISHLINA 2002, 98, Ris. 4. 1)

to be regarded as more or less contemporary, and formed part of a discussion about mutual cultural influence, in which cross footed bowls were transferred either from east to west or west to east (KLEIN 1966; BURGER 1980). Recently, Richard Harrison and Volker Heyd (2007, 197) have regarded them as a sign of innovation which population groups of the Yamnaya culture brought with them while migrating to southeastern Europe. Many of the innovations mentioned by R. Harrison and V. Hevd. which they describe as the 'Yamnava package', can be dated to the 4<sup>th</sup> millennium BC and are therefore older than the Yamnaya culture (HANSEN 2011). However, there are connections that need explanation, such as the contemporary use of graves in barrow mounds in the Yamnaya culture of the eastern European steppe (first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC) and in regions of southeastern Europe. These burials bear many features of construction and ritual, which are considered characteristic for the Yamnaya culture (HEYD 2011). In the material culture, cross footed bowls seem to be a common vessel type appearing both in southeastern and eastern Europe. Their emergence in completely different cultural areas has often been considered as an indication for interactions between the aforementioned regions.

In this paper I will present the critical review of the archaeological evidence and chronology of cross footed bowls in two cultural regions: the Vučedol culture in southeastern Europe and the Catacomb culture of

southern Russia. A similar vessel type is found in graves of the Yamnaya culture of the North Pontic region, and gave rise to this reexamination of the interregional relations of cultures in southeastern and eastern Europe during the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. The basis for this review is the recent publication of the earliest cross footed bowls of eastern Europe and the new absolute dating for the archaeological cultures. The discussion of absolute dating is particularly significant when viewed within the framework of migrations and influence. However, despite the new evidence, it is apparent that the situation is far from being non-ambiguous.

#### Terminology

Before outlining the research background, it is necessary to add a few words about the terminology used in this paper, because a number of bowls with similar form have different names across the geographical area of this study. In early publication they were called cross footed bowls (*Kreuzfußschalen*; for example HANČAR 1949), but as research has developed the names have changed. In southeastern Europe, which includes the Carpathian Basin, they were called either cross footed bowls or, on the basis of their decoration, interior decorated bowls. In eastern Europe, which is used to include southern Russia and the North Pontic region, they are called censers (*Räucherschalen*) because it is thought the contents were burnt inside the vessel. In this paper I will maintain the regional terminology to avoid assuming they are all from the same tradition: interior decorated bowls for the southeastern European specimens and censers for those in eastern Europe.

#### Research background of censers and interior decorated bowls

In the first decades of research the discussion focused on the Eastern Catacomb culture and the cultures in southeastern Europe, especially the Vučedol culture. The simplified chronological scheme of these archaeological cultures is outlined in *Table 1*. The censers in eastern Europe stand on a cross-shaped foot or on several small round feet; they are found in the graves of the Eastern Catacomb culture (*Fig. 1*). The Catacomb culture is divided into two chronological phases. In its early phase (2800–2500 BC) burial constructions and rites are relatively homogeneous over its whole distribution area. After 2500 BC, when the developed phase of Catacomb culture begins, grave constructions and burial rites become heterogeneous in different regions. All regional groups of southern Russia and eastern Ukraine are summarized here under the term Eastern Catacomb culture, while the regional groups situated in central and western Ukraine are called Western Catacomb culture (*Table 1*).

In the steppe area of south Russia censers are a common element among the inventory of catacomb graves, which are situated in barrows *(kurgans)*. These bowls were only ornamented on their outside wall; in addition, they occasionally contained the remains of burned organic materials and charcoal, and for this reason they were given the name censers (HANČAR 1949, 72; IERUSALIMSKAYA 1957, 45).

The first detailed research on censers from regions of eastern Europe and from the collections held at the Hermitage was published by Franz Hančar (1949), Anna A. Ierusalimskaya (1957) and Tatyana B. Popova (1957). T. B. Popova (1957, 162, Ris. 1) asserted that the dissemination of censers was limited to the Eastern Catacomb culture between the river Don in the west, the river Volga in the east and the Caucasian mountains in the south. However, no comprehensive work of the greater part of this vessel type was published. In 1970 Valeri G. Yegorov published his analysis of approximately 200 censers from the entire eastern European steppe region, but he only presented his table of morphological and ornamental classification, including information of relative chronology and a drawing which represented his idea of their evolutionary scheme (*Fig. 2*). In this scheme he included the fragments of censers from the Dnieper region in nowadays south Ukraine, as found in the settlement of Mikhailovka. This scheme

BC	Carpathian Basin	Northwestern Pontic region	Northeastern Pontic region	South Russia	Northern Caucasus
2000			Babino culture		Lola culture
	Post-Vučedol culture groups (e.g., Makó, Somogyvár– Vinkovci)	Western Catacomb culture (regional group of Ingul)	Eastern Catacomb culture (several regional groups)	Eastern Catacomb culture (several regional groups)	Eastern Catacomb culture (Precaucasian regional group)
2500	Vučedol culture	Yamnaya culture	Yamnaya / Early Catacomb culture		Northcaucasian culture
3000	Kostolac culture Baden culture	(Pit Grave culture)	Yamnaya culture (Pit Grave culture)		Yamnaya / Novotitarovskaya culture

Table 1. Simplified chronological scheme of archaeological cultures in eastern Europe and in the Carpathian Basin



Fig. 2. Scheme of typological evolution of censers of the Eastern Catacomb culture (after YEGOROV 1970, 162, Ris. 2)

will be returned to later, here it is only important to emphasise that V. G. Yegorov assumed the examples from the Mikhailovka settlement represented the oldest type, which are characterized by three, four or more small unconnected feet (*Fig. 2, Fig. 10*). According to V. G. Yegorov's scheme, censers with a cross-shaped foot represent a later phase in the development of this vessel type (*Fig. 2*). Some of them show the shape of a cross, but this feature is only typical of a percentage of the censers (*Figs 1–2*).

Before V. G. Yegorov's research, Lev S. Klein (1966) attempted to establish a much broader scheme of the development of censers and interior decorated bowls, which crossed several completely different geographical regions. L. S. Klein supposed that such bowls, belonging to the Baden and Vučedol cultures in southeastern Europe formed an impetus for the emergence of censers in the Catacomb culture.

More recently Natalya V. Panasyuk has collated the censers of south Russia (pers. comm.) and published her first results in several papers (PANASYUK 2005a; 2005b; 2006). In one of this she describes the problems of establishing a censer typology using those found only in the Eastern Catacomb culture (PANASYUK 2005b, 63). In the graves of this region, censers represent a typical element of the inventory.

Unfortunately no total number of the findings is given. As a result, using the published materials it is only possible to make a very rough assumption of the total number of finds; presumably, to the present day hundreds of censers have been discovered in southern Russia.

In southeastern Europe, notably in the Carpathian Basin, a large number of interior decorated bowls have been found. Like the censers the form of their foot can vary, but among others styles the cross-shaped foot is common (Fig. 3). A very distinct feature is the decoration on the inside of the vessel. Detailed research of the southeastern European bowls only began with Ingrid Burger's research published in 1980, although a number of specimens had been published earlier. I. Burger compiled the late eneolithic evidence from the eastern areas of Central Europe and the Carpathian Basin. In this research, she asserts that the interior decorated bowls are a typical *Leitform* of the Vučedol culture and other contemporary cultures in the Carpathian Basin. No comprehensive work on the bowls in the entire Vučedol culture exists. Recently, Gabriella Kulcsár collated the interior decorated bowls of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture in the Carpathian Basin, which is partly contemporary with the late Vučedol culture (KULCSÁR 1999). While such bowls are abundant in this time, in the following period their number and their quality decrease significantly (KULCSÁR 2009, 308-314). Interior decorated bowls are often discovered in settlements. As G. Kulcsár (2009, 124–128) has recently pointed out, the bowls discovered in settlements were in a fragmentary state, while those in graves are intact. Hence, nonfragmented bowls found accidentally can often be interpreted as originally belonging to the inventory of graves.

# Absolute chronology of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC in southeastern and eastern Europe

Before discussing the details of influence and mutual interaction, it is first necessary to be certain of the absolute chronology of these cultures, the knowledge of which has changed radically in the last few years. Without absolute dating it was unclear whether these cultures were contemporary. On the basis of appearance, it was often assumed that the interior decorated bowls of southeastern Europe and the censers of the Catacomb culture in southern Russian and eastern Ukraine were more or less contemporary

and related, despite the fact that they show a great variety and direct parallels are not known. Through relative dating the crossshaped foot represented the main feature on which influences between a ceramic form in completely different archaeological cultures were presumed (KLEIN 1966; BURGER 1980; HARRISON – HEYD 2007). Hence, a matter of debate in earlier research was always the relative chronology and later also the absolute chronology of the cultures in which these bowls represent a *Leitform*.

For example, based on the known chronology at the time I. Burger (1980, 15, Abb. 3) presented a typology in which the bowls of Mikhailovka, a settlement of the Yamnaya culture situated on the Lower Dnieper, were suggested to be amongst the oldest bowls in southeast Europe. I. Burger



Fig. 3. Interior decorated bowl of Abraham, found without context (after NOVOTNÝ 1955, obr. 11)

dated her early horizon of interior decorated bowls in southeastern Europe to a pre-Vučedol phase, while the mass of bowls belonged to the second horizon of the Vučedol culture. As already mentioned, this vessel types continued to be produced in archaeological cultures after the end of the Vučedol culture in southeastern Europe. In the framework provided by I. Burger, the emergence of cross footed bowls was explained as the impact of the steppe territory because she assumed the settlement layers of Mikhailovka to be earlier than the oldest find of interior decorated bowls from the site of Iža in Slovakia (BURGER, 1980, 24; for Iža see NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ 1968, Abb. 22). The latter was discovered in a cultural layer of the Kostolac culture, dating to the transition from the Baden to the Vučedol culture in the Carpathian Basin *(Table 1)*. Typologically similar bowls from Abraham (Slovakia; *Fig. 3*) and Melk (Austria) are stray finds without context (NOVOTNÝ 1955, 31, obr. 11; RUTTKAY 1975, Table 7. 4).

The basis for the absolute chronology of southeast Europe changed since the contribution of I. Burger. Roughly fifteen years ago Joseph Maran (1998) established an absolute chronology based upon archaeological–historical comparisons between the western Balkans, the Carpathian Basin and the Aegean chronology and their correlation with radiocarbon dates. His scheme finds increasing support from new absolute dates, not only radiocarbon but also dendrochronology. He dated the Kostolac phase of the early Vučedol culture at the transition from the 4<sup>th</sup> to 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC (MARAN 1998, Taf. 82). Hence, it seems likely that the first interior decorated bowls were produced around 3000 cal BC. Soon they became one of the most abundant ceramic forms in the following classic and late Vučedol culture, i.e. 2800 to 2500 cal BC *(Table 1)*. Its production still continued after the mid-3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, for example in the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture (KULCSÁR 2009, 308–314). Parallel to the classic and late Vučedol culture interior decorated bowls are present at many sites of archaeological cultures in southeastern Europe (BURGER 1980, Abb. 1; KULCSÁR 1999; 2009).



Fig. 4. Censer of the Early Catacomb culture, primary grave, tumulus 1, Temrta, Kalmykia, southern Russia (after SHISHLINA 2007, 165, Ris. 79. 5)

Therefore, according to absolute chronology, the Vučedol culture would be earlier than the Eastern Catacomb culture. This would mean that the interior decorated bowls of southeastern Europe were older than the censers of eastern Europe. However, new evidence of censers published in 2010 by N. V. Panasyuk show another picture.

### The earliest censers of eastern Europe

Recently, N. V. Panasyuk presented censers from 21 graves of the early phase of Catacomb culture in the steppe area of the Precaucasus (PANASYUK 2010), dated in absolute terms between 2800 and 2500 cal BC (*Fig. 4, Table 1*). Five radiocarbon dates from graves of the Early Catacomb culture with censers are available (*Fig. 5*). Three of them fall in the 1<sup>st</sup> half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, while one shows a slightly younger time period of the 27<sup>th</sup> to 24<sup>th</sup> centuries BC (Temrta III, kurgan 1, grave 1). One of the two dates for the catacomb grave 168 in the kurgan Ipatovo (district of Stavropol) should be disregarded due to a wide standard deviation (*Fig. 5*). Hence, the first three dates go well with the absolute chronology of the Early Catacomb culture. N. V. Panasyuk's research



Fig. 5. Radiocarbon datings for graves with censers of the Early Catacomb culture in southern Russia (dates were published by KORENEVSKII et al. 2007; SHISHLINA 2007; MIMOKHOD 2011)

and these dates provide evidence that there are censers contemporary with the interior decorated bowls of the Vučedol culture.

However, only 21 censers are known from the Early Catacomb culture. In the developed phases of the Eastern Catacomb culture the censers are considered a *Leitform*, in some regions they are found in every second burial and sometimes multiple examples are found in one grave.

Already in the Early Catacomb culture censers vary in morphology and ornamentation, but they are always decorated on the outside like the censers of the later phases (see *Fig. 1*; PANASYUK 2005b, Table 2). The foot shape of the censers of the Early Catacomb culture can be formed in different ways and may not take the form of a cross, as is typical for the Eastern Catacomb culture (*Fig. 4*). The inside of the vessel is often characterized by a small dividing ridge, whose function is unclear. In the early censers this particular feature is mostly missing. Basing on these 21 vessels N. V. Panasyuk presents a scheme of chronological development of the censers in southern Russia (PANASYUK 2010, 36–37). According to her most of their morphological and ornamental features already existed when the first censers were produced, which suggest an autonomous evolution of this vessel type. Her conclusions were substantiated by Roman Mimokhod (2009, 147–158), whose book was published nearly contemporaneously with the contribution of N. V. Panasyuk.

#### The censers in the North Pontic region

Following this discovery that the earliest censer of the Early Catacomb culture are dated before 2500 BC a similar occurrence is found in the graves of the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region. From this area today bowls similar to censers are known from eighteen burials in kurgans and from six settlements *(Fig. 6)*. Four more examples are stray finds. Most of the examples which were discovered in closed archaeological contexts can be attributed to the Yamnaya culture, which can be dated to the first half of 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC (*Table 1*; for the absolute chronology of Yamnaya culture see RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008, 60–67; NIKOLOVA – KAISER 2009). Unfortunately, none of the graves or settlements in which censers were found have been directly radiocarbon dated.

The censers were not only discovered in graves but also in settlements of the North Pontic region. As already mentioned, fragments of 40 censers were found in the upper layer of the Mikhailovka settlement in the Lower Dnieper region (*Fig. 10*; LAGODOVS'KA – SHAPOSHNIKOVA – MAKAREVICH 1962). This



Fig. 6. Distribution of the censers of the Early Catacomb culture and the censers of the Yamnaya culture

Sites with censers in the region between Dnieper and Carpathian Mountains
Triangles (▲): Yamnaya culture: red=burial; blue=settlement; grey=archaeological context unknown –
1: Dereivka, 2: Fedorovka, 3: Kapulovka, 4: Michailovka, 5: Moiseevka, 6: Mostovoe, 7: Nikolskoe, 8: Nizhnyi
Rogachik, 9: Novogrigorevka, 10: Novopetrovka, 11: Olgovka, 12: Ostrov Chortitsa, 13: Malaya Chortitsa,
14: Perun, 15: Simferopol, 16: Shchebutyntsi-Kulina, 17: Skadovsk, 18: Skelya Kamenolomnya, 19: Voiskovoe,
20: Vorona, 21: Zelenyi Gai, 22: Zlodievka, 23: Corlăteni, 24: Leontaevka, 25 Măcişeni
Burial sites of Early Catacomb, Novotitarovskaya, Yamnaya and Northcaucasian culture with censers
(according to PANASYUK 2010, Ris. 1 with additions)
Squares (■): censers: blue=Early Catacomb culture; red=Novotitarovskaya and Yamnaya culture; green=North
Caucasian culture – 1: Rasshevatskii I, 2: Veselaya Roshcha II, 3: Vostochnyi Manych (right bank, 1967),
4: Vostochnyi Manych (left bank, 1965), 5: Svetlograd, 6: Zunda-Tolga-6, 7: Ipatovo, 8: Novokubansk,
9: Proletarskii, 10: Ippodromni I, 11: Bryukhovetskii, 12: Lysnyanskii II, 13: Sharakhalsun 2, 14: Krasnoe
Znamya II, 15: Tri Brata I, 16: Chograiskii V, 17: Barkhanchak 2, 18: Inozemtsevo I, 19: Stanitsa
Novokorsunskaya, 20: Temrta III, 21: Ptichye I, 22: Stanitsa Novovelichkovskaya, 23: Zolotoi Kurgan,

24: Tonnelnyi-6, 25: Uspenskii, 26: Tsagan-Usn VII, 27: Zolotarevka-7, 28: Lugansk, VSGI, 29: Kitaevka, 30: Peschanyi V, 31: Gora Rakitnaya

settlement layer is usually dated to the final phase of the Yamnaya culture or to the transition to the Catacomb culture. Often even the bowl fragments themselves served as an argument for this proposal. However, still today it is not possible to date the upper layer of the Mikhailovka settlement in a narrow time span. The other ceramic types found in this layer only confirm a general attribution to the Yamnaya culture.

The question remains, do the censers of the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region represent the missing link between the censers of the Early Catacomb graves in south Russia and the interior decorated bowls in the Carpathian Basin? Morphologically the censers of the Yamnaya culture are extremely varied, the decoration is on the inside or on the outside of the vessel or even both and the decorative motifs also differ (*Figs* 7–10). The foot is shaped in various ways, but this is also common to


Fig. 7. Censer of the Yamnaya culture, Ukraine, without context, in the courtesy of National Historical Museum Kiev (drawing by the author)



Fig. 8. Censer of the Yamnaya culture, grave 5, tumulus 1, Skadovsk, Region of Kherson, Ukraine (unpublished material)



Fig. 9. Censer of the Yamnaya culture, grave near Dereivka (drawing by the author)



Fig. 10. Fragment of a censer of the Yamnaya culture, settlement of Mikhailovka at the Lower Dnieper (after LAGODOVS'KA – SHAPOSHNIKOVA – MAKAREVICH 1962, Ris. 33. 5a)

the censers in the Early Catacomb culture as well to the interior decorated bowls in southeastern Europe. In both the latter region and in the North Pontic area the censers or interior decorated bowls were found in graves as well as in settlements. Their number in settlements is higher, probably because fragments of more than one bowl are often found. As for southeastern Europe it can be assumed that intact specimens, discovered without any archaeological context would originally have stood in graves. In the Russian and Ukrainian literature the bowls found in the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic steppe are also named

censers, although they are not very similar to the censers proper of the Eastern Catacomb culture. From the area between the Dnieper and the Carpathian Mountains there are no examples with the characteristic feature of censers, that is the small ridge dividing the inner part of the bowl.

# Discussion

The archaeological information concerning the censers and the interior decorated bowls can be summarized as follows:

- 1. In southeastern Europe this vessel type appeared in the first half of 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC in the Vučedol and other cultures. The common feature of all bowls found in this vast territory is the decoration on the inside, while the form of the vessel including the foot varies (*Fig. 3*). Cross shaped foots are present only on particular bowls. The interior decorated bowls are widely disseminated in the first half of 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC (especially in sites which are designated to, or are contemporary with, the Vučedol culture). The number of bowls is decreasing after 2500/2400 cal BC. They were predominantly found in settlements, but this evidence might be biased by the fact that mainly settlements are preserved.
- 2. In the steppe area of southern Russia and partly eastern Ukraine the earliest censers can be dated to 2800–2500 cal BC. The ritual deposition of censers in graves mainly took part in the Eastern Catacomb culture, e.g. after 2500 cal BC. These censers are decorated only on their outside (*Fig. 1*). In this part of the eastern European steppe no settlements are known, so censers are assumed to have their main function in the burial rite. For the sake of brevity and clearness I am not going to discuss the complex regional groups of Eastern Catacomb culture in the middle course of the river Don, because it is not relevant here.
- 3. Both regions where interior decorated bowls and censers were found may be linked with the findings of a similar ceramic type in the North Pontic region. Interestingly, here the censers were found in settlements and in graves. All datable archaeological contexts can be designated to the Yamnaya culture, which precedes the Eastern Catacomb culture. With the exception of one fragment from the settlement Perun, situated on an island in the Dnieper (*Fig. 6. 14*), none of the bowls in this region can be dated later than 2500 cal BC.

In my argument I have emphasized the regional differences of this specific vessel type. But despite all differences censers and interior decorated bowls also show some similarities, although these are difficult to describe concretely. The similar visual appearance of both types leads to a more or less intuitive comparison. It is mainly the cross shaped foot, which represent a characteristic feature of these pottery types in both cultural areas. This was the basis for the earlier assumption that the emergence of censers and interior decorated bowls cannot be regarded as a pure convergent phenomenon.

Unfortunately, little is known about the function of this vessel type. Although the term censer suggests that burnt material remains were found inside the vessel, in reality few excavators describe the bowl content. F. Hančar (1945, 72), for example, mentioned that one censer found in the kurgans of *Tri brata* (Three brothers) was filled with charcoal and ashes. A. A. Ierusalimskaya (1957, 45) pointed out that inside the bowl ochre was found along with charcoal. A paleobotanical analysis of the burnt organic materials from the censer has only been conducted in one case with the results revealing phytolyths of cannabis and wild cereal species (SHISHLINA 2007, 337, Table 38). In particular regional groups of the Catacomb culture the censers were deposited upside down and there is no evidence of the original content.

Even less information is available for the censers of the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region. The fact of placing the decoration on the inside of the vessel may lead to the assumption that they were used for purposes other than burning materials or using ochre. If we argue that the morphological and formal similarities of this vessel type and their contemporaneity cannot be explained by chance, than we need to question their relationship. Despite this we should bear in mind that this vessel type was disseminated in two completely different regions and probably had different functions. We can discuss three possibilities concerning interregional interaction.

The first hypothesis proposes that the censers of the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region reflect the influence of the Vučedol and contemporary cultures in southeastern Europe. In the Vučedol culture the interior decorated bowls represent a *Leitform*. Only sixty specimen from twenty four sites are known from the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region. Unfortunately, the censers of the Yamnaya culture vary substantially in shape and decoration, so it is impossible to link them with one or several bowl types of the cultures in southeastern Europe. If the Yamnaya types actually represent an impact from the west, they seem to represent only imitations of the southeast European bowls. The fact that they were found not only in graves but also in settlements of the Yamnaya culture is, in my opinion, a further indication for an influence coming from the Carpathian Basin, where significantly more bowls with inner decoration were found in settlement layers than in graves.

The Yamnaya culture was present in the vast territory from the Cis-Urals to the Lower Danube at a time when interior decorated bowls were abundant in southeastern Europe. However, censers were found only in the Yamnaya graves of the most western area, which connects the steppe region with southeastern Europe. Furthermore, there is scarce evidence of direct ceramic imports and imitations from the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture in nowadays Hungary or in the Yamnaya graves in the Dnieper region (RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008). Without any mineralogical analysis it is not possible to prove an import proper of interior decorated bowls to the steppe region, but a comparison of morphological similitaries provided G. Kulcsár (2009, 139) with the basis to link an example from the grave at Corlăteni (northwestern Pontic region) directly with a specimen found in the inner part of the Carpathian Basin.

In my opinion the aforementioned facts indicate that the censers of the Yamnaya culture emerged as the result of an impact from the Vučedol culture in southeastern Europe. However, the scarce evidence does not allow to answer further questions, for example, whether and how the specific symbolic meaning of the interior decorated bowls was also transfered to the North Pontic region

It is also impossible to argue whether or not the emergence of censers in the Early Catacomb culture is connected to the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region. In eastern European literature most researchers were convinced and most remain convinced that a tradition deriving from the northern Caucasus gave rise to the censers of the Catacomb culture. Only L. S. Klein (1966) argued in favour of a western origin of the Catacomb culture, also based upon the similarities of interior decorated bowls and censers.

The direction of influence can also be thought to go from the east to the west, which would be the second hypothesis: in this scenario the censers of the Yamnaya culture were produced more or less contemporaneously with the censers in the Early Catacomb culture between 2800 and 2500 cal BC. In parallel a few specimen were discovered in graves of the Yamnaya culture and the Novotitarovskaya culture of southern Russia (*Fig. 6. 4, 9, 11, 15–16, 19, 22, 26*). The latter is a regional group of the Yamnaya culture with very distinct features, so it is often understood as an independent archaeological culture (GEI 2000). But to connect the emergence of the censers in sites of the Yamnaya culture in the North Pontic region with an infiltration from the Early Catacomb culture seems unlikely, because only a small number of censers was discovered in both cultures. Indeed, the censers only became numerous in the Eastern Catacomb culture after 2500 cal BC. Only then did the censers become a *Leitform* in eastern Europe. By contrast, in the Vučedol culture a great number of interior decorated bowls are already represented before the middle of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. Therefore, it seems highly unlikely that the censers represent an archetype for the interior decorated bowls in southeastern Europe.

Finally, we cannot exclude a third hypothesis that proposes an autonomous development of censers in eastern Europe and interior decorated bowls in southeastern Europe. Even for the examples in the North

Pontic region an autonomous development cannot be completely denied. Importantly, in some cases bowls standing on small feet may even date to the 4<sup>th</sup> millennium BC bowls. However, an independent development of censers in all three regions also seems unlikely, especially as censer production and usage started without a significant time gap.

#### Conclusion

In concluding I would like to maintain that the censers of the Yamnaya culture can be seen as an indication of mutual contacts between cultures in the Carpathian Basin and the North Pontic region, although the evidence is relatively scarce and the absolute dating is still problematic. It seems most likely that it was the idea behind the symbolic meaning of bowls standing on a foot that was brought to the steppe, rather than the interior decorated bowls themselves. In this case, the inhabitants of the North Pontic region started to produce their own types and used them in settlements and sporadically also as grave goods. This diversity in production and usage might be the reason why the types of these bowls differ so essentially that it is hard to establish a detailed typological classification.

Interior decorated bowls are not the only ceramic form that was brought from the Carpathian Basin to the North Pontic steppe. Recently a real import of a vessel with asymmetric handles, typical for the Post-Vučedol cultures in the Carpathian Basin was published. It was discovered in a grave of the Yamnaya culture in southern Ukraine. Besides this example several imitations of vessels with asymmetric handles are known in the North Pontic region (RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008). Therefore, this specific vessel type and the interior decorated bowls confirm that it was not only the steppe inhabitants who exerted influence upon cultures in southeast Europe, but this influence was also exerted in the other direction. Although a number of aspects remain problematic, this conclusion can be drawn from the detailed examination of censers and interior decorated bowls as outlined in this article. Hence, interior decorated bowls can no longer be understood as an element of the so-called Yamnaya package, as described by R. Harrison and V. Heyd (2007, 197). It is more likely that the censers found in the Yamnaya graves of the North Pontic region are a result of an influence of the Vučedol culture.

Whether or not further influence stretched as far as the eastern Ukraine and southern Russia, which would lead to the argument that the production of the first censers in the Early Catacomb culture was evolved by an impulse from the cultures in southeastern Europe, cannot be suggested with the current archaeological evidence. An autonomous development or a transfer of an idea from the northern Caucasus to the adjacent steppe zone in present-day southern Russia seems more likely (PANASYUK 2010). However, this would be an issue for another paper. In this paper my main aim was to point out the importance of a critical review of one piece of archaeological evidence of mutual relationships between the inhabitants of the North Pontic steppe and the Carpathian Basin during the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Vajk Szeverényi, Volker Heyd and Gabriella Kulcsár for inviting me to their session "Transition to the Bronze Age: interregional interaction and socio-cultural change at the beginning of the third millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin and surrounding regions" at the 16<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the EAA in The Hague, September 2010. My special thanks go to Susanna Harris for the very helpful discussion and her patience when correcting the English text.

#### 151

# References

# ANTHONY, D. W. 2007

The Horse, the Wheel and the Language. How Bronze Age Riders shaped the World. Princeton, Oxford.

### BURGER, I. 1980

Die chronologische Stellung der Fußschalen in den endneolithischen Kulturgruppen Mittel- und Südosteuropas. In: Spindler, K. (Hrsg.): *Vorzeit zwischen Main und Donau*. Erlanger Forschungen Reihe A 26, Erlangen 1980, 11–45.

## Gei, A. I. 2000

Novotitarovskaya kultura. Moskva.

### HANČAR, F. 1949

Kreuzförmige Räucherschalen aus dem Tale des Manyč. *Suomen Muinaismuistoykdistyksen Aikakauskiria* 45 (1945) 65–80.

### HANSEN, S. 2011

Technische und soziale Innovationen in der zweiten Hälfte des 4. Jahrtausends v. Chr. In: Hansen, S. – Müller, J. (Hrsg.): *Sozialarchäologische Perspektiven: Gesellschaftlicher Wandel 5000–1500 v. Chr. zwischen Atlantik und Kaukasus.* Archäologie in Eurasien 24, Mainz 2011, 153–192.

### HARRISON, R. – HEYD, V. 2007

The Transformation of Europe in the Third Millennium BC: the example of 'Le Petit-Chasseur I + III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 82 (2007) 129–214.

### Heyd, V. 2011

Yamnaya groups and tumuli west of the Black Sea. In: Borgna, E. – Müller-Celka, S. (eds): *Ancestral landscapes. Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages.* Travaux de la maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 58, Lyon 2011, 535–556.

# IERUSALIMSKAYA, A. A. 1957

Kurilnitsy bronzovogo veka iz Predkavskazskykh stepei v sobranii Ermitazha. *Arkheologicheskii Sbornik Gosudarstvennogo Ermitazha* 2 (1957) 45–47.

# KLEIN, L. S. 1966

Prototypi katakombnykh kurilnits i problema proiskhozhdenya katakombnoi kultury. *Arkheologicheskii Sbornik Gosudarstevennogo Ermitazha* 8 (1966) 5–17.

### KORENEVSKII, S. N. – BELINSKII, A. B. – KALMYKOV, A. A. 2007 Bolshoi Ipatovskii kurgan na Stavropole. Moskva.

### KULCSÁR, G. 1999

Kora bronzkori belső díszes talpas tálak a Dunántúlon – The Early Bronze Age internally decorated bowls from the Transdanubia. *Savaria–Pars Archaeologica* 24/3 (1998–1999 [1999]) 115–139.

# KULCSÁR, G. 2009

The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. The Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and the Somogyvár-Vinkovci Cultures in Hungary. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest.

# LAGODOVSKA, O. F. – SHAPOSHNIKOVA, O. G. – MAKAREVICH, M. L. 1962 *Mikhailivske poselennya*. Kyiv.

### MARAN, J. 1998

Kulturwandel auf dem griechischen Festland und den Kykladen im späten 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Studien zu den kulturellen Verhältnissen in Südosteuropa und dem zentralen sowie östlichen *Mittelmeerraum in der späten Kupfer- und frühen Bronzezeit.* Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 53, Bonn.

# MIMOKHOD, R. A. 2009

Kurgany epokhi bronzy-rannego zheleznogo veka v Saratovskom Povolzhe: kharakteristika i kulturno-khronologicheskaya atributsiya kompleksov. Materialy okhrannykh arkheologicheskikh issledovanii 10, Moskva.

# NĚMEJCOVÁ-PAVÚKOVÁ, V. 1968

Äneolithische Siedlung und Stratigraphie in Iža. Slovenská Archeológia 26 (1968) 353-433.

### NIKOLOVA, A. V. – KAISER, E. 2009

Die absolute Chronologie der Jamnaja-Kultur im nördlichen Schwarzmeergebiet auf der Grundlage erster dendrochronologischer Daten. *Eurasia Antiqua* 15 (2009) 205–236.

# Novotný, B. 1955

Slavónska kultúra v Československu. Slovenská Archeológia 3 (1955) 5-69.

### PANASYUK, N. V. 2005a

Osobyi typ katakombnykh kurilnits. In: Garanina, V. A. – Limberis, N. I. – Marchenko, I. I. (red.): *Chetvertaya Kubanskaya arkheologicheskaya konferentsiya. Tezisy i doklady.* Krasnodar 2005, 193–196.

# PANASYUK, N. V. 2005b

Opyt tipologicheskogo analiza katakombnykh kurilnits. In: *Problemy doslidzhennya pamyatok arkheologiï skhidnoï Ukraïny. Materialy.* Lugansk 2005, 63–66.

## PANASYUK, N. V. 2006

Katakombnye kurilnitsy Prikubanya. In: Garanina, V. A. – Limberis, N. I. – Marchenko, I. I. (red.): *Pyataya Kubanskaya arkheologicheskaya konferentsiya. Tezisy.* Krasnodar 2006, 291–295.

### PANASYUK, N. V. 2010

Rannekatakombnye kurilnitsy Stepnogo Predkavkazya. Rossiiskaya Arkheologiya 2010, 25–38.

### POPOVA, T. B. 1957

K voprosu o kurilnitsakh "Severokavkazskogo tipa". Sovetskaya Arkheologiya 1957, 161-177.

### RASSAMAKIN, Y. YA. - NIKOLOVA, A. 2008

Carpathian Imports and Imitations in Context of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea Steppe Area. In: Biehl, P. F. – Rassamakin, Y. Ya. (eds): *Import and Imitation in Archaeology*. Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraums 11, Langenweißbach 2008, 51–87.

# RUTTKAY, E. 1975

Über einige Fragen der Laibach-Vučedol-Kultur in Niederösterreich und im Burgenland. *Arheološki Vestnik* 14 (1975) 38–71.

#### SHISHLINA, N. I. 2002

O severokavkazko-katakombnykh pogrebeniyakh Kalmykii. Voprosy arkheologii Povolzhya 2 (2002) 81–100.

### SHISHLINA, N. I. 2007

*Severo-zapadnyi Prikaspii v epokhu bronzy (IV–III tysyachelie do n. e.).* Trudy Gosudarstvennogo Istoricheskogo Muzeya 165, Moskva.

# YEGOROV, V. G. 1970

Klassifikatsiya kurilnits katakombnoi kultury. In: Kolchin, B. A. – Sher, Ya. A. (Hrsg.): *Statistiko-kombinatornye metody v arkheologii*. Moskva 1970, 156–164.

# Multidisciplinary Contributions to the Study of Pit Grave Culture Kurgans of the Great Hungarian Plain<sup>1</sup>

TÜNDE HORVÁTH – JÁNOS DANI – ÁKOS PETŐ – ŁUKASZ POSPIESZNY – ÉVA SVINGOR

### Abstract

The aim of our paper is to provide analytical data to the multidisciplinary research of Pit Grave culture kurgans of the Carpathian Basin. The data presented in the following have chronological, cultural, environmental and anthropological implications. People of the Pit Grave culture inhabited the Carpathian Basin during the Late Copper and Early Bronze Age. Radiocarbon dates of Pit Grave culture kurgans and other contemporary cultures help to integrate this cultural complex in the prehistory of the Carpathian Basin. Environmental data – from two archaeological sites – provide detailed information on the environmental setting this culture lived in, and information on nutritional habits as well as burial rituals.

### Introduction

After having seen the groundbreaking publication of István Ecsedy's book about the theme ("The People of the Pit Grave kurgans in Eastern Hungary") in 1979, new excavations were made and new research methods and results have emerged in the last 30 years. These facts, and a new approach concerning to the formation of the European Early Bronze Age, have led us to a new summary of the topic. The short case studies presented here complement previously published, more extended summaries on the topic (e.g., DANI 2011; HORVÁTH 2011a; PETŐ – BARCZI [eds] 2011; BARCZI *et al.* 2012).

The first part of the paper gives an overview on the environmental and burial reconstruction of the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom kurgan (*Fig. 4*). Based on these, we formulate a preliminary hypothesis on the possible annual migration patterns of the Pit Grave culture populations of the Carpathian Basin.

The second part of this contribution presents the stable isotope data gained from the primary burial of the Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom kurgan (*Fig. 5*).

The third part gives an overview on the new magnetometric survey of Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Szálláshalom, which is situated to the south of the Lyukashalom (*Fig. 9*).

In the fourth part, we aim give an overview on the absolute chronology of the kurgan burials and compare these to the contemporary cultures (Baden, Makó and Nyírség) of the Carpathian Basin. An attempt is made to integrate the radiocarbon dates in the relative chronological system of the prehistoric Carpathian Basin. Suggestions are made on possible changes based on the result of this integration. Besides, we attempt to harmonise the radiocarbon dates of kurgan burials of the Carpathian Basin with the chronology of the North Pontic steppes and the spread of the Pit Grave culture to the Balkans and to Central Europe.

Finally, a cultural and chronological system of the earliest steppe cultures of the Carpathian Basin is developed on the basis of the new radiocarbon dates and archaeological finds, which is synchronized with the existing chronological system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This paper was an oral presentation at the EAA 2010 in The Hague, in the session "Transition to the Bronze Age: Interregional Interaction and Socio-Cultural Change at the Beginning of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin and Surrounding Regions". The presentation is available from the official website: http://www.academia.edu/2155452/EAA\_2010\_Hague\_2010\_szeptember\_2-4\_J.\_Dani\_-\_T.\_Horvath\_Yamnaya\_Intrusion\_in\_Northeastern\_Hungary\_and\_the\_Transition\_from\_the\_Late\_Copper\_to\_the\_Early\_Bronze\_Age.



Fig. 1. The territory of Pit Grave culture in Hungary (by T. Horváth)

# A short summary of the environmental and burial reconstruction of Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom

The Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom kurgan was subjected to broad spectra of environmental analyses (for details see PETŐ – BARCZI [eds] 2011), among them palaeobotanical ones. The palaeobotanical analysis, which included phytolith and pollen recovery from the buried soil, the cultural layers of the kurgan, as well as the primary burial aimed at reconstructing the environmental setting of the Pit Grave population and the ritual of the primary burial. The results of the environmental reconstruction have been discussed in detail earlier by Ákos Pető and Linda Scott Cummings (2011), Attila Barczi and Katalin Joó (2011), Attila Csanádi and Tivadar M. Tóth (2011) and recently by A. Barczi and his colleagues (2012). The detailed reconstruction of the primary burial is not entirely finished, thus preliminary data show resemblance with the details of the environmental reconstruction.

The phytolith analysis of the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom yielded data that reflect a steppedominated environment. Data derived from samples taken from the surface of the buried palaeosoil undoubtedly support this theory, as its microfossil composition is dominated by steppeland indicators



Fig. 2. Environment of the Tiszavasvári and Hajdúnánás microregion in the Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age 1–3 periods (by T. Horváth) — Boleraz/Baden settlement: Wienerberger téglagyár; Baden settlements: Kásaföld, Koldusdomb, Muszkadomb; Baden graves: Keresztfal, Paptelekhát; Baden (?) and Yamnaya graves: Gyepáros; Yamnaya graves: Deákhalom I–II, Kashalom, Lyukashalom; Cotofeni find: Lyukashalom; find with cord decoration: Koldusdomb; Makó settlement: Városföldje-Jegyzőtag; Nyírség settlements: Betepart, Fejérszik, Gyepáros, Keresztfal, Muszkadomb, Nyugati főcsatorna, Paptelekhát, Utasér-part, Városföldje-Jegyzőtag, Sanislău/Szaniszló: Dankó tanya, Végvár

(PETŐ – CUMMINGS 2011, Fig. 3). The amount of arboreal detritus correlated with the total biomorph content, and the occasional appearance (low percentage values) of phytolith morphotypes indicating arboreal vegetation refer to a former grove, grassland vegetation with discrete tree species that may have inhabited this part of the surrounding area, but did not form closed forest habitats (BARCZI – GOLYEVA – PETŐ 2009). Both the existence of closed forest vegetation and an open steppe land lacking any arboreal species can be rejected. Palynological data give more precise insight to possible arboreal appearance in the vicinity of the kurgan and its wider environment.

Arboreal species identified by pollen grains surviving in the buried soil can be grouped in order to interpret their ecological information. *Pinus sylvestris* L., *Picea abies* L. Karsten, and *Fagus sylvatica* L. are



Fig. 3. Location of Pit Grave culture kurgans on the territory of Hungary, Romania, Moldova, Serbia and Bulgaria. Within the territory of Hungary doubtful kurgan sites are marked with grey dots (by T. Horváth)



Fig. 4. Visual reconstruction of the primary burial (Feature 2, Grave 1) of the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom kurgan (graphics by Viktor Szinyei)



*Fig. 5. Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom, Kurgan II — 1: the site on the map of the Third Ordinance Survey, 2: groundplan of the kurgan, 3: drawing and 4: photo of Grave 6* 

all representatives of mountainous areas. As their pollen is distributed by aeolian process to long distances, the appearance of these pollen grains are considered external, and give neither a local, nor a regional signal. Furthermore, *Pinus* species can only be considered local if their pollen rate in the signal exceeds 25% (HUNTLEY – BIRKS 1983), which was not met in this case (PETŐ – CUMMINGS 2011, Fig. 4). A better interpretation of regional flora can be made based on the appearance of *Salix, Tilia, Ulmus, Moraceae* and *Alnus* genera. As the study site is, and has always been, in the closer environment of, although not next to, the Tisza River, these taxa reflect grove forests that inhabited the higher flood plain of lowland river valleys. Plant associations, such as *Fraxino pannonicae–Ulmetum, Senecio fluviatilis–Populetum* or *Leucojo aestivo–Salicetum* can all be characterised to a greater or lesser extent by the identified taxa. The amount of *Quercus* pollen exceeds 2.0% identifying it as a local element of the closer vicinity. In this case, *Quercus* represents a transition between groves and forest steppes as it may be part of both. The so-called shrub-effect in the samples is represented by the appearance of low amounts of *Juniperus* (typical of sandy territories, such as the neighbouring Nyírség region), *Berberidaceae* and *Corylus* pollens.

Although the interpretation of arboreal taxa draws diverse scenery, it must be taken into account that arboreal pollens are underrepresented in all of the samples. The examined samples were dominated by non-arboreal herbaceous plants. Therefore, the local vegetational patterns should be interpreted based on the phytolith and non-arboreal record.

The primary pattern of the territory is influenced by the *Gramineae* and *Asteraceae* plant families (PETŐ – CUMMINGS 2011, Fig. 5). While arboreal pollen gave a good overview of the tree species possibly inhabiting the kurgan's wider surroundings, herbaceous pollens – combined with the phytolith analytical results – may give an insight of the local flora. Microterritorial vegetation differences can be adjusted based on the rate of the *Liguliflorae* sub-family and *Gramineae* family. Phytolith analysis showed that the central territory of the kurgan was dominated by *Gramineae* species of (semi)arid steppe vegetation, so *Gramineae* pollen can be accepted as an indicator of a former steppe, probably located on a micro loess ridge. *Liguliflorea* sub-family is considered as an indicator of a – probably periodically – water-effected meadow mosaic. Based on the distribution of the above-mentioned indicators we may reconstruct the territory of the kurgan as described below: the central part of the kurgan's base was probably inhabited by steppe vegetation, was inhabited by species more likely to be related to water-effected vegetation (*Liguliflorea*) (see PETŐ – CUMMINGS 2011, Fig. 6).

Besides the external arboreal pollens, there is one observation, which opens up questions related to the reconstruction of the landscape. The presence of *Nymphaea* pollen (PETŐ – CUMMINGS 2011, Table 3) suggests the closeness of standing water either in the form of an abandoned meander of the river Tisza or as a flatland lake.

Possible evidence of plant cultivation in the closer environment of the kurgan is shown by cereal and plough weed pollens found in most of the samples. The typical species of cereal cultivation of the Late Copper and Early Bronze Age are *Triticum*, *Hordeum* and *Pannicum* (GYULAI 2001).

Samples from the primary burial were subjected to pollen and phytolith analysis, whilst FT-IR was applied in order to gain data on the circumstances and the possible date of the burial ritual.<sup>2</sup>

Samples taken from the ground surface of the primary burial are dominated by steppeland species. We aimed at placing the time of burial in a calendar year by compiling a pollen calendar of the predominant species recovered from the samples of the primary burial, based upon the theory that species that spread their pollen grains later during the vegetational period will mark the possible date of the ritual. Since the samples are dominated by *Gramineae* and *Asteraceae* pollen grains, the relative time of the burial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR) and the pollen analysis were conducted by Melissa Logan and Linda Scott Cummings at the PaleoResearch Institute, Golden, Colorado, USA.

	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October
Alnus sp.									
Picea sp.									
Pinus sp.									
Quercus sp.									
Salix sp.									
Artemisia sp.									
Corylus avellana L.									
Gramineae									

Table 1. Pollen calendar compiled based upon the pollen record of samples collected from the base burial at Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom kurgan — dark gray fields indicate the main flowering, whilst the light gray fields the pre- and post-flowering periods of the taxa listed in the pollen calendar

can be placed between May and July (see red frame on *Table 1*). The only taxon that broadens this time interval is the *Artemisia* genus, which starts to distribute its pollens at the turn of June/July. These results however are only accepted as preliminary data, since we are aware that the method of identifying annual burial time based on pollen distribution of the ground surface of the burial might have different interpretations as well. At this point of the research, it is not possible to undoubtedly rely on the time interval given by the pollen spectra, but we accept this outcome as guideline for a possible burial date.

FT-IR analyses were performed on soil samples collected from different locations from the base of the grave (burial) and on a sample taken from the mat with red and black stripes (see also HORVÁTH 2011a, 108, Fig. 6). Samples collected from the side of the grave gave signals of galactoglucomannan and rhamnogalacturonan. Galactoglucomannan is a primary component of the woody tissue of coniferous plants (Gymnosperms) (BOCHICCHIO – REICHER 2003). Rhamnogalacturonans are specific pectic polysaccharides that reside in the cell walls of all land plants, and result from the degradation of pectin (WILLATS *et al.* 2001). These peaks indicate the possible presence of wood in this area, however it is difficult to assess, whether these signals are the result of secondary contamination, or they truly represent wood material used for constructing the burial/grave.

Organic residues extracted from the mat decorated with red paint were tested for protein and organic residues. Protein residue analysis yielded a weak positive to human on the leather fragment recovered (CUMMINGS – LOGAN 2009). This is possibly the result of association with the burial and decay of bodily fluids and tissues, rather than suggesting the origin of the leather. No other positive reactions were noted, so it was not possible to identify the origin of the leather conclusively. The position of this leather or skin within the burial might be crucial to answering this question. The organic residue signature for the leather fragment included peaks representing the presence of absorbed water, fats/oils/lipids and/or plant waxes, aromatic esters, aromatic rings, pectin, proteins including nucleic acids, and the amino acid valine (CUMMINGS – LOGAN 2009). Valine, an essential amino acid, is represented in this sample by a peak at 1451 wave numbers. Common dietary sources of valine include fish, poultry, and some legumes. Matches with this signature were made with bird blood and humates. The presence of bird blood, which is interpreted at a general level indicating animals, rather than at the specific level, indicates the presence of animal proteins in the sample, which would be expected for leather. The FT-IR signatures for animal bloods, including humans, are nearly identical, which makes it impossible to identify the specific species or type of animal leather. Finding a match with animal blood does seem to support the possibility that the sample represents a piece of leather; however, identification of raw protein using protein residue analysis, which is based on immunological techniques, is the only method to identify specific animal proteins, and confirm that the sample is a piece of leather. The match with humates probably indicates the presence of the local environmental signature representing the deterioration of plant materials in the sediments in which the leather fragment was buried.

Based on the archaeological finds recovered at the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom kurgan, the site can be linked to the Pit Grave culture. Since the skeleton in the primary burial was disturbed, it is difficult to identify more precisely the cultural affiliation of the kurgan. Based on the way the skeleton was lying, Pre-Pit Grave communities cannot be excluded, the radiocarbon dates, however, seem to exclude this (younger than 3000 BC).

The kurgan was constructed in multiple steps (see also BARCZI – JOÓ 2011; CSANÁDI – M. TÓTH 2011 for details). The feature – probably a grave – associated with the third cultural layer of the construction was almost entirely robbed, we can only rely on radiocarbon dates gained from the layers and the construction of the grave itself. Since the construction differs from the primary burial, we might conclude that these belonged to different Pit Grave populations, however the radiocarbon dates suggest that these populations appeared very close in time to each other at the location. The primary burial and the one in the third cultural layer can be identified as either Pre-Pit Grave and Early Pit Grave or Early Pit Grave and Late Pit Grave. The later concept is underlined by the absolute chronological dates. Ceramic sherd fragments of Cotofeni III and Early Bronze Age cultures were recovered from the third cultural layer. Moreover, the phenomenon of the burial process, namely that the person was rolled in a mat composed of plant material and laid on the kurgan without any pit dug into the already existing kurgan body, is a typical characteristic of Early Bronze Age cultures influenced by Pit Grave effects (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 24).

Based on what we already know about the time of burial and the environment of the kurgan, it might be concluded that the Hajdúság and the archaeological site could have been part of the summer occupation and settling area of one of the westernmost Pit Grave populations of the Eurasian steppe belt.

#### Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom, Kurgan II

The Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom (II) kurgan is situated approximately 150 meters north-west of Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom (*Fig. 2*). Several mounds and burials have been excavated here (*Fig. 5*) by the archaeologists of the Jósa András Museum (Nyíregyháza, Hungary) (DANI 2011, 27–28).

Altogether six graves were found in kurgan II at Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom. The two most interesting ones were selected for radiocarbon dating and stable isotope measurements. Grave 3 was a secondary grave intersecting the original mound, and was dated generally to the Late Copper/Early Bronze Age. It contained remains of an adult male, placed in a straight position on his back. The skeleton was equipped with a hair-ring made of bronze wire. Grave 6 was dug in the palaeosoil buried under the formation. However, it is not certain whether it was the primary burial of the mound or not, since it was located 14 meters from the geometric centre of the kurgan. An adult male was buried in straight position on his back in a log "coffin", and probably covered with animal skin or fur. No other grave goods were preserved.

Collagen samples were taken from single bones of both individuals, and have been subjected to AMS <sup>14</sup>C dating at the Poznań Radiocarbon Laboratory. The sample taken from a bone from Grave 6 was dated twice and sent to the Polish Geological Institute (National Research Institute in Warsaw) for stable isotope analysis ( $\delta^{15}$ N and  $\delta^{13}$ C).

C:N values of both samples indicate a rather low degree of preservation of collagen. In case of collagen from Grave 6 it significantly exceeds the recommended interval (VAN KLINKEN 1999; BRONK RAMSEY 2004). The result of the dating from Grave 3 undermines its initial dating to the Early Bronze Age, placing it between 11<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> century AD (*Table 2, Fig. 6*). For the human collagen sample from Grave 6 two radiocarbon determinations were obtained. As they relate to the same event they were combined together for calibration. At 95.4% probability from the Bayesian model the burial dates to 3091–2926 cal BC, with the mean age of 3011 cal BC (*Table 2, Fig. 7*).



Fig. 6. Calibrated age probability distributions for the individuals from Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II kurgan

Grave No.	Lab. ID	BP	SD	Sample	68.2% (1σ)	95.4% (2σ)	μ	С %	N %	C:N	δ <sup>13</sup> C ‰	δ <sup>15</sup> N ‰
3	Poz- 39208	935	30	metacarpal bone	1038–1153	1025–1164	1098	9.6	2.5	3.84	-	-
(	Poz- 39209	4350	40	C (11	3012–2910	3090–2894	2977	4.2	0.9	4.67	-20.4	12.7
6	Poz- 40857	4430	30	frontal bone	3307–2944	3326–2926	3098					

Table 2. Radiocarbon and stable isotopes results for the individuals from Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II kurgan

Stable isotopes ratios in humans' bone collagen are related to the protein part of their diet (AMBROSE 1993). The  $\delta^{13}$ C value in a consumer's bone collagen is approximately 5‰ more positive than the dietary source. The  $\delta^{15}$ N value expresses the trophic level of the consumer and is enriched by approximately 3‰. For a better understanding of the results received for Grave 6 of Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II, they were compared with the published data set obtained for human and animal bones from the Early and Middle Chalcolithic of the Great Hungarian Plain. These reference samples were obtained from the cemetery of Tiszapolgár-Basatanya, from Phase I of the Tiszapolgár culture and from Phase II, which is related to the Bodrogkeresztúr culture, and from the Bodrogkeresztúr culture cemetery at Magyarhomorog (GIBLIN 2011, Appendix A).

Julia Giblin concluded earlier in her study that the investigated Chalcolithic populations consumed terrestrial plants and animals. Fish and millet (or other type of C4 plants) did not constitute a substantial part of their diet (GIBLIN 2011, 272). Relatively high  $\delta^{15}$ N values indicate that a significant portion of the protein in their diet came from animals (meat and dairy products). The  $\delta^{15}$ N value of the sample of Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom was higher in relation to the comparative series. It is plausible, therefore that, the diet of the investigated individual relied largely on animal derived protein (HEDGES – REYNARD 2007, 1248) excluding fish (see BONSALL *et al.* 1997, 77, Fig. 8). Hence, the assumed offset of the radiocarbon age due to freshwater reservoir effect (LANTING – VAN DER PLICHT 1998) is insignificant. The isotopic signal possibly reflects a subsistence strategy similar to pastoralism (*Fig. 8*).

The evaluation of the analytical dates connects Grave 6 of Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II with its particular burial rite and relatively early radiocarbon dates to the Pre-Pit Grave Kvityana culture.



Calibrated date (calBC)



Fig. 7. Calibrated probability distributions of the combined radiocarbon dates of Grave 6 from Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II kurgan



Fig. 8. Isotopic ratios in human bone collagen of the individuals from the Early and Middle Chalcolithic cemeteries on the Great Hungarian Plain (after GIBLIN 2011) and Grave 6 from Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II kurgan

# Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Szálláshalmi dűlő

1500 meter south-west from Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom, in the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Szálláshalmi dűlő, a field survey was conducted in 2010. Two natural and/or artificial mounds were identified in the close vicinity of each other. At the so-called Kis-Szálláshalom a geophysical survey was conducted in order to identify if it is a destroyed kurgan or not (*Fig. 9*).

The Hajdúnánás–Tiszavasvári microregion was densely inhabited in the Late Copper Age (3600–2800 BC) and during the transitional period between Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age (2800–2600 BC). In the Early Bronze Age 1–3 periods (2600–2000/1900 BC), a dense network of sites existed here (*Fig. 2*). Baden-Viss type sites (settlement traces and extramural or intramural graves) were noticed in seven cases; Coţofeni sherds as stray finds in one; Pre-Pit Grave/Pit-Grave kurgan sites in approximately 50 (many were destroyed by modern agricultural practice); a cord decorated sherd as stray find in one; a Makó site in one; Nyírség sites (burials and settlement traces) in nine and Sanislău settlements in two cases.

The potential kurgan at Kis-Szálláshalom is marked on the topographical map and has been confirmed by a field survey in the spring of 2010. Precise elevation measurements and geophysical survey were applied on a selected part of the site to identify burial pits, as well as the size and the state of preservation of the mound.

Magnetometry was chosen for the geophysical survey (ASPINALL – GAFFNEY – SCHMIDT 2008). This method is designed to measure the anomalies in the Earth's magnetic field, caused by near-surface layers and archaeological features of enhanced magnetic susceptibility. The anomalies are initiated by remnant and induced magnetisation. These processes relate to objects made of metal, bricks, decaying or burnt organic materials (humus, wood, plants, bodies of animals and humans), ferromagnetic rocks, etc. The measurements were made with a Bartington Fluxgate Grad 601-1 magnetometer, in a parallel mode. Twenty-five data grids ( $20.0 \times 20.0$  m each), covering an area of 10,000 m<sup>2</sup>, were surveyed. The data was processed in the Geoplot 3.0 application.

No clear magnetic anomalies related to the kurgan burial mound were registered. However, a complex structure of settlement or causewayed enclosure features (ditch, palisade?) were discovered (on the basis of the material found on the surface it is identified as a multi-component Middle and Late Neolithic, and Early Copper Age tell(?)/enclosed-settlement with LBK, Esztár and Tiszapolgár potsherds).

In the Upper Tisza region, there are some sites, where antecedent Neolithic and Early Copper Age cultures are connected to the Pit Grave kurgan sites in the same time interval. This phenomenon can probably be seen at the Kis-Szálláshalom site as well: all detected prehistoric cultures need high places close to water for settling. Neolithic traces were excavated under the kurgan sites of Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom (Mesolithic animal bones and uncharacteristic Neolithic potsherds, Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II (Tiszadob culture, Middle Neolithic), in the palaeosoil of Tiszavasvári-Gyepáros, and at the field survey at Hajdúnánás-Zöldhalom and Nagy-Vidi halom. Such phenomena also occurred at some of the kurgan sites in the Hortobágy region as well (Hortobágy-Halászlaponyag, -Papegyháza: old excavations).

### Absolute and relative chronology

According to the Hungarian chronology, nomads of the Eurasian steppes reached the eastern part of the Carpathian Basin between the Middle/Late Copper Age and the Early Bronze Age. The following tables give a summary of the radiocarbon dates that were obtained from finds of steppe and contemporary cultures inhabiting the Carpathian Basin. Based on the radiocarbon dates, the steppe cultures could be divided on a chronological and cultural basis. This division was harmonised with the Hungarian prehistoric terminology (*Tables 3–4, 6*).



Fig. 9. Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Kis-Szálláshalom and Nagy-Szálláshalom — 1–2: location of the sites,
3: plot of results of magnetometric prospection, 4: plot of results of magnetometric survey overimposed on digital elevation model

Labor ID	Name of the archaeological site	Cultural affiliation	Type of the sample	BP	calibrated BC (1 σ, 68.2%)
		OCHRE GRAVE (			
Poz-41865	Csongrád-Kettőshalom	Steppe Ochre Graves Period I	human bone Grave 1	$5470\pm40$	4370-4239
		PIT GRAVE CULTUR			1
Poz-39466	Tiszavasvári-Gyepáros	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone Grave 6	$4355\pm35$	3020-2910
Poz-39209 Poz-40857	Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom	Pre-Pit Grave/Kvityana Period II	human bone Grave 6	$4350 \pm 40$ $4430 \pm 30$	3020–2910 3307–2944
Poz-31637	Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom	Pre/Early Pit Grave Period	charred plant material Feature 1	$4430 \pm 30$ $4270 \pm 40$	2920-2870
Poz-31405	Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom	<i>II/III?</i> Early/Late Pit Grave Period	human bone	4210 ± 35	2900-2700
Poz-39464	Hajdúszoboszló-Árkushalom	III/IV Early Pit Grave Period III	Grave 1, Feature 2 animal bone sacrificial feasting, O. 331	$4385\pm35$	3080–2920
Poz-39461	Balmazújváros-Hortobágy-Árkus- Kettőshalom	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone	4320 ± 35	3010-2890
Poz-39561	Hortobágy-Ohat-Dunahalom	Early Pit Grave	kurgan grave	4030 ± 35	2580-2480
Poz-42726	Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb	Period III Pre-Pit Grave/Lower Mikhailovka	kurgan grave soil material from double burial of	7340 ± 40	6250–6100
Poz-42724	Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb	Period II Early Pit Grave Period III	Grave 3 human bone Grave 1	4215 ± 35	2900-2710
Poz-42725	Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb	Late Pit Grave Period IV/V?	human bone Grave 2, Carbonate contant measurement!	<i>3730</i> ± <i>35</i>	2200–2040
Poz-39454	Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone Grave 14	$4075\pm35$	2840-2490
Poz-39456	Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone Grave 18	$4195\pm35$	2890-2700
Bln-609	Kétegyháza-Törökhalom Kurgan 3	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone Grave 4	$4265\pm80$	3020-2690
deb-6869	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom	Pre/Early Pit Grave Period II/III?	human bone Grave 12	$4520\pm40$	3350-3110
Poz-39563	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom	Early Pit Grave Period III	charred plant material Grave 8	4530 ± 60	3360-3100
deb-6639	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom	Early Pit Grave Period III	human bone Grave 10	$4350\pm40$	3020-2910
deb-7182	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom	Late Pit Grave Period IV	human bone Grave 4	$4135\pm60$	2870-2520
deb-6871	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom	Late Pit Grave Period IV	human bone Grave 9	$4060 \pm 50$	2840-2490
		BADEN CULT			1
Poz-39467	Tiszavasvári-Wienerberger Téglagyár	Baden-Viss surviving in the EBA	animal bone from pit Feature 459	$3860\pm50$	2457-2235
Poz-39470	Tiszavasvári-Wienerberger Téglagyár	Baden-Viss	animal bone from pit Feature 501	4450 ± 35	3322-3025
Poz-39562	Tiszavasvári-Wienerberger Téglagyár	Baden-Viss	animal bone from pit Feature 502	$4405\pm35$	3091-2933
Poz-31799	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Baden	animal bone from pit Feature 2006/Str.4251	$4480\pm40$	3332-3096
Poz-31805	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Baden	animal bone from pit Feature 1989/4234	$4505 \pm 35$	3338-3106
		MAKÓ CULI			1
Poz-31798	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Makó	animal bone from pit Feature 82/353	3990 ± 30	2566-2473
Poz-31800	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Makó	animal bone from pit Feature 152/603	3955 ± 35	2566-2351
Poz-31803	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Makó	animal bone from pit Feature 824/1889	$3970\pm40$	2570-2461
Poz-31804	Berettyóújfalu-Nagy-Bócs dűlő	Makó	animal bone from pit Feature 1922/4212	3940 ± 35	2548-2348
Poz-31801	Debrecen-Szennyvíztelep	Makó	human bone	3955 ± 35	2566-2351
		NYÍRSÉG CUI	Grave 479/617		1
Poz-39462	Hajdúnánás-Feketehalom	Nyírség	human bone Grave 32/51	3710 ± 30	2190-2037
Poz-39463	Hajdúnánás-Feketehalom	Nyírség	human bone	3740 ± 30	2201-2053

Table 3. Radiocarbon dates of Pit Grave culture (Pit Grave) kurgans from the territory of Hungary and new radiocarbon dates of contemporary cultures – \* dates typeset with italic yielded younger or older dates and probably need correction

Unfortunately, not too much is known about the life and economy of the steppe cultures that inhabited the Carpathian Basin in the examined time interval.

Differences in nutrition and nutrition sources (e.g. the ratio of terrestrial and aquatic species), the use of space along rivers and their tributaries all play an important role in the interpretation and correctness of the radiocarbon dates. These circumstances make it difficult to assess the effects that might have altered the archaeological finds that were subjected to radiocarbon dating (SHISHLINA *et al.* 2007). These environmental effects multiply each other in case of group calibration, and may result in a 300 to 500 years variation. To avoid these alternations, we have been using raw data (*Table 4, Fig. 10*).



*Table 4. Calibrated radiocarbon age of Pit Grave culture kurgans* 



The widest time interval was detected for the Sárrétudvari-Örhalom kurgan. The two oldest radiocarbon dates derive from this kurgan as well: sample deb-6869 from Grave 12 and sample Poz-39563 from Grave 8. The age of these are basically the same, so they can be combined (*Fig. 11*).



The age of two bone samples collected from two different sites in the vicinity of Tiszavasvári (Tiszavasvári-Gyepáros and Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II, Grave 6), were found to be identical, although they derive from different cultural contexts (Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom II: Pre-Pit Grave/Kvityana,

Tiszavasvári-Gyepáros: Pit Grave). The same age interval was measured for a sample collected from Grave 10 at Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, therefore the combined calibration of the three samples seems logical *(Fig. 12)*.



Fig. 12. Calibrated probability distributions of the radiocarbon dates of Grave 6 from Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom and Grave 10 from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom and their combined calibration

Samples from Hajdúszoboszló-Árkushalom (Poz-39464) and Balmazújváros-Hortobágy-Árkus-Kettőshalom (Poz-39461) gave similar distribution curves (*Fig. 13*).

The above listed 5 samples can be combined, because statistically their age is the same at a probability of 95% (Student's test), and they can be dated to 3010-2910 cal BC at  $1\sigma$  probability, to 3020-2910 cal BC at  $2\sigma$  probability.



Similar probability distributions were gained for the following samples: plant material of the secondary burial (Poz-31637) and human bone (Poz-31405) found at Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom; human bones excavated from Grave 4 in Kurgan 3 at Kétegyháza-Törökhalom (Bln-609), Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb (Poz-42724) and Grave 18 at Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom (Poz-39456). Therefore, their combination can be done as well *(Fig. 14)*.

These 5 samples can be combined, because statistically their age is the same at a probability of 95% (Student's test), and they can be dated to 2900–2770 cal BC at  $1\sigma$  probability, to 2900–2710 cal BC at  $2\sigma$  probability.

The youngest sample (Poz-39561) derives from Hortobágy-Ohat-Dunahalom. The two relatively young samples come from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom (deb-6871 from Grave 9) and from Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom (Poz-39454 from Grave 14). The forth sample from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom Grave 4 (deb-7182), is a bit older but because of its larger SD, the difference is irrelevant. The four samples can



Fig. 14. Calibrated probability distributions of the radiocarbon dates of the samples from Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom, Kétegyháza-Törökhalom, Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb and Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom kurgans and a possible combined calibration

be combined, because statistically their age is the same at a probability of 95% (Student's test), and they can be dated to 2630-2490 cal BC at  $1\sigma$  probability, to 2840-2480 cal BC at  $2\sigma$  probability (*Fig. 15*).



combined calibration

The last two sample groups cannot be separated at  $2\sigma$  level (2900–2710 cal BC and 2840–2480 cal BC respectively). At the same time – based on Student's test – the nine samples are not identical, so they cannot be combined.

We must stress, however, that the above presented clustering was only based on the statistical evaluation of the radiocarbon dates. The grouping does not reflect the cultural context of the samples in every case. These anomalies were dissolved by the overlapping of the periods and the partial co-appearance of different steppe cultures in space and time in the Carpathian Basin. Moreover, we are aware that the consistent and rigorous insistence to the radiocarbon dates themselves would be a similar mistake like a preconception that would neglect scientific measurements. The groups that are shown in *Table 5* and *Fig. 16* therefore only represent a working hypothesis that was formulated on the basis of our current knowledge and data.

Next to the determined T test values the numbers in brackets indicate the maximum T test values for the conformity of data at a probability of 95%. The combinations are (*Fig. 16*):

R Combine 1: Poz-39563, deb-6869

- R Combine 2: Poz-39464, Poz-39466, Poz-39461, Poz-39209, deb-6639
- R\_Combine 3: Poz-31631, Bln-609, Poz-42724, Poz-31405, Poz-39456
- R Combine 4: deb-7182, Poz-39454, deb-6871, Poz-39561

Group	cal BC 1σ, 68.2%	cal BC 2σ, 95.4%	μ	T test
R_Combine 1	3360-3110	3360-3090	3220	0 (3.8)
R_Combine 2	3010–2910	3020-2910	2960	1.7 (9.5)
R_Combine 3	2890-2770	2900-2700	2830	2.5 (9.5)
R_Combine 4	2630–2490	2840-2480	2580	2.5 (7.8)

Table 5. Combined radiocarbon age of Pit Grave kurgans



#### Periods for the steppe cultures

Period I – Steppe Ochre Grave, until 4000 BC

On Great Hungarian Plain the single burial at Csongrád-Kettőshalom – n.b. not a kurgan burial! –should be rather identified as Steppe Ochre Grave culture. Its estimated date is based on the contemporary Marosdécse burials: 4200–4100 cal BC (GOVEDARICA 2004, 71), parallel with the Middle Copper Age Bodrogkeresztúr culture (ECSEDY 1979, 12).

The recently obtained radiocarbon data of the Csongrád-Kettőshalom grave is 4370–4240 cal BC, in good correlation with other Steppe Ochre Grave data (GOVEDARICA 2004), but a little bit earlier then the Middle Copper Age.

In Eastern Europe this is the period of the Early Eneolithic (4550–4100/4000 BC) of the Eurasian steppe region. The period of the Khvalynsk and Skelya cultures is contemporaneous with the Cucuteni A-Tripolye B1 phase (which populations played a significant role in the mediation between the steppe and agricultural communities). Moreover, it is analogous with the Romanian Aldeni-Bolgrad and Bulgarian Varna cultures (HIGHAM *et al.* 2007), whose prosperity is identified with the elite of the Skelya culture.

There is a so-called steppe-hiatus between the early and middle phase of the Eneolithic between 4100/4000–3800/3700 BC (RASSAMAKIN 1999, Table 3. 2).

The Middle Eneolithic Period of the Eurasian steppes (3800/3700–3500/3400 BC) can be characterized by the Cucuteni B-Tripolye B2-C1 Phase (Tomashevo, Zhvanetsk, Kosenovo groups, and the so-called *Scheibenhenkel* horizon, and in the east by the Lower Mikhailovka, Kvityana, Dereivka, Pivikha, Repin and Maikop cultures.

In the Carpathian Basin, the Early Eneolithic, the steppe-hiatus and the Middle Eneolithic Period is identified as the Early and Middle Copper Age, with the Tiszapolgár, Bodrogkeresztúr, Hunyadihalom, Lažňany, Ludanice, Balaton-Lasinja and *Furchenstich* cultures.

Csongrád-Kettőshalom fits rather to the beginning of the Middle Copper Age horizon, and most probably arrived into the Carpathian Basin as an early wave of the eastern Early Eneolithic populations, which can be described as the transition period of the Early and Middle Copper Age (see Bodrogkeresztúr cemetery at Rákóczifalva-Bagi föld: 4334–4075 cal BC; CSÁNYI – TÁRNOKI – RACZKY 2008).

	Name of the Age or Period (Hungarian and <i>neighbouring</i>	Cultures					
Time period	territory: MARAN 1998; TODOROVA 2002)	in Transdanubia	east of the Danube				
4000–3600 BC	End of the Middle Copper Age Aenolithikum/Eneolith Chalcolithicum Jungneolithikum/End- neolithikum Postāneolithikum	Ludanice and Balaton-Lasinja, mixed with <i>Furchenstich</i> dates: Balatonöszöd-Temetői dűlő: HORVÁTH 2011b; and 3980–3800 cal BC, Vörs-Máriaasszonysziget, deb-12188: MEDZHIRADSZKY <i>et al.</i> 2009, 24, Table 1	Ludanice, Lažňany, Bodrogkeresztúr, Hunyadihalom, and Balaton-Lasinja, mixed with <i>Furchenstich</i> dates: Abony 49: RAJNA 2011; Szihalom (Ludanice): WILD <i>et al.</i> 2001, Table 1				
3600–2800 BC	Late Copper AgeBoleráz (3600–3400 BC)JungsteinzeitBoleráz/Baden (3400–3000 BC)Jung- und SpätkupferzeitBaden (3400–2800 BC)Late NeolithicKostolac (3350–2800 BC)ProtobronzezeitEarly Vučedol? (3500?–2900/2800 BC)Bronzezeit (from 3100 BC afterdates: Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő, anDurankulak)BENKŐ et al. 1989; PETROVIĆ–JOVANO3100 BC)2002; BALEN 2005, 2011		Boleraz (3600–3400 BC) Boleraz/Baden? (3400–3000 BC) Baden (3400–2800 BC) Cotofeni III (3000–2800 BC) Kostolac? (3350–2700 BC) Pre-Pit Grave/Pit Grave (3350–2800 BC) dates: Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlő, BENKŐ <i>et al.</i> 1989; FORENBAHER 1993; CIUGUDEAN 2000; STADLER <i>et al.</i> 2001				
2800–2600 BC	Transition between LCA and EBA Frühbronzezeit Early Bronze Age Early Helladic I Early Helladic II from 2700/2600 BC	Baden (2800–2600 BC) Vučedol? (2800–2600 BC) Early Makó? Late Kostolac (2880–2670 cal BC, Vörs- Máriaaszonysziget, deb-12763, unpublished, pers. comm. of K. T. Biró) Somogyár-Vinkovci (2750–2580 cal BC, Vőrs-Máriaasszonysziget, deb-12180, MEDZIHRADSZKY <i>et al.</i> 2009, 24, Table 1)	Baden (2800–2600 BC) Pit Grave (2800–2600 BC) Early Makó?				
2600–2500 BC	Early Bronze Age 1 Early Helladic II Early Bronze Age	Baden (2600–2500 BC) Early Makó? Late Vučedol? (2600–2500 BC) Somogyvár-Vinkovci (2750–2580 cal BC, Vörs-Máriaasszonysziget, deb-12180, MEDZIHRADSZKY <i>et al.</i> 2009, 24, Table 1: the date is uncertain, it may belong to the Kostolac period)	Baden (2600–2500 BC) Early Makó (2600–2500 BC) Pit Grave (2600–2500 BC)				
2500–2300 BC	Early Bronze Age 2a Reinecke Bz A0-1 Early Helladic II	Baden (2500–2300 BC) Makó (2470–2300 BC; KŐVÁRI–PATAY 2005) Proto-Nagyrév/Early Nagyrév? (2570–2340 cal BC, e.g. Bln-1649: Bölcske-Vörösgyír) Somogyvár-Vinkovci (KALAFATIĆ 2006; Vinkovci, KIA-29563) Bell Beaker (2500–2300 BC)	Baden (2500–2300 BC) Makó (2500–2300 BC) Pit Grave (2500–2470 BC) Nyírség? Maros? Gyula-Roşia?				
2300–2200 BC	Early Bronze Age 2b Reinecke Bz A0-2 or transition between A0/A1 Early Helladic II EBA/MBA transition	Late Makó (2300–2200 BC; KÖVÁRI–PATAY 2005) Bell Beaker (2300–2200 BC) Early Nagyrév? Somogyvár-Vinkovci?	Baden (2300–2200 BC) Maros (from 2270 BC, P. FISCHL–KULCSÁR 2011, Table 3) Early Nagyrév (2290–2050 cal BC, e.g., Bln- 1987: Tószeg-Laposhalom) Late Makó? Nyírség? Gyula-Roşia?				
2200–2000 BC	Early Bronze Age 3 Reinecke Bz A1 Early Helladic III Middle Bronze Age	Makó (2200–2130 BC; KÖVÁRI–PATAY 2005) Bell Beaker (2200–2000 BC) Classic Nagyrév? Somogyvár-Vinkovci – Proto-Kisapostag (2100–2000 BC; MEDZIHRADSZKY <i>et al.</i> 2009, Table 1: deb-11965, 12542, 12388, 12390, 12547)	Nyírség (2200–2030 BC) Classic Nagyrév (RACZKY–HERTELENDI–VERES 1994) Early Hatvan (RACZKY–HERTELENDI–VERES 1994) Early Maros (P. FISCHL–KULCSÁR 2011, Table 3) Early Ottomány (2025–1910 cal BC e.g., Bln- 1642: Gáborján-Csapszékpart)				
2000–1900 BC	Transition between EBA and MBA Reinecke Bz A2 Middle Bronze Age Middle Helladic	Bell Beaker (2000–1900 BC) Proto-Nagyrév (2010–1910 cal BC; deb- 10117, ENDRÖDI–PÁSZTOR 2006) Somogyvár-Vinkovci (2000–1900 BC; DIRJEC 1991, Z-1934: Blatna Brezovica) Kisapostag? Nagyrév/Vatya? (2035–1925 cal BC; e.g., Bln-1646: Bölcske-Vörögyír)	Late Nagyrév? Hatvan (1925–1770 cal BC, e.g., Bln-1844: Jászdózsa-Kápolnahalom) Maros? Ottomány? Proto-Füzesabony?				

Table 6. Relative and absolute chronology of the Late Copper Age and Early Bronze Age of the Carpathian Basin ("?" means sites, cultures and periods/ages are in uncertain chronological position, with uncertain absolute dates, or without correct, modern <sup>14</sup>C dates. Hungarian Bronze Age dates are from Raczky – Hertelendi – Veres 1994: conventional radiocarbon dates)

### Period II - Pre-Pit Grave, 3400/3350-3300/3000-2750 cal BC

The cultures of the Late Eneolithic Period in the Eurasian steppe belt (3500/3400–3000/2900 cal BC) are late Repin, late Konstantinovka, Novosvobodnaja, late Kvityana, late Dereivka and late Lower Mikhailovka cultures, Tripolye C2 (with the Sofievka, Kasperovo/Gordinesti, Gorodsk, Usatovo groups), and with the "Badenization process", together with the local groups at the Dnieper-South-Bug region, Kemi-Oba communities. The emergence of the Pit Grave culture can be dated in this period, which is partly contemporaneous with the Boleráz, respectively the Cernavodă III, and the classical Baden, dating to a bit thereafter. More or less it is the Late Copper Age in the Hungarian prehistory.

The earliest kurgan graves of the Great Hungarian Plain can be classified as Pre-Pit Grave (*syn.* Pre-Yamnaya) horizons (Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, Grave 12; DANI – M. NEPPER 2006; K. ZOFFMANN 2006; Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom, Grave 6/Kvityana; Püspökladány-Kincsesdomb, Grave 3/Lower Mikhailovka, and perhaps Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom, Grave 1).

An overlap with this period appears with the earliest Pit Grave: the earliest, primary phase of Pit Grave kurgans with multiple depositions (Kétegyháza-Törökhalom, Kurgan 3, Grave 6, some Pit Grave ochre-graves in the Hortobágy region, e.g. Hortobágy-Árkus, which all lack grave deposits, and also those burials with grave chambers lined with some organic material). Differentiated from Period I, this phase might be identified as a Pre-Pit Grave horizon, and dated on the basis of the burials at Sárrétudvari and Tiszavasvári between: 3400/3350–3300/3000–2750 cal BC.

#### Period III - Early Pit Grave, 3300/3100-2900/2600 cal BC

In the Eurasian steppe region this is the period of the Early Bronze Age, which corresponds with the Early Pit Grave horizon, with the surviving Pre-Pit Grave groups (Usatovo), and dates from 3300/3100–3000/2600 cal BC.

At the Great Hungarian Plain the youngest period of multi-phase kurgans, moreover, the burials with timber-construction, but no or poor grave deposits can be linked to this period. This horizon can be identified and with the end of the Late Copper Age–Early Bronze Age transitional period, including the Late (and surviving) Baden/Cotofeni IIIa, b culture. This might be called Early Pit Grave Horizon. This period can be dated between 3300/3100 and 2900/2600 cal BC, overlapping with Period II. Our opinion is that Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom, Tiszavasvári-Gyepáros, Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom Graves 8 and 10, Kétegyháza-Törökhalom, Kurgan 3, Grave 4 and some graves from the Hortobágy region (Balmazújváros-Kárhozotthalom) are part of this time span.

Period IV - Late Pit Grave with strong Catacomb influences, 2900/2800-2500/2400 cal BC

The Early Bronze Age in the Eurasian steppes, which is the Late Pit Grave horizon, and simultaneous with the Catacomb entity, can be dated between 2800/2700–2100/2000 cal BC.

On the Great Hungarian Plain the latest, third construction phase of the kurgans, and, this is the time frame when rich metal depositions and Early Bronze Age ceramic sets appear in kurgan burials. It is contemporary with the Period I of the Early Bronze Age, and includes the surviving Baden, Vučedol, Makó-Kosihy-Čaka, early Somogyvár-Vinkovci, Glina-Schneckenbeg A, Coţofeni IIIc-Livezile cultures, and can be dated to 2900/2800–2500/2400 cal BC, according to the radiocarbon dates of Nezsider/Neusiedl am See, Velika Gruda, and the second building phase of the Sárrétudvari kurgan.

In contrast to former theories, we assume that the Catacomb culture – one of the later waves from the Eurasian steppes – did not exist as a discrete tribe on the territory of the Carpathian Basin. Although

the late Pit Grave horizon shows similarities with the graves of the Polish Corded Ware culture that are found under mounds as well, it cannot be classified as Catacomb culture.<sup>3</sup>

The affluent arsenic bronze and gold grave goods, the secondary burials in the kurgans, and the arrangement along the outer circle can be a Catacomb influence; however, all these features are represented in the late Pit Grave culture as well. Besides, the contemporaneity as well as the combination of the two cultures has earlier been proved in the northwest Pontic area. Because of this phenomenon we might denominate this fourth phase as Late Pit Grave horizon with strong Catacomb influence.

On the basis of the AMS dates, the graves of Ohat-Dunahalom and Kunhegyes-Nagyálláshalom can be dated to this period, despite the conservative outlook of the burial rite.

#### Period V – Late Pit Grave effect, 2500/2400–2200/2000 cal BC

It can be presumed that this period enters into the second phase of the Early Bronze Age: Nyírség skeleton graves beside Hajdúnánás-Feketehalom, Somogyvár-Vinkovci type barrow burials, Eastern Slovakian mounds with Nyírség type pottery, all dated to the same period as the emergence of the Bell Beaker culture and the Proto-Nagyrév culture (see BÓNA 1994), without the real ethnic presence of the Pit Grave peoples.<sup>4</sup> The study period is an excellent example to illustrate how contemporary cultures unite: in the Budapest region it is nearly impossible to differentiate the Bell Beaker-Early Nagyrév-Makó cultures: both settlements and burials are documented as a special mixture (KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1998–2000).<sup>5</sup>

The settling steppe communities in Period II and III can be identified with mixed cultural entities of the Pit Grave culture, and the strongly Tripolye C2-Usatovo stimulated Pre-Pit Grave Kvityana and Lower Mikhailovka groups, arriving from the Pontic area to the territory of the Great Hungarian Plain. The direction of the migration led from Moldova,<sup>6</sup> through the passes of the Carpathian Mountains and along the main waterways such as the valleys of the Berettyó, Maros/Mureş, and stopped at the line of the Tisza River.<sup>7</sup>

In Period IV(/V) intercultural connections with local cultures inside the Carpathian Basin strengthened and extended in a way that the original cultural identity of the Catacomb-influenced Late Pit Grave groups diluted, thus it is even more problematic to reconstruct their route than in the earlier periods. The direct route, which this even more far-away group followed when it arrived to Central Europe, has probably changed as compared to the previous periods: another road along the Danube seems to be a dominating one for the whole Carpathian Basin; with the use of the wheel and the wagon (Plačidol) and a developed metal production based on arsenic-bronze raw materials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In Little Poland, where the presence of niche graves was previously seen as a result of influences from the steppes, there is currently no clear evidence for direct connections with the Catacomb culture (WŁODARCZAK 2006, 135).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The beginning of the Reinecke A Bronze Age is identical with the Phase 3 of the Hungarian Early Bronze Age. Thus, when discussing the Phase I or Phase II of the Hungarian Bronze Age this corresponds with the Final Eneolithic, Late Neolithic periods and cultures in Europe, see HORVÁTH 2004, 43; 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It was not only proved in the central part of the country, see for instance the paper given by János Dani and Katalin Tóth at the MΩMOΣ VI conference on the burial at Panyola.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The strongest anthropological similarity to Carpathian Basin kurgans can be detected with the ones in Moldova, see MARCSIK 1979; K. ZOFFMANN 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Populations of the autochthonous cultures of the Great Hungarian Plain (e.g. Boleráz, Baden, Makó) and the people of the kurgans were presumably mixing between 3350–2400 BC.

Most probably the main reason for this large-scale migration was the drastic change in the ecological circumstances caused by a drier climate and the over-grazing of the meadows (GOLYEVA 2000; SHISHLINA [ed.] 2000).<sup>8</sup>

David W. Anthony (2007, 362–364) recommended that the steppe populations arriving to the Great Hungarian Plain got there east from the Usatovo settlement area, from the South-Bug-Ingul-Dnieper region: the earliest Pit Grave kurgans are situated there (for example Bal'ki, with a deposited wagon, and one wooden plough-tooth: RASSAMAKIN 1999, Fig 3. 58). The steppe along the Lower Dniester were occupied by the Usatovo culture between 3400/3300–2800 BC, but the majority of the Pit Grave kurgans there (from 2800–2400 BC) are dated later than the migration to the Great Hungarian Plain. Thus, D. W. Anthony supposed that the Dniester variant is a sign of a return migration from the Danube valley and the Great Hungarian Plain to that region. Although this is a very pleasant theory, it cannot be verified in the study area: without much more excavation results and radiocarbon dates, and moreover, the overall revision of the Usatovo culture, this debate cannot be resolved (for this see also RASSAMAKIN – NIKOLOVA 2008, 13).

The migrating route sketched by Richard Harrison and Volker Heyd (2007, 194, Fig. 43) cannot be accepted for the whole period. This would lead from the mouth of the Dnieper River, around the Carpathian Mountains and reach the Great Hungarian Plain not just from the southern direction (through the Lower Danube), but through the passes of the northeastern and eastern Carpathians. The radiocarbon dates of some kurgans in Serbia, and Bulgaria are later or can be correlated with Period IV/V (e.g. in case of the kurgan at Jabuka in Serbia, an individual layer of soil formation was documented after a Kostolac stratum, upon which the kurgan was built; in Bulgaria in Kurgan 1 at Trnava, Cotofeni and Pit Grave ceramics with corded decoration were excavated: ANTHONY 2007, 363, Fig. 14. 6).

The hypothesis regarding the so called "Pit Grave package" is similarly not entirely applicable to this problem (HARRISON – HEYD 2007, 196–197). In accordance with the literature of Russian scholars (SAPOSNIKOVA *et al.* 1988; LEVINE *et al.* 1999; SHISHLINA [ed.] 2000; TSUTHKIN – SHISHLINA [eds] 2001; MORGUNOVA *et al.* 2003; MORGUNOVA 2004; RASSAMAKIN 2004; MERPERT *et al.* 2006), the third (social status and sex is markedly expressed),<sup>9</sup> and eighth characteristics (the importance of the horse) are not confirmed. At the same time we should be clarifying the fourth component ("The creation of a special status for craftsman..." in HARRISON – HEYD 2007, 196): the metalworkers had formed a specialized group or layer in the Early Bronze Age society; but this doesn't mean necessarily their highest social status. Irrespectively of this, the complex influence of the Eurasian steppe populations in the investigated period in the geographical area under examination cannot be neglected.

At last, it is anticipated that the excavation results and the series of new <sup>14</sup>C dates discussed in this study from the westernmost ethnic presence as well as expansion of these cultures further enhance this extremely complex and problematic jigsaw-puzzle with some new mosaic stones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> According to A. Golyeva, in Kalmykia in most of the kurgans the buried soil was degraded and eroded. This phenomenon was further deteriorated in the Pit Grave/Catacomb transformation period by the drier climate and overgrazing. See GOLYEVA 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also IVANOVA 2003. It should be considered that kurgan burial was a kind of privilege for a not in every detail perfectly identified social group, thus kurgan burials cannot be taken as a mirror for the whole contemporary society. The social differences reflected in the Pit Grave graves are rather outlining local differences or territorial accessibility of raw materials and resources (for example the valley of the River Manych in Kalmykia; see SHISHLINA [ed.] 2000), and not just on the basis of the status or the gender.

# References

AMBROSE, S. H. 1993

Isotopic analysis of paleodiets: Methodological and interpretative considerations. In: Sandford, M. K. (ed.): *Investigations of ancient human tissue: Chemical analyses in anthropology.* Langhorne, Pennsylvania 1993, 59–127.

### ANTHONY, D. W. 2007

Horse, the Wheel and Language. How Bronze-Age riders from the Eurasian steppes shaped the Modern World. Princeton and Oxford.

ASPINALL, A. - GAFFNEY, C. - SCHMIDT, A. 2008

Magnetometry for Archaeologists. Lanham, New York, Toronto and Plymouth: AltaMira Press.

BALEN, J. 2005

Sarvaš. Neolitičko i eneolitičko naselje. Musei Archaeologici Zagrabiensis Catalogi et Monographiae II, Zagreb.

BALEN, J. 2011

*Dakovo Franjevac. Kasno bakrenodobno naselje – Late Eneolithic settlement.* Musei Archaeologici Zagrabiensis Catalogi et Monographie 7, Zagreb.

BARCZI, A. – GOLYEVA, A. A. – PETŐ, Á. 2009

Palaeoenvironmental reconstruction of Hungarian kurgans on the basis of the examination of palaeosoils and phytolith analysis. *Quaternary International* 193 (2009) 49–60.

# Barczi, A. – Joó, K. 2011

Detailed palaeopedological analysis of kurgans of the Great Hungarian Plain. In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 213–239.

BARCZI, A. – HORVÁTH, T. – PETŐ, Á. – DANI, J. 2012

Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukas-halom: egy alföldi kurgán régészeti értékelése és természettudományos vizsgálata – Hajdunánás-Tedej-Lyukas-halom: archaeological assessment and scientific examination of a typical kurgan from the Great Hungarian Plain. In: Kreiter, A. – Pető, Á. – Tugya, B. (eds): Környezet–Ember–Kultúra: A természettudományok és a régészet párbeszéde – Environment– Human–Culture. Dialogue between applied sciences and archaeology. Proceedings of the conference held between 6<sup>th</sup> and 8<sup>th</sup> of October 2010 by the National Heritage Protection Centre of the Hungarian National Museum. Budapest: Magyar Nemzeti Múzeum, Nemzeti Örökségvédelmi Központ 2012, 25–45.

BENKŐ, L. – HORVÁTH, F. – HORVÁTINČIĆ, N. – OBELIĆ, B. 1989

Radiocarbon and thermoluminescence dating of prehistoric sites in Hungary and Yugoslavia. *Radiocarbon* 31/3 (1989) 992–1002.

BOCHICCHIO, R. – REICHER, F. 2003

Are Hemicelluloses from Podocarpus Lambertii Typical of Gymnosperms? *Carbohydrate Polymers* 53/2 (2003) 127–136.

# Bóna, I. 1994

Les cultures des tells de l'Âge du Bronze en Hongrie. In: Bóna, I. – Raczky, P. (dir.): *Le bel Âge du Bronze en Hongrie*. Budapest, Mont Beauvrey: Pytheas 1994, 9–39.

Bonsall, C. – Lennon, R. – McSweeney, K. – Stewart, C. – Harkness, D. – Boroneanț, V. – Bartosiewicz, L. – Payton, R. – Chapman, J. 1997

Mesolithic and Early Neolithic in the Iron Gates: a palaeodietary perspective. *Journal of European Archaeology* 5/1 (1997) 50–92.

BRONK RAMSEY, C. – HIGHAM, T. – BOWLES, A. – HEDGES, R. 2004 Improvements to the pretreatment of bone at Oxford. *Radiocarbon* 45/1 (2004) 155–163.

# CIUGUDEAN, H. 2000

Eneoliticul Final în Transilvania și Banat: Cultura Coțofeni – The Late Eneolithic in Transylvania and Banat: The Coțofeni Culture. Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 26, Timișoara.

# CIUGUDEAN, H. 2011

Mounds and mountains: burial rituals in Early Bronze Age Transylvania. In: Berecki, S. – Németh, R. E. – Rezi, B. (eds): *Bronze Age Rites and Rituals in the Carpathian Basin. Proceedings of the International Colloquium from Târgu Mureş*. Bibliotheca Mvsei Marisiensis, Seria Archaeologica 4, Târgu Mureş 2011, 21–57.

# CUMMINGS, L. S. - LOGAN, M. K. 2009

Pollen, phytolith, protein and organic residue (FTIR) analysis of samples from the Lyukas-kurgan, Hajdúnánás, Hungary. PaleoResearch Institute Technical Report 09-24/09-110, Golden, Colorado, USA.

# CSANÁDI, A. – M. TÓTH, T. 2011

Mineralogical and geochemical evolution of two kurgans from the Great Hungarian Plain. In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 183–193.

# CSÁNYI, M. – RACZKY, P. – TÁRNOKI, J. 2008

Előzetes jelentés a rézkori bodrogkeresztúri kultúra Rákóczifalva-Bagi-földön feltárt temetőjéről – Preliminary report on the cemetery of the Bodrogkeresztúr culture excavated at Rákóczifalva-Bagi-föld. *Tisicum* 18 (2008) 13–34.

# Dani, J. 2011

Research of Pit-Grave culture kurgans in Hungary in the last three decades. In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 25–69.

# DANI, J. – M. NEPPER, I. 2006

Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom. Tumulus grave from the beginning of the EBA in Eastern Hungary. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 29–58.

# DIRJEC, B. 1991

Kolišče v Bližini Zornice pri Blatni Brezovici – Pfahlbausiedlung in der Nähe der Zornica bei Blatna Brezovica. *Poročilo o raziskovanju paleolita, neolita in eneolita v Sloveniji* 19 (1991) 193–206.

# ECSEDY, I. 1979

The People of the Pit-grave Kurgans in Eastern Hungary. Fontes Archaeologici Hungariae, Budapest.

# ENDRŐDI, A. – PÁSZTOR, E. 2006

Symbolism and traditions in the society of the Bell Beaker–Csepel group. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 131 (2006) 7–25.

# P. FISCHL, K. – KULCSÁR, G. 2011

Tiszán innen, Dunán túl. A kora bronzkor kérdései a kiskundorozsmai temető kapcsán – Diesseits der Theiss, jenseits der Donau. Fragen der Frühbronzezeit hinsichtlich des Gräberfeldes von Kiskundorozsma. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 12 (2011) 59–90.

#### FORENBAHER, S. 1993

Radiocarbon dates and absolute chronology of the central European Early Bronze Age. *Antiquity* 67 (1993) 218–257.

# GIBLIN, J. I. 2011

*Isotope Analysis on the Great Hungarian Plain: An Exploration of Mobility and Subsistence Strategies from the Neolithic to the Copper Age.* PhD dissertation, The Ohio State University.

### GOLYEVA, A. A. 2000

Man and nature in the North-West-Caspian Sea region during the Bronze Age. In: Shishlina, N. (red.): *Sezonnyy ekonomicheskiy tsikl naseleniya severo-zapadnogo prikaspiya bronzovom veke* – *Seasonality studies of the Bronze Age Northwest Caspian Steppe*. Trudy Gosudarstvennogo Istoricheskogo muzeya 120, Moskva 2000, 163–168.

#### GOVEDARICA, B. 2004

Zepterträger – Herrscher der Steppen. Die frühen Ockergräber des älteren Äneolithikums im karpatenbalkanischen Gebiet und im Steppenraum Südost- und Osteuropas. Heidelberger Akademie der Wissenschaften. Internationale Interakademische Kommission für die Erforschung der Vorgeschichte des Balkans, Monographien VI, Heidelberg.

### GYULAI, F. 2001

Archeobotanika. Budapest: Jószöveg Műhely.

#### HARRISON, R. – HEYD, V. 2007

The Transformation of Europe in the Third Millenium BC: the example of 'Le Petit–Chasseur I + III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 82 (2007) 129–214.

### HEDGES, E. M. - REYNARD, L. M. 2007

Nitrogen isotopes and the trophic level of humans in archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 34 (2007) 1240–1251.

Higham, T. – Chapman, J. – Slavchev, V. – Gaydarska, B. – Honch, N. – Yordanov, Y. – Dimitrova, B. 2007

New perspectives on the Varna cemetery (Bulgaria)–AMS dates and social implications. *Antiquity* 81 (2007) 640–654.

## Horváth, T. 2004

Néhány megjegyzés a vatyai kultúra fémművességéhez – Technológiai megfigyelések a kultúra kőeszközein – Die Metallkunst der Vatya-Kultur – Technologische Beobachtungen an ihren Steingeräten. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2004, 11–64.

### HORVÁTH, T. 2011a

Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom–An interdisciplinary survey of a typical kurgan from the Great Hungarian Plain region: a case study (The revision of the kurgans from the territory of Hungary). In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 71–133.

### Horváth, T. 2011b

A késő rézkor időszaka más szemszögből: tipo-kronológiai megfigyelések a Balatonőszöd-Temetői dűlői késő rézkori Boleráz/Baden település leletanyagán. *Gesta* 10 (2011) 3–135. http:// tortenelemszak.uni-miskolc.hu/gesta/gesta2011.

### Horváth, T. 2012

Metallurgy of the Vatya culture–Technological observations on the stone tools of the culture. In: Jaeger, M. – Czebreszuk, J. – P. Fischl, K. (eds): *Enclosed Space–Open society. Contact and Exchange* 

*in the Context of Bronze Age Fortified Settlements in Central Europe.* Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa–Studia nad Pradziejami Europy Środkowej 9, Poznań and Bonn 2012, 53–115.

# HUNTLEY, B. – BIRKS, H. J. B. 1983

An atlas of past and present pollen maps of Europe: 0–13,000 years ago. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

# IVANOVA, S. 2003

The social differentiation in the Pit-Grave Culture Society: a reconstruction based on burial data. In: Nikolova, L. (ed.): *Early Symbolic Systems for Communication in Southeast Europe*. BAR International Series 1139, Vol. 1, Oxford 2003, 155–167.

# KALAFATIĆ, H. 2006

Žarni grob vinkovačke kulture s lokaliteta Vinkovci-Duga ulica 40 – A Vinkovci Culture Urn Grave from the site at 40 Duga Ulica in Vinkovci. *Prilozi Instituta za arheologiju u Zagrebu* 23 (2006) 17–28.

# Kalicz-Schreiber, R. – Kalicz, N. 1998–2000

A harangedények szerepe a Budapest környéki kora bronzkor társadalmi viszonyainak megítélésében – The Role of Bell Beakers in Reflecting Social Relations in the Early Bronze Age of Budapest. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 125 (1998–2000) 45–78.

# VAN KLINKEN, G. J. 1999

Bone Collagen Quality Indicators for Palaeodietary and Radiocarbon Measurements. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 26 (1999) 687–695.

# KŐVÁRI, K. – PATAY, R. 2005

A Settlement of the Makó Culture at Üllő. New Evidence for Early Bronze Age Metalworking. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2005, 83–142.

# LANTING, J. N. – VAN DER PLICHT, J. 1998

Reservoir effects and apparent <sup>14</sup>C-ages. The Journal of Irish Archaeology 9 (1998) 151-64.

LEVINE, M. – RASSAMAKIN, Y. – KISLENKO, A. – TATARINTSEVA, N. (eds) 1999 *Late Prehistoric Exploitation of the Eurasian steppe*. McDonald Institute Monographs, Cambridge.

# MARAN, J. 1998

Kulturwandel auf dem griechischen Festland und den Kykladen im späten 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Studien zu den kulturellen Verhältnissen in Südosteuropa und dem zentralen sowie östlichen Mittelmeerraum in der späten Kupfer- und frühen Bronzezeit. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 53, Bonn: Habelt.

# MARCSIK, A. 1979

The anthropological material of the Pit-grave kurgans in Hungary. In: ECSEDY (1979) 87–98.

MEDZIHRADSZKY, Zs. – FŰKÖH, L. – BERZSÉNYI, B. – T. BIRÓ, K. – KOVÁCS, Zs. E. – BRADÁK, B. – SVINGOR, É. 2009

Environmental reconstruction of Vörs-Máriaasszonysziget, a multi-period archaeological site in SW Hungary. In: Moreau, J.-F. – Anger, R. – Chabot, J. – Herzog, A. (eds): *Proceedings Actes ISA 2006. 36<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Archeometry 2–6 May 2006, Quebec City, Canada*. Cahiers d'archéologie du CELAT, n° 25, Série archéométrie n° 7, Qébec, 2009, 21–25.

MERPERT, N. J. – MORGUNOVA, N. L. – TURECKIJ, M. A. – SZALUGINA, N. P. 2006 *Problemy izucheniya yamnoy kul'turno-istoricheskoy oblasti*. Orenburg: Orenburgskiy Gosudarstvennyy Pedagogicheskiy Universitet. MORGUNOVA, N. L. 2004

Arkheologiya Orenburzh'ya. Orenburg: Orenburgskoe knizhnoe izdatel'stvo.

Morgunova, N. L. – Golyeva, A. A. – Krajeva, P. A. – Meserjákov, D. B. – Tureckij, M. A. – Haljápin, M. V. – Khokhlova, O. Sz. 2003

Shumaevskie kurgany. Orenburg: Izdatel'stvo OGPU.

# PETŐ, Á. – BARCZI, A. (eds) 2011

Kurgan Studies: An environmental and archaeological multiproxy study of burial mounds in the Eurasian steppe zone. BAR International Series 2238, Oxford.

# РЕТŐ, Á. – CUMMINGS, L. S. 2011

Palaeovegetational reconstruction of the Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukas-halom based on combined micropalaeobotanical analysis. In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 315–327.

### Petrović, J. – Jovanović, B. 2002

Gomolava. Naselja kasnog eneolita – Gomolava. Settlements of the Late Eneolithic. Gomolava Knjiga 4, Novi Sad and Beograd.

## PRIMAS, M. 1996

Velika Gruda I. Hügelgräber des frühen 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Adriagebiet – Velika Gruda, Mala Gruda und ihr Kontext. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 32, Bonn: Habelt.

# RACZKY, P. – HERTELENDI, E. – VERES, M. 1994

La datation absolue des cultures des tells de l'Âge du Bronze en Hongrie. In: Bóna, I. – Raczky, P. (dir.): *Le bel Âge du Bronze en Hongrie*. Budapest, Mont Beauvrey: Pytheas 1994, 42–47.

# RAJNA, A. 2011

Az Abony 49. lelőhely protoboleráz-kori leletei és interpretációs lehetőségei. *Studia Comitatensia* 31 (2011) 96–125.

RASSAMAKIN, YU. 1999

The Eneolithic of the Black Sea Steppe: Dynamics of Cultural and Economic Development 4500–2300 BC. In: Levine, M. – Rassamakin, Yu. – Kislenko, A. – Tatarintseva, N.: *Late Prehistoric Exploitation of the Eurasian Steppe*. McDonald Institute Monographs, Cambridge 1999, 59–182.

# RASSAMAKIN, JU. JA. 2004

Die nordpontische Steppe in der Kupferzeit (Gräber aus der Mitte des 5. Jts. bis Ende des 4. Jts. v. Chr.). Archäologie in Eurasien 17, Mainz am Rhein: Verlag Philipp von Zabern.

RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. - NIKOLOVA, A. V. 2008

Carpathian Imports and Imitations in Context of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age of the Black Sea Steppe Area. In: Biehl, P. – Rassamakin, Yu. (eds): *Import and Imitation in Archaeology*. Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraumes 11, Langenweißbach 2008, 51–87.

SAPOSNIKOVA, O. G. – RASSAMAKIN, YU. YA. – JEVDOKIMOV, G. L. – KUBISEV, A. I. – OTROSENKO, V. V. 1988 Novye pamyatniki kultury stepnoy zony Ukrainy. Kiev: Akademiya nauk ukrainskoy S.S.R. Institut arkheologii.

# SHISHLINA, N. (ed.) 2000

Sezonnyy ekonomicheskiy tsikl naseleniya severo-zapadnogo prikaspiya bronzovom veke – Seasonality studies of the Bronze Age Northwest Caspian Steppe. Trudy Gosudarstvennogo Istoricheskogo muzeya 120, Moskva. Shishlina, N. I. – van der Plicht, J. – Hedges, R. E. M. – Zazovskaja, E. P. – Sevastyanov, V. S. – Chichagova, O. A. 2007

The Catacomb cultures of the North-West Caspian Steppe. 14C Chronology, Reservoir effect, and paleodiet. *Radiocarbon* 49/2 (2007) 713–726.

STADLER, P. – DRAXLER, S. – FRIESINGER, H. – KUTSCHERA, W. – PRILLER, A. – ROM, W. – STEIRER, P. – WILD, E. M. 2001

Absolute Chronology for Early Civilisations in Austria and Central Europe using <sup>14</sup>C with Accelerator Mass Scpectometry with special Results for the Absolute Chronology of the Baden Culture. In: Diamandi, S. – Roman, P. (Hrsg.): *Symposium Cernavodă III-Boleráz. Ein Vorgeschichtliches Phänomen zwischen dem Oberrhein und der unteren Donau.* Studia Danubiana Ser. Symposia II, București 2001, 541–563.

# TODOROVA, H. (Hrsg.) 2002

*Durankulak, Band II. Die prähistorischen Gräberfelder. Teil 1–2.* Sofia: Deutsches Archäologisches Institut.

TSUTSKIN, E. V. – SHISHLINA, N. I. (eds) 2001 Mogilniki Mu-Sharet v Kalmykii: kompleksnoe issledovanie. Moskva: Elista.

WILD, E. M. – STADLER, P. – BONDÁR, M. – DRAXLER, S. – FRIESINGER, H. – KUTSCHERA, W. – PRILLER, A. – ROM, W. – RUTTKAY, E. – STEIER, P. 2001

New chronological frame for the young Neolithic Baden Culture in Central Europe (4<sup>th</sup> Millennium BC). *Radiocarbon* 43 (2001) 1057–1064.

- WILLATS, W. MCCARTNEY, L. MACKIE, W. KNOX, P. 2001 Pectin: Cell Biology and Prospects for Functional Analysis. *Plant Molecular Biology* 47 (2001) 9–27.
- WŁODARCZAK, P. 2006

Kultura ceramiki sznurowej na Wyżynie Małopolskiej. Kraków.

K. ZOFFMANN, ZS. 2006

Anthropological finds of the Pit-grave culture from the Sárrétudvari-Örhalom site. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 51–58.

# K. ZOFFMANN, ZS. 2011

Human remains from the kurgan at Hajdúnánás-Tedej-Lyukashalom and an anthropological outline of the Pit-Grave ethnic groups. In: PETŐ – BARCZI (eds) 2011, 173–181.

# Insights into the Transylvanian Early Bronze Age Using Strontium and Oxygen Isotope Analyses: A Pilot Study

CLAUDIA GERLING - HORIA CIUGUDEAN

### Abstract

Burial mounds are a widespread phenomenon in Early Bronze Age Europe. They are also one of the characteristics of the Early Bronze Age burial ritual in Transylvania and are associated with the so-called Livezile Group. In the framework of a large-scale study focussing on the investigation of mobility patterns of the Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age communities of the West Eurasian steppes<sup>1</sup> a series of pilot studies were undertaken in the steppe-like environments of eastern Europe. One such pilot study investigated Early Bronze Age burials on the Great Hungarian Plain associated with foreign burial elements that point towards cultural connections to the southeast and east.<sup>2</sup> Inter alia the results of the isotope analysis of the present pilot study were obtained in order to potentially verify the conclusions based on previously obtained data from the Great Hungarian Plain.

Six human individuals from four Transylvanian sites were selected for  ${}^{87}Sr/{}^{86}Sr$  and  $\delta^{18}O$  isotopic analyses. Although the data set is far too small to gain answers on a statistically significant basis, a number of conclusions can be suggested. It is likely that the consistency in the isotope data is the result of the mixture of  ${}^{87}Sr/{}^{86}Sr$  and  $\delta^{18}O$  values of uplands and lowlands, which may point towards relatively restricted movement patterns rather than wide-ranging mobility or migration.

### Introduction

The tradition of erecting burial mounds is a widespread phenomenon in southeast Europe during the Early Bronze Age that is not restricted to one archaeological culture (DANI 2011, with further literature). In eastern Europe burial mounds are associated with different cultural contexts. They are also present in Transylvania, where they are seen in association with the Livezile group (e.g., CIUGUDEAN 1996; 2011) and date to the post-Cotofeni period (ROMAN 1976, 31; 1986, 41; CIUGUDEAN 1996, 80–81; POPA *et al.* 2006, 183–184; RIŞCUȚA – POPA – FERENCZ 2009, 278–279).

Claudia Gerling and her colleagues (2012a; 2012b) employed <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O isotope analysis to investigate twenty human skeletons from Late Copper Age/Early Bronze Age burial mounds in the Great Hungarian Plain. Some of the individuals in the Hungarian tumuli graves identified as isotopic outliers showed archaeological affinities to the Transylvanian Livezile group, thus in order to verify this potential association six humans and two animals from the four Transylvanian sites of Ampoiţa-Peret, Ampoiţa-Dostior, Livezile and Meteş-La Meteşel were selected for further <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O isotope analyses.

All sites are located in the eastern belt of the Apuseni Mountains within the Transylvanian Basin (*Fig. 1*). This region is encircled by the Carpathian Mountains and offers good preconditions for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Research project by Claudia Gerling within the Cluster of Excellence Topoi at Freie Universität Berlin, Research Group of Wolfram Schier and Elke Kaiser in collaboration with the University of Bristol (Volker Heyd and Alistair Pike).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Research project by the University of Bristol (V. Heyd and A. Pike) with the Institute of Archaeology of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences in Budapest (Eszter Bánffy, Kitti Köhler, Gabriella Kulcsár, Vajk Szeverényi), and Déri Múzeum in Debrecen (János Dani), isotope analysis was conducted as part of C. Gerling's PhD research.



Fig. 1. Map of Transylvania with the location of the sites – 1: Livezile, 2: Ampoiţa, 3: Meteş

conduction of stable isotope analysis based on geological diversity and minor temperature differences between lowlands and mountains.

# The Early Bronze Age in Transylvania

The erection of burial mounds with stone coverings is the dominating Early Bronze Age funeral pattern in the highlands of western Transylvania including the eastern and southern parts of the Apuseni Mountains (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 128–134; 2011, 23–27; RIŞCUȚA – POPA – FERENCZ 2009, 270–281). The archaeological investigation of the burial mounds started as early as at the turn of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (FENICHEL 1891a; 1891b; HEREPEY 1901, 18–22), with another intense research period in the late decades of the 20<sup>th</sup> century (VLASSA – TAKÁCS – LAZAROVICI 1987; CIUGUDEAN 1991) and some very recent contributions on the topic (e.g., CIUGUDEAN 2011; MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU 2011, 305–315).

In respect to their cultural affiliation, the tradition can be connected to the Livezile group (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 79–80; 2011, 26), which also includes Copăceni type finds (e.g., ROTEA 1993, 73, 84; 2003, 67–70; RIȘCUȚA – POPA – FERENCZ 2009, 281) in its later phase of evolution (for a critique of the so-called Copăceni group see DIETRICH – ROTEA 2009; MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU 2011, 305, 321).

The Livezile group (as defined by Horia Ciugudean, cf. characterisation of the group in CIUGUDEAN 1996, 78–95; MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU 2011, 305–315) dates to the beginning of the Early Bronze Age and is distributed in the eastern fringe of the Apuseni Mountains (*Fig. 1*). The burial tradition includes the inhumation of articulated and disarticulated skeletons in contracted positions. They lay directly on the surface and were covered by stone mounds. Settlements are mainly located in dominant positions such as hilltops but there are also remains of temporary sites in rock shelters and even caves (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 150).

Ceramic finds consist of characteristic Livezile cups with handles rising over the rim (*Fig. 2. 2, 8, 11*), small conical beakers (*Fig. 2. 1*), jugs (*Fig. 2. 14*), funnel-necked bowls with outturned rims, conical bowls with thickened rims, amphorae with globular body and tubular handles (*Fig. 2. 3*), sack-shaped



*Fig. 2. Characteristic grave-goods of the Livezile group* – 1–3: *Ţelna, 4–5, 9–11: Ampoiţa-Peret, 6: Mada, 7–8: Meteş, 12–14: Livezile-Baia (4–5: gold, 6, 9–10: copper, 12: bone)*
vessels, and hanging vessels (*Fig. 2. 13*). Characteristic ornaments are the *Fischgrätenverzierung*, hatched horizontal bands and rhombs and incisions on rims and shoulders, plastic applications, and sometimes, superficial channelling (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 150). The pottery shapes and ornaments are linked to other contemporaneous cultural groups such as Folteşti (-Cernavodă II) and Schneckenberg (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 150), but Corded Ware and Globular Amphora patterns can be detected too.

Furthermore, bone tools are common whereas stone tools, e.g., made of quartzite and flint, are less frequent; metal objects include copper and arsenical copper spectacle-shaped pendants and spiral beads *(Fig. 2. 6, 9)*, pins *(Fig. 2. 10)*, but also gold and silver hair rings (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 151). The gold hair rings from Ampoita *(Fig. 2. 4–5)* highlight long distance connections with the southern Balkans (CIUGUDEAN 1991, 94; 1996, 127–128, 143; PRIMAS 1996, 85).

For the dating and the chronology of the Livezile group, we have at our disposal a variety of absolute and relative data. As we have already underlined, there are several sites where the Livezile-type tumuli were erected over late Cotofeni settlements (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 24), supporting the widespread opinion that most of them, if not all, can be dated to the post-Cotofeni/Baden period (ROMAN 1986, 41; CIUGUDEAN 1996, 80–81; 2011, 26; RIŞCUȚA – POPA – FERENCZ 2009, 278–279). However, the recent excavation of an earthen mound at Silivaşu de Jos (County Hunedoara) delivered a rich pottery offering with typical Cotofeni III shapes and ornaments (LUCA *et al.* 2011), which might indicate that tumulus burials were already used by late Cotofeni communities.

The absolute dating is based on two <sup>14</sup>C dates coming from the Livezile-Baia site (*Figs 3–4*). A fragment of an animal bone from the settlement was radiocarbon dated to  $4109 \pm 44$  BP (Bln-4624), i.e. 2873–2502 cal BC (95.4% probability), while the tooth of an individual from grave 2 in tumulus 2 was dated to  $4015 \pm 35$  BP (Poz-42712), i.e. 2621–2468 cal BC (95.4% probability). Both results can be well correlated with the radiocarbon datings of grave 4 and 9 in the tumulus from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, where Livezile-type vessels were part of the grave-goods (DANI 2011, 31, Table 2). Accordingly, the beginnings of the Livezile group can be put in the first half of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC, most likely after 2700 BC. This chronological position is in accordance with the absolute dating of the Cotofeni culture too (CIUGUDEAN 2000, 57–59, Pl. 154).

So far, nothing can be said regarding the end of the Livezile group, which might have a longer evolution than it was generally admitted so far. The radiocarbon date from grave 3 at Meteş (*Fig. 5*) is quite late,  $3660 \pm 50$  BP, i.e. 2196–1903 cal BC (95.4% probability) and it shows that burials were made intermittently for several centuries in the barrows of the Apuseni Mountains. By that time, the



Fig. 3. Livezile-Baia (County Alba) – radiocarbon dating of the animal bone from the settlement. Plot made using OxCal v.4.2.2 computer program, Bronk Ramsey 2013



Fig. 4. Livezile-Baia (County Alba) – radiocarbon dating of burial 2 in tumulus 2. Plot made using OxCal v.4.2.2 computer program, Bronk Ramsey 2013



Fig. 5. Meteş-La Meteşel (County Alba) – radiocarbon dating of burial 3 in tumulus 1. Plot made using OxCal v.4.2.2 computer program, Bronk Ramsey 2013

Transylvanian lowlands were already occupied by the Early Bronze Age III groups, characterized by the *Besenstrich- und Textilmuster-Keramik*, a pottery style still missing in the highlands (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 110–112).

The visibility of the monuments is a feature that burial mounds of the Apuseni Mountains have in common, the tumuli being always placed in dominant positions, usually on the watershed between two valleys (*Fig. 6*). So far, tumuli with stone coverings have not been reported on river meadows, which seems to be the case of the Yamnaya type earthen mounds. The mounds are usually erected not very far from rocky areas, especially limestone outcrops, where stones can be easily collected. A close connection between the limestone rocks and Late Eneolithic/Early Bronze

Age settlements and barrows has been clearly observed along the Ampoi valley. The best documented site is Ampoiţa-Peret, where both settlement and cemetery were excavated (CIUGUDEAN 1991; 2011, 24, Pl. 10. 3).

At several sites settlements and cemetery areas overlapped, e.g., at Livezile-Baia, where several mounds were built over part of a former Coţofeni III settlement. The recent excavations in tumulus I at Cetea-Picuiata have revealed the presence of two fireplaces belonging to the Coţofeni III habitation, covered by the EBA burial mound (POPA *et al.* 2006, 183, Fig. 5). Outside Transylvania, similar observations were made in Moldavia, Serbia and Hungary, where Yamnaya mounds were often built over late Cucuteni/Horodiştea or Baden/Kostolac settlements (BUKVIĆ 1987; BURTĂNESCU 2002, 224–225). The great number of such situations raises the question whether these super-positions were



Fig. 6. Livezile-Baia – settlement on the lower terrace and tumuli on the top (photograph taken by H. Ciugudean)

really accidental or if there was an intention behind them. According to Volker Heyd (2011, 542), this might be seen as a symbolic connection to potential or claimed ancestors, or as an act of actively taking previous remains and territory into one's possession.

The burial tradition is characterised as follows (see CIUGUDEAN 2011, 23-25 for a description, including further literature): cemeteries are rather small with mainly less than 10 mounds and are often arranged in lines. In some cases the mounds were probably arranged in association with routes of communication crossing the mountains. The mounds have a round or, less frequently, ellipsoid shape and an average size of 10 to 12 m, most of them quite flat (less than 1 m high). Further characteristics of the Early Bronze Age burial mounds in the Apuseni Mountains are the inhumations in contracted positions placed directly on the surface and covered by a thin layer of soil, several layers of stones and a final soil cover, largely destroyed by erosion. Occasionally, rings of bigger stones were integrated in the burial structures. There were mainly single burials, but also burials of several individuals occur. The deceased were placed in supine positions with flexed legs or in crouched positions on the side. Also disarticulated skeletons occur, in primary, secondary burials and in the peripheries of the mounds. Articulated skeletons result from the interment of corpses, while assemblages of completely or partly disarticulated skeletons point to disintegration prior to burial, so the excarnation before interment seems likely (CIUGUDEAN 1991, 91; 1996, 132–133; LAZAROVICI - MEȘTER 1995, 88; RIȘCUȚA - POPA - FERENCZ 2009, 275). Cremation graves were also observed, mainly as secondary burials. Infrequently there are mounds without skeletal remains, regarded as symbolic funerary monuments (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 25). Grave inventory is generally very poor or not evident at all. Primary graves usually contain more funeral goods than secondary ones, and also metal objects count as characteristics for primary graves, while ceramic objects were placed in primary as well as secondary graves (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 26). Multiple parallels to other cultural groups can be identified (cf. CIUGUDEAN 2011, 23). The tradition of the inhumation under burial mounds is very common in the Early Bronze Age (cf. HARDING 2011). Burials on the ground, without pit graves, are known south to the Carpathians in the Foltesti tumulus at Blejoi (PAVELET 2007), in the cemetery with cord decorated vessels at Milostea (POPESCU – VULPE 1966), as well as in the Eastern Slovakian tumulus group (NOVOTNÁ 1987, 89). The arrangement of the burial mounds in lines is a feature that can be compared to the Corded Ware groups from the northern Carpathians (MACHNIK 1998, 257-262, Fig. 2, Fig. 4) and eastern Slovakia (BUDINSKÝ-KRIČKA 1967, 278–322) or in the Belotić-Bela Crkva group in Serbia (GAVELA [ed.] 1968, Fig. 5, Fig. 11–11a, Fig. 19a). A similar preference could be detected in the Yamnaya culture (DERGAČEV 1994, 124; AGULNIKOV 1995, 81). The deposition of disarticulated skeletons is attested for Yamnaya as well (HÄUSLER 1976, Pl. 6. 10a, Pl. 12. 2, Pl. 25. 9, Pl. 27. 22; KORYAKOVA – EPIMAKHOV 2007, 48, Fig. 2. 3-A), although it is mainly a common practice in central and western Europe during the Late Neolithic and Early Bronze Age, e.g., in the Funnel Beaker (MIDGLEY 1992, 443-458) and Globular Amphora cultures (NOSEK 1967, Fig. 42–43, Fig. 156, Fig. 166; HENSEL – WIŚLAŃSKI [eds] 1979, Fig. 178). Horia Ciugudean (2011, 29) regards the Yamnaya influence as a catalyst for the transformation of the funerary rites and rituals of late Cotofeni communities, e.g., expressed in the Early Bronze Age Livezile group of west Transylvania. Despite a number of congruities with the Yamnaya cultural communities, there are also important contradictions, for example the lack of the pit-graves under the mounds and the absence of the ritual powdering with red ochre. The spectacle-shaped pendants that accompany the dead have no parallels in the typical Yamnaya package (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 30), and they belong to the local Cotofeni heritage, as proven by the representations of such ornaments on Cotofeni vessels (CIUGUDEAN 2000, Pl. 141; POPA 2010, Pl. 10). Nevertheless, a possible scenario sees Yamnaya cultural groups inhabiting the lowlands of the Transylvanian Mureş valley and being involved in interregional exchange towards the Tisza Plain and the Lower Danube (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 30). This might offer one possible explanation for the presence of a broken Yamnaya pot in tumulus 1 at Metes (Fig. 2. 7), as well as for the Livezile-type vessels in the tumulus at Sárrétudvari-Örhalom (DANI 2011, 31).

# Methodology

The application of strontium and oxygen isotope analysis to archaeological material allows us to differentiate between human individuals that lived in geologically and climatically variable regions. Over the past 25 years, the potential of strontium and to a lesser extent oxygen isotope analysis to identify human and faunal mobility in archaeological assemblages has been demonstrated in innumerable studies that investigated material from various temporal periods and geographical regions (e.g., GRUPE *et al.* 1997; HOOGEWERFF *et al.* 2001; EVANS – CHENERY – FRITZPATRICK 2006; EVANS – STOODLEY – CHENERY 2006; ECKARDT *et al.* 2009; KNUDSON 2009; PRICE *et al.* 2010).

Strontium (Sr) has four stable isotopes. One of these isotopes, <sup>87</sup>Sr, is radiogenic and the product of the radioactive decay of rubidium (<sup>87</sup>Rb), whereas the remainder, including <sup>86</sup>Sr, are not. Due to differing ages and compositions of rocks, Sr and Sr ratios vary across the globe and thus strontium isotope ratios and concentrations in bedrock and soil vary according to the local geology (FAURE 1986). The strontium isotopic ratio of the bedrock, soil and groundwater is incorporated by plants, animals and humans through water and particularly food uptake, and importantly there is no significant change or fractionation in the isotopic composition of strontium up the food chain (ERICSON 1985). Strontium can substitute for calcium in an individual's hard tissues such as tooth and bone (SCHWEISSING 2004, 13), therefore the <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr composition of an individual's hard tissue reflects the <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr composition of its diet. Tooth enamel mineralises during childhood and is resistant to later recrystallisation processes (HILLSON 1996), therefore by applying <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr analysis to enamel, information regarding the isotopic composition of an individual's diet and consequently the environment and geology of its surrounding during childhood can be gained (early studies e.g., SEALY *et al.* 1991; PRICE *et al.* 1994). A good basis of comparison to determine if a person changed locations later in life is provided by archaeological and modern faunal remains, soil and plant samples from the closer surrounding of the place of the individual's death.

Conversely, the oxygen isotope composition ( $\delta^{18}$ O values) of a human's tooth enamel, or mammalian body tissue in general, is directly related to the composition of ingested water (e.g., LONGINELLI 1984; LUZ – KOLODNY – HOROWITZ 1984; IACUMIN et al. 1996). The oxygen isotope composition of precipitation water depends on temperature, latitude, altitude and distance from the ocean (DANSGAARD 1964; LONGINELLI 1984). With due regard to fractionation processes the  $\delta^{18}$ O composition of drinking water is conveyed to body water mainly through water uptake. For most large mammals, the composition of ingested water reflects local meteoric water. There are numerous equations providing a conversion from the  $\delta^{18}$ O in structural carbonate and phosphate into the  $\delta^{18}$ O of drinking or precipitation water (Longinelli 1984; Luz – Kolodny – Horowitz 1984; Levinson – Luz – Kolodny 1987; Iacumin et al. 1996; DAUX et al. 2008). The most recent equation by Carolyn Chenery and her colleagues (CHENERY *et al.* 2012) provides a direct conversion from  $\delta^{18}O_{\text{carbonate}}$  into  $\delta^{18}O_{\text{drinking water}}$ . Nevertheless, all of these equations were established on relatively small data sets and in relation to particular climatic conditions, consequently resulting  $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  values can only be considered as estimations (POLLARD – PELLEGRINI – LEE-THORP 2011). Because the causes of  $\delta^{18}$ O and  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr variation are independent of each other, the combined application of both analytical techniques provides a particularly useful tool to help reconstruct past movements of humans and animals (e.g., BENTLEY – PRICE – STEPHAN 2004; BUDD et al. 2004; PRICE et al. 2010; MÜLDNER – CHENERY – ECKHARDT 2011).

# Geography, geology and climate of the study region

The sample sites are located in the Inner Carpathian or Transylvanian Basin at the southeastern edge of the Apuseni Mountains and within a distance to 30 km of each other (*Fig. 1*). The Transylvanian Basin is encircled by the Carpathian Mountains, which are approximately 1300 km long and 50 to 150 km

wide. While the climate of the Carpathians is characterised by hot summers and cold winters with an average annual precipitation rate of 650 mm, temperatures in the Inner Carpathian Basin are slightly more moderate and the precipitation rate is lower (BREU 1989).

The basin is geologically homogeneous and built of Cenozoic sediments, while the Carpathian Mountains are geologically variable and include Proterozoic metamorphic as well as Palaeozoic and Mesozoic bedrock (ASCH 2005; *Fig. 7*). The Apuseni Mountains include the same wide range of lithologies, and due to this geological variability, we can expect varying <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr isotope ratios for the mountains. Ioan Seghedi and his colleagues found bedrock <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr values ranging from 0.7040 to 0.7083 (SEGHEDI *et al.* 2004, 122–126, Table 1). The local geology at the study sites in



Fig. 7. Bedrock geology (based on the geological map by ASCH 2005) in the Apuseni Mountains area with sampling locations. Palaeozoic (pink, rust), Mesozoic (green, blue, purple), Cenozoic (yellow)

ID	Site	Burial mound	Grave	Age	ropology Sex ears)	Item	<sup>87</sup> Sr/ <sup>86</sup> Sr enamel	Sr enamel (ppm)	<sup>87</sup> Sr/ <sup>86</sup> Sr dentine	Sr dentine (ppm)	δ <sup>18</sup> O <sub>carbonate</sub> (V-PDB) in ‰	δ <sup>18</sup> O <sub>drinking water</sub> in ‰	
Li 2/2	Livezile	2	2	25–35	male	M2 maxilla	0.70941	53	0.70903	70	-5.82	-9.02	
AmD 1/4	Ampoița-Dostior	1	4	14–15	male (?)	M1 mandibula	0.70990	250	0.70972	301	-5.46	-8.43	
AmP 1/1	Ampoița-Peret	1	1	6–7	_	M2 mandibula	0.70941	183	0.70952	268	-5.95	-9.24	
AmP 1/2	Ampoița-Peret	1	2	18–24	male (?)	M2 maxilla	0.70976	139	_	-	-6.18	-9.61	
Me 1/3	Meteş-La Meteşel	1	3	25–35	female	M1 maxilla	0.71048	121	_	_	-6.13	-9.53	
Me 1/7	Meteş-La Meteşel	1	7	17–25	male (?)	M1 mandibula	0.70913	97	_	-	-5.71	-8.84	
Am Refl	Ampoița-La Pietri, Coțofeni settlement, complex 5	ri, Coţofeni lement, –	_	_	_	Cattle, premolares	0.70754 (PM 1)	369 (PM 1)	_	_	_	-8.62 (D'Angela- Longinelli 1990)	
							0.70777 (PM 2)	338 (PM 2)	0.70898 (PM 2)	470 (PM 2)	-5.54 (PM 2)	(PM 2)	
Am Ref2	Ampoița-La Pietri, Petrești settlement, complex 6	_	_	_	_	Cattle, M3 mandibula	0.70980	175	0.71037	570	-7.46	–10.54 (D'Angela– Longinelli 1990)	

Table 1. Basic anthropological information (based on the preliminary report by K. McSweeney) and results of strontium and oxygen ( $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  as calculated by C. Chenery equation, see CHENERY et al. 2012) isotope analyses. M1: first permanent molar; M2: second permanent molar; PM: premolares. Typical one standard deviation analytical precisions for strontium are < 0.00001 and for oxygen < 0.2‰

the southern and eastern parts of the Apuseni Mountains range is dominated by Jurassic and Cretaceous material, therefore a 'local' <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr range of approximately 0.707 to 0.710 can be expected.

The IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency; www.iaea.org) gives weighted  $\delta^{18}$ O values between -11‰ and -8‰ for most of Europe including the area of modern Romania (VOERKELIUS *et al.* 2010). The Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator (BOWEN – REVENAUGH 2003; BOWEN – WASSENAAR – HOBSON 2005) gives  $\delta^{18}$ O of approximately -8.5‰ for all sites where samples were selected. For areas of higher altitudes in the same region more depleted  $\delta^{18}$ O values of approximately -9‰ or even lower can be expected.

#### Sample set and laboratory procedures

We sampled one human individual from Livezile (burial mound 2, burial 2), two humans from Meteş-La Meteşel (burial mound 1, burials 3 and 7), two human skeletons from Ampoiţa-Peret (burial mound 1, burials 1 and 2) and one from Ampoiţa-Dostior (burial mound 1, burial 4) for <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O analyses (*Table 1*). Li 2/2 is a secondary burial, which was placed in the stone covering in the centre of the burial mound, without any grave goods. Me 1/7 is one of the three burials of the primary grave, located in the central part of the barrow. The skeleton was dismembered and superposed by two further skeletons in contracted positions. The grave also contained a ceramic cup. Me 1/3 is a secondary burial in the same mound, placed between the inner ring and the central stone packing. The skeleton laid contracted on the left side, and the grave did not contain any grave goods. The two skeletons from Ampoiţa-Peret were secondary burials, one (burial 1) being deposited in no anatomical order and the other (burial 2) in a contracted position on the right. Neither graves contained any goods. AmD 1/4 is part of a secondary grave that contained two humans. The skeleton was placed in contracted position on the left side, and the grave did not contain any grave goods.

First and second permanent molars were selected, which represent the first years of the individual's lifetime, i.e. 0 to 3 years (first molar) and 2.5 to 8 years (second molars) respectively (HILLSON 1996, 118–125; SCHWEISSING 2004, 16, Table 2). In addition the enamel and the dentine of two faunal teeth were analysed to gain insight into the local biologically available <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr.

Sample preparation for <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O analyses was conducted in the laboratory facilities of the Department of Archaeology and Anthropology at the University of Bristol. Strontium isotope analysis was performed in the laboratory facilities of the Department of Earth Sciences at the University of Bristol, and oxygen isotope analysis was performed in the Research Laboratory for Archaeology and History of Arts at the University of Oxford. Sample preparation followed the methodology as outlined in GERLING 2012, which includes minor adjustments to the method described in HAAK *et al.* 2008 and CAHILL WILSON *et al.* 2012.

# Results of <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and δ<sup>18</sup>O analyses

To identify immigration to, or mobility at a site, the <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr ratio of a human individual is compared with a 'local' or 'regional' <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr range based on comparative data (PRICE – BURTON – BENTLEY 2002; BENTLEY – PRICE – STEPHAN 2004; TÜTKEN – VENNEMANN – PFRETZSCHNER 2011; MAURER *et al.* 2012). Ideally, these 'local' proxies include modern and archaeological, locally restricted living fauna, plant, water and soil.

Strontium isotope analysis of tooth enamel and dentine of two animals from a Cotofeni settlement and of one animal from a Petreşti settlement at the site of Ampoiţa-La Pietri were also undertaken in this study *(Table 1, Fig. 8)*. The Petreşti cattle gave <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr values of 0.7098 in its enamel and 0.7104 in the dentine, which correspond

well with the Sr isotopic range of the human individuals (see below) and are consistent with the geological regions of the environment. The <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr values of the Cotofeni cattle were 0.7075 (enamel PM 1), 0.7078 (enamel PM 2) and 0.7090 (dentine in PM 2). The results of the two enamel samples are consistent with the surrounding Mesozoic rocks which should result in a 87Sr/86Sr between 0.707 and range 0.709. There is no consistency between the signatures of the two enamel samples and the signature of the dentine sample from tooth 2, which plots at the lower end of the human data set. Furthermore, three samples of



Fig. 8. <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  (CHENERY et al. 2012) values of the analysed humans and cattle. The 'local' strontium and oxygen ranges are displayed in dashed grey frames

underlying crown dentine from the human teeth were selected for the establishment of the bioavailable  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr range, and these exhibit a range of 0.7090 to 0.7097. Given the fact that all sample sites are located within a small radius and are located on similar geology, the results of all proxies, i.e. the dentine  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr values of animals and humans, were combined. This resulted in a mean of 0.7095 ± 0.0011 (2 $\sigma$ ) and a range of 0.7084 to 0.7107 for the 'local' biologically available strontium. The Cotofeni cattle enamel samples fall outside this range thus suggesting they may not be representative of the local biologically available strontium. If this is the case, it would not be relevant to use them in the calculation of the local range, and if excluded a more precise local range of 0.7088 to 0.7105 with a mean of 0.7097 ± 0.0009 (2 $\sigma$ ) can be proposed.

The six human individuals from Ampoiţa-Doştior, Ampoiţa-Peret, Meteş-La Meteşel and Livezile share similar  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr values with a strontium isotope range of 0.7091 to 0.7105 and a mean equal to 0.7097 ± 0.0005 (1 $\sigma$ ) (*Table 1, Fig. 8*). Considering that four different sites were sampled, the human individuals form a relatively tight cluster. One individual, burial 3 in burial mound 1 at Meteş-La Meteşel has a strontium isotope value higher than the majority of the others but still within the limits of what can be considered the 'local' bioavailable strontium range. The only exceptions are the very low strontium isotope enamel values of the Cotofeni cattle, which is far off this range.

Strontium concentrations *(Table 1)* ranged between 53 and 250 ppm in human tooth enamel and from 70 to 301 ppm in human tooth dentine, which is considerably lower than for the faunal teeth analysed. In fauna, strontium concentration ranges were 175 to 338 ppm in enamel and 470 to 580 ppm in dentine. With the exception of the very low strontium concentration of the human skeleton's dentine in Livezile burial 2 tumulus 2, the results are in line with expectations.

The oxygen stable isotope composition of meteoric or rain water varies according to geographic location. An approximate idea of expected  $\delta^{18}$ O values in the eastern belt of the Apuseni Mountains was gained using the Online Isotopes in Precipitation Calculator (OIPC; BOWEN – REVENAUGH 2003; BOWEN – WASSENAAR – HOBSON 2005), which is based on data primarily derived from the International Atomic Energy Association (IAEA) and the Global Network for Isotopes in Precipitation (GNIP). The



Fig. 9. Box plots of  ${}^{87}\text{Sr}/{}^{86}\text{Sr}$  and  ${}^{0}\text{C}_{arbonate}$  data of the human tooth enamel. The box plots divide a distribution according to the inter-quartile range, with the box containing 50% of the values. Possible outliers are marked by circles

calculation of the estimated mean annual oxygen isotope composition in modern precipitation results in  $\delta^{18}$ O values of approximately -8.2‰ given an altitude of 500 m NN. Mountain peaks in the vicinity of the sites, where drinking water sources originated, can reach much higher altitudes (DIERCKE 1988, 110–111). When altitudes of 1000 m are taken as a basis, OIPC- $\delta^{18}$ O values average at -9.2‰.

The human tooth enamel  $\delta^{18}O_{carbonate}$  values range between -6.18 and -5.46‰ (V-PDB; 24.54 to 25.28‰ V-SMOW). It can be assumed that modern rain water is roughly representative of past values (CHENERY *et al.* 2010) and to enable a comparison with the meteoric water the regression equation of CHENERY *et al.* 2012 was applied. Calculated  $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  values cluster between -9.61 and -8.43‰ (*Table 1, Fig. 8*). This is a narrow range, even when considering the minimum 1‰ uncertainty created when converting  $\delta^{18}O_{carbonate}$ into  $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  values (POLLARD – PELLEGRINI – LEE-THORP 2011).

The cattle from the Petreşti settlement from Ampoița gave a  $\delta^{18}O_{carbonate}$  value of -7.46‰ (V-PDB; 23.22‰ V-SMOW) and -10.54‰ using the drinking water equation by D. D'Angela and A. Longinelli 1990. The cattle from the Cotofeni settlement at the same site resulted in an oxygen isotope value of -5.54‰ (V-PDB; 25.20‰ V-SMOW) and -8.62‰ (using D'ANGELA – LONGINELLI 1990), respectively.

The combination of  $\delta^{18}$ O and  $^{87}$ Sr/ $^{86}$ Sr values creates a relatively clustered data set, and all oxygen isotope ratios are more or less consistent with the estimated 'regional'  $\delta^{18}$ O range (*Figs 8–9*). However since strontium isotope ratios can be more informative than oxygen isotopes for tracing mobility on a small spatial scale, the cattle from the Ampoita Cotofeni settlement can be considered a true outlier due to their distinct  $^{87}$ Sr/ $^{86}$ Sr signature. Furthermore, the skeleton Meteş 1/3 is a potential human outlier although it does plot at the margin of the 'local' bioavailable Sr range.

#### Data interpretation and discussion

The majority of the selected samples (Meteş burial 7 mound 1, Livezile burial 2 mound 2 and Ampoița-Peret burial 1 mound 1) cluster between  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr 0.7090 and 0.7100 and  $\delta^{18}$ O –10 to –8‰ (*Fig. 8*). These isotopic values are probably the results of mixing signatures between Cenozoic and Mesozoic derived strontium and water sources deriving from different altitudes. Both can be found within the close surroundings and do not necessarily indicate movements on a larger scale. It is more probable, however, that mobility patterns were small-scale only and included movements between different geographic regions and varying altitudes, e.g. in association with mobile herding, the use of different pastures or the exploitation of mineral resources in the mountains whilst mainly living in the river valleys. Nevertheless, these results can also be the product of settled lifeways in connection with various food resources and water sources.

There is one probable outlier only, Meteş burial 3 in mound 1, which gave the highest  ${}^{87}\text{Sr}/{}^{86}\text{Sr}$  value of the date set in combination with one of the most depleted  $\delta^{18}\text{O}$  values. The values are however



Fig. 10. Comparison of the Transylvanian <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr data to the data set from eastern Hungary (GERLING et al. 2012a; 2012b; GIBLIN et al. 2013). Gerling:  $n^{87}Sr/^{86}Sr_{human dental enamel} = 24$ ; Giblin:  $n^{87}Sr/^{86}Sr_{human dental enamel} = 123$ ,  $n^{87}Sr/^{86}Sr_{human bone} = 45$ ,  $n^{87}Sr/^{86}Sr_{fauna} = 60$ . Given are mean <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr values with  $2\sigma$  standard deviations

still within the broad 'local' isotopic ranges. The skeleton belongs to a secondary grave, which did not contain any burial objects. Therefore, it is difficult to decide if the burial is also an outlier regarding the archaeology.

One of the key aims of this study was to produce further comparative isotope data for Late Copper Age/Early Bronze Age sites from the Eastern Hungarian Plain, for which – based on former archaeological and isotopic evidence – a connection to this region was suggested (GERLING *et al.* 2012a; 2012b).

Claudia Gerling and her colleagues applied strontium and oxygen isotope analyses on 20 Copper Age and Early Bronze Age human skeletons from eastern Hungarian burial mounds. Ratios of <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr ranged between 0.70916 and 0.71157 and ratios of <sup>18</sup>O/<sup>16</sup>O fell in the range of –6.98 to –4.02‰ (V-PDB; 23.72 to 26.76‰ V-SMOW; –10.83 to –5.98‰ using the conversion by CHENERY *et al.* 2012). They argued for a potential connection between the outlier human individuals from the east Hungarian Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom mound and the archaeological cultural remains of Early Bronze Age Transylvania and the Livezile group (GERLING *et al.* 2012a). These assumptions were based on the combination of the archaeological evidence, alongside the more radiogenic <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and more depleted  $\delta^{18}$ O values that were seen as indicators for a region of origin which is more mountainous and built of older geology further to the east. The authors argued for a potential connection to the sites under discussion in the present study, in the knowledge that no comparative skeletal remains from Romanian Transylvania were available at that time.



Fig. 11. Comparison of the Transylvanian  ${}^{87}$ Sr/ ${}^{86}$ Sr and  $\delta^{18}O_{drinking water}$  (CHENERY et al. 2012) data to the data set from eastern Hungary: Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom (n=8) and Kétegyháza-Kétegyházi tanyák (n=3; GERLING et al. 2012a; 2012b)

Previous major stable isotope work in the Eastern Hungarian Plain was conducted by Julia Giblin (GIBLIN 2009; GIBLIN *et al.* 2013), who applied strontium isotope analysis to investigate human mobility during the Neolithic and Early Copper Age. Based on more variable <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr ratios of the Copper Age human individuals it was concluded that a shift to a more mobile lifestyle, including the acquisition of resources from a wider geographic radius, occurred. They found this being in parallel with increased social interaction. The restricted <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr variability led the authors to conclude that although a change towards pastoralism based on cattle herding was suggested by different authors (e.g., BÖKÖNYI 1988; BÁNFFY 1994), there was limited movement within the Great Hungarian Plain without an extensive use of the eastern uplands' resources (GIBLIN *et al.* 2013, 227–237).

A comparison between the Transylvanian <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr data and the sample set obtained from burial sites in eastern Hungary (study J. Giblin and her colleagues) reveals a considerably good correlation (*Fig. 10*). Comparing the data to the burial mounds in eastern Hungary in the studies of C. Gerling and her colleagues, it is found that the Transylvanian data sit approximately in the middle of what can be reconstructed a triangle of the <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr samples from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom and Kétegyháza-Kétegyházi tanyák (*Fig. 11*). Furthermore, they take an intermediate position between the much depleted  $\delta^{18}$ O values from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom and the less depleted ones from the same site and from Kétegyháza-Kétegyházi tanyák. In the light of this complemented data set it can be assumed that the isotopic outliers from Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom do not agree with the results from the selected Transylvanian sample sites. They exhibit much more radiogenic <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and marginally more depleted  $\delta^{18}$ O values.

On the basis of the archaeological evidence a close connection between eastern Hungarian burial mounds like Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, the Transylvanian Livezile group and the Early Bronze Age cultural communities of the East European steppes has been suggested (e.g., DANI – M. NEPPER 2006, 41–44; DANI 2011, 29–33 with further literature). The burial rite combines elements of non-local origin, e.g. the erection of burial mounds and foreign ceramic inventories, with local traditions like the absence of pit graves and the building of stone coverings in the burial mounds. Copper and gold ornaments give hints to the exploitation of mineral resources of the Carpathian Mountains region and can be regarded as characteristics of an emerging Early Bronze Age elite (CIUGUDEAN 2011, 29). Both the mixed <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr values of this sample set and the marginally too depleted  $\delta^{18}$ O might be interpreted as indicators of a comprehensive use of lowland and upland at the foothill of the Apuseni Mountains.

The two animals, one cattle from a Petrești settlement and one cattle from a Coțofeni settlement resulted in highly variable <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O values. In addition, the Coțofeni cattle differed from the calculated 'local' biologically available <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and 'regional'  $\delta^{18}$ O ranges.

The question why the cattle is an isotopic outlier can be approached by considering various aspects of the economy of the Cotofeni cultural communities, whose cultural remains are distributed in Transylvania and adjacent regions (e.g., ROMAN 1976; 1977; CIUGUDEAN 2000). The diversity of site locations, the lowland, altitudes up to 1000 m and even rock shelters and caves, can be understood as hints to the presence of transhumant pastoralism (CIUGUDEAN 2000, 114). Although thorough zooarchaeological research for the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> millennia BC in Romania is missing, Cornelia Becker (BECKER 2000) was able to draw significant conclusions about the Copper Age–Early Bronze Age economy in Transylvania based on the faunal material from the sites Poiana-Ampoiului and Livezile; the predominant sources of meat at the settlement of Poiana-Ampoiului 'Piatra Corbului' were domestic animals, in particular sheep/goat and cattle, whereas wild animals were of minor importance (BECKER 2000, 71–73). The predominance of ovicaprine herding in comparison to wild animal hunting was also attested for Livezile (BECKER 2000, 74–76).

Even though no sequential <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr and  $\delta^{18}$ O sampling was applied to the two animals of the present study, the distinct isotopic signature of the Cotofeni cattle might be regarded as another indicator for transhumant herding alongside the predominance of small ruminants and the presence of small and potentially seasonal settlements and burial sites at higher altitudes. Transhumant pastoralism can be defined as "an animal and land use strategy involving the movement of herds of domestic herbivores between altitudinally differentiated and complementary seasonal pastures" (GEDDES 1982; BARTOSIEWICZ – GREENFIELD [eds] 1999, 15). In the Carpathian Mountains transhumance follows a long tradition, and transhumant sheep herding is evidenced until the 19<sup>th</sup> century (AVRAM 1992; BECKER 2000, 87–88), where herding routes attest regular movements between the highlands like the Apuseni Mountains and the surrounding lowlands (IRMIE 1965, 14; ZÖBL 1982, Fig. 22).

### Conclusions

In total, the data set is relatively consistent without large variability. The geographic locations of this series investigated suggest that most of the samples are the result of mixed signals from variations in the local geology and between water sources from the mountain water sheds and the mid-uplands or lowlands. The isotopic results point to small-range movements including the exploitation of different water and food sources within a specific distance from the sites. A human skeleton, burial 3 in burial mound 1 from Meteş-La Meteşel, and the cattle from the Cotofeni settlement in Ampoiţa-La pietri, can be considered the only isotopic outliers. A hint at the use of various pastures and/or different herding practices is given by the clear variation between the two animals analysed from Ampoiţa-La pietri despite both animals belonging to two different cultural settlements. Furthermore, the isotopic outlier

samples from Sárrétudvari-Örhalom on the Eastern Hungarian Plain are in no clear accordance with the Transylvanian sample set.

This investigation served as a pilot study to test the conclusions derived from the sample set in the Eastern Hungarian Plain (GERLING 2012; GERLING *et al.* 2012a; 2012b) as well as to gain first insights into Livezile mobility patterns and economy. The data suggests there was restricted or small-range mobility in the highlands of western Transylvania during the Early Bronze Age, and that different pastures or herding practices were used by chronologically similar cultural groups.

#### Acknowledgements

The research presented in this paper was conducted as part of the project 'Pastoralism on the Eurasian steppes' within the Cluster of Excellence 264 TOPOI at the Freie Universität Berlin. Nikolaus Boroffka, German Archaeological Institute provided access to and help with the sample collection process. Animal teeth were determined by Cornelia Becker, Freie Universität Berlin. Anthropological information derives from the preliminary anthropological report of Kathleen McSweeney, University of Edinburgh. Laboratory work was conducted using the facilities at the departments of Archaeology and Anthropology and Earth Sciences at the University of Bristol and at the Research Laboratory for Archaeology and the History of Art at the University of Oxford. <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr analysis was performed by Chris Standish, University of Bristol and  $\delta^{18}$ O analysis by Peter Ditchfield, University of Oxford. Helpful comments were given by Chris Standish.

# References

AGULNIKOV, S. 1995

Importuri de pe cursul inferior al Dunării în complexele arheologice ale bronzului timpuriudin stepa Bugeacului. *Cercetări arheologice în aria Nord-Tracă* 1 (1995) 80–85.

ASCH, K. 2005

The 1:5 Million International Geological Map of Europe and Adjacent Areas. BGR, Hannover.

AVRAM, S. 1992

Evidence of Romanian pastoralist' presence in Basarabia, Caucasus and Crimea. *Symposia Thracologica* 9/2 (1992) 204.

BÁNFFY, E. 1994

Transdanubia and Eastern Hungary in the Early Copper Age. *Jósa András Múzeum Évkönyve* 36 (1994) 291–296.

BARTOSIEWICZ, L. - GREENFIELD, H. J. (eds) 1999

*Transhumant Pastoralism in Southern Europe. Recent Perspectives from Archaeology, History and Ethnology.* Archaeolingua Series Minor, Budapest.

# BECKER, C. 2000

Subsistenzstrategien während der frühen Metallzeiten im zentralkarpatischen Raum – neue archäozoologische Daten zur Coţofeni- und Monteoru-Kultur. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 75 (2000) 63–92.

### BENTLEY, R. A. – PRICE, T. D. – STEPHAN, E. 2004

Determining the local <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr range for archaeological skeletons: a case study from Neolithic Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 31 (2004) 365–375.

BÖKÖNYI, S. 1988

History of Domestic Mammals in Central and Eastern Europe. Budapest.

BOWEN, G. J. - REVENAUGH, J. 2003

Interpolating the isotopic composition of modern meteoric precipitation. *Water Resources Research* 39/10 (2003) 1299.

BOWEN, G. J. – WASSENAAR, L. I. – HOBSON, K. A. 2005

Global application of stable hydrogen and oxygen isotopes to wildlife forensics. *Oecologia1* 43 (2005) 337–348.

Breu, J. 1989

Atlas der Donauländer. Wien.

BUDD, P. – MILLARD, A. – CHENERY, C. – LUCY, S. – ROBERTS, C. 2004 Investigating population movement by stable isotope analysis: A report from Britain. *Antiquity* 78 (2004) 127–141.

BUDINSKÝ-KRIČKA, V. 1967

Východoslovenské mohyly. Slovenská Archeológia 15/2 (1967) 278-388.

BUKVIĆ, L. 1987

Die ältesten Hügelbestattungen im südlichen Banat. In: Srejović, D. – Tasić, N. (Hrsg.): *Hügelbestattung in der Karpaten-Donau-Balkan-Zone während der äneolithischen Periode. Internationales Symposium Donji Milanovac 1985.* Balkanološki Institut Sanů, Sonderausgabe 29, Belgrade 1987, 83–85.

# BURTĂNESCU, F. 2002

*Epoca timpurie a bronzului între Carpați și Prut. Cu unele contribuiții la problemele perioadei premergătoare epocii bronzului în Moldova.* Bibliotheca Thracologica 37, București.

CAHILL WILSON, J. – USBORNE, H. – TAYLOR, C. – DITCHFIELD, P. – PIKE, A. W. G. 2012
Strontium and Oxygen Isotope Analysis on Iron Age and Early Historic burials around the Great
Mound at Knowth, Co. Meath, Appendix 5. In: Eogan, G. (ed.): *Excavations at Knowth 5: The Archaeology of Knowth in the First and Second Millennia AD*. Dublin 2012, 775–788.

CHENERY, C. – MÜLDNER, G. – EVANS, J. A. – ECKARDT, H. – LEWIS, M. 2010 Strontium and stable isotope evidence for diet and mobility in Roman Gloucester, UK. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 37 (2010) 150–163.

CHENERY, C. – PASHLEY, V. – LAMB, A. L. – SLOANE, H. J. – EVANS, J. A. 2012 The oxygen isotope relationship between the phosphate and structural carbonate fractions of human bioapatite. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 26 (2012) 309–319.

CIUGUDEAN, H. 1991

Zur frühen Bronzezeit in Siebenbürgen im Lichte der Ausgrabungen von Ampoița, jud. Alba. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 66 (1991) 79–114.

CIUGUDEAN, H. 1996

*Epoca timpurie a bronzului în centrul și sud-vestul Transilvaniei – The Early Bronze Age in Central and South-Western Transylvania.* Biblioteca Thracologica 13, București.

# CIUGUDEAN, H. 2000

Eneoliticul Final în Transilvania și Banat: Cultura Coțofeni – The Late Eneolithic in Transylvania and Banat: The Coțofeni Culture. Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 26, Timișoara.

# CIUGUDEAN, H. 2011

Mounds and mountains: burial rituals in Early Bronze Age Transylvania. In: Berecki, S. – Németh, R. E. – Rezi, B. (eds): *Bronze Age Rites and Rituals in the Carpathian Basin Proceedings of the International Colloquium from Târgu Mureş*. Bibliotheca Mvsei Marisiensis, Seria Archaeologica 4, Târgu Mureş 2011, 21–57.

### D'ANGELA, D. – LONGINELLI, A. 1990

Oxygen isotopes in living mammal's bone phosphate: Further results. *Chemical Geology* 86 (1990) 75–82.

### Dani, J. 2011

Research of pit-grave culture kurgans in Hungary in the last three decades. In: Barczi, A. – Pető, Á. (eds): *Kurgan studies: an environmental and archaeological multiproxy study of burial mounds of the Eurasian steppe zone*. BAR International Series 2238, Oxford 2011, 25–69.

# Dani, J. – M. Nepper, I. 2006

Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom. Tumulus Grave from the Beginning of the EBA in Eastern Hungary. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2006, 29–63.

### DANSGAARD, W. 1964

Stable isotopes in precipitation. Tellus 16 (1964) 436-468.

DAUX, V. – LÉCUYER, CH. – HÉRAN, M.-A. – AMIOT, R. – SIMON, L. – FOUREL, F. – MARTINEAU, F. – LYNNERUP, N. – REYCHLER, H. – ESCARGUEL, G. 2008

Oxygen isotope fractionation between human phosphate and water revisited. *Journal of Human Evolution* 55 (2008) 1138–1147.

# Dergačev, V. 1994

Epoca bronzului. Perioada timpurie. Thraco-Dacica 15 (1994) 121-140.

### DIERCKE 1988

Diercke Weltatlas. 1. Auflage Neubearbeitung. Braunschweig.

DIETRICH, L. – ROTEA, M. 2009

Grupul Copăceni I, Cluj Napoca, 2003. Dacia 53 (2009) 219-223.

ECKARDT, H. – CHENERY, C. – BOOTH, P. – EVANS, J. A. – LAMB, A. – MÜLDNER, G. 2009 Oxygen and strontium isotope evidence for mobility in Roman Winchester. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 36 (2009) 2816–2825.

# ERICSON, J. E. 1985

Strontium isotope characterization in the study of prehistoric human ecology. *Journal of Human Evolution* 14 (1985) 503–514.

### EVANS, J. A. - CHENERY, C. - FITZPATRICK, A. P. 2006

Bronze Age childhood migration of individuals near Stonehenge, revealed by strontium and oxygen isotope tooth enamel analysis. *Archaeometry* 48/2 (2006) 309–321.

### EVANS, J. A. - STOODLEY, N. - CHENERY, C. 2006

A strontium and oxygen isotope assessment of a possible fourth century immigrant population in a Hampshire cemetery, southern England. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 33 (2006) 265–272.

# FAURE, G. 1986

Principles of Isotope Geology. New York.

FENICHEL, S. 1891a

Gyertyánosi és bedelői halomsírokról (Torda-Aranyos m.). Archaeologiai Értesítő 11 (1891) 65-69.

FENICHEL, S. 1891b

A bedelői "La furcsi" határbeli tumulusok. Archaeologiai Értesítő 11 (1891) 160-163.

GAVELA, B. (ed.) 1968

Problemi porekla i datovanja bronzanog doba u Srbiji. Beograd.

GEDDES, D. 1982

Neolithic transhumance in the Mediterranean Pyrenees. World Archaeology 15 (1982) 51-66.

GERLING, C. 2012

Prehistoric mobility and palaeodiet in Western Eurasia. Stable isotope analysis of human populations and domesticated animals between 3500 and 300 BC. Unpublished PhD thesis, Freie Universität Berlin.

GERLING, C. – BÁNFFY, E. – DANI, J. – KÖHLER, K. – KULCSÁR, G. – PIKE, A. W. G. – SZEVERÉNYI, V. – HEYD, V. 2012a

Immigration and transhumance in the Early Bronze Age Carpathian Basin: the occupants of a kurgan. *Antiquity* 86 (2012) 1097–1111.

Gerling, C. – Heyd, V. – Pike, A. – Bánffy, E. – Dani, J. – Köhler, K. – Kulcsár, G. – Kaiser, E. – Schier, W. 2012b

Identifying kurgan graves in Eastern Hungary – A burial mound in the light of strontium and oxygen isotope analysis. In: Kaiser, E. – Burger, J. – Schier, W. (eds): *Population Dynamics in Prehistory and Early History. New Approaches Using Stable Isotopes and Genetics.* Berlin Studies of the Ancient World 5, Berlin 2012, 165–176.

# GIBLIN, J. I. 2009

Strontium isotope analysis of Neolithic and Copper Age populations on the Great Hungarian Plain. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 36 (2009) 491–497.

GIBLIN, J. I. – KNUDSON, K. J. – BERECZKI, ZS. – PÁLFI, GY. – PAP, I. 2013 Strontium isotope analysis and human mobility during the Neolithic and Copper Age: a case study from the Great Hungarian Plain. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 40 (2013) 227–239.

GRUPE, G. – PRICE, T. D. – SCHRÖTER, P. – SÖLLNER, F. – JOHNSON, C. M. – BEARD, B. L. 1997 Mobility of Bell Beaker people revealed by strontium isotope ratios of tooth and bone: a study of southern Bavarian skeletal remains. *Applied Geochemistry* 12 (1997) 517–525.

HAAK, W. – BRANDT, G. – DE JONG, H. N. – MEYER, Ch. – GANSLMEIER, R. – HEYD, V. – HAWKESWORTH, Ch. – PIKE, A. W. G. – MELLER, H. – ALT, K. W. 2008

Ancient DNA, strontium isotopes, and osteological analyses shed light on social and kinship organization of the Later Stone Age. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105 (2008) 18226–18231.

# HARDING, A. F. 2011

The Tumulus in European Prehistory: covering the Body, housing the Soul, In: Borgna, E. – Müller Celka, S. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes. Burial Mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages*. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 58, Lyon 2011, 21–32.

# HÄUSLER, A. 1976

Die Gräber der älteren Ockergrabkultur zwischen Dnepr und Karpaten. Berlin.

### HENSEL, W. – WIŚLAŃSKI, T. (eds) 1979

Neolit. Prahistoria ziem Polskich 2, Wrocław-Warszava-Kraków-Gdańsk.

## HEREPEY, K. 1901

Alsófehér vármegye őskora II/1. Nagyenyed.

### HEYD, V. 2011

Yamnaya groups and tumuli west of the Black Sea. In: Borgna, E. – Müller Celka, S. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes. Burial Mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages*. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 58, Lyon 2011, 535–555.

# HILLSON, S. 1996

Dental Anthropology. Cambridge.

Hoogewerff, J. – Papesch, W. – Kralík, M. – Berner, M. – Vroon, P. – Miesbauer, H. – Gabler, O. – Künzel, K.-H. – Kleinjans, J. 2001

The last domicil of the Iceman from Hauslabjoch: A geochemical approach using Sr, C and O isotopes and trace element signatures. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 28 (2001) 983–989.

# IACUMIN, P. – BOCHERENS, H. – MARIOTTI, A. – LONGINELLI, A. 1996

An isotopic palaeoenvironmental study of human skeletal remains from the Nile Valley. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 126 (1996) 15–30.

# IRMIE, C. 1965

*Das Hirtenwesen der Rumänen: Forschungen in der Mårgninimea Sibiului bei Hermannstadt/Sibiu.* Südosteuropa-Studien 7, München.

#### KNUDSON, K. J. 2009

Oxygen isotope analysis in a land of environmental extremes: The complexities of isotopic work in the Andes. *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology* 19 (2009) 171–191.

# KORYAKOVA, L. N. – EPIMAKHOV, A. V. 2007

The Urals and Western Siberia in the Bronze and Iron Ages. Cambridge.

#### LAZAROVICI, GH. – MEŞTER, M. 1995

Săpături și prospectări în necropolele tumulare din zona Cheilor Turzii (1992–1994). Cercetări arheologice în aria Nord-Tracă 1 (1995) 86–105.

### LEVINSON, A. A. – LUZ, B. – KOLODNY, Y. 1987

Variations in oxygen isotopic compositions of human teeth and urinary stones. *Applied Geochemistry* 2 (1987) 367–371.

# Longinelli, A. 1984

Oxygen isotopes in mammal bone phosphate: a new tool for palaeohydrological and palaeoclimatological research. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 48 (1984) 385–390.

# LUCA, S. A. – DIACONESCU, D. – ROMAN, C. C. – TINCU, S. 2011

Cercetările arheologice de la Silivașu de Jos-Dealul Țapului. Campaniile anilor 2006–2010, Suceava. *Anuarul Muzeului Bucovinei* 38 (2011) 7–54.

### LUZ, B. - KOLODNY, Y. - HOROWITZ, M. 1984

Fractionation of oxygen isotopes between mammalian bone-phosphate and environmental drinking water. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 48 (1984) 1689–1693.

MACHNIK, J. 1998

Die neuesten <sup>14</sup>C-datierten Fundstellen der Schnurkeramikkultur in den Karpaten. In: Fritsch, B. – Maute, M. – Matuschik, I. – Müller, J. – Wolf, C. (Hrsg.): *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 3, Rahden/Westf. 1998, 257–273.

Maurer, A.-F. – Galer, S. J. G. – Knipper, C. – Beierlein, L. – Nunn, E. V. – Peters, D. – Tütken, Th. – Alt, K. W. – Schöne, B. R. 2012

Bioavailable <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr in different environmental samples – Effects of anthropogenic contamination and implications for isoscapes in past migration studies. *Science of the Total Environment* 433 (2012) 216–229.

MIDGLEY, M. S. 1992

TRB Culture. The First Farmers of the North European Plain. Edinburgh.

MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU, I. 2011

Obiceiuri funerare în epoca brinzului la Dunărea inferioară și mijlocie. București.

MÜLDNER, G. - CHENERY, C. - ECKARDT, H. 2011

The 'Headless Romans': multi-isotope investigations of an unusual burial ground from Roman Britain. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 38 (2011) 280–290.

NOSEK, S. 1967

Kultura amfor kulistych w Polsce. Wrocław-Warszava-Kraków.

NOVOTNÁ, M. 1987

Die Kultur der ostslowakischen Hügelgräber und ihre Beziehungen zu den benachbarten Gebieten. In: Srejović, D. – Tasić, N. (Hrsg.): *Hügelbestattung in der Karpaten-Donau-Balkan-Zone während der äneolithischen Periode, Internationales Symposium Donji Milanovac 1985*. Balkanološki Institut Sanů, Sonderausgabe 29, Belgrade 1987, 91–97.

PAVELEŢ, E. 2007

Cercetările arheologice preventive intreprinse în tumulul situat pe raza comunei Blejoi, jud. Prahova. *Musaios* 12 (2007) 107–122.

POLLARD, A. M. - PELLEGRINI, M. - LEE-THORP, J. A. 2011

Technical note: Some observations on the conversion of dental enamel  $\delta^{18}O_p$  values to  $\delta^{18}O_w$  to determine human mobility. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 145 (2011) 499–504.

POPA, C. I. 2010

Intre podoabe, statut social și simbolistică. Pandantivele-ochelari din bronzul transilvănean. *Apulum* 47 (2010) 1–22.

POPA, C. I. – PLANTOS, C. – KOLBE, E. – RABSILBER, T. – DELEANU, V. – TOTOIANU, R. – ȘTEFU, V. 2006 Raport de cercetare arheologică pe șantierul Cetea-La Pietri (Campania 2005). *Patrimonium Apulense* 5–6 (2006) 181–191.

POPESCU, E. - VULPE, A. 1966

Necropola tumulară de la Milostea. Revista Muzeelor 3 (1966) 148-155.

PRICE, T. D. – BURTON, J. H. – BENTLEY, R. A. 2002

The characterization of biologically available strontium isotope ratios for the study of prehistoric migration. *Archaeometry* 44 (2002) 117–135.

PRICE, T. D. – BURTON, J. H. – SHARER, R. J. – BUIKSTRA, J. E. – WRIGHT, L. E. – TRAXLER, L. P. – MILLER, K. A. 2010

Kings and commoners at Copan: Isotopic evidence for origins and movements in the Classic Maya period. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 29 (2010) 15–32.

PRICE, T. D. – JOHNSON, C. M. – EZZO, J. A. – ERICSON, J. – BURTON, J. H. 1994 Residential mobility in the prehistoric southwest United States: a preliminary study using strontium isotope analysis. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 21 (1994) 315–330.

#### PRIMAS, M. 1996

Velika Gruda I. Hügelgräber des frühen 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Adriagebiet – Velika Gruda, Mala Gruda und ihr Kontext. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 32, Bonn.

#### RIȘCUȚA, N. C. – POPA, C. I. – FERENCZ, I. V. 2009

Cercetări arheologice la Balşa şi Mada (jud. Hunedoara) şi câteva observații privind necropolele tumulare din Munții Apuseni. *Apulum* 46 (2009) 257–286.

### Roman, P. I. 1976

Cultura Cotofeni. Biblioteca de arheologie 26, București.

# Roman, P. I. 1977

Die Cotofeni-Kultur. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 52 (1977) 189-198.

# ROMAN, P. I. 1986

Perioada timpurie a epocii bronzului pe teritoriul României. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 37 (1986) 29–55.

# ROTEA, M. 1993

Contribuții privind bronzul timpuriu în centrul Transilvaniei. Thraco-Dacica 14 (1993) 65-86.

# ROTEA, M. 2003

Grupul Copăceni I. Cluj-Napoca.

### SCHWEISSING, M. M. 2004

Strontium-Isotopenanalyse (<sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr): Eine archäometrische Applikation zur Klärung anthropologischer und archäologischer Fragestellungen in Bezug auf Migration und Handel. Münchner geologische Hefte 31, München.

SEALY, J. C. – VAN DER MERWE, N. J. – SILLEN, A. – KRUGER, F. J. – KRUEGER, H. W. 1991 <sup>87</sup>Sr/<sup>86</sup>Sr as a dietary indicator in modern and archaeological bone. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 18 (1991) 399–416.

Seghedi, I. – Downes, H. – Szakács, A. – Mason, P. – Thirlwall, M. – Rosu, E. – Pécskay, Z. – Márton, E. – Panaiotu, C. 2004

Neogene-quaternary magmatism and geodynamics in the Carpathian-Pannonian region: a synthesis. *Lithos* 72 (2004) 117–146.

TÜTKEN, T. – VENNEMANN, T. W. – PFRETZSCHNER, H.-U. 2011 Nd and Sr isotope compositions in modern and fossil bones – proxies for vertebrate provenance and taphonomy. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 75 (2011) 5951–5970.

## VLASSA, N. – TAKÁCS, M. – LAZAROVICI, GH. 1987

Die Hügelgräber aus dem Banat und aus Siebenbürgen aus der Spätäneolithischen Periode. In: Srejović, D. – Tasić, N. (Hrsg.): *Hügelbestattung in der Karpaten-Donau-Balkan-Zone während der äneolithischen Periode*. Beograd 1987, 107–119.

VOERKELIUS, S. – LORENZ, G. D. – RUMMEL, S. – QUÉTEL, C. R. – HEISS, G. – BAXTER, M. – BRACH-PAPA, C. – DETERS-ITZELBERGER, P. – HOELZL, S. – HOOGEWERFF, J. – PONZEVERA, E. – VAN BOCXSTAELE, M. – UECKERMANN, H. 2010

Strontium isotopic signatures of natural mineral waters, the reference to a simple geological map and its potential for authentication of food. *Food Chemistry* 118 (2010) 933–940.

### Zöbl, D. 1982

Die Transhumanz (Wanderschafhaltung) der europäischen Mittelmeerländer im Mittelalter in historischer, geographischer und volkskundlicher Sicht. Berliner geographische Schriften 10, Berlin.

# The Significance of the Metallurgy at the Beginning of the Third Millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin

# JÁNOS DANI

### Abstract

This article is dealing with the first series and significance of the copper shaft-hole axes, no doubt the most important metallurgical product of its era, used throughout the third millennium BC in the Carpathian Basin. Besides discussing the typo-chronology of the major axe groupings, i.e. Bányabükk, Fajsz, Corbasca, Kömlőd-Kozarac, Nyírtass, Dumbrăvioara, etc., it is made an attempt to the cultural attribution of the various types. However also the social and economic, and technological points of view are being discussed for the beginnings of the Bronze Age. The technology of copper shaft-hole axe production (processing of ores, casting, use of bivalve or tri-partite moulds) was probably known from the first quarter of the third millennium BC, while the use of real tin-bronzes began just at the end of the Early Bronze Age, approximately around 2000 BC. There was thus a relative long period, which we can call an 'experimental period'. During this time span several metal sorts were used in the alloying process. Based on analyses of the earliest Bronze Age metals, we can identify various added metals (first of all arsenic, gold and silver, bismuth, etc.), consequently the existence of various copper alloys and some knowledge about properties. Summarising the currently available data, an eastern European origin of this weapon and symbol of power is assured. However concurrently certain local features can be detected making it a multicultural phenomenon of the local Late Copper and Early Bronze Age. The Carpathian Basin was not only a passive adaptive zone, but it was an innovative secondary centre (as it was earlier in the Early and Middle Copper Age) with newly developed metal types and metallurgical methods. With the intensive exploitation of local ore sources, and the flourishing of the production of shaft-hole axes, the Carpathian zone played an important role in the further distribution of Early Bronze Age metallurgy to western and southern Europe.

### Introduction

The definition of the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age in eastern-Central Europe is a hard and – to my mind – a rather impossible task, already dealt with by some scholars (VULPE 2001; KIENLIN 2010, 118–121; 2013, 415–419). However, the latest contribution by Volker Heyd shows most expressively the conflict between archaeological theories, chronological systems and terminologies (HEYD, this volume). Whatever a future conclusion can be, surely the most significant items of the Early Bronze Age metallurgy are the copper shaft-hole axes. The collection and the separated mapping of the various types of shaft-hole axes is therefore an important contribution and can show an interesting, and perhaps more nuanced picture not just about their distribution but also the wider chronological relationship of these objects.

### The shaft-hole axes in the wider Carpathian Basin

The horizon of the Bányabükk/Vâlcele shaft-hole axes made of copper dates to the very end of the Copper Age (Baden culture) as recently highlighted by some scholars (HANSEN 2010, 305; 2011, 142–144; SZEVERÉNYI 2013, 666; HEYD, this volume), which concurrently means that a "…'metal crisis' of the second half of the fourth millennium did not exist" (HANSEN 2011, 146). It is for sure that the first metallurgical innovation and maybe inspiration (in this case the metallurgical technology and the



Fig. 1. Distribution of the Bányabükk type shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 1)

production of the Bányabükk type axes) arrived from eastern Europe and the Caucasus region (BÁTORA 2003; KAISER 2005; CHERNYKH 2008, 79–82; HANSEN 2009a, 36; 2009b 145–149; 2011, 143–145) at the end of the fourth millennium BC. This is the same period than the east-Central European Late Copper Age (*Fig. 1, Appendix 1*). Based on the overall distribution of this type, it is obvious that the production of the Bányabükk/Vâlcele axes must be seen as an "international phenomenon" and connected to the wider "Baden Complex" comprising also contemporaneous cultures and groups such as Cotofeni, Nakovani, Jevišovice, late Funnel Beaker, Globular Amphora Culture, etc.

After this above outlined prelude, some time in the first quarter of the third millennium, a new age, namely the Early Bronze Age, dawns and with it come new types of shaft-hole axes. One of these new types are the so-called Fajsz type axes. Unfortunately, the far majority of these axes are found as scattered items and single finds, so that we must be content to get for most of them at least their provenance right. From the point of view of the dating of these Fajsz type axes, the Brno-Lišeň (Staré Zámky) metal depot (BENEŠOVÁ 1956; ŘíHOVSKÝ 1992, 36, Taf. 85A) is thus of cardinal importance, as this depot securely turned up in the Jevišovice B-Řivnač layer. The age of this Eneolithic layer of Staré Zámky is well-specified with the contemporaneous Starý Lískovec site's calibrated radiocarbon dates, which are between 3090-2470 BC (in a  $2\sigma$  calibration) (JOHN 2010, Tab. 9).<sup>1</sup> The samples classified as Fajsz type are spread all over the Carpathian Basin, except for the southern and southwestern parts of Transdanubia (DANI – KIS-VARGA 2000, 28, Fig. 2). Probably, they did not gain ground here, because firstly the Vučedol and later the Somogyvár-Vinkovci cultures living here were primarily characterised with manufacturing and using first of all the so-called Kömlőd-Kozarac type axes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to Jozef Bátora and Jochen Görsdorf it is 2890–2770 BC (BÁTORA 2003, 33). After Maximilian O. Baldia and his colleagues the sequence falls between 3100/3000 and 2850 BC (BALDIA – FRINK – BOULANGER 2008, 43, Fig. 18).



Fig. 2. Distribution of the Fajsz type shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 2)

Taking a look at the geographical distribution, we can conclude that the Fajsz axe is the only type of shaft-hole axe whose distribution more or less concurs with the distribution territory of the Makó culture (*Fig. 2, Appendix 2*). Based on this observation, we can at first sight assume that the Fajsz axes are to be considered as the true legacy of the Makó metallurgy, and that of its neighbouring and partly contemporary cultures. However, the only absolutely dated find of Brno-Lišeň refers to the earlier Final Eneolithic period defined by Jevišovice B/Mödling-Zöbing, Řivnač, Cham, etc. At the same time it means more than that and both the Bányabükk and Fajsz types – previously considered to be contemporaneous – indicate at least partly consecutive chronological horizons. We can thus define the Fajsz type as a local axe type unambiguously developed in the Carpathian Basin.

Metallurgy of the first Early Bronze Age culture, the so-called Makó culture, however, cannot be considered as uniplanar. Apart from applying here the Fajsz type axes due to the mould-depots found in the Vel'ký Meder/Nagymegyer site (HROMADA – VARSIK 1994) and the recently excavated Site 5 of Üllő (KŐVÁRI – PATAY 2005), also the Kömlőd-Kozarac type axes must be placed here. Their technological advance in production, when compared to the Bányabükk and Fajsz types, can be verified by the existence of some intact three-piece-moulds.<sup>2</sup> Pit no. 5605 of the Üllő site with the metalworking debris deposition is well dated to 2470–2340 BC (in a 1 $\sigma$  calibration), meaning that the settlement was also in use during the later phase of the Makó culture (KŐVÁRI – PATAY 2005, 124).

Taking a look at the finds which are indicative for the production of axes in the Early Bronze Age, one gets a startling picture: there are hardly any other types of axe-moulds found in the territory of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This contradicts to the ideas of David Liversage, according to which a Lišen-Fajsz – Kozarac-Zók – Kömlőd-Stubło chronological sequence exists. In his opinion the Fajsz type can still be connected to the Baden culture, while the Kozarac type belongs to the Zók-Vučedol culture; the treasures from Dunakömlőd and Stubło can then be dated to the beginnings of the Reinecke A1-period (LIVERSAGE 1994, Table I. 95–96).



Fig. 3. Distribution of the Corbasca type shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 3)



*Fig. 4. Distribution of the Kömlőd-Kozarac* (♠)*and Nyírtass* (♥) *type shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 4)* 

the Carpathian Basin than the Kömlőd-Kozarac type (*Fig. 6, Appendix 6*). The only exception are the moulds that turned up in the Zók-Várhegy site. Here a piece of archaic type (Corbasca or Bányabükk?) axe mould were also found and not just those of Kömlőd-Kozarac-type axe moulds (ECSEDY 1983, Pl. XIII. 2, Pl. XIV. 5). Consequently, this hillfort settlement is of cardinal importance because it verifies the contemporaneous production of two different types of axes (ECSEDY 1983, 84).

The Corbasca type axes are in a close typological connection to the Fajsz axes based upon the system of Alexandru Vulpe (VULPE 1970, 29–30, Abb. 1). The Ostrovul Corbului I hoard, which was found in a clay-vessel in a there settlement of the Glina III-period, renders help to date this axe type (VULPE 1970, 30, Taf. 65. E), although one has to remark that the dating of this depot does not seem to be so univocal because Cotofeni-Kostolac and late Vučedol finds were also excavated at this site. Furthermore, in the Ostrovul Corbului I hoard the Corbasca axes are accompanied by two other axes, very similar to the Fajsz type (VULPE 1970, 30, Taf. 65. E). On the basis of this combination, it may be presumed that the production of the Corbasca type copper axes can be dated to the end of the Late Copper Age or to the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age (VULPE 1970, 28, Abb. 1; GOGÂLTAN 2000, 232) (*Fig. 3, Appendix 3*).

When comparing the distribution of the Fajsz and the Corbasca types, it is an interesting fact to see the Corbasca type axes' distribution to fits very well with that of the first one. However, the Fajsz type seems to be a pure Central Carpathian axe, whilst the Corbasca axes more link to the southern part of the Carpathian Basin and to the Lower Danube region. But, no doubt, they must have been in use at the same time. The Žitavany hoard in Slovakia, which yielded a Fajsz and a Corbasca axe, also confirms this contemporaneity (NOVOTNÁ 1957, 309–310, Tab. II. 1ab, 2ab; 1970, 27, Taf. 8. 137–138).

The main research insufficiency when classifying the Early Bronze Age shaft-hole axes into various types lies in the typological systems and denominations divided into countries. This statement is particularly valid in the cases of Dunakömlőd, Kozarac, Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke, Stubło type axes. I agree with those scholars (e.g., Aleksandar Durman, Florin Gogâltan, Tibor Kovács) who already realized some time ago that these axe types are basically the same, or – in a better description – that they can be ranked into the same type. Perhaps it is the best statement to say that they all can be regarded as local variants of a type that spread over a greater area (DURMAN 1983, 64–65; KOVÁCS 1996, 115; GOGÂLTAN 2000, 233–234; HORVÁTH 2001, 53).

When looking at these distribution maps it becomes obvious that this (Dunakömlőd–Kozarac– Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke–Stubło) type is of a southern Carpathian Basin / northern Balkanic origin whose production began – proofed by the moulds discovered so far – in the classical period of the Vučedol culture (ECSEDY 1983, 84–85). This is supported by the fact that most of the hoards and depositions containing these types of axes have come to light in the eastern parts of Croatia, in Serbia, in Montenegro and in Bosnia-Herzegovina. Their production proceeded into the late phase of the Vučedol culture and their metallurgical legacy is still to be seen in the local post-Vučedol cultures (*Fig. 4, Appendix 4*). This also includes the Makó as well as the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture. Based on the spatial distribution of both axes and moulds it might well do that the Makó and Somogyvár-Vinkovci cultures play an important role in the spreading of these Kömlőd-Kozarac type axes (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1991; KOVÁCS 1996, 119). The sheer volume of metalwork now, and of course the production of exactly this type had reached a real "boom". This is not only visible by the overall number of axes per hoard, but also by the occasional use of precious metals (silver, electron) as well as by a relatively larger number of moulds. Nevertheless, this axe type and its improved variants were used for quite a long time. Based on the axes excavated for instance in Mokrin Grave 208,<sup>3</sup> or particularly the one from the Emőd-Nagyhalom site,<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Based on the calibrated radiocarbon results for the Grave 208 of the Mokrin cemetery (*ca.* 2200–2020 BC), it could be dated to the Early Bronze Age III-period (GIRIĆ 1971; GOGÂLTAN 2000, 233, Taf. 3. 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The site in which this shaft-hole axe was discovered solely belongs to the Hatvan culture (Koós 1993, 5–6, Taf. 1. 2).



Fig. 5. Distribution of the Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke type shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 5)

their production must have continued into the period of the Early Bronze Age III – Middle Bronze Age I of the Hungarian chrono-terminological system. In the territory of Romanian Moldavia, the closest relative of the Kozarac type are the so-called Mărăști type axes. These are said to have been produced by people of the Târpești and Aldești archaeological groups and are thus hypothetically dated by Florin Burtănescu to between *ca*. 2700 BC and the 25/24<sup>th</sup> century BC (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 180–182, Pl. I. 6–9). Later specimens of the Kozarac type family, named Izvoarele and Darabani types respectively,<sup>5</sup> came also to light not only in the well-known Stubło hoard (ANTONIEWICZ 1929; VULPE 1970, Taf. 70A) but also in the recently published Meżihirci hoard (or perhaps grave furniture?). The latter was assigned to the early phase of the Mierzanowice culture (MACHNIK – TKACZUK 2003, 484–486, Fig. 2. 2, Photos 1–2).

The production of the Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke type axes, being a later but more improved relative to the wider Kömlőd type, can be dated to the period of the Schneckenberg B and Jigodin cultures in Transylvania, as well as of the Roşia group. In the territory of Oltenia it is dated to the Runcuri phase of the Glina culture (ROMAN – NÉMETI 1986, 230; VULPE 1988, 210–212; DÉNES – V. SZABÓ 1998, 95–99; BURTĂNESCU 2002, 187) (*Fig. 5, Appendix 5*). From the point of view of their relative chronology, the axe specimen combined with Schneckenberg B pottery found in Őrkő, and the moulds that turned up together with the Jigodin assemblage at Leliceni/Csíkszentlélek, can be credited to be the most important. This type is also in use in Moldavia – based on the axe found in the site of Răcătău-Cetățuie – and dates to the there Monteoru Ic3–Ic2 phase, respectively at the beginning of the local Middle Bronze Age (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 187–188, Pl. II. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The differences between the three types mentioned above can best be expressed as nuances.



Fig. 6. Distribution of the moulds for shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin (cp. the Appendix 6)

This chronological background has most recently been confirmed by the discovery of a copper shaft-hole axe, which has its best parallels in the Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke type of Transylvania, in a lavishly furnished grave of the Corded Ware culture at the site of Szczytna, a village in the Rzeszów Voivodeship of the most southeastern part of Poland. This Grave no. 4 (CZOPEK [ed.] 2011, Fot. 96, 249, 64.15) (*Fig. 5. 20, Appendix 5. 20*)<sup>6</sup> is of a special importance not only from the chronological point of view, and the correlation of the there developed Corded Ware with the Schneckenberg B and Jigodin cultures, but also perhaps in the context of the origins of the rather alien cord decoration known from pots of the eastern Transylvanian Early Bronze Age groups. There is an interesting coincidence when looking at this link between southeastern Poland (its sub-Carpathian part) and eastern Transylvania but a chronological horizon earlier when Globular Amphorae culture graves seem to follow the same trajectory.

# Shaft-hole axe contexts and metal analyses in the Upper Tisza region

Among the bulk of early shaft hole axes, only three axes are found in the Upper Tisza region from the territory of the Nyírség culture which is dated to the Early Bronze Age II-period.<sup>7</sup> They represent a specific sub-type in as much as the upper and lower parts of their shaft hole is cut in a slanting direction contrary to the Kömlőd-Kozarac type axes. Also, they do not have a stretched shaft tube. Such examples were found in Kisvárda and its surroundings (*Fig. 8. 1*), the sites of Balkány-Abapuszta and Nyírtass.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Many thanks to Volker Heyd for this important information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Other two (till now already lost) pieces of shaft hole axes representing the Kömlőd-Kozarac form are without exact provenance ("Szabolcs county"). They are known only from the original description sheets of András Jósa (*Fig. 9*).

The latter one (*Fig. 7. 2, Fig. 8. 2*) was made of a very specific "alloy": besides the copper as its main component (88.2%) it also contains 2.5% silver and, surprisingly, 9.1% gold (!) (*Table 1. 27*). So far such an alloy has no counterparts in the Bronze Age metallurgy of the Carpathian Basin.

Looking at the parish of Balkány, besides a shaft-hole copper axe (*Fig. 7. 1, Fig. 8. 3*) a narrow and triangular, 5-riveted copper(?) dagger (*Fig. 7. 4*; KEMENCZEI 1988, Taf. 1. 3) with a triangular grip plaque was also found. It is not clear whether the two belong together, if there is indeed a connection, these two pieces of weapons might be seen as the panoply of a warrior (KALICZ 1968, 46) and thus be regarded as funerary equipments. However, there is also the possibility that they belonged to a – originally perhaps even larger – metal hoard. Finally, it can of course also not be excluded that these two artefacts are not at all connected with each other.<sup>8</sup> This axe could be labelled to be made of a so-called "arsenic copper" as it contained 2.7% arsenic (As), 1.2% lead (Pb) and 1.1% bismuth (Bi) apart from overall 94.3% copper (Cu) (Table 1. 26).

A second dagger with a stretched triangular blade with a mid rip (*Fig. 7. 1, 3*)<sup>9</sup> is also known from the territory of Nyírség (northeastern Hungary), namely from the Hugyaj-Érpatak findspot. Its best parallel is the famous electron dagger (DURMAN 1988, 59; VUČEDOL 1988, Kat. 232) found in the Mala Gruda princely burial in Montenegro. Another Hungarian specimen, published by Tibor Kemenczei in the late 1980s (KEMENCZEI 1988, 9, Taf. 1. 5), is well comparable too although its exact provenance is unknown. According to its metal composition (*Table 1. 25*), this Hugyaj-Érpatak dagger could also be regarded as one of arsenic copper (95.5% Cu and 2.3% As) although the rate of iron in the alloy is surprisingly high (2.0%).

As a summary, it can be concluded that the metallurgy of the Nyírség culture, as far as those few examples can tell, is evidently derived from the south and it ultimately seems to stem from the Late Vučedol in conjunction with some local features. The usage of both the Kömlőd-Kozarac type axes and the triangular shaped daggers give hints to this, whereas the Nyírtass axe could perhaps be better grouped into a specific sub-type, probably of an eastern origin (*Fig. 4*).

### Emerging metallurgical centres in the Carpathian Basin

In terms of producing Early Bronze Age shaft-hole axes, it therefore seems that the Carpathian Basin did not function as a primary, innovative centre at the beginnings of the Early Bronze Age. Rather, the production of these axe types – due to the effect taken by the eastern European (and so indirectly linking the eastern Carpathian Basin to the metallurgical centres in the Caucasus region) steppe Pit Grave/Yamnaya culture (so-called "Yamnaya package" by Richard Harrison and Volker Heyd [2007]) – already began at the end of the Copper Age by using the copper ores available here. I am inclined to think that, due to this aspect, the Carpathian Basin filled the part of an adaptive, secondary centre. As the most western part and gradually the most developing and flourishing region of the "Circumpontic Metallurgical Province" (= CMP) outlined by Evgeny N. Chernykh many years ago (CHERNYKH 1992; 2008; CHERNYKH – AVILOVA – ORLOVSKAYA 2002), it nevertheless played a significant role in further disseminating this Early Bronze Age metallurgy towards the west.

Within this wider secondary centre, the respective copper-ore distributions of the Carpathian Basin facilitated the development of a handful of local manufacturing centres. We are therefore able to reconstruct an Early Bronze Age northern Transylvanian and Upper Tisza region metallurgical centre primarily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Both of them come from Balkány-Abapuszta: the dagger, however, is deposited in the collections of Jenő Péchy (HAMPEL 1886, XVIII. t. 1), while the axe was donated to András Jósa by Albert Darvas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Tibor Kemenczei mentions that a shaft-hole axe was also discovered together with this dagger. In the case of the axe he might have had in mind of the one found at Balkány whose place was, however, not correctly identified. This would mean that it was not discovered at Érpatak.



Fig. 7. 1, 4: Balkány-Abapuszta, 2: Nyírtass, 3: Érpatak, Hugyaj (3–4: after HAMPEL 1886, XVIII. t. 1; KEMENCZEI 1988, Taf. I. 3–4)



Fig. 8. 1: Kisvárda region, 2: Nyírtass, 3: Balkány-Abapuszta (original drawings of András Jósa)





Fig. 9. 1–2: Shaft-hole axes from unknown sites ("Szabolcs county", northeastern Hungary; original drawings by András Jósa)

producing the Bányabükk and Kömlőd-Kozarac-Sáromberke types of axes by using the copper ores available in the nearby *Muntii Metaliferi* (Erdélyi-érchegység). However, the exploration of the relation/connection between the Transylvanian prehistoric copper mines and the Early Bronze Age metal varieties and their ore provenances is still at an early stage. In all probability copper ore mining zones already known in the Early and Middle Copper Age were exploited again (BEŞLIU – LAZAROVICI 1995, 113–117; LAZAROVICI *et al.* 1995, 218–222, Fig. 11; KADAR 2002, 12–14).

According to latest research it is possible that the ores of the western part of the Carpathian Mountains abounding in nonferrous metals as well as precious metals (mainly the Slovenské Rudohorie/Slovakian Ore Mountains/Szlovák Érchegység)<sup>10</sup> were already exploited in this period (SCHALK 1998, 21–24, Abb. 3). Fieldwork made at the, e.g., Špania Dolina-Piesky site (ŽEBRÁK 1995, 13–15, Fig. 1. 6) also indicate this when seeking the correlation with the Early Bronze Age axes (again scattered items for the far majority) axes found in the territory of Slovakia.

Another likewise significant metallurgical centre is probably to be seen in relation to the eastern Serbian copper ore outcrops of Rudna Glava and Rudnik (PERNICKA *et al.* 1993, 38). Although the Bronze Age exploitation of these mining areas can be considered as certified, there are however still no infallible data that

would indicate that these mines were in use in the beginning of the Early Bronze Age. But this possibility cannot be excluded either.<sup>11</sup> The exploitation of the Rudna Glava mining area has undoubtedly stopped at some point in the Copper Age, although work in the Rudnik copper ore strata, such as at Prljuša Šturac, likely seems to have been taken up again in the Early Bronze Age (JOVANOVIĆ 1995, 32–34). However, for the largest copper ore outcrop zones in eastern Serbia, the mining areas of Bor and Majdanpek, we do unfortunately not have data regarding their prehistoric exploitation. This is partly owed to the waste destructions due to the modern, large-scale exploitation. However, a considerable part of the analysed Copper Age metals correlates well with the Majdanpek ores (BEGEMANN – PERNICKA – SCHMITT-STRECKER 1995, Fig. 4. 146–147; KRAJNOVIĆ *et al.* 1995, 65–66).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> We might also mention the Fátra, lower Tatra and Vihorlat mountains, as well as the mountains around Kassa, at Hernád, Poprád, Rozsnyó, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Unfortunately, there is no correlation between the composition of metals coming from the area of Rudna Glava and dating to the Early Bronze Age and the copper ores excavated from the so far known ancient mine (PERNICKA *et al.* 1993, 25–37; BEGEMANN – PERNICKA – SCHMITT-STRECKER 1995, Figs 5–6, 147–148).

Inv.No.	Type of the sample	Composition (in weight %)										
No. of SAM	Cultural association	Fe	Ni	Cu	As	Ag	Sn	Sb	Pb	Bi	Au	Zn
Hódmezővásárhely 62/921 SAM 13 258	Fajsz type axe ? (strayfind)	Т	< 0.01	99.3	0.58	< 0.01	Т	0.05	0.04	0.011	-	-
Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 85/169	Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci	0.18	-	96.6	0.4	2.1	-	0.5	_	-	-	-
(Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér	Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci	-	-	90.2	0.95	0.65	7.3	0.7	0.07	-	-	-
(Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 96/122	Flat chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci	0.4	-	99.5	-	_	_	_	_	-	-	-
(Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 90/81	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci	0.1	_	95.1	2.7	0.11	_	_	1.9	_	_	-
<b>Dunakömlőd</b> B.12.933.1 SAM 13 402	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard	0.2	-	99.2	-	0.10	-	-	0.45	-	-	-
<b>Dunakömlőd</b> B.12.933.2 SAM 13 403	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard	-	-	99.0	-	0.46	-	-	0.42	-	-	_
Dunakömlőd B.12.933.3 SAM 13 404	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard	-	-	99.7	-	0.18	-	-	-	-	-	-
Dunakömlőd B.12.933.4 SAM 13 405	Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard	0.2	-	95.2	2.20	0.20	-	1.30	0.81	-	-	-
B.12.933.5 SAM 13 406	Axe Hoard	0.1	-	94.3	2.34	0.23	-	-	1.78	1.12	-	-
B.12.933.6 SAM 13 407	Flat chisel Hoard	-	-	99.5	-	0.10	-	-	0.33	-	-	-
B.12.933.7 SAM 13 408	Flat chisel Hoard	-	-	98.9	0.61	0.20	-	-	0.27	-	-	-
B.12.933.8 SAM 13 409	Chisel Hoard	-	-	99.6	-	0.35	-	-	-	-	-	-
MFM 93.1.14	Armring Maros	-	-	96.0	0.16	0.24	3.45	-	-	-	-	-
Lublinit Cave (Vargyas-valley, Transylvania, Romania)	Dumbrăvioara(Sáromberke) type axe Hoard, Schneckenberg culture	0.09	-	98.2	1.27	0.03	-	-	0.32	-	-	-
<b>Emőd-Nagyhalom</b> HOM	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hatvan (?), strayfind	-	-	99.6	-	0.18	-	_	0.11	_	_	-
Unknown site (Borsod- Abaúj-Zemplén county) HOM 53.932.1	Chisel ?, strayfind	-	-	99.1	_	0.64	_	_	0.3	_	_	-
Unknown site (Borsod- Abaúj-Zemplén county) HOM 53,931.1	Chisel ?, strayfind	0.04	-	99.9	_	-	_	_	_	_	_	-
<b>Szihalom</b> HOM 53.468.1	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	96.6	0.87	0.38	-	0.29	0.9	1.1	-	-
Felsővadász-Várdomb HOM	<b>Awl</b> Hatvan	_	-	96.3	3.6	0.02	-	-	_	-	-	-
Unknown Site (Borsod- Abaúj-Zemplén county)	Dagger ?, strayfind	0.12	_	89.1	0.17	1.0	9.2	0.38	_	_	_	-
Demecser-Roffaj-dűlő Feature 16	<b>Perforated disc</b> Szaniszló	-	-	99.9	-	0.08	-	-	-	-	Т	-
	SAM 13 258 Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 85/169 Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 96/122 Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) Private collection of A.Csiszér, 90/81 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.1 SAM 13 402 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.2 SAM 13 403 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.4 SAM 13 404 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.5 SAM 13 405 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.5 SAM 13 406 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.7 SAM 13 407 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.7 SAM 13 407 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.7 SAM 13 407 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.8 SAM 13 407 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.7 SAM 13 408 Dunakömlőd B.12.933.8 SAM 13 409 Kopáncs, Grave 2 MFM 93.1.14 Lublinit Cave (Vargyas-valley, Transylvania, Romania) Emőd-Nagyhalom HOM S3.932.1 Unknown site (Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén county) HOM 53.931.1 Szihalom HOM Unknown Site (Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén county) HOM 53.931.1 Szihalom HOM S3.1044.1 Dunakömléd S.10.41.1 Demecser-Roffaj-dűlő	0.27921 SAM 13 258? (strayfind)Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)Narrow chisel Somogyvár-VinkovciNagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-VinkovciPrivate collection of A.Csiszér, 90/81Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-VinkovciNagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)Flat chisel Somogyvár-VinkovciPrivate collection of A.Csiszér, 90/81Somogyvár-Vinkovci90/81Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci90/81Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe HoardB.12.933.1Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe HoardB.12.933.3Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe HoardB.12.933.4Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe HoardB.12.933.4Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.5Axe (Caucasian type) HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.6Axe (Caucasian type) HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.6Flat chisel HoardB.12.933.6Flat chisel HoardB.12.933.7HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.8Axe HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.8SAM 13 408Dunakömlőd B.12.933.8HoardSAM 13 409HoardDunakömlőd B.12.933.9HoardB.12.933.1HoardKöpánes, Grave 2 (Vargyas-valley, Transylvania, Romania)Dumbrävioara(Sáromberke) type axe HoardMFM 93.1.14Dumbrävioara (type axe Hoard, Schneckenberg cultureHOM 53.931.1Sithalom HOM 53.468.1HOM 53.931.1Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind </td <td>0.2921 SAM 13 258     ? (strayfind)     1       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.18       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     -       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Flat chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.4       96/122     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/123     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/124     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/125     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/81     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     0.2       90/81     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     -       912.933.1     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     -       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     0.2       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     -       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     -       90/</td> <td>02/921 SAM 13 228? (strayfind)1SOUT SUPPRIVATE collection of A. Csiszér, Source Supprivate collection of A. Csiszér, Supprivate collection of</td> <td>0.2524 SAM 13 228? (strayfind)1Stud99.5Nagrvejke-Réti szintók (Borsó-hegy)Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci0.1896.6Nagrvejke-Réti szintók (Borsó-hegy)Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci90.2Private collection of A. Csiszér, (Borsó-hegy)Somogyvár-Vinkovci Somogyvár-Vinkovci0.499.5Private collection of A. Csiszér, (Borsó-hegy)Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.199.1Private collection of A. Csiszér, 9081Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.299.2Dunakómlód B.12.933.1Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.299.0Dunakómlód B.12.933.3Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard99.0Dunakómlód B.12.933.3Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard99.7SAM 13 403Ase (Caucasian type) Hoard0.295.2Dunakómlód B.12.933.5Ase Hoard0.199.5SAM 13 405Hoard99.6SAM 13 405Hoard99.6SAM 13 407Hoard99.6B.12.933.6Haard99.6SAM 13 407Hoard99.6SAM 13 408Hoard99.6SAM 13 408Hoard99.6SAM 13 408Chisel Hoard99.6SAM 13 408</br></br></br></td> <td>0.991         2 (strayfind)         1         S0.01         99.3         0.38           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.18          96.6         0.4           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci           90.2         0.95           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.4          99.5            Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.1          95.1         2.7           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe B12.933.1         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard         0.2          99.0            Dunakómlód B12.933.2         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe ASAM 13 403          99.0             Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard          9.1         9.2         2.20           Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard          9.6.6            Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Flat chisel Hoard          9.6.7            Dunakómlód B12.933.7         Flat chisel Hoard&lt;</td> <td>0.20241 SAM 13.258         ? (strayfind)         1         0.00         90.3         0.38         0.001           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.18         -         96.6         0.44         2.1           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.1         -         9.02         0.95         0.65           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.4         -         99.5         -         -           Nagvojke Reti szintók Bi 12.933.1         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Bi 12.933.2         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         0.1         -         95.1         2.7         0.10           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.3         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         -         99.0         -         0.46           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         -         99.7         -         0.18           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe SAM 13 405         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         99.7         -         0.18           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe SAM 13 405         Pat chisel Hoard         -         -         98.5         -         0.10      <tr< td=""><td>0.0021         7 (strayfind)         1         0.01         92.5         0.38         0.01         1           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Narrow chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          96.6         0.44         2.1            Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Damege/Irragmented chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          90.2         0.95         0.65         7.3           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Ordershee)         Flat chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.4          90.2              Private collection of A Cisser, 90(31         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.1         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 403         Gond         Axe Hoard         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.4         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 404         0.2          99.7         -         0.18            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.5         Axe SAM 13 404         Axe (Caacasian type) B (2.93.6         0.61         0.20          99.5          0.10         -           Dunakömlöd B (2.9</td><td>Xii Yi Ziss         ? (staryfind)         I         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00           Narryevie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S51100         Narrow chisd Somogvaf-Vinkovei         0.18          96.6         0.4         2.1          0.5           Narryeie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S0100         Damegoffragmented chisd Somogyaf-Vinkovei         0.4          90.5           -         0.1          95.1         2.7         0.11            90.5   </td><td>Xii Yii Xii Yii Xii Yii Yii Yii Yii Yii</td><td>Add 21 State         7 (staryfind)         1         0.01         0.03         0.01         0.01         0.01           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, SS100         Dameged/ragmenticle chied Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.18         0.2         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         9.1         2.7         0.11         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.2         -         99.0         2.7         0.10         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         C.2         0.2         0.2         0.10         1.0         0.45         0.45         -           Bit 2033         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         0.12         0.12         0.18         0.12         0.13         0.45         &lt;</td><td>SATURE 15         2 (staryfind)         1.1         Colo         993         0.83         0.01         0.01         0           Daryeryle-Kellotianik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik) (Baryele-Kelixatin</td></tr<></td>	0.2921 SAM 13 258     ? (strayfind)     1       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.18       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     -       Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy)     Flat chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.4       96/122     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/123     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/124     Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/125     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci     0.1       90/81     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     0.2       90/81     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     -       912.933.1     Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe Hoard     -       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     0.2       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     -       90/81     Axe (Caucasian type) Hoard     -       90/	02/921 SAM 13 228? (strayfind)1SOUT SUPPRIVATE collection of A. Csiszér, Source Supprivate collection of A. Csiszér, Supprivate collection of	0.2524 SAM 13 228? (strayfind)1Stud99.5Nagrvejke-Réti szintók (Borsó-hegy)Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci0.1896.6Nagrvejke-Réti szintók (Borsó-hegy)Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci90.2Private collection of A. Csiszér, (Borsó-hegy)Somogyvár-Vinkovci Somogyvár-Vinkovci0.499.5Private collection of A. Csiszér, (Borsó-hegy)Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.199.1Private collection of A. Csiszér, 9081Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.299.2Dunakómlód B.12.933.1Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard0.299.0Dunakómlód B.12.933.3Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard99.0Dunakómlód B.12.933.3Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard99.7SAM 13 403Ase (Caucasian type) Hoard0.295.2Dunakómlód 	0.991         2 (strayfind)         1         S0.01         99.3         0.38           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Narrow chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.18          96.6         0.4           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci           90.2         0.95           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Dameged/fragmented chisel Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.4          99.5            Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Somogyvár-Vinkovci         0.1          95.1         2.7           Nagveyle-Réti szánlók (Borső-hegy)         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe B12.933.1         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard         0.2          99.0            Dunakómlód B12.933.2         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe ASAM 13 403          99.0             Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard          9.1         9.2         2.20           Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Kömlód-Kozarac type axe Hoard          9.6.6            Dunakómlód B12.933.5         Flat chisel Hoard          9.6.7            Dunakómlód B12.933.7         Flat chisel Hoard<	0.20241 SAM 13.258         ? (strayfind)         1         0.00         90.3         0.38         0.001           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.18         -         96.6         0.44         2.1           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.1         -         9.02         0.95         0.65           Nagvojke Reti szintók (Boró-hegy) Private collection of A.Csizer, Somogyvär-Vinkovci         0.4         -         99.5         -         -           Nagvojke Reti szintók Bi 12.933.1         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Bi 12.933.2         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         0.1         -         95.1         2.7         0.10           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.3         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         -         99.0         -         0.46           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         -         99.7         -         0.18           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe SAM 13 405         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe Hoard         -         99.7         -         0.18           Dunakömlöd Bi 12.933.5         Kömlöd-Kozarat typ axe SAM 13 405         Pat chisel Hoard         -         -         98.5         -         0.10 <tr< td=""><td>0.0021         7 (strayfind)         1         0.01         92.5         0.38         0.01         1           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Narrow chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          96.6         0.44         2.1            Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Damege/Irragmented chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          90.2         0.95         0.65         7.3           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Ordershee)         Flat chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.4          90.2              Private collection of A Cisser, 90(31         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.1         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 403         Gond         Axe Hoard         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.4         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 404         0.2          99.7         -         0.18            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.5         Axe SAM 13 404         Axe (Caacasian type) B (2.93.6         0.61         0.20          99.5          0.10         -           Dunakömlöd B (2.9</td><td>Xii Yi Ziss         ? (staryfind)         I         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00           Narryevie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S51100         Narrow chisd Somogvaf-Vinkovei         0.18          96.6         0.4         2.1          0.5           Narryeie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S0100         Damegoffragmented chisd Somogyaf-Vinkovei         0.4          90.5           -         0.1          95.1         2.7         0.11            90.5   </td><td>Xii Yii Xii Yii Xii Yii Yii Yii Yii Yii</td><td>Add 21 State         7 (staryfind)         1         0.01         0.03         0.01         0.01         0.01           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, SS100         Dameged/ragmenticle chied Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.18         0.2         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         9.1         2.7         0.11         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.2         -         99.0         2.7         0.10         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         C.2         0.2         0.2         0.10         1.0         0.45         0.45         -           Bit 2033         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         0.12         0.12         0.18         0.12         0.13         0.45         &lt;</td><td>SATURE 15         2 (staryfind)         1.1         Colo         993         0.83         0.01         0.01         0           Daryeryle-Kellotianik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik) (Baryele-Kelixatin</td></tr<>	0.0021         7 (strayfind)         1         0.01         92.5         0.38         0.01         1           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Narrow chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          96.6         0.44         2.1            Nagrycike Retizatiok (Brochegy)         Damege/Irragmented chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.18          90.2         0.95         0.65         7.3           Nagrycike Retizatiok (Ordershee)         Flat chisel Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.4          90.2              Private collection of A Cisser, 90(31         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe Somogy/ar-Vinkovci         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.1         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 403         Gond         Axe Hoard         0.1          99.2          0.10            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.4         Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe SAM 13 404         0.2          99.7         -         0.18            Dunakömlöd B (2.933.5         Axe SAM 13 404         Axe (Caacasian type) B (2.93.6         0.61         0.20          99.5          0.10         -           Dunakömlöd B (2.9	Xii Yi Ziss         ? (staryfind)         I         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00           Narryevie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S51100         Narrow chisd Somogvaf-Vinkovei         0.18          96.6         0.4         2.1          0.5           Narryeie-Reit samth Borsh-brgy Private collection of X.Cisser, S0100         Damegoffragmented chisd Somogyaf-Vinkovei         0.4          90.5           -         0.1          95.1         2.7         0.11            90.5	Xii Yii Xii Yii Xii Yii Yii Yii Yii Yii	Add 21 State         7 (staryfind)         1         0.01         0.03         0.01         0.01         0.01           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, SS100         Dameged/ragmenticle chied Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.18         0.2         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         0.95         0.65         7.3         0.7         0.7         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection of ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.4         -         9.0         9.1         2.7         0.11         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         0.2         -         99.0         2.7         0.10         -         1.0         0.45         -           Maryerije-Kell statht (Beros-bergy) Private collection (ACSister, Somogyvär-Vinkoveil         C.2         0.2         0.2         0.10         1.0         0.45         0.45         -           Bit 2033         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         Kömlöd-Kozarar type av B12/933         0.12         0.12         0.18         0.12         0.13         0.45         <	SATURE 15         2 (staryfind)         1.1         Colo         993         0.83         0.01         0.01         0           Daryeryle-Kellotianik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik (Baryele-Kelixatinik) (Baryele-Kelixatin

 Table 1. Results of the ED XRF analysis of some Early Bronze Age copper base metals. The metalanalyses was carried out by Miklós Kis-Varga in the Institute for Nuclear Research of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Debrecen, Hungary (T.: only in traces; grey color: copper)

	Site	Type of the sample		Composition (in weight %)											
No.	Inv.No. No. of SAM	Cultural association	Fe	Ni	Cu	As	Ag	Sn	Sb	Pb	Bi	Au	Zn		
23	Nagyrév-Zsidóhalom Grave C/6 DJM 91.8.33	<b>Armring</b> Nagyrév	1.0	1.24	95.2	0.48	0.009	1.9	_	_	Ι	_	_		
24	Nagyrév-Zsidóhalom Grave B/8 DJM 91.8.32	<b>Dagger</b> Nagyrév	0.1	0.4	97.3	0.56	0.7	0.09	0.46	0.2	-	-	_		
25	Hugyaj, Érpatak JAM 64.968.1	<b>Triangular dagger</b> Nyírség (?), strayfind	2.0	-	95.5	2.3	0.02	-	-	0.09	-	_	_		
26	Balkány-Abapuszta JAM 64.832.1	Shaft hole axe with slantwise cut tube Nyírség (?), strayfind	-	-	94.3	2.7	0.15	-	0.3	1.2	1.1	-	-		
27	Nyírtass JAM 64.828.1	Shaft hole axe with slantwise cut tube Nyírség (?), strayfind	0.04	-	88.2	-	2.5	-	-	-	-	9.1	-		
28	Hajdúdorog-Szállásföldek HM 61.80.23	Fajsz type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	99.1	0.79	0.02	-	-	-	-	-	-		
29	Budapest-Óbuda MNM 24/a/1883	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe (shaft-hole) ?, strayfind	_	-	92.68	4.6	0.62	-	-	0.68	1.42	-	_		
30	Budapest-Óbuda MNM 24/a/1883	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe (edge) ?, strayfind	-	_	94.55	1.5	0.82	_	_	0.96	2.17	_	_		
31	Érd MNM 12/1946	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	99.79	-	0.21	-	-	-	-	-	-		
32	Lippik jódfürdő MNM 41/1877	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	99.33	-	0.67	-	-	-	-	-	-		
33	Budapest-Kis-Duna (Csepel) MNM 209/1874	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind	1.97	-	97.18	0.3	0.02	_	_	0.53	_	_	_		
34	Balaton (unknown site) MNM 3/1865	MBA axe, Hajdúsámson type ?, strayfind	I	2.87	93.67	0.56	2.9	_	-	-	_	_	-		
35	Erdély (unknown site) MNM 82/1883	MBA axe, Pădureni type ?, strayfind	-	-	97.94	0.86	1.2	_	_	_	-	_	-		
37	Erdély (unknown site) MNM 30/1886	Izvoarele type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	99.29	0.68	0.03	-	-	-	-	-	-		
38	<b>Eger</b> MNM 51/1893.5	MBA axe, Pădureni type ?, strayfind	-	-	95.04	0.33	0.85	3.26	0.52	-	_	_	-		
39	Tolmács MNM 85.7.1	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe ?, strayfind	0.47	-	98.97	0.49	0.07	-	-	-	-	-	-		
40	Pianul de Sus/Oláhpián MNM 301/1876.55	Corbasca type axe ?, strayfind	-	-	99.72	0.1	0.02	-	-	0.16	-	-	-		
41	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, Grave 7 DM IV.92.59.2	<b>Dagger</b> Late Yamnaya	-	-	99.9	-	0.02	-	-	-	-	-	-		
42	Sárrétudvari-Őrhalom, Grave 7 DM IV.92.59.3	<b>Pickaxe</b> Late Yamnaya	0.43	-	99.2	-	0.01	-	-	0.35	-	-	-		

Table 1. Continued

Based on the SAM project (JUNGHANS – SANGMEISTER – SCHRÖDER 1960; 1968; 1974) and the metal analysis made since then (see e.g., KRAUSE 2003), we can come the following technological conclusions:

- 1. the series of the first shaft-hole axes are not made of bronze but from pure copper;
- 2. during the Early Bronze Age III-period (the Reinecke A1-phase) the Early Bronze Age metallurgy got to the point to be able to produce and use classical tin-bronze through a gradual and continuous development. This process, also to be called a "experimental period/phase", signifies experiments with the alloying materials and a better knowledge of the material's properties. At the same time this also means the continuous development of the metallurgic technology and its gradual improvement (VULPE 2001, 422). This "experimental period" is well illustrated during the Early Bronze Age I–II in northeastern Hungary *(Table 1)*. While during the Early Bronze Age II-period, and to some extent already parallel to the earlier period, there are attempts to intentionally alloy



Fig. 10. Chronological table of the shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin

copper with arsenic (As). Such could be considered as a transition state ("arsenic copper" or "arsenic bronze" / *Arsenkupfer* or *Arsenbronze*).<sup>12</sup> Apart from the arsenic, there is occasionally to notice a higher concentration of other metals in the artefacts. These include lead (Pb) as in the cases of Balkány-Abapuszta, Dunakömlőd, Nagyvejke-Réti szántók and Tiszavasvári-Deákhalom; nickel (Ni) as from Balaton and Nagyrév-Zsidóhalom; iron (Fe) from Budapest-Kis Duna and Hugyaj-Érpatak; and finally bismuth (Bi) from Budapest-Óbuda. In some cases these can be regarded as simple contaminants, but in other cases, and when having a percentage of above 1.5–2, they no doubt function as intentional alloying materials. Regarding certain other metals (iron, nickel and bismuth) there is an off-chance that they were added deliberately to the metals. The occurrence of silver (Ag) and gold (Au) in a higher amount in some of the artefacts (such as from Balaton, Nagyvejke and Nyírtass) can be regarded as unique. Very rarely Antimony (Sb) is also found (Dunakömlőd);

- 3. the use of closed moulds consisting of three parts in comparison with the open bivalve moulds used some time earlier in eastern Europe;
- 4. evolution/development of new local and technologically much more sophisticated axe types and other metal objects (such as e.g., the various types of hair-rings as of Mala Gruda, Leukas, Zimnicea etc.);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For a detailed description of the use of arsenic in copper objects' production see DURMAN 2006, 30–34.

5. based on scholarly research made in the past decades, the previous chronological system developed for the shaft-hole axes of the Carpathian Basin can be modified as shown the in the following figure (*Fig. 10*).

# A special social background

No doubt this all must have also had far-reaching social implications. We see these particularly in the graves and hoards of this period. But also depositions within settlement sites need to be mentioned. Altogether, four categories of social changes in the Carpathian Basin at the beginning of the third millennium BC can be summarized:

- 1. The more intensive metal production caused serious changes in the society. The now available metal weaponry, consisting of the shaft-hole axes and the tanged, triangularly formed daggers, indicates a rich empowered *elite* (HARRISON HEYD 2007, 193–203; HEYD 2011, 546).
- 2. At the same time a special societal layer/profession was formed in certain communities: a manufacturing specialist or craftsman, the *smith* (HARRISON HEYD 2007, 196). From this moment for the first time in eastern-Central Europe we can observe graves of these smiths. The first metalworker's graves are known from the Yamnaya and Katacombnaya cultures of the Pontic steppes (BÁTORA 2002; KAISER 2005; KOLEDIN 2004, 82–84, Sl. 18–24; DURMAN 2006, 35–53). Unfortunately, we do not know such interments from the Pit Grave/Yamnaya west of the Black Sea and in Hungary. In the Carpathian Basin, the first similar graves are known from the Early Bronze Age IIa-period (see PATAY, this volume) and then the Middle Bronze Age (e.g., Nižná Myšľa OLEXA 1987; 2002, 84, Fot. 100). We can assume that in the beginnings these craftsmen were some kind of wandering smiths. Later for the end of Middle Bronze Age this profession had become more stationary and permanent metallurgical workshops were formed. Great value was bequeathed on this profession and it also had an enhanced prestige. The best example for this is that the most beautiful Greek goddess Aphrodite was married to Hephaestus, the crippled Greek god of metallurgy (see the detailed mythological background of the metalworking in DURMAN 2006).
- 3. The emergence of a special hoarding tradition and here particularly hoards with a large number of axes<sup>13</sup> (see HARRISON HEYD 2007, 196; HANSEN 2009a, 36, Abb. 35; 2009b, 149–155, Abb. 18; 2011, 145–147, Fig. 14; SZEVERÉNYI 2013, 666–667); hoards/depositions of metallurgical stone tools, moulds, crucibles, *tuyères*/blowers (ECSEDY 1983; 1990; KŐVÁRI PATAY 2005). As Elke Kaiser has already pointed out, this tradition also come from the Circumpontic Metallurgical Province, namely to the Katacombnaya culture (KAISER 2005).
- 4. The interest of procuring the ores serving as the raw material of metals; areas abounding in raw materials (i.e. the mining places) were connected with "areas poor in metals" by the means of exchange and intense trade relations. The societies supervising these exploitation zones obtained strategic advantages and their elite organising and supervising the trade was able to acquire a great fortune.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See especially the Early Bronze Age hoards with axes made of noble metals from the collection of Axel Guttmann (HANSEN 2001).

### Conclusions

Recent research has demonstrated beyond doubt that the idea to the production of the first shaft-hole axes was not local in the Carpathian Basin. It were the Late Copper Age people living in the wider northern and northeastern Pontus region that adopted this invention from the Maykop and Kura-Arax cultures somewhen during the second half of the 4<sup>th</sup> millennium BC. Among these, most assuredly the people of the Pit Grave kurgans (Yamnaya culture) mediated the knowledge regarding the production of this artefact type and transmitted it to regions further to the west, along their own migration westwards.

In a very analogy to Colin Renfrew's model regarding the Early/Middle Copper Age metallurgy of the Carpathian Basin and the eastern Balkans ("independence of southeast European Copper Age") we can establish the conclusion that the Carpathian Basin is not just simply an adaptive region, but it also plays a crucial role as an innovative, secondary centre developing new artefact types and technological advances. This is particularly evident for the closed tri-partite moulds. Making use of local copper ores, not infrequent in many parts of particularly the eastern Carpathian Basin and the Balkans, the production of the shaft-hole axes has been accomplished here. It is also from this area that it spread further towards western and southern Europe.

According to the above-mentioned facts the title of this paper could thus also be modified as "The Significance of the Carpathian Basin in the Distribution of Bronze Age Metallurgy at the Beginning and in the Mid-Third Millennium BC".

# **Appendices 1–6**

#### Appendix 1

Bányabükk/Vâlcele type axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 1)

- 1. Baranda (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66-67).
- 2. Bela Crkva/Fehértemplom (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66, Taf. XXVI. 6; DURMAN 1983, Tab. 12. 2).
- 3. Cheile Turului/Tordatúr, Túri hasadék (RO) (TÉGLÁS 1914, 57, 3. kép; VULPE 1970, 27, no. 34, Taf. 3. 34; FERENCZI 1997, I. t. 3).
- 4. Colţeşti/Torockószentgyörgy (RO) (TÉGLÁS 1914, 55, 1. kép; VULPE 1970, 27, no. 37, Taf. 3. 37).
- 5. Cubleşul Someşan/Magyarköblös (RO) (VULPE 1970, 27, no. 35, Taf. 3. 35).
- 6. Dănceu (RO) (CRĂCIUNESCU 1998, 146, Pl. III. 1).
- 7. Unknown provenance/site (Naturhistorisches Museum, Wien, Austria) (MAYER1977, 19, Taf. 4. 36).
- 8. Unknown provenance/site (Slovakia, Museum of Bratislava) (NOVOTNÁ 1970, 27, Taf. 8. 139).
- 9. Unknown provenance/site (Museum of Split, Croatia) (ŽERAVICA 1993, 20, Taf. 5. 43).
- 10. Izbište /Izbiste (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66, Taf. XXVI. 8; DURMAN 1983, Tab. 12. 4).
- 11. Keszthely-Alsódobogó (H) (MRT 1, 77, 7. t. 13; KOVÁCS 1996, 116).
- 12. Karancslapujtő (H) (KÖSZEGI 1957, 47, 6. t. 6).
- 13. Leskovac-Hisar (SRB) (GARAŠANIN 1954, 69–70).
- 14. Otok (HR) (ŽERAVICA 1993, 20, Taf. 5. 44).
- 15. Sebeş/Szászsebes (RO) (VULPE 1970, 27, no. 36).
- 16. Topliţa/Csíktapolca (RO) (VULPE 1970, 27, no. 33, Taf. 3. 33).
- 17. Vîlcele or Baniabic/Bányabükk (RO) (ROSKA 1933; VULPE 1970, 27, no. 1-32, Taf. 1, Taf. 2, Taf. 3. 25-32).
- 18. Munina (PL) (ŻAKI 1961, 89–90, Fig. 1b; GEDL 2004, 26, Nr. 20, Taf. 3. 20).
- 19. Rudna Mała (PL) (ŻAKI 1961, 88, Fig. 1a, Fig. 2; GEDL 2004, 25, Nr. 19, Taf. 3. 19).
- 20. Pistyń (PL) (ŻAKI 1961, 89–90, Fig. 1c).
- 21. Rădeni (RO) (DUMITROAIA 1985, 465–466, Fig. 4a; BURTĂNESCU 2002, 172, Pl. 1. 1).
- 22. Rotunda (RO) (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 172, Pl. 1. 2).
- 23. Moldavia (unknown provenance) (RO) (IRMIA 1998, 41, note 6).
- 24. Mahmudia (RO) (VASILIU 1996, 27-30; IRIMIA 1998, 39).
- 25. Izvoarele (RO) (IRIMIA 1998, 37, 39, Fig. 2-3).

### Appendix 2

Fajsz type axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 2)

- 1. Akasztó (H) (Kovács 1996, 116, Abb. 1).
- 2. Bácsalmás (H) (KÜRTI 1974, 45, 23. kép).
- 3. Brachwitz (D) (MILDENBERGER 1950, 27, Abb. 1; KAUFMANN 2001).
- 4. Brno-Líšeň (CZ) (BENEŠOVÁ 1956, Obr. 1–2; ŘIHOVSKÝ 1992, 37, Taf. 5. 36).
- 5. Dolný Pial/Alsópél (SK) (VLADÁR 1970, 5–6, Obr. 1–2).
- 6. Fajsz (H) (HAMPEL 1903, 426–427; NAGY 1913, 309, V. kép 21–23; KALICZ 1968, Taf. I. 16–17, 19–21).
- 7. Hajdúdorog-Szállásföldek (H) (DANI KIS-VARGA 2000).
- 8. Hatvan (H) (HAMPEL 1877, VIII. t. 26; NAGY 1913, 309; ROSKA 1956, 43).
- 9. Hódmezővásárhely (H) (SZEREMLEI 1900, 212, 12. sz. 1; KOVÁCS 1996, 116, Abb. 1; V. SZABÓ 1999, 1. kép 1).
- 10. Unknown provenance/site from Dalmatia (Museum of Split, Croatia) (KUNA 1981, 66, Taf. XXVI. 7; DURMAN 1983, Tab. 12. 3).
- 11. Unknown provenance/site (Urgeschichte Institut, Wien, Austria; from the territory of Hungarian-Austrian Monarchy, Hungary?) (MAYER 1977, 20, Taf. 4. 37).
- Unknown provenance/site (Naturhistorisches Museum, Wien, Austria; from the territory of Hungarian-Austrian Monarchy, Hungary?) (HOERNES 1892, 372, 379, Abb. 57–57a; MAYER 1977, 20, Taf. 4. 38).
- 13 Unknown provenance/site (Hungary, from the collection of Ferenc Kiss and György Ráth, HNM) (PULSZKY 1883, 61, 14. ábra 4–5; NAGY 1913, 309; ROSKA 1956, 43, 15. ábra 1–2).
- 14. Unknown provenance/site (Museum of Martin, Slovakia) (NOVOTNÁ 1955, 74, Obr. 5; 1957, 310, Tab. I. 3ab; 1970, 27, Taf. 8. 136).
- 15. Kisbér (H) (NOVOTNÁ 1957, 310, Tab. I. 1ab, 2ab).
- 16. Lipova/Lippa (RO) (ROSKA 1956, 44, 17. ábra; VULPE 1970, 28, no. 38, Taf. 3. 38).
- 17. Nagykunság (Mirha-Gád) (KŐSZEGI 1957, 47, VI. t. 5).
- 18. Ottilienkogel bei Glantscbach (A) (MAYER 1977, 22, Taf. 5. 41).
- 19. Şasa/Sasfalu (RO) (KADAR 2002, 11, 13).
- 20. Senica/Szenice (SK) (KŐSZEGI 1957, 47; NOVOTNÁ 1970, 27).
- 21. Strehlen (PL) (MILDENBERGER 1950, Abb. 3; ROSKA 1956, 44).
- 22. Szeghalom-Varjas-major (Site 11/61) (H) (MRT 6, 152, 63. t. 13).
- 23. Székesfehérvár (H) (ROSKA 1933, 354; DULLO 1936, 149, Abb. 17. 14).
- 24. Tolna megye (H) (Kovács 1996, 116, Abb. 1).
- 25. Užhorod/Ungvár (UA) (JANKOVICH 1931, 20-21, III. t. 3).
- 26. Vadul Crișului/Rév (RO) (NAGY 1913, 309; VULPE 1970, 28, no. 39).
- 27. Veľký Slavkov/Nagyszalók (SK) (NOVOTNÁ 1957, 310, Tab. II. 3ab; NOVOTNÁ 1970, 29, Taf. 8. 141).
- 28. Vevčice (CZ) (BENEŠOVÁ 1956, Obr. 3; ŘIHOVSKÝ 1992, 37, Taf. 5. 35).
- 29. Zscheiplitz (D) (MILDENBERGER 1950, 28, Abb. 2; KAUFMANN 2001).
- Žitavany (Opatovce)-"Na vrškoch"/Zsitvaapáti (SK) (NOVOTNÁ 1957, 309–310, Tab. II. 1ab, 2ab; 1970, 27, Taf. 8. 138).
- 31. Hauskirchen, VB Gänserndorf (A) (HUYSZA 1990, Abb. 184; RUTTKAY 1995, Abb. 30. 18).

# Appendix 3

Corbasca type axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 3)

- 1. Corbasca/Korbászka (RO) (VULPE 1970, 30, No. 40, Taf. 3. 40, Taf. 65C; BURTĂNESCU 2002, 177, Pl. 1. 3).
- 2. Călan/Pusztakalán (RO) (VULPE 1970, 30, No. 42, Taf. 3. 42).
- 3. Unknown provenance/site (Museum of Split, Croatia) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 21-22, Taf. 5. 446-447).
- 4. Izvoarele (RO) (VULPE 1970, 30, Taf. 3. 43).
- 5. Lozane, Pusta Reka (SRB) (PERNICKA et al. 1993, Pl. 7. 5).
- 6. Olănești (RO) (PETRE-GOVORA 1983, 289, Fig. 2. 2).
- 7. Ostrovul Corbului (Depot I) (RO) (VULPE 1970, 30, Nos 44-47, Taf. 3. 44-47, Taf. 65. E).
- 8. Pianul de Sus/Oláhpián (RO) (KŐSZEGI 1957, 47, VI. t. 3; VULPE 1970, 30, No. 41, Taf. 3. 41).
- 9. Podi (SRB) (ŽERAVICA 1993, 21, Taf. 5. 45).
- 10. Šarengrad (HR) (GARAŠANIN 1954, 70, Abb. 1. 7).
- 11. Vlčnov (Museum of Mohelnice, Bohemia) (ŘIHOVSKÝ1992, 37, Taf. 5. 37).
- 12. Žitavany (Opatovce)-"Na vrškoch"/Zsitvaapáti (SK) (NOVOTNÁ 1957, 309–310, Tab. II. 1ab, 2ab; 1970, 27, Taf. 8. 137).
- 13. Poduri (RO) (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 179, Pl. 1. 4).
- 14. Osoi (RO) (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 179, Pl. 1. 5).
- 15. Rëmbec (AL) (PRENDI 1988, 188-189, Nr. 26).

#### Appendix 4

Kömlőd-Kozarac type and Nyírtass subtype axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 4)

- 1. Balkány (H) (KALICZ 1968, 46, Taf. I. 3).
- 2. Banatski Despotovac/Ernőháza (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 3. Begaljica or Boleč (SRB) (GARAŠANIN 1954, 70, Abb. 1. 15; KUNA 1981, 66).
- 4. Bočac, Tijesno Vrbasa (BIH) (DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 2; ŽERAVICA 1993, 25, Taf. 7. 68).
- 5. Boljetin (SRB) (JOVANOVIĆ 1971, Tab. VII. 7; PERNICKA et al. 1993, Pl. 7. 4).
- 6. Brekinjska (Pakrac; HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; VUČEDOL 1988, Kat. 221; DURMAN 2006, 65-66, Cat. 32).
- 7. Budapest-Csepel (H) (KÖSZEGI 1957, 48, Taf. 7. 4).
- 8. Budapest-Óbuda (H) (KŐSZEGI 1957, 48, 60).
- 9. Čuka-Štrbovac (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 10. Debelo Brdo (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 11. Debrecen (H) (MOZSOLICS 1967, 15; VULPE 1970, 41).
- 12. Deta/Detta (RO) (VULPE 1970, 40, No. 109, Taf. 8. 109; KUNA 1981, 66).
- 13. Dunakömlőd (H) (ROSKA 1957; MOZSOLICS 1967, 145, Taf.1. 1-8).
- 14. Emőd-Nagyhalom (Koós 1993, 5-6, Taf. 1. 2).
- 15. Érd (Kőszegi 1957, 48, Taf. 6. 2).
- 16. Griča (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 24–25, Taf. 6. 48–56; DURMAN 2006, 70, Cat. 35).
- 17. Unknown site (National Museum of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 5).
- 18. Unknown site from Dalmatia (Museum of Split, Croatia) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 19. Unknown site (Museum of Mohelnice, Bohemia) (ŘIHOVSKÝ 1992, 37, Taf. 5. 37).
- 20. Unknown site (Urgeschichte Institut, Wien, Austria) (MAYER 1977, 20, Taf. 5. 39).
- 21. Unknown site (?, Austria) (MAYER 1977, 22, Taf. 5. 42).
- 22. Jasika (SRB) (GARAŠANIN 1954, 70, Abb. 1. 8; KUNA 1981, 66).
- 23. Kapova jama, Brani Do (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 26, Taf. 7. 74).
- 24. Kisvárda region (H) (it was lost and known only from the description sheet of András Jósa under old inv. no. II.144).
- 25. Kosovača (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 25, Taf. 7, 73).
- 26. Kostol-Kurvin grad (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 27. Kovin/Kevevára-Brza Vrba (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 28. Kozarac (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 23–24, Taf. 6. 57–59, Taf. 7. 60–67; DURMAN 2006, 74, Cat. 36).
- 29. Kravari Tumba (MK) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 8).
- 30. Kruševac/Krusevác (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 31. Laznica (SRB) (GARAŠANIN 1954, 70; KUNA 1981, 66).
- 32. Leskovac, Hissar (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66; PERNICKA et al. 1993, Pl. 7. 6).
- 33. Leget (SRB) (JOVANOVIĆ 1971, Tab. VI. 4; KUNA 1981, 66).
- 34. Lickóvadamos-Lickó-hegy (H) (HORVÁTH 2001, 2. kép 1a-e).
- 35. Lohinja (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 25, Taf. 7. 69).
- 36. Lovasberény (H) (KOVÁCS 1996, 116–117, Abb. 1).
- 37. Lukovo (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 26).
- 38. Mačkovac (BIH) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 39. Majs (H) (ECSEDY 1983, 79, Pl. IX. 4; 1990, 228, Fig. 11).
- 40. Mala Gruda (MNE) (VUČEDOL 1988, 58–59, Kat. 232; ŽERAVICA 1993, 26, Taf. 8. 81; DURMAN 2006, 85, Cat. 38).
- 41. Mokrin (SRB) (GIRIĆ 1971; GOGÂLTAN 2000, 233, Taf. 3. 2).
- 42. Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (Borsó-hegy) (H) (KULCSÁR 1999, 20-21, 1. kép; 2009, 345, 377, Pl. 47. 5).
- 43. Nova Pazova/Újpázova (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 7).
- 44. Nyírtass (H) (KALICZ 1968, 46, Taf. I. 1; it was published under false site name "Nyírtura").

- 45. Očura (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 46. Oradea/Nagyvárad (RO) (VULPE 1970, 40, No. 110, Taf. 8. 110).
- 47. Osnić (MNE) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 4; PERNICKA et al. 1993, Pl. 7. 9).
- 48. Ožďany/Osgyán (SK) (NOVOTNÁ 1970, 29, Taf. 8. 143).
- 49. Păuliș/Ópálos (RO) (GOGÂLTAN 2000, 233, Taf. 3. 1).
- 50. Poprad/Poprád region (SK) (NOVOTNÁ 1970, 29, Taf. 8. 142).
- 51. Potporanj/Porány (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 52. Prilep (MK) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 13. 9).
- 53. Soko Banja (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 54. Sotin/Szata (Vukovar) (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; VUČEDOL 1988, Kat. 220; DURMAN 2006, 125, Cat. 31).
- 55. Staro Selo, Jerinin Grad (SRB) (PERNICKA et al. 1993, Pl. 11. 4).
- 56. Sutjeska (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 57. "Szabolcs county" (H) (they were lost and known only from the description sheet of András Jósa under old inv. no. II. 14 and II. 16) (*Fig. 9*).
- 58. Szihalom (H) (KALICZ 1968, 46, Taf. I. 2).
- 59. Tápé (H) (KOVÁCS 1996, 119, Abb. 2; V. SZABÓ 1999, 54, 1. kép 2).
- 60. Tolmács (H) (Kovács 1996, 116-117, Abb. 1).
- 61. Topolje (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 26, Taf. 8. 75–76, 79–80).
- 62. Veliko Središte/Nagyszered (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 63. Vranovići (BIH) (ČOVIĆ 1957, 245, Sl. 3–5; KUNA 1981, 66; ŽERAVICA 1993, 25, Taf. 7. 70–72; DURMAN 2006, 76, Cat. 34).
- 64. Vršac-Kuštinski ugao/Versec (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).
- 65. Vukovar-Dobra voda (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 12. 6).
- 66. Vukovar-Vinograd Vuić (HR) (KUNA 1981, 66; DURMAN 1983, T. 12. 5).
- 67. Zakuta (SRB) (KUNA 1981, 66).

#### Appendix 5

Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke type axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 5)

- 1. Blănoi, Racovița/Oltrákovica (RO) (PETRE-GOVORA 1983, 288-289, Fig. 2. 1).
- 2. Bolboși (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 55, Taf. 4. 55).
- 3. Brădetu, Brăduleț (RO) (VULPE 1988, 210, Fig. 1. 4).
- 4. Căprioara/Kecskeháta (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 49, Taf. 4. 49).
- 5. Cornești/Sövényfalva (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 50, Taf. 4. 50).
- 6. Creteni (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 56, Taf. 4. 56).
- 7. Dobriceni (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 57, Taf. 4. 57).
- 8. Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 48, Taf. 4. 48).
- 9. Găujani, Boișoara-Vîlcea/Valcsa (RO) (PETRE 1976, 262-264, Fig. 1. 2).
- 10. Izbucul Topliței (RO) (EMŐDI HALASI 1985, 232, Fig. 5a).
- 11. Jimbor/Szászzsombor (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 53, Taf. 4. 53).
- Leliceni/Csíkszentlélek (RO) (ROMAN JÁNOS HORVÁTH 1973, 562, Fig. 3; ROMAN DODD-OPRIŢESCU JÁNOS 1992, Taf. 78, Taf. 79. 2, 5–8).
- 13. Lublinit cave, Vargyas patak (RO) (DÉNES V. SZABÓ 1998, Abb. 4–5).
- 14. Mura Mare/Nagyszederjes (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 54, Taf. 4. 54).
- 15. Ojdula/Ozsdola (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 51, Taf. 4. 51).
- 16. Pietreni (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 58, Taf. 4. 58).
- 17. "Ploiești" (RO) (VULPE 1988, 210, Fig. 1. 5).
- 18. Sfîntu Gheorghe/Sepsiszentgyörgy (RO) (VULPE 1970, 31, No. 52, Taf. 4. 52).
- 19. Sîntimbru/Marosszentimre (RO) (ALDEA CIUGUDEAN 1989, 71, Pl. I. 2).
- 20. Szczytna (PL) (CZOPEK [ed.] 2011, Fot 96, 249, 64.15).
- 21. Răcătău-Cetățuie (RO) (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 187-188, Pl. II. 7).

# Appendix 6

# Moulds for Early Bronze Age axes in the Carpathian Basin (see Fig. 6)

No.	Site	Find association	Type of the mould	References	
1	Debelo Brdo	Settlement Vučedol layer	Fragmented mould for Kömlőd- Kozarac type axe and 3 broken moulds for a dagger, a pin and an awl	DURMAN 1983, 32, T. 5. 7; Žeravica 1993, 27, Taf. 8. 84–86.	
2	Domony-János Roob's garden	Settlement, Pit 2 Makó culture	Fragmented mould (Kömlőd-Kozarac type ?)	KALICZ 1968, 48, 79, Taf. X. 1; Durman 1983, 33, T. 6. 8.	
3	Döbrököz-Tűzköves	Settlement, stray find Late Vučedol/Somogyvár- Vinkovci culture	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	Kulcsár 2002, 115. t. 13; 2009, 345, 365, Pl. 43. 2.	
4	Dunaszekcső-Várhegy	Settlement, stray find Vučedol (?)	? Fragmented mould	ECSEDY 1990, 228, Fig. 9.	
5	Gradina Alihodže	Vučedol layer	? Fragmented mould for a shaft-hole axe and a flat axe	Durman 1983, 32, Sl. 2; Žeravica 1993, 27, Taf. 8. 87–88.	
6	Hidegség-Templom-domb	?	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	Gömöri 1992, 14.	
7	Ljubljansko Barje/Laibacher Moor-Ig	Settlement Vučedol C	Moulds for Kömlőd-Kozarac and Corbasca (?) types	DURMAN 1983, 23–28, 32–33, T. 6. 6–7.	
8	Nevidzany/Nevigyén	Settlement Makó culture	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	BÁTORA 1982, 258, Obr. 3. 4.	
9	Pécs-Nagyárpád-Dióstető	Settlement, pit Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture	? Fragmented	Bándi 1981, 22, Pl. 11; Ecsedy 1983, 79, Fig. 45, Pl. IX. 5.	
10	Ravazd-Villibald domb	Settlement Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	Figler 1985; Kalicz- Schreiber 1991, 10.	
11	Salgótarján-Pécskő	Stray find from the Trench 3 Baden, Makó and Hatvan features on the site	?	Когек 1968, 55–56, Taf. XII. 1–3.	
12	Salzburg-Rainberg	Settlement feature	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	PITTIONI 1954, Abb. 251. 1ab; Durman 1983, 33, T. 6. 9; Mayer 1977, 20, Taf. 5. 40.	
13	Üllő, Site 5	Feature 5605 Makó culture	Bivalve mould for Kömlöd-Kozarac type axe, 5 moulds for flat chisels, 2 moulds for pointed chisels, 2 moulds for socketed chisels and a cruicible	Kővári – Patay 2005.	
14	Vel'ký Meder/Nagymegyer	Feature 26/89 Makó culture	Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	HROMADA – VARSIK 1994, 50, 54–55, Obr. 1, Obr. 2. 6; Bátora 2003, Abb. 17. 7.	
15	Vinkovci-Tržnica, Hotel	Settlement Vučedol B2	4 bivalve moulds for Kömlőd- Kozarac type axe, fragmented mould for wire; one sided chisel mould; a fragmented mould (undefinable); 2 core inserts	DURMAN 1983, 23–28, T. 1–3; 2006, 64; VUČEDOL 1988, Cat. 210–213; BÁTORA 2003, Abb. 15. 1–3, 7–8.	
16	Vinkovci-Ervenica	Settlement, pit Vučedol B2	Fragmented, probably mould for Kömlőd-Kozarac type axe	Gale 2002, 57, T. 5. 5.	
17	Zók-Várhegy	Settlement, pit 1977/36 Late Vučedol	Moulds for Kömlőd-Kozarac and Corbasca (?) type axes and cruicibles	ECSEDY 1983, 71–85, 88–91, Fig. 41, Fig. 45, Pl. IX. 1–3, 5, Pls X–XIV; 1990, 227, Fig. 8. 2.	
18	Leliceni/Csíkszentlélek	Settlement Jigodin culture	Dumbrăvioara/Sáromberke type axe	Roman – János –Horváth 1973, 562, Fig. 3; Roman – Dodd-Oprițescu – János 1992, Taf. 78, Taf. 79. 2, 5–8.	
19	Kaposújlak-Várdomb	Settlement, features 144, 191, 702 Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture	3 fragmented moulds for Kömlőd- Kozarac-type axes	Somogyi 2004, 167, Figs 14–16.	

### References

# ALDEA, I. A. – CIUGUDEAN, H. 1989

Obiecte din cupru și bronz recent descoperite în jud. Alba – Gegenstände aus Kupfer und Bronze neuerdings im Kreis Alba entdeckt. *Apulum* 25 (1989) 71–82.

### ANTONIEWICZ, W. 1929

Der in Stubło in Wolhynien aufgefundene Bronzeschatz. *Eurasia Septentrionalis Antiqua* 4 (1929) 135–148.

BALDIA, M. O. - FRINK, D. S. - BOULANGER, M. T. 2008

Problems in the Archaeological Legacy: The TRB/Lengyel-Baden Conundrum. In: Furholt, M. – Szmyt, M. – Zastawny, A. (eds): *The Baden Complex and the Outside World. Proceedings of the 12*<sup>th</sup> *Annual Meeting of the EAA, 2006, Cracow.* Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa / Studia nad Pradziejami Europy Środkowej 4, Bonn 2008, 25–48.

### BÁNDI, G. 1981

Über die Entstehung der frühbronzezeitlichen Zivilisation. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (Hrsg.): *Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales Symposium 1977, Budapest–Velem.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Instituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 21–27.

### BÁTORA, J. 1982

Hlinený kadlub z Nevidzian – Tönerne Gußschale aus Nevidzany. Archeologické Rozhledy 34 (1982) 70–71.

### BÁTORA, J. 2002

Contribution to the Problem of 'Craftsmen' Graves at the End of Aeneolithic and in the Early Bronze Age in Central, Western and Eastern Europe. *Slovenská Archeológia* 50 (2002) 179–228.

### BÁTORA, J. 2003

Kupferne Schaftlochäxte in Mittel-, Ost- und Südosteuropa. (Zu Kulturkontakten und Datierung – Äneolithikum/Frühbronzezeit). *Slovenská Archeológia* 51/1 (2003) 1–38.

### BEGEMANN, F. – PERNICKA, E. – SCHMITT-STRECKER, S. 1995

Searching for the ore sources of Eneolithic and EBA copper artefacts from Serbia. In: Jovanović, B. (ed.): *Ancient mining and metallurgy in Southeast Europa. International Symposium, Donji Milanovac, May 20-25, 1991.* Bor–Belgrade 1995, 143–149.

### BENEŠOVÁ, A. 1956

Nález měděných předmetů na Starých Zámcích v Brně-Líšni. Památky Archeologické 47 (1956) 236–244.

### Beşliu, C. – Lazarovici, Gh. 1995

Über die vorgeschichtliche Kupfer-Analysen aus Transylvanien. In: Jovanović, B. (ed.): Ancient mining and metallurgy in Southeast Europa. International Symposium, Donji Milanovac, May 20–25, 1991. Bor–Belgrade 1995, 111–141.

### BURTĂNESCU, F. 2002

Topoare cu tub transversal pentru fixarea cozii și tăiș vertical di Moldova (perioada bronzului timpuriu și mijlociu). Încercări de ordonare tipocronologică și culturală (I) – Early and Middle Bronze Age shaft-hole axes in Moldavia. Attempts of typology, chronology and cultural definition (I). *Thraco-Dacica* 23/1–2 (2002) 171–207.

### CHERNYKH, E. N. 1992

Ancient metallurgy in the USSR. The Early Metal Age. Cambridge.

# CHERNYKH, E. N. 2008

The "Steppe Belt" of stockbreeding cultures in Eurasia during the Early Metal Age. *Trabajos de Prehistoria* 65/2 (2008) 73–93.

CHERNYKH, E. N. – AVILOVA, L. I. – ORLOVSKAYA, L. B. 2002

Metallurgy of the Circumpontic Area: from unity to disintegration. In: Yalçin, Ü. (Hrsg.): *Anatolian Metal II*. Zeitschrift für Kunst und Kultur im Bergbau. Der ANSCHNITT, Beiheft 15, Bochum 2002, 83–100.

# Čović, B. 1957

Nekoliko manjih preistoriskih nalaza iz BiH – Einige kleinere prähistorische Funde aus Bosnien und Herzegovina. *Glasnik Zemaljskog muzeja u Sarajevu* 12 (1957) 241–255.

# CRĂCIUNESCU, G. 1998

Piese de metal din colecția arheologică a Muzeului Regiunii Porților de Fier – Piéces metaliques de la collection archéologique du Musée de la Région des Portes de Fer. *Thraco-Dacica* 19 (1998) 145–151.

# CZOPEK, S. (ed.) 2011

Autostradą w Przeszłość. Katalog wystawy – Motorway to the Past. Exhibition catalogue. Rzeszów.

# DANI, J. – KIS-VARGA, M. 2000

Fajszi-típusú rézbalta Hajdúdorog-Szállásföldekről – Fajsz type copper axe from Hajdúdorog Szállásföldek. *Ősrégészeti Levelek/Prehistoric Newsletter* 2 (2000) 27–30.

# DÉNES, I. – V. SZABÓ, G. 1998

Der frühbronzezeitliche Bronzedepotfund aus der Höhle 1200/9 in der Enge des Vargyas-Baches (Cheile Vârghişului) in Südost-Siebenbürgen. In: Ciugudean, H. – Gogâltan, Fl. (eds): *The Early and Middle Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin*. Bibliotheca Musei Apulensis 8, Alba Iulia 1998, 89–110.

### DULLO, E. 1936

Die kaukasischen Äxte der Bronzezeit. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 27 (1936) 66-172.

# DUMITROAIA, G. 1985

Obiecte de aramă și bronz descoperite pe teritoriul județului Neamț – Des objets en cuivre et en bronze de l'âge de bronze découverts dans le département de Neamţ. *Memoria Antiquitatis* 9–11 (1977–79 [1985]) 465–481.

# DURMAN, A. 1983

Metalurgija vučedolskog kulturnog kompleksa – Metallurgy of the Vučedol culture complex. *Opuscula Archaeologica* 8 (1983) 1–87.

# DURMAN, A. 1988

Metal u vučedolskom kulturnom kompleksu – Metal in the Vučedol Cultural Complex. In: VUČEDOL 1988, 32–38, 58–60.

### DURMAN, A. 2006

Simbol boga i kralja – Symbol of God and King. In: Durman, A. (ed.): *Simbol boga i kralja. Prvi europski valadari – Symbol of God and King. First European rulers.* Zagreb 2006, 11–84.

# ECSEDY, I. 1983

Ásatások Zók-Várhegyen (1977–1982). Előzetes jelentés – Excavations at Zók-Várhegy 1977– 1982. Preliminary Report. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 27 (1982 [1983]) 59–105.

# ECSEDY, I. 1990

On the Early Development of Prehistoric Metallurgy in Southern Transdanubia. *Godišnjak Centra za Balkanološka Ispitivanja Akademije nauka i Umjetnosti Bosne I Hercegovine* 26 (1990) 209–231.

### Emődi, I. – Halasi, G. 1985

Descoperire archeologice în Peștera Izbucul Topliței – Découverte archélogique dans la Grotte Izbucul Topliței. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 36 (1985) 232–234.

### FERENCZI, I. 1997

Észrevételek az erdélyi rézkor keleti népi és műveltségi elemeivel kapcsolatban – Erwägungen zu den Elementen östlicher Herkunft in Transsilvanien während des Übergangs vom Neolithikum zur Bronzezeit. Szolnok Megyei Múzeumi Adattár 33, Szolnok.

#### FIGLER, A. 1985

44. Ravazd-Villibald domb. Régészeti Füzetek Ser. I. 38 (1984 [1985]) 24.

### Gale, I. 2002

Vučedolsko naselje na Ervenici u Vinkovcima. The Vučedol settlement at Ervenica in Vinkovci. *Vjesnik Arheološkog muzeja u Zagrebu* 35 (2002) 53–66.

### GARAŠANIN, M. 1954

Schaftlochäxte aus Kupfer in den Sammlungen serbischer Museen. Bericht der Römisch-Germanischen Komission 34 (1951–1953 [1954]) 61–76.

### GEDL, M. 2004

Die Beile in Polen IV. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/24, Stuttgart.

### Girić, M. 1971

*Mokrin I., the Early Bronze Age necropolis – Mokrin, nekropola ranog bronzanog doba*. Dissertationes et Monographie 11, Beograd.

### GOGÂLTAN. FL. 2000

Über die frühbronzezeitlichen Beile und Äxte im Banat. *Analele Banatului Serie nouă, Arheologie* - *Istorie* 7–8 (1999–2000 [2000]) 229–251.

#### Gömöri, J. 1992

17/2. Hidegség, Templom-domb. Régészeti Füzetek Ser. I. 44 (1990 [1992] 14.

#### HAMPEL, J. 1877

Antiquités préhistoriques de la Hongrie. Esztergom.

#### HAMPEL, J. 1886

A bronzkor emlékei Magyarhonban I. Budapest.

### HAMPEL, J. 1903

A M.N. Múzeumi Régiségosztály gyarapodása az 1903-ik évben. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 23 (1903) 425–447.

### HANSEN, S. 2001

Helme und Waffen der Bronzezeit in der Sammlung Axel Guttmann. Waffen aus Gold und Silber während des 3. und frühen 2. Jahrtausends v. Chr. in Europa und Vorderasien. In: Born, H. – Hansen, S. (Hrsg.): *Helme und Waffen in Alteuropa, Band IX. Sammlung Axel Guttmann*. Mainz 2001, 11–59.

#### HANSEN, S. 2009a

Kupfer, Gold und Silber im Schwarzmeerraum während des 5. und 4. Jahrtausends v. Chr. In: Apikadze, J. – Govedarica, B. – Hänsel, B. (Hrsg.): *Der Schwarzmeerraum vom Äneolithikum bis in die Früheisenzeit (5000–500 v. Chr.). Internationale Fachtagung von Humboldtianern für Humboldtianer im Humboldt-Kolleg in Tiflis / Georgien (17.–20. Mai 2007).* Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 25, Rahden/Westf. 2009, 11–50.

### HANSEN, S. 2009b

Kupferzeitliche Äxte zwischen dem 5. und 3. Jahrtausend in Südosteuropa. *Analele Banatului Serie nouă, Arheologie–Istorie* 17 (2009) 139–158.

### HANSEN, S. 2010

Communication and exchange between the Northern Caucasus and Central Europe in the fourth millennium BC. In: Hansen, S. – Hauptmann, A. – Motzenbäcker, I. – Pernicka, E. (Hrsg.): *Von Majkop bis Trialeti. Gewinnung und Verbreitung von Metallen und Obsidian in Kaukasien im 4.–2. Jt. v. Chr.* Kolloquien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte 13, Bonn 2010, 297–316.

### HANSEN, S. 2011

Metal in South-Eastern and Central Europe between 4500 and 2900 BCE. In: Yalçın, Ü. (Hrsg.): *Anatolian Metal V.* Montanhistorische Zeitschrift, Der ANSCHNITT, Beiheft 24, Bochum 2011, 137–149.

### HARRISON, R. – HEYD, V. 2007

The Transformation of Europe in the Third Millennium BC: The Example of 'Le Petit Chasseur I+III' (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift*\_82/2 (2007) 129–214.

#### Heyd, V. 2011

Yamnaya Groups and Tumuli west of the Black Sea. In: Müller-Celka, S. – Borgna, E. (eds): *Ancestral Landscapes: Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages (Central and Eastern Europe–Balkans–Adriatic–Aegean, 4*<sup>th</sup>–2<sup>nd</sup> *millennium BC). International Conference, Udine/Italy, May 15*<sup>th</sup>–18th 2008. Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée 61, Lyon 2011, 536–555.

#### HOERNES, M. 1892

Urgeschichte der bildenden Kunst in Europa. Wien.

#### HORVÁTH, L. A. 2001

Neue Angaben zum Übergang von der Kupfer- bis Frühbronzezeit in Südwestungarn – Újabb adatok a rézkor-bronzkor átmenetéhez a Délnyugat-Magyarországon. *Zalai Múzeum* 10 (2001) 53–65.

#### HROMADA, J. – VARSIK, V. 1994

Neskoroeneolitický hlinený kadlub z Vel'kého Medera – Spätäneolithische tönerne Gussform aus Vel'ký Meder. *Študijné Zvesti Archeologického Ústavu SAV* 30 (1994) 49–58.

### HUYSZA, H. 1990

Hauskirchen, OG Hauskirchen, VB Gänserndorf. Fundberichte aus Österreich 29 (1990) 181.

#### IRIMIA, M. 1998

Unele considerații privind topoarele de tipul Baniabic in lumina descoperirilor de la Izvoarele (jud. Constanța) – Quelques considerations concernants les haches du type Baniabic mises en evidence par les decouvertes de Izvoarele (depart. de Constantza). *Pontica* 31 (1998) 37–48.

### JANKOVICH, J. M. 1931

Podkarpatská Rus v prehistorii. Mukačevo.

#### JOHN, J. 2010

Výšinné lokality středního eneolitu v západních Čechách – The Middle Eneolithic Hill-top sites in West Bohemia. Opomíjená archeologie/Neglected archaeology 1, Plzeň.

#### JOVANOVIĆ, B. 1971

Metalurgija eneolitskog perioda Jugoslavije. Beograd.

### JOVANOVIĆ, B. 1995

Continuity of the prehistoric mining in the Central Balkans. In: Jovanović, B. (ed.): *Ancient mining and metallurgy in Southeast Europa. International Symposium, Donji Milanovac, May 20-25, 1991.* Bor–Belgrade 1995, 29–35.

# JUNGHANS, S. – SANGMEISTER, E. - SCHRÖDER, M. 1960 Metallanalysen kupferzeitlicher und frühbronzezeitlicher Bodenfunde aus Europa. Studien zu den Anfängen der Metallurgie 1, Berlin.

#### JUNGHANS, S. – SANGMEISTER, E. – SCHRÖDER, M. 1968

*Kupfer und Bronze in der frühen Metallzeit Europas. Die Materialgruppen beim Stand von 12000 Analysen.* Studien zu den Anfängen der Metallurgie 2. 1–3, Berlin.

#### JUNGHANS, S. – SANGMEISTER, E. – SCHRÖDER, M. 1974

*Kupfer und Bronze in der frühen Metallzeit Europas*. Studien zu den Anfängen der Metallurgie 2. 4, Berlin.

#### KADAR, M. 2002

Chemical composition of prehistoric copper artefacts from Transylvania, Romania. *Institute of Archaeo-Metallurgical Studies* 22 (2002) 11–14.

# KAISER, E. 2005

Frühbronzezeitliche Gräber von Metallhandwerkern mit Gußformen für Schaftlochäxte im osteuropäischen Steppenraum. In: Horejs, B. – Jung, R. – Kaiser, E. – Teržan, B. (Hrsg.): *Interpretationsraum Bronzezeit. Bernhard Hänsel von seinen Schülern gewidmet.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 121, Bonn 2005, 265–291.

#### KALICZ, N. 1968

Die Frühbronzezeit in Nordost-Ungarn. Abriss der Geschichte des 19.–16. Jahrhunderts v.u.z. Archaeologia Hungarica 45, Budapest.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1991

A Somogyvár-Vinkovci kultúra Dél-Északi irányú közvetítő szerepe a korabronzkorban – Die Vermittlungsrolle in Süd-Nord Richtung der Somogyvár-Vinkovci-Kultur in der frühen Bronzezeit. *Budapest Régiségei* 28 (1991) 9–43.

# KAUFMANN, D. 2001

Kupfer in der Steinzeit. In: Meller, H. (Hrsg.): *Schönheit, Macht und Tod. 120 Funde aus 120 Jahren Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte Halle.* Begleitband zur Sonderausstellung vom 11. Dezember 2001 bis 28. April 2002 im Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte Halle, Halle (Saale) 2001, 86–87.

#### KEMENCZEI, T. 1988

Die Schwerter in Ungarn I. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IV/6, München.

### kienlin, T. L. 2010

Traditions and Transformations: Approaches to Eneolithic (Copper Age) and Bronze Age Metalworking and Society in Eastern Central Europe and the Carpathian Basin. BAR International Series 2184, Oxford: Archaeopress.

### KIENLIN, T. L. 2013

Copper and Bronze: Bronze Age metalworking in context. In: Harding, A. – Fokkens, H. (eds): *The Oxford Handbook of the European Bronze Age*. Oxford University Press 2013, 414–436.

# KOLEDIN, J. 2004

Tipologija i razvoj duvaljki u praistorijskoj metalurgiji-grobovi praistorijskih metalurga – The development of the typology and the pre-historic metallurgy – The tombs of pre-historic metallurgists. *Rad Vojvodanskih Muzeja* 46 (2004) 79–100.

# Koós, J. 1993

Újabb őskori emlékek a miskolci múzeumban – Neuere prähistorische Gegenstände im Museum zu Miskolc. *Herman Ottó Múzeum Évkönyve* 30–31 (1993) 5–14.

# KOREK, J. 1968

Eine Siedlung der Spätbadener Kultur in Salgótarján-Pécskő. *Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae* 20 (1968) 37–58.

# Kovács, T. 1996

Anknüpfungspunkte in der bronzezeitlichen Metallkunst zwischen den südlichen und nördlichen Regionen des Karpatenbeckens. In: Tasić, N. (ed.): *The Yugoslav Danube Basin and the Neighbouring regions in the 2<sup>nd</sup> millenium B.C.* Belgrade–Vršac 1996, 115–125.

# Kőszegi, F. 1957

Keleti típusú bronzkori balták a Magyar Nemzeti Múzeumban – Bronze Age Axes of Oriental Type in the Hungarian National Museum. *Folia Archaeologica* 9 (1957) 47–62.

# KŐVÁRI, K. – PATAY, R. 2005

A settlement of the Makó Culture at Üllő. New evidence for Early Bronze Age metalworking. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungaricae* 2005, 83–142.

# Krajnović, D. – Janković, S. – Jovanović, B. – Lorenz, I. B. – Pavićević, M. K. –

### WAGNER, G. A. 1995

Early copper production in Serbia: potential ore sources and archaeometallurgical studies on slags. In: Jovanović, B. (ed.): *Ancient mining and metallurgy in Southeast Europa. International Symposium, Donji Milanovac, May 20–25, 1991.* Bor–Belgrade 1995, 59–67.

### KRAUSE, R. 2003

Studien zur kupfer- und frühbronzezeitlichen Metallurgie zwischen Karpatenbecken und Ostsee. Rahden/Westf.

### KULCSÁR, G. 1999

Kora bronzkori baltalelet Tolna megyéből – Early Bronze Age axe find from Tolna County. Ősrégészeti Levelek/Prehistoric Newsletter 1 (1999) 20–21.

### KULCSÁR, G. 2002

A Kárpát-medence kora bronzkori problémái a Makó-Kosihy-Čaka- és a Somogyvár-Vinkovcikultúra időszakában. PhD Thesis, Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest.

### KULCSÁR, G. 2009

The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. The Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and the Somogyvár-Vinkovci Cultures in Hungary. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest.

# KUNA, M. 1981

Zur neolitischen und äneolitischen Kupferverarbeitung im Gebiet Jugoslawiens. Godišnjak Centra za Balkanološka Ispitivanja Akademije Nauka i Umjetnosti Bosne i Hercegovine 19 (1981) 13–81.

### KÜRTI, B. 1974

Újabb adatok a Dél-Alföld kora bronzkorához – Neuere Angaben zur Frühbronzezeit der Süd Tiefebene. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve* 1971/2 [1974] 29–51.

### Lazarovici, Gh. – Pop, D. – Beșliu, C. – Olariu, A. 1995

Conclusions to the geochemical analyses of some copper sources and objects. *Acta Musei Napocensis* 32 (1995) 209–230.

### LIVERSAGE, D. 1994

Interpreting composition patterns in ancient bronze: the Carpathian Basin. *Acta Archaeologica Carpatica* 65 (1994) 57–134.

### MACHNIK, J. – TKACZUK, T. 2003

Interesting and important artifacts from the beginning of the Bronze Age in the vicinity of Halicz (upper basin of the Dnestr River). In: Jerem, E. – Raczky, P. (eds): Morgenrot der Kulturen. Frühe Etappen der Menscheitsgeschichte in Mittel- und Südosteuropa. Festschrift für Nándor Kalicz zum 75. Geburtstag. Archaeolingua Main Series 15, Budapest 2003, 484–496.

### MAYER, E. F. 1977

Die Äxte und Beile in Österreich. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/9, München.

### MILDENBERGER, G. 1950

Zwei kupferzeitliche Schafthalsäxte aus Mitteldeutschland. Jahreschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte 34 (1950) 27–31.

### MOZSOLICS, A. 1967

Bronzefunde des Karpatenbeckens. Depotfundhorizonte von Hajdúsámson und Kosziderpadlás. Budapest.

### MRT 1

Bakay, K. – Kalicz, N. – Sági, K.: Veszprém megye régészeti topográfiája. A keszthelyi és tapolcai járás. Magyarország Régészeti Topográfiája 1, Budapest 1966.

#### MRT 6

Ecsedy, I. – Kovács, L. – Maráz, B. – Torma, I.: *Békés megye régészeti topográfiája IV/1. A szeghalmi járás.* Magyarország Régészeti Topográfiája 6, Budapest 1982.

#### NAGY, G. 1913

Skytha leletek – Skythenzeitliche Funde. Archaeologiai Értesítő 33 (1913) 295–318.

#### NOVOTNÁ, M. 1955

Medene nastroje a problem najstaršej ťažby medi na Slovensku – Kupfergeräte und das Problem der ältesten Kupfergewinnung in der Slowakei. *Slovenská Archeológia* 3 (1955) 70–100.

### NOVOTNÁ, M. 1957

Nálezy medený sekier s jedným ostrím zo Slovenska – Funde von kupfernen Schafthalsäxten in der Slowakei. *Slovenská Archeológia* 5 (1957) 309–316.

#### NOVOTNÁ, M. 1970

Die Äxte und Beile in Slowakei. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/3, München.

#### OLEXA, L. 1987

Gräber von Metallgiessern in Nižná Myšľa. Archeologické Rozhledy 39/3 (1987) 255-275.

### OLEXA, L. 2002

Burial grounds and funeral ceremonies – Cmentarzyska i ceremoniał pogrzebowy. In: Gancarski, J. (ed.): *Between Mycenae and the Baltic Sea. The Otomani-Füzesabony culture – Między Mykenami a Bałtykiem. Kultúra Otomani-Füzesabony.* Krosno–Warszawa 2002, 53–86.

PERNICKA, E. – BEGEMANN, F. – SCHMITT-STRECKER, S. – WAGNER, G. A. 1993 Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age copper artefacts from the Balkans and their relation to Serbian copper ores. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 68/1 (1993) 1–54.

# Petre, Gh. I. 1976

Noi descoperiri de topoare de aramă în Județul Vîlcea – Nouvelles découvertes de haches en cuivre dans le département de Vîlcea. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 27/2 (1976) 261–265.

### PETRE-GOVORA, GH. I. 1983

Noi topoare de aramă din Nord-Estul Olteniei (II) – Nouveaux haches en cuivre au Nord-Est de l'Olténie. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 34/3 (1983) 287–289.

### PITTIONI, R. 1954

Urgeschichte des Österreichischen Raumes. Wien.

#### PRENDI, F. 1988

Axt. In: Eggebrecht, A. (Hrsg.): *Albanien. Schätze aus dem Land der Skipetaren*. Mainz am Rhein 1988, 188–189.

### PULSZKY, F. 1883

A rézkor Magyarországon – Die Kupferzeit in Ungarn. Budapest.

### Řihovský, J. 1992

Die Äxte, Beile, Meißel und Hämmer in Mähren. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/17, Stuttgart.

### Roman, P. – Dodd-Oprițescu, A. – János, P. 1992

*Beiträge zur Problematik der Schnurverzierten Keramik Südosteuropas.* Heidelberger Akademie der Wissenschaften, Internationale Interakademische Kommission für die Erforschung der Vorgeschichte des Balkans, Monographien 3, Mainz am Rhein.

### Roman, P. – János, P. – Horváth, Cs. 1973

Cultura Jigodin. O cultură cu ceramică șnurată în estul Transilvaniei – Die Jigodin Kultur. Siedlungen mit schnurverzierter Keramik im Osten Siebenbürgens. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 24/4 (1973) 559–574.

#### Roman, P. – Németi, I. 1986

Descoperiri din perioada timpurie (Pre-Otomani) a epocii bronzului în Nord-Vestul României – Découvertes de la période ancienne (pré-Otomani) de l'âge du bronze dans le nord-ouest de la Roumanie. *Studii și Cercetări de Istorie Veche și Arheologie* 37/3 (1986) 198–232.

Roska, M 1933

Le dépôt de haches en cuivré de Baniabic, département de Turda-Arieş. *Dacia* 3–4 (1927–1932 [1933]) 352–355.

### ROSKA, M. 1956

A fajszi típusú rézbalták – Les haches de cuivre du type de Fajsz. Folia Archaeologica 8 (1956) 43-46.

#### **RUTTKAY, E. 1995**

Mödling-Zöbing-Gruppe. In: Lenneis, E. – Neugebauer-Maresch, Chr. – Ruttkay, E. (Hrsg.): *Jungsteinzeit im Osten Österreichs*. Mit Beiträgen von Chr. Mayer, J.-W. Neugebauer und P. Stadler. St. Pölten–Wien 1995, 186–194.

#### SCHALK, E. 1998

Die Entwicklung der prähistorischen Metallurgie im nördlichen Karpatenbecken. Eine typologische und metallanalytische Untersuchung. Internationale Archäologie–Naturwissenschaft und Technologie 1, Rahden/Westf.

### Somogyi, K. 2004

Előzetes jelentés a Kaposvár-61-es elkerülő út 29. számú lelőhelyén, Kaposújlak-Várdomb-dűlőben 2002-ben végzett megelőző feltárásról. *Somogyi Múzeumok Közleményei* 16 (2004) 165–178.

### V. SZABÓ, G. 1999

A bronzkor Csongrád megyében (Történeti vázlat a készülő régészeti állandó kiállítás kapcsán) – Die Bronzezeit im Komitat Csongrád. Eine historische Skizze anlässlich der künftigen ständigen Austellung – The Bronze Age in county Csongrád. A historical outline made on the occasion of the arrangement of the permanent archeological exhibition. *Csongrádi Füzetek* 2 (1999) 51–117.

### SZEREMLEI, S. 1900

Hód-Mezővásárhely története I. Hódmezővásárhely.

#### SZEVERÉNYI, V. 2013

The Earliest Copper Shaft-Hole Axes in the Carpathian Basin: Interaction, Chronology and Transformations of Meaning. In: Anders, A. –Kulcsár, G. (eds): *Moments in Time. Papers Presented to Pál Raczky on His 60*<sup>th</sup> *Birthday*. Ősrégészeti Tanulmányok/Prehistoric Studies I, Budapest 2013, 661–669.

#### TÉGLÁS, I. 1914

Réz- és bronzbalták Torda vidékéről. Archaeologiai Értesítő 34 (1914) 55-57.

### VASILIU, I. 1996

Un topor de bronz cu tub de inmănușare transveral din nordul Dobrogei. Peuce 12 (1996) 27-30.

### Vladár, J. 1970

K otázke chronologického postavenia medených sekeriek s jedným ostrím – Zur Frage der chronologischen Stellung der kupfernen Schafthalsäxte. *Študijné Zvesti Archeologického Ústavu SAV* 18 (1970) 5–18.

#### VUČEDOL 1988

Durman, A. (ed.): Vučedol. Treće tisućljeće p.n.e. Vučedol – Three thousand years B.C. Zagreb.

### VULPE, A. 1970

Äxte und Beile in Rumänien I. Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/2, München.

### VULPE, A. 1988

Varia archaeologica (II). Depozitul de topoare de la Rîncăcov-Argeş. Cu privere la topoarele de aramă de tip Dombrăvioara – Varia Archaeologica (II). Der Hortfund von Rîncăcov-Argeş; Zu den kupfernen Schaftlochäxten vom Typ Dombrăvioara. *Thraco-Dacica* 9 (1988) 207–212.

### VULPE, A. 2001

Considerations upon the Beginning and the Evolution of the Early Bronze Age in Romania. In: Boehmer, R. M. – Maran, J. (eds): *Lux Orientis: Archäologie zwischen Asien und Europa. Festschrift für Harald Hauptmann zum 65. Geburtstag.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 12, Rahden/Westf. 2001, 419–425.

### Żaki, A. 1961

Toporki miedzane na północnych stokach Karpat – Haches en cuivre sur les pentes des Carpates. *Acta Archaeologica Carpatica* 2 (1960 [1961]) 87–105.

# Žebrák, P. 1995

The traces of the primary mining of non-ferrous metals in Slovakia. In: Jovanović, B. (ed.): Ancient mining and metallurgy in Southeast Europa. International Symposium, Donji Milanovac, May 20–25, 1991. Bor–Belgrade 1995, 13–19.

# Žeravica, Z. 1993

*Äxte und Beile aus Dalmatien und andere Teilen Kroatiens, Montenegro, Bosnien und Herzegowina.* Prähistorische Bronzefunde IX/18, Stuttgart.

# Uivar and Its Significance for the Beginning of the Early Bronze Age in the Romanian Banat

#### MANFRED WOIDICH – ALEXANDRU SZENTMIKLÓSI

#### Abstract

The paper summarizes the Makó finds that were made during the excavations at the Late Neolithic and Early Copper Age tell site of Uivar in the Romanian Banat region. Found mostly at the southwestern part of the tell, they consist of settlement features (pits), pottery single finds, and three urn-graves and one un-urned cremation burial forming a small necropole. An unequipped inhumation found in Trench II and dated to between 2850 and 2700 cal BC likely predates the beginnings of the Makó occupation of the site. This occupation seems to have lasted for longer, covering not only the Hungarian Early Bronze Age I-period but also reaching into the next (IIa-) horizon. To here should belong the graves. Although being located at the southeastern limits of the Makó distribution in the Carpathian Basin, the pottery inventory demonstrates a wide range of connections, from the Kosihy-Čaka Group in the north, over Somogyvár-Vinkovci in the west and the Şoimuş Group in the Middle Mureş region, to finally the Glina III-Schneckenberg B of Wallachia. These links are being discussed.

Until recently, the beginning of the Bronze Age in the Romanian Banat was unclear. On distribution maps of the Early Bronze Age published until the 1990s this area was either left blank or filled with a question mark (BÁNDI 1981, Taf. 12; KALICZ 1982, 128, Abb. 6; BÓNA 1992, 16, Frühe Bronzezeit I; KOÓS 1999, 1. kép). Later on from 1991, Horia Ciugudean recognised in his research into the Early Bronze Age in Transylvania the presence of a Makó-Kosihy-Čaka population in the Romanian Banat (CIUGUDEAN 1991, 108, 110, Abb. 35; until then classified as Vučedol C). Florin Gogâltan (1993; 1995; 1996; 1998; 1999) and Marian Gumă (GUMĂ 1997) managed to increase the number of Makó-Kosihy-Čaka sites in this region. Based on the geographical position of the Banat region, they established for this part of Romania a chronological system following the Hungarian chronology. Consequently, the Early Bronze Age starts with the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture.

The excavations at the tell settlement of Uivar-Gomila undertaken by Wolfram Schier and Florin Draşovean focused on the Late Neolithic and Early Copper Age (SCHIER – DRAŞOVEAN 2004; SCHIER 2006; 2008), but they also discovered the most prolific site of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture in this region (WOIDICH 2007; 2008; 2009).

Traces of the Early Bronze Age settlement are limited to the southwestern part of the tell. Any statements about the settlement structure are restricted due to the relatively small percentage of the excavated areas as well as to the enormous surface erosion in the central part of the hill. During the campaign of 2007 a small necropolis in the northern vicinity of the tell settlement was uncovered (*Fig. 1*). The base of the tell revealed the best preservation conditions, where the Early Bronze Age features were protected by colluvia against modern agricultural soil intrusions. Unfortunately, the colluvia combined with the humidity of the soil hindered the visibility of the features. On that account most of the features could be documented only in the lower area. Consequently, a high percentage of the material could not directly be connected to Early Bronze Age features.

Amongst others two enormous truncated conical pits have been excavated in the settlement area (*Fig. 2*) (WOIDICH 2008, 119, Abb. 2). Therefore two interpretations were discussed: pit-house or a pit with a special function, probably a storage pit.

Most of the local ceramic range can be defined as belonging to the classical ware of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture (*Fig. 3*). The predominant pottery types in Uivar are bowls and pots. Jars and footed



Fig. 1. Uivar-Gomila – position of the trenches with EBA ceramic marked on a magnetic prospection map (after SCHIER – DRAŞOVEAN 2004)



Fig. 2. Uivar-Gomila – profile drawing of the truncated conical Pit 4100

bowls are also present but in smaller quantities. The ceramic repertoire is completed by flat bowls, bottles and miniature vessels. Even though Uivar is located at the southeastern periphery of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture the material might be easily integrated in the ceramic inventory of other prolific settlements.

Particularly Uivar's position in the periphery turned out to be very interesting. There are several pottery sherds which indicate connections to the neighbouring cultures. Two vessels, a pot with a

triangular rim and the footed bowl with exterior and rim decoration (WOIDICH 2008, 120, 122, Abb. 4) are representing the influence of the northwestern territory of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture,<sup>1</sup> probably the so-called Kosihy-Čaka subgroup, or rather even of the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture.<sup>2</sup> Pots with complex plastic ornamentation, X-shaped handles, the so-called cuffed rims *(Manschettenränder)* and T-shaped rims discovered in Uivar testify intensive contacts to the Şoimuş group of the Middle Mureş region (WOIDICH 2008, 121, 123–124, Abb. 6–7).<sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Pots with triangular rim: TÓTH 2001, 137, 158, Fig. 21. 1. Footed bowl with exterior and/or rim decoration: Aspern-Sandgrube Weber (KASTNER 1939, Abb. 3. 1, 2a–b, Abb. 4. 1); Aspern-Gärtnerei Binder (KASTNER 1939, Abb. 4. 2–3); Dunaszentpál-Bolgányi úti kavicsbánya (FIGLER 1996, 16, Pl. I. 1); Grub an der March-Unterhaspel (LEEB 1991, 31); Kamenín-Kiskukoricás (NEVIZÁNSKY 2001, 31, Pl. I. 4, 8); Obersulz-Wartberg (SCHWAMMENHÖFER 2002, 568, Abb. 183); Sládkovičovo (VLADÁR 1969, 106, Fig. 8, Fig. 7. 15); see also VOLLMANN 2005, 73.
- <sup>2</sup> Pots with triangular rim: Börzönce-Temetői dűlő (BONDÁR 1995, 265, 267, Fig. 13. H/4, Fig. 15. EF/5, Pl. 122, Pl. 131. 67, Pl. 133. 78, Pl. 134. 79–80, Pl. 141. 136); Csepreg-Kavicsbánya (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1989, 250, Abb. 1, Abb. 10, Abb. 12. 14); Győrszemere-Tóth tag (FIGLER 1994, 35–36, Abb. 7. 2, 4, Abb. 8. 3–4, 7); Nagykanizsa-Inkey kápolna (BONDÁR 2003, 69, 72–73, Fig. 8. 3, Fig. 11. 6, Fig. 12. 6); Rajka-Modrovich puszta (FIGLER 1994, 37, Fig. 9. 1); Szava (ECSEDY 1979, 120, 132, Taf. I. 7, Taf. XIII. 4). Footed bowl with exterior and/or rim decoration: Beltinci-Behind Raščica near Krog (ŠAVEL 2006, 144–145, 148, Fig. 2. 2–5, Fig. 3. 1–3, 6–7, Fig. 6. 5); Börzönce-Temetői dűlő (BONDÁR 1995, Pl. 149); Csepreg-Kavicsbánya (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1989, 250, Abb. 1); Dunaszekcső-Várhegy (ECSEDY 1985, Fig. 10. 1–3); Győrszemere-Tóth tag (FIGLER 1994, 35, Abb. 7. 1); Gyulaj-Banyahegy (BÁNDI 1982, Abb. 2. 6–8); Nagykanizsa-Inkey kápolna (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1989, 251, Abb. 3. 8–9); Nagyvejke-Réti szántók (KULCSÁR 1999, 134, Pl. 1. 26); Pécs-Nagyárpád (BÁNDI 1981, 232, Taf. 8. 21); Szava (ECSEDY 1979, 121, 125–128, Taf. II. 12, Taf. VI. 9, Taf. VII. 8, Taf. VIII. 4, Taf. IX. 12–13); Vinkovci-Tržnica (DURMAN 2000, 158, 165); Založnica (VELUŠČEK ČUFAR 2003, 151, Pl. 10. 6); Zók-Várhegy (ECSEDY 1983, Abb. 25); see also KULCSÁR 1999, 132.
- <sup>3</sup> Pots with complex plastic ornamentation: Deva-Magna Curia (RIȘCUȚA 1998, 132–133, Fig. 12. 7, Fig. 13. 9); Soimuş (ANDRIȚOIU 1989, 46–47, 50–51, Fig. 3. 1, Fig. 4. 11, Fig. 7. 1, Fig. 8. 2–3); Ţebea-Ruști (ANDRIȚOIU



Fig. 3. Classical ware of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture from Uivar-Gomila

Two sherds with a line of wrought knobs under the rim belong to the Glina III-Schneckenberg B cultural complex of Wallachia and southeastern Transylvania (WOIDICH 2008, 121–122, Abb. 5. 1–2; 2009, 359).<sup>4</sup> Unfortunately they cannot be allocated to an archaeological feature. Albeit they possess

<sup>1989, 47, 50,</sup> Fig. 4. 13, Fig. 7. 13); Temeşesti (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 43, Pl. III. 1); Zlatna-Măgura Dudaşului (CIUGUDEAN 1996, 263, Fig. 67. 1, 4). X-shaped handles: Deva-Magna Curia (RIŞCUȚA 1998, 131, 134, Fig. 11. 6, Fig. 14. 6); Temeşesti (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 46, Pl. VI. 2). Cuffed rim: Corbești (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 49, Pl. IX. 1); Deva-Magna Curia (RIŞCUȚA 1998, 128, 130, 134, Fig. 8. 3, Fig. 10. 5, Fig. 14. 2); Roșia Nouă (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 49, Pl. IX. 2. 4); Soimuş (ANDRIȚOIU 1989, 46, Fig. 3. 10); Ţebea-Ruști (ANDRIȚOIU 1989, 46–47, Fig. 3. 13, 15, Fig. 4, 3, 6); Temeşesti (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 41, 43–45, Pl. I. 1–7, Pl. III. 5, Pl. IV. 1–9, 11, Pl. V. 3–4, 6). T-shaped rims: Alba Julia-str. Sinaia (CIUGUDEAN 1988, 16, Fig. 2. 1); Balomir-Săteşti (POPA 1998, 57, Fig. 2. 3); Deva-Magna Curia (RIŞCUȚA 1998, 126–127, 131, Fig. 6. 3–4, Fig. 7. 2–3, 5, Fig. 11. 7); Soimuş (ANDRIȚOIU 1989, 49–50, Fig. 6. 7, Fig. 7. 8); Ţebea-Ruști (ANDRIȚOIU 1989, 49–50, Fig. 6. 4–6, 14, Fig. 7. 6); Temeşesti (GOGÂLTAN – APAI 2005, 44–45, Pl. IV. 10, Pl. V. 1–2).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Line of wrought knobs: Branet (ROMAN 1976, 35, Abb. 9. 5); Braşov-Schneckenberg (BĂJENARU 2003, 146);
 Bukarest-Ciurel (SCHUSTER 2004, 91, Abb. 2. 3, 5); Bukarest-Rosu (ROMAN 1976, 31–32, Abb. 4. 11, Abb. 5. 1–4, 9–10; SCHUSTER 2004, 91, Abb. 2. 6); Cuciulata (BICHIR 1962, 95, 102, Abb. 5. 6/10, 7/11, Abb. 10. 6);



Fig. 4. Uivar-Gomila – inhumation burial in Trench II

chronological relevance and they might indirectly mark the beginning of the Early Bronze Age in Uivar. A second direct evidence for a possible Pre-Makó-Kosihy-Čaka population is provided by an inhumation burial in Trench II (Fig. 4). According to the radiocarbon date the person was buried approximately between 2850-2700 cal BC (Hd- $22711:4164 \pm 24$  BP; Schier – Draşovean 2004, 202). The stratigraphy of the Early Bronze Age settlement of Odaia Turcului has shown that the three lower settlement layers, which belong to the Glina III culture, hold pots with wrought knobs. In contrast, bowls with T-shaped rims, also found in Uivar, appear only in the younger stratum 4 of the Glina IV culture or in the so-called Odaia Turcului or Năeni group (TUDOR 1982, 61; BĂJENARU 2003, 127, 130-132, Abb. 2. 2, 11, Abb. 3. 4-5, Abb. 4. 11).

Beside the T-shaped rims other hints appearing in Uivar suggest the continuity of the settlement into the second phase of the Early Bronze Age (EBA IIa). Without any doubt, the fragments of vessels with a moustache rib below the handle and the sherds with vertical ribs (WOIDICH 2008, 125, Abb. 8), rarely known from Makó-Kosihy-Čaka sites,<sup>5</sup> should be regarded in a more complex spatial and chronological context, but they already imply a development, which unfolds in the second stage of the Early Bronze Age, especially in the Nagyrév culture.<sup>6</sup> Furthermore they are also found as a part of the ceramic range of the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture,<sup>7</sup> the Bell Beaker–Csepel group<sup>8</sup> as well as the Austrian Oggau-Wipfing Horizon.<sup>9</sup>

So far the correlation between the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture and the Şoimuş group as well as the Glina IV culture panned out to be problematic. According to the local chronological systems of

- Leliceni (BĂJENARU 2003, 146); Odaia Turcului (TUDOR 1982, 62–64, Abb. 2. 5, 7, Abb. 3. 7–8, Abb. 4. 2, 11; BĂJENARU 2002, 130–132, Fig. 2–4); Ostruvul Corbului (ROMAN 1998, 26, Abb. 4. 2); Prundu (ROMAN 1976, 35, Abb. 9. 1, 3–4, 6–7); Sf. Gheorghe-Örkö (BĂJENARU 2003, 146); Tutrakan (BĂJENARU 2002, 136, Fig. 8. 8); Vǎdastra (ROMAN 1976, 35, Abb. 9. 2).
- <sup>5</sup> Moustache rib below the handle: Battonya-Georgievics tanya (BONDÁR D. MATUZ SZABÓ 1998, 42–43, Fig. 13. 1, Fig. 14. 2). Vertical ribs: Budapest, III-Aranyhegyi út (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1994, 55, Abb. 10. 16); Sládkovičovo (VLADÁR 1969, 103, Fig. 6. 15); Tiszalúc-Sarkadpuszta (SZATHMÁRI 1999, 90, Taf. 9. 15).
- <sup>6</sup> Moustache rib below the handle: Mezőkomárom (BÁNDI 1982, Abb. 8. 17); Nagykőrös (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 180, Taf. 42. 5, 11); Rákóczifalva (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 180, Taf. 42. 8). Vertical ribs: Adony (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 180, Taf. 42. 9); Igar-Vámpuszta (KOVÁCS 1982, 172, Abb. 6. 5); Mezőkomárom (BÁNDI 1982, Abb. 8. 5, 9); Rákóczifalva (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 180, Taf. 42. 10); Szőreg (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 180, Taf. 42. 1–2); Sövényháza (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1982, 145, Abb. 6. 3); Tószeg (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, Abb. 46. 8, 10); see also VOLLMANN 2005, 117, 353, Taf. 50.
- <sup>7</sup> Moustache rib below the handle: Börzönce-Temetői dűlő (BONDÁR 1995, Pl. 158. 247); Založnica (VELUŠČEK – ČUFAR 2003, 154, Pl. 13. 7).
- <sup>8</sup> Moustache rib below the handle: Budapest, III-Békásmegyer (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 174, Taf. 36. 3); Szentendre (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 173, Taf. 35. 19); Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor (ENDRÖDI 2005, 29; VOLLMANN 2009, 287, Taf. 5. 10–11). Vertical ribs: Budapest, III-Békásmegyer (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 174 Taf. 36. 3); Budapest, XXI-Csepel (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 176, Taf. 38. 8).
- <sup>9</sup> Moustache rib below the handle: Oggau-Seegasse (NEUGEBAUER NEUGEBAUER 1998, 322, Abb. 8. 1); see also BERTEMES 2000, 29, 33; VOLLMANN 2005, 186–189.



*Fig. 5. Uivar-Gomila – three urn graves (1–3) and one un-urned cremation burial (4) embedded in a burned neolithic floor* 

the Romanian Banat (GUMĂ 1997, 99, 101–102; GOGÂLTAN 1999, 366, Fig. 54), the finds of the socalled Sânpetru German-Pančevo type bridged the gap between the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and the Early Mureş culture. Since the pottery of the eponymous site Sânpetru German can easily be integrated into Uivar's ceramic range, the finds of the Sânpetru German-Pančevo type, which consist solely of these two eponymous sites and an unpublished site in Cenad, should be incorporated into a later phase of Makó-Kosihy-Čaka (WOIDICH 2008, 128–131, Abb. 10–11, Tab. 1; 2009, 359).

As already mentioned, in 2007 a small Early Bronze Age necropolis was localized. Three urn graves (*Fig. 5. 1–3*) and one un-urned cremation burial (*Fig. 5. 4*) were embedded in a burned Neolithic floor. Urn Grave 1 contained amongst other things a mug with divided handle (*Fig. 6*), characteristic for the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture.<sup>10</sup> The mug and a pot were covered by two bowls and used as containers for the cremation remains.

Beside the cremation remains the two-handled pot of Urn Grave 2 contained also a small cup (*Fig. 7*). The knobs situated next to the cup's handle connect this vessel to a similar cup unearthed in Pančevo.<sup>11</sup> A second similar fragment of this kind of handle decoration was found in Uivar in a settlement feature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Divided handles: Ada (HORVÁTH 1984, 11, Pl. 1. 1); Battonya (G. SZÉNÁSZKY 1987–88, 145, Abb. 5. 1); Nagyárpád (BÁNDI 1981, 234, Taf. 10. 5); Radanovac (HORVÁTH 1984, 11, Pl. 1. 2); Zók (ECSEDY 1983, Fig. 26).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Pančevo-Donja Varoš (GRČKI-STANIMIROV 1996, 78, Taf. III. 4).





Fig. 6. Uivar-Gomila – mug with divided handle of Grave 1

Fig. 7. Uivar-Gomila – small cup with knobs situated next to the handle of urn grave 2

of Trench IV together with classical Makó-Kosihy-Čaka ware.<sup>12</sup> These two vessels might reflect the growing influence of Somogyvár-Vinkovci elements eastwards on the southeastern territory of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture in the Early Bronze Age stage IIa. This phenomenon led Ferenc Horváth to the formation of the so-called Ada group.<sup>13</sup> This influence can be traced even further to the east in the Apuseni Mountains, in the Roşia Group.<sup>14</sup>

Remains from three stages of the Early Bronze Age can be distinguished at the tell of Uivar. A Pre-Makó-Kosihy-Čaka phase<sup>15</sup> is indicated by the <sup>14</sup>C date of the unfurnished inhumation burial. The Glina-III/Schneckenberg B fragments might be connected to this early horizon, too. The classical Makó-Kosihy-Čaka phase is represented by the characteristic ceramic range from the settlement features. The result of a radiocarbon sample falls into the expected chronological range of this phase.<sup>16</sup> There are multiple ceramic elements (moustache rib below the handle, vertical ribs, T-shaped rims and knobs situated next to the handle) which point to the continuation of the settlement of Uivar into the second stage of the Early Bronze Age. The small necropolis might be linked to this younger stage, too. Furthermore, we would like to suggest a late Makó-Kosihy-Čaka phase for the Romanian Banat which replaces the Sânpetru German-Pančevo horizon. This creation is no longer needed to explain the phenomena at the transition of the first to the second stage of the Early Bronze Age.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> WOIDICH 2008, 125, Abb. 8. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Horváth 1984; 1985; Bóna 1992, 15; Vollmann 2005, 172–173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Bóna 1992, 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Proto Early Bronze Age (?) or Transition Period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Hd-27787:  $3938 \pm 32$  BP ( $2426 \pm 56$  [68%] cal BC).

### References

### Andrițoiu, I. 1989

Contribuții la cunoașterea bronzului timpuriu în sud-vestul Transilvaniei. Grupul cultural Șoimuș. *Thraco-Dacica* 10 (1989) 39–56.

#### BĂJENARU, R. 2002

Date noi privind cronologia bronzului timpuriu în jumătate sudică a României – New Data about the EBA Chronology in the Southern Half of Romania. *Apulum* 39 (2002) 107–143.

# BĂJENARU, R. 2003

Die Siedlung von Odaia Turcului und die südlichen Beziehungen der norddonauländischen Frühbronzezeit. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 78 (2003) 140–155.

#### Bándi, G. 1981

Über die Entstehung der frühbronzezeitlichen Zivilisation in Transdanubien. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (eds): *Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales Symposium Budapest–Velem 1977.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Instituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 21–29.

#### Bándi, G. 1982

Die terminologischen und relativchronologischen Probleme der frühen und mittleren Bronzezeit in Westungarn. In: Aspes, A. (ed.): *Il Passaggio dal Neolitico all' età del Bronzo nell'Europa centrale e nella Regione Alpina. Atti del 10 simposio Internazionale sulla fine del Neolitico e gli inizi dell'età del Bronzo in Europa. Lazise-Verona 1980.* Verona 1982, 165–181.

#### BERTEMES, F. 2000

Zur Entstehung der Danubischen Frühbronzezeit in Mitteleuropa. In: Pavlů, I. (ed.): *In Memoriam Jan Rulf*. Památky Archeologické Supplementum 13, Prag 2000, 25–37.

#### BICHIR, GH. 1962

Beitrag zur Kenntnis der frühen Bronzezeit im südöstlichen Transsilvanien und in der Moldau (im Lichte der Grabungen von Cuciulata und Mîndrişca). *Dacia N. S.* 6 (1962) 87–114.

#### Bóna, I. 1992

Bronzezeitliche Tell-Kulturen in Ungarn. In: Meier-Arendt, W. (Hrsg.): *Bronzezeit in Ungarn. Forschungen in Tell-Siedlungen an Donau und Theiss*. Frankfurt am Main 1992, 9–41.

#### BONDÁR, M. 1995

Early Bronze Age settlement patterns in South-West Transdanubia. Antaeus 22 (1995) 197-268.

#### BONDÁR, M. 2003

Kora bronzkori telep Nagykanizsa-Inkey kápolnán – Frühbronzezeitliche Siedlung von Nagykanizsa-Inkey Kapelle. *Zalai Múzeum* 12 (2003) 49–77.

#### Bondár, M. – D. Matuz, E. – Szabó, J. J. 1998

Rézkori és bronzkori településnyomok Battonya határában – Kupfer- und bronzezeitliche Siedlungsspuren in der Gemarkung von Battonya. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 4 (1998) 7–53.

#### CIUGUDEAN, H. 1988

O așezare din epoca timpurie a bronzului la Alba Iulia – The Early Bronze Age Settlement from Alba Iulia. *Thraco-Dacia* 9 (1988) 15–22.

#### CIUGUDEAN, H. 1991

Zur frühen Bronzezeit in Siebenbürgen im Lichte der Ausgrabungen von Ampoița (Jud. Alba). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 66 (1991) 79–114.

### CIUGUDEAN, H. 1996

*Epoca timpurie a bronzului în centrul și sud-vestul Transilvaniei – The Early Bronze Age in Central and South-West Transylvania.* Bibliotheca Thracologica 13, București.

### DURMAN, A. 2000

Vučedolski Orion i najstariji europski calendar – The Vučedol Orion and the Oldest European Calendar. Zagreb.

# ECSEDY, I. 1979

Die Siedlung der Somogyvár-Vinkovci-Kultur bei Szava und einige Fragen der Frühbronzezeit in Südpannonien. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 23 (1978 [1979]) 97–136.

### ECSEDY, I. 1983

Ásatások Zók-Várhegyen (1977–1982). Előzetes jelentés – Excavations at Zók-Várhegy (1977–1982) – Preliminary Report. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 27 (1982 [1983]) 59–106.

### ECSEDY, I. 1985

Öskori leletek Dunaszekcső-Várhegyről – Prehistoric Finds of Dunaszekcső-Várhegy. *Janus Pannonius Múzeum Évkönyve* 29 (1984 [1985]) 89–125.

# ENDRŐDI, A. 2005

Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor. In: Zsidi, P. (ed.): *Kincsek a város alatt. Budapest régészeti örökségének feltárása, 1989–2004 – Treasures under the city. Survey of the archaeological heritage of Budapest, 1989–2004*. Budapest 2005, 28–29.

### FIGLER, A. 1994

Die Fragen der Frühbronzezeit in Nordwest-Transdanubien – Északnyugat-Dunántúl korai bronzkorának kérdései. *Zalai Múzeum* 5 (1994) 21–38.

### FIGLER, A. 1996

Adatok Győr környékének bronzkorához. Bronzkori kultúrák Győr környékén – Angaben zur Bronzezeit in der Umgebung von Győr. Bronzezeitliche Kulturen in der Umgebung Győr. *Acta Musei Papensis/Pápai Múzeumi Értesítő* 6 (1996) 7–29.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1993

Foeni, eine frühbronzezeitliche Siedlung aus dem Südwesten Rumäniens. Vorläufiger Bericht. *Thraco-Dacica* 14 (1993) 51–64.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1995

Die frühe Bronzezeit im Südwesten Rumäniens. Stand der Forschung. *Thraco-Dacica* 16 (1995) 55–79.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1996

About the Early Bronze Age in the Romanian Banat. In: Tasić, N. (ed.): *The Yugoslav Danube Basin and the Neighbouring Regions in the 2<sup>nd</sup> Millennium B.C.* Serbian Academy of Science and Arts Institute for Balkan Studies. Special Editions 65, Belgrade–Vršac 1996, 43–68.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1998

Early and Middle Bronze Age Chronology in South-West Romania, General Aspects. In: Ciugudean, H. – Gogâltan, Fl. (eds): *The Early and Middle Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin.* 

*Proceeding of the International Symposium in Alba Iulia 1997.* Bibliotheca Musei Apulensis 8, Alba Iulia 1998, 191–212.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1999

Bronzul timpuriu și mijlociu românesc și pe cursul inferior al Mureșului. Chronologia și descoperilie de metal – Die frühe und mittlere Bronzezeit in rumänischen Banat und am Unterlauf der Marosch. Die Chronologie und die Metallfunde. Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 23, Timișoara.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. – APAI, E. 2005

Contribuții privind bronzul timpurui în Transilvania. I. Noi materiale aparținând grupului Șoimuș. In: Popa, C. I. – Rustoiu, G. T. (eds): *Omagiu Profesorului Ioan Andrițoiu cu prilejul împlinirii a 65 de ani. Studii și Cercetari Arheologice*. Alba Iulia 2005, 21–49.

#### GRČKI-STANIMIROV, S. 1996

Pančevo-"Donja Varoš" – Horizont der ersten Siedlungen der frühen Bronzezeit im südlichen Banat. In: Tasić, N. (ed.): *The Yugoslav Danube Basin and the Neighbouring Regions in the 2<sup>nd</sup> Millennium B.C.* Serbian Academy of Science and Arts Institute for Balkan Studies. Special Editions 65, Belgrade–Vršac 1996, 69–80.

### GUMĂ, M. 1997

*Epoca bronzului în Banat. Orizonturi cronologice și manifestări culturale – The Bronze Age in Banat. Chronological levels and cultural entities.* Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 5, Timișoara.

#### Horváth, F. 1984

Ada-type artifacts of the Early Bronze Age in the southern Alföld. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve* 1980–81/1 [1984] 7–29.

### Horváth, F. 1985

Contributions to the Early and Middle Bronze Age of southern Alföld. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve* 1982–83/1 [1985] 55–71.

### KALICZ, N. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Fragen der Kupfer- und Bronzezeit in Ungarn. In: Aspes, A. (ed.): Il Passaggio dal Neolitico all' età del Bronzo nell'Europa centrale e nella Regione Alpina. Atti del 10 simposio Internazionale sulla fine del Neolitico e gli inizi dell'età del Bronzo in Europa. Lazise–Verona 1980. Verona 1982, 117–137.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Probleme der Frühbronzezeit in Mittelungarn. In: Aspes, A. (ed.): Il Passaggio dal Neolitico all' età del Bronzo nell'Europa centrale e nella Regione Alpina. Atti del 10 simposio Internazionale sulla fine del Neolitico e gli inizi dell'età del Bronzo in Europa. Lazise–Verona 1980. Verona 1982, 139–152.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1984

Komplex der Nagyrév-Kultur. In: Tasić, N. (ed.): *Kulturen der Frühbronzezeit des Karpatenbeckens und Nordbalkans*. Balkanoški Institut Sanu 22, Beograd 1984, 133–189.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1989

Die älteste Bronzezeit in Nordwestungarn und ihre Beziehungen. In: Buchvaldek, M. – Pleslová-Štiková, E. (Hrsg.): Das Äneolithikum und die früheste Bronzezeit (C14 3000–2000 b.c.) in Mitteleuropa: kulturelle und chronologische Beziehungen. Acta des XIV. Internationalen Symposiums Prag–Liblice 1986. Praehistorica 15, Praha 1989, 249–259.

### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1994

Siedlungsfunde und ein Brandgrab der frühbronzezeitlichen Makó-Kultur in Budapest – A korai bronzkori makói kultúra telepleletei és hamvasztásos sírja Budapesten. *Zalai Múzeum* 5 (1994) 39–60.

### KASTNER, J. F. 1939

Funde der Vučedol (Laibacher)-Kultur und der Glockenbecherkultur von Aspern (Wien, 22. Bez.). *Wiener Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 26 (1939) 117–134.

### Koós, J. 1999

Újabb adatok a kora bronzkori Makó-kultúra elterjedéséhez és időrendjéhez Északkelet-Magyarországon – Neuere Angaben zur Verbreitung und zur Chronologie der Makó-Kultur in Nordostungarn. *Herman Ottó Múzeum Évkönyve* 37 (1999) 103–128.

### Kovács, T. 1982

Die terminologischen und chronologischen Probleme der Frühbronzezeit in Mittelungarn. In: Aspes, A. (ed.): Il Passaggio dal Neolitico all' età del Bronzo nell'Europa centrale e nella Regione Alpina. Atti del 10 simposio Internazionale sulla fine del Neolitico e gli inizi dell'età del Bronzo in Europa. Lazise–Verona 1980. Verona 1982, 153–181.

### KULCSÁR, G. 1999

Kora bronzkori belsődíszes talpas tálak a Dunántúlon – The Early Bronze Age internally decorated bowls from the Transdanubia. *Savaria–Pars Archaeologica* 24/3 (1998–1999 [1999]) 115–139.

### LEEB, A. 1991

Neolithische Siedlungen und bronzezeitliche Gräber in Grub an der March. *Fundberichte aus Österreich* 30 (1991) 30–32.

#### NEUGEBAUER, CHR. - NEUGEBAUER, J.-W. 1998

Zum Forschungsstand der Glockenbecherkultur in Ostösterreich. In: Fritsch, B. – Maute, M. – Matuschik, I. – Müller, J. – Wolf, Cl. (eds): *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 3, Rahden/Westfalen 1998, 307–324.

### NEVIZÁNSKY, G. 2001

Príspevok k mladšiemu stupňu kultúrny Makó (Kosihy)-Čaka na juhozápadnom Slovensku – Beitrag zur jüngeren Stufe der Makó (Kosihy)-Čaka Kultur in der Südwestslowakei. *Slovenská Archeológia* 49 (2001) 19–39.

### POPA, C. I. 1998

Noi descoperiri aparținând bronzului timpuriu în bazinul mijlociu al Mureșului și câteva considerații privind etapa finală acestei perioade în Transilvania – New discoveries belonging to the Early Bronze Age in the middle Mureș Basin and some considerations regarding the final stage of this period in Transylvania. *Apulum* 35 (1998) 47–85.

#### RIȘCUȚA, C. 1998

Archaeological discoveries concerning the Early Bronze Age at Deva. In: Ciugudean, H. – Gogâltan, Fl. (eds): *The Early and Middle Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. Proceeding of the International Symposium in Alba Iulia 1997.* Bibliotheca Musei Apulensis 8, Alba Iulia 1998, 111–139.

### Roman, P. 1976

Die Glina III-Kultur. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 51 (1976) 26-42.

### Roman, P. 1998

Aufzeichnungen aus den Grabungsheften zu den Forschungen in den bronzezeitlichen Ansiedlungen von Ostrovul Corbului und Ostrovul Moldova Veche. In: Schuster, Chr. (ed.): *Die Kulturen der Bronzezeit in dem Gebiet des Eisernen Tores. Kolloquium in Drobeta-Turnu Severin 1997.* Bukarest 1998, 17–3

### ŠAVEL, I. 2006

The Excavation Site "Behind Raščica near Krog" – The Settlement of the Somogyvár-Vinkovci Culture. *Zalai Múzeum* 15 (2006) 135–148.

#### SCHIER, W. 2006

Neolithic house building and ritual in the late Vinča tell site of Uivar, Romania. In: Tasić, N. – Grozdanov, C. (eds): *Homage to Milutin Garašanin*. Belgrade 2006, 325–339.

#### SCHIER, W. 2008

Uivar. A Late Neolithic–Early Eneolithic fortified tell site in western Romania. In: Bailey, D. W. – Whittle, A. – Hofmann, D. (eds): *Living Well Together? Settlement and Materiality in the Neolithic of South-East and Central Europe*. Oxford 2008, 54–67.

#### Schier, W. – Drașovean, Fl. 2004

Vorbericht über die Prospektionen und Ausgrabungen in der Tellsiedlung von Uivar, jud.Timiş, Rumänien (1998–2002). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 79/2 (2004) 145–230.

#### SCHUSTER, CHR. 2004

Zur Problematik der Frühbronzezeit an der Unteren Donau (Rumänien). *Acta Archaeologica Carpathica* 39 (2004) 87–122.

### SCHWAMMENHÖFER, H. 2002

KG Obersulz. MG Sulz im Weinviertel. VB Gänserndorf. *Fundberichte aus Österreich* 41 (2002) 567–568.

### SZATHMÁRI, I. 1999

Beiträge zur frühbronzezeitlichen Geschichte von Nordostungarn. Siedlungsspuren der Makó- und Nyírség-Kultur in Tiszalúc-Sarkad (Kom. Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén). *Jósa András Múzeum Évkönyve* 51 (1999) 59–99.

#### G. Szénászky, J. 1987–88

Kora bronzkori leletek Békés megyéből – Frühbronzezeitliche Funde aus dem Komitat Békés. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 114–115 (1987–88) 141–155.

# То́тн, К. 2001

Kora bronzkori településrészlet Csongrád határában – Frühbronzezeitliches Siedlungsdetail in der Gemarkung von Csongrád. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 7 (2001) 115–160.

# TUDOR, E. 1982

Neue Angaben zur frühen Bronzezeit in Südrumänien. Dacia 26 (1982) 59-75.

# VELUŠČEK, A. – ČUFAR, K. 2003

Založnica pri Kamniku pod Krimom na Ljubljanskem barju – naselbina kulture Somogyvár-Vinkovci – Založnica near Kamnik pod Krimom on the Ljubljansko barje (Ljubljana Moor) – A settlement of the Somogyvár-Vinkovci Culture. *Archeološki Vestnik* 54 (2003) 123–158.

#### VLADÁR, J. 1969

Prvé nálezy keramiky kultúry zvoncovitých pohárov na Slovensky – Erste Keramikfunde der Glockenbecherkultur in der Slowakei. *Slovenská Archeológia* 17 (1969) 97–118.

### VOLLMANN, D. 2005

Studien zum Übergang von der Kupferzeit zur frühen Bronzezeit im östlichen Mitteleuropa. Saarbrücker Beiträge zur Altertumskunde 77, Bonn.

### VOLLMANN, D. 2009

Der Makó-Kosihy-Čaka-Komplex und die früheste Nagyrév-Kultur an Donau und Theiß. In: Becker, V. – Thomas, M. – Wolf-Schuler, A. (eds): *Zeiten–Kulturen–Systeme. Gedenkschrift für Jan Lichardus*. Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraumes 17, Langenweißbach 2009, 271–288.

### WOIDICH, M. 2007

*Die frühbronzezeitliche Besiedlung auf dem Tell von Uivar im rumänischen Banat*. Unpublished MA thesis. Würzburg.

# WOIDICH, M. 2008

Die Siedlungsphase der Makó-Kosihy-Čaka-Kultur auf dem Tell von Uivar und ihrer Bedeutung für die Frühbronzezeit im rumänischen Banat. *Mitteilungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte* 29 (2008) 117–135.

# WOIDICH, M. 2009

Uivar und der Beginn der Bronzezeit im Rumänischen Banat. Analele Banatului S. N. 17 (2009) 357–365.

# "Nagyrév Jugs" and Their Archaeological Context

### JAROSLAV PEŠKA – MIROSLAV KRÁLÍK

#### Abstract

The main aim of our study was to compute a contextual seriation of grave goods from the Late Eneolithic and the Early Bronze Age in the Middle Danube region (mostly in Moravia, Czech Republic, and the Carpathian Basin) on various hierarchical levels, to then compare the sequence of objects in seriation sets with absolute dates, and finally to infer the possible role of so-called Nagyrév jugs in the relative chronology of that period.

Incidences of 95 variables (types of grave goods) on 832 cases (mainly graves) from 11 archaeological cultures were recorded from the literature. In sum, the matrix contained 2163 incidences. These data were subjected to a contextual seriation on various levels from individual burial sites, through aggregates of several sites, to the entire region. Subsequently, 86 available calibrated <sup>14</sup>C dates (CalPal 2007 HULU) were compared with these relative orders.

The relative sequences from various hierarchical levels of the same culture/cultural sphere (e.g., the Bell Beaker culture) correlate with each other variously. The relative sequences of identical variables from separate seriations for the individual cultures have very little relationship to each other. Therefore, the similarities between cultures are much less pronounced than those within each of them.Within individual cultures, or cultural spheres, correlations between absolute dates and the sequences from individual seriations for a hierarchical level are often strong, but sometimes not statistically significant due to the small number of cases. This suggests that relative chronologies created within individual cultures are valid to a certain degree. We should thus seek an optimum compromise in the composition of the seriation aggregates where a sufficient number of absolute dates but restrictions for the "nonchronological" sources of variability exist.

Some types of Nagyrév jugs occur in more than one archaeological culture during a particular time span, other types are confined to a specific region or time period. For these reasons, we suggest that the concept of the "Nagyrév jug" needs to be re-evaluated.

### Introduction

Chronology is an important method for investigating past cultures. It is particularly vital to have a temporal grasp of socially dynamic periods, such as the end stages of the Early and Late Eneolithic periods (3800/3700–2800/2600 BC). A timeline for temporal successions and new developments can be formed on the basis of the results of absolute dating, as well as relative chronologies. Both of these methods have their advantages, as well as limitations.

Most absolute dating methods are based on the principle of radioactive decay of unstable isotopes. In late prehistory, the most often utilized method is <sup>14</sup>C (radiocarbon) and its improved version AMS-Dating. This measurement allows us to determine an age estimate of the dated material. Another advantage of obtaining a series of absolute dates is identifying time gaps between cultural episodes. The accuracy and reliability of the age estimates is also contingent on other factors (type of material dated, its relationship to the targeted event, amount of charcoal in the sample/degree of diagenesis, recent contamination, etc.). The precision of each date is also compromised by the statistical error, which presents the result with a standard deviation. Following calibration of raw dates, the resulting information consists of probability distributions which are somewhat difficult to compare. This method is also considerably expensive, which is one reason why we do not yet have a sufficient number of <sup>14</sup>C age estimates.

Relative chronology is based on the presence of chronologically diagnostic finds which are diagnostic for a particular period, culture, or one of its phases (so-called typology dating). More comprehensive approaches are based on creating successions comprising of initial occurrence, its dominance and subsequent decline; in particular, combinations of several indicators with computationally advanced methods (seriation, Correspondence Analysis, etc.). Relative chronology can be used to categorize most assemblages, where sufficient data is available. The disadvantage of relative chronology is not being able to detect the time gaps between artifact groups. The use of relative indicators is also often complicated by the fact that cultures evolve within themselves, as well as through culture contact. Apart from chronologically diagnostic artifacts, we also have artifacts which indicate inter-cultural contact. "Nagyrév jugs" are an example of a cultural contact artifact at the end of the Eneolithic period. Employing Miroslav Buchvaldek's definition (1978a; 1978b; 1981; 1997; 2002), Nagyrév jugs belong to ceramic finds indicating cultural contact that appear in Europe (there are several types and variants) as part of a particular aggregate of cultural components coming from several regions in a short period of time during the Final Eneolithic/Early Bronze Age (2700/2600–2300/2200 BC).

Contextual seriation is often used for reconstructing the chronological sequence of graves as only the presence or absence of a design style or type is important. The results of contextual seriation always depend on the extent to which the range of variables reflects temporal variation and other factors. When seriation is applied at a particular burial site restricting the intra-regional and inter-regional spatial variability, as well as other factors (age, sex, social and other differences), the similarities and differences in age estimates can determine succession (using seriation), which corresponds to relative chronology. The results are directly dependent on the choice of variables. That is why it is recommended that all non-temporal factors are controlled when developing the relative chronology.

Relative chronology significantly correlates with the choice of variables. For instance, if weapons are used as a variable, seriation can present a succession strongly influenced by the sex of the buried individual (NEUSTUPNÝ 2007, 136). The sex of the individual may not influence seriation just through gender-specific artifacts. Analysis of the jugs of the Corded Ware culture (CWC) in Bohemia has shown that in this cultural context, there is a statistical difference in jugs between individuals buried on their right and left sides (based on sex), in the type of decoration and jug volume – male jugs had a distinctly higher volume (mean value >2 liters) than female jugs (mean value 1 liter). The succession of decoration types on CWC jugs (represented by succession on Correspondence axis 1) constructed separately for right-side burials and left-side burials did not correspond exactly (KRIŠTUF 2005). It is highly probable that similar patterns will also be present in the Moravian Corded Ware culture (MCWC) when using different variables (artifacts, decorations) and seriation types.

The chronology could theoretically be verified by the application of different dating methods. Relative chronology was developed using the principle of seriation based on occurrence of temporally diagnostic patterns (e.g., the presence of specific artifacts) and should correspond to the sequence of absolute <sup>14</sup>C estimates. With regards to the relative dating methods, decisions need to be made about (a) which relative dating methods/calculations to use, (b) which variables to employ, (c) for which aggregates (hierarchical levels) should relative chronologies be developed given necessary compromises that need to be made (1) to limit the sources of non-temporal variability (space/region, sex, social differences) and, at the same time (2) to consider temporal-spatial relationships between various archaeological cultures (entities).

#### Goals of the study

The pilot version of this study presented in Den Haag (2010) represented preliminary conclusions for evaluating the Late Eneolithic using contextual seriation.<sup>1</sup> The approach and analysis in 2010 were based on the idea that there are three major cultures in Moravia during the Late Eneolithic, which were in contact with each other, they probably coexisted for some time and mutually influenced each other. This idea led us to presume that the relative succession of the shared contextual seriation could reflect chronological relationships. We attempted to follow the classification of Nagyrév jugs in this order and the possibility of their use as "contact" artifacts. Seriation permitted an unequivocal relative sequence of these three cultures with small zones of overlap in peripheral sequences. There was uncertainty, however, whether relative chronology (contextual proximity of aggregate finds) reflects temporal patterns. The sequences could also reflect social, gender, regional and other factors. Although the relative sequences of dated aggregates from all three cultures correlate at a statistically significant level with mean values of absolute age estimates, in the case of individual cultures the relative sequences were unrelated to absolute age estimates. Therefore, it was unclear whether the overall relative sequence represents the actual temporal succession of artifacts and cases in individual cultures. The interpretation of the relative order was even more problematic when surrounding regions were also considered (including the Carpathian Basin). Given this situation, we decided to add new data to the database, including limited data about the sex of buried individuals, and further develop the relative chronology by incorporating aspects of regional aggregate hierarchy.

The main idea remains the same: the criterion for correctness is the relationship of the relative sequence in contextual seriation to the sequence of independently determined absolute dates. Strong correlation indicates that a significant number of contextual connections is influenced by time so relative sequences can be understood as the presence of a succession of individual artifacts in a culture.

The goal of our new study is:

- on the basis of the available data, create a contextual seriation of objects from the Late Eneolithic in the Middle Danube region (mostly in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin) at various hierarchical levels, from individual burial sites to the entire region. When possible, specify the possible effect of the sex of the individuals manifested in grave goods on the resultant sequence;
- 2. compare the results of different hierarchical levels and follow the occurrence of Nagyrév jugs in the proposed relative chronologies;
- 3. compare the sequence of objects in seriation sets with absolute dates, where they are available;
- 4. form interpretations about the main archaeological cultures in the terminal Eneolithic in the Middle Danube region and infer the possible role of Nagyrév jugs in the relative chronology of that period.

### Material and methods

#### Sources of data

We recorded evidence for the presence of Nagyrév jugs, other artifacts (ceramics, ceramic elements, ceramic plastic applications, stone industry, bone and antler artifacts, glass and metals) from Late Eneolithic/Early Bronze Age localities in Central Europe, in published literature and unpublished sources. All variables used are listed in *Table 1*. The Nagyrév jugs were classified according to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This article is a reworked version of the pilot study. The first version was presented in 2010 at the 16<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the European Association of Archaeologists in Den Haag, Netherlands.



Fig. 1. Typology of Nagyrév jugs (after PEŠKA 2008)

typology published by Jaroslav Peška (2008) described below. "Nagyrév jugs" or "jugs with one handle" are represented by biconical forms with a higher cylindrical neck and a handle at or below the rim (cf. ENDRŐDI 1992; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1998; 1998–2000; 1999; KULCSÁR 2002; 2009; VOLLMANN 2005; ENDRŐDI – PÁSZTOR 2006). There is consensus that they arrive in Central Europe from regions to the south or southeast, but the terminology and chronology of these jugs is far from unified or clear. In his doctoral thesis, J. Peška (2008) distinguished four types of jugs (labeled here with F), defined by a combination of shape and characteristic features, but mainly by the position of the handle (*Fig. 1*). The first type is the "Balkan jug", with Letonice (F1), Tvarožná (F2) and Alsónémedi (F1/2) subtypes. Other types include the Ökörhalom B (F3) with the Hoštice-Heroltice (F3.1) and Rákoczifalva (F3.2) subtypes, Ökörhalom A (F4) and Somogyvár (F5). Furthermore, incidence of these jugs is tightly connected to Dřevohostice jugs with Dřevohostice *sensu stricto* (CD1), Velešovice (CD2), and Morkůvky (CD3) subtypes, and also with the Szava type (CSza).

On the whole we recorded 95 variables (*Table 1*) that were coded into the form of incidence (absence/presence) matrix (0 – absence, 1 – presence). Frequencies of the same items/goods in graves were disregarded. The following archaeological cultures/cultural traditions were then included in the analysis: Moravian Corded Ware culture (MCWC), Corded Ware culture (CWC), Bell Beaker culture (BBC), Protoúnětice culture (PÚC), Csepel group of Bell Beaker culture (CSE), Makó/Kosihy-Čaka culture (MKC), Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture (SOV), Late Vučedol culture (LVU), Nagyrév culture Phase I (NgC 1), Nagyrév culture Phase II (NgC 2), and Pitvaros culture (PIT). Overall, the matrix contained 832 cases – archaeological cultures that were represented mainly by graves originating from 11 traditionally recognized archaeological cultures in 13 geographic micro-regions (*Fig. 2*). In sum, the matrix contained 2163 incidences.

Description	Abbreviation	Sum of incidences
Ceramics		
Amphora-shaped jug	AC	38
Amphora-like vessel	AG	10
Corded beaker	B1	43
"Fish bone" decorated beaker	B2	7
Jug of the Dřevohostice type, var. Dřevohostice	CD1	69
Jug of the Dřevohostice type, var. Velešovice	CD2	85
Jug of the Dřevohostice type, var. Morkůvky	CD3	21
Jug of the Szava type	CSza	11
Globular jug	Ck	52
S-shaped jug (slender)	Cs1	18
S-shaped jug (broad)	Cs2	15
Jug of the Bedřichovice type	CBe1	15
Jug of the Bedřichovice type, var. Pavlov	CBe2	5
Jug of the Bedřicovice type, var. Syrovice	CSyr	5
Jug of the Bedřichovice type, var. Šardičky	CSar	7
Pot	D	30
Handled pot	Dh	12
Storied jar	EN	3
Jug of the Balkan type, var. Letonice	F1	110
Jug of the Balkan type, var. Alsónémedi (F1/2)	F12	19
Jug of the Balkan type, var. Tvarožná	F2	14
Jug of the Ökörhalom B type, var. Hoštice-Heroltice (F3.1)	F31	16
Jug of the Ökörhalom B type, var. Rákóczifalva (F3.2)	F32	10
Jug of the Ökörhalom A type	F4	13
Jug of the Somogyvár type	F5	32
One handled cylindrical cup	G1	13
High two handled cylindrical cup	G1 G2	11
		40
Decorated bell beaker (high, slender)	GB1	
Decorated bell beaker (low, broad)	GB2	90
Polypood bowl on legs	Hf	18
The Moravian type bowl	Hm	44
Bowl of the Makó/Kosihy-Čaka	HMK	10
Bowl with the Palmela type rim	Hr	70
Sharp profiled bowl with neck and handles	H3	47
The Schönfeld type bowl	H5	9
Bowl of Gemeinlebarn type	HGe	21
Handled pot with curved neck	K1	21
Handled pot with cylindrical/conical neck	K2	49
Two handled vessel	L	28
Inside decorated footed bowl, Ljubljana type	LH1	5
Inside decorated footed bowl, Čaka type	LH2	18
Inside decorated footed bowl, Sotin/Ig II	LH3	4
Three-part mug	Ndg	30
S-shaped mug	Ns	80
Sharply S-profilled mug	Ng	11
Globular mug	Nk	67
Mug of the Oggau type	NOg	27
Mug of the Trausdorf-Leithaprodersdorf type (high)	NTrL1	17
Mug of the Trausdorf-Leithaprodersdorf type (low)	NTrL2	45

Table 1. List of variables used in the analysis – Description: specification of particular variable; Abbreviation: short name used in tables; Sum of incidences: the number of recorded objects with the presence of the variable in the overall incidence matrix

Description	Abbreviation	Sum of incidences	
Jug like mug	N3	9	
Egg-shaped pot	Р	146	
One handled egg-shaped pot with handles	Ph	14	
Wide opened mug	SN	15	
Handleless vessel	U	8	
Handleless amphora	UA	41	
Parts of ceramics			
Asymmetrical handle	asH	7	
Storied handle	etH	3	
Horizontal handle	horH	12	
Double handle	dopH	18	
Blank handle	blinH	30	
Ribbed handle	ripH	11	
Framed stand	DbF	4	
Soul hole	Seeloch	6	
Plastic decorations of ceramics	beeloen	0	
Protrusions on the upper base of handle	PA1	7	
"Small wings", extension of one or both bases of handle	PA2	11	
Mustache below the bottom of handle	PA3	16	
Plastic "horseshoe"	PA4	16	
"Nipple-like" protrusion	PA6	17	
Other plastic applications	PA7	17	
Stone industry	1/	1/	
Faceted battle-axe	FHA	8	
Silesian type battle-axe	SHA	3	
Simple shape battle-axe	OHA	34	
Silicite dagger	SDg	15	
Whetstone	SDg	5	
Stone wristguard (wide, 4 holes)	ND1	44	
Stone wristguard (wrue, 4 holes)	ND1 ND2	12	
Stone wristguard (narrow, 4 holes)	ND2 ND3	12	
Bone and antler industry	ND5	14	
Cylindrical bone beads	KPI3	7	
Pin with perforated head	KP15 KN2	15	
	KIN2 KnoV		
Bone V-perforated button Glass	Knov	41	
	Class	3	
Glass, faience beads	Glass	3	
Metals	C A	20	
Copper awl	CuA	30	
Copper torq	CuHr	9	
Lockenringe	CuO	13	
Hair ornament made of simple wire	HaS1	29	
Hair ornament made of double wire	HaS2	12	
Oar-shaped pin with back hook	RkN1	5	
Oar-shaped pin with simple hook	RkN2	5	
Copper knife/razor	CuM	14	
Copper dagger type I	CuDg1	5	
Copper dagger type II	CuDg2	4	
Copper dagger type III	CuDg3	10	
Copper dagger type IV	CuDg4	14	
Riveted copper dagger type	CuDg5	8	
Cu/Au sheet plate with twisted ends	Cu/Au Platte	10	

Table 1. Continued

The majority of our data comes from Moravia. The Carpathian Basin data came only from the literature available to us and, moreover, the Carpathian Basin contexts with Nagyrév jugs were preferentially included, which could be influencing the comparison. While published and unpublished material could be accessed for the Moravian sites, access to literature regarding the Carpathian Basin was more limited (including access to published material). This is also reflected in the number of analyzed assemblages. Another difficulty was the varying quality and quantity (level of detail, structuring, etc.) of the information made available (particularly in older investigations) and classification of identical contexts into different cultures by different authors. All these circumstances certainly influenced the character of the compared datasets so this needs to be taken into account when considering the results and interpretations.

In the Moravian burials we also monitored the sex of the individual at selected sites. Archaeological sexing was based on the position of the skeleton and anthropological sexing was based on the anthropological assessment of the skeleton. These two pieces of data were used to create a variable in which males (M) and females (F) were those cases where the archaeological and anthropological assessments of sex concurred. In cases where only one type of assessment was available (usually based on position of the skeleton), it was used. For remaining cases (i.e. sex not available or archaeological and anthropological identifications in contradiction), the case was labeled "N".



Fig. 2. Map of geographic areas covered in the study – 11: Moravia; 12: Lower Austria north of the Danube; 13: Traisental (southern Lower Austrian Danube region); 14: Burgenland and western Hungary; 21: southwestern Slovakia; 22: Transdanubia; 23: Danube region; 24: Tisza region; 25: Central Hungary; 26: eastern Hungary (east of the Tisza); 27: Vojvodina; 32: Slavonia; 33: Syrmia

#### Ordination/seriation methods

The data matrix was analyzed using two different methods. Both methods are means of searching for similar (association by similarity) cases. One of the methods was originally developed by James C. Brower and Kenneth M. Kile (1988; BK from here on) and is currently implemented in the software PAST 1.81 (HAMMER - HARPER - RYAN 2001). The BK algorithm is iterative and consists of repeating series of four (I-IV) steps. (I) Columns are labeled by consecutive numbers from left to right (1 to m)and a mean value is calculated for each row, where presence occurs in a given row (in the matrix labeled 1). (II) The rows are arranged from top to bottom according to the mean value. (III) The rows are labeled from *1* to *n* and the obtained mean values of presences are calculated for each column. (IV) Columns are arranged from right to left on the basis of obtained mean values. Steps I-IV are repeated for so long until the sequence stabilizes. The process is constrained with a limitation on alterations in row sequences – cases (when the variable sequence is known), or complete with common seriation of rows and columns. As the relative chronology was not clearly specified for cases or variables, we use an unconstrained version. The result is ordering of presences near the diagonal from upper left to bottom right in the matrix and the resultant sequence of cases and variables. Authors (BROWER – KILE 1988) used a simple test criterion. It is based on a case of ideal seriation when all presences (1) are directly on the diagonal and absence (0) is not embedded in any presences block in a given column. Embedded absence represents any absence which occurs between the highest and the lowest presence in a given column. The calculation of the criterion:

$$criterion = 1 - \left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} A_j / \sum_{j=1}^{m} R_j\right]$$

where  $A_j$  is the number of embedded absences in column *j*,  $R_j$  is the range of presences in the column *j*. In a perfect seriation the criterion is equal to 1.

The second ordination method applied was Correspondence Analysis (CA) which is a traditional multivariate technique based on decomposition of Chi-square statistics of the contingency table into new orthogonal factors. We computed CA using the program PAST 1.81 (HAMMER – HARPER – RYAN 2001). Correspondence Axis 1 (CA1) represents a matrix of chronologically distinctive objects which tends to indicate a relative time axis, but not all authors agree with this assertion (cf. KRIŠTUF 2005, 109). In the first step of the analysis, both methods (CA1, BK) were used in seriation. We also confirmed the original finding (BROWER – KILE 1988) that seriation yields results similar to those of the first axis of multivariate ordination methods. As the sequences generated by both methods strongly correlated (*Fig. 3*), only the BK method was used for all analyses. We present these results here. We are aware however, that other axes of multidimensional space (CA2, CA3 etc.) can be a source of important information which the one-dimensional sequence (BK) does not provide.

#### Approaches to comparison

#### Hierarchical aspect of the data

We focused on the hierarchical aspect of the obtained data, which includes aggregates of differing regional extent. Given that we had data for large burial sites, we could proceed hierarchically and compare the results generated by seriations of various hierarchical levels and aggregates. We analyzed the data at the following levels:

(a) individual burial sites, where we could expect minimum influence of regional diversity and burials from a single community for a period of time;



Fig. 3. Scatter plot visualizing relationship between the order of Moravian MCWC cases obtained from BROWER – KILE 1988 seriation method and values of Correspondence axis 1 for the same sample

- (b) a single archaeological culture/cultural tradition in a defined micro-region (i.e. Moravia), where we could expect the same tradition, but also some differences between geographical regions;
- (c) a single archaeological culture/cultural tradition in a broader region (in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin), where a similar tradition can be expected, but a greater influence of geographical differences;
- (d) several cultural traditions of the Late Eneolithic period in a defined micro-region (i.e. Moravia), where we are possibly starting to see not only distinct regional variability, but also fundamental differences in artifact sequences;
- (e) a broader approach with several Late Eneolithic cultural traditions in the wider region (in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin, where we are possibly starting to see not only distinct regional variability, but also fundamental differences in artifact sequences.

First we selected two Moravian MCWC sites, Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá a Levá k Nedvězí (ACO project, unpublished data) and Olomouc-Řepčín 1, Horní nivy (ACO project, unpublished data), then only Nemilany 3 and Řepčín 1, where we analyzed each site separately and also male burials separately. We followed the same procedure at the BBC site Hoštice 1-Za Hanou (MATĚJÍČKOVÁ – DVOŘÁK [eds] 2012) (Hoštice 1 from here on), where we could analyze both sexes independently. In the Protoúnětice culture (PÚC) we analyzed Pavlov-Horní pole (PEŠKA 2009) separately.

In the second step, we performed seriation of all MCWC cases in Moravia. We included the other cases from this region with the two mentioned above. We did the same with BBC and PÚC in Moravia.

In the third step, we incorporated chronologically corresponding periods from Bohemia, the Carpathian Basin and Lower Austria into the three independent seriation sequences from the three Moravian cultures. MCWC, CWC from Bohemia, SOV and MKC were categorized with the "CWC sphere". The Moravian BBC sites were combined with CSE from the Carpathian Basin and BBC sites from other regions were all combined into the "BBC sphere". The PÚC Moravian sites were grouped with NgC 1, NgC 2 and PIT into the "PÚC sphere". These working "spheres" are understood as working tools created for broader spatial-temporal comparisons of three Moravian cultures and not a statement about genetic relationships (excepting the BBC sphere).

In the next step, we analyzed all three Moravian cultures (MCWC, BBC, PUC) together. We analyzed Carpathian Basin cultures in a similar fashion.

In the last step, we combined all of the cultures in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin (MCWC, BBC, PÚC, SOV, MKC, CSE, NGC1, NGC2 and PIT) together.

#### Comparison of the variable order

We recorded the order of individual objects (variables) after each seriation. Given that each seriation has a different number of cases, we converted these sequences (whole numbers) into decimal places expressing the percentual position of a given object in relation to the overall number of objects. As an example, if an object was fifth out of a total of 10 objects, it would be given a value of 50 (after conversion). We compared the standardized sequence of variables from individual seriations using the Spearman correlation coefficient *(rho)*. When comparing the results of the various seriations we paid attention to differences in placement of Nagyrév jugs between different analyses.

#### Comparison with absolute dates

The succession of cases (burials) from individual seriations were compared using the Spearman correlation coefficient *(rho)* with middle values of calibrated (CalPal 2007 HULU) radiocarbon dates. We had 86 calibrated <sup>14</sup>C dates available to us *(Table 2)*. The available absolute dates were obtained from published literature or unpublished data from the Archaeological Centre, Olomouc. One date from Franzhausen II was kindly made available to us by Daniela Kern from Vienna and we are grateful for this. Absolute dates all originate from evaluated find assemblages, sometimes directly from Nagyrév jugs contexts. Only at Szava, Nagyárpád and Vinkovci-Tržnica, a single absolute date was used which was not associated with a specific context. In cases where a case (grave) had more than one date available, it was used multiple times in the sequence.

#### Results

#### Comparisons within individual sites

#### Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá a Levá k Nedvězí

The sample includes graves from MCWC burial site Olomouc-Nemilany 3 and one case from Olomouc-Nemilany 1. Calibrated age estimates range from  $2560 \pm 50$  BC to  $2270 \pm 50$  BC. There are 22 graves in the database which contain 16 types of objects (variables): AC, B1, B2, CD1, CD2, Ck, G1, L, P, PA1, FHA, OHA, Pf, CuA, CuHr and HaS1. There are 55 recorded presences in the matrix. Sex was determined on the basis of the position of the skeleton (males – right side, females – left side). Anthropological sexing was not available. Ten cases were identified as males, 4 cases as females and in the remaining 8 cases, the position of the skeleton (and thus the sex) could not be determined.

Case	Culture	Case	<sup>14</sup> Ccal	SD	Source
<b>No</b>	MOWO	Oleman Namilar 2 Dec (1 Nada X-( 11 2)		50	
108	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 36	2560	50	unpublished
89	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 2	2540	40	unpublished
579	MCWC	Stříbrnice 1, Lopaty, H 65	2530	40	unpublished
100	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 18	2510	40	unpublished
106	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 28	2540	40	unpublished
98	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 16	2410	50	unpublished
84	MCWC	Olomouc-Slavonín 1, U hvězdárny, H 19	2840	60	unpublished
34	MCWC	Pavlov, H 780/II	1860	80	Peška 2009
33	MCWC	Pavlov, H 780/I	1860	80	Peška 2009
691	SOV	Vinkovci - Tržnica/Hotel, horizont C-2	2300	120	Durman – Obelić 1989
691	SOV	Vinkovci - Tržnica/Hotel, horizont C-2	2270	130	Durman – Obelić 1989
377	CWC	Franzhausen II, H 3419	2760	80	unpublished
90	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 3	2270	50	unpublished
107	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 31	2530	40	unpublished
441	SOV	Szava, Pit 15	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
451	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CXX/α	2375	65	RACZKY et al. 1992
451	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CXX/α	2378	82	RACZKY et al. 1992
609	MCWC	Olomouc-Řepčín 1, Horní nivy, H 18	2380	60	Peška 2010
581	MCWC	Stříbrnice 1, Lopaty, H 74	2430	60	unpublished
437	SOV	Szava, Pit 1	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
442	SOV	Szava, Pit 19	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
438	SOV	Szava, Pit 2	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
440	SOV	Szava, Pit 8	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
31	MCWC	Pavlov, H 5	2430	90	Peška 2009
444	PVU	Zók-Várhegy, Pit 1977/36	2720	110	Primas 1996
444	PVU	Zók-Várhegy, Pit 1977/36	2750	90	Primas 1996
85	MCWC	Olomouc-Slavonín 1, U hvězdárny, H 68	2550	50	unpublished
85	MCWC	Olomouc-Slavonín 1, U hvězdárny, H 68	2610	70	unpublished
460	МКС	Üllő, Pit 3627	2240	90	Kővári – Patay 2005
439	SOV	Szava, Pit 3	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
443	SOV	Szava, Pit 20	2531	51	RACZKY et al. 1992
690	SOV	Vinkovci - Tržnica/Hotel, horizont C-1	2300	120	Durman – Obelić 1989
690	SOV	Vinkovci - Tržnica/Hotel, horizont C-1	2270		Durman – Obelić 1989
401	SOV	Neusiedl am See	2750	90	RUTTKAY 2002
883	MCWC	Olomouc-Nemilany 3, Pravá k Nedvězí, H 21	2564	51	unpublished
448	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CII/α	2375	65	RACZKY <i>et al.</i> 1992
448	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CII/α	2378	82	RACZKY <i>et al.</i> 1992
504	MKC	Battonya-Georgievics-tanya, Pit 1	2360	70	BONDÁR <i>et al.</i> 1992
183	BBC	Tvořihráz I, H 2/91	2360	70	BÁLEK <i>et al.</i> 1999
183	BBC	Tvořihráz I, H 2/91	2160	90	BÁLEK <i>et al.</i> 1999
183	BBC	Tvořihráz I, H 2/91	2200	70	BÁLEK <i>et al.</i> 1999
183	BBC	Tvořihráz I, H 2/91	2550	60	BÁLEK <i>et al.</i> 1999
183	BBC	Tvořihráz I, H 2/91	2330	90	BÁLEK <i>et al.</i> 1999
447	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit C/β	2320	65	RACZKY <i>et al.</i> 1999
44/	30 V	inagyaipau, Fit C/p	2313	03	KAUZKY <i>el ul.</i> 1992

*Table 2. List of calibrated* <sup>14</sup>C *data available and used in the analysis – Case No: number of the case (grave or object) in the database (incidence matrix); Culture: archaeological culture or culture sphere; Case: identification of grave/object;* <sup>14</sup>Ccal: average <sup>14</sup>C value; SD: standard deviation; Source: source of the date/reference

Case No	Culture	Case	<sup>14</sup> Ccal	SD	Source
447	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit C/β	2378	82	RACZKY et al. 1992
450	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CXII/α	2375	65	RACZKY et al. 1992
450	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CXII/α	2378	82	RACZKY et al. 1992
449	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CIII/α	2380	70	RACZKY et al. 1992
449	SOV	Nagyárpád, Pit CIII/α	2380	80	RACZKY et al. 1992
144	BBC	Záhlinice I, H 47/89	2326	85	Peška 2012
760	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 863	2350	70	Peška 2012
145	BBC	Záhlinice I, H 48/89	2423	63	Peška 2012
138	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 570/84	2260	60	Peška 2009
138	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 570/84	2390	80	Peška 2009
138	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 570/84	2270	100	Peška 2009
723	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 826	2280	70	Peška 2012
137	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 501/83	1460	30	Peška 2009
137	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 501/83	2520	70	Peška 2009
845	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 947	2330	80	Peška 2012
227	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 7	2120	70	Peška 2009
227	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 7	2310	100	Peška 2009
834	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 937	2390	60	Peška 2012
734	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 837	2380	60	Peška 2012
235	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 346	1960	40	Peška 2009
235	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 346	2160	90	Peška 2009
136	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 500/83	2300	70	Peška 2009
136	BBC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 500/83	2390	80	Peška 2009
496	PIT	Kiskundorozsma, H 56	2170	40	BENDE – LŐRINCZY 2002
717	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 820	2240	60	Peška 2012
238	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 353	2120	60	Peška 2009
238	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 353	2280	100	Peška 2009
494	PIT	Kiskundorozsma, H 15	1940	70	BENDE – LŐRINCZY 2002
494	PIT	Kiskundorozsma, H 15	1815	5	BENDE – LŐRINCZY 2002
495	PIT	Kiskundorozsma, H 55	2060	70	Bende – Lőrinczy 2002
224	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 2	2210	60	Peška 2009
224	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 2	2310	90	Peška 2009
241	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 489	2100	50	Peška 2009
241	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 489	2050	80	Peška 2009
226	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 6	2090	50	Peška 2009
226	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 6	1800	70	Peška 2009
226	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 6	2140	70	Peška 2009
768	BBC	Hoštice 1, H 871	2340	80	Peška 2012
225	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 4	2250	70	Peška 2009
225	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 4	2330	90	Peška 2009
236	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 350	2060	60	Peška 2009
236	PUC	Pavlov, Horní pole, H 350	2180	90	Peška 2009


Fig. 4. Order obtained from BK seriation of all cases from the site Nemilany 3 – ON3: Olomouc-Nemilany 3, H: grave no.



Fig. 5. Order of all cases from the site Nemilany 3 by sex – F: females; N: unknown sex; M: males (sex was determined on the basis of the position of the skeleton; males: right side, females: left side)

The result of the BK seriation method was a sequence with the criterion 0.555, which means that after seriation the column of presences (i.e. positions labeled as 1), blank spaces near the diagonal are filled with ca. 45% of zeroes, i.e. it is relatively inhomogeneous, especially in the lower part (*Fig. 4*). Jug CD1 is at the left end of the sequence, while CD2 is in the right half of the sequence. All copper decorations are clustered at one end of the sequence. The left half of the sequence is more compact than the right half. The correlation coefficient of the numerically expressed sequence with middle values of calibrated absolute <sup>14</sup>C dates have resulted in *rho* = -0.40, but the correlation is not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

Males are distributed relatively regularly in the sample (*Fig. 5*), but 3 out of 4 females are clustered at the end of the sequence (association with decorations) and the remaining female is at the beginning of the sequence. More of the indeterminable individuals are in the first half of the sequence.

In the next step we repeated the procedure, but only with cases identified as males. The result of the BK seriation (*Fig. 6*) is a sequence with criterion 0.703, which means that the proportion of zeroes replacing the blank spaces around the diagonal are reduced to *ca.* 30%, especially in the lower section. Jugs CD1 and CD2 are in the first half of the sequence. The correlation coefficient of the numerically expressed sequence with middle values of calibrated absolute <sup>14</sup>C dates (only 6 values) is almost zero (*rho* = 0.2, p > 0.05).



*Fig. 6. Seriation BK order of male graves from the site Nemilany 3 – ON3: Olomouc-Nemilany 3; H: grave no.* 



Fig. 7. Order obtained from BK seriation of all cases from the site Olomouc-Řepčín 1 – OR: Olomouc-Řepčín 1; H: grave no.



Fig. 8. Order of all cases from the site Olomouc-Řepčín 1 divided by sex – F: females; N: unknown sex; M: males (sex was determined on the basis of the position of the skeleton; males: right side; females: left side)

## Olomouc-Řepčín 1, Horní nivy

The sample includes graves from MCWC burial site Olomouc-Řepčín 1, Horní nivy. There are 20 graves in the database which contain 16 types of objects (descriptors): AC, B1, CD1, CD2, CD3, F1, F2, F12, Hm, HMK, H5, K1, P, SN, PA2, PA6, OHA, CuHr, and CuO. There are 75 recorded presences (numerals 1 in the matrix).

The test criterion in this case is 0.652, which means that after seriation, another ca. 35% of zeroes were inserted into the blank spaces around the diagonal forming a relatively wide, black-and-white chequered band (*Fig. 7*). Distribution by sex is depicted in *Figure 8*.

CD1 and CD2 again occur in the first half of the sequence, F2, F12 and F1 around the halfway mark and CD3 closer to the right end. Copper objects are at the end of the sequence again, in association with two females at the end of the sequence. This sequence cannot be compared to absolute dates because these are not available.

Seriation criterion for six independently assessed male graves is 0.871, but with such a small number, chance can have a major effect (similarly to the previous burial site). The position of jugs CD1, CD2 and CD3 remained the same, but F1 has moved in front of F2 (*Fig. 9*). (Note: Since cases OR\_H04 and OR\_H06 have with the remaining four cases no artifact in common, they might be equally ordered in the opposite side of the sequence.)



Fig. 9. Order obtained from BK seriation of male graves from the site Olomouc-Řepčín 1 – OR: Olomouc-Řepčín 1; H: grave no.

## Comparison of the two sites

We presented the position of individual variables in their (horizontal) numerical sequence in each seriation and the correlation coefficient was used to correlate the sequences of both sites (Nemilany 3 vs. Řepčín 1). The relative sequences of whole samples correlate at a statistically significant level (rho = 0.96, p < 0.001), while male-only sequences do not correlate (rho = -0.03, p > 0.05). At individual sites, the overall seriation correlates with the seriation for males at Nemilany 3 (rho = 0.83, p < 0.05), but not at Řepčín (rho = 0.31, p > 0.05).

The seriation sequences for both burial sites concur in battle axes being on one side and metal decorations on the other. It is very likely that the seriation is affected by sex to a certain extent, which is more apparent at Nemilany 3.

## Assessment of MCWC in the Moravian context

In the next step we combined all Moravian cases classified as MCWC. This sample includes 199 graves from MCWC burial sites. The total number of object types (variables) in these graves is 55: AC, B1, B2, CD1, CD2, CD3, Ck, D, Dh, EN, F1, F2, F12, F31, F5, G1, GB2, Hf, Hm, HMK, H3, H5, HGe, K1, K2, L, LH1, LH2, P, Ph, SN, U, UA, dopH, ripH, PA1, PA2, PA3, PA4, PA6, PA7, FHA, SHA, OHA, Pf, KPI3, EZ, Cu/Auplate, CuA, CuHr, CuO, HaS1, HaS2, CuM, and CuDg3. A total of 621 presences were recorded in the matrix.

Sixty-nine cases were identified as males, 39 cases as females, 93 were unidentified or unidentifiable and in the remaining 3 cases, the anthropological and archaeological assessments were in contradiction.

The seriation criterion is only 0.227, which means that after seriation another ca. 77% of absences were inserted into the blank spaces around the diagonal, which applies to the entire sequence from beginning to end. It follows from the sex category graphs (red – females, blue – males, grey – other) in the first column of the seriation scatterplot (see above), that the sexes occur throughout the whole sequence, but the sequence is distributed unevenly for each sex (*Figs 10–11*).<sup>2</sup>

In regards to the Nagyrév jugs in question, CDs are on one side of the sequence:

CD1 is at the left end of the sequence (position 3);

CD2 is approximately in the middle (position 27);

CD3 is even further along (position 40).

Then follow jugs F: F1 (position 41 – immediately beside CD3) F31 (position 42); F2 (position 47); F12 (position 48).

Calibrated dates range from  $2840 \pm 60$  BC to  $1860 \pm 80$  BC. The sequence of the seriation correlates at a significant level with absolute dates and the correlation coefficient (*rho* = -0.83, p < 0.05) is greater than at Nemilany 3 separately. When we remove apparent outliers (2 dates  $1860 \pm 80$  BC, Pavlov, H 780/I and H 780/II, case 33 and 34), which are younger by a whole range of the remaining MCWC values,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In this graph (*Fig. 10*) (and several others in this article), the number of cases reached the point at which markings of rows (graves) and columns (artefacts) cease to be easily legible. If any reader is interested in the detailed position of particular cases and variables in relative sequences, please do not hesitate to contact the authors: we are happy to send on request the charts in full resolution.



Fig. 10. Order obtained from BK seriation of all MCWC cases from Moravia. The two leftmost columns indicate sex (red: females; blue: males; grey: unknown) and position of cases from Olomouc-Nemilany 3 and Olomouc-Řepčín 1



Fig. 11. Order of all MCWC cases from Moravia divided by sex – M: males; N: unknown sex; F: females; C: contradictory (C – position of skeleton in contradiction with morphologically estimated sex according to the skeleton)



Fig. 12. Orders obtained from BK seriation of MCWC sample from Moravia for males (left) and females (right) separately

the correlation BK seriation sequence becomes weaker and loses statistical significance (rho = -0.49, p > 0.05).

When we included only male graves in the seriation (*Fig. 12*), we categorized 69 cases and 40 variables and there were 239 presences in the matrix. The seriation criterion increased to 0.323, which is not a major change to seriation with all cases included and can be a result of a smaller number of cases and variables. Eleven cases remained in the matrix and its relationship with the seriation sequence was weak and not statistically significant (*rho* = -0.13, p > 0.05).

The sequence of the Nagyrév jugs is the following (out of 40):

CD1 is at the left end (position 5); CD2 is approx. in the middle (position 19); F1 (position 25); CD3 (position 30) switched position with F1; F12 (position 31); F2 (position 32); F31 (position 38).

We followed the same procedure for female graves (*Fig. 12*). There was a total of 34 cases with 32 variables and 101 presences. The seriation criterion was greater than for the male graves with a value of 0.433, but the number is still low. In regards to the Nagyrév jugs, they are in the following sequence (out of 32):

CD1 is at the left end of the sequence (position 8);

CD2 is approximately in the middle (position 19);

F31 (position 21);

F1 (position 28);

CD jugs remain in a similar position (they moved further relative to males), but F31 and F1 switched their positions. Only three absolute dates remained in the matrix so calculating the correlation coefficient would be meaningless.

# Combined seriation of MCWC assemblages and chronologically corresponding cultures in the Carpathian Basin

After the preceding analysis we performed a new BK seriation using a sequence of all the abovementioned cultures (MCWC-CWC-MKC-SOV) as a representation of a broader Late Eneolithic/Early Bronze complex in the Middle Danube region. The data contained 303 cases, 64 variables and a total of 879 presences.

In the multicoloured distribution plot of values (*Fig. 13*), we can see that MCWC dominates in the upper/left part of the sequence and the Carpathian Basin cultures are at the opposite end, although both categories overlap considerably. Making a judgment based on the relative chronology, the two groups systematically differ in their mean relative sequences. Sex is probably not having a major effect (although it may be causing the unevenness), so it may be social differences (?). The two most likely factors are regional differences (in space) and time.

Calibrated dates (a total of 24 values) range from  $2840 \pm 60$  BC to  $1860 \pm 80$  BC (the range is defined by the Moravian dates because it is the same dates used for seriation in Moravia). The seriation sequence shows a relatively strong association with absolute dates, but the correlation is not statistically significant (*rho* = -0.47, *p* > 0.05). If we remove the apparent outliers (2 dates  $1860 \pm 80$  BC, Pavlov, H 780/I and H 780/II), then the values range from  $2840 \pm 60$  BC to  $2240 \pm 90$  BC and the correlation with BK seriation sequence becomes statistically significant (*rho* = -0.50, *p* < 0.05). Nonparametric



Fig. 13. Combined BK seriation of MCWC assemblages and chronologically corresponding cultures in the Carpathian Basin (CWC sphere)

Mann-Whitney U-test of differences rejected the null hypothesis of equality of middle values (n1 = 15, n2 = 7, exact p = 0.048) of absolute dates in Bohemia and Moravia (CWC combined with MCWC) and absolute dates in the Carpathian Basin (MKC combined with SOV). Absolute dates (means from calibrations) from the Carpathian Basin, which were available to us, are systematically younger than Moravian and Bohemian dates. Overall, it appears that approximately a half of the seriation sequence variance can be explained by absolute dates, i.e. time. A substantial part of the variance still remains to be explained by other factors. Part of the sequence may also be explained by regional differences.

In regards to the incidence of Nagyrév jugs, there is a following sequence (out of 64):

CD1 is in the left/upper section (position 4);

CD2 is near the beginning in the second half (position 20);

CD3 (position 33);

F2 (position 39);

F31 immediately after F2 (position 40);

F1 (position 47);

F12 (position 49).

## **Bell Beaker culture**

## Sites in the Hoštice cadaster

The largest sample with dates is a group of sites in the cadaster of Hoštice, district Vyškov (MATĚJÍČKOVÁ – DVOŘÁK 2012). Hoštice 1-Za Hanou site and Hoštice 4-Sečné louky site were included in the database. There is a total of 142 cases (65 males, 52 females and 25 indetermined) with 36 variables, and a total of 393 presences in the matrix.

The seriation criterion is 0.319, the distribution of presences gradually widens until it covers most of the lower section with object presences (*Fig. 14*). Males and females appear throughout the sequence, but males dominate in the first half and females dominate in the second half. Thus it can be surmised that the sequence is partly influenced by sex differences. Nonparametric Mann-Whitney test has not rejected the equality of means for males (median order = 66) and females (median order = 88.5).

Calibrated dates (7 values) range from  $2390 \pm 80$  BC to  $2240 \pm 60$  BC (range of ca. 150 years). The correlation between seriation sequence and absolute dates is not statistically significant (*rho* = 0.07, p > 0.05).

In regards to the occurrence of Nagyrév jugs, the only type present is F1 (position 4, one presence in the matrix – Hoštice 1, H 937).

After selecting males (*Fig. 15*) the assemblage numbered 65 cases, 28 variables and 176 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.417. The F1 type case (position 8) was still in the first half of the sequence. There were only 3 absolute dates (maximum range of the means is 40 years), which we did not correlate with the relative sequence.

After selecting females (*Fig. 15*) the assemblage numbered 52 cases, 26 variables and 167 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.448. There were only 4 absolute dates (maximum range of the means is 40 years), which we did not correlate with the relative sequence.

BBC in the entire Moravian territory

The next step was the seriation of BBC cases from all of Moravia. The database numbered 287 cases (106 males, 97 females and 84 undetermined) with 54 variables and 740 presences in the matrix.



Fig. 14. Order of cases from the cadaster of Hoštice (Hoštice 1-Za Hanou site and Hoštice 4-Sečné louky (sex highlighted: females: red; males: blue; unknown sex: grey)



Fig. 15. Orders obtained from BK seriation of BBC sample from Hostice sites for males (left) and females (right) separately

The seriation criterion was 0.228 and the seriation distribution of presences around the diagonal is very wide (*Fig. 16*). In the depiction by sex, there is an apparent imbalance in sex representation in every part of the graph. Although the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test did not reject the equality of sequence means in the entire seriation, after dividing into sections, the differences are significant. For example, after the first 90 cases in the first half, males dominate at a statistically significant level and females dominate in the second half; overall, males are more on the edges and females dominate in the middle. Thus sex has a major influence on the sequencing in BBC.

Nagyrév jugs have the following sequence: CD3 (position 2), CD2 (position 31), F1 (position 38), F4 (position 51) a F5 (position 53).

There was a total of 19 dates available, ranging from  $2550 \pm 60$  BC to  $1460 \pm 30$  BC (range *ca.* 1090 years). Some cases have several dates and have been used more than once (i.e. more than one absolute date for a particular position). The youngest date is evidently an outlier ( $1460 \pm 30$  BC, No. 137, site Pavlov, Horní pole, H 501/83; DVOŘÁK *et al.* 1996), because it is almost 900 years younger than the median of the other values and it is about two maximum ranges away from all the other values. It appears to be an anomaly so we excluded it. Even after this value was excluded (as well as before the exclusion of this outlier), the seriation sequence does not correlate (rho = -0.063, p > 0.05) with the absolute dates.

After a separate seriation (*Fig. 17*) of male cases (39 variables, 106 cases, a total of 270 presences) two areas of overlap appeared, the criterion was 0.290, which is a slight improvement compared to the overall seriation. In regards to the jugs in question, CD3 (position 8) is closer to the beginning of the sequence, F1 is approximately in the middle (position 23) and CD2 is almost at the end (position 34).

Position 8 of absolute dates correlates with the BK sequence negatively, but not at a statistically significant level (rho = -0.48, p > 0.05).



Fig. 16. Orders obtained from BK seriation of BBC sample from all of Moravia (sex highlighted: females: red, males: blue, unknown sex: grey)



Fig. 17. Orders obtained from BK seriation of BBC sample from all of Moravia for males (left) and females (right) separately

After a separate seriation (*Fig. 17*) of female cases (38 variables, 97 cases, a total of 280 presences) two areas of overlap appeared, the criterion was 0.286, which is similar to males. In regards to the jugs in question, F1 is in the first half closer to the middle (position 14) and CD2 is approximately at the beginning of the second half of the sequence (position 20), so the pattern is opposite to males (provided that the time direction of the seriation is the same).

A sequence of 8 absolute dates (7 after the exclusion of the outlier) correlates slightly positively with the BK sequence, but not at a statistically significant level (rho = 0.21, p > 0.05). The female sequence cannot be simply reversed (the direction of seriation is arbitrary). It is different in several respects, but not simply the opposite.



Fig. 18. Orders obtained from BK seriation of all BBC cases in Moravia and Lower Austria and the Csepel group in the Carpathian Basin (BBC sphere), BBC and Csepel groups are highlighted

## **BBC** sphere seriation in the Middle Danube region

The last seriation (*Fig. 18*) represents all BBC cases in Moravia and Lower Austria and the BBC Csepel group in the Carpathian Basin. There was a total of 60 variables and 355 cases, which represents 855 presences. The seriation criterion decreased to 0.194.

The Nagyrév jugs sequence is as follows (out of 60): F2 (position 1, but it can be at the opposite end because it is not associated with any other case), CD3 (position 3), CD2 (position 37), F12 (position 43), F1 (position 44), F4 (position 57), F5 (position 59).

Case sequence with absolute dates constitutes the same aggregate as the aggregate of absolute dates from Moravia only. After seriation of the entire BBC sphere, the sequence becomes very similar to the BBC Moravian sequence (rho = 0.95, p < 0.00001). As in Moravia, the obtained BK sequence for the entire set of data for the Middle Danube region does not correlate whatsoever with absolute dates (rho = -0.05, p > 0.05).



Fig. 19. Order obtained from BK seriation of all cases from the site Pavlov-Horní Pole

# **Protoúnětice culture**

The data for the sex of individuals in the Protoúnětice culture was inadequate so we did not differentiate between the sexes.

## Pavlov-Horní pole

The first seriation we completed was for the burial site Pavlov-Horní Pole. There were 20 variables, 18 cases and 58 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.509 (*Fig. 19*).

The Nagyrév jug sequence cannot be stipulated because none of the defined types were present.

The sequence of cases with absolute dates contains 17 values and some of the presences have more than one date attached, with 8 graves having been dated. After excluding outliers (1800 BC, H2) we obtained a relatively high correlation coefficient, which is not statistically significant (rho = -0.49, p > 0.05), but there is a tendency for older cases to be ranked lower.



Fig. 20. Order obtained from BK seriation of all PÚC cases in Moravia, Pavlov-Horní Pole highlighted

## Protoúnětice culture seriation in Moravia

We also computed seriation of all PÚC cases in Moravia and adjacent regions in Lower Austria. There were 44 variables, 123 cases and 330 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.226 (*Fig. 20*).

Burial site Pavlov-Horní Pole is distributed throughout the sequence, except for the beginning and the end. The sequence of Nagyrév jugs cannot be stipulated because the sequence contains only F4 near the end of one sequence.

Absolute dates were available only for Pavlov-Horní Pole, so the absolute dates are the same but are being applied to a different sequence. The correlation coefficient is almost zero (rho = -0.07, p > 0.05). If the chronological sequence does possess a chronological dimension, it is not possible to determine its direction.

# Seriation of Protoúnětice culture and Early Bronze Age cultures in the Carpathian Basin

We also computed a seriation of all Late Eneolithic/Early Bronze Age cultures in the Middle Danube region. Included cultures were PÚC, NGC1, NGC2 and PIT. There were 50 variables, 158 cases and 409 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.237 (*Fig. 21*).

Nagyrév culture cases 1 and 2 are clustered mostly at one end of the sequence (they are clearly associated with F4, F32, F2, F12), PIT cultures and cases appear at the opposite end with PÚC also present.

Twenty absolute dates were available (after excluding outliers H2 from H2 Pavlov-Horní Pole). The correlation coefficient of the absolute date sequence was almost zero (rho = -0.06, p > 0.05). If the chronological sequence does possess a chronological dimension, it is not possible to determine its direction.

# Seriation of all cultures in Moravia

We computed the seriation of all Moravian cultures together. Included cultures were MCWC, BBC and PÚC. There were 89 variables, 605 cases and 1628 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.175 (*Fig. 22*).

Nagyrév jugs are ordered in the following sequence (out of 89): CD1 (position 4), F12 (position 13), CD2 (position 18), F2 (position 20), CD3 (position 21), F1 (position 26), F31 (position 29), F5 (position 63) and F4 (position 81).

There were 55 absolute dates available. After excluding three outliers mentioned above in the context of individual cultures, 52 absolute dates remained. The correlation coefficient for the absolute date sequence is high (rho = -0.74, p < 0.00001). It is evident that seriation sequenced these three cultures in the only possible way with BBC in the middle and as the mean values of the absolute dates (in individual cultures) differ, a strong dependence between the values in the relative sequence and absolute date values has developed. Within the individual cultures separately, the sequences do not correlate with the absolute dates.

## Seriation of all Carpathian Basin cultures

We computed the seriation of all cultures in the Carpathian Basin. The cultures included are LVU, MKC, SOV, CSE, BBC, NGC I, NGC II, PIT. There were 68 variables, 173 cases and 424 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.2327 (*Fig. 23*).



Fig. 21. Order obtained from BK seriation of Protoúnětice culture and Early Bronze Age cultures in the Carpathian Basin (PÚC sphere)



Fig. 22. Order obtained from BK seriation of three Late Eneolithic cultures from Moravia: MCWC, BBC and PÚC



Fig. 23. Order obtained from BK seriation of cases from Carpathian Basin – all available cases (left); cases with two or more presences only (right)

The relationships between the three main cultural spheres (CWC, BBC, Early Bronze Age) appear to be far more complex than in Moravia. A similar trend appears: in the first half of the seriation, CWC dominates; in the second half, the BBC dominates, PIT at the end, but there is much more overlap between CWC and BBC spheres, and NGC2 appears at the very beginning. Nagyrév jugs occur only in the first part of the sequence (68): F32 (position 2), F4 (position 3), F1 (position 6), F31 (position 7), F5 (position 9).

Twenty-five absolute dates were available and the sequence correlation coefficient with middle values of the absolute dates is relatively high (rho = -0.57, p = 0.0032).

The pilot date sequence could have been influenced by a greater number of cases with one presence and the focus on cases with Nagyrév jugs (compared to Moravia), so we also conducted the seriation only with cases that had two or more presences. There were 68 variables, 101 cases and 532 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.2338 (*Fig. 23*). This step has simplified the situation. NGC2 is still positioned at the beginning of the sequence and the overlap of CWC and BBC spheres still remains. It appears that MKC is mostly positioned in the contact area of the CWC and BBC spheres.

## Combined seriation of all Moravian and Carpathian Basin cultures

We computed a seriation of all Moravian and Carpathian Basin cultures. The cultures included are LVU, MCWC, CWC, BBC, PÚC, SOV, MKC, NgC 1, NgC 2 and PIT. There was a total of 95 variables, 832 cases and 2163 presences. The seriation criterion was 0.1513 (*Fig. 24*).

Nagyrév jugs are ordered in this sequence (out of 95): CD1 (position 2), F31 (position 12), F2 (position 17), CD3 (position 18), CD2 (position 18), F4 (position 26), F1 (position 34), F12 (position 37) and F32 (position 46).



Fig. 24. Order obtained from BK seriation of all cases from Moravia and Carpathian Basin combined

Eighty-six absolute dates were available (*Fig. 22*) and after excluding three outliers (Pavlov, H 780/I, 1860 BC; Pavlov H 780/II 1860 BC, and Pavlov-Horní pole, H 501/83, 1460 BC), which were mentioned above in the context of individual cultures, 83 absolute dates remained. The correlation coefficient for the sequence of middle values of absolute dates was high (rho = -0.69, p < 0.00001). It is noteworthy that even with a greater number of cases in the seriation and greater numbers of absolute dates (than in Moravia only), the overall correlation is lower.

## Comparison of individual seriation sequences

The resultant table *(Table 3* and *4)* shows correlations in sequences of variables (objects) between all seriations. Some correlations could not be calculated because the aggregates being compared did not share common objects (e.g., Řepčín and Hoštice after separating the sexes), others (grey in the table) are based on less than five cases (objects) so they are very susceptible to chance. Most strong correlations were recorded in the context of specific cultural spheres. Correlations are not strong between the various cultural spheres. For example, of all BBC sphere seriation sequences and all CWC sphere seriation

Spearman correlation coefficients	MCWC_Nemilany_all	MCWC_Nemilany_males	MCWC_Repcin_all	MCWC_Repcin_males	MCWC_Moravia_all	MCWC_Moravia_males	MCWC_Moravia_females	CWC_sphere_Central_Europe_all	BBC_Hostice_all	BBC_Hostice_males	BBC_Hostice_females	BBC_Moravia_all	BBC_Moravia_males	BBC_Moravia_females	BBC_sphere_Central Europe_all	PUC_Pavlov_all	PUC_Moravia_all	PUC_sphere_Central_Europe_all	Late_Eneolithic_Moravia_all	Late_Eneolithic_Carpathian_Basin_all	Late_Eneolithic_Carpathian_Basin_selection	Late_Eneolithic_Central_Europe_all
MCWC_Nemilany_all																						
MCWC_Nemilany_males	0,56																					
MCWC_Repcin_all	0,96	0,60																				
MCWC_Repcin_males	0,31	0,43	0,31																			
MCWC_Moravia_all	0,80	0,05	0,58	0,23																		
MCWC_Moravia_males	0,42	0,45	0,44	0,18	0,69																	
MCWC_Moravia_females	0,97	0,71	0,66	-0,13	0,63	0,43																
"CWC_sphere"_Central_Europe_all	0,66	-0,12	0,56	0,25	0,86	0,57	0,42															
BBC_Hostice_all	-0,50	0,30	0,50	0,50	-0,29	-0,06	0,20	-0,49														
BBC_Hostice_males	0,50	-0,50			-0,30	0,03	-0,80	-0,35	0,62	0.00												
BBC_Hostice_females	-0,10	0,00			-0,43	-0,35	-0,36	-0,59	0,74	0,32	0.40											
BBC_Moravia_all	-0,07 -0,31	-0,26 -0.20	0,03 0.03	-0,10	0,22 0.00	0,07 -0.25	-0,10 0.49	0,03 -0.42	0,26 0.59	0,15 0.21	0,49	0.54										
BBC_Moravia_males BBC_Moravia_females	-0,31 0,89	-0,20	-0.80	- <b>0,40</b> 0.20	0,00	-0,25	-0.07	-0,42	0,59	0,21	0,71	0,54	0.42									
BBC_sphere_all	-0,07	-0,00	0.22	0,20	0.06	-0.28	-0.13	-0,01	0,18	0,18	0.34	0.93	0.54	0.35								
PUC_Pavlov_all			0,22	0,25	0.09	-0.80		-0.44	0.24	-0.07	0.45	0.14	-0.26	0.36	0.10							
PUC_Moravia_all	0,20	0.50	-0.20		0,15	0.59	0.23	-0.02	0.06	0.17	0.07	0,10	0,20	0.42	0,26	0.47						
"PUC_sphere"_all	0,66		0.14	0.60	-0.23	0.05	0.26	-0,03	0.23	0.54	-0.04	0.03	0,24	0.42	0,01	0.01	0.50					
Late_Eneolithic_Moravia_all	0,71	0.53	0.76	0.33	0.46	0.56	0.53	0.57	-0.34	-0.29	-0.73	-0.07	-0.44	-0.44	-0.11	-0.40	-0.28	0.12				
Late_Eneolithic_Carpathian_Basin_all	0,14	0,80	0,08	-0,37	-0,28	-0,04	0,20	-0,41	0,30	0,05	0,03	-0,02	0,26	0,10	-0,23	0,40	0,27	0,57	0,16			
Late Eneolithic Carpathian Basin selection	0,17	0,60	0,08	-0,53	-0,26	0,02	0,37	-0,43	0,27	0,15	-0,04	-0,04	0,35	0,17	-0,20	0,37	0,31	0,63	0,14	0,97		
Late_Eneolithic_Central_Europe_all	0,71	0,62	0,64	0,30	0,39	0,51	0,51	0,51	-0,17	-0,10	-0,49	-0,44	-0,34	-0,24	-0,45	-0,24	-0,21	0,28	0,89	0,41	0,41	

Table 3. Spearman correlations between all analysed BK relative orders— ---: insufficient numerical conditions (less than 3 cases); grey: insufficient numerical conditions (less than 5 cases); red bold: statistically significant correlation (at 0.05 level)

	CWC	BBC	PUC
CWC	0,48	-0,10	0,13
BBC	-0,10	0,44	0,17
PUC	0,13	0,17	0,32

 Table 4. Average Spearman correlations between all analysed BK relative orders, simplification (through averaging all correlation coefficients) of the Table 3

sequences (a total of 49), only one statistically significant correlation was recorded (MCWC\_Nemilany\_ all vs. BBC\_Moravia\_females), but it was based on only 7 cases. This means that sequences for the same objects in different cultural spheres do not relate to each other. The following table presents middle values of correlation coefficients within and between spheres.

In every cultural sphere the relations between objects (relative orders) are completely different. It is interesting that Moravian only sequences and the overall sequences (Moravia together with the Carpathian Basin) correlate strongly, in particular the BBC and PÚC, whereas the constituent sequences at individual sites do not always correlate with sequences of larger aggregates. For example, the Pavlov sequence correlates with the Moravian PÚC sequence, but there is very little correlation with the PÚC sphere (on the basis of available data) from the entire region including the Carpathian Basin (groups PÚC, NgC 1, NgC 2, PIT). A similar situation exists between sequences from Hoštice and the BBC sphere sequence. In the CWC we do not observe this at either of the two burial sites (Nemilany 3 and Řepčín 1 strongly correlate with the CWC sphere sequence). We can see from the correlations of the CWC group aggregates that major differences exist between the whole group sequence and selected male burials. Male sequences from both burial sites do not correlate with any other groups, and in all of Moravia correlating the male sequence with the overall CWC group sequence produces a correlation coefficient smaller by one-third, than in sequences where sexes are not analyzed separately.

The size of the aggregate and sex have a major effect on the overall sequence. In smaller aggregates with a smaller number of cases and artifacts, the criterion value is distinctly higher, but there is also a greater likelihood of chance for locally specific factors influencing the result. In larger aggregates we have a larger number of cases in the seriation (the situation is described more completely and comprehensively so nothing significant is likely to be missed) and a larger number of absolute dates (and usually a greater time range), but, probably, also a more considerable blurring effect of regional, social and other sources of variability.

There are large differences in how universally the individual Nagyrév jugs occur throughout the entire time period and in the different cultural spheres. From the 22 seriations conducted at various levels, the most universal were CD2 and F1 (actual contact artifacts), which were present in 16 seriations. F1 and F2 were present in 11 seriations, CD1 and CD3 in 10 seriations, F4 and F5 in 8 seriations and F32 in only 3 seriations. In terms of the three cultural spheres, CD2 and F1 are the best candidates for being contact artifacts. Other Nagyrév jugs are contact artifacts to a smaller extent. Jugs F4, F5 a F32 should be considered as either regional or temporally limited types. Thus the concept of Nagyrév jugs as contact artifacts may be due for re-evaluation and due to the great heterogeneity of their occurrence; some types - F4, F5, F32 – should be removed from this category.

In all CWC seriations, the CD1 is oldest, CD2 relatively younger and CD3 the youngest. Only CD1 and CD2 are always relatively older than all jugs in the F category. Sequence CD3 in all F jugs is generally always in the second half of the sequence and their position changes in the various MCWC seriations. The period in question can therefore be roughly divided into "CD1 and CD2 periods" and a "period of other jugs". Sequences F12 and F2 are almost identical. Identical jug types are arranged differently in the BBC compared to the MCWC: CD3 position is reversed to the beginning, CD2 and F1 are near each other at the beginning of the second half of the sequence, but in a different BBC seriation and in a jumbled order, and finally F5 at the end of the sequence of identical objects in the MCWC. So even the positions of Nagyrév jugs express differing sequences of identical objects in the MCWC and BBC, which follows from the overall correlations between seriations. In the PÚC, all jugs (F1, F2, F31, and F4) occur near the beginning of the sequence.

It is also apparent that Nagyrév jugs occur in different parts of the overall sequence of all objects. The most striking comparison is the seriation of the entire Late Eneolithic in Moravia and in the entire Middle Danube region (*Fig. 25*), where Nagyrév jugs occur throughout the entire sequence range, while



Fig. 25. Comparison of relative orders (BK seriation) for Nagyrév jugs in Moravia and Carpathian Basin separately and combined (Central Europe all), seriation order for Carpathian Basin is original (left) and reversed (right)

in the entire assemblage (incl. Carpathian Basin) they only occur in the first half of the sequence. If this really reflects relative temporal relationships between Moravia and the Carpathian Basin, then the Moravian aggregates MCWC and BBC would be chronologically present in only some sections in the development of the Carpathian Basin aggregates. That could mean that Moravia represents the older part of the period, which later spread into the Carpathian Basin. This would mean that the concepts accounting for their genesis, which is usually thought to be in the Carpathian Basin, would need to be re-evaluted. At this stage, it is not clear how this result could be influenced by the differing structure and quantity of data from Moravia and the Carpathian Basin.

## Correlating the relative order with absolute data

The correlation coefficients between absolute dates and seriations from the entire time period and all cultures are high and statistically significant (*Table 5, Fig. 26*). In theory, the conditions are conducive for this to occur: significant time range (more than 1000 years), that is, small amount of error for the range of values, and the total number of dates is the highest for all correlations. It is apparent that the correlation is contingent on the arrangement order of the three main cultural spheres. As the mean values of absolute dates differ by several hundred years, the whole sequence then also correlates with absolute dates. Within the individual culture spheres (as well as cultures in Moravia) the absolute dates do not correlate with the overall sequence (that is, when we attempt to correlate the entire relative sequence

Sample	Culture	Sex	Total variables	Total cases	Presences	Criterion	N abs data	Max-Min	rho	p (rho)
Corded Ware culture										
Nemilany 3	MCWC	all	16	22	55	0.555	8	294	-0.40	>0.05
Nemilany 3	MCWC	males	11	10	26	0.703	6	294	0.2	>0.05
Řepčín 1	MCWC	all	19	20	75	0.652	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Řepčín 1	MCWC	males	14	6	27	0.871	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Moravia	MCWC	all	55	199	621	0.227	14*	570*	-0.49*	>0.05*
Moravia	MCWC	males	40	69	239	0.323	11*	570*	-0.13*	>0.05*
Moravia	MCWC	females	34	32	101	0.433	3	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Central Europe	CWC sphere	all	64	303	879	0.198	22*	600*	-0.50*	<0.05*
Bell Beaker culture										
Hoštice	BBC	all	36	142	393	0.319	7	150	0.071	>0.05
Hoštice	BBC	males	28	65	176	0.417	3	40	n.a.	n.a.
Hoštice	BBC	females	26	52	167	0.448	4	100	-0.40	>0.05
Moravia	BBC	all	54	287	740	0.228	20*	390*	-0.06*	>0.05*
Moravia	BBC	males	39	106	270	0.290	8	130	-0.48	>0.05
Moravia	BBC	females	38	97	280	0.286	7*	280*	0.21*	>0.05*
Central Europe	BBC sphere	all	60	355	855	0.194	20*	390*	-0.05*	>0.05*
Protoúnětice culture										
Pavlov HP	PÚC	all	20	18	58	0.509	16*	370*	-0.49*	>0.05*
Moravia, Lower Austria	PÚC	all	44	123	330	0.226	17*	370*	-0.07*	>0.05*
Central Europe	PÚC sphere	all	50	158	409	0.237	20*	515*	-0.06*	>0.05*
Late Eneolithic/										
Early Bronze Age										
Moravia	CWC, BBC, PÚC	all	89	605	1628	0.175	52*	1040	-0.74*	<0.00001*
Carpathian Basin	All available data, all cultures**	all	68	173	424	0.234	25	935	-0.55	<0.01*
Carpathian Basin	2 and more pres- ences, all cultures**	all	68	101	352	0.234	23	716	-0.53	<0.01*
Central Europe	All available data, all cultures***	all	95	832	2163	0.151	83*	1040	-0.69*	<0.00001*

Table 5. Spearman rank order correlations between relative orders in all tested hierarchical levels (seriation method BK) and calibrated <sup>14</sup>C data – Legend: sample: origin of the data; culture: archaeological culture/entity or group of cultures; total variables: number of descriptors/variables in seriation; total cases: number of cases (graves, contexts) in seriation; presences: total number of presences of variables in incidence matrix; sex: sex of human in grave; criterion: criterion of seriation using BK method; N abs data: number of calibrated <sup>14</sup>C data available; Min-Max: time span (difference between maximum and minimum average value for a given sample); rho: Spearman correlation coefficient (bold: relatively high, red: statistically significant); p (rho): probability level for rho (H0 = no relationship); \*: after discarding outliers; CWC sphere: CWC (Bohemia), MCWC, SOV and MKC; BBC sphere: BBC and CSE; PÚC sphere: PÚC, PIT, NgC 1 and NgC 2; n.a.: not applied or not available; \*\*: CWC, BBC, MCWC, PÚC, LVU, NgC 1, NgC 2, PIT; \*\*\*: whole database, all cultures



Fig. 26. Relationship between relative order (BK method) and average values of calibrated <sup>14</sup>C data – Moravia with outliers (upper left plot); Moravia without outliers (upper right plot); Moravia with trends for each culture separately (lower left plot); all data available from Moravia and other regions without outliers (lower right plot)

with absolute dates in each cultural sphere separately). These results are not included in the correlation table *(Table 5)*, but depicted in *Fig. 26* (linear models in lower left plot).

The individual seriations of smaller aggregates (localities, micro-regions) within the cultural spheres also do not correlate significantly with the absolute dates, except for the CWC sphere sequence. Despite this fact, some values of Spearman correlation coefficient (though insignificant) are numerically comparable to those for the whole sample (aggregates: MCWC Nemilany 3, MCWC Moravia, BBC Hoštice females, BBC Moravia males, PÚC Pavlov). So, here the lack of statistical significance might be just due to relatively smaller sample sizes (number of absolute data) and not due to lack of true relationship. If we were able to acquire additional data in the future and the relatively high correlations would be classified as statistically significant (in the above mentioned aggregates) we could conclude that the relative chronologies (temporal orders of artifacts) from the smaller aggregates are more valid than from the entire time period (i.e. all cultures combined).

Seriation of smaller aggregates (of individual sites and Moravia) has not resulted in high correlations with absolute dates, which could be because the time range for a specific period is shorter and/or the number of dates is lower. Our data originated from more burial sites and regions, did not include status, and for most sites it did not include the sex of the buried individuals. Therefore, the seriation sequence reflects not only relative temporal relationships, but it also reflects (to an unknown extent) social, sex and regional factors. These factors could not be controlled in our raw data. This is partly due to the burial customs in these cultures, e.g., in PÚC the sex of the buried individuals cannot be easily determined on the basis of which body side they were buried on and anthropological assessments are also disputable. When we consider an evaluation based only on the magnitude of the correlation coefficient, a relatively high correlation coefficient (but not statistically significant) in the MCWC was recorded in Nemilany 3 without sex assessments (and without sex assessment in all of Moravia). Seriation sequence for males performed separately for both cases produced a weaker correlation. Contrastingly, in the BBC, seriation for Hoštice 1 as well as for all of Moravia produced the strongest (but still not statistically significant) relationship with absolute dates after analyzing each sex separately. So far, this indirectly indicates that sex assessment is more relevant in BBC than in the MCWC.

#### The relationship between Moravia and the Carpathian Basin

Overall, the results indicate that three Moravian cultures (MCWC, BBC and PÚC) are relatively distinct in relation to each other. Although there is a degree of overlap on the boundaries of the sequences, the overall pattern resembles a situation where one culture ends and another begins. The cultures follow on from each other in a chronological sense and although they share some of their material culture, the artifact context (relationship between different artifacts) is different in each culture. After adding the Carpathian Basin cases (CWC, BBC and PÚC, i.e. Early Bronze Age Carpathian Basin cultures), or the seriation of all Carpathian Basin cultures separately, the inter-cultural boundaries are not as clear and unequivocal as in Moravia (this could be partly because, in comparison to Moravia, it is a larger territory with a smaller number of cases). Comparing Moravia and Carpathian Basin, SOV and MKC have a tendency to be relatively younger than MCWC. At the same time, both SOV and MKC have on average, slightly younger absolute dates in our database than the MCWC, but we are aware of the limited number of absolute dates from the Carpathian Basin. Provided that in the combined seriations (i.e. Moravia and the Carpathian Basin), the Carpathian Basin objects are placed at the end of the CWC group sequence (in seriations with a comparable number of cases from each of the two regions), the differences in the distributions of Nagyrév jugs (in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin) are real, and the detected tendencies (middle values of MKC and SOV absolute dates in the Carpathian Basin are roughly equivalent to those in the Moravian BBC), a possible interpretation is as follows: The MCWC developed

in Moravia, where it was strongly influenced by the incoming BBC. It was either pushed out into the Carpathian Basin, or it ceased to exist and the SOV and MKC concurrently developed in the Carpathian Basin. The NgC appears in this territory at the same time. The origin of the NgC is closely associated with the origin of the PÚC and its reoccupation of Moravia. The Únětice culture then immediately follows (no absolute dates were included in this study). Relatively sharp boundaries between the three Late Eneolithic cultures in Moravia create the impression of a discontinuity in the local development. The association between MCWC and PÚC should be sought in the Carpathian Basin.

## Conclusion

Contextual seriation of finds (including Nagyrév jugs) from the Late Eneolithic/Early Bronze Age time period are mostly originating in Moravia and the Carpathian Basin while comparing the relative sequencing of individual variables with absolute dates indicate that:

- 1. The relative sequences of identical artifacts from separate seriations for the individual cultures in Moravia have very little relationship to each other. The correlations of relative sequences from various hierarchical levels (site, region, several regions) of the same culture or cultural sphere correlate with each other to varying degrees. In terms of the relative closeness (context) of the artifacts present, the cultures are relatively discrete units and similarities between them are much less pronounced than those inside the cultures. The question is to what extent these results reflect circular reasoning (culture = type, dominance of a particular type = proof for existence of a particular culture).
- 2. Significant correlation of the relative sequence in the seriation of all cultures combined with absolute dates is provided only by the overall arrangement order of cultures and the large time range. Within the individual cultures, this sequence is totally unrelated to the absolute dates. Thus the results indicate that the relative artifact sequence is not correct (i.e. the time sequence in which the artifacts actually appeared). Contrastingly, the correlations are often strong (but often not at a statistically significant level due to the small number of cases) between absolute dates of the sequences from individual seriations for specific sites, regions and multiple regions, in individual cultures or cultural spheres. While the numbers of absolute dates are limited, we see a potential in seeking an optimum compromise in the composition of the seriation aggregates, where a sufficient number of absolute dates exists, but the "non-chronological" sources of variability (sex, regional influences, social differences) are restricted.
- 3. Some types of Nagyrév jugs have a "contact potential", i.e. they occur in more than one culture (even more than one region) in a particular time period. This is most relevant only to CD2 and F1 (in terms of inter-cultural contact between MCWC and BBC). Other types are confined to a specific region or time period and can be considered as specific for a particular chrono-cultural segment (CD1, F32, F4, F5). For these reasons we suggest that the concept of Nagyrév jugs needs to be re-evaluated in such a way where the heterogeneous objects are not unequivocally considered as contact objects (probably just in a regional sense).

# Acknowledgements

The study was financially supported by Student Project Grant at Masaryk University, project No. MUNI/A/0988/2009 (Miroslav Králík: Application of shape and image analysis in studies of human biology, 2010–2012). Our great thanks go to Andrea Matějíčková (Ústav archeologické památkové péče Brno, CZ) for providing the primary data of the site Hoštice za Hanou. We thank Ladislav Nejman (The University of Queensland, Australia) for proofreading the English text of the article.

## References

BÁLEK, M. – DVOŘÁK, P. – KOVÁRNÍK, J. – MATĚJÍČKOVÁ, A. 1999
 Pohřebiště kultury zvoncovitých pohárů v Tvořihrázi (okr. Znojmo) – Das Gräberfeld der Glockenbecherkultur in Tvořihráz (Bez. Znojmo). Pravěk NŘ, Supplementum 4, Brno.

## Bondár, M. – D. Matuz, E. – Szabó, J. J. 1998

Rézkori és bronzkori településnyomok Battonya határában – Kupfer- und bronzezeitliche Siedlungsspuren in der Gemarkung von Battonya. *Móra Ferenc Múzeum Évkönyve–Studia Archaeologica* 4 (1998) 7–53.

## BROWER, J. C. - KILE, K. M. 1988

Seriation of an original data matrix as applied to paleoecology. Lethaia 21 (1988) 79-93.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 1978a

Otázka kontinuity v českomoravském mladším eneolitu. *Praehistorica* VII–*Varia archaeologica* 1, Praha 1978, 35–64.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 1978b

Zur Problematik der Beziehungen zwischen Mittel- und Südosteuropa im Jungäneolithikum und Frühbronzezeit. In: Todorova, H. (red.): *Thracia Praehistorica. Supplementum Pulpudeva 3, Semaines philippopolitaines de l'histoire er de la culture thrace Plovdiv, 4–19 octobre 1978.* Sofia 1978, 201–208.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 1981

Das Karpatenbecken und die Schnurkeramik in Böhmen und Mähren. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (Hrsg.): *Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales Symposium 1977, Budapest–Velem.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Intituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 41–48. Taf. 1–9.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 1997

Die südosteuropäischen Elemente in der mitteleuropäischen Schnurkeramik. In: Becker, C.– Dunkelmann, M. L. – Metzner-Nebelsick, C. – Röcher, H. P. – Roeder, M. – Teržan, B. (Hrsg.): *Xpóvoç. Beiträge zur prähistorischen Archäologie zwischen Nord- und Südosteuropa. Festschrift für Bernhard Hänsel.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 1, Espelkamp 1997, 181–186.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 2002

Zu den Beziehungen zwischen Böhmen, Mähren und Karpatenbecken in der Frühbronzezeit. In memoriam R. Kalicz-Schreiber (1929–2001). *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002) 211–220.

## DURMAN, A. – OBELIĆ, B. 1989

Radiocarbon Dating of the Vučedol Culture Complex. Radiocarbon 31(3) (1989) 1003–1009.

# DVOŘÁK, P. – MATĚJÍČKOVÁ, A. – PEŠKA, J. – RAKOVSKÝ, I. 1996

*Gräberfelder der Glockenbecherkultur in Mähren II (Bez. Břeclav): Katalog der Funde.* Mährische archäologische Quellen, Brno–Olomouc.

# ENDRŐDI, A. 1992

Akorabronzkori harangedény kultúra telepe és temetője Szigetszentmiklós határában – The settlement and cemetery of the Bell-Beaker Culture in the district of Szigetszentmiklós. In: Havassy, P. – Selmeczi, L. (eds): *Régészeti kutatások az M0 autópálya nyomvonalán I – Archaeological Researches on the Line of Motorway M0 I.* BTM Műhely 5, Budapest 1992, 83–200.

# ENDRŐDI, A. – PÁSZTOR, E. 2006

Symbolism and traditions in the society of the Bell Beaker–Csepel group. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 131 (2006) 7–25.

# HAMMER, Ø. – HARPER, D. A. T. – RYAN, P. D. 2001

*PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis.* Palaeontologia Electronica 4(1), 9. Available at: http://palaeo-electronica.org/2001\_1/past/issue1\_01.htm

# KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. – KALICZ, N. 1998

Die Somogyvár-Vinkovci-Kultur und die Glockenbecher in Ungarn. In: Fritsch, B. – Maute, M.– Matuschik, I. – Müller, J. – Wolf, C. (Hrsg.): *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm.* Internationale Archäologie–Studia honoraria 3, Espelkamp 1997, 325–347.

# KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. – KALICZ, N. 1999

A Somogyvár-Vinkovci kultúra és a Harangedény-Csepel-csoport Budapest kora bronzkorában – Die Somogyvár-Vinkovci-Kultur und die Glockenbecher in der Frühbronzezeit von Budapest. *Savaria–Pars Archaeologica* 24/3 (1998–1999 [1999]) 83–114.

# KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. – KALICZ, N. 1998–2000

A harangedények szerepe a Budapest környéki kora bronzkor társadalmi viszonyainak megítélésében – The Role of Bell Beakers in Reflecting Social Relations in the Early Bronze Age of Budapest. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 125 (1998–2000) 45–78.

# KŐVÁRI, K. – PATAY, R. 2005

A settlement of the Makó culture at Üllő. New evidence for Early Bronze Age metalworking. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 2005, 83–137.

## KRIŠTUF, P. 2005

Džbány českého eneolitu. Příspěvky k archeologii 2, Plzeň 2005, 69-126.

## KULCSÁR, G. 2002

Die Makó-Kosihy-Čaka Kultur im Spiegel einiger Bestattungen. Antaeus 25 (2002) 441-475.

# KULCSÁR, G. 2009

The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin. The Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and the Somogyvár-Vinkovci Cultures in Hungary. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest.

# MATĚJÍČKOVÁ, A. – DVOŘÁK, P. (eds) 2012

*Pohřebiště z období zvoncovitých pohárů na trase dálnice D1 Vyškov–Mořice*. Pravěk Supplementum 24, Brno.

# NEUSTUPNÝ, E. 2007

Metoda archeologie. Plzeň.

# Peška, J. 2008

*Protoúnětické pohřebiště z Pavlova a jeho pozice na prahu doby bronzové – Proto-Únětice Cemetery from Pavlov and its Position on the Beginning of the Bronze Age.* Unpublished dissertation. Olomouc.

## Peška, J. 2009

Protoúnětické pohřebiště z Pavlova – Proto-Únětice Cemetery from Pavlov. Olomouc.

# Peška, J. 2010

Kultura se šňůrovou keramikou na Moravě v kontrapozici radiokarbonového datování. In: Csopek, S. – Kadrow, S. (eds): *Mente et rutro. Studia archeologica Johanni Machnik viro doctissimo octogesimo vitae ab amicis, collegis et discipulis oblata.* Rzeszów 2010, 247–273.

# Peška, J. 2012

Absolutní datování hrobů z období KZP z Hoštic I a ze Záhlinic I. In: Matějíčková, A. – Dvořák, P. (eds): *Pohřebiště z období kultury zvoncovitých pohárů na trase dálnice D l v úseku Vyškov – Mořice*. Pravěk Supplementum 24, Brno 2012, 153–166.

# PRIMAS, M. 1996

*Velika Gruda I. Hügelgräber des frühen 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. im Adriagebiet – Velika Gruda, Mala Gruda und ihr Kontext.* Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 32, Bonn.

# RACZKY, P. – HERTELENDI, E. – HORVÁTH, F. 1992

Zur absoluten Datierung der bronzezeitlichen Tell-Kulturen in Ungarn. In: Meier-Arendt, W. (Hrsg.): *Bronzezeit in Ungarn. Forschungen in Tell-Siedlungen an Donau und Theiss*. Frankfurt am Main 1992, 42–47.

# VOLLMANN, D. 2005

Studien zum Übergang von der Kupferzeit zur frühen Bronzezeit im östlichen Mitteleuropa. Saarbrücker Beiträge zur Altertumskunde 77, Bonn.

# Bell Beaker Cemetery and Settlement at Szigetszentmiklós First Results

# RÓBERT PATAY

## Abstract

This paper is a preliminary report on the excavation and evaluation of the Bell Beaker cemetery investigated in the outskirts of Szigetszentmiklós. A total of 219 Bell Beaker burials were uncovered. The cemetery contained a surprisingly high proportion of inhumation burials compared to the burial grounds earlier investigated in the Budapest area. The burial rites and the grave goods show strong ties with the Central European cemeteries of the culture, with the Bell Beaker East Group. The finds from the cemetery also bespeak the cultural impact of the local Early Bronze Age cultures. The halberd from one of the burials is a unique find in the Bell Beaker heritage of the Carpathian Basin. The radiocarbon dates indicate that the cemetery was used between 2500–2200 cal BC.

In this study, I shall offer a brief overview of the finds and findings of the excavation of the Bell Beaker cemetery and settlement at Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő, lying in the northwestern part of the Csepel Island near Budapest (Fig. 1). Previously, a few Bell Beaker cemeteries have already been located on the northern part of the Csepel Island and in the area of Szigetszentmiklós (ENDRŐDI 1992, 106–107, Fig. 1; KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, Fig. 1; KULCSÁR 2011, Fig. 4. B): Szigetszentmiklós-Alsóbucka (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 178, Fig. 2, Fig. 5); Szigetszentmiklós-Teleki út 45 (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 178, Fig. 6. 1–2); Szigetszentmiklós-II. Vízcsőárok (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 179– 181, Figs 3–4, Fig. 6. 3–9, Figs 7–8); Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor (ENDRŐDI 1992; 2012; ENDRŐDI - HORVÁTH 2009). The cemetery of Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő is a new site, unrelated to these. Its archaeological investigation was carried out between 2006 and 2007 (PATAY 2008a, 285–287; 2008b).<sup>1</sup> The investigated area covers some 5 hectares; we uncovered a total of 716 features, among them three graves of the Early Bronze Age Nagyrév culture (PATAY 2009), a grave of the Late Bronze Age Urnfield culture, Late Bronze Age and medieval settlement features (pits and ditches), as well as 219 burials and a few pits and ditches of the Bell Beaker culture (Fig. 2). The Early Bronze Age site lies some 250–280 m from the current Danube bank. Some of the graves lay on a heavily eroded ridge running from the northeast to the southwest. The cemetery map indicates that the enclosed burials lay on the ridge. A depression, most likely the remain of a former watercourse, runs in a northeast to southwest direction in the eastern and southern part of the area, beyond which we did not find any Early Bronze Age features, suggesting that the depression marked the edge of the burial ground. Even though the cemetery probably extends beyond the investigated area in the west and northwest, it cannot be excavated since that area is constructed upon.

Similarly to the other burial grounds of the period in the Carpathian Basin, this cemetery too can be assigned to the mixed rite type with its inhumation, scattered cremation and inurned burials (*Fig. 3*; KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 137; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1998–2000, 47–48). The form of the grave pits could most often be observed in the case of the inhumation and the scattered cremation burials: most were oblong or oval. Several scattered cremation burials did not have a grave pit. No more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> I shall here present a preliminary overview of the finds and their evaluation, the latter no more than working hypotheses at the moment, which will undoubtedly be modified and refined as the assessment the finds continues.



Fig. 1. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – 1–2: location of the site

than a few oval grave pits could be observed in the case of inurned burials because they had been simply dug into the humus. The grave pits were northeast to southwest oriented.

One remarkable feature of this burial ground is the unusually high proportion of inhumation burials: 102 graves of the 219 excavated graves were inhumations (47%) (*Fig. 4*). A glance at the table reveals that such a high proportion of inhumation burials has not been documented in any other Bell Beaker cemetery of the Carpathian Basin (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1984, 137; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1998–2000, 47–48). Inhumation is more typical for the Central European, southern German, Austrian and Bohemian-Moravian groups of the culture (HAVEL 1978, 114; NEUGEBAUER 1994, 38; BÁLEK *et al.* 1999, 34; KRUT'OVÁ 2003; HEYD 2007, 332).

Another element of the Central European funerary tradition could also be documented in the Szigetszentmiklós cemetery, namely inhumation performed according to strict rites. The proportion of deceased laid on the right and the left side was roughly equal and they were oriented either northeast to southwest or southwest to northeast. The anthropological material is fairly well preserved. The analysis of the skeletal remains indicated that men were always interred on their left side, while women were laid to rest on their right side (KÖHLER 2011), with their face looking to the east in the case of both male and female burials. A comparable burial rite was observed in the cemeteries of the Bell Beaker East Group in Central Europe (NEUGEBAUER 1994, 38; HEYD 2001, 398; 2007, 332; DORNHEIM *et al.* 2005, 36–38). The funerary rite of the inhumation burials shares many similarities with the rites practiced in regions west of the Carpathian Basin.



Fig. 2. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – phases of the site

In the case of scattered cremation burials, accounting for 50 of the 219 Bell Beaker graves (23%), the ashes were generally strewn in the middle of the grave pit, conforming to the practice observed in other Bell Beaker cemeteries (*Fig. 5*). Four graves contained several small heaps of ashes, suggesting that the remains of several individuals had been interred in the grave (*Fig. 6*). We noted the remains of a funerary structure in one cremation grave ringed by a ditch (*Fig. 7*). Similar structures have been identified in Austrian (NEUGEBAUER 1994, 37), Bohemian, Moravian and Hungarian Late Eneolithic and Early Bronze Age cemeteries (KYTLICOVÁ 1960, 472, Abb. 3–4; STUCHLÍK – STUCHLÍKOVÁ 1996, 76–78, obr. 42–43; BÁLEK *et al.* 1999, 33, Tab. 10; BÁTORA 1999a; GOGÂLTAN 1999, 171, Fig. 23). We found several cremation burials without a grave pit, with the ashes simply strewn over the prehistoric occupation level.



Fig. 3. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – funerary rites of the Bell Beaker burials

Very few inurned burials were found, 36 in all (16%) (*Fig. 8*). Most were simply dug into the humus; only in a few cases could an oval grave pit be observed. Inurned burials generally contained a large urn for the ashes and one-handled jugs. Beakers proper of the usual Bell Beaker "package" were deposited only in two of the inurned burials.

Mention must be made of the so-called symbolic graves. We uncovered 29 burials, which contained various grave goods, but no human skeletal remains (13%) (*Fig. 9*). Each of these graves was excavated with great care and it is therefore unlikely that we had missed any bones. It is also unlikely that the skeletal bones had perhaps perished owing to the nature of the soil since the human remains from the other burials survived in good condition. These symbolic graves contained a proportionately high



Grave 79





Fig. 4. Inhumation burials in the cemetery – 1, 3: Grave 79, 2, 4: Grave 488

4

# Róbert Patay



Fig. 5. Scattered cremation burials in the cemetery – 1, 3: Grave 29, 2, 4: Grave 634

4
number of weapons, daggers, wrist guards and arrow points, suggesting that they were perhaps the burials of hunters or warriors, who had died in areas lying far from the community's burial ground. Similar symbolic graves were noted in the Bell Beaker cemeteries at Budakalász (OTTOMÁNYI – CZENE 2006, 69–71; CZENE 2008, 32) and Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor (ENDRŐDI 2012, 18–20, Fig. 9). Symbolic graves have been reported from other Early Bronze Age contexts as well (BÁTORA 1999b; KULCSÁR 2009, 85–86).

Some graves were enclosed within a round ditch. The Szigetszentmiklós cemetery is the second burial ground, where this feature could be observed; graves encircled by a ditch were first noted in the Budakalász cemetery (OTTOMÁNYI 2006). We found 45 graves of this type (*Fig. 10*). The 30 to 40 cm wide ditches had a diameter of 4 to 5 meters. Enclosed graves could be noted in the case of all three burial rites (25 inhumation, 8 scattered cremation, 1 inurned and 10 symbolic graves with round ditches), although most of these graves contained inhumation burials. In some cases, the ditch enclosed two or three burials. Some of these grave ditches contained broken vessels, which may be linked to the funerary ceremony (*Fig. 11*). Similar phenomena were also observed in the cemetery of Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor (ENDRŐDI 2012, 10, Fig. 2. 2–3). The ring-shaped ditches could be the only remains of burial mounds destroyed by modern agriculture (KRUT'OVÁ 2003, 211; DORNHEIM *et al.* 2005, 59).

Most burials contained a rich assortment of grave goods. The various elements of the Bell Beaker "package" – bell beakers, flat copper daggers, stone wrist-guards, triangular arrowheads, bone buttons with a V-shaped perforation – are represented by 46% of all the grave goods. Altogether 40% of the inhumation burials and 30% of the enclosed graves contained artefacts of this type. In contrast to other Bell Beaker cemeteries in the Budapest area (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 184) a strong correlation could be noted between inhumation rite and the deposition of various elements of the Bell Beaker "package" as grave goods in the Szigetszentmiklós cemetery.

A part of the ceramic finds represents widespread Early Bronze Age pottery types (*Begleitkeramik*), such as handled jugs, pots, bowls and urns (*Fig. 12*; ECSEDY 1988, 16–17). Wares typical for the Bell Beaker culture were also quite frequent, and the high number of bell beakers was also striking. 43% of the burials yielded bell beakers (132 in 97 burials) with or without a handle and a decorative pattern arranged in bands or zones (*Fig. 13*). We sought a possible correlation between the funerary rite and the presence of beakers (50 bell beakers in 43 inhumation burials). Other pottery wares included bowls with a straight, occasionally decorated rim (*Fig. 14. 1–4*), pots and urns. One-handled jugs, another frequent type among the grave goods, betray cultural impacts from the Somogyvár-Vinkovci culture (*Fig. 14. 5–8*). One variety of deep hemispherical bowls with steep side and horizontal rim evokes a type frequent in more westerly regions (*Fig. 12. 2*; DVOŘÁK – HÁJEK 1990, Taf. 4. 6, Taf. 8. A4, B3, Taf. 9. B1, Taf. 22. B1, C1, G3, etc.).

A fairly large amount of metal artefacts came to light. Flat copper daggers (12 pieces in 11 graves: *Fig. 15. 1*), awls (7 pieces in 7 graves) and a halberd (*Fig. 21. 1*), to be described at somewhat greater length below, were recovered from eleven graves. Seven burials yielded a total of twelve gold rings and gold plaques (*Fig. 15. 3–4*). Two gold rings laid in a symbolic burial, the other gold finds all came from inhumation graves, where they were found beside the skull. Two burials contained silver artefacts: small silver tubes and perforated silver plaques with a *repoussé* decoration (*Fig. 15. 2*). Gold and silver plaques are known, for example, from Bohemian Bell Beaker cemeteries (HAVEL 1978, Obr. 9. 18; BÁLEK *et al.* 1999, 32, Tab. 3, 5–6).

Aside from the pottery, the grave goods included the distinctive stone wrist-guards of the culture (33 pieces in 31 graves), representing well-known types (Sangmeister's Types B, D and G) (*Fig. 16. 1–3*; SANGMEISTER 1974, 115–118).

Grave 89

Grave 362







Fig. 6. Scattered cremation burials in the cemetery: several small heaps of ashes – 1, 3: Grave 89, 2, 4: Grave 362

Grave 637







The lithic finds are made up of the typical triangular arrowheads of the culture and a wide range of blades, various flakes and scrapers, which were predominantly manufactured from hornstone obtained in the Buda Mountains (T. BIRÓ 2002) and radiolarite from Szentgál and the Gerecse Mountains. Tools and implements fashioned from obsidian, hydroquartzite, quartzite pebbles, flint and chert also occurred among the lithics (*Fig. 16. 4*).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> I am indebted to Krisztián Zandler (Kubinyi Ferenc Museum, Szécsény) for the evaluation of the chipped stone implements.



Fig. 9. Symbolic burials in the cemetery – 1, 3: Grave 407, 2, 4: Grave 76–77





Fig. 10. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – 1–3: round ditches and graves in the cemetery





3



Fig. 11. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő, Features 51 and 52 – 1–2: the remains of the funeral ceremony

The bone artefacts included decorated lunular amulets (*Fig. 17. 1–3*) and bone buttons with a V-shaped perforation (*Fig. 16. 4–7*). The best analogies to the lunular amulets came to light at the Budapest-Rákóczi Ferenc út site (ENDRŐDI – HORVÁTH 1999, 31, Fig. 3. 1) and comparable pieces have been published from Austria (WILLVONSEDER 1936, 8; NEUGEBAUER 1994, 37, Abb. 17. 6–7, Abb. 18. 2), Bohemia and Moravia (WILLVONSEDER 1936, 7–8; HÁJEK 1939, obr. 1. 2–3, obr. 2–3; GEISLER 1990, obr. 2. 12; RŮŽIČKOVÁ 2009) and Little Poland as well, indicating that this artefact type originated in the west.

Several burials contained beads and other jewellery articles made of amber. Unfortunately, these survived in a very poor condition and perished after they were lifted.

Limestone and bone beads, as well as various other bone ornaments (*Fig. 20. 5*) were found near the cervical vertebrae in several burials. One grave yielded bone plaques and other bone ornaments. Comparable pieces are known from Moravian Bell Beaker cemeteries (KALOUSEK 1956, 96, T. XIV. 1).

Several graves of the cemetery yielded finds and implements that can be contacted with metalworking. Grave 346 is of great importance in this regard. It was a scattered cremation burial with a ring-shaped ditch. The grave goods included a one-handled jug, Bell Beakers without decoration, a bowl, a stone implement, a *tuyère (Fig. 18)* and slag (?) remains. In some graves were found polished stone tools, which may indicate the relationship of the deceased with metalworking (BATORA 2002, 179–207; BERTEMES – HEYD 2002, 215–218). Grave 433, a symbolic burial (grave goods: five bell beakers, bowls, stone wrist-guard, chipped stone implements) must also be mentioned in this respect, as it yielded boar tusks.<sup>3</sup> Bell Beaker graves into which boar tusks were deposited are known from the Czech-Moravian Basin and Lower Austria (HAJEK 1966, 236, Abb. 1. 14–15; DVOŘÁK 1992, 30, Taf. 58. A3; NEUGEBAUER 1994, 36–37; DVORÁK *et al.* 1996, 19, Taf. 20. B1–4; BALEK *et al.* 1999, 14, Tab. 8. 18–19). Boar tusks had perhaps been used in metalworking as they have often been found together with stone tools used in metalworking, for example in a grave uncovered at Künzing-Bruck (BERTEMES – SCHMOTZ – THIELE 2000; BERTEMES – HEYD 2002, 216–217).

Human bone samples from five burials were submitted to the Vienna Environmental Research Accelerator Laboratory for radiocarbon measurements. The radiocarbon dates indicate that the cemetery was used between 2500–2200 cal BC (*Fig. 19*). The radiocarbon dates indicate that the cemetery had been used over a longer period of time (HEYD 2007, 332–334).

Two graves are especially noteworthy since their finds are important for determining the chronological position and cultural contacts of the cemetery.

The earliest date was obtained for the sample from Grave 50 (*Fig. 20*). This grave is an inhumation burial that yielded a copper awl (*Fig. 20. 4*), bone costume ornaments (*Fig. 20. 5*), a one-handled jug (*Fig. 20. 2*), a small amphora-like vessel decorated with Bell Beaker patterns (*Fig. 20. 3*) and a footed bowl decorated with Bell Beaker design on the exterior and a pattern recalling the ornamentation of the pedestalled bowls of the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka culture in its interior (*Fig. 20. 1*). A pedestalled bowl decorated with a similar design was found in the Tököl cemetery (SCHREIBER 1975, 200, Abb. 9. 1a–b, 3a–c). These finds suggest that the intensive interaction between the bell beaker users and the local population, and the adoption of local traditions had lasted longer than earlier assumed.

Grave 128 is a scattered cremation burial with a large round ditch (*Fig. 21*). It may have been the grave of a leader with high prestige, a man aged between 23 and 59 years. In addition to his halberd (*Fig. 21. 1*), his dagger (*Fig. 21. 2*), and his stone wrist-guard (*Fig. 21. 3*), two bell beakers (*Fig. 21. 4–5*), a bowl (*Fig. 21. 7*), a pot (*Fig. 21. 6*), one decorated lunular amulet (*Fig. 21. 8*) and a wide range of blades had been placed in the grave.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> I would here like to thank Andrea Kőrösi (Museum of Hungarian Agriculture) for the evaluation of the animal bone material.



Fig. 12. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – 1–7: Early Bronze Age pottery types (Begleitkeramik) in the cemetery





3



Fig. 13. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – 1–6: bell beaker examples in the cemetery



Fig. 14. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – 1–8: bowls and jugs in the cemetery



Fig. 15. Metal artefacts in the cemetery – 1: flat copper daggers, 2: small silver tubes and perforated silver plaques with repoussé decoration, 3: gold rings, 4: gold plaques



*Fig. 16. Stone wrist-guards (1–3) and lithic finds (4) in the cemetery* 



Fig. 17. Bone artefacts in the cemetery -1-3: decorated lunular amulets, 4-7: bone buttons with a V shaped perforation



Fig. 18. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – Grave 346 (1) and its finds (2–6)

The study of the contacts between southeastern Moravia and the Carpathian Basin during the Late Eneolithic (Late Copper Age) and the Early Bronze Age has always been one of the main fields of Czech and Moravian prehistoric studies. Contacts between the two regions are well documented for the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka/Somogyvár-Vinkovci/Bell Beaker/Early Nagyrév period. A few vessel types appearing in the Carpathian Basin, such as amphorae and cups with ribbed decoration and biconical and globular cups with funnel-shaped neck, can generally been linked to the Corded Ware culture of Moravia. Several variants of the one-handled jugs current in the Carpathian Basin have been reported from Corded Ware sites in Bohemia and Moravia. These include Dřevohostice type jugs, the one-handled biconical jugs of the Balcanic type, and Somogyvár and Ökörhalom type jugs. Several scholars (ONDRÁČEK 1965; 1967; PLESLOVÁ-ŠTIKOVÁ 1976; VLADÁR 1976; BUCHVALDEK 1981; 2002; MOUCHA 1981) believe that contacts with the southeast and the Carpathian Basin played an important role in the Protoaunjetitz period, the formative phase of the Aunjetitz culture. The prototypes of various pottery wares, principally of the one-handled jugs and of the footed bowls with fenestrated foot, are generally sought in the Makó-Kosihy-Čaka/Somogyvár/Glina III-Schneckenberg/Bell Beaker, and especially in the Early Nagyrév and Nagyrév cultures. These cultural impacts reflect intensive contacts over a long period of time between the Carpathian Basin, the Czech-Moravian Basin and Lower Silesia. It seems to me that the halberd from Grave 128 of the Szigetszentmiklós cemetery provides yet another piece of evidence for the contacts between the two regions. The halberd from Szigetszentmiklós can be regarded as the earliest piece in the Carpathian Basin. Three comparable halberds are known from the Carpathian Basin; unfortunately, all three are stray finds. One was found in the Szigetszentmiklós area, the other in the Pápa area (KOVÁCS 1996), while the third one was found in the Danube near Dunaújváros (B. HORVÁTH – KESZI 2004, 63, Pl. 284). The best analogies to these halberds can be quoted from the west (HARBISON 1969, 35-55, Pls 8–21; GALLAY 1981, 125–126, Pl. 33. 505) and from the Aunjetitz culture (BARTELHEIM 1998, 39–47, Taf. 44). The halberds of the Aunjetitz culture must certainly be mentioned in this respect. Even though halberds are not known from Protoaunjetitz contexts, I am nonetheless convinced that the appearance of this artefact type in the Carpathian Basin can be attributed to the contacts with the Czech-Moravian Basin and, also, that these contacts can be dated to the later half of the Early Bronze Age II, as used in Hungarian Bronze Age studies, corresponding to the Late Bell Beaker period and the appearance of Early Nagyrév assemblages. According to the chronological framework introduced by Francois Bertemes and Volker Heyd, this can be correlated with the Reinecke A0 period, dating to roughly 2350–2250 cal BC, when the region was settled by the Late Corded Ware culture, the Late Bell Beaker culture and the Protoaunjetitz culture (BERTEMES – HEYD 2002, 190–204). The radiocarbon dates indicate that the late phase of the Szigetszentmiklós cemetery can be assigned to this period. It would then seem that halberds appeared in the Carpathian Basin without any apparent antecedents. The halberd from Szigetszentmiklós can be regarded as the earliest piece in the Carpathian Basin and its presence is proof for the intensive and dynamic contacts between the Carpathian Basin and the Czech-Moravian Basin during the Early Bronze Age, reflected by the flow of information and the spread of new innovations between these two regions.

In addition to the burials, we also uncovered the refuse pits and ditches of a prehistoric settlement, which lay scattered among the graves. With the exception of the Late Bronze Age and medieval features, these pits and ditches contained very few finds, principally animal bones (cattle, horse, sheep, red deer) and a few atypical, non-joining prehistoric sherds, making their dating difficult. No more than eight pits could be assigned to the Bell Beaker culture based on the finds recovered from them, which included beakers and bowls with decorated rim. One noteworthy vessel in the ceramic inventory is a bowl with decorated rim set on a cylindrical foot. Similar bowls were recovered from the burials at Szigetszentmiklós and on various sites in the Budapest area (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 184–185, Abb. 9. 5–6). Knowing that this bowl type is one of the typical wares of the Bell Beaker sites in the



LabNo.	Sample name	$\delta^{13}C^{1,2)}$	<sup>14</sup> C age <sup>1)</sup>	Calibrated age <sup>3)</sup>
		[‰]	[BP]	[cal BC]
VERA-4748	Grave 10	$-17.6\pm0.7$	$3920\pm40$	2500 (91.8%) 2280, 2570 ( 3.6%) 2530
VERA-4749	Grave 49	$-20.1 \pm 1.2$	$3830\pm40$	2460 (91.5%) 2190, 2170 (3.9%) 2140
VERA-4750	Grave 50	$-20.3 \pm 0.6$	$3775\pm35$	2300 (87.6%) 2120, 2100 (8.9%) 2040
VERA-4755	Grave 367	$-19.7 \pm 1.1$	$3875\pm40$	2470 (86.5%) 2270, 2260 (8.9%) 2200
VERA-4757	Grave 626	$-21.4 \pm 1.4$	$3845\pm35$	2460 (95.4%) 2200

<sup>1)</sup>  $1\sigma$  –error

 $^{2)}~\delta^{13}C$  determined with the AMS-system

<sup>3)</sup> determined with the calibration program OxCal and the calibration curve INTCAL04,

data correspond to the  $2\sigma$ -confidence level, probability of the individual time periods in brackets

Fig. 19. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – <sup>14</sup>C dates from the cemetery



Fig. 20. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő – Grave 50 (1) and its finds (2–6)







Fig. 21. Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Urge-hegyi dűlő – Grave 128 (1) and its finds (2–9)

Czech-Moravian Basin and in southern Germany (DVOŘÁK – HÁJEK 1990, Taf. VI. 7; DVOŘÁK *et al.* 1996, Taf. 10. 84, Taf. 15. 6) it seems likely that its origins can be sought in the west.

Most Bell Beaker cemeteries in the Budapest area lie some 200–300 m from the Danube, while the settlements were established closer to the river (KALICZ-SCHREIBER 1997, 183; 2001, 168–169). At Szigetszentmiklós, however, the pits containing Bell Beaker pottery were uncovered among and beside the burials. The graves and the settlement features often bordered on each other. In one case, a ditch containing Bell Beaker pottery cut through a Bell Beaker burial. However, the pottery recovered from the pits is very scanty, fragmented and contains few typical Bell Beaker wares, and thus a comparison with the pottery deposited in the graves will hardly contribute to clarifying the chronological relation between the settlement and the cemetery.

The Szigetszentmiklós cemetery will undoubtedly furnish new, and important evidence for the Bell Beaker research in Hungary and in Europe. This is the second largest known cemetery after Budakalász (OTTOMÁNYI – CZENE 2006; CZENE 2008) in Hungary. Some burials, yielding finds with a resemblance to the Early Bell Beaker find horizon as defined by V. Heyd (2001) can be dated to the initial Bell Beaker period, while others date to a later period marked by the integration with the Late Makó-Kosihy-Čaka and Early Nagyrév cultures. The burial customs, various artefact types occurring among the grave goods and the halberd from Grave 128 indicate contacts with the west, while the decorated footed bowl and amphora-like small vessel from Grave 50 is a reflection of contact with the other Early Bronze Age cultures of the Carpathian Basin.

In sum, we may say, that the burial rites noted in the Szigetszentmiklós cemetery were introduced from Central Europe. The burials from the later period of the cemetery reflect strong, intensive ties with other regions of Central Europe, as well as strong connections with neighbouring cultures.<sup>4</sup>

#### References

BÁLEK, M. – DVOŘÁK, P. – KOVÁRNÍK, J. – MATĚJIČKOVÁ, Á. 1999
 Pohřebiště kultury zvoncovitých pohárů v Tvořihrázi (Okr. Znojmo) – Das Gräberfeld der Glockenbecherkultur in Tvořihráz (Bez. Znojmo). Pravěk Supplementum 4, Brno.

BARTELHEIM, M. 1998

*Studien zur böhmischen Aunjetitzer Kultur – Chronologische und chorologische Untersuchungen.* Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 46, Bonn.

BÁTORA, J. 1999a

Gräber mit Totenhäusern auf frühbronzezeitlichen Gräberfeldern in der Slowakei (Beitrag zu Kulturverbindungen zwischen Mittel-, West- und Osteuropa). *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 74 (1999) 1–57.

BÁTORA, J. 1999b

Symbolische(?) Gräber in der älteren Bronzezeit in der Slowakei. In: Bátora, J. – Peška, J. (Hrsg.): *Aktuelle Probleme der Erforschung der Frühbronzezeit in Böhmen und Mähren und in der Slowakei.* Archaeologica Slovaca Monographiae 1, Nitra 1999, 63–73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This study is an extended version of the paper read at the conference entitled "Bell-Beakers. Symbols of a 5000-Year-Old Cultural Community in Europe", held in Torres Vedras (Portugal) in 2008 and "Bell Beaker Days along the Riverside", held in Budapest (Hungary) in 2009. I am grateful for the grant from the National Cultural Fund enabling my participation at the conference in Portugal. The photos were made by Linda Szászvári and the author, the drawing by Zoltán Farkas, the maps by Benedek Érdi, whom I would here like to thank for their work. I am especially grateful to István Ecsedy for his help in preparing this study.

BÁTORA, J. 2002

Contribution to the problem of "craftsman" graves at the end of Aeneolithic and in the Early Bronze Age in Central, Western and Eastern Europe. *Slovenská Archeológia* 50 (2002) 179–228.

### BERTEMES, F. – HEYD, V. 2002

Der Übergang Kupferzeit/Frühbronzezeit am Nordwestrand des Karpatenbeckens – Kulturgeschichtliche und Paläometallurgische Betrachtungen. In: Bartelheim, M. – Krause, R. – Pernicka, E. (Hrsg.): *Die Anfänge der Metallurgie in der Alten Welt/The Beginnings of Metallurgy in the Old World*. Forschungen zur Archäometrie und Altertumswissenschaft 1, Rahden/Westfalen 2002, 185–228.

## BERTEMES, F. - SCHMOTZ, K. - THIELE, W.-R. 2000

Das Metallurgengrab der Glockenbecherkultur von Künzing, Lkr. Deggendorf. In: Chytráaek, M. – Michálek, J. – Schmotz, K. (Hrsg.): *Archäologische Arbeitsgemeinschaft Ostbayern/West- und Südböhmen*. Deggendorf 2000, 53–61.

## T. BIRÓ, K. 2002

New data on the utilization of Buda hornstone in the Early Bronze Age. *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002) 131–143.

## BUCHVALDEK, M. 1981

Das Karpatenbecken und die Schnurkeramik in Böhmen und Mähren. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (Hrsg.): *Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales Symposium 1977, Budapest–Velem.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Intituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 41–48. Taf. 1–9.

### BUCHVALDEK, M. 2002

Zu den Beziehungen zwischen Böhmen, Mähren und Karpatenbecken in der Frühbronzezeit. *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002) 211–220.

CZENE, A. 2008

Bell Beakers at Budakalász. In: Ottományi, K. (ed.): *Perspectives on the past: major excavations in County Pest*. Szentendre 2008, 32–33.

DORNHEIM, S. – LISSNER, B. – METZLER, S. – MÜLLER, A. – ORTOLF, S. – SPRENGER, S. – STADELBACHER, A. – STRAHM, Ch. – WOLTERS, K. – WIERMANN, R. P. 2005

Sex und gender, Alter und Kompetenz, Status und Prestige: Soziale Differenzierung im 3. vorchristlichen Jahrtausend. In: Müller, J. (Hrsg.): *Alter und Geschlecht in ur- und frühgeschicht-lichen Gesellschaften*. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 126, Bonn 2005, 27–71.

# Dvořák, P. 1992

*Die Gräberfelder der Glockenbecherkultur in Mähren I (Bez. Blansko, Brno-město, Brno-venkov).* Katalog der Funde. Mährische archäologische Quellen. Brno.

# Dvořák, P. – Hájek, L. 1990

Die Gräberfelder der Glockenbecherkultur bei Šlapanice (Bez. Brno-venkov): Katalog der Funde. Mährische archäologische Quellen, Brno.

# Dvořák, P. – Matějíčková, A. – Peška, J. – Rakovský, I. 1996

*Gräberfelder der Glockenbecherkultur in Mähren II (Bez. Breclav): Katalog der Funde*. Mährische archäologische Quellen, Brno–Olomouc.

### ECSEDY, I. 1988

Ásatások Szigetcsép-Tangazdaság lelőhelyen II. A korabronzkori település leletei – Excavations at Szigetcsép-Tangazdaság II. The Early Bronze Age Settlement. *Communicationes Archaeologicae Hungariae* 1988, 5–18.

# ENDRŐDI, A. 1992

A korabronzkori harangedény kultúra telepe és temetője Szigetszentmiklós határában – The settlement and cemetery of the Bell-Beaker Culture in the district of Szigetszentmiklós. In: Havassy, P. – Selmeczi, L. (eds): *Régészeti kutatások az M0 autópálya nyomvonalán I – Archaeological Researches on the Line of Motorway M0 I.* BTM Műhely 5, Budapest 1992, 83–200.

## ENDRŐDI, A. 2012

Early Bronze Age headdress; markers of the social status in the Bell Beaker-Csepel Group. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 137 (2012) 7–26.

## ENDRŐDI, A. – HORVÁTH, M. A. 2009

Régészeti kutatások Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősoron, az M0 autópálya nyomvonalán – Archaeological investigations at Szigetszentmiklós-Üdülősor in the path of the M0 motorway. *Aquincumi Füzetek* 15 (2009) 150–166.

## GALLAY, G. 1981

*Die kupfer- und altbronzezeitlichen Dolche in Frankreich.* Prähistorische Bronzefunde VI/5, München.

## GEISLER, M. 1990

Hrob kultury se zvoncovitými poháry z Rousínovce – Ein Grab der Glockenbecher-Kultur aus Rousínovec. *Pravěké a slovanské osídlení Moravy. Sborník k 80. narozeninám Josefa Poulíka.* Muzejní a vlastivědná společnost, Archeologický ústav AV ČR, Brno 1990, 119–127.

### GOGÂLTAN, FL. 1999

A bronzkori lelőhely értékelése – Bronze Age cemetery. Early Bronze Age. In: Petercsák, T. – Szabó, J. J. (eds): Kompolt-Kistér: Újkőkori, bronzkori, szarmata és avar lelőhely. Leletmentő ásatás az M3-as autópálya nyomvonalán – Kompolt-Kistér: A Neolithic, Bronze Age, Sarmatian and Avar site. Rescue excavation at the M3 motorway. Heves megyei Régészeti Közlemények, Eger 1999, 171–178, 356–359.

### HÁJEK, L. 1939

Půlměsicovitá spinadla kultury zvoncovitých pohárů – Half-moon shaped clasps of the bell beaker cups period. *Památky Archeologické* 42 (1939) 20–29, 217, obr. 1–5.

# HÁJEK, L. 1966

Die älteste Phase der Glockenbecherkultur in Böhmen und Mähren. Památky Archeologické 57 (1966) 210–241.

# HARBISON, P. 1969

*The Daggers and Halberds of the Early Bronze Age in Ireland.* Prähistorische Bronzefunde VI/1, München.

### HAVEL, J. 1978

Pohřebni ritus kultury zvoncovitých pohárů Čechách a na Moravě – The Burial Rite of the Bell Beaker Culture in Bohemia and Moravia. *Praehistorica 7–Varia Archaeologica* 1 (1978) 91–117.

#### Heyd, V. 2001

On the earliest Bell Beakers along the Danube. In: Nicolis, F. (ed.): *Bell Beakers today. Pottery, people, culture, symbols in prehistoric Europe. Proceedings of the International Colloquium Riva del Garda (Trento, Italy) 11–16 May 1998.* Trento 2001, 387–409.

#### Heyd, V. 2007

Families, Prestige Goods, Warriors & Complex Societies: Beaker Groups of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Millenium cal BC Along the Upper and Middle Danube. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 73 (2007) 327–379.

#### B. Horváth, J. – Keszi, T. 2004

Az Intercisa Múzeum kincsei II. Az Intercisa Múzeum őskori állandó kiállításának katalógusa – The treasures of Intercisa Museums II. The catalogue of the permanent prehistoric exhibition of Intercisa Museum. Dunaújváros.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1984

Komplex der Nagyrév-kultur. In: Tasić, N. (Hrsg.): *Kulturen der Frühbronzezeit des Karpatenbeckens und Nordbalkans*. Beograd 1984, 136–137.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 1997

Kora bronzkori temetkezések a Csepel-sziget keleti partján – Frühbronzezeitliche Bestattungen am östlichen Ufer der Csepel-Insel bei Budapest. *Budapest Régiségei* 31 (1997) 177–197.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. 2001

Veränderungen der Besiedlungsdichte in der Umgebung von Budapest während des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. In: Lippert, A. – Schultz, M. – Shennan, S. – Teschler-Nicola, M. (Hrsg.): *Mensch und Umwelt während des Neolithikums und der Frühbronzezeit in Mitteleuropa*. Internationale Archäologie, Arbeitsgemeinschaft, Symposium Tagung Kongress 2, Rahden/Westfalen 2001, 165–170.

#### KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. - KALICZ, N. 1998-2000

A harangedények szerepe a Budapest környéki kora bronzkor társadalmi viszonyainak megítélésében – The Role of Bell Beakers in Reflecting Social Relations in the Early Bronze Age of Budapest. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 125 (1998–2000) 45–78.

#### KALOUSEK, F. 1956

Lid se zvoncovitými poháry na Bučovsku (Morava) – Die Glockenbecherleute im Bezirk von Bučovice (Mähren). *Časopis Moravského Musea* 41 (1956) 53–100, Tab. I–XXVIII.

#### Kovács, T. 1996

Halberds in Hungary and adjacent territories. In: Kovács, T. (Hrsg.): *Studien zur Metallindustrie im Karpatenbecken und den benachbarten Regionen. Festschrift für Amália Mozsolics zum 85. Geburtstag.* Budapest 1996, 89–101.

#### Köhler, K. 2011

A harang alakú edények népe Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő lelőhelyen feltárt temetőjének embertani vizsgálati eredményei – Anthropological examination of the Bell Beaker cemetery at Szigetszentmiklós-Felső Ürge-hegyi dűlő. *Anthropologiai Közlemények* 52 (2011) 55–76.

#### Krut'ová, M. 2003

Bell Beaker and Únětice burial rites. Continuity and change in funerary practices at the beginning of Bronze Age. In: Czebreszuk, J. – Szmyt, M. (eds): *The Northeast Frontier of the Bell Beakers*. BAR International Series 1155, Oxford 2003, 209–214.

### KULCSÁR, G. 2009

The Beginnings of the Bronze Age in the Carpatian Basin. The Makó–Kosihy–Čaka and the Somogyvár–Vinkovci Cultures in Hungary. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 23, Budapest.

## KULCSÁR, G. 2011

Untangling the Early Bronze Age in the Middle Danube Valley. In: Kovács, Gy. – Kulcsár, G. (eds): *Ten thousand years along the Middle Danube*. Varia Archaeologica Hungarica 26, Budapest 2011, 179–210.

# Kytlicová, O. 1960

Éneolitické pohřebiště v Brandýsku – Das äneolitische Gräberfeld in der Gemeinde Brandýsek. *Památky Archeologické* 51 (1960) 442–474.

## MOUCHA, V. 1981

Südöstliche Elemente in der mährischen und böhmischen Gruppe der Glockenbecherkultur. In: Kalicz, N. – Kalicz-Schreiber, R. (Hrsg.): *Die Frühbronzezeit im Karpatenbecken und in den Nachbargebieten. Internationales Symposium 1977, Budapest–Velem.* Mitteilungen des Archäologischen Intituts der Ungarischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Beiheft 2, Budapest 1981, 115–123, Taf. 1–5.

## NEUGEBAUER, J. W. 1994

Bronzezeit in Österreich. St. Pölten-Wien.

## ONDRÁČEK, J. 1965

Südöstliche Elemente in der mährischen Schnurkeramik. Archeologické Rozhledy 17 (1965) 770–782.

## ONDRÁČEK, J. 1967

Moravská protoúnětická kultúra. Slovenská Archeológia 15 (1967) 387-446.

### Ottományi, K. 2006

Budakalász, Csajerszke. Régészeti Kutatások Magyarországon 2005–Archaeological Investigations in Hungary 2005, Budapest 2006, 188–189.

# Ottományi, K. – Czene, A. 2006

Az M0-s autópálya északi szakaszának feltárása, Budakalász. Budakalász-Csajerszke (MRT 7, 3/12. lh.). In: Tari, E. (ed.): *Régészeti kutatások másfél millió négyzetméteren. Autópálya és gyorsforgalmi utak építését megelőző régészeti feltárások Pest megyében 2001–2006.* Pest megyei Múzeumi Füzetek 7, Szentendre 2006, 69–73.

# PATAY, R. 2008a

Szigetszentmiklós, Felső-Ürge-hegyi-dűlő. *Régészeti Kutatások Magyarországon 2007– Archaeological Investigations in Hungary 2007*, Budapest 2008, 285–286.

# PATAY, R 2008b

An Early Bronze Age cemetery at Szigetszentmiklós. In: Ottományi, K. (ed.): *Perspectives on the Past. Major Excavations in County Pest.* Szentendre 2008, 34–35.

### PATAY, R. 2009

A Nagyrév-kultúra korai időszakának sírjai Szigetszentmiklósról – Burials of the early Nagyrév culture from Szigetszentmiklós. *Tisicum* 19 (2009) 209–227.

### Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1976

Die Beziehungen des mitteleuropäischen mittleren und jüngeren Äneolithikums zur Schnurkeramik und zur Glockenbecherkultur. In: Lanting, J. N. – van der Waals, J. D. (eds): *Glockenbechersymposion*. *Oberried 1974*. Bussum/Haarlem 1976, 217–230.

#### Růžičková, P. 2009

Bow-shape pendants of the Bell Beaker Culture. Acta Archaeologica Carpathica 44 (2009) 37-72.

#### SANGMEISTER, E. 1974

Zwei Neufunde der Glockenbecherkultur in Baden-Württemberg. Ein Beitrag zur Klassifizierung der Armschutzplatten in Mitteleuropa. *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 1 (1974) 103–138.

#### SCHREIBER, R. 1975

A tököli korabronzkori temetők – Frühbronzezeitliche Gräberfelder von Tököl. Archaeologiai Értesítő 102 (1975) 187–203.

#### Stuchlík, S. – Stuchlíková, J. 1996

Pravěká pohřebiště v Moravské Nové Vsi-Hruškách – Urgeschichtliche Gräberfelder in Moravská Nová Vez-Hrušky. Studie Archeologického Ústavu Československé Akadémie Věd v Brně 16, Brno.

### VLADÁR, J. 1976

Zur Problematik der Glockenbecherkultur im Mitteldonauraum. In: Lanting, J. N. – van der Waals, J. D. (eds): *Glockenbechersymposion. Oberried 1974*. Bussum/Haarlem 1976, 217–230.

#### WILLVONSEDER, K. 1936

Halbmondförmige Knochenzierate der Glockenbecherkultur. Sudeta NF 1936, 7–11.

# Cultural Change and Animal Keeping Case Study of a Neolithic, Copper Age and Bronze Age Site near Budapest, Hungary

## PÉTER CSIPPÁN

#### Abstract

People and their closest environment have a special interaction with each other through feedbacks. Human culture, the natural environment and domestic animals live in a special ecosystem that depends on these entities. The most important economic animals lived in a special multidimensional cultural and niche-like place, similar to ecological niches. These places determined the social status and the exploitation of these animals. Through the household activities the other important aspect of the systemic approach employed here is contact with the natural environment, and the identification of the catchment area and the resource management of these cultures. From the bone specimens of wild animals we can draw conclusions on the available animal resources and activities (e.g. hunting, fishing, gathering, etc.), which exploit them in some form or another. The technology of this exploitation can be observed in archaeological finds through butchering marks and body part distributions. It also has an important cultural meaning; however, we can observe them only through the screen of the taphonomic processes.

This paper considers a case study of animal bone finds from the prehistoric (Neolithic, Eneolithic, Early and Late Bronze Age) settlements of Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő. More than 7000 animal bone specimens came to light from these excavations. At all of these settlements the most important animals were cattle (Bos taurus L.), small ruminants (Ovis aries L. and Capra hircus L.) and pig (Sus domesticus Erxl.). The interpretation and possibilities of the method of ecological anthropology give new results, through animal husbandry in the research of archaeological cultures.

#### Introduction

Between 2000 and 2004, archaeologists of the Budapest History Museum (BTM) excavated a site in Dunakeszi near Budapest, Hungary (Fig. 1). During the excavations features representing different

archaeological periods came to light. The excavations yielded Neolithic (Bicske-Bíňa phase), Copper Age (Protoboleraz phase), Early Bronze Age (Bell Beaker, Bell Beaker Csepel-group) and Late Bronze Age (Tumulus culture) artefacts (HORVÁTH *et al.* 2004, 209). This multiperiodicity and continuity lend importance to the site. The analysis of animal bones from different periods offers a great possibility for making a comprehensive review of animal exploitation - through the mirror of meat consumption - over these periods in a more-or-less constant natural environment providing comparable resources.



Fig. 1. Map of Hungary with the location of the site of Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő

#### Method

The ecological approach has its own history in the social sciences following the pioneering work by Julian H. Steward titled "The Theory of Culture Change" in 1955 (STEWARD 1955). J. H. Steward's basic idea is that people and their own environment (biotic and abiotic) have some contiguous interactions and this contact can be analysed by integrating ecological methods within cultural research.

In his essay J. H. Steward introduced a special, empirical research method, representing a basic step for analysing culture types. J. H. Steward named this method cultural ecology (STEWARD 1955, 450). The steps of this research method after J. H. Steward are as follows (STEWARD 1955, 450–453):

- 1. circumstantial description of human cultures and their own natural environment;
- 2. identification of the exploitation technics of the natural environment and the adaptation of the human population. Description of the relationship between the adaptation to the natural environment and special patterns of behaviour;
- 3. the leading of adaptation and the technology for the different parts of the culture.

J. H. Steward pointed out, that societies of differing social complexity also represent different forms of adaptation, while cultures have developed various adaptation technics for a broad range of environments. Following these analytical steps, comparisons between adaptation techniques become possible (STEWARD 1977, 52). We have reservations concerning Steward's idea, because adaptations themselves represent very complex, multi-layered phenomena (HARDESTY 1977, 23) including:

- 1. behavioural adaptation;
- 2. physiological adaptation;
- 3. genetic and demographic adaptation.

Changes of behaviour are the most rapid response to environmental change. Two kinds of behaviour may be adaptive (HARDESTY 1977, 23–26):

- 1. idiosyncratic behaviour: includes all special types of behaviour developed by people in an effort to answer environmental problems. This form of cultural behaviour has three layers: technological, social and ideological;
- 2. increasing effectiveness behaviour: members of the population strive to exploit the maximum of resources by investing minimum.

J. H. Steward's cultural ecology was the basis of Roy A. Rappaport's systematic thinking and the beginning of ecological anthropology. Rappaport's work, "Pigs for the Ancestors", described an ecological-systemic method of research in anthropology (RAPPAPORT 1968). In his scheme the human population and the natural environment were strongly connected in a special ecosystem. He referred to and used ecological terminology consistently and he interpreted cultural behaviour as tools for the caveat of the ecosystem's equilibrium (RAPPAPORT 1971, 64).

Probably one of the first papers to use the ecological point of view was published by John G. D. Clark in his work titled "Prehistoric Europe: The Economic Basis" in 1952 (CLARK 1952). J. G. D. Clark noticed the importance of equilibrium in ecological systems – whom the human population is a part –, in close connection with the economic and cultural stability of society (CLARK 1952, 7).

Following J. H. Steward's ground-laying work its adaptation gained major importance in archaeological research. Environmental adaptation was a flagship concept in processualist "New Archaeology". In Lewis R. Binford's paper "Archaeology as Anthropology" the author recognized the importance of J. H. Steward's cultural ecology (BINFORD 1962, 218).

Notwithstanding that the processualist approach provoked a lot of criticism, the importance of environmental factors or the viewpoint of cultural ecology has never been questioned. Later Michael D. Coe and Kent V. Flannery presented a model of microenvironmental analysis, which pointed to the significance of research into human-environment relationship (COE – FLANNERY 1968).

The first archaeological application of the system-ecological approach is connected to L. R. Binford, who wanted to build a systemic ecological model for the domestication of plants and animals. In L. R. Binford's view this process was a special adaptive answer to changes in the natural environment (BINFORD 1965, 205).

It is important to note, that in system-ecological applications relationships may be considered those of a special closed system, because our knowledge of all contemporaneous interactions and natural/ human factors is limited. In reality, however, these systems were open like all systems related to the natural environment. The idea of a closed system – characterized by limited interactions and factors – is more flexible, that is useable for the analysis above.

Although the idea of this system originated from ecology, the precision of interpretations concerning methods and concepts is questionable. Using these concepts, it is very important to notice, that not all phenomena are up to their ecological ones (e.g. ecosystem, niche, population). Human societies display a more complex behaviour that is pointing beyond the frames of a closed system. Hypothetical modelling of the relationships, however, has the potential of exposing the hidden connections between different factors in the everyday lives of people thousands of years ago.

Although useful information is limited, a large number of finds came to light from different periods at the site. Animal bones represent an adequate group of materials for gathering information. Meat consumption in everyday life characterizes animal keeping, while the remains of hunted animals are indicative of the natural environment.

#### Material

Altogether 7149 pcs of animal bones (NISP) came to light. Unfortunately the fragmentation of the bones was high, so a large number of bones could not be identified (*Appendices 1–2*).

#### Cattle (Bos taurus L.)

Cattle were best represented among the animal bones. On the basis of the numbers of identifiable specimens (NISP), cattle bones made up 57.8 % of bone finds from domestic species. Unfortunately, these

Sex	Copper Age	Early Bronze Age	Late Bronze Age
Cow		metacarpus sin.	
		GL=214.1; BP=45.1	
		WH=1285.06	
		metacarpus dex.	
		GL=200.8; BP=52.2	
		WH=1210.82	
Bull		metacarpus sin.	
		GL=200.9; BP=66.0	
		WH=1271.7	
		metacarpus sin.	
		GL=180.3; BP=59.5	
		WH=1141.3	
?	metatarsus sin.	metatarsus dex.	metatarsus dex.
	GL=247.0; BP=59.2	GL=219.2; BP=51.8	GL=223.0; BP=50.6
	WH=1351.1	WH=1199.02	WH=1219.81
			metacarpus dex.*
			GL=222.0; BP=67.2
			WH=1371.96

\* - on the basis of size it was almost an aurochs

*Table 1. Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő – calculated withers heights of cattle (mm)* 

finds were heavily fragmented; the body size and sex of cattle could be calculated only in 8 cases on the basis of metapodials 1954; MATOLCSI (NOBIS 1970). The measurements were taken in millimetres following the protocol by Angela von den Driesch (1976). Trunk lengths were calculated using the estimated withers heights (MATOLCSI 1968, 29) (Table 1). Trunk lengths of the animals - similarly to wither heights -

	Copper Age	Early Bronze Age	Late Bronze Age
Cow		1472.0	
		1386.96	
?	1547.65	1373.44	1397.26
			1557.38
Bull		1456.7	
		1307.33	

concur with the averages expected for different periods. On the basic of calculated body sizes largemiddle size cattle were characteristic of these periods (*Table 2*).

Table 2. Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő – calculated trunk length of cattle (mm)

Small ruminants (sheep/goat) (Ovis aries L. and Capra hircus L.)

The species-level identification of bones from small ruminants is difficult, because they have very similar osteomorphology. Only a few elements of the skeleton can be recognized with sufficient certainty.

Unfortunately, the fragmentation of bones was very high at the site, therefore the separation of the two small ruminant species was largely impossible. The estimation of body sizes was also impossible.

However, according to the NISP, the importance of small ruminants, sheep and goat, was significant throughout the periods. The ratio of their bones among domestic animal bones reached 24.63%.

Domestic pig (Sus domesticus Erxl.)

The importance of pig intensified during the Copper Age, and stagnated thereafter. The number of their bone fragments contributed 10.86% to the overall NISP of the domestic animals. The withers heights of two individuals were calculated from the Early Bronze Age settlement using astragalus measurement (TEICHERT 1969) (*Table 3*).

Bone	GL (mm)	Withers height (mm)
astragalus sin.	42.9	767.9
astragalus sin.	41.8	748.2

Table 3. Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő – calculated withers heights of pigs

Horse (Equus caballus L.)

The role of horses in the domestic fauna was minimal, with the exception of the Early Bronze Age when horse keeping culminated, then subsided toward the Late Bronze Age period. The contribution of horse bones to the domestic fauna ranged between 5.19% of NISP. The aforementioned culmination in the Early Bronze Age period was important, because this was a possible sign of intensive horse keeping in the area, which was noticed by Sándor Bökönyi in 1978 (BÖKÖNYI 1978, 30, 35; KALICZ-SCHREIBER – KALICZ 1998–2000, 49). The withers heights of only four individuals could be calculated (VITT 1952) *(Table 4)*.

Bone	GL (mm)	Withers height (mm)
metatarsus III. sin.	239.0	1247.7
metatarsus III. sin.	254.9	1332.4
metacarpus III. sin.	213.6	1332.5
radius dex.	331.9	1527.6

Table 4. Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő – calculated withers heights of horses

#### Domestic dog (Canis familiaris L.)

The presence of dogs in the Neolithic settlement was represented by only a single coprolite. Subsequently they were represented by numerous bone fragments in the Copper Age as well as in the Early and Late Bronze Ages. No body size could be calculated due to the high degree of fragmentation. The proportion of dog remains was 1.46 % among domestic animals.

#### Hunted game and the natural environment

The habitats of the hunted animals give basic information on the macro-environment aiding paleoecological reconstruction of prehistoric settlements.

On the basis of this knowledge, there were closed woods as well as parkland forests near the prehistoric settlements of Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő. This statement is strengthened by the considerable proportion of bones from wild mammals such as red deer (*Cervus elaphus* L.), roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus* L.), aurochs (*Bos primigenius* Boj.), wild boar (*Sus scrofa* L.), wolf (*Canis lupus* L.) and red fox (*Vulpes vulpes* L.) (VÖRÖS 1994, 180; 2000).

Although these species often show environmental flexibility, their common presence is determined by habitat type. Based on its percentual ratio within the wild animal NISP red deer was the most important and most hunted game during the Copper Age, the Early Bronze Age and Late Bronze Age. This trend is unsurprising, because this animal provides a multitude of goods (meat, skin, bone, antler) (BÖKÖNYI 1979–1980, 112).

Evidence of the contemporaneous vicinity of waters is provided by the numerous riverine shell *(Unio sp.)* fragments, two pieces of fishscale, and three bone fragments from a beaver *(Castor fiber* L.). A few species imply the marshy character of the microenvironment of the site, e.g. the pond tortoise *(Emys orbicularis* L.) and two species of water snails.

Forty-three specimens of great ramshorn (*Planorbarius corneus* L.) and one specimen came to light from a single feature from the Late Bronze Age period. The large number of these snails and shells was the evidence for the consumption of these animals.

Concerning the tortoise bones we have to surmise that they were a taphonomic rather than a cultural phenomenon as no marks of processing or cut marks were present on these bones. It is possible that these animals burrowed into the softer layers of the archaeological features for the purpose of hibernation.

Several wells (dated to the Late Bronze Age) were excavated at the site (SZILAS 2002, 292). The archaeobotanical analysis of samples from these wells verifies the marshy micro-environment of the prehistoric settlements (GYULAI 2002, 305).

#### **Reconstruction of the paleoenvironment**

A submediterrane-like weather that was typical of the Late Atlantic climatic phase of the Late Neolithic (KORDOS 1977, 226), turned cooler and rainier during the Bronze Age in the Carpathian Basin.

During the Subboreal climatic phase, extensive beech woods, parkland forests, and swampy meadows flourished in the studied area (JÁRAINÉ KOMLÓDI 2000, 47). The natural flora and fauna also responded to the general climatic changes. On the basis of the "vole-thermometer" and "Arvicola" humiditas monitoring, László Kordos inferred the climatic changes in the vertebrate microfauna. These conclusions rely on the biostratigraphical analysis of rodents based on the strong connection between the vegetation and these micromammal species (KORDOS 1977, 227). Although to a lesser extent, domestic animals also responded to these climatic changes (CHOYKE – BARTOSIEWICZ 1999, 246).

The paleohydrogeology of the site indicates that it was once positioned on a deposit of the Danube (KOROM – REMÉNYI 2005, 198). Paleopedological, paleobotanical and malacological analyses show, that the eastern part of the site was a swampy, humid area, rich in different types of weeds (HORVÁTH *et al.* 2003, 5; KOROM – REMÉNYI 2005, 198). Finally, parkland areas and woods were identified in the proximity of the site on the basis of the macromammals identified.

#### Palaeoecosystem with cultural aspects

The goal of ecological approaches is the analysis of interactions and feedbacks between the natural environment and the human population, using ecological methods and identifying a special ecological system (ecosystem) with cultural aspects. Analysing an ecosystem is possible through its dynamic aspects (BORSOS 2001, 23).

All activities are dynamic aspects, with their own continuity and/or regularity perpetually affecting the entire system thereby determining it. From the archaeozoological point of view we can define the fact of meat consumption as a dynamic aspect, because this activity involves definite interactions between animals and the human population.

Determining dynamic aspects does not require the complete reconstruction of the contemporaneous environment, albeit these reconstructions provide more information for research making them more complex.

The archaeological populations of humans and the animal species they interacted with may be conceived like two distinct biological populations: a group of individuals with similarly definable properties, represented by suitable numbers and interactions. These groups are independent of each other (MAJER 2004, 33).

In this case, however, archaeological human populations may be seen in a wider sense than biological populations, because they are not "only" reproductive groups, but they were also defined by cultural aspects. The domestic animals were controlled and selected by the human population. Along a different dimension, bone finds are also selected by cultural aspects, e.g. customs of butchering, meat consumption and garbage disposal.

Based on the interpretation of meat consumption as a dynamic aspect, a special ecosystem can be sketched *(Fig. 2)*. In this case CULTURE, the NATURAL ENVIRONMENT and DOMESTIC ANIMALS were the main entities (taken as constant substances), which operated the system with their own interactions.

In order to analyze the dynamic aspect we have to define variables, which depended on the entities of the ecosystem and were available in all of the discussed archaeological periods. These variables were



Fig. 2. Paleoecosystem built around the natural environment, domestic animals and culture

not the elements of the system, because the stationary nature of these elements is the main axiome of the ecosystem. These variables can only be specific dimensions of the entities, but not the entities themselves (RAPPAPORT 1968, 4). Possible is a specific attribute of the populations, or the variability of the population, but not the population itself (RAPPAPORT 1968, 4). From the viewpoint of animal bones this variable may be the rate of meat consumption, the type of animal keeping, the technology of consumption or the techniques of the exploitation of the environment.

Natural environment as an entity included all biotic and abiotic factors around the settlement *(Table 5)* where the human population once lived. Moreover, other human populations living at nearby settlements were also included in this entity.

Culture as an ecological entity is restricted, because through the mirror of animal bones, we can only analyse meat consumption, animal keeping, hunting, fishing, that is, subsistence strategies connected to the direct evidence of animal remains. This entity also includes techniques of animal exploitation.

The entity of domestic animals included all domestic species, which produced the primary and liminal (transitional) environment between the natural environment and the human population.



 Table 5. The possible types of interactions between the entities – +: profitable; –: harmful; 0: indifferent;

 ±: both profitable and harmful

#### Self-regulatory systems and feedback

This type of ecological systems is self-regulated by the interactions between the entities and the dynamic aspects. In such systems all actions provoke a response. If any of the value(s) of the variables change, process(es) are generated which can change other variables in order to maintain the equilibrium of the whole system (RAPPAPORT 1968, 4). This process, called feedback, can be either positive or negative from the viewpoint of the populations.

Herding and control can also regulate the numbers of animals. The abridgement of the possibility of overpopulation of the species may be perceived as a positive feedback for the human population and the natural environment, but it has negative bearing on controlled domestic animal population.

#### The catchment area and resource management

On the basis of the presence of wild and domestic animals as an indicator of the natural habitats, it is possible to determine the contemporaneous catchment area once exploited by the archaeological populations.

The liminal zones between different habitat types were the most productive areas from the viewpoint of natural resources. Therefore, the catchment areas of settlements usually included several liminal zones (SUTTON – ANDERSON 2004, 5), because the productivity of the catchment area depended on the numbers of liminal zones incorporated.

The cadence of exploitation for animal resources concerns the resource management practices of the human population. There were two ways for this management (SUTTON – ANDERSON 2004, 111): active and passive.

All types of exploitation are active, which require the death of the animal, because the entire animal is used (meat, skin, bone etc.). On the other hand, this means the conscious control, butchering or hunting and eating of the animal species in question (SUTTON – ANDERSON 2004, 115).

The passive type of exploitation includes all animal utilization techniques, which do not require the killing of animals. These types of exploitation also include spiritual activities, offerings etc., which do not serve the common utilities, the merely utilitarian forms of exploitation, but are put to the service of higher levels of ideologies (SUTTON – ANDERSON 2004, 115). It is important to note, that neither intensive animal keeping, nor intensive agricultural activities excluded the exploitation of natural resources (hunting, fishing, gathering, etc.), although the importance of these activities was much smaller.

In this case study the active resource exploitation of the animals – as mirrored by animal bones – showed some growth during the Early Bronze Age and Late Bronze Age, although the number of bones and the concomitant diversity of species was less in the earlier periods, which may influence the results.

#### Cultural niches of the main domestic species

In classical ecology, the different animal species are perceived as living in a special multidimensional space within the ecosystem. This is called a niche. The niche includes all interactions of the species with its own natural environment (MAJER 2004, 37). The axes of this multidimensional space provide the natural factors, which similarly influence the everyday life of human populations (MAJER 2004, 41). The different factors are comparable in terms of the interdependence with each other.

If the niches of two species overlap with each other (similar activity-time, similar food preferences, similar habits, etc.), a competition begins between the two species concerned, which finally leads to the disappearance of one of them (GÉCZY 1984, 65).

S. Bökönyi noticed in his work, that the improvement of the domestic animal species was influenced by the following factors (BÖKÖNYI 1974, 88):

- geographical and climatic factors (resource-continuum);
- factors connected to zoogeography and domestication;
- factors connected to the use of domestic animals;
- ethnic reasons;
- factors associated with class-structure and types of the settlement;
- factors connected with the techniques of husbandry;
- religious causes.

Adapting the concept of niche for the factors listed above, special socio-ecological niches can be defined for domestic species. These spaces determine the whole life of animals, their life spans, their foraging, as well as their socio-economical position within the settlement.

In the case of the main domestic animals (cattle, sheep/goat, pig) the niches can be determined relatively easily by the number of the utilization techniques and the natural resource exploitation skills of the species. The life of the animal population and the mere fact of keeping a particular species mostly depend on these niches (*Fig. 3*).

Cattle have much more utilization possibilities than other domestic species, but they have the least resource-using ability. Small ruminants have less utilization possibilities, but they are more tolerant

toward the environment. Pigs have only a single utilization possibility, meat, but they possess the widest resourceusing ability and their rate of reproduction is the highest livestock. among The niches of the main domestic species are thus more-or-less culturally and biologically separated, therefore these species do not compete with each other. This is one possible answer, to the question why these animals became the main domestic ones in many parts of the world (GÉCZY 1984, 65).



Fig. 3. Niche-like spaces of the most important domestic animals

#### Mortality and feedback

After the analysis of the identifiable bones, it became apparent that the majority of domestic animals were butchered in their adult ages. It is important to notice, that the "bone-eater" taphonomic factors tend to more easily destroy the bones of young animals. All results in this paper are interpreted in the mirror of taphonomic laws.

In the case of cattle, culling the young seems to be more frequent in the Late Bronze Age. This trend is possibly linked with high scale utilization possibilities. Diachronic swings in kill-off ages exerts a positive feedback on the cattle population. A cultural process indicates a biological one.

#### Péter Csippán

In the case of small ruminants, the kill-off ages show a different situation from those of cattle. The young-age killings are also decreasing until the Early Bronze Age, but this trend is slipping into the Late Bronze Age. This phenomenon possibly depends on the number of animals in the stock. The supply of young meat is higher in a sufficiently large stock, because the killing of a young animals does not threaten the replenishment of the whole stock.

On the other hand the mode of utilization for these animals may have changed during different archaeological periods. Cultural change therefore also indicates a biological difference in this case as well. The phenomenon had a negative feedback effect on the population of small ruminants.

In the case of pigs the highest ratio of the remains originated from young animals. This phenomenon faded away by the Early Bronze Age period, but increased again in the Late Bronze Age. The small utilities determine the lifetime of these animals, so cultural decisions influence the population of pigs through a negative feedback (*Fig. 4*).



Fig. 4. Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő – kill-off patterns of the main domestic species

#### The technology of meat processing and body part distributions

Following the steps of J. H. Steward's cultural ecology, the next step is determining the techniques of the exploitation of the natural environment. In our case this technique is – in the mirror of meat consumption as a dynamic aspect – meat processing.

The identification of butchering or cut-marks in prehistoric materials is difficult and not always clean-cut, but the process of butchering is traceable by the differential representation of body parts of various animal species. The over- and underrepresentation observed may have different importance, which is mirrored in the quantity and quality of the representation.

For this analysis we have to compare the real representation of the bone finds with the theoretical ratios of the bones in each body part in a whole skeleton (*Table 6*; REITZ – WING 1999, 212; CSIPPÁN 2007, 92–93). Using this method there is a possibility to understand differences between meat processing in

head	neuro- et viscerocranium, mandibles, hyoideum, horncores	
trunk	vertebras (c, th, l, s, cd), ribs	
cranial part	scapula, humerus, radius, ulna	
caudali part	pelvis, femur, tibia, patella	
front leg	carpals, metacarpals	
rear leg	tarsals, metatarsals, astragalus, calcaneus	
feet	phalanges, sesamoids	

different archaeological periods (Fig. 5).

In order to make the different numbers of bone finds more comparable, the natural logarithm of the calculated percentages was used following the method of Elizabeth J. Reitz and Elizabeth S. Wing (1999, 212).

Table 6. Distribution of bones in the different body parts



Fig. 5. Interpretation of the archeozoological data and their connections with the different parts of culture

In the case of cattle the under- and overrepresentation of the body parts is more or less equal in all periods. This observation may have two possible interpretations:

- 1. similar utilization and similar butchering processes;
- 2. similar site and similar taphonomic effects.

The head, the cranial, the caudal part and the rear leg are overrepresented in each period, but the others are underrepresented. In the case of the head region, the fragility of the skull may have influenced the high numbers. The cranial and caudal parts unequivocally represent preferences for the meat-rich body regions. The differences between the representation of the front and rear legs is also interesting. The interpretation of this phenomenon needs more evidence and further analyses.

The ratios of body parts among small ruminant remains are very similar to those of cattle. Only the metapodials and other bones of the feet show some differences. On the one hand, this may be interpreted as the outcome of taphonomic processes, because these bones are small enough to be lost with greater probability. On the other hand, this phenomenon may also be explained by skinning, because during that process the same bones usually remain in the raw skin and may be deposited elsewhere. No diachronic differences were seen in the deposition of small ruminant remains.

In the case of pigs, the underrepresentation of metapodials and the rest of the foot bones is the same or even higher than was the case with small ruminants. The arch of the diagram possibly shows differences in meat processing and relevant techniques. Only the Neolithic and Copper Age samples are different, although the number of bones in these samples is very low.
#### Péter Csippán

#### Conclusions

This paper is an essay on the application of classical steps of cultural ecology in a small area of archaeology: archaeozoology. Hopefully it could be made clear how possibilities of the cultural ecological approach can be used in archaeozoology. This solution is important as natural factors played a key role in the lives of prehistoric cultures.

The case study of Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő was considered suitable for demonstrating these possibilities, because this site is characterized by multi-periodicity and a continuity of prehistoric occupation.

Cattle were the most prominent domestic animal in all periods at the site, followed by small ruminants (sheep/goat) and pig. The number of pig remains grew until the beginning of the Late Bronze Age (BÖKÖNYI 1979–1980, 112). This phenomenon is possibly connected to the change to the Subboreal climatic phase, which favoured pig-keeping in riverine geographical environments.

The hunting of game was confined to meat-games such as red deer (*Cervus elaphus* L.) and aurochs (*Bos primigenius* Boj.). A rare faunal element identified in the Neolithic assemblage was horse, possibly representing the wild form (*Equus ferus gmelini*).

The importance of hunting was increasing by the Bronze Age. The repertoire of hunted wild ungulates was completed by two other meat purpose wild animals, roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus* L.) and wild boar (*Sus scrofa* L.). Remains of small, fur-bearing game also occurred.

The exploitation of natural resources, that is, resource management was strongly dependent on the cultural aspects of the human population. The method considered in this paper followed J. Steward' approach to cultural ecology in three steps:

- 1. circumstantial description of human cultures and their own natural environment;
- 2. identification of the exploitation techniques of the natural environment and the adaptation of the human population. Description of the relationship between the adaptation to the natural environment and the special behaviour patterns;
- 3. the leading roles of adaptation and technology in different parts of the culture.

Following J. Steward's method the observed results were set in a special cultural ecosystem. This system was studied based on the bone finds – through the mirror of meat consumption. So in this case the dynamic aspect, which is a propulsive force in the system, is the fact of meat consumption itself.

This special ecosystem is based on three different entities: CULTURE (Subsistence strategies) – NATURAL ENVIRONMENT – DOMESTIC ANIMALS. In this system, the main entities communicate with each other through special interactions, which have positive or negative feedback effects on the different elements of the entities.

Using this approach based on archaeozoological analysis, ancient lifestyles and animal keeping were interpreted. The faunal diversity show the arrangement of possible natural resources in the proximity of settlements and help outline the resource management of prehistoric populations (REMÉNYI 2003, 269).

The analysis clarified the special niches (a concept borrowed from ecology) of the main domestic species. These topological spaces determined the life and utilization of the animals. Finally the technology of animal exploitation differed and this diversity was recognizable in the ratios of the various bones and body parts of the animals recovered. Using this method outlined a complex picture of the paleoecological system near the settlements, animal keeping and hunting – through the aspect of meat consumption.

# Appendix 1

# List of animal remains from the excavations

Period	Neolithic	Conner Age	Bronz	ze Age	
reriou	Neontific	Copper Age	EBA	LBA	Tatal
Number of features	29	11	122	88	Total
Species					
Cattle (Bos taurus L.)	467	297	790	383	1937
Small ruminants (Caprinidae sp.)	57	216	388	164	825
Pig (Sus domesticus Erxl.)	11	75	195	83	364
Horse (Equus caballus L.)		2	153	19	174
Dog (Canis familiaris L.)	*	12	34	3	49
Domestic mammals	535	602	1560	652	3349
Wild horse (Equus ferus gmelini)	1				1
Aurochs (Bos primigenius Boj.)	5	11	13	6	35
Red deer (Cervus elaphus L.)	3	20	84	22	129
Roe deer (Capreolus capreolus L.)		2	5	9	16
Wild boar (Sus scrofa L.)		4	34	9	47
Wolf (Canis lupus L.)				1	1
Red fox (Vulpes vulpes L.)			4		4
Beaver (Castor fiber L.)		1		ĺ	1
Wild hare (Lepus europaeus L.)			5		5
Rodent (Rodentia)			9		9
Wild mammals	9	38	154	47	248
Bird (Aves)			4		4
Pond tortoise ( <i>Emys orbicularis</i> L.)			2	8	10
Fish (Pisces)			5	2	7
Riverine shell (Unio sp.)	6	13	24	5	48
Great ramshorn ( <i>Planorbarius corneus</i> L.)		6		43	49
Great pond snail (Lymnaea stagnalis L.)				1	1
Snail (Gastropoda)	1		2	9	12
Other	7	19	37	68	131
Middle size mammal (Mammalia indet.)			8		8
Small ungulate (Ungulata indet.)	27	98	455	164	744
Large ungulate (Ungulata indet.)	735	232	1236	466	2669
	762	330	1699	630	3421
Total	1313	989	3450	1397	7149

\* - coprolite

Cattle	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.2	1.435	70	23.9	3.173	1.738
Trunk	72	50.0	3.91	70	23.9	3.173	-0.737
Cranial part	8	5.55	1.713	46	15.7	2.754	1.041
Caudal part	8	5.55	1.713	31	10.6	2.359	0.646
Front leg	14	9.7	2.272	21	7.2	1.970	-0.302
Rear leg	12	8.3	2.116	26	8.9	2.183	0.067
Feet	24	16.7	2.815	29	9.9	2.292	-0.523
Total	144	100		293	100.0		

# Expected and observed quantities of the body parts of the main domestic species in the Neolithic period

Small ruminants	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.5	1.504	52	27.8	3.325	1.821
Trunk	61	45.9	3.826	25	13.4	2.593	-1.233
Cranial part	8	6.0	1.791	37	19.8	2.985	1.194
Caudal part	8	6.0	1.791	37	19.8	2.985	1.194
Front leg	14	10.6	2.36	18	9.6	2.264	-0.096
Rear leg	12	9.0	2.197	18	9.6	2.264	0.067
Feet	24	18.0	2.89	_	_	_	_
Total	133	100		187	100.0		

Pig	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	4	2.2	0.788	37	50.0	3.912	3.124
Trunk	76	40.4	3.698	7	9.5	2.247	-1.451
Cranial part	8	4.3	1.458	18	24.3	3.191	1.733
Caudal part	10	5.3	1.667	8	10.8	2.381	0.714
Front leg	24	12.7	2.541	-	-	-	_
Rear leg	18	9.6	2.261	3	4.1	1.400	-0.861
Feet	48	25.5	3.238	1	1.4	0.301	-2.937
Total	188	100		74	100.0		

# Expected and observed quantities of the body parts of the main domestic species in the Copper Age period

Cattle	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.2	1.435	70	23.9	3.173	1.738
Trunk	72	50.0	3.91	70	23.9	3.173	-0.737
Cranial part	8	5.55	1.713	46	15.7	2.754	1.041
Caudal part	8	5.55	1.713	31	10.6	2.359	0.646
Front leg	14	9.7	2.272	21	7.2	1.970	-0.302
Rear leg	12	8.3	2.116	26	8.9	2.183	0.067
Feet	24	16.7	2.815	29	9.9	2.292	-0.523
Total	144	100		293	100.0		

Small ruminants	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.5	1.504	52	27.8	3.325	1.821
Trunk	61	45.9	3.826	25	13.4	2.593	-1.233
Cranial part	8	6.0	1.791	37	19.8	2.985	1.194
Caudal part	8	6.0	1.791	37	19.8	2.985	1.194
Front leg	14	10.6	2.36	18	9.6	2.264	-0.096
Rear leg	12	9.0	2.197	18	9.6	2.264	0.067
Feet	24	18.0	2.89	_	_	_	_
Total	133	100		187	100.0		

Pig	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	Lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	4	2.2	0.788	37	50.0	3.912	3.124
Trunk	76	40.4	3.698	7	9.5	2.247	-1.451
Cranial part	8	4.3	1.458	18	24.3	3.191	1.733
Caudal part	10	5.3	1.667	8	10.8	2.381	0.714
Front leg	24	12.7	2.541	_	_	_	_
Rear leg	18	9.6	2.261	3	4.1	1.400	-0.861
Feet	48	25.5	3.238	1	1.4	0.301	-2.937
Total	188	100		74	100.0		

# Expected and observed quantities of the body parts of the main domestic species in the Early Bronze Age period

Cattle	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.2	1.435	231	28.7	3.356	1.921
Trunk	72	50.0	3.91	149	18.5	2.917	-0.993
Cranial part	8	5.55	1.713	87	10.8	2.379	0.666
Caudal part	8	5.55	1.713	94	11.7	2.459	0.746
Front leg	14	9.7	2.272	52	6.5	1.871	-0.401
Rear leg	12	8.3	2.116	92	11.4	2.433	0.317
Feet	24	16.7	2.815	99	12.3	2.509	-0.306
Total	144	100		804	100		

Small ruminants	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.5	1.504	128	42.7	3.754	2.25
Trunk	61	45.9	3.826	17	5.7	1.74	-2.086
Cranial part	8	6.0	1.791	51	17.0	2.833	1.042
Caudal part	8	6.0	1.791	56	18.7	2.928	1.137
Front leg	14	10.6	2.36	13	4.3	1.458	-0.902
Rear leg	12	9.0	2.197	31	10.3	2.332	0.135
Feet	24	18.0	2.89	4	1.3	0.22	-2.67
Total	133	100		300	100		

Pig	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lnx-lny
Head	4	2.2	0.788	75	38.7	3.655	2.867
Trunk	76	40.4	3.698	14	7.2	1.974	-1.724
Cranial part	8	4.3	1.458	38	19.6	2.975	1.517
Caudal part	10	5.3	1.667	31	15.9	2.766	1.099
Front leg	24	12.7	2.541	6	3.1	1.131	-1.41
Rear leg	18	9.6	2.261	16	8.2	2.104	-0.157
Feet	48	25.5	3.238	14	7.2	1.974	-1.264
Total	188	100		194	100		

# Expected and observed quantities of the body parts of the main domestic species in the Late Bronze Age period

Cattle	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.2	1.435	87	23.2	3.144	1.709
Trunk	72	50.0	3.91	78	20.8	3.034	-0.876
Cranial part	8	5.55	1.713	53	14.1	2.646	0.933
Caudal part	8	5.55	1.713	41	10.9	2.388	0.675
Front leg	14	9.7	2.272	24	6.4	1.856	-0.416
Rear leg	12	8.3	2.116	60	16.0	2.772	0.656
Feet	24	16.7	2.815	32	8.5	2.14	-0.675
Total	144	100		375	100		

Small ruminants	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	6	4.5	1.504	71	46.1	3.83	2.326
Trunk	61	45.9	3.826	8	5.2	1.648	-2.178
Cranial part	8	6.0	1.791	21	13.6	2.61	0.819
Caudal part	8	6.0	1.791	33	21.4	3.063	1.272
Front leg	14	10.6	2.36	7	4.5	1.504	-0.856
Rear leg	12	9.0	2.197	14	9.1	2.208	0.011
Feet	24	18.0	2.89	-	-	_	-
Total	133	100		154	100		

Pig	Expected			Observed			
	NISP	NISP%	lnx	NISP	NISP%	lny	lny-lnx
Head	4	2.2	0.788	41	49.4	3.899	3.111
Trunk	76	40.4	3.698	5	6.0	1.791	-1.907
Cranial part	8	4.3	1.458	18	21.7	3.077	1.619
Caudal part	10	5.3	1.667	10	12.0	2.484	0.817
Front leg	24	12.7	2.541	2	2.4	0.875	-1.666
Rear leg	18	9.6	2.261	1	1.2	0.182	-2.079
Feet	48	25.5	3.238	6	7.2	1.974	-1.264
Total	188	100		83	100		











#### References

#### BINFORD, L. R. 1962

Archaeology as Anthropology. American Antiquity 28 (1962) 217-225.

BINFORD, L. R. 1965

Archaeological systematics and the study of culture process. American Antiquity 31 (1965) 203–210.

## BORSOS, B. 2000

Populáció–ökoszisztéma–niche. Az ökológia helye és szerepe az ökológiai antropológiában – Population–ecosystem–niche. The status and the role of ecology in ecological anthropology. *Népi kultúra–Népi társadalom* 20 (2000) 9–36.

## Bökönyi, S. 1974

History of domestic mammals in Central and Eastern Europe. Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó.

#### BÖKÖNYI, S. 1978

The earliest waves of domestic horses in East Europe. *The Journal of Indo-European Studies* 6 (1978) 18–75.

#### Bökönyi, S. 1979–1980

A Közép-Alföld bronzkori állatvilága – Animal bones from the Bronze Age of the central part of the Great Hungarian Plain. *Szolnok Megyei Múzeumok Évkönyve* 1979–1980, 109–115.

#### CHOYKE, A. M. - BARTOSIEWICZ, L. 1999

Bronze age animal exploitation in western Hungary. In: Jerem, E. – Poroszlai, I. (eds): Archaeology of Bronze Age and Iron Age. Budapest: Archaeolingua 1999, 239–249.

#### CLARK, J. G. D. 1952

Prehistoric Europe: The Economic Basis. London: Methuen.

## COE, M. D. – FLANNERY, K. V. 1968

*Early Cultures and Human Ecology in South Coastal Guatemala.* Smithsonian Contributions to Anthropology 3, Washington: Smithsonian Press.

#### CSIPPÁN, P. 2007

Ökológiai módszerek a régészetben. Esettanulmány a Dunakeszi-Székes-dűlő őskori településeiről előkerült állatmaradványok kapcsán – Ecological methods in archaeology. Case study of the animal remains from Dunakeszi-Székes-dűlő. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 132 (2007) 83–110.

#### VON DEN DRIESCH, A. 1976

*A guide to the measurement of animal bones from archaeological sites.* Peabody Museum Bulletin 1, Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

#### GÉCZY, B. 1984

Őslénytan. Budapest: Tankönyvkiadó.

#### GYULAI, F. 2002

Die Pflanzenreste eines spätbronzezeitlichen Röhrenbrunnens. Budapest Régiségei 36 (2002) 305-311.

#### HARDESTY, D. L. 1977

Ecological Anthropology. New York: John Wiley and Sons Inc.

#### HORVÁTH, L. A. - SZILAS, G. - ENDRŐDI, A. - HORVÁTH, M. A. 2003

Előzetes jelentés a Dunakeszi-Székesdűlőn végzett őskori telepásatásról – Vorbericht über die Ausgrabung der urzeitlichen Siedlungen von Dunakeszi, Székesdűlő. *Régészeti kutatások Magyarországon 2000 – Archaeological Investigations in Hungary 2000*, Budapest 2003, 5–19.

## Horváth, L. A. – Szilas, G. – Endrődi, A. – Horváth, M. A. 2004

Megelőző feltárás Dunakeszi-Székesdűlőn – Preliminary excavation at Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő.
 In: Nagy, E. Gy. – Dani, J. – Hajdú, Zs. (eds): MΩMOΣ II. Őskoros Kutatók II. Összejövetelének konferenciakötete. Debrecen 2000. november 6–8. Debrecen 2004, 209–218.

## JÁRAINÉ KOMLÓDI, M. 2000

A Kárpát-medence növényeinek kialakulása. Tilia 9 (2000) 5-59.

KALICZ-SCHREIBER, R. – KALICZ, N. 1998–2000

A harangedények szerepe a Budapest környéki kora bronzkor társadalmi viszonyainak megítélésében – The Role of Bell Beakers in Reflecting Social Relations in the Early Bronze Age of Budapest. *Archaeologiai Értesítő* 125 (1998–2000) 45–78.

## Kordos, L. 1977

Changes in the Holocene climate of Hungary reflected by the "vole-thermometer" method. *Földrajzi Közlemények* 15/1–3 (1977) 222–229.

#### KOROM, A. - REMÉNYI, L. 2005

Újabb régészeti kutatások Dunakeszi-Székesdűlőn – Recent archaeological investigations at Dunakeszi-Székesdűlő. *Aquincumi füzetek* 11 (2005) 197–209.

#### MAJER, J. 2004

Bevezetés az ökológiába. Pécs: Dialóg Campus Kiadó.

#### MATOLCSI, J. 1968

A szarvasmarha testnagyságának változása a történelmi korszakokban Magyarország területén. *Agrártörténeti Szemle* 10 (1968) 1–38.

#### MATOLCSI, J. 1970

Historische Erforschung der Körpergrösse des Rindes auf Grund von ungarischen Knochenmaterial. Zeitschrift für Tierzüchtung und Züchtungsbiologie 87/2 (1970) 89–137.

#### NOBIS, G. 1954

Zur Kenntnis der ur- und frühgeschichtlichen Rinder Nord- und Mitteldeutschlands. Zeitschrift für Tierzüchtung und Züchtungsbiologie 63 (1954) 155–194.

#### RAPPAPORT, R. A. 1968

Pigs for the Ancestors. New Haven and London: Yale University Press.

#### RAPPAPORT, R. A. 1971

Ritual, Sanctity and Cybernetics. American Anthropologist 73/1 (1971) 59-76.

#### REITZ, E. J. – WING, E. S. 1999

Zooarchaeology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

#### REMÉNYI, L. 2003

A gazdálkodás és életmód kérdései a bronzkori Kárpát-medencében. In: Viga, Gy. – Holló, Sz. A. – Schwalm, E. Cs. (eds): *Vándorutak – Múzeumi örökség. Tanulmányok Bodó Sándor tiszteletére, 60. születésnapja alkalmából.* Budapest: Archaeolingua 2003, 267–275.

#### STEWARD, J. H. 1955

Theory of Culture Change. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

#### STEWARD, J. H. 1977

Evolution an Ecology. Essays on Social Transformation. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

## SUTTON, M. Q. - ANDERSON, E. N. 2004

Introduction to Cultural Ecology. Oxford: Berg.

#### SZILAS, G. 2002

Die Freilegung eines bronzezeitlichen Brunnens speziellen Typs in Dunakeszi. *Budapest Régiségei* 36 (2002), 291–303.

#### TEICHERT, M. 1969

Osteologische Untersuchungen zur Berechnung der Widerristhöhe bei vor- und frühgeschichtlichen Schweinen. *Kühn Archiv* 83/3 (1969) 237–292.

#### VITT, O. V. 1952

Loshagi Pazyrykskikh kurganov. Sovetskaya Arkheologiya 16 (1952) 164-203.

#### Vörös, I. 1994

Animal husbandry and hunting in the Middle Neolithic settlement at Tiszavasvári-Deákhalmi dűlő (Upper Tisza region). *Jósa András Múzeum Évkönyve* 36 (1994) 167–184.

## VÖRÖS, I. 2000

Archeozoológia-Könyezeti rekonstrukció. Manuscript.

## Middle Bronze Age Beyond the Eastern Fringe of the Carpathian Basin<sup>1</sup>

#### NECULAI BOLOHAN – ANDREI ASĂNDULESEI

#### Abstract

The current investigations allowed us to set forth some assumptions or conclusions, which concern the evolution of the Costişa community in the context of the passage from Early Bronze Age to Middle Bronze Age and in the Middle Bronze Age within the eastern Carpathians area. On the account of the precious research it can be established that there existed some interference between Monteoru Ic4 and the beginning of the Costişa communities, and contacts intensified during the Monteoru Ic3–Ic2 phases.

There is enough evidence to place the beginning of the Costişa culture at the very end of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. The idea of a Central European contribution in defining Costişa features became an established truth. If we look back in time, a similar phenomenon occurred in the case of the Globular Amphora culture that penetrated through Volhynia and western Podolia to the northern half of Moldavia. Accepting this scenario, these communities in the northern half of Moldavia might represent an extremely southern extension of the Komariw-Bialyi Potik groups blended in the area by some Carpathian Basin features. Nevertheless, the newly created identity might represent in some extent the result of negotiating places, artefacts, strategies and multilateral relationships.

By bringing together the archaeological data, we can conclude that during the final stage of the Early Bronze Age and the beginning of the Middle Bronze Age the communities in the foothills of the eastern Carpathians could act together with other contemporary communities (Mnogovalikovaya culture, Monteoru culture) as a mediator between areas of the Carpathian Basin and neighbouring areas. In this scenario, salt may have played an important role. The hilltop settlement of Siliştea seems to have had all the necessary characteristics (location, altitude, orientation, visibility) in a close spatial relation to the salt springs in the Cracău-Bistriţa catchments.

#### **Introductory notes**

We have witnessed lately a raising need to reassess the data concerning the end of the Early Bronze Age (EBA) and the beginning of the Middle Bronze Age (MBA) for the area stretching east of the Carpathian Basin. In my case, this reassessment was imposed by the discovery, in the aforementioned area, of some artefacts linked to the region of Central Europe. Moreover, the usual discourse regarding this area has to be altered given the new achievements in the fields of structural analyses and non-invasive investigations. Furthermore, the development of the database, a changing discourse regarding the area and the period under study, in terms of both theory and methodology, led to a more active approach and comprehension of the characteristic phenomena. The new framework of analysis and the new theoretical and methodological approach allowed taking into consideration unused data which made possible a holistic understanding of the analyzed phenomena.

Apparently, the eastern Carpathian area during the MBA seems to be characterized by "welldefined" cultural communities (archaeological cultures), occupying two distinct areas within the same region. Thus, the southern part belongs to the Monteoru *culture* and the north to the Costişa *culture*. In between these two distinct areas, in the Sub-Carpathian region and in the proximity of the Carpathian Mountain passes, there is a buffer territory with some artefacts, which do not resemble those found in the surrounding areas. This buffer territory was settled and enabled to function because of its location in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A first abridged draft of this contribution was published as BOLOHAN 2010.

proximity of the mountain passes and the connection to the most important means of communication in the area, namely the Siret river which crosses the eastern Carpathian area from north up to the Danube Delta.

Up to now, archaeological research in the area led to the discovery of some major archaeological sites, which were analyzed within the cultural-historical framework. The accidental similarities or differences were explained by the *movement* of communities or resulting from *imports*. These analyses led to establishing prototypes for the artefacts discovered in the area, which can be traced across several generations. Nonetheless, up to now, we do not have an assessment concerning different patterns of relations, the dynamics of settlements, the individuals or the elites in the area.

The fragmented picture of the research done in the area is the consequence of several factors: some areas received more attention, while others were neglected following the distinct interests of the archaeologists who preferred to focus on their areas of interest and expertise. Thus, for the EBA in eastern Romania, there is only one monographic study (BURTĂNESCU 2002). The rest is reserved to possible surprises as was recently stated (VULPE 2010, 220–232, Figs 30–31). Up to recently we saw only a few data reported concerning the period of the MBA. Nevertheless, the image started to be completed thanks to the research done since the year 2000 (MUNTEANU 2010 and most of the recent bibliography concerning the topic in the area). On the other hand, the period of the LBA has been the focus of research done in the area, which resulted in numerous studies dedicated to this particular segment (DASCĂLU 2007 with bibliography).

These introductory note are meant to stress the lack of national or regional purposes, which could have established patterns of research and prioritize areas of interest. Moreover, it is important to stress the urgency of connecting the traditional approach to the analytical approach in order to create a new research paradigm.

#### On local theory and methodology

For a few years, local archaeology has been trying to re-evaluate its theoretical and methodological background (ANGHELINU 2003; PALINCAŞ 2010 and the bibliography) and to reassess some of the data concerning the area of study (POPESCU – BĂJENARU 2008). The current approach re-evaluates some of the archaeological literature, field observations, "excavations" in some museum deposits and the possibility to include some non-invasive and invasive research methods. On this occasion, I paid attention to the data issued by archaeologists of different periods in the attempt to appraise my research concerning the transition from the EBA to MBA and the content of these chronological sequences.

In the last few years we had the possibility of extending the observations by including non-invasive and non-destructive research techniques (topographical mapping, intensive grid survey, drilling, as well as geomagnetic and geoelectric field measurments and radiocarbon dating). They have allowed a re-evaluation and the identification of new strategies of field research.

This study aims to change the parochial and "canonical" view on *material culture* and to find a way to construct the materiality of cultures in the need to permanently re-evaluate the potentials of archaeology. On account of these inferences the next step might unveil the inner dynamic, the interactions and the conditions for understanding the way of mixing cultures and creating cultural *buffer territories* in Central and eastern European prehistory.

Despite a long and very important bulk of discoveries, archaeology in eastern Europe has mainly worked with a traditional culture-historical approach or from a neo-evolutionist viewpoint when assessing the equation between culture, history, material culture and identity. Archaeologists have focused mainly on identifying *archaeological cultures* and throwing bridges in a very complicate and bushy relative chronology and artefact typology. Scholars have tried to map the geographical distribution through

differences and similarities in artefacts as well. These analogies have constantly been explained by diffusion and migration. In this respect, the task is to set up a long distribution system from prehistory to historical times for building the history of known ancient people according to interwar archaeological thought (for an up to date critique see KRISTIANSEN 2000, 19–21).

Thus, different types of classificatory rules produce *archaeological cultures* as the expression of the relation between a body of common features and a social group charted within an area. The archaeological *culture* became rather a group or an artifactual style, resulting from a hierarchy of artefact types indicating morphological or functional similitudes. Noteworthy is the review of the notion of "archaeological culture" in all its components according to the western school of archaeology. It is needless to explain here the struggle for reassessing the meanings of the words: artefacts, cultures, material cultures (VAN DER WAALS 1984, 2-5; SHANKS – TILLEY 1987, 117–119, 130–134). Unfortunately, there are no references concerning Far East European archaeology (SHENNAN 1994, 5-14, 17-22). In contemporary times we may talk about a long history concerning the notion of "archaeological culture" from Gustaf Kossina to Vere Gordon Childe up to Ian Hodder (HIDES 1996, 25–27). Most of the scholars in western Europe and North America are against the approach that portrayed "cultural groups as monolithic, bounded, objective identities" (JONES - GRAVES-BROWN 1996, 5). To some extent, archaeological cultures or cultural groups may indicate an entity or an individual with its own life circle, from birth until their death. The study of *material culture* has been done by concentrating on typologies and taxonomies and not on the complexity and diversity of decrypting the grammar of material culture (TILLEY 1991, 15–17) or the *history* masked by materiality or by the artefacts, avoiding to deal with the "communicative qualities of material culture" (LUCY 2005, 99). Furthermore, this simplified inquiry is skirting the topic of "the active role of material culture in constituting, rather than merely reflecting social realities" (LUCY 2005, 99).

Those efforts did not have a theoretic frame and an up-to-date methodology, which would have facilitated a relinquishment of the older and confusing modes of interpretation of materiality, which paid tribute to a *mechanical* cultural evolutionism or neo-evolutionism. By means of this model, older periods were divided into cultural units, defined through a set of common features (so close to the identity sameness!) to be found within fixed or fluctuant boundaries. Thus, the main task and result consist of finding regional groups through stylistic variations. From this standpoint to the involvement and decryption of social facts, institutions, ideologies, codes of transmitting knowledge or models of mobility for tracking past identities, there was and still is a long way to go.

At the moment, I propose to reinforce the concept of *cultural identity* in local archaeology, with aspects of stylistic change and artefact variability, which is traditionally based on the relationships between people and objects, people and places and objects and places. It is not my intention to avoid the artefactual taxonomies or to simply find analogies. I intend to push further on the way of searching and seeing material culture in order to set up a multivariate methodological consensus (WELLS 1998). The analysis of cultural identities in this area of study has not been a priority given the fact that the goal has been the need for defining archaeological units (cultures, groups), which led to a fragmentation of the discourse. Alternatively, even worst, this race to become the "godfather" for a cultural unit may express a powerful archaeological ego.

Lately, starting in 2000, the issue of understanding the EBA and the beginning of MBA east of the Carpathians in almost all of its components, but in a regional context became a main task.

#### **Environment and area of study**

The area of study is located in the west-Central parts of Moldavia, in Romania, and is represented by a region stretching from the eastern Carpathian Mountains in the west to the western banks of the Siret river in the east. Particularly, I will refer to the middle part of the Moldavian Sub-Carpathians, which comprises three distinct depressions: Ozana-Topolița, Cracău-Bistrița and Tazlău-Cașin (VELCEA – SAVU 1982, 236–247). The area consists of mountainous regions, hills and highlands on the western edges, and two main alluvial plains and watersheds, Cracău and Bistrița. Although, there is no available data on the paleohydrography of the area during the Bronze Age, one can say that it was not totally different from the modern age. For Moldavia, the Siret represented the main catchment and way of access, which passed through different regions. In this sense, the river played the role of mediating contacts. For the Cracău-Bistrița depression, the Bistrița river was the main axis of communication and catchments area. The middle terraces offered, due to alluvial deposits, proper conditions for settlement and agriculture. The left bank, after the Cracău flows into the Bistrița, is a little bit higher than the right bank, with some steep slopes. The smaller tributaries, which branch the left terraces of Bistrița, affected the landscape. The main archaeological sites with traces of habitation from the Bronze Age similar to Costişa are located on the top of the terraces (*Fig. 1*).

The goal of this contribution is to focus upon the Cracău-Bistrița geographical depression very well marked to the west, north, east, and rather open to the south. In such conditions, the depression was an important *buffer territory* between the northern and Central parts of Moldavia, along the outer piedmonts of the eastern Carpathians and between east and west; in other words, due to its geographical position and cultural dynamic a *buffer territory* between western Moldavia and the eastern Carpathian Basin. Communication between these areas was facilitated by the use of the ridge roads and alpine passes, as well as the use of natural transportation routes located in the valleys of watercourses.



Fig. 1. The Cracău-Bistrița geographical depression (http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/selection/inputCoord.asp)

#### Local and regional periodization and chronologies

The first tripartite sequencing of the Bronze Age in Romania was developed in 1960, when the existence of the Costişa-Bilîi Potik cultural complex or the Costişa culture was first mentioned, and was placed in the early stage of the MBA in the northern part of Moldavia (NESTOR 1960, 98, 102–103, Pl. IX). At that time, the period in question was dated between the 18<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> centuries BC.

Further research into the site of Costişa allowed the definition of specific artefacts and the cultural background that contributed to the emergence of this ceramic group. Thus, some "survivals" from the Corded Ware cultural background have been discovered and some functional analogies in the Komarovo and Bialîi-Potik ceramic groups have also been established (VULPE 1961, 113–121).

One can notice for the next two decades, that there have been scarce local contributions to the knowledge of the MBA period in the northern half of Moldavia and especially the Cracău-Bistrita depression. For this period we have to mention the archaeological research conducted by Marilena Florescu at Borlesti (Neamt County) in the western side of the depression. Although there was little reliable information concerning the area of study, she was able to correctly identify at that time new data concerning the beginning and the chronological and cultural definition of this period and of the cultural identity as well as its relationships with other contemporary phenomena. M. Florescu's opinion is based on stratigraphic analysis, pottery analysis from different contemporary sites and research results from the surrounding areas, like those from western Ukraine and southern Poland. The researcher noted that the Costişa archaeological culture is located between two large and well-defined cultural phenomena: Monteoru in the south and Trzcienec in the northeast. Thus, according to the data from Borlesti, she managed to establish two phases in the evolution of the Costişa culture. The first phase is represented by the settlement of Borlesti and other similar discoveries, like those from Kostianetz, Zatoka. The second phase is represented by the discoveries in the settlement of Costişa and similar finds, for instance those at Komarow-Zazawa and Bialy-Potock. These stages belonged to the Middle Bronze Age and they were placed in the 17<sup>th</sup>–14<sup>th</sup> centuries BC (FLORESCU 1970, 70–81).

In the same context, the contributions of Marija Gimbutas are also worth mentioning, which benefited from direct access to the sources of documentation and managed to achieve, by corroborating the data, a supraregional picture of the Bronze Age in Central and eastern Europe. She discussed the Costişa culture in relation with the Monteoru culture from southern Moldavia and contemporary Bilopotok (Bilyi Potok in Ukrainian and Bialy Potok in Polish) from the Upper Dniester basin in the northern Carpathian area. Based on some artefactual analogies, Costişa was divided into two phases. The older one, Costişa I is related to Bilopotok and Costişa II, which is related to a northward Monteoru expansion (GIMBUTAS 1965, 221–224). M. Gimbutas dated this "Early Bronze Age Complex" to *ca*. 1800–1450/1400 BC (GIMBUTAS 1965, 456–459, Table IV, Figs 299–300). This image, formed in the mid-1960s, has remained valid until the resumption of research at Costişa and the onset of research at Siliştea (BOLOHAN 2004).

Now there is a good effort for setting an up-to-date chronological system for eastern Romania. The area of study is in a very tangled situation and far away from certainty. Thus, when working with metallic finds, the Central European chronological system is the reference; while when looking for defining *material cultures* to which the researched area is more or less related, the Aegean chronology is the pillar.

Unfortunately, it is still very hard to identify and date the beginning of the Bronze Age for the research area. The EBA is represented by a series of dissimilar discoveries as the Corded Ware, Ochre Graves, Yamnaya, Katakombnaya, Usatovo-Horodistea-Foltești I, Foltești II, Răcăciuni, Dolhești, Tîrpești, the beginnings of Monteoru and Costișa cultures and so on (BURTĂNESCU 2002). Lately, there is a proposal to concentrate and organize these discoveries according to *material cultural* features, the relations between the discoveries and the <sup>14</sup>C data. In this respect, the EBA at the periphery of the eastern



Fig. 2. Northwestern corner of Central Moldavia – EBA and MBA sites at Borleşti, Costişa, Negriteşti and Siliştea (Directia Topografica Militara)

Carpathian Basin is divided into two major phases: EBA I (2900/2800–2600/2500 BC) and EBA II (2600/2500–2100/2000  $\pm$  100 BC) (BURTĂNESCU 2002, 305–309). At least the beginning of the EBA I is estimated for a far earlier period than that considered for the southwestern Carpathian Basin, where the middle of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC is a very convenient data (GOGÂLTAN 1999, 72–74, Fig. 1/fourth table). As for the final stage of the EBA and the dawn of the MBA in the area, recent <sup>14</sup>C data from Costişa and Siliştea (Neamţ County) in western Moldavia give room for new dialogues.<sup>2</sup>

# Early and Middle Bronze Age in western Moldavia

When Central European societies went into a slight decline at the end of the Early Bronze Age, the eastern Carpathian Basin became a centre for mining, high quality bronze working, salt exploitation and an area of the redistribution and consumption of goods. Systematically, during the MBA, bronze producing societies emerged, which supplied large areas with their products through long distance exchange and networks of buffer territories (SHERRATT 1993; KRISTIANSEN 2000; UHNÉR 2010). These

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is the time and opportunity to warmly express my thanks and gratitude to Dr. Vlad Vintilă Zirra, Dr. Radu Băjenaru and Dr. Anca Diana Popescu (Institute of Archaeology "Vasile Pârvan", Bucharest). They helped in collecting my samples and kindly supported the radiocarbon analyses.

societies, at the eastern fringe of the Carpathian Basin and in the Sub-Carpathians, were organized around chiefly, fortified hilltop settlements. Currently, we presume the existence of a hinterland peopled by smaller villages surrounding these strongholds. They are very specific for the Monteoru and Costişa communities, although we have scarce information about them. The history of these communities starts at the end of the EBA and continues until the beginning of the LBA in eastern Romania.

In 1961 and 1962, Alexandru Vulpe described the features, emergence, inner evolution and cultural destiny of the EBA/MBA in eastern Romania, when he firstly talked about the *Costişa culture* (VULPE 1961; VULPE – ZĂMOȘTEANU 1962). From then onwards, there have been some attempts of explaining the place of Costişa discoveries within the eastern European Bronze Age. It was asserted from the beginning, according to the pottery analogies, that the new *culture* was part of a bigger *complex*, named Bialy-Potik-Komariw, which stretches from northern Bessarabia, western Ukraine and the southern Poland. The Romanian alternative of this *cultural complex* is known from that moment under the name of *Costişa culture* which, through its southern extensions, entered into contact with the earlier phases of the Monteoru culture (for a bibliography concerning the topic see MUNTEANU 2010).

For a couple of decades, the horizontal stratigraphy at Costişa and Borleşti and the artefacts unearthed at a few other sites from northern and Central Moldavia represented the only reliable data for the periodization and chronology of this type of material; so far, the Costişa level was overlapped by a Monteoru Ic2–Ib level, according to the specialists. Thus, the ancientness of the *Costişa culture* in relation to the *Monteoru culture* in the northern part of the Central Moldavia was admitted, just like the idea of mutual cultural contacts between Costişa-Monteoru along a southnorth axis and Costişa and Wietenberg across the eastern Carpathians. In other words, Costişa type finds filled the MBA (Classical Bronze Age cultures) sequence in the northern part of Moldavia until the beginning of the Late Bronze Age, according to most archaeologists.



Fig. 3. Distances between Siliştea and Borleşti, Costişa, Negriteşti. Viewshed map (http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/ selection/inputCoord.asp)



Fig. 4. The situation of the site Siliştea-Pe Cetățuie (www.ancpi.ro)

Until recently, few information has been added in the attempt of understanding the evolution, destiny and multidimensional type of relations developed at the passage between the EBA and MBA and to the question, which elements of Central and eastern Europe (Costişa-Bialy Potik-Komariw, Monteoru, Wietenberg etc.) took part in the process.

But lately, due to research in eastern and southeastern Transylvania (e.g., at Păuleni-Ciomortan, Harghita County) and in the northwestern corner of Central Moldavia (for instance at Lunca, Costişa, Siliştea – Neamţ County; Poduri – Bacău County and Adâncata – Suceava County; *Fig. 2*) new data have come to light on the EBA and MBA in this part of Europe.

## Case study: Siliştea, Neamţ County

The site is situated in Central Moldavia (eastern Romania), at the southern extremity of the Cracău-Bistrița geographic depression and in the hillocks area between the Bistrița and Siret rivers (at approximate 12 km east from the first and approximate 10 km west from the second). The eponymous settlement is located 6.25 km to the west-southwest while the Borlești site 18.4 km to the east (*Fig. 3*). This fortified hilltop settlement is located on the "border" between the Monteoru and Costișa communities, in the proximity of some important routes of access from southern to northern Moldavia and to Transylvania.

Although up to the moment only a small area from the entire fortified settlement has been investigated, some observations can be made regarding the topography and internal structure of the settlement and the archaeological material.

The inhabited area occupies the northern end of a triangular plateau (*Fig. 4*). The connection with the rest of the plateau was blocked by a moat with a depth of up to -3.2 m. The western and eastern sides are represented by steep slopes that did not require fortification. Landslides and anthropogenic interference affected the northern edge. Thus, the inhabited area and the fortified settlement were greater than what is now visible.



Fig. 5. Geomagnetic prospection at Siliştea-Pe Cetățuie

Recent archaeomagnetic research<sup>3</sup> confirms the archaeological data obtained in the field. Noninvasive methods were used to search the inhabited area for inner structures and other remains. Geomagnetic prospection was used to identify traces of human activity below the surface. In the present study, the interdisciplinary approach, by resorting to non-invasive technology, aims to correlate several prospection techniques (magnetometric mapping and GPR technology) to allow for the development of accurate interpretations based on the existing hypotheses based on previous systematic archaeological excavations.

The measurements were performed using a Geometrics G858 Caesium vapour magnetometer. During the data collecting sessions the instrument was installed on a dedicated mobile platform supplied by the producer, in horizontal gradiometer position, with two sensors at a distance of 1 m from each-other and 0.3 m above ground. To accelerate the acquisition process, the data strings were bi-directionally correlated using the *mapped survey* function, with a distance of 1 m between profiles and approximately 11 readings per metre, in straight line, thus making possible to cover the 36-metre-wide and 140-metre-long surface area. This approach is particularly useful, since it offers the possibility to visualise, verify, and edit the information concurrently with the actual data registering process; therefore, any potential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Investigations undertook by Andrei Asăndulesei from the Arheoinvest Research Platform, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, Romania. This work was partially supported by the by the European Social Fund in Romania, under the responsibility of the Managing Authority for the Sectoral Operational Programme for Human Resources Development 2007–2013 (grant POSDRU/88/1.5/S/47646).



Fig. 6. Geomagnetic and GPR prospections at Silistea-Pe Cetățuie

positioning issues can be quickly addressed and managed. An apparently insignificant, yet particularly important stage of the research is the removal from the investigated area of any objects that can generate magnetic perturbations (e.g., scattered magnetic fragments); this is performed prior to the commencement of the actual operations.

The data-processing stage did not rely heavily on excessive filtering of the information, since, as it is well known, this inherently renders a distorted view of the underground evidence. Accordingly, the first

stage consisted of the analysis of the raw-data and the mitigation of the issues caused by the presence of metallic fragments using the *despike* function and their levelling using the *destripe* function; this was followed by the georeferencing of the dataset in the national geodetic system. The use of specific software programs (MagMap and MagPick), as well as their processing in a GIS software program (ArcGIS), made possible the visual rendering of the data and the export of high-quality images.

The system used in our case-study was a Malå Geoscience Ramac X3M GPR, with a 250 MHz antenna; the surface covered was 35 metres in width and 150 metres in length. The distance between the lines was set to 1 m, producing 35 GPR profiles, and the data acquisition was unidirectional. The length of the profiles varied because of the topography and vegetation present on the plateau on which the settlement is found. The processing was performed using the RadExplorer and Easy 3D software suites.

The seamless integration of the two methods of non-destructive investigation and their analysis in a GIS environment constituted the main focus of this research endeavour. The results obtained from these two non-invasive methods were reciprocally checked, correlated, and interpreted; concurrently, constant reference was made to the information provided by the archaeological digging.

One noteworthy result concerns the fortification works of the settlement. On account of the extremely powerful magnetic signal detected in the investigated area, we could identify two defensive ditches situated at the northern end of the settlement, in addition to the one already confirmed by archaeological excavation. The two newly discovered ditches are parallel to and of similar shape as the latter (*Fig. 6*). They may be the indicators for two other trenches whose utility will be verified through archaeological excavation (*Fig. 5*). The agglomerations of material with strong magnetic signal, probably subjected to fires, from within the fortifications could be identified as archaeological features (*Fig. 6*). They are predominantly found around the Central part of the scanned area, and are of considerable sizes (sometimes up to  $10 \times 10$  m or larger). The magnetic anomalies and zones of rectangular shape elements occurring in the investigated area prove the existence of dwellings. Some magnetic perturbations could even indicate the presence of ancient metallic objects in the soil (*Fig. 6*).

The joint use of the two methods proved to be adequate and effective, contributing to the precise interpretation of the data, with increased accuracy compared to the scenario in which only one of the methods was used. A definitive correspondence was found between the anomalies detected by the



Fig. 7. Siliştea-Pe Cetățuie – a–j: stone tools (after BOLOHAN – CREȚU 2004, Pl. 12)



Fig. 8. Siliştea-Pe Cetăţuie – a–k: vessel fragments (after BOLOHAN – CREŢU 2004, Pl. 10)



Fig. 9. Siliştea-Pe Cetățuie – 1–5: lock rings (Noppenrings)

magnetometer and those identified by the GPR, to the degree that specific details could be extracted: position, shape, depth, etc.

With some exceptions, the artefacts (tools, pottery) unearthed at Siliştea (*Figs 7–8*) belong to the MBA horizon in Moldavia. There are some exceptions represented by two types of artefacts: a special kind of metallic adornment and a specific type of pottery. The presence of these artefacts raises some questions concerning the chronological framework, the cultural relations with contemporary and neighbouring and distant areas.

Among some metal finds five lock rings (*Noppenringe/aus Doppeldraht gedrehte Haaringe/ spiralförmige Haarsmuckstücke*) of Central European type have to be mentioned (*Fig. 9*). These adornments are similar to those of the Aunjetitz area in Central Europe, found especially in graves or small metal deposits. Lately, three other such *Noppenringe* have been reported from Central Moldavia (Costişa, Piatra Şoimului and Răcăciuni). Four other *Noppenringe* made of gold wire come from Beba Veche, in the Banat (southwestern Romania), where they are dated to the end of the EBA, around 2200 BC (GOGÂLTAN 1999, 187–188, Pl. 40. 6–10). Three other gold *Noppenringe* were reported from an EBA site at the Izbucu Topliţei Cave (Bihor County) together with pottery types dated to the regional EBA IIb–III (MOLNÁR – CĂLIN 2003, 22, 36, Pls 1–2). Noteworthy is the presence of golden *Noppenringe* in western Transylvania close to the Central European EBA and MBA cultural regions.

The *Noppenring* is a typical copper or bronze wire adornment spread in Central Europe and east-Central Europe starting in the final stage of the EBA and the MBA in the following phases: Nitra, Mierzanowice, Aunjetitz and Mad'arovce groups. Even the artefacts from Siliştea were scattered across the unearthed area and there are no superposed archaeological layers for separating a local chronology. One can notice the similitude with items from Central Europe. As analogy, see the hair rings with a single or double spiral from the cemetery of Niederrussbach, Lower Austria, Early Aunjetitz (GIMBUTAS 1965, 253, Pl. 162B), from a grave at Straubing-Alburger Hochweg (GIMBUTAS 1965, 253, Pl. 163. 32–46), Neudorf bei Staatz, north of Vienna, Franzhausen I, the finds from the cemetery of Únětice/Aunjetitz itself (GIMBUTAS 1965, 268, Pl. 176. 6–8); finds in Bohemia from Kostelec, okr. Jičin; Milošice, okr. Louny; Slany-Slanská horá, okr. Kladno; Očihov, okr. Louny; Vrany, Čertovka, okr. Kladno; the pieces from a tomb at Uherský Brod-U Bajovského mlýna, in southeastern Moravia (PODBORSKÝ 2004, Abb. 3. 7–14); those from the Early Aunjetitz necropolis at Abrahám in western Slovakia, the seven *Noppenringe* from the royal tomb at Trsteniče (Znojmo district), the fragmentary pieces found in Grave 268 at Jelsovče (Nitra district), those from Grave 61 at Mýtna Nová Ves (Topol'čany district), in Grave 82 at Branč (Nitra district), two exemplars in Matúškovo, southern Slovakia (GIMBUTAS 1965, 271, Pl. 178. 8–9).

In Central Europe, most of these kinds of items (*Noppenringe*) belong to the funerary inventory or to small metal deposits and represent a very common fashion of the period; some are part of the princely grave inventory and mark together with other items the status of the individual within the community.

Despite the presence of the metal artefacts, there is no source of copper, tin or traces of metallurgical activity in the area. Instead, there are many other natural sources among which liquid or crystallized salt sources have been in use from ancient times until the present. Numerous traces of liquid salt exploitation (special pots, charcoal, ash, wood artefacts) indicate seasonal and recurrent work from prehistory up to our days (ALEXIANU *et al.* 2011, 9–20). According to archaeological and ethnographical data, these liquid salt sources might indicate a long chain of exchanges along the eastern Carpathians towards north to a contact zone, in this case Transcarpathia. The presence of these *Noppenringe* in western Moldavia in the area of the Costişa culture (only one belong to Monteoru, but in the close proximity of Costişa) might indicate the existence of some contacts between the Middle Danube area and the eastern Carpathians, at the transition between EBA/MBA. These data can be assigned to an earlier phase of the Costişa culture and the existence of a system in which local hierarchies were negotiated through artefacts.

The second type of finds are the so-called Besenstrich (brushed, scored) pottery, which represents, in the area of study, approximately 15% of the whole material (Fig. 10). This kind of pottery has no relation with the local pottery and testifies, looking across the eastern Carpathians, to strong relations with the same kind of pottery in the EBA and MBA in Transylvania and the Middle Danube area. Recently, Cristian Ioan Popa surveyed thoroughly the cultural background and cultural interferences of the final EBA and MBA in Transylvania. The analysis of pottery with the Besenstrich decoration allowed the identification of a Central European and even north Carpathian origin for it (POPA 2005, 65–69). This decoration occurred in the final EBA level in southeastern Transylvania at Zoltan (Covasna County) on approximately 36% of the pottery. The excavator suggested a Central European origin for this decoration (CAVRUC 2001, 55, 71). Since, based on the artefacts, Zoltan is contemporary with Ciomortan and Costişa (POPA 2005, 129), to some extent there is a pottery "connection" among these groups.



*Fig. 10. Siliştea-Pe Cetățuie – a–f: vessel fragments* of Besenstrich type

On this account, I presume a bilateral type of exchange between western Moldavia, and eastern and Central Transylvania through the mountain passes (see, for example, the early Wietenberg pottery type in western Moldavia or Costişa type pottery in southeastern and eastern Transylvania) and northwards along the eastern Sub-Carpathians.

#### **Radiocarbon dating**

Based on recent radiocarbon analyses, we could reach at least some conclusions concerning local absolute chronology. For the first time 15 calibrated data (from closed contexts) were obtained from two fortified settlements situated in the northwestern part of Central Moldavia. These data fit very well with some hypotheses concerning the transition from the EBA to the MBA and the MBA in the area. Up till now there were no absolute dates for the transitional period from the EBA to the MBA and the beginning of the MBA in eastern Romania.

Radiocarbon dates from Siliştea were obtained through the analysis of four animal osteological remains found in secure archaeological context, which were dated through the typology of the artefacts and their stratigraphy. Of these, we have received only three set of dates until now.

The radiocarbon dates from Siliştea correspond to a time span represented by  $3546 \pm 26$  BP (1937–1785 and 1955–1773 cal BC) and  $3371 \pm 22$  BP (1689–1631 and 1739–1614 cal BC), which are comparable to the dates of contemporary forms in Central Europe (*Fig. 11*).

As for the calibrated radiocarbon dates we have to take into account the following probabilities. These dates stretch from 1937–1785 cal BC (1 $\sigma$ ) and 1955–1773 cal BC (2 $\sigma$ ) to 1689–1631 cal BC (1 $\sigma$ ) and 1739–1614 cal BC (2 $\sigma$ ). In accordance with these data, the settlement seems to have been occupied from the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century to the mid-18<sup>th</sup> century BC (BOLOHAN 2010, 237–240). Therefore, the dates

Lab. Code	Sample name	BP	δ <sup>13</sup> C ‰	cal BC, 1σ	cal BC, 2σ
Hd-29247	Silistea, 54 sect.B/'03	$3546\pm26$	-21.6	1937–1785	1955–1773
Hd-29027	Silistea, 57 sect.a/'04	$3455\pm30$	-21.9	1873–1695	1879–1691
Hd-29377	Silistea, 56 sect.B/'04	$3371\pm22$	-21.6	1689–1631	1739–1614

Table 1. Radiocarbon dates from Siliștea-Pe Cetățuie (after BOLOHAN 2010, Table 1)



Fig. 11. Siliştea-Pe Cetăţuie – 1–3: radiocarbon dates from the site (after BOLOHAN 2010, 239–240)

show that the discoveries at Siliştea correspond to the period of the beginning of the Middle Bronze Age in the area *(Table 1)*. With no exceptions, the same dates, although unpublished, are available for Costişa as well.<sup>4</sup>

Therefore, the archaeological chronology is confirmed by radiocarbon data. In this respect, at the "Far Eastern" boundary of the eastern Carpathians, these data testify the chronological and cultural parallel with phenomena in the Carpathian Basin (Hatvan, Otomani-Füzesabony or Koszider horizon). A good example for this are the value of the samples from the layers IV-III from Včelince in the southern part of Central Slovakia which range from  $3518 \pm 37$  BP (1890– 1750 cal BC) to  $3328 \pm 30$  BP (1690–1650, 1640-1580, 1570-1520 cal BC) (GÖRSDORF -MARKOVÁ – FURMÁNEK 2004, 88–90, Table 1–2, Fig. 8). Even a cluster of <sup>14</sup>C data (Bln 771: 1620– 1680 BC; M 2169: 1680-1740 BC; GrN 7522: 1609-1720/1730-1740 BC; M 2327: 1740-1750 BC and Gd 5571: 1890-1900 BC) from Iwanowice, Babia Gora, dating from the final phase of the Mierzanowice culture, fits very well with the <sup>14</sup>C data from Silistea (KADROW 1991, Table 1). To this chronological framework, we may add the data from the eastern neighbouring area. According to other radiocarbon data, Costişa might be contemporary with the final phase of the Mnogovalikovaya group, developed between 2300–1800 BC (MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU 2003).

The emergence of Costişa communities and their expansion along the eastern Carpathians towards Central Moldavia is still a controversial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Kind personal communication with dr. Anca Popescu from the Institute of Archaeology "Vasile Pârvan" in Bucharest.

issue. To understand these permanent shifts should be considered the possible influence of the Danube Carpathian centre in individualizing the specific transition from EBA to MBA within the neighbouring Trzciniec centre. In this respect one can say about a Carpathian Danubian print in the field of metallurgy (KOŚKO – KLOCHKO 1998, 197–201). Certainly, these communities belong to a huge "Epicorded Ware Carpathian Cultural Circle" characterizing Central and eastern Europe in EBA.

#### Conclusion

These preliminary data allowed us to put forward some assumptions or conclusions, which concern the evolution of the Costişa community in the context of the transition from the EBA to the MBA and in the MBA within the eastern Carpathian area. Therefore, we can admit the existence of some connections between Monteoru Ic4 and the beginning of the Costişa communities, while contacts intensified during the Monteoru Ic3–Ic2 phases. Certainly, in the area unearthed up to now, there is no evidence of a stratigraphic superposition of Costişa and Monteoru communities. They lived together a while until they interblended.

There is enough evidence that place the beginning of the Costişa culture at the very end of the 3<sup>rd</sup> millennium BC. The idea of a Central European contribution in defining the Costişa features became an established truth. If we look back in time, a similar phenomenon occurred in the case of the Globular Amphora culture that penetrated through Volhynia and western Podolia into the northern half of Moldavia. Accepting this *scenario*, these communities in the northern half of Moldavia might represent an extremely southern extension of the Komariw-Bialyi Potik groups, blended in the area by some traits from the Carpathian Basin. Nevertheless, the newly created identity might represent in some extent the result of negotiating places, artefacts, strategies and multilateral relationships. Thus, *culture* can be used by individuals or by groups to communicate inside a pattern-group or with outsiders. Material culture represents the way they report to the internal cohesion and the way they interact with neighbouring areas or newcomers.

On the other hand, as shown by recent multivariate investigations in the Cracău-Bistrița depression, we could ask questions about the purpose of such a place situated in a position that dominates visually, to the north, the whole Cracău-Bistrița area. What is the significance of the site uncovered at Silistea? Was it just a hilltop fortification, as the actual toponym of the place seems to indicate (*Cetățuie*, meaning "fortress" in Romanian), or did it have a multiple function as the headquarter of a local chiefdom. Although research at the site is still ongoing, we have all the needed data from this hilltop settlement to consider it a place of exercising control over a network of supraregional contacts.

Crystallized salt from salty springs seems to have played a key role (at Negriteşti, 6.56 km north of Siliştea there is an important salty water source for the eastern side of the Cracău-Bistrița depression; *Fig. 3*). The dominating role is also supported by the control exerted on an important agricultural area favoured by the soil types in the southern extremity of the depression.

Another hypothesis advances the idea that the site at Siliştea could have been an *emporion* placed at the centre of a buffer territory. The latter hypothesis is supported by the lack of overlapping cultural layers, but the presence of the mixed pottery or foreign metal artefacts. Moreover, research has shown that Siliştea was the scene of elaborate rituals (ceremonial meat offerings, pottery depositions and foundation rituals).

By bringing together the archaeological data, we can conclude that during the final stage of the EBA and the beginning of the MBA the communities at the foothills of the eastern Carpathians could act together with other contemporary communities (Mnogovalikovaya culture, Monteoru culture) as mediators between areas of the Carpathian Basin and the neighbouring regions. In this scenario, salt may have played an important role too. The hilltop settlement of Siliştea seems to be given all the

characteristics (location, altitude, orientation, visibility) to have a close spatial relationship to the salt springs in the Cracău-Bistrița catchments. Thus both centres, Siliștea and Costișa, were multifunctional, situated in a buffer territory, which mediated contact between communities settling in the area and the different patterns of regional interactions.

#### References

- ALEXIANU, M. WELLER, O. BRIGAND, R. CURCĂ, R. G. COTIUGĂ, V. MOGA I. 2011
  Salt Springs in Today's Rural World. An Etnoarchaeological Approach in Moldavia (Romania). In: Alexianu, M. – Weller, O. – Curcă, R. G. (eds): Archaeology and Anthropology of Salt: A Diachronic Approach. Proceedings of the International Colloquium, 1–5 October 2008. Al. I. Cuza University (Iasi, Romania). BAR International Series 2198, Oxford 2011, 7–23.
- ANGHELINU, N. 2003

*Evoluția gândirii teoretice în arheologia din România. Concepte și modele aplicate în preistorie* – *The evolution of theoretical thought in Romanian archaeology. Concepts and models applied to prehistory.* Târgoviște.

#### BOLOHAN, N. 2010

"All in one". Issues of Methodology, Paradigms and radiocarbon Datings Concerning the Outer Eastern Carpathian Area. In: Bolohan, N. – Mățău, F. – Tencariu, A. F. (eds): *Signa Praehistorica*. *Studia in honorem magistri Attila László septuagesimo anno*. Honoraria 9, Iași 2010, 229–245.

#### BOLOHAN, N. – CREŢU, C. 2004

The Early-Middle Bronze Age settlement of Siliştea in Central Moldavia. In: Niculiță, I. – Zanoci, A. – Băț, M. (eds): *Thracians and Circumpontic World, IX<sup>th</sup> Proceedings of the Ninth International Congress of Thracology, Chişinău-Vadul lui Vodă. 6–11 September 2004. Vol. I.* Chişinău 2004, 55–77.

#### BURTĂNESCU, F. 2002

*Epoca timpurie a bronzului între Carpați și Prut cu unele contribuții la problemele perioadei premergătoare epocii bronzului din Moldova – The Early Bronze Age between the Carpathians and Prut.* Bibliotheca Thracologica 37, București.

#### CAVRUC, V. 2001

Legături între Moldova și S-E Transilvaniei în bronzul mijlociu – Moldavia and south-eastern Transylvania relations in the Middle Bronze Age. In: Cavruc, V. – Dumitroaia, Gh. (coord.): *Cultura Costișa în contextul epocii bronzului din România*. Piatra Neamț 2001, 58–77.

#### DASCĂLU, L. 2007

*Bronzul mijlociu și târziu în Câmpia Moldovei – Bronze moyen et tardif dans la plaine de la Moldavie.* Bibliotheca Archaelogica Moldaviae 10, Iași.

#### FLORESCU, M. 1970

Problèmes de la civilisation de Costișa à la lumière du sondage de Borlești *Dacia N. S.* 14 (1970) 51–81.

#### GIMBUTAS, M. 1965

Bronze Age Cultures in Central and Eastern Europe. The Hague–London.

#### GOGÂLTAN, F. 1999

Bronzul timpuriu și mijlociu în Banatul românesc și pe cursul inferior al Mureșului. I. Cronologia și obiectele din metal – Die frühe und mittlere Bronzezeit in rumänische Banat und am Unterlauf der Marosch. Die Chronologie und die Metallfunde. Bibliotheca Historica et Archaeologica Banatica 23, Timișoara.

#### Görsdorf, J. – Marková, K. – Furmánek, V. 2004

Some new 14C Data to the Bronze Age in the Slovakia. *Geochronometria. Journal on Methods and Applications of Absolute Chronology* 23 (2004) 79–91.

HIDES, D. S. 1996

The Genealogy of Material Culture and Cultural Identity. In: Graves-Brown, P. – Jones, S. – Gamble, C. (eds): *Cultural Identity and Archaeology. The Construction of European Communities*. New York 1996, 25–48.

#### JONES, S. - GRAVES-BROWN, P. 1996

Archaeology and cultural identity in Europe. In: Graves-Brown, P. – Jones, S. – Gamble, C. (eds): *Cultural Identity and Archaeology. The Construction of European Communities.* New York 1996, 1–25.

#### KADROW, S. 1991

Iwanowice, Babia Góra site: spatial evolution of an Early Bronze Age Mierzanowice Culture settlement (2300–1600 BC). *Antiquity* 65/248 (1991) 640–650.

#### KOŚKO, A. – KLOCHKO, V.I. 1998

"Trzciniec" – Borderland of Early Bronze Age Civilizations of Eastern and Western Europe? *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 6 (1998) 190–202.

#### KRISTIANSEN, K. 2000

Europe before history. Cambridge.

#### LUCY, S. 2005

Status, Identity and Archaeology. In: Diaz-Andreu, M. – Lucy, S. – Babič, S. – Edwards, D. N. (eds): *Archaeology of Identity: Approaches to Gender, Age, Status, Ethnicity and religion*. New York 2005, 84–107.

#### MOLNÁR, ZS. – CĂLIN, GH. 2003

O descoperire aparținând perioadei bronzului timpuriu din peștera Izbucu Topliței (jud. Bihor). Considerații privind grupul Roșia – A Discovery from the Early Bronze Age in the Izbucu Topliței Cave (Bihor County). Aspects Regarding the Roșia Group. *Ephermis Napocensis* 13 (2003) 41–92.

#### MOTZOI-CHICIDEANU, I. 2003

*Câteva observații asupra culturii Monteoru*. In: EA online, April, 2003, http://www.archaeology.ro/ imc\_mont.htm, Accesed 10 January 2012.

#### MUNTEANU, R. 2010

Începutul bronzului mijlociu în depresiunile marginale ale Carpaților Orientali – The beginnings of the Middle Bronze Age into the marginal depressions of the Eastern Carpathians. Bibliotheca Memoriae Antiquitatis 24, Piatra Neamț.

#### NESTOR, I. 1960

Începuturile societății gentilice patriarhale și ale destrămării orînduirii comunei primitive. Epoca bronzului. Periodizarea epocii bronzului. In: Daicoviciu, C. (ed.): *Istoria României, vol. I.* București 1998, 93–114.

#### PALINCAȘ, N. 2010

Conceptul de cultură și diversele direcții în arheologie, In: Petrescu-Dîmbovița, M. – Vulpe, A. (coord.): *Istoria românilor. Vol. I. Moștenirea timpurilor îndepărtate. Ediția a II a, revăzută și adăugită.* București 2010, 54–59.

#### PODBORSKÝ, V. 2004

Nové nálezy kovových nákrčníkú v hrobech z doby bronzové na Moravé a jejech význam – Neue Funde von Metallhalsringen in den bronzezeitlichen Gräbern in Mähren und ihre Bedeutung. In: Bátora, J. – Furmánek, V. – Veliačik, L. (Hrsg.): *Einflüsse und Kontakte alteuropäischer Kulturen. Festschrift für Jozef Vladár zum 70. Geburtstag.* Archaologica Slovaca Monographiae VI, Nitra 2004, 185–199.

#### POPA, C. I. 2005

Modificări culturale la finalul Bronzului timpuriu și începutul Bronzului mijlociu în Transilvania – Cultural changes at the end of the Early Bronze Age and the beginning of the Middle Bronze Age in Transylvania. In: Popa, C. I. – Rustoiu, G. T. (Hrsg.): *Omagiu profesorului Ioan Andrițoiu cu prilejul împilinirii a 65 de ani. Studii și cercetări arheologice – Festschrift für Ioan Andrițoiu zum 65. Geburtstag. Archaeologische Studien und Forschungen.* Alba Iulia 2005, 51–183.

## POPESCU, A. D – BĂJENARU, R. 2008

Rivalries and conflicts in the Bronze Age: Two Contemporary Communities in the same Space. *Dacia N. S.* 52 (2008) 5–22.

## Shanks, M. – Tilley, C. 1987

Re-Constructing Archaeology. Theory and Practice. Cambridge.

#### SHENNAN, S. J. 1994

Archaeological approaches to cultural identity. In: Shennan, S. J. (ed.): Archaeological approaches to cultural identity. New York 1994, 1–33.

## SHERRATT, A. 1993

What would a Bronze Age world system look like? Relations between temperate Europe and the Mediterranean in later prehistory. *Journal of European Archaeology* 1/2 (1993) 1–58.

## TILLEY, C. 1991

Material culture and text. The art of ambiguity. London and New York.

#### UHNÉR, C. 2010

*The Tell-Building Tradition. A study of Middle Bronze Age political entities and identity.* In: http://www.eoec.org/documents/the\_tell\_building\_tradition. PDF, Accessed 10 January 2012.

## VAN DER WAALS, J. D. 1984

Discontinuity, cultural evolution and the historic event. *Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland* 114 (1984) 1–14.

#### VELCEA, V. – SAVU, A. 1982

Geografia Carpaților și Subarpaților românești. București.

#### VULPE, A. 1961

K voprosu o periodizacii bronzovogo veka v Moldave. Dacia N. S. 5 (1961) 105-122.

#### VULPE, A. 2010

Bronzul timpuriu. In: Petrescu-Dîmbovița, M. – Vulpe, A. (coord.): *Istoria românilor. Vol. I. Moștenirea timpurilor îndepărtate. Ediția a II a revăzută și adăugită*. București 2010, 220–232.

## VULPE, A. – ZĂMOȘTEANU, M. 1962

Săpăturile de la Costișa (r. Buhuși, reg. Bacău) – Les fouilles de Costișa. *Materiale și Cercetări Arheologice* 8 (1962) 309–316.

## WELLS, P. S. 1998

Identity and Material Culture in Later Prehistory of Central Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 6/3 (1998) 239–298.

# LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

ANDREI ASĂNDULESEI Alexandru Ioan Cuza University of Iași Arheoinvest Research Platform RO-700506 Iași, Carol I 11 andrei.asandulesei@yahoo.com

NECULAI BOLOHAN Alexandru Ioan Cuza University of Iaşi Faculty of History RO-700506 Iaşi, Carol I 11 neculaibolohan1@gmail.com

HORIA CIUGUDEAN Muzeul National al Unirii RO-510093, Alba Iulia, Str. MihaiViteazu 12–14 horiaion2001@yahoo.com

PÉTER CSIPPÁN Eötvös Loránd University Institute of Archaeological Sciences H-1088 Budapest, Múzeum körút 4/B csippan79@gmail.com

JÁNOS DANI Déri Museum H-4026 Debrecen, Déri tér 1 drdanij@gmail.com

CLAUDIA GERLING Freie Universität Berlin Cluster of Excellence 264 Topoi D-14195 Berlin, Hittorfstraße 18 University of Basel Integrative Prehistory and Archaeological Science CH-4055 Basel, Spalenring 145 claudiagerling@yahoo.de

VOLKER HEYD University of Bristol Department of Archaeology & Anthropology UK-BS8 1UU Bristol, 43 Woodland Road volker.heyd@bristol.ac.uk TÜNDE HORVÁTH

Hungarian Academy of Sciences Research Centre for the Humanities Institute of Archaeology H-1014 Budapest, Úri u. 49 horvath.tunde@btk.mta.hu

ELKE KAISER Freie Universität Berlin Institute of Prehistoric Archaeology D-14195 Berlin, Altensteinstrasse 15 elke.kaiser@topoi.org

MIROSLAV KRÁLÍK Masaryk University Faculty of Science Department of Anthropology CZ-61137 Brno, Kotlářská 267/2 mirekkralik@seznam.cz

GABRIELLA KULCSÁR Hungarian Academy of Sciences Research Centre for the Humanities Institute of Archaeology H-1014 Budapest, Úri u. 49 kulcsar.gabriella@btk.mta.hu

RÓBERT PATAY Ferenczy Museum Department of Archaeology H-2300 Cegléd, Alszegi u. 7 robert.patay@gmail.com

JAROSLAV PEŠKA Archaeological Centre Olomouc CZ-77900 Olomouc, U Hradiska 42/6 peska@ac-olomouc.cz

ÁKOS PETŐ Hungarian National Museum National Heritage Protection Centre H-1113 Budapest, Daróciút3 peto.akos@mnm-nok.gov.hu ŁUKASZ POSPIESZNY Polish Academy of Sciences Institute of Archeology and Ethnology PL-61-612 Poznań, ul.Rubież 46 lukasz.pospieszny@gmail.com

YURI RASSAMAKIN National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine Institute of Archaeology UA-1204210 Kyiv-210, pr. Geroiv Stalingrada rasyuri@yahoo.com

ÉVA SVINGOR Hungarian Academy of Sciences Institute for Nuclear Research H-4026 Debrecen, Bem tér 18/c svingor@atomki.hu

#### ALEXANDRU SZENTMIKLÓSI Museum of Banat RO-300002 Timişoara, Piata Huniade 1 szentmiklosi@yahoo.com

VAJK SZEVERÉNYI Móra Ferenc Museum H-6720 Szeged, Roosevelt tér 1–3 szvajk@yahoo.com

MARZENA SZMYT Adam Mickiewicz University Institute for Eastern Studies PL-61486 Poznań, ul. 28Czerwca 1956 r., no 198 Poznań Archaeological Museum PL-61781 Poznań, ul. Wodna 27 marzena@amu.edu.pl

MANFRED WOIDICH ArchaeoDienst GmbH & Co. KG D-91809 Wellheim, Dohlenfelsenstr. 8a manfred.woidich@gmail.com



## Edited by ERZSÉBET JEREM and WOLFGANG MEID

#### Main Series

- 20. Anthropology of the Indo-European World and Material Culture. Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Colloquium of Anthropology of the Indo-European World and Comparative Mythology. Edited by Marco V. García Quintela, Francisco J. González García and Felipe Criado Boado. 2006. 368 pp. € 64.-. ISBN 963-8046-72-4.
- 21. Ferenc Gyulai: Archaeobotany in Hungary. Seed, Fruit, Food and Beverage Remains in the Carpathian Basin from the Neolithic to the Late Middle Ages. 2010. 480 pp. with CD-ROM. € 84.-. ISBN 978-963-8046-93-2.
- 22. Vingt ans après Georges Dumézil (1898–1986) Veinte años después de Georges Dumézil (1898–1986). Mythologie comparée indo-européenne et idéologie trifonctionelle: bilans, perspectives et nouveaux domaines Mitología comparada indoeuropea e ideología trifuncional: balance, perspectivas y nuevos campos. Edited by François Delpech et Marco V. García Quintela. 2009. 352 pp. € 64.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-05-5.
- 23. **The Archaeology of People and Territoriality.** Edited by George Nash and Dragos Gheorghiu. 2009. 340 pp. € 68.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-06-2.
- 24. The Master of Animals in Old World Iconography. Edited by Derek B. Counts and Bettina Arnold. 2010. 256 pp. € 56.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-14-7.
- 25. Archaeological, Cultural and Linguistic Heritage. Festschrift for Erzsébet Jerem in Honour of her 70<sup>th</sup> Birthday. Edited by Peter Anreiter, Eszter Bánffy, László Bartosiewicz, Wolfgang Meid and Carola Metzner-Nebelsick. 2012. 640 pp. € 88.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-28-4.
- 26. The Levantine Question/ El problema "Levantino" (bilingual). Edited by José Julio García Arranz, Hipólito Collado Giraldo and George Nash. 2012. 432 pp. € 74.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-31-4.
- 27. **The Medieval Royal Palace at Visegrád.** Edited by Gergely Buzás and József Laszlovszky. 2013. 398 pp. € 72.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-39-0.
- 28. Anthony Harding and Valerii Kavruk: Explorations in Salt Archaeology in the Carpathian Zone. 2013. 332 pp. € 66.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-44-4.
- 29. Textiles from Hallstatt. Weaving Culture in Bronze Age and Iron Age Salt Mines / Textilien aus Hallstatt. Gewebte Kultur aus dem bronze- und eisenzeitlichen Salzbergwerk. (bilingual) Edited by Karina Grömer, Anton Kern, Hans Reschreiter and Helga Rösel-Mautendorfer. 2013. 572 pp. € 78.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-46-8.

## Series Minor

- 25. Anthony Harding: Warriors and Weapons in Bronze Age Europe. 2007. 224 pp. € 36.-. ISBN 978-963-8046-86-4.
- 26.Patrice Lajoye: Des Dieux gaulois. Petits essais de mythologie. 2008. 240 pp. € 36.-. ISBN 978-963-8046-92-5.
- 27. István Zalai-Gaál: Zur Herkunft des Schädekults im Neolithikum des Karpatenbeckens. 2009. 138 pp. € 28.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-08-6.
- 28. Sofia Pescarin: Reconstructing Ancient Landscape. 2009. 264 pp. € 38.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-09-3.
- 29. Situating Gender in European Archaeologies. Edited by Liv Helga Dommasnes, Tove Hjørungdal, Sandra Montón-Subías, Margarita Sánchez Romero and Nancy L. Wicker. 2010. 309 pp. € 36.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-15-4.

- 30.**A History of Central European Archaeology.** Edited by Alexander Gramsch and Ulrike Sommer. 2011. 219 pp. € 24.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-23-9.
- 31. Archaeological Imaginations of Religion. Edited by Thomas Meier and Petra Tillessen. ISBN 978-963-9911-24-6. FORTHCOMING
- 32.Mária Bondár: Prehistoric Wagon Models in the Carpathian Basin. 2012. 142 pp. € 28.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-34-5.
- 33. Appropriate narratives. Archaeologists, publics and stories. Edited by Elisabeth Niklasson and Thomas Meier. 2013. 298 pp. € 34.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-47-5.

## Studia Aegyptiaca

- 1. **The Mortuary Monument of Djehutymes (TT 32)** Vols. I–II. Edited by László Kákosy, Tamás A. Bács, Zoltán Bartos, Zoltán I. Fábián and Ernő Gaál. 2004. 384 pp. € 124.-. Vol. I.: ISBN 963-8046-51-1; Vol. II.: ISBN 963-8046-52-X.
- 2. Gábor Schreiber: The Mortuary Monument of Djehutymes II. 2008. 223 pp. € 88.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-02-4.
- 3. Bi'r Minayh. Report on the Survey 1998–2004. Edited by Ulrich Luft. 2010. 340 pp. € 116.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-11-6.

## EAC series

- 1. EAC Occasional Paper No. 1. The Heritage Management of Wetlands in Europe. Edited by Byrony Coles and Adrian Olivier. 2001. 207 pp. € 15.-. ISBN 90-76972-01-X.
- 2. EAC Occasional Paper No. 2. Europe's Cultural Landscape: archaeologists and the management of change. Edited by Graham Fairclough and Stephen Rippon. 2002. 234 pp. € 22.-. ISBN 90-76975-02-X.
- 3. EAC Occasional Paper No. 3. Listing Archaeological Sites, Protecting the Historical Landscape. Edited by Peter A. C. Schut. 2009. 169 pp. € 38.-. ISBN 978-90-579-9144-8.
- 4. EAC Occasional Paper No. 4. Heritage Management of Farmed and Forested Landscapes in Europe. Edited by Stephen Trow, Vincent Holyoak and Emmet Byrnes. 2010. 184 pp. € 30.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-17-8.
- 5. EAC Occasional Paper No. 5. Remote Sensing for Archaeological Heritage Management. Edited by David C. Cowley. 2011. 312 pp. € 40.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-20-8.
- 6. EAC Occasional Paper No. 6. Large Scale Excavations in Europe. Fieldwork Strategies and Scientific Outcome. 2012. Edited by Jörg Bofinger and Dirk Krausse. 208 pp. € 35.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-29-1.
- 7. EAC Occasional Paper No. 7. Heritage Reinvents Europe. 2013. Edited by Dirk Callebaut, Jan Mařík and Jana Maříková-Kubková. 224 pp. € 36.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-41-3.
- EAC Occasional Paper No. 8. Who cares? Perspectives on Public Awareness, Participation and Protection in Archaeological Heritage Management. 2013. Edited by Agneta Lagerlöf. 136 pp. € 28.-. ISBN 978-963-9911-42-0.

Please address orders to:

## ARCHAEOLINGUA

H-1250 Budapest, Pf. 41. Fax: (+361) 3758939 e-mail: kovacsr@archaeolingua.hu http://www.archaeolingua.hu www.hungarianarchaeology.hu